

POWERCOR AUSTRALIA LIMITED

REVISED REGULATORY PROPOSAL: 2011 TO 2015

21 JULY 2010

CONTENTS

1.	INTRODUCTION AND EXECUTIVE SUMMARY	14
2.	CLASSIFICATION OF SERVICES	52
3.	CONTROL MECHANISM FOR STANDARD CONTROL SERVICES	56
4.	GROWTH FORECASTS	81
5.	OUTSOURCING ARRANGEMENTS	113
6.	OPERATING EXPENDITURE	162
7.	SCALE ESCALATION	203
8.	REAL COST ESCALATORS	222
9.	FORECAST CAPITAL EXPENDITURE	237
10.	OPENING ASSET BASE	
11.	DEPRECIATION	
12.	COST OF CAPITAL	
13.	ESTIMATED CORPORATE INCOME TAX	
14.	EFFICIENCY CARRYOVER AMOUNTS FOR 2006-10	
15.	EFFICIENCY BENEFIT SHARING SCHEME	
16.	SERVICE TARGET PERFORMANCE INCENTIVE SCHEME	
17.	PASS THROUGH EVENTS	
18.	BUILDING BLOCK REVENUE REQUIREMENTS	426
19.	ALTERNATIVE CONTROL SERVICES (INCLUDING PUBLIC LIGHTING)	430
APPI	ENDIX 1.1	456
APPI	ENDIX 1.2	459
APPI	ENDIX 1.3	460
APPI	ENDIX 1.4	461
APPI	ENDIX 3.1	477
APPI	ENDIX 4.1	509
APPI	ENDIX 5.1	511
APPI	ENDIX 5.2	519
APPI	ENDIX 6.1	543
APPI	ENDIX 16.1	578
APPI	ENDIX 19.1	581

Powercor Australia's Regulatory Proposal 2011-15 - Glossary

Term	Description
2001-05 Negative Carryover	Powercor Australia's negative efficiency carryover of -\$22.9 million (in \$2004) arising in the 2001-05 regulatory period
2005 Line Clearance Code	Code of Practice for Electric Line Clearance 2005
2005 Line Clearance Regulations	Electricity Safety (Electric Line Clearance) Regulations 2005
2009 TCPR	Victorian DNSPs, Transmission Connection Planning Report Produced jointly by the Victorian Electricity Distribution Businesses, 2009
2010 Line Clearance Code	Code of Practice for Electric Line Clearance 2010
2010 Line Clearance Regulations	Electricity Safety (Electric Line Safety) Regulations 2010
2016-20 Distribution Determination	The future distribution determination it is anticipated will be made by the AER for the 2016-20 regulatory control period.
ABS	Australian Bureau of Statistics
Access Economics	Access Economics Pty Ltd (ACN 123 967 966)
ACG	Allen Consulting Group Pty Ltd (ABN 52 007 061 930)
ACIL Tasman	ACIL Tasman Pty Ltd (ABN 68 102 652 148)
ACR	Auto Circuit Recloser
ACT	Australian Capital Territory
ACT Final Determination	The AER's Final Decision Australian Capital Territory distribution determination 2009-10 to 2013-14 dated 28 April 2009
AEMC	Australian Energy Market Commission
AEMO	Australian Energy Market Operator
AER	Australian Energy Regulator
AH	After business hours
AMI	Advanced Metering Infrastructure
AMI Order in Council	The Orders in Council made by the Victorian Government under sections 15A and 46D of the Electricity Industry Act in respect of AMI on 28 August 2007 (published in the Victorian Government Gazette S200), 12 November 2007 (Victorian Government Gazette s286), 25 November 2008 (Victorian Government Gazette S314) and 31 March 2009 (Victorian Government

Term	Description
	Gazette G14)
AMRS	AMRS (Aust) Pty Ltd (ABN 11 098 326 179)
Annual Planning Report	The 'Distribution System Annual Planning Report' that a Victorian DNSP is required to prepare annually in accordance with clause 3.5 of the Distribution Code
Aon	Aon Risk Services Australia Limited (ABN 17 000 434 720)
ARPANSA	Australian Radiation Protection and Nuclear Safety Agency (ABN 61 321 195 155)
ARR	Annual Revenue Requirement
AS	Australian Standards
ASIC	Australia Standard Industrial Classification
ASX	ASX Limited (ABN 98 008 624 691)
ATO	Australian Tax Office
avoided DuOS payments	The payments that the DNSP is required to make to embedded generators under the ESCV's Guideline 15
avoided TuOS payments	The payments that the DNSP is required to make to embedded generators under clause 5.5(h) of the Rules
AWE	Average weekly earnings
AWOTE	Average weekly ordinary time earnings
AWTE	Average weekly total earnings (i.e. including overtime) of full-time and part- time employees
B2B	Business-to-Business
BH	Before business hours
BIS Shrapnel	BIS Shrapnel Pty Limited (ABN 20 060 358 689)
bppa	Basis points per annum
Bushfires Royal Commission	2009 Victorian Bushfires Royal Commission established on 16 February 2009 to investigate the causes and responses to the bushfires which swept through parts of Victoria in late January and February 2009
CAGR	Cumulative Average Growth Rate
CAM	Cost Allocation Methodology
capex	Capital expenditure
capex criteria	The capital expenditure criteria prescribed by clause 6.5.7(c) of the Rules
capex objectives	The capital expenditure objectives set out in clause 6.5.7(a) of the Rules
CBRM	Condition Based Risk Management
CEG	Competition Economists Group
CEPU	Communications, Electrical and Plumbing Union

Term	Description
CGS	Commonwealth Government Securities
CHED Services	CHED Services Pty Ltd (ABN 14 112 304 622)
CHEDHA	CKI/HEH Electricity Distribution Holdings (Australia) Pty Ltd (ABN 68 101 392 161)
CIC	Capital Investment Committee
CIS	Customer Information System
CitiPower	CitiPower Pty (ABN 76 064 651 056)
CitiPower 2008 Regulatory Accounts	CitiPower's regulatory accounts for the year ended 31 December 2008
CitiPower 2009 Regulatory Accounts	CitiPower's regulatory accounts for the year ended 31 December 2009
СКІ	Cheung Kong Infrastructure Holdings Ltd
CoF	Consequence of Failure
Contribution Rate	The proportion of customer contributions to new customer connections capex
Corporate Communications Agreement	The agreement of this name entered into with Silk Telecom and dated 26 May 2008 under which Silk Telecom provides corporate communications services including managed WAN, WAN links, mobile phones, remote access and PABX, voice and data communications
Corporate Services Agreement	The agreement of titled 'Powercor 2008-2010 Services Agreement' entered into with CHED Services in January 2008 under which CHED Services provides specialist corporate services, including the Chief Executive Officer, Finance, the Company Secretary, Legal, Human Resources, Corporate Affairs, Regulation, Customer Services, Information Technology and Office Administration
CPI	Consumer Price Index
CPRS	Carbon Pollution Reduction Scheme
CSIRO	Commonwealth Scientific and Research Organisation
Current Regulatory Proposal	Powercor Australia's Initial Regulatory Proposal as revised by this Revised Regulatory Proposal
Deloitte	Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Distribution Code	ESCV's Electricity Distribution Code Version 4 dated February 2010
DMIA	Demand Management Innovation Allowance
DMIS	Demand Management Incentive Scheme
DMS	Distribution Management System

Term	Description
DNSP	Distribution Network Service Provider
DPI	Victorian Department of Primary Industries
Draft Determination	The AER's Draft Decision Victorian electricity distribution network service providers Distribution determination 2011-15 dated 4 June 2010
Draft GAAR	The ESCV's Gas Access Arrangements Review 2008-12: Draft Decision of August 2007
DRMF	Distribution Reliability Management Framework
DRMS	Discretionary Risk Management Scheme
DRP	Debt Risk Premium
DSE	Victorian Department of Sustainability and Environment
DSPR	Distribution System Planning Report
DuOS	Distribution Use of Service
EA Technology	EA Technology Ltd
EBA	Enterprise Bargaining Agreement
EBIT	Earnings before interest and tax
EBSS	The efficiency benefit sharing scheme developed and published by the AER under clause 6.5.8 of the Rules as amended from time to time
EBSS Final Decision	The AER's Final decision Electricity distribution network service providers efficiency benefit sharing scheme, dated 26 June 2008
EBSS Guideline	Efficiency Benefit Sharing Scheme published by the AER on 26 June 2008 in accordance with section 6.5.8 of the Rules (set out in Appendix E to the EBSS Final Decision)
ECM	Efficiency Carryover Mechanism
EDPR	Electricity Distribution Price Review
EGW	The Electricity, Gas, Water and Waste Services industry
ElectraNet	Electranet Pty Limited (ABN 41 094 482 416)
Electrical Network Communications Agreement	Electrical Network Communications Agreement – The agreement of this name entered into with Silk Telecom and dated 26 May 2008 under which Silk Telecom provides electrical services including SCADA and Trunked Mobile Radio Services
Electricity Industry Act	Electricity Industry Act 2000 (Vic)
Electricity Safety Act	Electricity Safety Act 1998 (Vic)
Electricity Safety Management Regulations	Electricity Safety (Management) Regulations 2009 (Vic)
Electricity System	ORG, Electricity System Code, October 2000

Term	Description
Code	
ELV	Electric Light Vehicle
Energex	ENERGEX Ltd
Energy Response	Energy Response Pty Ltd (ABN 49 104 710 278)
EPA	Environmental Protection Authority (ABN 85 899 617 894)
Ernst & Young	Refers to one or more of the member firms of Ernst & Young Global Limited, a UK private company limited by guarantee
ESAA	Electricity Supply Association of Australia Pty Ltd (ACN 071 949 329)
ESC Act	Essential Services Commission Act 2001 (Vic)
ESCV	Essential Services Commission of Victoria
ESCV Appeal Panel	Appeal Panel established under section 56 of the ESC Act
ESCV Appeal Panel Decision	Reasons for Decision of Appeal Panel in appeal by Powercor Australia dated 17 February 2006, Panel reference: E5/2005
ESCV Credit Decision	ESCV, Credit Support Arrangements, Final Decision, October 2006
ESCV's 2006-10 EDPR	Collectively refers to ESCV, <i>Electricity Price Review 2006-10, October</i> 2005 Price Determination as amended in accordance with a decision of the Appeal Panel dated 17 February 2006, Final decision Volume 1, Statement of Purpose and Reasons and Final Decision Volume 2 Price Determination (October 2005 Determination as amended in accordance with a decision of the Appeal Panel dated 17 February 2006 and an Order in Council under section 15A and 46D of the Electricity Industry Act 2000 (28 August 2007) as amended on 25 November 2008), both dated December 2008
ESCV's Guideline 14	Electricity Industry Guideline No. 14 Provision of Services by Electricity Distributors Issue 1, April 2004
ESCV's Guideline 15	Electricity Industry Guideline No. 15 Connection of Embedded Generation Issue 1, August 2004
ESCV's Security of Supply Decision	ESCV, Final Decision, CBD Security of Supply, February 2008
ESMP	Electrical Safety Management Plans
ESMS	Electricity Safety Management Scheme
ESV	Energy Safe Victoria (ABN 27 462 247 657)
ETSA	ETSA Utilities (ABN 13 332 330 749)
EWOV	Energy and Water Ombudsman (Victoria)
EWP	Elevated Work Platform
Extreme Supply Events Decision	The ESCV's Final Decision Electricity Distributors' Communications in Extreme Supply Events, dated December 2009

Term	Description
Final Customer Contributions Decision	The AER's Conclusion on the Benchmark Upstream Augmentation Charge Rates for CitiPower's Network, 25 June 2010
Final Determination	The AER's impending final distribution determination for Powercor Australia in respect of the 2011-15 regulatory control period
Final Determinations	The AER's impending final distribution determinations for the Victorian DNSPs in respect of the 2011-15 regulatory control period
Framework and Approach Paper	The AER's Final Framework and Approach Paper for Victorian electricity distribution regulation CitiPower, Powercor, Jemena, SP AusNet and United Energy Regulatory control period commencing 1 January 2011 dated 29 May 2009
FRC	Full retail contestability
Frontier	Frontier Economics Pty Ltd (ABN 13 087 553 124)
Further RIN	The Regulatory Information Notice dated 4 June 2010 issued to Powercor Australia by the AER under s28F(1)(a) of the NEL
GAAR	The ESCV's Gas Access Arrangement Review 2008-2012: Final Decision dated March 2008
GDP	Gross domestic product
GFC	Global financial crisis
GIS	Geographic Information System
GSL	Guaranteed Service Level
GSP	Gross State Product
GWh	Gigawatt Hour
GWM Water	Grampians-Wimmera-Mallee Water
Hays	Hays Specialist Recruitment (Australia) Pty Limited (ABN 47 001 407 281)
HBRA	Hazardous Bushfire Risk Area
HEH	HongKong Electric Holdings Ltd
HEI	HongKong Electric International Limited
Henry Review	The Australia's Future Tax System Review established by the Rudd Government in 2008 to examine Australia's tax and transfer system, including state taxes, and make recommendations to position Australia to deal with the demographic, social, economic and environmental challenges of the 21st century
HI	Health Index
HV	High Voltage
HV Protection Sub-Code	High Voltage Protection Sub-Code, July 2008
IHDs	In home energy displays

Term	Description
Impaq	Impaq Consulting Pty Ltd (ABN 41 005 127 659)
Initial Regulatory Proposal	Powercor Australia's regulatory proposal for the regulatory control period 1 January 2011 to 31 December 2015 for distribution services provided by means of, or in connection with, its distribution system submitted to the AER on 30 November 2009 in accordance with clause 6.8.2 of the Rules
Initial Regulatory Templates	The completed regulatory templates submitted by Powercor Australia to the AER as part of its Initial Regulatory Proposal in response to clause 1 of Schedule 1 to the Initial RIN
Initial RIN	The regulatory information notice issued to Powercor Australia by the AER on 13 October 2009 under section 28F(1)(a) of the NEL
Inter-DNSP charges	The inter-network provider distribution service tariffs paid to other DNSPs (net of any similar payments received from other DNSPs)
IT	Information Technology
Jackgreen	Jackgreen (International) Pty Ltd (ABN 14 097 708 104)
Jemena	Jemena Electricity Networks (VIC) Ltd (ABN 82 064 651 083)
Jemena Gas	Jemena Gas Networks (NSW) Ltd (ABN 87 003 004 322)
Jemena Gas Access Draft Decision	The AER's Draft decision - public Jemena Access arrangement proposal for the NSW gas networks 1 July 2010 - 30 June 2015 dated 10 February 2010
Jemena Gas Access Final Decision	The AER's Final Decision - public Jemena Gas Networks Access arrangement proposal for the NSW gas networks 1 July 2010-30 June 2015 dated 11 June 2010
km	Kilometre
KPI	Key Performance Indicator
KPMG	KPMG Econtech Pty Limited (ACN 003 591 008)
kV	Kilovolts
kVA	Kilovolt Amperes
LBRA	Low bushfire risk area
LCM	Labour Cost Model
LGA	Local Government Areas
LIDAR	vegetation line clearance inspection audit
Lighting RIS	Regulatory Impact Statement for Decision – Proposed MEPS for incandescent lamps, compact fluorescent lamps and voltage converters, 2009
Line Clearance RIS	Regulatory Impact Statement for Decision - Proposed Electricity Safety (Electric Line Safety) Regulations 2010
LLV	Large Low Voltage
LPI	Labour Price Index

Term	Description
LV	Low Voltage
MAIFI	Momentary Average Interruption Frequency Index
March 2010 Regulatory Templates	The version of the Initial Regulatory Templates updated for currency submitted by Powercor Australia to the AER on 4 March 2010
Maunsell	Maunsell Australia Pty Ltd
MAV	Municipal Association of Victoria (ABN 24 326 561 315)
MCE	Ministerial Council on Energy
MCR	Marginal Cost of Reinforcement
MDS	Metering Data Services
MEC	Major Electricity Company
MED	Major event day
MEPS	Minimum Energy Efficiency and Performance Standards for appliances
Mercer	Mercer (Australia) Pty Ltd (ABN 32 005 315 917)
MRET	Mandated Renewable Electricity Target
MRIM	Manually Read Interval Meters
MRP	Market risk premium
MSATS	Market Settlement and Transfer Solution
MVA	Megavolt Ampere
MW	Megawatts
MWh	Megawatt Hour
NECA	National Electricity Code Administrator
NEL	National Electricity Law
NEM	National Electricity Market
NEMMCO	National Electricity Market Management Company Limited (now AEMO)
NEO	The national electricity objective set out in section 7 of the NEL
NERA	National Economic Research Associates, Inc
NERG	Network Extensions for Remote Generation
Network Services Agreement	The agreement titled 'Powercor 2008-2010 Services Agreement' entered into with PNS in 2008 under which PNS provides construction and maintenance services, including customer and connection services, asset replacement maintenance services, asset performance (fault services) and network development services
NEVA	National Electricity (Victoria) Act 2005 (Vic)
NIEIR	National Institute of Economic and Industry Research (ABN 72 006 234

Term	Description
	626)
NMI	National Metering Identifier
Norfolk	Norfolk Group Limited (ABN 43 125 709 971)
NPV	Net Present Value
NSW	New South Wales
NSW Draft Determination	The AER's Draft Decision New South Wales distribution determination 2009-10 to 2013-14 dated 21 November 2008
NSW Final Determination	The AER's Final Decision New South Wales distribution determination 2009-10 to 2013-14 dated 28 April 2009
Officer CAPM Framework	The Capital Asset Pricing Model framework developed by Professor Bob Officer
Ofgem	United Kingdom's Office of Gas and Electricity Markets
OHS	Occupational Health and Safety
OMS	outage management systems
opex	Operating and maintenance expenditure
opex criteria	The operating expenditure criteria prescribed by clause 6.5.6(c) of the Rules.
opex objectives	The operating expenditure objectives set out in clause 6.5.6(a) of the Rules.
ORG	Office of the Regulator General
ORG Appeal Panel	ORG Appeal Panel established under section 38 of Office of Regulator- General Act 1994
ORG Appeal Panel Decision	ORG Appeal Panel, Statement of Reasons for Decision by Appeal Panel in the matter of the <i>Office of Regulator-General Act 1994</i> and in the matter of an appeal pursuant to s.37 of the Act brought by Powercor Australia Limited, 30 October 2000
ORG's 2001-05 EDPR	ORG, Electricity Distribution Price Determination 2001-05, Volume 1, Statement of Purpose and Reasons, September 2000
ORPs	Other responsible persons
PABX	Private Automated Branch Exchange
PAPL	Permitted Attached Private Lines
PB	Parsons Brinckerhoff Strategic Consulting
PDM	Program of Demand Management
PFIT Payments	Payments under premium feed-in tariff schemes
PFIT Rule Change	AEMC Rule Determination and new rule for Payments under Feed-in Schemes and Climate Change Funds
Plan	Electric Line Clearance Management Plan

Term	Description
PNS	Powercor Network Services Pty Ltd (ABN 94 123 230 24)
PNS' 2009 Regulatory Accounts	PNS' financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2009
PoE	Probability of Exceedance
POEL	Private Overhead Electric Line
PoF	Probability of Failure
Powercor Australia	Powercor Australia Limited (ABN 89 064 651 109)
Powercor Australia's 2008 Regulatory Accounts	Powercor Australia's regulatory accounts for the year ended 31 December 2008
Powercor Australia's 2009 Regulatory Accounts	Powercor Australia's regulatory accounts for the year ended 31 December 2009
Powercor Australia's Cost Allocation Methodology	Powercor Australia's cost allocation methodology approved by the AER in accordance with caluse 6.15.4 of the Rules
Previous Distribution Determinations	Collectively refers to the AER's ACT Final Determination, NSW Final Determination, Queensland Final Determination and South Australian Final Determination
Proclaimed Fire Danger Period	The fire danger period in respect of the country area of Victoria or any part thereof that is declared pursuant to the <i>Country Fire Act 1958</i> (Vic) to be a fire danger period in respect of the said country area or part thereof.
Proposed SoRI	The AER's Proposed Electricity transmission and distribution network service providers Statement of the revised WACC parameters (transmission) Statement of regulatory intent of the revised WACC parameters (distribution) dated 11 December 2008
PTRM	Post Tax Revenue Model
Public Lighting Decision	The AER's Energy Efficient Public Lighting Charges - Victoria Final Decision dated 27 February 2009
PV	Photovoltaic
PwC	PricewaterhouseCoopers (ABN 52 780 433 757)
Queensland Final Determination	The AER's Final decision Queensland distribution determination 2010-11 to 2014-15 dated 6 May 2010
Queensland Framework and Approach Paper	The AER's Framework and Approach Paper, classification of services and control mechanisms, Energex and Ergon Energy 2010-15, Final Decision, dated August 2008

Term	Description
RAB	Regulatory Asset Base
RBA	Reserve Bank of Australia (ABN 50 008 559 486)
RCM	Reliability Centred Maintenance
RECs	Renewable Energy Certificates
Regulatory control period	Takes its defined meaning as set out in Chapter 10 of the Rules
Repex Model	The AER's replacement capex forecasting model developed on its behalf by its consultant, Nuttall Consulting.
RET	Renewable Energy Target
Revenue and pricing principles	The revenue and pricing principles set out in section 7A of the NEL.
Revised Regulatory Proposal	This document, its appendices and attachments, which together comprise: Powercor Australia's revised regulatory proposed in response to the Draft Determination for the purposes of clause 6.10.3 of the Rules; Powercor Australia's submission in response to the Draft Determination; and Powercor Australia's response to the Further RIN dated 4 June 2010.
Revised Regulatory Templates	The completed regulatory templates submitted to the AER by Powercor Australia as part of its Revised Regulatory Proposal in response to clause 1 of Schedule 1 to the Further RIN
RIN	Regulatory Information Notice
RIS	Regulatory Impact Statement
RIT-D	Regulatory Investment Test – Distribution
RoLR	Retailer of Last Resort
Rules	National Electricity Rules
SAIDI	System Average Interruption Duration Index
SAIFI	System Average Interruption Frequency Index
SCADA	Supervisory Control and Data Acquisition
SCO	Standing Committee of Officials of the Ministerial Council on Energy
SCONRRR	Steering Committee on National Regulatory Reporting Requirements
SECV	State Electricity Commission of Victoria (ABN 58 155 836 293)
SEPPs	State Environment Protection Policies
SFG	Strategic Finance Group: SFG Consulting
Silk Telecom	Silk Telecom Pty Ltd (ABN 96 095 420 616)
SKM	Sinclair Knight Merz Pty Limited (ABN 37 001 024 095)
SMS Consulting	SMS Consulting Group Ltd (ABN 17 006 515 028)
\$00	Statement of Opportunities

SoRIThe AER's Electricity transmission and distribution network service providers Statement of the revised WACC parameters (transmission) Statement of regulatory intention on the revised WACC parameters (distribution) dated 1 May 2009SoRI Final DecisionThe AER's Electricity transmission and distribution network service providers' review of the weighted average cost of capital (WACC) parameters dated 1 May 2009.South Australian Final DeterminationThe AER's Final decision South Australia distribution determination 2010- 11 to 2014-15 dated 4 May 2010
SoRI Final DecisionThe AER's Electricity transmission and distribution network service providers' review of the weighted average cost of capital (WACC) parameters dated 1 May 2009.South Australian Final DeterminationThe AER's Final decision South Australia distribution determination 2010- 11 to 2014-15 dated 4 May 2010
South Australian Final DeterminationThe AER's Final decision South Australia distribution determination 2010- 11 to 2014-15 dated 4 May 2010
South AustralianThe AER's Draft decision South Australia Draft distribution determinationDraft2010-11 to 2014-15 dated 25 November 2009Determination
South AustralianThe AER's Framework and Approach Paper ETSA Utilities 2010-15 FinalFramework andDecision, dated November 2008Approach PaperPaper
SP AusNet SPI Electricity Pty Ltd (ABN 91 064 651 118)
SP AustNet Draft TransmissionThe AER's Draft decision SP AusNet transmission determination 2008-09 to 2013-14 dated 31 August 2007Determination
SP AustNet Final TransmissionThe AER's Final decision SP AusNet transmission determination 2008-09 to 2013-14 dated January 2008Determination
STPIS Service Target Performance Incentive Scheme
SWER Single Wire Earth Return
Tariff Order The Victorian Electricity Supply Industry Tariff Order 2005, made under section 15A of the Electricity Industry Act
TMR Trunk Mobile Radio
TNSP Transmission Network Service Provider
TOU Tariffs Time of use tariffs
Trade PracticesTrade Practices Act 1974 (Cth)Act
Transmission The charges payable by DNSPs for connection to the transmission system connection charges
Transmission- related CostsCollectively refers to transmission connection charges, inter-DNSP charges, avoided TuOS payments and avoided DuOS payments
Tribunal The Australian Competition Tribunal
TuOS Transmission Use of System
UED United Energy Distribution Ptv Ltd (ABN 70 064 651 029)

Term Description					
ULLS Final Decision	The ACCC's assessment of Telstra's Unconditioned Local Loop Service Bank 2 monthly charge undertakings, Final Decision dated 28 April 2009				
UoSA	Use of Systems Agreement				
URD	Underground Residential Developments				
USAIDI	Unplanned System Average Interruption Duration Index				
VCR	Value of Customer Reliability				
VEECs	Victorian Energy Efficiency Certificates				
VEET	Victorian Energy Efficiency Target				
VEMCO	VEMCO Pty Limited (ABN 43 065 985 453)				
VENCorp	Victorian Energy Networks Corporation Pty Ltd (ACN 081 026 066)				
VF	Voice Frequency				
Victorian DNSPs	CitiPower, Powercor Australia, Jemena, SP AusNet and UED				
VoIP	Voice over internet protocol				
WACC	Weighted Average Cost of Capital				
WAN	Wide area network.				
WAPC	Weighted Average Price Control				
WDV	Written Down Value				
Wilson Cook	Wilson Cook & Co Limited				
WMTS	West Melbourne Terminal Station				

1. INTRODUCTION AND EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

1.1 Introduction

On 30 November 2009, Powercor Australia submitted its Initial Regulatory Proposal for the regulatory control period 1 January 2011 to 31 December 2015 to the AER in accordance with clause 6.8.2 of the Rules.

The AER published its Draft Determination in accordance with clauses 6.10.1 and 6.10.2 of the Rules on 4 June 2010.

This document and its appendices and attachments together comprise Powercor Australia's Revised Regulatory Proposal. This Revised Regulatory Proposal contains:

- Powercor Australia's revised regulatory proposal in response to the Draft Determination for the purposes of clause 6.10.3 of the Rules;
- Powercor Australia's submission in response to the Draft Determination; and
- Powercor Australia's response to the Further RIN issued by the AER under s28F(1)(a) of the NEL on 4 June 2010.

This Revised Regulatory Proposal has been prepared in response to the matters raised in the AER's Draft Determination.

In this Revised Regulatory Proposal, Powercor Australia has made revisions to its Initial Regulatory Proposal to incorporate the substance of any changes required to address matters raised by the Draft Determination or the AER's reasons for it. As already observed, this Revised Regulatory Proposal also contains Powercor Australia's submission in response to the AER's Draft Determination and its response to the Further RIN.

This Revised Regulatory Proposal has been prepared in accordance with clauses 6.10.2(c) and 6.10.3 of the Rules.

Powercor Australia's response to the Further RIN contained in the Revised Regulatory Proposal has been prepared in accordance with the requirements of that RIN, as modified by subsequent correspondence from the AER. In particular, by email dated 21 June 2010, the AER extended the date for lodgement by Powercor Australia of its response to the Further RIN to 21 July 2010 in order to align the lodgement date for the Further RIN response with the time for lodgement of the Revised Regulatory Proposal established by clause 6.10.3(a) of the Rules.¹

1.2 Executive summary

Powercor Australia is disappointed with the AER's Draft Determination. It considers that the AER's Draft Determination:

¹ Email from P Dunn, Director, AER to B Cleeve, General Manager Price Review, CitiPower and Powercor Australia, 'Extension of submission date for the RIN', dated 21 June 2010.

- may compromise the reliability of supply to Victorian consumers of electricity, and the safe operation of its distribution network and resultant safety of the Victorian public;
- is inconsistent with Previous Distribution Determinations and cannot be reconciled with the AER's own and Powercor Australia's consultants' benchmarking of its relative efficiency; and
- effects a fundamental reassignment of risk between DNSPs and customers through the decisions on pass through and the recovery of Transmission-related Costs.

The AER's reduction of Powercor Australia's capex program by 36 per cent will have adverse implications for Victorian electricity consumers and the Victorian public, as the AER's Draft Determination compromises Powercor Australia's ability to:

- maintain the reliability of supply by, and safety of, its ageing distribution network; and
- continue to deliver distribution network services efficiently in the long term.

Powercor Australia is concerned that the AER's reductions to its capex program may reflect a lack of understanding of that program. Accordingly, this Revised Regulatory Proposal seeks to clarify Powercor Australia's proposed capex program by reference to the information, documents and material already adduced, as well as by adducing further information, documents and material in support of that program.

The AER has also compromised initiatives by Powercor Australia to address the expectations and concerns of the Victorian community with respect to bushfire mitigation by refusing to:

- allow funding to increase preventative maintenance for townships facing high bushfire risk; and
- provide a pass through for the funding of any future costs required to implement any preventative measures arising from the Bushfires Royal Commission.

Powercor Australia is also disappointed by the lack of consistency in distribution regulatory decision making by the AER. Powercor Australia considers that the AER's decision making process, its methodologies and approach adopted in the Draft Determination and the price outcome from its Draft Determination represent a significant departure from the AER's approach in making Previous Distribution Determinations for New South Wales, Queensland and South Australia.

The relative price outcomes in the AER's Draft Determination and in the AER's Previous Distribution Determinations for New South Wales, Queensland and South Australia also stand in marked contrast to the results of benchmarking analysis of the DNSPs in these jurisdictions. The Draft Determination prescribes a significant reduction in distribution charges for standard control services in Victoria in 2011 and negligible price changes in subsequent years of the regulatory control period. By contrast, the AER's Previous Distribution

Determinations for New South Wales, Queensland and South Australia all allowed significant price increases in the opening year of the relevant regulatory control period and material price increases in subsequent years. These relative price outcomes are difficult to reconcile with the results of benchmarking analysis which indicate that Victorian DNSPs, and Powercor Australia in particular, operate on the efficiency frontier. In particular:

- the AER concluded, on the basis of its own capex benchmarking, that 'Victorian DNSPs compare well when overall capex is compared with that of Queensland and NSW' and 'the overall level of capex for the Victorian DNSPs is broadly below the level of comparable DNSPs';²
- the AER concluded, on the basis of its own opex benchmarking, that 'Victorian DNSPs compare well when overall opex is compared with that of Queensland and NSW', 'the overall level of opex for the Victorian DNSPs is broadly below the level of comparable DNSPs' and 'Victorian DNSPs appear relatively efficient compared to other non-Victorian DNSPs',³
- CitiPower and Powercor Australia engaged NERA to benchmark the relative efficiency of their opex forecasts for 2011-15 set out in their Initial Regulatory Proposals vis-à-vis 11 other DNSPs operating in the NEM and Western Australia and NERA concluded that CitiPower was the most efficient, and Powercor Australia the second most efficient, of the 13 DNSPs examined by it;⁴ and
- Powercor Australia participated in a survey of DNSPs' market prices for eight typical distribution utility capital works unit rates and SKM concluded that Powercor Australia's 2009 unit rates for capital works (which were used as the unescalated unit rates in forecasting capex for the 2011-15 regulatory control period in the Initial Regulatory Proposal and this Revised Regulatory Proposal) were below the mean of the surveyed unit rates for each of the eight categories of capital works that were subject to the survey and, in six of the categories surveyed, was 15 per cent or more below that mean surveyed rate.⁵

Yet, the AER provided in the Draft Determination for a significant reduction to what it has conceded is efficient Victorian DNSP pricing, despite having previously allowed significant price increases for the relatively inefficient DNSPs in New South Wales, Queensland and South Australia.

Finally, Powercor Australia is concerned by the fundamental reassignment of risk between DNSPs and customers, with DNSPs bearing a greater burden of the risk, effected by:

• The materiality threshold specified in the Draft Determination for nominated pass through events and the AER's rejection of the financial failure of a retailer nominated pass through event. Currently in Victoria

² AER, Draft Determination Appendices, Appendix I, pp60-1.

³ AER, Draft Determination Appendices, Appendix I, pp68, 69 and 74.

⁴ NERA, Review of Operating Expenditure Efficiency, July 2010 (Attachment 102 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal).

⁵ SKM, SKM Market Price Survey #4 - Results of Survey for Powercor, 6 July 2010 (Attachment 103 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal).

under the ESCV's 2006-10 EDPR, the 'materiality threshold' for pass through events is a 'material financial impact on the distribution business' and the financial failure of a retailer event is a defined pass through event.

• The AER's failure to provide a mechanism in the Draft Determination for the recovery of charges payable by Powercor Australia for connection to the transmission system, inter-DNSP tariffs (net of any similar payments received from other DNSPs) and payments to embedded generators in respect of avoided TuOS and DuOS payments, collectively referred to in this Revised Regulatory Proposal as Transmission-related Costs. Currently in Victoria, the ESCV's 2006-10 EDPR provides a mechanism for the full recovery of these Transmission-related Costs by Victorian DNSPs.

Victorian DNSPs must be compensated through regulated revenues for any increase in the risks allocated to them under the AER's Final Determination as compared to the ESCV's 2006-10 EDPR. The AER has not provided any compensation for DNSPS for carrying this additional risk. It has not allowed any additional expenditure through self insurance or opex because both of these are based on revealed 2009 costs. Nor has the AER amended its calculation of WACC to allow a premium for managing this additional risk.

In the remainder of this executive summary, Powercor Australia:

- outlines a number of concerns it has with the AER's approach to date to making its Final Determination, in section 1.2.1 below; and
- provides a summary of its response in this Revised Regulatory Proposal to specific aspects of the AER's Draft Determination with which Powercor Australia takes issue, in section 1.2.2 below.

1.2.1 Response to AER's approach in Draft Determination

As foreshadowed above, Powercor Australia has concerns with a number of aspects of the AER's approach to date to the making of its Final Determination. These concerns relate either to the procedure adopted by the AER in its decision making or its assessment of various aspects of the Initial Regulatory Proposal.

1.2.1.1 Inconsistency with Previous Distribution Determinations and decision making processes

Powercor Australia is concerned by the lack of consistency in the AER's procedure and approach to making its Final Determination with the procedure and approach to making its Previous Distribution Determination in the ACT, NSW, Queensland and South Australia.

Powercor Australia maintains that consistency in decision making was, and remains, a core objective of the establishment of a national framework for distribution economic regulation and is a characteristic of good administrative decision making.

However, in making its Draft Determination, the AER has made a number of significant departures from the procedure and approach it adopted in making its Previous Distribution Determinations. Notable examples include the following:

- In assessing Powercor Australia's forecast of reinforcement capex, the AER has adopted forecasts prepared by Nuttall Consulting using a model that is 'novel', particularly insofar as it is subjective and heavily dependent on 'judgment'. It has not been applied in any Previous Distribution Determination or any previous determination by the ESCV. As a result, it is an untested approach to forecasting reinforcement capex. Perhaps because of this, Nuttall Consulting's forecasting methodology and the assumptions underpinning its approach are flawed. In particular:
 - the forecasts are not linked to maximum demand forecasts. That is, its forecasts of reinforcement capex do not reflect any explicit consideration of maximum demand; and
 - Nuttall Consulting's determination of the probability of Powercor Australia's reinforcement capex projects going ahead, which is a critical determinant of Nuttall Consulting's forecast of Powercor Australia's reinforcement capex, is based entirely on 'judgment' resulting in a forecast of reinforcement capex that is, in turn, qualitative and subjective.
- In assessing Powercor Australia's forecast capex for 2011-15 in its Draft Determination, the level of engagement by the AER and its consultant, Nuttall Consulting, is in marked contrast to that experienced by ETSA in its distribution price review. Powercor Australia understands that, in the South Australian distribution price review, the AER and its consultant, PB, spent a considerably longer period of time working with ETSA to understand and assess ETSA's forecast capex than the AER and its consultant, Nuttall Consulting, have spent engaging with CitiPower and Powercor Australia on their respective capex forecasts. The contrast is particularly marked against the background that, for ETSA, the AER was required to assess only 1 capex forecast for 1 distribution business, whereas for CitiPower and Powercor Australia it must assess 2 such forecasts, one for each of the 2 distribution businesses.
- In adopting the costs that would be incurred by the group to which the DNSP belongs as the benchmark or counterfactual against which to assess Victorian DNSPs' expenditure under outsourcing arrangements, the AER departed from the position taken by the AER and the ESCV in the following previous regulatory decisions:
 - the AER's South Australian Draft Determination, wherein the AER considered the costs incurred by ETSA under its commercial contracts with CHED Services for the provision of call centre, FRC and FRC systems support services and noted that it supported the conclusion reached by its own consultant, PB, that 'outsourcing these services results in lower costs than providing the services inhouse on a stand alone basis⁶;
 - \circ the AER's Jemena Gas Access Final Decision, wherein it is apparent that the AER did not assess whether the margin incurred

⁶ AER, South Australian Draft Determination (Attachment 21 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p206.

by Jemena Gas under its outsourcing arrangements reflected the amount required by the contractor to recover a reasonable share of its overheads, a return on and of capital invested in physical assets and/or an allowance for asymmetric risks⁷; and

- the ESCV's GAAR, wherein (in contrast to the AER's assessment framework which, in essence, assumes that any outsourcing arrangement that fails the 'presumption threshold' is inefficient) the ESCV recognised the potential for, and undertook a detailed inquiry to determine whether, outsourcing arrangements that fail the 'presumption threshold' are a more efficient means of delivering a service than in-house provision.
- In the South Australian Final Determination, the AER adopted growth in installed zone substation capacity as one of the three physical metrics used in the composite network growth factor adopted by the AER for scale escalation based on advice from its consultant, PB. However, in the Draft Determination, the AER adopted growth in the number of zone substations in place of growth in installed zone substation capacity as the relevant physical metric used in the composite network growth factor. In so doing, the sole reason advanced by the AER was that this 'was proposed by SP AusNet'.
- In the South Australian Final Determination, the AER accepted ETSA's forecast network insurance in reliance on the Aon report commissioned by ETSA. In so doing, the AER accepted the advice of its expert consultant, PB, to the effect that 'PB was satisfied that ETSA Utilities' forecast network insurance allowances are prudent and efficient⁸ and itself concluded that the approach taken by Aon in its report was 'transparent and reasonable' and that the resultant insurance allowances were 'prudent and efficient'.⁹ However, in the Draft Determination, the AER rejected Powercor Australia's proposed insurance step change on the basis that it was not satisfied that Powercor Australia's future insurance premiums would increase in the manner forecast by Aon in a report for Powercor Australia. The AER reached this conclusion despite the fact that:
 - the Aon report for Powercor Australia was substantially similar to that commissioned by ETSA and accepted by the AER and its adviser, PB, as 'transparent and reasonable' in the South Australian Final Determination; and
 - Powercor Australia's insurance program is undertaken jointly with CitiPower and ETSA.
- In determining the materiality threshold to apply to nominated pass through events in its Draft Determination, the AER rejected its approach in the Previous Distribution Determinations for the ACT, NSW, Queensland and South Australia of applying a materiality threshold to specific nominated

⁷ AER, Jemena Gas Access Final Decision (Attachment 104 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), pp56-57 and 267-273.

⁸ AER, South Australian Draft Determination (Attachment 21 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p220.

⁹ AER, South Australia Draft Determination (Attachment 21 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p221.

pass through events of the administrative costs of assessing the application. Rather, the AER determined that all nominated pass through events should have a materiality threshold of one per cent of smoothed forecast revenue in the years of the regulatory control period the costs are incurred.

- In its approach to nominated pass through events in its Draft Determination, the AER revised its view of 'forseeability' since the Previous Distribution Determinations for the ACT, NSW, Queensland and South Australia such that it now considered that 'forseeability' should be viewed in terms of whether the event is capable of being tightly defined in advance, rather than the probability of the event occurring. As a result, the AER rejected a general nominated pass through event. The AER's Draft Determination is inconsistent with its inclusion of this event in its Previous Distribution Determinations.
- In rejecting Powercor Australia's proposed S factor true up control mechanism term, the AER stated that it was constrained by clause 6.12.3(c) of the Rules from changing the control mechanism formula set out in the Framework and Approach Paper. However, in the South Australian Draft Determination, the AER determined that this rule only prevents it from changing the form of control (e.g. from a WAPC to a revenue cap) and does not prevent it from adding new terms to the formula. The AER's approach is also inconsistent with its approach in the Queensland Final Determination where it added new terms to the formula that were not included in the Queensland Framework and Approach Paper.
- In rejecting Powercor Australia's proposal to include a term in the WAPC and side constraint formulae to provide for the recovery of Transmissionrelated Costs on the basis that it had no power to amend the form of these formulae set out in the Framework and Approach Paper, the AER departed from its approach in Previous Distribution Determinations. For example:
 - in the South Australian and the Queensland Final Determinations, the AER took the view that, while the form of control mechanism (e.g. from a WAPC to a revenue cap) must be as set out in the relevant Framework and Approach Paper, the WAPC and side constraint formulae could be amended to include an additional term (and the AER did, in fact, add new terms to the WAPC formula in those Final Determinations even though no such terms were included in the WAPC formula in the relevant Framework and Approach Paper); and
 - perhaps more significantly, in the South Australian and Queensland Final Determinations, the AER established a mechanism for the calculation of transmission related payments to be passed through by ETSA and the Queensland DNSPs pursuant to their pricing proposals, referred to as the 'TuOS unders and overs account'. While clause 6.18.7 of the Rules only contemplates the pass through of TuOS charges via a DNSP's pricing proposal, the AER nonetheless explicitly provided for the pass through by ETSA and the Queensland DNSPs of certain of

the Transmission-related Costs presently in issue, namely avoided TuOS payments and inter-DNSP payments, in the AER's 'TuOS unders and overs account'. 10

Thus, the AER has previously recognised its power to include additional terms in the WAPC and side constraint formulae not reflected in its relevant Framework and Approach Paper and established a mechanism for recovery of certain of the Transmission-related Costs presently in issue through inclusion of an additional term in the WAPC and side-constraint formulae. Yet, in the Draft Determination, the AER resists the establishment of any mechanism for the recovery of Powercor Australia's Transmission-related Costs despite the fact that Powercor Australia is statutorily required to incur these Costs in the provision of standard control services and they are, thus, uncontrollable in nature and quantum.

Powercor Australia maintains that, (at least in part) as a result of these differences of approach, the distribution price movements approved in the AER's Draft Determination are in stark contrast to those approved in the AER's Previous Distribution Determinations. These distribution price movements are set out in Table 1.1 below.

	First year (% price change)	Remaining 4 years (% price change per annum)						
Victorian DNSPs (AER's Draft Determination - real)								
CitiPower	-7.27	0 to 2						
Powercor Australia	-8.14	0						
SP AusNet	-4.46	0 to -6						
UED	-19.57	0 to 5						
Jemena	-1.46	-2 to -6						
Queensland DNSPs (AER's Queensland Final Determination - real)								
Ergon Energy	29.61	5.10						
Energex	18.20	7.90						
South Australian DNSP (AER's South Australian Final Determination - real)								
ETSA	10.95	3.9						

¹⁰ AER, South Australian Final Determination (Attachment 22 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), Appendix F, Table F.1, p323; AER, Queensland Final Determination (Attachment 24 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), Appendix E, Table E.1, p396.

New South Wales DNSPs (AER's NSW Final Determination - real)						
Energy Australia	17.86	12.0 to 8.0				
Integral Energy	12.58	7.0 to 0.0				
Country Energy	13.41	13.31 to 0				

Table 1.1: AER approved distribution price movements in Draft Determination and Previous Distribution Determinations

1.2.1.2 AER attempts to align Final Determinations of Victorian DNSPs

In the Draft Determination, the AER's reasoning and approach to assessing Powercor Australia's Initial Regulatory Proposal is influenced by the AER's objective of ensuring a consistent outcome in its Final Determinations for the Victorian DNSPs.

As noted above, Powercor Australia agrees with the AER that a consistent process and approach to assessing distribution regulatory proposals, both as between individual Victorian DNSPs and as between the Victorian DNSPs and DNSPs in other jurisdictions, is important. However, Powercor Australia is also concerned to ensure that the AER does not fall into error by assessing its Current Regulatory Proposal against those of the other Victorian DNSPs or seeking through its decision making to align its Final Determinations for each of the Victorian DNSPs.

The regulatory proposals made by other Victorian DNSPs and the decision reached by the AER in its assessment of such proposals are of no relevance to the AER's assessment and decision on Powercor Australia's Initial or Current Regulatory Proposal. The statutory test the AER is required to apply in assessing Powercor Australia's forecasts of opex and capex under clauses 6.5.6 and 6.5.7 of the Rules, in particular, does not permit the AER to adopt as a decision making criterion the objective of aligning its Final Determinations across the Victorian DNSPs or to have regard to the regulatory proposals made by other Victorian DNSPs. If the AER were intended to have regard to such matters, the mandatory considerations set out in clauses 6.5.6(e) and 6.5.7(e) of the Rules would include the regulatory proposals received by the AER from other DNSPs in the relevant participating jurisdiction. Another Victorian DNSP's failure, in a regulatory proposal, to seek expenditure proposed by, or the same quantum of expenditure as, Powercor Australia is of little probative value in evidencing that the expenditure sought by Powercor Australia is required by it to achieve the opex or capex objectives (as the case may be).

However, in the Draft Determination, the AER assesses Powercor Australia's Initial Regulatory Proposal against those of the other Victorian DNSPs in its application of the statutory test established by clauses 6.5.6 and 6.5.7 of the Rules and otherwise actively seeks to align its Final Determinations for each of the Victorian DNSPs. Notable examples include the following:

• In its consideration of the growth drivers proposed by the Victorian DNSPs for the purposes of scale escalation, the AER:

- observed that the Victorian DNSPs proposed ten different growth drivers (nearly all of which were proposed by one DNSP); ¹¹
- rejected Powercor Australia's proposal that undepreciated replacement cost be adopted as the network growth driver for the purposes of scale escalation, in part, because 'only CitiPower and Powercor considered undepreciated replacement cost to be a representative driver of network growth and in-turn opex^{1/2} and 'CitiPower and Powercor's proposed growth rates result in scale opex forecasts significantly above the other DNSPs^{1/3};
- adopted two growth drivers, one of which was a composite network growth factor based on three physical metrics and the other of which was the annual growth in customer numbers over the 2011-15 period, for all of the Victorian DNSPs;¹⁴ and
- in so doing, adopted growth in the number of zone substations (rather than growth in installed zone substation capacity as it did in the South Australian Final Determination based on advice from its consultant, PB) as one of three physical metrics used in the composite network growth factor for the sole stated reason that this *'was proposed by SP AusNet'*.¹⁵
- Albeit not a view expressly adopted by the AER in its Draft Determination, its expert, Nuttall Consulting, observed, in assessing Powercor Australia's proposed step change for its 'at risk townships program', that this step change was not proposed by SP AusNet and that 'the lack of a claim for SP AusNet for expenditure in this area suggests that the required response may not be as material as suggested by Powercor'.¹⁶

1.2.1.3 Failure by AER to apply 'propose and respond' framework

The Rules establish a 'propose and respond' framework for the AER's assessment of a DNSP's forecasts of opex and capex in its regulatory proposal.¹⁷ This framework requires the AER to:

- assess Powercor Australia's proposal against the opex and capex criteria;
- only if it is not satisfied that that proposal reasonably reflects the criteria, substitute its own forecast, amount or methodology; and
- in so doing, ensure that its own forecast, amount or methodology departs from that proposed only to the extent necessary to enable the AER to be satisfied that the opex and capex criteria are met.

¹¹ AER, Draft Determination, Appendix J, p89.

¹² AER, Draft Determination, Appendix J, p90.

¹³ AER, Draft Determination, Appendix J, p95.

¹⁴ AER, Draft Determination, Appendix J, p95.

¹⁵ AER, Draft Determination, Appendix J, p95 and footnote 47.

¹⁶ Nuttall Consulting, Capital Expenditure - Victorian Electricity Distribution Revenue Review, 26 May 2010, p346.

¹⁷ Australian Government Solicitor, Letter of advice to Mr Tom Motherwell, Department of Industry Tourism and Resources titled 'Assessment of expenditure forecasts', 10 October 2006 (Attachment 20 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal).

The Tribunal described the application of this propose and respond framework to a DNSP's forecast opex, in *Application by Energy Australia and Others*¹⁸, as follows:

'...the role of a DNSP is to provide the AER with an opex forecast that reasonably reflects the three opex criteria and the AER must accept the forecast if it is satisfied that the total of the forecast reasonably reflects the three criteria. Energy Australia is correct to submit that it is not the AER's role to simply make a decision it considers best. It is also correct for it to say that the AER should be very slow to reject a DNSP's proposal backed by detailed, relevant independent expert advice because the AER, on an uninformed basis, takes a different view. Nor, as EA submits, may the AER reject such a proposal merely because it has an expert opinion. The AER, based upon any expert advice, needs to make its own evaluation, an evaluation that is reviewable by this Tribunal.'

Powercor Australia is concerned that the AER's approach in the Draft Determination is, in places, inconsistent with this propose and respond framework. In particular, Powercor Australia observes that the following elements of the Draft Determination are indicative of substitution by the AER of its preferred forecast, amount or methodology in circumstances where the AER has not first determined that Powercor Australia's proposal does not reasonably reflect the opex and capex criteria and the minimum adjustment to that proposal necessary to enable the AER to be satisfied that the opex and capex criteria are met:

- Aside from cursory comments that the AER considered its adjustment to Powercor Australia's forecast capex to be the minimum adjustment necessary, there is no evidence in the Draft Determination of the AER seeking to identify the minimum adjustment to Powercor Australia's forecast capex necessary. The AER has simply identified and adopted point estimates based on Nuttall Consulting's recommendations, including in reliance on historical expenditure trends and the Repex Model. In order to comply with the Rules, Powercor Australia submits that the AER must adjust the capex forecasts included in this Revised Regulatory Proposal to the minimum extent necessary to reach satisfaction under the Rules.
- As discussed above, the AER assesses Powercor Australia's Initial Regulatory Proposal against those of the other Victorian DNSPs in its application of the statutory test established by clauses 6.5.6 and 6.5.7 of the Rules and otherwise actively seeks to align its Final Determinations for each of the Victorian DNSPs. Such an approach is inconsistent with the propose and respond framework established by the Rules, which requires the AER to assess Powercor Australia's proposal directly against the opex and capex criteria and to amend any forecast, amount or methodology in the proposal only to the extent necessary for it to be satisfied the resultant forecast, amount or methodology reasonably reflects the opex and capex criteria. Any alignment by the AER of its Final Determinations for each of the Victorian DNSPs will necessarily involve either rejection and amendment

¹⁸ [2009] ACompT 8 at [190] (Attachment 97 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal).

of Powercor Australia's proposal in circumstances where that proposal reasonably reflects the opex and capex criteria and/or amendment of that proposal otherwise than to the minimum extent necessary to be satisfied that the resultant forecast, amount or methodology reasonably reflects the opex or capex criteria.

- The AER also, on occasion, rejects a methodology in Powercor Australia's Initial Regulatory Proposal (at least in part) because Powercor Australia's methodology results in a different forecast or amount to that preferred by the AER. For example:
 - the AER rejects Powercor Australia's proposal to use undepreciated network replacement cost as a growth driver for the purposes of scale escalation, in part, because '*CitiPower and Powercor's proposed growth rates exceed the growth rates of substitute drivers'*;¹⁹ and
 - the AER assumed that historical reliability and quality maintained capex was efficient and, accordingly, assessed Powercor Australia's forecast reliability and quality maintained capex in greater detail where it exceeded historical capex. If it was not satisfied that the expenditure in excess of historical capex was efficient, the AER adopted a model for forecasting reliability and quality maintained capex that *'was ... calibrated so that it reflected historical levels and costs'*.²⁰ In short, the AER's forecasting methodology results in a forecast of reliability and quality maintained capex that reflects historical capex and, thus, is consistent with its starting assumption that historical reliability and quality maintained capex is efficient.

Again, this is not consistent with the Rules' propose and respond framework. A divergence in the output of the AER's preferred methodology and that proposed by Powercor Australia does not suffice to establish that Powercor Australia's proposed methodology does not reasonably reflect the opex or capex criteria.

1.2.1.4 Adoption of 'revealed cost' approach to forecast capex

In its Draft Determination, the AER largely adopted a 'revealed cost' approach to assessing Powercor Australia's proposed capex and forecasting substitute capex.²¹

With the exception of customer connections capex (in respect of which Powercor Australia accepts a revealed cost approach may be appropriate), historical expenditure is not a reasonable basis on which to prepare forecasts of capex for 2011-15 that reasonably reflect the capex criteria.

The AER acknowledged as much in its Draft Determination, saying in respect of environmental, safety and legal capex, SCADA and network control and nonnetwork capex that the *'historic trend cannot completely determine future*

¹⁹ AER, Draft Determination, Appendix J, p90.

²⁰ AER, Draft Determination, pp338-9.

²¹ AER, Draft Determination, p288.

requirements'.²² Similarly, the ESCV recognised in its 2006-10 EDPR that there are reasons why historical capex will not necessarily be indicative of capex going forward, including in particular growth in maximum demand and the ageing of the asset base.²³

Powercor Australia notes that both maximum demand and the average asset age of its network is expected to increase in the next regulatory control period (see Chapters 4 and 9 of this Revised Regulatory Proposal). Powercor Australia also observes that the risks its network will face in the next regulatory control period will not be the same as the risks it faced in the past. Accordingly, Powercor Australia is concerned that the Draft Determination fails to provide for capex that would be required by an efficient and prudent operator to meet the capex objectives.

1.2.1.5 Imposition of evidentiary threshold requirements

In the Draft Determination, the AER sought to establish evidentiary thresholds, or put another way minimum evidentiary requirements, for the AER's satisfaction that the proposed capex forecasts reasonably reflect the capex criteria. In particular, the AER sought to establish the following evidentiary thresholds:

- formal cost benefit analysis, including options analysis, and/or a risk assessment;
- internal cost benefit analysis (rather than external expert analysis); and
- cost benefit analysis quantifying benefits and/or demonstrating a net benefit in circumstances where a DNSP's forecast capex is required to achieve compliance with its mandatory legal obligations.

Powercor Australia considers that the establishment of evidentiary threshold is unreasonable and not permissible at law.

Powercor Australia submits that the AER cannot, at law, seek to establish threshold evidentiary requirements (such as formal cost benefit analysis, including options analysis, and/or a risk assessment) for the AER to be satisfied that a DNSP's forecast capex reasonably reflects the capex criteria. In *Telstra Corporation Limited v Australian Competition Tribunal*, the Full Federal Court agreed with Telstra that the Tribunal had fallen into error by devising a set of rules (which it called a 'road map') that the evidence adduced by Telstra must address in order for the Tribunal to be satisfied as to the statutory test established by section 152AT(4) of the Trade Practices Act, rather than directly applying the statutory test to the evidentiary material before it.²⁴ The Court concluded that '[t]o impose a requirement of empirical evidence which addressed the matters set out in the road map as a minimum set of standards ... is, as Telstra submitted, to apply the wrong test' and was 'an error of law ... fundamental to its decision'.²⁵

In addition, Powercor Australia submits that it is not open to the AER, acting reasonably, to:

²² AER, Draft Determination, pp399, 409, 419 and 429.

²³ ESCV, 2006-10 EDPR, Volume 1 (Attachment 31 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p269.

²⁴ (2009) 175 FCR 201 at [171]-[175].

²⁵ (2009) 175 FCR 201 at [174] & [175].

- set evidentiary thresholds for the AER's satisfaction under the Rules at a level that is unduly onerous and demanding, and which ignores the practical constraints on adducing the relevant evidentiary material; and
- conclude that it is not satisfied that a DNSP's forecast capex reasonably reflects the capex criteria because the cost benefit analysis before it was performed by an independent expert rather than the DNSP itself.

Finally, Powercor Australia submits that, in circumstances where a DNSP's forecast capex is the efficient cost required to achieve compliance with its mandatory legal obligations:

- the AER has no discretion to refuse to allow that capex on the basis that the DNSP has not demonstrated a net benefit associated with that capex or has not quantified the benefits and outcomes for consumers; and
- it is not legally permissible for the AER to require a risk assessment, on the basis that regulators of these obligations have adopted a 'risk based approach' to compliance, as a precondition to AER satisfaction that that capex reasonably reflects the capex criteria.

1.2.1.6 Historical accuracy of DNSPs' forecasts

In its Draft Determination, the AER had regard to the past forecasting performance of Victorian DNSPs.²⁶ The AER concluded that Victorian DNSPs' capex forecasts tend to systematically over estimate actual capex.²⁷

Despite this, in the current regulatory control period, Powercor Australia's actual capex in 2006-09 **exceeded** the benchmark set by the ESCV and is expected to exceed the benchmark for 2010 (see Table 1.2 below). The difference is primarily attributable to non-routine new customer connections, which have increased significantly due to stronger than expected growth in customer numbers and steady growth in reinforcement expenditure. This was discussed further in sections 5.5 and 5.10 of the Initial Regulatory Proposal.

	\$'000s (real 2010)						
Capex	2006	2007	2008	2009	2010	Total	
Actual/projected	223,199	253,153	242,619	230,007	263,991	1,212,969	
Regulatory allowance	203,891	220,924	225,848	222,641	225,806	1,099,111	
Difference	19,307	32,230	16,771	7,365	38,185	113,858	

 Table 1.2: Comparison of gross capex in 2006-10 to ESCV allowance for 2006-10

1.2.1.7 Windfall gains and drawing of adverse inferences by AER

In rejecting Powercor Australia's proposed adjustments to the calculation of carry over amounts arising from the 2006-10 period, the AER reasoned that it is not appropriate to revisit the design of the ESCV's ECM and/or to make ex post adjustments to the carry over amounts calculated in accordance with that ECM

²⁶ AER, Draft Determination, pp291-292, 315, 356-357, 409, 418 & 428.

²⁷ AER, Draft Determination, pp291-292.

because any adjustment for windfall losses would require a consideration of windfall gains but, given the information asymmetry between the Victorian DNSPs and the AER, it would be difficult to identify any windfall gains received by Victorian DNSPs.²⁸

Powercor Australia observes, however, that:

- there is no evidence that Powercor Australia received windfall gains as a result of uncontrollable cost reductions in the 2006-10 regulatory control period; and
- it is not reasonable for the AER to infer or assume any such gains on the basis of information asymmetry between the Victorian DNSPs and the AER in circumstances where the NEL:
 - confers on it extensive information gathering powers through the issuance of regulatory information notices²⁹, which powers have been exercised by the AER on more than one occasion during its decision making process; and
 - establishes significant sanctions for non-compliance or the provision of false or misleading information in purported compliance with such a notice.³⁰

In addition, where a DNSP fails to comply with a regulatory information notice, the NEL expressly permits the AER to make an assumption or draw an inference adverse to a DNSP in respect of the matters the information required under the notice would have addressed had the information been provided as required.³¹ Powercor Australia maintains that this reflects a statutory intent that the AER has no power to make an assumption or draw an inference adverse to a DNSP except where the AER has first issued a regulatory information notice seeking information in respect of the relevant matter with which the DNSP has failed to comply.

1.2.1.8 Currency of expenditure forecasting inputs

In its Draft Determination, the AER observed in respect of a number of the Victorian DNSPs' input forecasts (e.g. those for energy consumption, maximum demand, labour rates etc) that the DNSPs' forecasts should be updated to reflect the most recent data. In respect of the forecast of labour rates by BIS Shrapnel, the AER appeared to go so far as to reject BIS Shrapnel's forecasting methodology and substitute labour rate forecasts prepared by its consultant, Access Economics, in part, on the basis that the data used by BIS Shrapnel was not current.³²

Contrary to the AER's apparent reasoning in its Draft Determination, currency of data is not a reason for rejecting a DNSP's proposed methodology for forecasting input costs and other input parameters.

²⁸ AER, Draft Determination, pp593-4.

²⁹ NEL, Part 3, Division 4.

³⁰ NEL ss28N, 28R, 59 and 74; *Criminal Code Act 1995* (Cth), ss137.1 and 137.2 and *Crimes Act 1914* (Cth), s4B(3).

³¹ NEL, s28Q(2).

³² AER, Draft Determination Appendices, pp136-37.

To address the AER's concerns regarding the currency of Powercor Australia's labour cost escalators, Powercor Australia is proposing to engage KPMG to update its labour cost forecasts (relied on by Powercor Australia in this Revised Regulatory Proposal) closer to the date of the AER's Final Determination, at a date of the AER's choosing. In addition, Powercor Australia is proposing to engage SKM to update its materials escalators (relied on by Powercor Australia in this Revised Regulatory Proposal) closer to the date of the AER's Final Determination, at a date of the AER's choosing. If the AER does not advise of the date by which it would like the updated forecasts, Powercor Australia will provide the updated forecasts to the AER by 13 September 2010.

Similarly, if the AER has concerns regarding the currency of any other forecasts in Powercor Australia's Current Regulatory Proposal at any time in the lead up to making its Final Determination, Powercor Australia requests that the AER inform it and offer Powercor Australia an opportunity to provide updated forecasts for use by the AER in its Final Determination.

1.2.1.9 Failure to provide certainty as to recovery of costs

In the Draft Determination, the AER rejected parts of Powercor Australia's Initial Regulatory Proposal that would have allowed Powercor Australia to recover costs that it incurs in providing direct control network services and complying with regulatory obligations and requirements. In doing so, the AER did not express any concerns as to whether those costs would be incurred by a prudent operator in Powercor Australia's circumstances or provide any other valid reasons for declining recovery of those costs.

In particular:

- the AER rejected several of Powercor Australia's proposed pass through events on the basis that those events could fall within the existing 'regulatory change event' or 'service standard event' definitions.³³ However, the AER did not make a finding that these events would fall within those definitions if they did occur (subject to any materiality threshold). Accordingly, Powercor Australia has no certainty as to whether it will be able to recover the costs of these events if they do occur;
- the AER rejected Powercor Australia's proposal that additional terms should be added to the control mechanism formula to allow the recovery of Transmission-related Costs.³⁴ The AER acknowledged that these Costs would be incurred and that there was no other mechanism for their recovery under the Rules, but failed to include a mechanism for their recovery under the Draft Determination; and
- the AER rejected Powercor Australia's proposal that any events that are proposed by Powercor Australia as nominated pass through events but are not accepted by the AER should be included as excluded cost categories for the purposes of the EBSS.³⁵ The AER considered that these events may already be covered by the 'regulatory change event' or 'service standard

³³ AER, Draft Determination, pp708-710.

³⁴ AER, Draft Determination, pp 62-66.

³⁵ AER, Draft Determination, p609.

event' definitions but, as noted above, the AER did not make a finding that they would be covered by those definitions if they occurred. The AER also stated that it was not necessary to exclude the costs related to these events because some of the events related to revenue and not costs and therefore would not affect the EBSS. However, that comment only applied to a small minority of the events proposed by the DNSPs and is not correct for any of the events proposed by Powercor Australia.

1.2.2 Response to Draft Determination's rejection of Powercor Australia's Initial Regulatory Proposal

In its Draft Determination, the AER did not accept a number of aspects of Powercor Australia's Initial Regulatory Proposal. This Revised Regulatory Proposal addresses these specific matters raised by the AER in its Draft Determination.

As discussed in section 1.2.2.1 below, Powercor Australia accepts, or does not contest, the AER's decisions or conclusions on a number of these specific matters and, accordingly, incorporates those decisions or conclusions into its Current Regulatory Proposal. However, these are also a number of the AER's decisions or conclusions that Powercor Australia does not accept. Its response to these is summarised in section 1.2.2.2 below.

1.2.2.1 Incorporation in Revised Regulatory Proposal of Draft Determination

In the Revised Regulatory Proposal, Powercor Australia accepts (or does not contest) a number of the decisions or conclusions of the AER in the Draft Determination to reject aspects of Powercor Australia's Initial Regulatory Proposal. The decisions or conclusions of the AER in the Draft Determination that Powercor Australia has accepted, or does not contest, include but are not limited to:

- the AER's classification of services in the Draft Determination;
- the AER's decision in respect of Powercor Australia's outsourcing arrangements to:
 - exclude the margin payable by Powercor Australia under its outsourcing arrangements with CHED Services, PNS and Silk Telecom from the calculation of the efficiency carryover mechanism amounts for the period 2006-09;
 - include the margin payable by Powercor Australia under those contracts in the 2006-09 actual capex that is used in the RAB roll forward calculation; and
 - exclude the administration fee payable to CHED Services under the DRMS from its expenditure forecasts for the 2011-15 regulatory control period and the calculation of the EBSS carry over amounts for 2011-15;
- the AER's adjustment to base year opex to remove regulatory reset costs;

- the AER's decision to roll forward the 2009 base year opex to 2010 by inflating the 2009 costs by the change in costs assumed by the ESCV, adjusted for the difference between forecast and actual growth, in determining the benchmark opex allowance for 2009 and 2010 in its 2006-10 EDPR;
- the AER's decision regarding the following step changes:
 - the step change proposed by Powercor Australia in respect of self insurance;
 - the step change proposed by Powercor Australia in respect of compliance with the Electricity Safety Management Regulations;
 - the step change proposed by Powercor Australia in respect of the national framework for distribution network planning and expansion;
 - the step change proposed by Powercor Australia in respect of the customer charter; and
 - to include a step change in respect of regulatory submission costs;
- the approach set out in the Draft Determination in relation to the opening RAB, except for the AER's adjustment to the value of 2005 disposals. Powercor Australia considers that the AER does not have any power under the Rules to make this adjustment;
- the AER's calculation of depreciation and asset lives set out in the Draft Determination, except that Powercor Australia considers that a number of amendments are required to the AER's calculations;
- the AER's value for the MRP of 6.5 per cent for the purpose of calculating the cost of capital;
- the AER's determination of a major event day threshold of 2.8 beta for the purposes of the STPIS;
- the AER's decision in Chapter 17 of the Draft Determination on the application of the DMIS to it in the 2011-15 regulatory control period;
- the AER's decision not to nominate pass through events for the wind farm connection costs event and the network extension for remote generation event proposed in Powercor Australia's Initial Regulatory Proposal; and
- the AER's decision in respect of the calculation of the estimated cost of corporate income tax to modify the statutory corporate income tax rate to take account of the Commonwealth Government's policy announcement that it intends to reduce the company tax rate. However, the AER should update its approach to take into account the Commonwealth Government's most recent announcement that it will now only reduce the company tax rate to 29 per cent and not 28 per cent.

Accordingly, the revisions made by Powercor Australia to its Initial Regulatory Proposal include the revisions required to incorporate Powercor Australia's acceptance of the matters detailed above in its Current Regulatory Proposal.

Powercor Australia observes, however, that, while it has incorporated many of the AER's adjustments to its Initial Regulatory Proposal in its Current Regulatory Proposal, this should not be construed as acceptance by Powercor Australia of the AER's rationale, or the rationale of any of its consultants, for those adjustments. In addition, Powercor Australia observes that it accepts the above matters for the purposes of its Current Regulatory Proposal and the current distribution price review only.

1.2.2.2 Departures in Revised Regulatory Proposal from Draft Determination

Powercor Australia does not accept in the Revised Regulatory Proposal a number of the decisions or conclusions of the AER in the Draft Determination to reject aspects of Powercor Australia's Initial Regulatory Proposal. These include but are not limited to:

- the AER's decision not to include any mechanism, including in particular any term in the control mechanism formulae, to allow the recovery of Transmission-related Costs;
- the AER's decision not to include an S factor true up correction factor in the control mechanism formulae;
- the AER's decision to substitute its own forecasts of energy consumption and maximum demand for the 2011-15 regulatory control period;
- the AER's decision to exclude the margin payable under its Corporate Services Agreement with CHED Services, its Network Services Agreement with PNS and its Electrical Network Communications Agreement and Corporate Communications Agreement with Silk Telecom from its opex and capex forecasts for the 2011-15 regulatory control period and the calculation of the EBSS carry over amounts for 2011-15;
- the AER's adjustments to base year opex:
 - to account for movement in the provisions relating to employee entitlements;
 - to exclude related party margins payable in 2009 under its Corporate Services Agreement with CHED Services, its Network Services Agreement with PNS and its Electrical Network Communications Agreement and Corporate Communications Agreement with Silk Telecom;
 - in respect of Powercor Australia's distribution licence fee;
 - in respect of GSL payments;
 - in respect of superannuation payments; and
 - in respect of capitalisation;
- the AER's decision in respect of Powercor Australia's debt raising costs;
- the AER's decision regarding the following step changes proposed by Powercor Australia:

- the step change in respect of insurance;
- the step change in respect of compliance with the 2010 Line Clearance Regulations;
- the step change in respect of Powercor Australia's at risk townships program; and
- $\circ\;$ the step change in respect of communications in extreme supply events;
- the growth drivers selected by the AER for the purposes of scale escalation, including in particular the AER's use of growth in the number of zone substations, its adjustments to Powercor Australia's proposed economies of scale adjustments and the AER's proposed adjustment for the capex/opex trade-off;
- the AER's forecasts of labour cost escalators, its decision to rely on the labour cost growth forecasts prepared by Access Economics in determining those escalators and its decision in respect of Powercor Australia's proposed materials escalators;
- the AER's decision in respect of Powercor Australia's total capex forecasts;
- the AER's decision on the method for determining the DRP for the purpose of calculating the cost of capital;
- the AER's decision in respect of the calculation of the estimated cost of corporate income tax for the 2011-15 regulatory control period to adopt a value of 0.65 for gamma for the purposes of calculating the cost of capital and the estimated cost of corporate income tax;
- the AER's decision in respect of the calculation of the carry over amounts arising in the 2006-10 period:
 - to apply Powercor Australia's 2001-05 negative carryover of -\$22.9 million (in \$2004); and
 - on adjustments to the carry over amounts arising in the 2006-10 regulatory period;
- the AER's decision to reject Powercor Australia's proposal that any events that are proposed by Powercor Australia as nominated pass through events but not accepted by the AER should be excluded cost categories for the purposes of the EBSS;
- the AER's decision to not to nominate the following pass through events proposed by Powercor Australia:
 - \circ recommendations arising from the Bushfires Royal Commission;
 - a general pass through event;
 - a financial failure of a retailer event;
- the AER's failure to confirm that pass through events which it rejected on the basis that they could fall within the scope of the 'regulatory change

event' or 'service standard event' pass through in the Rules do fall within the scope of those events;

- the AER's decision to set the materiality threshold for nominated pass through events at one per cent of smoothed forecast revenue in the years of the regulatory control period that the costs are incurred; and
- the AER's decision in respect of Powercor Australia's proposed charges for alternative control services (including public lighting).

In this Revised Regulatory Proposal, Powercor Australia responds to these decisions or conclusions by either:

- affirming its proposal in the Initial Regulatory Proposal and adducing additional supporting information, documents and material to substantiate that proposal; or
- making revisions to its Initial Regulatory Proposal to address those AER decisions or conclusions, or the AER's reasons for them.

Powercor Australia's response to those decisions or conclusions in the Draft Determination that it does not accept, together with its Current Regulatory Proposal, are summarised briefly below. However, this Chapter 1 should be read in conjunction with the detailed response to the AER's Draft Determination contained in the other Chapters of this Revised Regulatory Proposal and the supporting Appendices.

The revisions contained within this Revised Regulatory Proposal have been developed following consideration of the issues raised by the AER's Draft Determination, advice from Powercor Australia's external advisers and additional analysis performed by Powercor Australia.

Recovery of Transmission-related Costs and S factor true up

Powercor Australia does not accept the AER's decision in the Draft Determination not to include any mechanism to allow the recovery of Transmission-related Costs.

Powercor Australia maintains its position in the Initial Regulatory Proposal that the AER should include a new term in each of the WAPC formula and the side constraint formula to address Transmission-related Costs (TRC_l). Powercor Australia considers that:

- the AER has the power to provide for the recovery of Transmission-related Costs in its distribution determination - clause 6.18.7 of the Rules only prevents the recovery of Transmission-related Costs through a DNSP's pricing proposal but does not prevent the AER from providing for the recovery of those Costs in its Final Determination; and
- the AER has the power to add a term to the WAPC formula as recognised by the AER in the South Australian Draft Determination, clause 6.12.3(c) of the Rules only prevents the AER from changing the form of control (e.g. from a WAPC to a revenue cap) but does not prevent the AER from adding a term to the WAPC formula.
However, Powercor Australia also revises its Initial Regulatory Proposal to propose that, if the AER rejects Powercor Australia's proposed WAPC or side constraint terms (or both of them) regarding Transmission-related Costs, the AER must:

- increase Powercor Australia's forecast opex to include the estimated amounts of the Transmission-related Costs for 2011-15 set out in Chapter 3 of this Revised Regulatory Proposal; and
- accept a 'transmission related costs event' as an additional nominated pass through event covering the difference between forecast and actual expenditure in respect of Transmission-related Costs, with a materiality threshold of zero.

Powercor Australia considers that the AER is required by clause 6.5.6(c) of the Rules to accept this forecast opex, if the AER rejects Powercor Australia's proposed WAPC or side constraint terms (or both of them) regarding Transmission-related Costs, because:

- these Costs are incurred in providing direct control network services and complying with regulatory obligations and requirements; and
- accordingly, these Costs are efficient and prudent expenditure required to achieve the opex objectives under clause 6.5.6(a) of the Rules.

Powercor Australia also maintains that an S factor true up term (T_t) should be added to the control mechanism. The AER rejected Powercor Australia's proposal to add an S factor true up term to the control mechanism because it considered it had no power under the Rules to do so. As noted above, Powercor Australia does not agree that the AER has no power to add a term to the WAPC formula. Powercor Australia also does not agree with the AER's proposed method for calculating the S factor true up amount.

In addition, Powercor Australia maintains that an analogous true up term (KAY_t) should be added to the control mechanism to provide for a true up of Transmission-related Costs incurred by Powercor Australia in 2010.

Growth forecasts

Powercor Australia does not accept the AER's forecasts of energy consumption and maximum demand, substituted for those in Powercor Australia's Initial Regulatory Proposal on the recommendation of the AER's consultant, ACIL Tasman.

In this Revised Regulatory Proposal, Powercor Australia adopts revised energy consumption forecasts prepared by NIEIR that reflect updated forecasts of economic growth and population growth consistent with the population growth forecast the AER recommended be used.

However, Powercor Australia rejects the AER's conclusions based on the advice of ACIL Tasman regarding the policy adjustments to energy consumption forecasts required to ensure that recent or upcoming technological or policy changes that are not reflected in historical relationships are reflected in the forecasts. Powercor Australia explains the updates to NIEIR's policy adjustments that have occurred to reflect recent policy developments, responds to the AER's and ACIL Tasman's issues and concerns and adduces a further expert report by Frontier that supports the policy adjustments made by NIEIR in updating its energy consumption forecasts.

Powercor Australia responds to the AER's concerns regarding its maximum demand forecasts in its Initial Regulatory Proposal by:

- explaining why, contrary to the AER's analysis, Powercor Australia's internal forecasts have been demonstrated historically to have a high degree of accuracy;
- providing revised NIEIR forecasts of maximum demand that are updated for currency and correct for errors made in NIEIR's original maximum demand forecasts provided with Powercor Australia's Initial Regulatory Proposal;
- reconciling Powercor Australia's internal spatial maximum demand forecasts with these revised NIEIR forecasts of system maximum demand; and
- following this reconciliation, adopting forecasts that were adjusted so they are consistent with NIEIR's revised forecasts of system level maximum demand in Powercor Australia's Current Regulatory Proposal.

Powercor Australia has addressed the concerns raised by the AER regarding its customer number forecasts in respect of economic and population growth by adopting updated NIEIR customer number forecasts that reflect updated forecasts of economic growth and population growth consistent with the population growth forecast that ACIL Tasman and the AER recommended be used.

Outsourcing arrangements

Powercor Australia maintains that the AER should accept the forecasts of total opex and capex included in this Revised Regulatory Proposal without making any adjustment to reduce the expenditure payable by Powercor Australia to CHED Services under the Corporate Services Agreement, PNS under the Network Services Agreement and Silk Telecom under the Electrical Network Communications Agreement and Corporate Communications Agreement to exclude margins.

In this Revised Regulatory Proposal, Powercor Australia demonstrates that its forecast expenditure inclusive of margins payable to CHED Services under the Corporate Services Agreement, PNS under the Network Services Agreement and Silk Telecom under the Electrical Network Communications Agreement and Corporate Communications Agreement are prudent and efficient and, thus, consistent with the opex and capex criteria, correctly construed and applied.

In particular, Powercor Australia maintains that the AER must accept its forecast expenditure under the Corporate Services Agreement with CHED Services, the Network Services Agreement with PNS and the Electrical Network Communications Agreement and Corporate Communications Agreement with Silk Telecom, including the implied margins, without adjustment because:

• the opex and capex criteria, properly construed, do not permit the AER to reduce a DNSP's total expenditure forecasts, for example to exclude

margins under outsourcing arrangements, below the efficient costs of achieving the opex and capex objectives; and

• benchmarking analysis conducted by NERA and SKM establishes that Powercor Australia's forecast opex for 2011-15 set out in its Initial Regulatory Proposal and its unit rates for capital works employed in forecasting capex for 2011-15 in its Initial Regulatory Proposal and this Revised Regulatory Proposal, inclusive of any implied margins incurred under the Corporate Services Agreement with CHED Services, the Network Services Agreement with PNS and the Electrical Network Communications Agreement and Corporate Communications Agreement with Silk Telecom, are efficiently incurred.

In addition, Powercor Australia maintains that the AER must accept its forecast expenditure under the Corporate Services Agreement with CHED Services and the Network Services Agreement with PNS, including the implied margins, without adjustment because:

- Contrary to the AER's conclusion, the decision by CitiPower and Powercor Australia to adopt their current service model, under which they pay a margin to CHED Services and PNS, was prudent at the time of that decision and remains prudent if assessed with the benefit of hindsight.
- The expenditure incurred under the Corporate Services Agreement with CHED Services and the Network Services Agreement with PNS inclusive of margins is prudent and efficient because:
 - the NEL and the Rules, properly construed and applied, require the AER to adopt the stand-alone, in-house cost of service provision (and do not permit the AER to adopt the costs that would be incurred by the group to which the DNSP belongs) as the benchmark or counterfactual for assessing forecast opex and capex under outsourcing arrangements that fail the 'presumption threshold'; and
 - the expenditure incurred under the Corporate Services Agreement with CHED Services and the Network Services Agreement with PNS inclusive of margins is lower than the stand-alone, in-house cost of service provision.
- Even if (contrary to Powercor Australia's contentions) the AER maintains its view that the Rules permit it to consider the costs that would be incurred by the group rather than the individual DNSP, Powercor Australia would nonetheless maintain that the margins payable under the Corporate Services Agreement and the Network Services Agreement should be included, at least in part, in its expenditure forecasts for 2011-15 because:
 - the AER cannot, acting reasonably, take into account efficiencies accruing to a contractor from the provision of services to third parties in circumstances where the AER must exclude the costs associated with the provision of unregulated services from allowed opex and capex; and

- PNS derived a significant portion of its revenue in 2009 from the supply of services to third parties.
- The margins payable under the Corporate Services Agreement with CHED Services and the Network Services Agreement with PNS reflect the margins that would be expected to be agreed to by parties operating on an arm's length basis because:
 - contrary to the AER's conclusion, Ernst & Young's analysis of the profit on direct and indirect costs earned by companies providing comparable services to third parties is just as relevant in an economic regulatory context as in a taxation context; and
 - the benchmark margins calculated by Ernst & Young in this manner were adopted as the margins payable under the Corporate Services Agreement and the Network Services Agreement.

Adjustments to base year opex

The AER's adjustments to Powercor Australia's base year opex in respect of superannuation payments and capitalisation, and to account for movement in the provisions relating to employee entitlements, were incorrect. Accordingly, Powercor Australia has proposed in this Revised Regulatory Proposal correct adjustments to account for movement in provisions relating to employee entitlements and in respect of capitalisation. Powercor Australia has retained within its base year opex all superannuation costs, however, has applied a step change for the years 2011-15 based on an actuarial assessment of its defined benefit scheme and the increase in contributions through the accumulation fund to offset retiring employees.

Powercor Australia does not accept the AER's decision not to apply a customer growth factor to its allowance in respect of GSL payments and accordingly has included in this Revised Regulatory Proposal an allowance based on its average GSL payments over 2005-09 escalated with the customer growth factor set out in Chapter 7 of this Revised Regulatory Proposal.

Debt raising costs

Powercor Australia does not accept the AER's decision in Appendix P of the Draft Determination in respect of debt raising costs. Powercor Australia considers that the appropriate allowance for debt raising costs is a total of 24.6 basis point per annum. This allowance is made up of direct debt raising costs of 9.1 basis points and early refinancing costs of 15.5 basis points. This allowance needs to be updated in the Final Determination to use the agreed averaging period.

Step changes

Powercor Australia does not accept the AER's decision in respect of its proposed step change for compliance with the 2010 Line Clearance Regulations. In response, Powercor Australia:

• submits that the 2010 Line Clearance Regulations will significantly increase its costs of implementing and maintaining line clearances;

- asserts that the AER cannot rely on the cost impact analysis in the Line Clearance RIS to determine the step change costs of complying with the 2010 Line Clearance Regulations. This is because the Line Clearance RIS failed both to correctly identify the key changes between the 2005 Line Clearance Regulations and the 2010 Line Clearance Regulations and to correctly cost compliance with the 2010 Line Clearance Regulations as compared with the 2005 Line Clearance Regulations; and
- sets out its step change costs resulting from the changes between the 2005 Line Clearance Regulations and the 2010 Line Clearance Regulations.

Powercor Australia does not accept the AER's decision to reject its proposed step change in respect of its at risk townships program. Powercor Australia believes in light of community expectations, a prudent operator would undertake works such as its program. The AER has not cited, and Powercor Australia is not aware, of any legislative reason why the AER has to wait until the Victorian Government implements its response to the Bushfires Royal Commission. Indeed, it would appear imprudent of the AER not to consider the program at this time given that the opportunity to mitigate some of the fire risks posed by distribution assets around at risk townships exists today.

In respect of its insurance step change, Powercor Australia proposes to provide the AER with invoices for its actual premiums once they become available in September 2010. Powercor Australia will accept a step change that reflects the difference between its 2009 and 2010 external insurance. However, for the purposes of this Revised Regulatory Proposal, Powercor Australia has used a placeholder assumption based on a 15 per cent increase in the premium reported in the 2009 Regulatory Accounts.

The AER failed to comment on Powercor Australia's proposed step change for communications in extreme supply events. The amendments to the Distribution Code which take effect from 1 April 2010 in respect of communications in extreme supply events will result in increased costs for Powercor Australia which are not reflected in its base year opex. It is necessary for the AER to allow this step change for Powercor Australia because the costs associated with the step change satisfy the opex criteria, as the AER has recognised in allowing a similar step change for Jemena and UED.

In this Revised Regulatory Proposal, Powercor Australia proposes additional step changes in respect of the following matters which have arisen since its Initial Regulatory Proposal and/or arise out of the AER's Draft Determination:

- the Commonwealth Government's announcement in respect of the superannuation guarantee levy;
- compliance with the AER's outcomes monitoring framework that is foreshadowed in Chapter 21 of its Draft Determination; and
- compliance with the AER's proposed tariff assignment requirements in Annexure G of its Draft Determination (unless the AER accepts Powercor Australia's proposal in Chapter 3 of this Revised Regulatory Proposal to amend those requirements).

Scale escalation

While Powercor Australia accepts the AER's use of a composite growth factor based on physical metrics as a network growth driver, Powercor Australia contends that the growth in the number of zone substations is not a reasonable indicator of the growth in operating and maintenance activity levels resulting from network growth. Rather, Powercor Australia considers that a network growth escalator based on the simple average of growth in line length, transformers and installed zone substation capacity is appropriate.

Powercor Australia does not contest the AER's decision to reject its work volume escalator and has applied a network growth escalator to the relevant capex categories instead.

Noting the AER's acceptance of its customer growth escalator in the Draft Determination, Powercor Australia includes in this Revised Regulatory Proposal an updated customer growth escalator, which reflects current customer growth forecasts based on more recent macro economic data.

Powercor Australia accepts the AER's rejection of the escalation of the 'Emergency faults (meters)', 'Meters, timeswitches & services maintenance', 'Metering communications' and 'New connections' opex categories (function codes 311, 430, 435 and 852). Powercor Australia has also adopted the AER's economies of scale adjustment of 50 per cent for the 'Quality audits' opex category (function code 482). However, Powercor Australia maintains that its remaining economies of scale adjustments, and its application of these adjustments, are reasonable.

Powercor Australia submits that the AER should not make a downward adjustment to its opex due to the reliability and quality maintained capex proposed in its Revised Regulatory Proposal. Powercor Australia considers that the approach adopted by the AER to determining the capex/opex trade-off is unreasonable and results in a significant understatement of the opex that Powercor Australia, acting efficiently and prudently, will require in the next regulatory control period. In particular, the AER's approach fails to take into account the increasing average asset age of Powercor Australia's network, which implies that Powercor Australia's opex should be expected to increase (rather than decrease) in the next regulatory control period. Acting conservatively, however, Powercor Australia has not included any amounts in this Revised Regulatory Proposal to reflect the increase in opex it anticipates will arise in the next regulatory control period given its proposed level of capex.

Real cost escalators

Powercor Australia does not accept the AER's forecasts of labour costs. In particular, Powercor Australia maintains that labour cost escalators based on the AWE measure and not the LPI measure (as used by the AER's consultant, Access Economics) will produce opex and capex forecasts that reflect a realistic expectation of cost inputs in the next regulatory control period. In the Revised Regulatory Proposal, Powercor Australia uses forecasts prepared by KPMG which are based on AWE measures of wage growth and take account of projected productivity increases. Contrary to the approach taken by the AER to determining labour escalators for internal labour, Powercor Australia maintains

that it is appropriate to apply the labour rate forecasts for the EGW industry to both specialist EGW employees and clerical and administrative staff.

In addition, in this Revised Regulatory Proposal, Powercor Australia uses updated materials escalators determined by independent engineering consultant, SKM.

As noted above, to address the AER's concerns regarding the currency of labour and material cost forecasts, Powercor Australia will update its labour and material cost forecasts closer to the date of the AER's Final Determination, at a date of the AER's choosing or, if no date is nominated by the AER, then Powercor Australia will provide the updated forecasts to the AER by 13 September 2010.

Capex overview

Powercor Australia does not accept the AER's rejection of its proposed capex forecasts for the next regulatory control period. Powercor Australia submits that the AER's downward adjustment of almost \$580 million over the next regulatory control period results in a capex allowance that does not reasonably reflect the capex criteria and does not constitute the minimum adjustment to Powercor Australia's proposed capex allowance necessary for the resultant allowance to reasonably reflect the capex criteria.

Customer connections capex

Powercor Australia has amended its customer connections capex forecasts in this Revised Regulatory Proposal to:

- respond to the AER's concerns with its calculation of gross customer connections capex; and
- reflect the AER's recent decision regarding CitiPower's upstream augmentation charge rates.

However, Powercor Australia contends that the AER has made an error in removing function codes 114 and 115 from standard control and allocating them to alternative control.

Reinforcement capex

Powercor Australia submits that its methodology for forecasting reinforcement capex does not result in a systematic upward bias in the estimate of future prudent and efficient reinforcement capex. This is because:

- Powercor Australia's internal planning criteria incorporate the same criteria as Powercor Australia's governance documents, which Nuttall Consulting concluded would be expected to deliver prudent and efficient outcomes;
- Powercor Australia's processes take into account synergies and result in forecasts that are economically justified;
- overall, SKM found that Powercor Australia's energy at risk modelling (including its load duration and transformer outage rate assumptions) is likely to understate energy at risk; and
- the zone substation level maximum demand forecasts used to prepare the reinforcement capex forecasts are lower than the maximum demand forecasts reconciled with NIEIR's system maximum demand forecast

(presented in Chapter 4) and thus the maximum demand forecasts used for the purposes of forecasting reinforcement capex are conservative and not likely to result in a systematic upward bias in the estimate.

Powercor Australia rejects Nuttall Consulting's approach to forecasting reinforcement capex in the next regulatory control period.

Powercor Australia contends that each of the reinforcement projects in the Revised Regulatory Proposal will be required as proposed in the next regulatory control period.

Reliability and quality maintained capex

Powercor Australia maintains that its reliability and quality maintained capex forecasts reasonably reflect the capex criteria. Powercor Australia has provided in this Revised Regulatory Proposal additional details regarding key reliability and quality maintained capex programs for the next regulatory control period.

Powercor Australia does not consider that the Repex Model is capable of forecasting reliability and quality maintained capex that reasonably reflects the capex criteria. However, even if the calibrated Repex Model is assumed to produce reasonable forecasts, the independent expert, PB, found that the Repex Model supports Powercor Australia's forecasts. Removing the two major drivers of the increase in Powercor Australia's forecast in the next regulatory control period (the conductor replacement and reliability programs), which PB considered should be evaluated as step change increases, PB concluded that the variation between the calibrated Repex Model and Powercor Australia's forecasts.

Environmental, safety and legal capex

Powercor Australia does not contest the AER's Draft Determination with respect to environmental, safety and legal capex. However, Powercor Australia contends that the AER should include 2009 actual data in its trend analysis and in forecasting the capex required in the next regulatory proposal by reference to historical expenditure.

SCADA and network control capex

While the AER found that Victorian DNSPs have underspent in relation to the ESCV's benchmark allowance for the current regulatory control period, this is not the case for Powercor Australia. On the AER's analysis, Powercor Australia only underspent (relative to the ESCV allowance) by around 8.5 per cent.

The AER has not considered the circumstances of Powercor Australia network in assessing its proposed SCADA and network control capex. Powercor Australia contends that its SCADA and network control programs in the next regulatory control period are required and provides in this Revised Regulatory Proposal additional information regarding key programs.

Non-network capex

Powercor Australia maintains that its proposed non-network – IT capex forecasts reasonably reflect the capex criteria.

Powercor Australia's expenditure in the current regulatory control period has been reduced relative to the ESCV's allowance in its 2006-10 EDPR as a result of the mandated AMI roll-out. Powercor Australia does not consider that an event such as the AMI roll-out will occur in the next regulatory control period that would constrain Powercor Australia's non-network – IT capex to the level of its actual expenditure in the current regulatory control period. Powercor Australia rejects Nuttall Consulting's assertion that its IT systems are not 'agile' and submits that its proposed expenditure is required to ensure that its systems will remain 'agile' in the next regulatory control period.

The AER cannot discount the evidentiary value of the external cost benefit analysis Powercor Australia obtained from PwC in respect of its AMI leveraged project on the basis that it is not an internal assessment. As part of this Revised Regulatory Proposal, Powercor Australia has removed the one component from the AMI leveraged project that is able to be recovered through the S factor scheme. Even with this adjustment, PwC's review indicates that the AMI leveraged projects give rise to a significant expected net benefit. Powercor Australia rejects the AER's proposition that reinforcement capex deferrals would contribute to the funding of AMI leveraged projects.

Powercor Australia does not consider that the non-network – other capex included in the AER's Draft Determination, an amount significantly less than the historical level of capex, reasonably reflects the capex criteria.

Method for determination of DRP for purposes of calculating the cost of capital

Powercor Australia does not accept the AER's decision on the method for calculating the DRP. In particular, Powercor Australia considers that:

- the AER's method for determining whether Bloomberg or CBASpectrum (or the average of them) should be used in calculating the DRP is unreliable and does not result in the selection of the service that produces the most accurate estimate of the DRP; and
- the AER's method for extrapolating the Bloomberg fair value curve does not result in an accurate measure of the 10 year corporate bond rate.

Accordingly, the method for determining the DRP proposed by Powercor Australia in its Current Regulatory Proposal is as follows.

- The DRP should be determined based on the CBASpectrum or Bloomberg fair value curves, or an average of CBASpectrum and Bloomberg.
- The decision whether to base the DRP on the CBASpectrum or Bloomberg fair value curves (or an average of them) should be made in accordance with Powercor Australia's proposed method set out in Chapter 12 of this Revised Regulatory Proposal and an expert report from PwC.³⁶
- Extrapolation of the Bloomberg curve should be performed by using the Bloomberg BBB fair value curve to 6 years and then extrapolating it using the Bloomberg AAA curve to 10 years, in accordance with an expert report

³⁶ PwC, Methodology for the calculation of debt risk premium, 19 July 2010 (Attachment 162 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal).

from PwC.³⁷ If the Bloomberg AAA curve is not published during the agreed averaging period, then the AER should use the average of the Bloomberg AAA curve over the latest period for which it was available.

- Based on Powercor Australia's proposed method and a measurement period of the 30 business days from 19 April to 31 May 2010, Powercor Australia considers that the appropriate indicative DRP is 4.28 per cent. Prior to the Final Determination, this indicative value will be replaced with data from the agreed averaging period.
- If the AER does not accept Powercor Australia's proposed approach for determining the DRP, then the decision whether to base the DRP on the CBASpectrum or Bloomberg fair value curves (or an average of them) should be made in accordance with the modifications to the AER's approach that are set out in the CEG report³⁸.

Calculation of estimated cost of corporate income tax

Powercor Australia does not accept the AER's decision, in calculating the estimated cost of corporate income tax for the 2011-15 regulatory control period, to adopt a value for gamma of 0.65.

Powercor Australia maintains that, in light of the underlying criteria, a material change in circumstances since the date of the SoRI or another relevant factor make the value for gamma set out in the SoRI inappropriate. Powercor Australia considers that the appropriate value for gamma is 0.5 and proposes this gamma value in its Current Regulatory Proposal.

Calculation of 2006-10 carry over amounts

Powercor Australia does not accept the AER's decision to:

- apply Powercor Australia's 2001-05 negative carryover of -\$22.9 million (in \$2004); and
- reject the adjustments to the 2006-10 carry over amounts proposed by Powercor Australia to exclude costs not reflected in the ESCV's opex benchmark (increased vegetation management costs, ATO costs, superannuation costs and GSL payments)³⁹ and to remove the ESCV's \$5.5 million efficiency adjustment and 0.39 per cent partial productivity factor adjustment.

Powercor Australia has given careful consideration to the AER's legal reasoning in the Draft Determination in support of its view that it has power to apply Powercor Australia's 2001-05 negative carry over of -\$22.9 million (in \$2004). As a result of that consideration, Powercor Australia considers that the AER's

³⁷ PwC, Methodology for the calculation of debt risk premium, 19 July 2010 (Attachment 162 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal).

³⁸ CEG, Testing the accuracy of Bloomberg vs CBASpectrum Fair Value Estimates, A report for Victorian Electricity DBs, July 2010 (Attachment 176 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal).

³⁹ Powercor Australia recognises that the AER made an adjustment to the 2006-10 carry over amounts proposed by Powercor Australia for non-recurrent expenditure in 2009 including for certain of the cost categories to which Powercor Australia's proposed adjustments relate (e.g. ATO costs). However, the AER's stated rationale for the making of that adjustment differed from that advanced by Powercor Australia for its proposed adjustments to the 2006-10 carry over amounts and, as a result, the AER confined its adjustments by reference to costs incurred in 2009.

reasoning involves errors of law and affirms its view that the AER has no power to apply Powercor Australia's 2001-05 negative carry over in making its Final Determination.

Powercor Australia does not accept the AER's decision to reject its proposed adjustments to the 2006-10 carry over amounts proposed by Powercor Australia to exclude costs not reflected in the ESCV's opex benchmark (increased vegetation management costs, ATO costs, superannuation costs and GSL payments) and to remove the ESCV's \$5.5 million efficiency adjustment and 0.39 per cent partial productivity factor adjustment. In particular, Powercor Australia considers that these adjustments are required by the ESCV's approach in the EDPR to calculation of carry over amounts arising from 2001-05, which adopted a principle of requiring adjustments so that there can be a 'like for like comparison' between the ex post opex benchmarks and actual opex. Powercor Australia does not agree with the AER's reasons for rejecting its proposed adjustments and contends that:

- neither the ESCV's 2006-10 EDPR, the AER's EBSS Guideline nor the NEVA require the AER to apply the ESCV's ECM without making these adjustments; and
- Powercor Australia had legitimate expectations during the 2006-10 period and at the time of incurring the relevant expenditure that 'like for like' adjustments of the kind proposed would be made and, thus, it is appropriate to make these ex post adjustments.

Powercor Australia accepts the AER's proposed adjustments to the 2006-10 carry over amounts in relation to AMI reclassification and related party margins. Powercor Australia does not accept the quantum of the AER's proposed adjustments in relation to licence fees, network growth, non-recurrent expenditure or provisions, although it does accept that adjustments should be made in relation to those matters.

Accordingly, Powercor Australia revises its Initial Regulatory Proposal to update the amount of its proposed adjustment for increased vegetation management costs based on the most recent available information and to incorporate adjustments for AMI reclassification, related party margins, licence fees, network growth and provisions. Its Revised Regulatory Proposal does not otherwise vary the proposed adjustments to the 2006-10 carry over amounts proposed its Initial Regulatory Proposal.

Proposed EBSS excluded cost categories

Powercor Australia does not accept the AER's rejection of its proposal that any costs related to events proposed by Powercor Australia as nominated pass through events that are not accepted by the AER as nominated pass through events should be treated as uncontrollable for the purposes of the EBSS.

The AER rejected this proposal (despite not accepting these events as nominated pass through events) because it considered that all of these events either:

• are already within the scope of the 'regulatory change event' or 'service standard event' specified in Chapter 10 of the Rules and, thus, automatically excluded from the EBSS calculations; or

• affect revenues and not costs and, therefore, would not affect the EBSS calculation.

Powercor Australia maintains its proposal that the events proposed by Powercor Australia as nominated pass through events that are not accepted by the AER as nominated pass through events should be treated as uncontrollable for the purposes of the EBSS because:

- as discussed further in relation to pass throughs below, the Draft Determination provides no certainty that, if these events arise, they will be treated by the AER as regulatory change events or service standards events if and when they arise;
- the AER recognises that these events are uncontrollable, in stating that these events are likely to be pass through events specified in Chapter 10 of the Rules, and the events meet all of the requirements under the AER's EBSS Guideline to be an excluded cost category; and
- all of the events proposed by Powercor Australia as nominated pass through events relate to costs and not revenue and will impact the EBSS if they occur.

Pass through

Powercor Australia submits that the AER has acted unreasonably in setting a materiality threshold for nominated pass through events of one per cent of smoothed revenue in the years of the regulatory control period that the costs are incurred. The imposition of the threshold results in a fundamental reassignment of risk between DNSPs and customers, which increased risk the DNSPs would have to be compensated for through regulated revenues.

In this Revised Regulatory Proposal, Powercor Australia asserts that

- consistent with defined pass through events under the ESCV's 2006-10 EDPR, the materiality threshold for nominated pass through events (except for the financial failure of a retailer and the transmission related costs pass through events) should be that the event has a 'material financial impact on the distribution business', with 'material' being interpreted according to its ordinary meaning. Powercor Australia considers that having regard to its annual revenue profile this would result in a materiality threshold for it of \$500,000 over the regulatory control period for each nominated pass through event; and
- there should be no materiality threshold for the financial failure of a retailer pass through event and the 'transmission related costs' pass through event.

Consistent with its Initial Regulatory Proposal, Powercor Australia asserts that the AER should include as nominated pass through events: recommendations arising from the Bushfires Royal Commission; a general pass through event; and a financial failure of a retailer pass through event. Further, Powercor Australia considers that the AER should include as a nominated pass through event: conditions or limitations imposed by ESV on provisional acceptance of an ESMS under the Electricity Safety Act. In addition, if the AER rejects its proposed WAPC or side constraint terms (or both of them) regarding Transmission-related

Costs, the AER must include a nominated pass through event in its Final Determination in respect of these costs.

In respect of pass through events which the AER rejected on the basis that they could fall within the scope of the 'regulatory change event' or 'service standard event' pass through in the Rules, the AER should either confirm that those events do fall within that scope (subject to any assessment of whether the quantum of costs is material/immaterial) or treat those events as nominated pass through events.

Powercor Australia observes that the AER has fallen into error in accepting a submission by UED that the 'regulatory change event' pass through event in the Rules is confined to changes in existing regulatory obligations. Rather, a 'regulatory change event' encompasses any change in regulatory obligations during the regulatory control period, including the removal of an existing regulatory obligation, a change in an existing regulatory obligation and the imposition of a new regulatory obligation.

Alternative control services (including public lighting)

Powercor Australia does not accept the AER's Draft Determination in respect of alternative control services (including public lighting).

In respect of fee based alternative control services, Powercor Australia submits that the AER should determine its prices for fee based and quote based alternative control services on the basis that Powercor Australia should be permitted to recover its efficient costs of providing alternative control services. Powercor Australia is not able to recover those costs on the basis of its existing charges or the charges proposed in the AER's Draft Determination as is demonstrated through its historical regulatory accounts.

Powercor Australia disputes certain criticisms by the AER and Impaq of its alternative control services model. Accordingly, in this Revised Regulatory Proposal it has proposed charges for fee based alternative control services based on revisions to the alternative control services model used by the AER for the purposes of its Draft Determination.

Powercor Australia does not accept the labour rate which the AER has determined in respect of quoted alternative control services. In determining the labour rate, the AER relied on a report of Impaq. The AER cannot rely on that report for the reasons set out in this Revised Regulatory Proposal. Powercor Australia's Current Regulatory Proposal includes a labour rate which it submits the AER should approve in respect of quoted alternative control services.

In respect of public lighting, the AER should revise its Draft Determination to:

- apply the general materials escalator which the AER applied to alternative control services to materials other than poles and brackets;
- accept the costs for poles and brackets, patrol vehicles, luminaires and traffic management set out in this Revised Regulatory Proposal; and
- apply the failure rate for T5 (2x14W) lights set out in this Revised Regulatory Proposal.

1.3 Compliance

This Revised Regulatory Proposal is fully compliant with the requirements of the Rules, including references within the Rules to other subsidiary instruments.

As required by the Rules and the Further RIN, Powercor Australia has identified the key assumptions that underlie the capex and opex forecasts set out in this Revised Regulatory Proposal and two Directors of Powercor Australia have certified the reasonableness of these key assumptions in the form prescribed in Appendix B to the Further RIN. The key assumptions and the certification of their reasonableness are set out in Appendix 1.1 and Appendix 1.2 to the Revised Regulatory Proposal respectively.

In addition, as required by the Further RIN, Powercor Australia's Chief Executive Officer, Shane Breheny, has provided a statutory declaration in the form prescribed in Appendix C to that Further RIN. This statutory declaration is set out in Appendix 1.3 to the Revised Regulatory Proposal.

1.4 Structure and approach

For the assistance of the AER, this Revised Regulatory Proposal is structured to mirror the chapters of the AER's Draft Determination. That is, this Revised Regulatory Proposal adopts the chapter headings and numbering used in the Draft Determination subject to the following exceptions:

- there is no 'Arrangements for negotiation' chapter in this Revised Regulatory Proposal because the AER approved the negotiating framework proposed by Powercor Australia in its Initial Regulatory Proposal;⁴⁰
- there is no 'Demand management incentive scheme' chapter in this Revised Regulatory Proposal as Powercor Australia accepts the AER's decision in Chapter 17 of the Draft Determination on the application of the DMIS to it in the 2011-15 regulatory control period;
- there is no 'Outcomes monitoring and compliance' chapter as Powercor Australia addresses the AER's proposed outcomes monitoring framework and reporting requirements (to the extent that it is necessary to do so in this Revised Regulatory Proposal) in section 6.5.15 of Chapter 6, 'Operating and maintenance expenditure';
- Powercor Australia addresses both Chapter 19 and Chapter 20 of the AER's Draft Determination in a single chapter addressing the AER's decisions on alternative control services; and
- Powercor Australia includes discrete chapters in this Revised Regulatory Proposal on each of scale escalation and real cost escalators (whereas the AER addressed these matters in Appendices J and K to its Draft Determination).

Powercor Australia has reviewed all of the matters raised by the AER in its Draft Determination including, in particular, where the AER has made adjustments to Powercor Australia's Initial Regulatory Proposal. Powercor Australia has

⁴⁰ AER, Draft Determination, p47.

prepared this Revised Regulatory Proposal to be consistent with the Draft Determination, with the exception of deviations that are specifically identified and discussed in the Revised Regulatory Proposal. Where Powercor Australia has not revised its Initial Regulatory Proposal, the Initial Regulatory Proposal including the relevant attachments and supporting information remains the Current Regulatory Proposal.

Category					
Classification of services					
Control mechanisms for standard control services					
Growth forecasts					
Outsourcing arrangements					
Operating and maintenance expenditure					
Scale escalation					
Real cost escalators					
Forecast capital expenditure					
Opening asset base					
Depreciation					
Cost of capital					
Estimated corporate income tax					
Efficiency carryover amounts for 2006-10					
Efficiency benefit sharing scheme					
Service target performance incentive scheme					
Pass throughs					
Building block revenue requirements					
Alternative control services (including public lighting)					

The structure of this Revised Regulatory Proposal is as follows:

Powercor Australia's response to:

- clause 1 of Schedule 1 to the Further RIN is contained in:
 - Attachment 1 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal, titled 'AER Regulatory Information Notice under Division 4 of Part 3', which contains the Revised Regulatory Templates;
 - Attachment 14, titled 'Changes to RIN templates';
 - Attachment 15, titled 'RIN allocators'; and
 - Attachment 16, titled 'Justification for no RIN template information'; and
- clauses 2.1, 2.3 and 2.4 of Schedule 1 to the Further RIN in respect of classification of distribution services, the EBSS, the STPIS and the WACC

is contained at the appropriate point in the chapters of this Revised Regulatory Proposal.⁴¹

Powercor Australia observes, in response to clause 2.1 of Schedule 1 to the Further RIN in respect of the DMIS, that it does not propose any variation or departure from the AER's Draft Determination in respect of the DMIS in this Revised Regulatory Proposal because, as noted above, Powercor Australia accepts the AER's decision in Chapter 17 of the Draft Determination on the application of the DMIS to it in the 2011-15 regulatory control period.

Powercor Australia further observes, in response to clause 2.2 of Schedule 1 to the Further RIN, that it does not have anything to produce because Powercor Australia does not identify any proposed variation or departure in response to clause 2.1 that would result in a change in the information produced in the Revised Regulatory Templates provided in response to clause 1.1 of Schedule 1 to the Further RIN.

As discussed in section 1.3 above, the certification of the reasonableness of the key assumptions underlying the opex and capex forecasts set out in this Revised Regulatory Proposal and the statutory declaration required by the Further RIN are set out in Appendices 1.2 and 1.3 respectively.

This Revised Regulatory Proposal is supported by:

- the detailed information and analysis set out in the appendices to this Revised Regulatory Proposal. This Revised Regulatory Proposal should be read in conjunction with the appendices thereto; and
- the additional documents, information and material contained in the Attachments to this Revised Regulatory Proposal that, together with the documents, information and material previously provided to the AER, substantiate Powercor Australia's Current Regulatory Proposal these are provided under cover of this Revised Regulatory Proposal on a USB stick.

An index to these Attachments to the Revised Regulatory Proposal is set out in Appendix 1.4 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal.

1.5 Confidentiality

Clause 6.10.3(d) of the Rules provides that the AER's duty to publish this Revised Regulatory Proposal together with any accompanying information as soon as practicable after receipt by the AER is subject to the provisions of the NEL and the Rules about the disclosure of confidential information.

⁴¹ Powercor Australia observes that clause 2.4 of Schedule 1 to the Further RIN would appear to contain a cross-referencing error. Clause 2.4 requires Powercor Australia to provide all supporting consultant reports *'[f]or each proposed departure identified in response to paragraph 2.2'*. However, clause 2.2 does not require the identification of any proposed departure but rather requires Powercor Australia to provide an additional set of regulatory templates in relation to any departures identified in response to clause 2.1 of Schedule 1 to the Further RIN. Powercor Australia presumes that clause 2.4 should have instead referred to clause 2.3 of Schedule 1 of the Further RIN. Clause 2.3 requires Powercor Australia to identify any proposed departure from a WACC parameter value specified in the SoRI. Accordingly, in responding to clause 2.4 of Schedule 1 of the Further RIN in this Revised Regulatory Proposal, Powercor Australia has proceeded on the basis that this clause requires it to provide all supporting consultant reports in respect of any departure from a WACC parameter value specified in this Revised Regulatory Proposal.

Section 18 of the NEL provides that section 44AAF of the Trade Practices Act has effect for the purposes of the NEL and the Rules as if it formed part of the NEL. Section 44AF requires the AER to take all reasonable measures to protect from unauthorised use or disclosure information:

- given to it in confidence in, or in connection with, the performance of its functions or the exercise of its powers; or
- that is obtained by compulsion in the exercise of its powers.

Powercor Australia claims confidentiality in respect of:

- the information identified in this Revised Regulatory Proposal as confidential by means of yellow shading;
- the appendices to this Revised Regulatory Proposal titled 'Confidential Appendix [x]', which appendices are confidential to the extent identified therein and by means of yellow shading;
- the attachments to the Revised Regulatory Proposal that are identified as confidential in the index to those attachments; and
- any other information and/or documents identified by Powercor Australia as confidential (whether in this Chapter 1, elsewhere in this Revised Regulatory Proposal or in any other document or correspondence provided by Powercor Australia).

The information contained in the parts of the Revised Regulatory Proposal set out above is not publicly available and contains either intellectual property or information that is otherwise commercially sensitive.

Powercor Australia expects that any information in this Revised Regulatory Proposal or the appendices or attachments thereto identified by Powercor Australia as confidential (whether in this Chapter 1, elsewhere in this Revised Regulatory Proposal or in any other document or correspondence provided by Powercor Australia) will not be disclosed by the AER except as authorised by section 44AF of the Trade Practices Act or Division 6 of Part 3 of the NEL.

Powercor Australia requests that, except where disclosure is authorised by section 44AAF of the Trade Practices Act or Division 6 of Part 3 of the NEL, the AER does not disclose the information that Powercor Australia has identified as subject to a claim of confidentiality to any third party (with the exception only of disclosure to the AER's external expert consultants and legal service representatives for the purpose of making the AER's Final Determination) without first obtaining Powercor Australia's express and specific written consent.

2. CLASSIFICATION OF SERVICES

In this Chapter of the Revised Regulatory Proposal, Powercor Australia responds to Chapter 2 of the AER's Draft Determination regarding the classification of its distribution services for the 2010-15 regulatory control period.

2.1 Summary of key points

In this Revised Regulatory Proposal, Powercor Australia has accepted the AER's classification of services contained in Chapter 2 of its Draft Determination.

In respect of the reserve feeder service, Powercor Australia assumes that this service only relates to the operation and maintenance costs associated with the reserve feeder as set out in its Initial Regulatory Proposal, and does not relate to the request for a new reserve feeder. Accordingly, it has prepared this Revised Regulatory Proposal on that basis.

For the purposes of clause 2.1 of the Further RIN Powercor Australia observes that it has not varied or departed from the Draft Determination in respect of the classification of a distribution service.

2.2 Rule requirements

Clause 6.12.1 of the Rules requires the AER to make a decision on the classification of the services to be provided by the DNSP during the course of the regulatory control period.

Under clause 6.2.2(c) of the Rules, in classifying a direct control service as a standard control service or an alternative control service, the AER must have regard to:

- the potential for development of competition in the relevant market and how the classification might influence that potential;
- the possible effects of the classification on administrative costs of the AER, the DNSP and users or potential users;
- the regulatory approach (if any) applicable to the relevant service immediately before the commencement of the distribution determination for which the classification is made;
- the desirability of a consistent regulatory approach to similar services (both within and beyond the relevant jurisdiction);
- the extent the costs of providing the relevant service are directly attributable to the customer to whom the service is provided; and
- any other relevant factor.

Clause 6.2.2(d) provides that in classifying direct control services that have previously been subject to regulation under the present or earlier legislation, the AER must act on the basis that, unless a different classification is clearly more appropriate:

• there should be no departure from a previous classification (if the services have been previously classified); and

• if there has been no previous classification, the classification should be consistent with the previously applicable regulatory approach.

2.3 Powercor Australia's Initial Regulatory Proposal

In Chapter 3 of its Initial Regulatory Proposal, Powercor Australia described how its distribution services should be classified under the Rules.

In Table 3.2 of its Initial Regulatory Proposal, Powercor Australia set out how its proposed classification of services differed to the classification of services in the AER's Framework and Approach Paper. This table is repeated below.

Service	AER's indicative classification in Framework and Approach paper	Powercor Australia's proposed classification		
Connection and augmentation works for new connections	Negotiated Distribution Services	Standard Control Service		
Auditing of design and construction	Alternative Control Service – Quoted Service	Standard Control Service		
Specification and design enquiry	Alternative Control Service – Quoted Service	Standard Control Service		
Temporary Supply Services	Alternative Control Service – Fee Based Service	Standard Control Service		
Location of underground cables	Alternative Control Service – Fee Based Service	Standard Control Service		
Covering of low voltage mains for safety reasons	Alternative Control Service – Fee Based Service	Standard Control Service		
Elective underground service where an existing overhead service exists	Alternative Control Service – Fee Based Service	Standard Control Service		
Reserve feeder	Not classified	Negotiated Distribution Services		
Provision of watchman (security) lights	Not classified	Negotiated Distribution Services		
Repair of watchman (security) lights on Powercor Australia assets	Not classified	Negotiated Distribution Services		
Meter investigation	Not classified	Alternative Control Service – Fee Based Service		
Special reading	Not classified	Alternative Control Service – Fee Based Service		
PV installation	Not classified	Alternative Control Service – Fee Based Service		
Re-test of types 5 and 6 metering installations for first tier customers with annual consumption greater than 160MWh	Alternative Control Service – Fee Based Service	Not regulated		
Energisation of new connections	Alternative Control Service – Connection Service	Alternative Control Service – Fee Based Service		

Damage to overhead service cables caused by high load vehicles	Alternative Control Service – Fee Based Service	Alternative Control Service – Quoted Service		
High load escort – lifting overhead lines	Alternative Control Service – Fee Based Service	Alternative Control Service – Quoted Service		

 Table 3.1
 Differences between AER's indicative, and Powercor Australia's proposed, services classification

2.4 AER's Draft Determination

In the Draft Determination, the AER accepted Powercor Australia's classification of the following services for the 2011-15 regulatory control period:

- connection and augmentation works for new connections. The AER classified this service as a standard control service;
- location of underground cables. The AER classified this service as a standard control service;
- meter investigation. The AER classified this service as an alternative control (fee based) service;
- special meter reading. The AER classified this service as an alternative control (fee based) service;
- PV installation. The AER classified this service as an alternative control (fee based) service;
- energisation of new connections. The AER classified this service as an alternative control (fee based) service;
- repair of damage to overhead service cables caused by high load vehicles. The AER classified this service as an alternative control (quoted) service.

The AER rejected Powercor Australia's classification of the following services for the 2011-15 regulatory control period:

- auditing design and construction. The AER classified this service as an alternative control (quoted) service;
- specification and design enquiry. The AER classified this service as an alternative control (quoted) service;
- temporary supply services. The AER classified this service as an alternative control (quoted) service;
- coverage of low voltage mains for safety purposes. The AER classified this service as an alternative control (quoted) service;
- elective undergrounding where an above ground service currently exists. The AER classified this service as an alternative control (quoted) service;
- reserve feeder. The AER classified this service as an alternative control (fee based) service;
- provision of watchman lights. The AER said it would treat this service as unclassified;

- repair of watchman lights. The AER said it would treat this service as unclassified;
- re-test of types 5 and 6 metering installations for first tier customers with annual consumption greater than 160MWh. The AER classified this service as an alternative control (fee based) service;
- standard connection/routine connections. The AER classified this service as an alternative control (fee based) service for customer connections below 100 amps and an alternative control (quoted) service for customer connections above 100 amps;
- AMI metering services. The AER said that new services facilitated by AMI would be regulated under the DNSPs' distribution licences and ESCV's Guideline 14;
- unmetered supplies for Type 7 metres. The AER said that this service would be regulated by AMI Order in Council (clause 6).

2.5 Powercor Australia's response to AER's Draft Determination

Powercor Australia accepts the AER's classification of services contained in Chapter 2 of its Draft Determination. However, it makes an observation about the reserve feeder service below.

2.5.1 Reserve feeder service

The reserve feeder service involves operating and maintaining a second source of supply to a customer's premise. In its Initial Regulatory Proposal, Powercor Australia considered that this service should be classified as a negotiated service.⁴² In its Draft Determination, the AER decided to classify this service as an alternative control (fee based) service.⁴³

Powercor Australia accepts the AER's classification of this service. However, it wishes to ensure that, as set out in its Initial Regulatory Proposal, the reserve feeder service only relates to the operation and maintenance costs associated with the reserve feeder, and does not relate to the request for a new reserve feeder.⁴⁴ A request for a new reserve feeder would be treated as for any other new connection under Electricity Guideline 14.

2.6 Powercor Australia's Revised Regulatory Proposal

Powercor Australia has prepared its Revised Regulatory Proposal on the basis of the AER's decision on service classification in its Draft Determination.

In addition, Powercor Australia has prepared its Revised Regulatory Proposal on the basis that the reserve feeder service only relates to the operation and maintenance costs associated with the reserve feeder as set out in its Initial Regulatory Proposal.

⁴² Initial Regulatory Proposal, p23.

⁴³ AER, Draft Determination, p30.

⁴⁴ Initial Regulatory Proposal, p23.

3. CONTROL MECHANISM FOR STANDARD CONTROL SERVICES

In this Chapter of the Revised Regulatory Proposal, Powercor Australia responds to:

- Chapter 4 of the Draft Determination regarding control mechanisms for standard control services; and
- Appendices E, F and G of the Draft Determination regarding distribution tariffs, transmission tariffs and assigning customers to tariff classes.

3.1 Summary of key points

3.1.1 Recovery of transmission-related costs

Powercor Australia considers that the control mechanism should include a term to allow the recovery of:

- transmission connection charges the charges payable by DNSPs for connection to the transmission system;
- inter-DNSP charges the inter-network provider distribution service tariffs paid to other DNSPs (net of any similar payments received from other DNSPs); and
- avoided TuOS payments and avoided DuOS payments the payments that the DNSP is required to make to embedded generators, which comprise avoided TuOS payments under clause 5.5(h) of the Rules and avoided DuOS payments that may be required to be made under Powercor Australia's distribution license and the ESCV's Guideline 15,

(collectively referred to as **Transmission-related Costs**).

Powercor Australia does not accept the AER's decision in the Draft Determination not to include any mechanism to allow the recovery of Transmission-related Costs.

Powercor Australia considers that the AER should include a new term in each of the WAPC formula and the side constraint formula to address the recovery of Transmission-related Costs (TRC_t). If the AER rejects Powercor Australia's proposed WAPC or side constraint terms (or both of them) regarding transmission-related costs, Powercor Australia considers that the AER must:

- increase Powercor Australia's forecast opex to include the estimated amounts of the Transmission-related Costs for 2011-15; and
- accept a 'transmission related costs event' as an additional nominated pass through event covering the difference between forecast and actual expenditure in respect of Transmission-related Costs, with a materiality threshold of zero.

3.1.2 S factor true-up and K factor true-up

Powercor Australia does not accept the AER's decision not to address the S factor true up in the Draft Determination and to instead leave it to the 2016-20 Distribution Determination. Powercor Australia considers that the AER should

include a new term in each of the WAPC formula and the side constraint formula to address the S factor true-up (T_t) .

Powercor Australia proposes that an additional term should be added to the WAPC formula and side constraint formula to address the true up of the K_t correction factor under the 2006-10 EDPR, which related to the under and over recovery of transmission revenue.

3.1.3 Formula errors

Powercor Australia considers that the WAPC and side constraint formulae in the Draft Determination contain errors in relation to:

- calculation of the passthrough factor;
- the left-hand side of the WAPC and side constraint formulae;
- the calculation of the licence fee factor in Appendix E.2; and
- the formula for the correction factor Kz_t in the maximum transmission revenue control in Appendix F2.5.

3.1.4 Appendix E: Changes to tariff structures

Powercor Australia considers that the rules in Appendix E.1 of the Draft Determination regarding changes to tariff structures are not workable in relation to determining the values of q^{ij}_{t-2} and p^{ij}_{t-1} . Powercor Australia proposes amendments to the rules in relation to those matters.

3.1.5 Appendix G: Tariff reassignment requirements

The AER's proposed reassignment requirements in Appendix G of the Draft Determination are significantly more onerous than the current requirements and will require Powercor Australia to incur additional costs not contemplated in its Initial Regulatory Proposal.

Powercor Australia does not accept the AER's requirement in clause 6 of Appendix G to notify customers of any assignment or reassignment. Powercor Australia considers that this requirement should only apply to reassignment and not initial assignment.

Powercor Australia considers that the requirement in clause 7 of Appendix G that the EWOV be included in the tariff assignment dispute resolution process is inappropriate and will impose unnecessary additional costs on DNSPs. Powercor Australia considers that the references to EWOV in this clause should be deleted.

3.2 Rules requirements

Clause 6.12.1 of the Rules details the constituent decisions that must be made by the AER as part of its Final Determination. The decisions that relate to the control mechanism for standard control services are:

- a decision under clause 6.12.1(11) on the control mechanism (including the X factor) for standard control services;
- a decision under clause 6.12.1(13) on how compliance with a relevant control mechanism is to be demonstrated;

- a decision under clause 6.12.1(17) on the procedures for assigning customers to tariff classes, or reassigning customers from one tariff class to another (including any applicable restrictions); and
- a decision under clause 6.12.1(19) on how the DNSP is to report to the AER on its recovery of TuOS charges for each regulatory year of the regulatory control period and on the adjustments to be made to subsequent pricing proposals to account for over or under recovery of those charges.

In relation to tariff reassignment, clause 6.18.4(a)(4) provides:

'a Distribution Network Service Provider's decision to assign a customer to a particular tariff class, or to re-assign a customer from one tariff class to another should be subject to an effective system of assessment and review.

Note:

If (for example) a customer is assigned (or reassigned) to a tariff class on the basis of the customer's actual or assumed maximum demand, the system of assessment and review should allow for the reassignment of a customer who demonstrates a reduction or increase in maximum demand to a tariff class that is more appropriate to the customer's load profile.'

3.3 Powercor Australia's Initial Regulatory Proposal

In its Initial Regulatory Proposal, Powercor Australia:

- accepted the position set out in the AER's Framework and Approach Paper that a WAPC form of control should apply to standard control services;
- proposed a mechanism for calculating the licence fee factor in the WAPC, which was not set out in the Framework and Approach Paper;
- proposed adding a passthrough factor to the WAPC;
- proposed adding an S factor true up correction factor to the WAPC;
- proposed that the existing rules in the ESCV's 2006-10 EDPR should be incorporated into the control mechanism in relation to:
 - \circ the treatment of tariff changes when applying the WAPC;
 - \circ $\,$ the unders and overs mechanism for the recovery of TuOS charges;
 - $\circ~$ a G factor for the recovery of embedded generation and other fees; and
 - \circ a D factor for the recovery of inter-DNSP charges.⁴⁵

3.4 AER's Draft Determination

The WAPC formula set out in the Draft Determination is as follows:⁴⁶

⁴⁵ Initial Regulatory Proposal, pp332-335.

⁴⁶ AER, Draft Determination, pp69-70.

$$\frac{\sum_{i=1}^{n} \sum_{j=1}^{m} p_{i}^{ij} q_{i-2}^{ij}}{\sum_{i=1}^{n} \sum_{j=1}^{m} p_{i-1}^{ij} q_{i-2}^{ij}} \le (1 + CPI_{i}) \times (1 - X_{i}) \times (1 + S_{i}) \times (1 + L_{i}) \pm (passthrough_{i})$$

where a DNSP has *n* distribution tariffs, which each have up to *m* distribution tariff components, and where:

regulatory year "t" is the regulatory year in respect of which the calculation is being made;

regulatory year "t–1" is the regulatory year immediately preceding regulatory year *"t"*;

regulatory year "t-2" is the regulatory year immediately preceding regulatory year "*t-1*";

 p^{ij} is the proposed distribution tariff for component j of distribution tariff i in regulatory year t;

 p^{ij}_{t-1} is the distribution tariff being charged in regulatory year t–1 for component j of distribution tariff i;

 q^{ij}_{t-2} is the quantity of component j of distribution tariff i that was delivered in regulatory year t-2;

CPI_t is calculated as follows:

'The Consumer Price Index, All Groups Index Number (weighted average of eight capital cities) published by the Australian Bureau of Statistics for the September Quarter immediately preceding the start of regulatory year t;

divided by

The Consumer Price Index, All Groups Index Number (weighted average of eight capital cities) published by the Australian Bureau of Statistics for the September Quarter immediately preceding the start of regulatory year t–1;

minus one.'

 X_t is the value of X for year t of the regulatory control period as determined by the AER in chapter 18 of the Draft Determination;

 S_t is the STPIS factor to be applied in regulatory year t;

 L_t is the licence fee pass through adjustment to be applied in regulatory year t in accordance with appendix E.2 of the Draft Determination; and

*passthrough*_t is the change in approved pass through amounts, expressed in percentage form, with respect to regulatory year t as compared to regulatory year t-1, as determined by the AER.

The side constraint formula set out in the Draft Determination is as follows:⁴⁷

⁴⁷ AER, Draft Determination, pp70-71.

$\frac{\sum_{j=1}^{m} d_{t}^{j} q_{t-2}^{j}}{\sum_{j=1}^{m} d_{t-1}^{j} q_{t-2}^{j}} \leq (1 + CPI_{t}) \times (1 - X_{t}) \times (1 + S_{t}) \times (1 + L_{t}) \times (1 + 2\%) \pm (passthrough_{t})$

Where each tariff class 'j' has up to 'm' components, and where:

 d_t is the proposed price for component j of the tariff class for year t;

 d_{t-1} is the price charged by the DNSP for component j of the tariff class in year

t-1;

 q_{t-2}^{j} is the audited quantity of component j of the tariff class that was charged by the DNSP in year t–2;

 X_t is the value of X for year t of the regulatory control period as determined by the AER in chapter 18 of the Draft Determination. If X>0, then X will be set equal to zero for the purposes of the side constraint formula;

 S_t is the Service Target Performance Incentive Scheme factor to be applied in regulatory year t;

 L_t is the licence fee pass through adjustment to be applied in regulatory year t;

 CPI_t is defined as set out in section 4.6.1 of the Draft Determination; and

*passthrough*_t is the change in approved pass through amounts, expressed in percentage form, with respect to regulatory year t as compared to regulatory year t-1, as determined by the AER.

Appendix E of the Draft Determination sets out rules regarding the treatment of changes to tariff structures when applying the WAPC and side constraint. It also sets out the formula for calculation of the licence fee factor.

Appendix F of the Draft Determination sets out a 'maximum transmission revenue control' and the formulae for implementing that control.

Appendix G of the Draft Determination sets out the requirements for assigning customers to tariff classes.

The AER did not accept Powercor Australia's proposals in relation to:

- an S factor true up correction factor;
- a G factor for the recovery of embedded generation and other fees; or
- a D factor for the recovery of inter-DNSP charges.⁴⁸

3.4.1 Recovery of transmission-related costs

The AER rejected the proposals by the Victorian DNSPs that the Final Determination should provide for the recovery of Transmission-related Costs and PFIT payments.⁴⁹

⁴⁸ AER, Draft Determination, pp58-69.

⁴⁹ AER, Draft Determination, pp62-66.

The AER considered that, unlike TuOS charges, the recovery of these payments was not permitted under clause 6.18.7 of the Rules. On that basis, the AER determined not to address these matters in the Draft Determination.

The AER noted that PFIT Payments were the subject of a current rule change proposal. The AER stated '[s]ubject to the outcome of this rule change process the AER will consider in the final decision how rebate payments under the PFIT scheme are to be recovered in the forthcoming regulatory control period.⁵⁰

The AER also noted that it had been advised that the DNSPs have contacted the AEMC to discuss a rule change proposal for transmission connection charges.⁵¹ The AER suggested that the DNSPs can raise the issue of recovery of inter-DNSP charges and avoided TuOS and avoided DuOS payments with the AEMC as part of that rule change.⁵²

The AER stated '[s]ubject to the outcome of this rule change process the AER will consider in the final decision how these charges are to be recovered in the forthcoming regulatory control period.'⁵³ It is unclear whether the AER's comments mean that the AER will take action on these issues in the Final Determination only if the rule change is implemented before the Final Determination, or whether the AER will address this issue in the Final Determination if the rule change is not implemented before the Final Determination.

3.4.2 S factor true up

The AER rejected the proposals by the Victorian DNSPs that the distribution determination should include an S factor true up mechanism. The AER rejected Powercor Australia's proposed S factor correction term for the control mechanism on the basis that clause 6.12.3(c) of the Rules constrained the AER's ability to change the form of control from that specified in the Framework and Approach Paper.⁵⁴

The AER stated that the DNSPs will instead be able to recover the S factor trueup amount in the 2016-20 Distribution Determination.⁵⁵

3.4.3 Appendix G: Tariff reassignment requirements

Appendix G of the Draft Determination sets out the requirements for assigning customers to tariff classes.

Clause 6 of Appendix G provides that:

'A Victorian DNSP must notify the customer concerned in writing of the tariff class to which the customer has been assigned or re-assigned by it, prior to the assignment or reassignment occurring.⁵⁶

⁵⁰ AER, Draft Determination, p63.

⁵¹ AER, Draft Determination, p64.

⁵² AER, Draft Determination, p66.

⁵³ AER, Draft Determination, p66. The AER made a similar comment specifically in relation to transmission connection charges on p64.

⁵⁴ AER, Draft Determination, p59.

⁵⁵ AER, Draft Determination, p59.

⁵⁶ AER, Draft Determination Appendices, Appendix G, p21.

Clause 7 of Appendix G requires that the notice under clause 6 must advise the customer of several matters, including that the customer may object to the assignment or reassignment and may escalate the matter to EWOV.

3.5 Powercor Australia's response to the AER's Draft Determination

3.5.1 Recovery of Transmission-related Costs

3.5.1.1 Additional WAPC and side constraint terms

Powercor Australia does not accept the AER's rejection of its proposal to add new terms to the WAPC formula to allow the recovery of transmission-related costs.

On 1 July 2010 the AEMC made its PFIT Rule Change.⁵⁷ The PFIT Rule Change will allow Powercor Australia to recover PFIT payments under the new clause 6.18.7A of the Rules. Accordingly, the additional control mechanism terms do not need to address recovery of PFIT Payments.

A rule change proposal by UED on behalf of all of the Victorian DNSPs in relation to transmission connection charges, inter-DNSP charges and avoided TuOS payments was lodged with the AEMC on 24 June 2010.⁵⁸ However, the timeframes for a rule change mean that there is almost no prospect that a rule change for transmission connection charges, inter-DNSP charges and avoided TuOS payments will be implemented before the date of the Final Determination or before pricing proposals are required to be lodged for the forthcoming regulatory control period.

The AER's decision in the Draft Determination was based on a view that Transmission-related Costs are not covered by clause 6.18.7 of the Rules and that it is not appropriate to allow payments to be recovered under that clause. In making this decision, the AER has asked itself the wrong question.

Powercor Australia's Initial Regulatory Proposal did not refer to clause 6.18.7. Powercor Australia proposed that transmission-related costs should be recovered through the control mechanism formula, in a similar manner to how they are recovered under the ESCV's 2006-10 EDPR.

Clause 6.18.7 relates to the pass through of TuOS costs in a DNSP's pricing proposal. Whether Transmission-related Costs are covered by that clause is not determinative of the issue of whether new terms should be added to the WAPC formula. If anything, the fact that these costs cannot be recovered under clause 6.18.7 supports the argument that new WAPC terms should be added, because it shows that there is not a more suitable mechanism for their recovery.

The correct questions that the AER should have asked are:

⁵⁷ AEMC, National Electricity Amendment (Payments under Feed-in Schemes and Climate Change Funds) Rule 2010 No. 7 (Attachment 28 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal). AEMC, Rule Determination, National Electricity Amendment (Payments under Feed-in Schemes and Climate Change Funds) Rule 2010, 1 July 2010 (Attachment 29 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal).

⁵⁸ UED, Rule change proposal: Amendment to the distribution pricing proposal provisions of the National Electricity Rules to provide for the explicit inclusion of transmission-related and other relevant charges in a distribution network service provider's pricing proposal, 24 June 2010 (Attachment 27 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal).

- does the AER have a power to add a term to the WAPC formula to address the recovery of transmission-related costs; and
- if so, is it consistent with the NEO and the revenue and pricing principles to add such a term.

Powercor Australia considers that the AER does have a power to add a term to the WAPC to allow the recovery of Transmission-related Costs and that it is consistent with the NEO and the revenue and pricing principles to do so.

Powercor Australia notes that the AER's reluctance to add the requested terms to the WAPC formula may also be due in part to the comment that the AER makes elsewhere in Chapter 4 of the Draft Determination that clause 6.12.3(c) constrains the AER's ability to amend the form of control. In refusing Powercor Australia's request for an additional WAPC term to address the S factor true-up, the AER stated that the addition of such a term was not appropriate given those constraints.

This comment by the AER is contrary to the interpretation that the AER has taken to clause 6.12.3(c) in Previous Distribution Determinations. In the South Australian Draft Determination, the AER stated: ⁶⁰

'Clause 6.8.1, in conjunction with clause 6.12.3(c), of the NER does not allow the form of control mechanism that applies to ETSA Utilities to be varied from that specified in the framework and approach (that is a WAPC cannot be changed to a revenue cap). However, the AER considers that the WAPC formula can be amended where this would reflect (or better reflect) the reasoning set out in the framework and approach.'

That comment shows that the AER interpreted clause 6.12.3(c) as preventing the AER from changing the form of control, eg from a WAPC to a revenue cap, but did not prevent it from amending the WAPC formula. The fact that the AER interpreted clause 6.12.3(c) as allowing it to amend the WAPC formula is confirmed by the fact that in the South Australian Final Determination, the AER added a passthrough term to the WAPC formula even though no such term was included in the WAPC formula in the South Australian Framework and Approach Paper.⁶¹

The AER has also applied a similar interpretation to clause 6.12.3(c) in its other Previous Distribution Determinations and in other sections of its Draft Determination:

- in the Draft Determination, the AER:
 - \circ added a passthrough term, which was not provided for in the Framework and Approach Paper;⁶²

⁵⁹ AER, Draft Determination, p59.

⁶⁰ AER, South Australian Draft Determination, Chapter 4 (Control mechanisms for standard control services) (Attachment 21 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal).

⁶¹ AER, South Australian Final Determination, Chapter 4 (Control mechanisms for standard controls services) (Attachment 22 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal)., p26.

⁶² AER, South Australian Framework and Approach Paper (Attachment 23 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal).

- changed the CPI definition from the definition that was set out in the Framework and Approach Paper; and
- changed the definition of the L_t factor from the definition that was set out in the Framework and Approach Paper; and
- in the Queensland Final Determination, the AER added a passthrough term, a transitional term and a C_t term (an adjustment factor related to capital contributions),⁶³ none of which were provided for in the Queensland Framework and Approach Paper.⁶⁴

If clause 6.12.3(c) does not permit the AER to amend the price control formula from that set out in the Framework and Approach Paper, then each of these decisions by the AER and the South Australian Final Determination were made in breach of the Rules.

Powercor Australia considers that clause 6.12.3(c) does not prevent the AER from adding a new term to the WAPC formula, and that the AER's interpretation of clause 6.12.3(c) as set out in the South Australian Draft Determination is correct.

In light of the above points, Powercor Australia considers that the AER should include a new term in the WAPC formula to address Transmission-related Costs (TRC_t). This term should allow a DNSP to pass through all Transmission-related Costs. Powercor Australia's proposed formula for calculating the TRC_t term is set out in Appendix 3.1 of this Revised Regulatory Proposal.

Powercor Australia considers that the inclusion of this term is necessary to allow the Victorian DNSPs to recover Transmission-related Costs. Subject to the alternative proposal in section 3.5.1.2 below, without this additional term, the DNSPs will incur costs that they cannot recover through any mechanism. It would be inconsistent with the NEO and the revenue and pricing principles in the NEL for the AER to fail to include a mechanism in the Final Determination that allows a DNSP to recover these costs.

In particular, failing to allow the recovery of these costs would be inconsistent with the revenue and pricing principle requirement in clause 7A(2) of the NEL that a DNSP should be provided with a reasonable opportunity to recover at least the efficient costs that it incurs in providing direct control network services and complying with a regulatory obligation or requirement or making a regulatory payment. Powercor Australia incurs Transmission-related Costs as a result of providing direct control network services and complying with regulatory obligations and requirements. Powercor Australia is not aware of any concerns by the AER as to the efficiency of these Costs, and notes that the AER has previously approved the calculation of these Costs.

The right-hand side of the side constraint formula in the Draft Determination mirrors the right-hand side of the WAPC formula, except that the side constraint formula adds 'x (1+2%)'. This symmetry is required for the side constraint to operate effectively.

⁶³ AER, Queensland Final Determination, Chapter 4 (Control mechanisms for standard control services) (Attachment 24 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p27.

⁶⁴ AER, Queensland Framework and Approach Paper (Attachment 25 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal).

Accordingly, it is necessary to also add the same additional term to the side constraint formula.

3.5.1.2 Revised opex forecasts and additional pass through event if the AER rejects the proposed WAPC or side constraint terms

Forecast expenditure

The amount of Transmission-related Costs that Powercor Australia incurred in 2009 and the Transmission-related Costs that it forecasts that it will incur in 2010-15 are set out in Table 3.1.

Vendor and Charge description	Туре	2009 \$ Nominal	2010 \$ Nominal	2011 \$2011 Real	2012 \$2011 Real	2013 \$2011 Real	2014 \$2011 Real	2015 \$2011 Real
SP Ausnet Connection	Connection	14,146,929	14,262,526	15,029,894	15,181,696	15,335,031	15,489,914	20,591,179
SP Ausnet Augmentation	Connection	2,051,344	6,896,291	9,889,632	9,889,632	9,889,632	9,889,632	4,944,816
Jemena	inter DNSP	3,411,879	3,534,836	3,629,644	3,644,892	3,628,294	3,613,742	3,623,658
Australian Inland Energy	inter DNSP	- 1,252,478	- 1,312,268	0	0	0	0	0
ETSA	inter DNSP	327,319	336,930	345,967	347,420	345,838	344,451	345,396
Avoided TUOS payments ¹	Embedded Generator	803,022	801,362	801,362	842,861	889,902	933,118	972,246
Total Charges		19,488,015	24,519,677	29,696,499	29,906,501	30,088,697	30,270,857	30,477,295

¹ Avoided TuOS payments defined as G payment in chapter 6-10 Rules

² Feed In Tariff charges are net of opex

Table 3.1 Forecast transmission-related costs

Powercor Australia considers that the forecast costs for 2011-15 set out in Table 3.1 above need to be included in its opex allowances under the Final Determination if the AER rejects Powercor Australia's proposed WAPC or side constraint terms (or both of them) regarding Transmission-related Costs.

If the AER rejects those terms, then Powercor Australia will incur these Transmission-related Costs and will have no other mechanism to recover these costs. In the Draft Determination, the AER states that these costs cannot be recovered under clause 6.18.7 of the Rules and the AER refuses to allow them to be recovered as a pass through event.⁶⁵ Accordingly, Powercor Australia will have no mechanism to recover these Costs, unless a rule change is implemented prior to the date of the Final Determination.

The PFIT Rule Change was issued on 1 July 2010 and commenced on the same day. That Rule Change was requested by ETSA on 7 October 2009 and took nine months to complete. It is almost certain that the proposed rule change for transmission connection charges, inter-DNSP charges and avoided TuOS payments lodged on 24 June 2010 by UED will not be implemented before the date of the Final Determination or before pricing proposals are required to be lodged for the forthcoming regulatory control period.

⁶⁵ AER, Draft Determination, p64.

Powercor Australia incurs these Transmission-related Costs as a result of providing direct control network services and complying with regulatory obligations and requirements. Accordingly, this expenditure is required to achieve the opex objectives under clause 6.5.6(a) of the Rules and would be incurred by a prudent operator in Powercor Australia's circumstances to achieve those objectives.

Accordingly, the AER is required by clause 6.5.6(c) of the Rules to accept this forecast opex if the AER rejects Powercor Australia's proposed WAPC or side constraint terms (or both of them) regarding Transmission-related Costs.

In a recently published paper entitled 'Staff observations – cost recovery by DNSPs for connection services and definition of prescribed connection services', the AEMC endorsed the view that the Rules allows a DNSP to recover transmission-related costs through its operating expenditure forecasts. In considering the treatment of transmission connection costs under the Rules, the AEMC stated: 66

'Chapter 6 does not specifically prevent a DNSP from submitting a pricing proposal which includes provision for the pass-through of transmission connection charges (unless the distribution determination itself does so). Transmission connection charges could, for example, be regarded as necessarily involved in the provision of standard control services and therefore legitimately included in the DNSP's forecast operating expenditure under clause 6.5.6 of the Rules, thereby forming part of the costs that are recoverable through distribution tariffs (see also cl. 6.15.3).'

Powercor Australia considers that the AER is only entitled to refuse to allow this opex if it is certain that these costs can be recovered through another mechanism, which would only occur if:

- the AER accepted Powercor Australia's proposed WAPC and side constraint terms; or
- rule changes were implemented in relation to each type of Transmissionrelated Cost prior to the date of the Final Determination.

As the AER stated in its Queensland Final Determination when considering a similar issue in relation to Ergon's PFIT Payments *'it is not possible for the AER to make its decision on the basis of a proposed rule change'*,⁶⁷ and the AER must act on the basis of the Rules provisions as they are at the time of its Determination.

Under the transitional provisions in the PFIT Rule Change, if the new Rule had come into force after the date of the Final Determination, the new Rule would not have automatically applied to Powercor Australia and would not have automatically provided a mechanism for it to recover PFIT Payments in the 2011-15 regulatory control period.

⁶⁶ AEMC, AEMC staff observations – cost recovery by DNSPs for connection services and definition of prescribed connection services, 21 June 2010 (Attachment 26 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p2.

⁶⁷ AER, Queensland Final Determination, Chapter 15 (Pass through arrangements), (Attachment 24 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p308.

It is highly likely that any rule change for transmission connection charges, inter-DNSP charges and avoided TuOS and avoided DuOS payments will not come into force until after the date of the Final Determination. It is also highly likely that any such rule change will contain similar transitional provisions to the PFIT Rule Change. Accordingly, any such rule change will not automatically provide a mechanism for Powercor Australia to recover these payments.

The rule change lodged by UED also does not cover avoided DuOS payments and will not provide a mechanism for the recovery of those payments, unless the proposed rule is amended during the rule change process.

Nominated pass through event

In the Queensland Final Determination, the AER declined to include a control mechanism term to address PFIT Payments. However, the AER determined that it was appropriate to allow Ergon to include estimated opex related to PFIT Payments in its opex forecasts and to include a 'feed-in tariff event' as a nominated pass through event.⁶⁸

This feed-in tariff event is defined as follows: 69

'Feed-in tariff event means a change in the total amount of direct feed-in tariff payments paid by a Qld DNSP in respect of the Qld feed-in tariff scheme. For the purposes of this definition, the change in the amount of the direct tariff payments paid by the DNSP must be calculated as the difference between:

- a. the amount of direct tariff payments paid by the DNSP in each regulatory year of the next regulatory control period, derived from the metered output of generators subject to the scheme and the applicable feed in tariff rate applying to the metered output; and
- b. the amount of scheme direct tariff payments which were forecast for the purpose of and included in the Qld distribution determination for each regulatory year of the regulatory control period

Relevant direct tariff payments under this pass through mechanism are those paid through the operation of the Electricity Act 1994 (Qld), and any amendments to this act.'

Powercor Australia considers that a similar nominated pass through event must be included in its Final Determination if the AER rejects Powercor Australia's proposed WAPC or side constraint terms (or both of them) regarding Transmission-related Costs and instead accepts the forecast opex associated with these Costs. This 'transmission related costs event' should cover the difference between forecast and actual expenditure in respect of transmission connection charges, inter-DNSP charges and avoided TuOS and avoided DuOS payments.

⁶⁸ AER, Queensland Final Determination (Attachment 24 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p308.

⁶⁹ AER, Queensland Final Determination (Attachment 24 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p311.

Powercor Australia proposes that the materiality threshold for this pass through event should be set to zero. The purpose of this pass through event is to ensure that Powercor Australia remains in the same position (and bears the same exposure to risk) that applied under the ESCV's 2006-10 EDPR and that would apply if Transmission-related Costs were recovered by adding a new term to the WAPC formula as proposed by Powercor Australia.

The ESCV's 2006-10 EDPR contains a K_t term to true-up the difference between estimated and actual revenues and charges for embedded generation fees and inter-DNSP charges. Powercor Australia's proposed KAY_t term for the WAPC contains a similar true-up mechanism to ensure that there is no under or over recovery by DNSPs of Transmission-related Costs. Both of those mechanisms allow recovery of the full difference between actual and estimated costs and revenues, and do not contain any form of materiality threshold.

If the 'transmission related costs event' does not have a materiality threshold of zero, then the materiality threshold will result in a fundamental reassignment of risk from customers to DNSPs. The AER has not proposed any mechanism to compensate DNSPs for that increase in risk. As discussed in Chapter 17 of this Revised Regulatory Proposal, it is not appropriate for the materiality threshold to result in such a reassignment of risk compared with the position under the ESCV's 2006-10 EDPR.

3.5.2 S factor true up and K factor true up

3.5.2.1 S factor true up

Powercor Australia does not accept the AER's decision not to include an S factor true up term in the WAPC formula.

As discussed in section 3.5.1.1 above, Powercor Australia does not agree that clause 6.12.3(c) of the Rules prevents the AER from amending the WAPC formula that was set out in the Framework and Approach Paper. Consistent with Previous Distribution Determinations by the AER, Powercor Australia considers that clause 6.12.3(c) only prevents the AER changing the form of the control, e.g. from a WAPC to a revenue cap, and does not prevent the AER from amending the WAPC formula.

Powercor Australia does not consider that it is appropriate for the AER to refuse to deal with this matter in the Final Determination. Although the AER states that it will address this matter in the 2016-20 Distribution Determination, Powercor Australia has no guarantee that the AER will actually do so in 2016 or that the mechanism that it will apply in 2016 will be suitable.

Powercor Australia maintains that an S factor true up term (T_t) should be added to the control mechanism. A new section also needs to be added to the Final Determination setting out the formula for calculating the T_t term. Powercor Australia's proposed formula for calculating the T_t term is set out in Appendix 3.1 of this Revised Regulatory Proposal.

Powercor Australia also does not agree with the AER's proposed method for calculating the S factor true up amount. Powercor Australia's proposed

methodology for calculating the S factor true up is explained in Chapter 16 of this Revised Regulatory Proposal.

3.5.2.2 K factor true-up

Powercor Australia proposes that an additional term (KAY_t) should be added to the WAPC formula and side constraint formula to address the true-up of the K_t correction factor under the ESCV's 2006-10 EDPR, which related to the under and over recovery of transmission revenue.

Clause 3.3 of the ESCV's 2006-10 EDPR set out a maximum transmission revenue control.⁷⁰ The formula for this control included a K_t factor, which was defined in clause 3.3.3(i) as 'a correction factor to account for the under or over recovery of actual transmission revenue in relation to allowed transmission revenue.' The formula for calculating K_t is set out in clauses 3.3.3 and 3.3.4 of the ESCV's 2006-10 EDPR and results in an adjustment for the difference between actual and estimated transmission revenue and charges in the two preceding regulatory years.

For similar reasons as the S factor true up, the control mechanism for the Final Determination needs to include a KAY_t term to close out the K factor under the ESCV's 2006-10 EDPR and address any under or over recovery of transmission charges in 2009 and 2010.

A new section also needs to be added to the Final Determination setting out the formula for calculating the KAY_t term. Powercor Australia's proposed formula for calculating the KAY_t term is set out in Appendix 3.1 of this Revised Regulatory Proposal.

There is no other mechanism for DNSPs to recoup any under recovery of these charges, or for the AER to require DNSPs to amend their future tariffs to address any over recovery of these charges. On 29 June 2010, the AER advised Powercor Australia that it could not include the K factor true up in its 2011 pricing proposal because it did not fall within clause 6.18.7 of the Rules.⁷¹

3.5.3 Control mechanism formulae

Powercor Australia considers that the WAPC and side constraint formulae contain several errors.

3.5.3.1 Calculation of the passthrough factor

In the WAPC formula, the AER defines the *passthrough* $_t$ factor as follows:

'passthrough_t is the change in approved pass through amounts, expressed in percentage form, with respect to regulatory year t as compared to regulatory year t–1, as determined by the AER'.⁷²

Powercor Australia considers that this definition is unworkable because the change in approved passthrough expressed in percentage terms will produce an infinite value in any year (year t) where there was no passthrough amount in the

⁷⁰ ESCV, 2006-10 EDPR, Volume 2 (Attachment 32 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal).

⁷¹ Email from the AER (Craig Madden) to the Victorian DNSPs entitled 'AER advice - Recovery of avoided TUOS payments', 29 June 2010 (Attachment 33 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal).

⁷² AER, Draft Determination, p70.

previous year (year t-1). This will be the result of the amount approved for passthrough for year t being divided by zero.

The correct passthrough factor should be determined as a portion of the annual revenue entitlement in a similar manner as the licence fee factor is determined in Appendix E.2 of the Draft Determination, with a mechanism also added to perform a true up between actual and estimated amounts.

The WAPC formula and side constraint formula should be amended by replacing the AER's passthrough component with '× $(1+P_t)$ '.

A new section also needs to be added to the Final Determination setting out the formula for calculating the passthrough factor. Powercor Australia's proposed formula for calculating the passthrough factor is set out in Appendix 3.1 of this Revised Regulatory Proposal. A worked example of the formula is set out in the Worked Example of Pass-through Factor Model (Attachment 18 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal).

3.5.3.2 Left-hand side of the WAPC and side constraint formulae

Powercor Australia considers that there is an error in the left-hand side of the WAPC and side constraint formulae.

The p_{t-1} prices and q_{t-2} quantities need to be split between new and old tariffs and components where reassignment occurs and therefore the price should be based on component *i*, of tariff *j*, from mapped component *h* of tariff *g*. This change is necessary to comply with the implications of Appendix E for tariff reassignment.

Additionally, the side constraint formulae in the Draft Determination is ambiguous by referring to rebalancing requirements expressed in 'tariff component' terms (d), when clause 6.18.6 of the Rules clearly provides that the side constraint applies to a 'tariff class'.

Accordingly, Powercor Australia considers that the left-hand side of the WAPC formula should be:



Where:

Tariff i and component j represent the proposed pricing segment in year t; tariff g and component h represent the source pricing segment from year t-1 that has been mapped to tariff i and component j. There are n tariffs and up to m tariff components in total;

 p^{ij}_{t} is the proposed distribution price for component j of distribution tariff i in regulatory year t;

 q^{ij}_{t-2} is the audited quantity from regulatory year t-2 that is mapped to component j of distribution tariff i in regulatory year t. (Note that this
quantity may have actually been delivered to other tariffs than i and components than j in year t-2);

 $p^{g^{hij}}_{t-1}$ is the distribution price that was charged in regulatory year t–1 for the subset of component j of distribution tariff i that was mapped from the source component h of source tariff g. (Note that $p^{g^{hij}}_{t-1} = p^{g^h}_{t-1}$ for all destination tariffs i and components j. If there is no tariff reassignment then g=i and h=j, and $p^{g^{hij}}_{t-1} = p^{ij}_{t-1}$); and

 q^{ghij}_{t-2} is the audited quantity from regulatory year t-2 for the subset of component j of distribution tariff i that was mapped from source component h of source tariff g. (If there is no tariff reassignment then g=i and h=j).

The left-hand side of the side constraint formula should be:

$$\frac{\sum_{i=1}^{n^c}\sum_{j=1}^{m^c}p_{t}^{cij}q_{t-2}^{cjj}}{\sum_{g=1}^{n}\sum_{h=1}^{m}\sum_{i=1}^{n^c}\sum_{j=1}^{m^c}p_{t-1}^{ghcij}q_{t-2}^{ghcij}}$$

Where:

regulatory year "t" is the regulatory year in respect of which the calculation is being made;

regulatory year "t-1" is the regulatory year immediately preceding regulatory year "t";

regulatory year "t-2" is the regulatory year immediately preceding regulatory year "t-1";

for each tariff class *c*:

tariff i and component j represent the proposed pricing segment in year t; tariff g and component h represent the source pricing segment from year t-1 that has been mapped to tariff i and component j. Each tariff class c has n^c tariffs, with up to m^c components. Note that tariff g and component h are not necessarily of the same tariff class as tariff i and component j, if reassignment between classes occurs; Note: source tariff g and component h are summed over all tariff and components from all classes;

 p^{cij}_{t} is the proposed distribution price for component j of distribution tariff i in regulatory year t;

 q^{cij}_{t-2} is the audited quantity from regulatory year t-2 that is mapped to component j of distribution tariff i in regulatory year t. (Note that this quantity may have actually been delivered to other tariffs than i and components than j in year t-2);

 p^{ghcij}_{t-1} is the distribution price that was charged in regulatory year t–1 for the subset of component j of distribution tariff i that was mapped from the source component h of source tariff g. (Note that $p^{ghcij}_{t-1} = p^{gh}_{t-1}$ for all destination tariffs i and components j. If there is no tariff reassignment then g=i and h=j, and $p^{ghcij}_{t-1} = p^{cij}_{t-1}$. Note also that source tariff g and source component h are not necessarily of class c.); and q^{ghcij}_{t-2} is the audited quantity from regulatory year t-2 for the subset of component j of distribution tariff i that was mapped from source component h of source tariff g. (If there is no tariff reassignment then g=i and h=j). Note that source tariff g and source component h are not necessarily of class c.

3.5.3.3 Calculation of the licence fee factor

In Appendix E.2 of the Draft Determination, the AER has put a 'floor' on the L'_{t-1} value of zero in the first 2 years of the price control period.⁷³ This floor is an error and will result in an incorrect adjustment factor for L.

It appears that the AER has attempted to mirror the equivalent term from the ESCV's 2006-10 EDPR. However, the floor in the form of the L factor term in the ESCV's 2006-10 EDPR is not relevant for the Final Determination. The floor was included in the 2006-10 EDPR to address the commencement of the L factor. Given that an L factor is already in place, there is no need for the floor in the control mechanism for the Final Determination.

Accordingly, L'_{t-1} should be defined as 'the value of L'_t determined in the calendar year t-1'.

If the AER retains the floor on the L'_{t-1} value, then DNSPs are likely to under or over recover licence fee payments for 2009 and 2010. Accordingly, if the AER rejects Powercor Australia's proposal and retains the floor, then the AER needs to allow for a true up of the L factor for 2009 and 2010 in a similar manner to the true up of the S factor and the K factor discussed in section 3.5.2 of this Revised Regulatory Proposal.

3.5.3.4 Maximum transmission revenue control, correction factor Kz_t

In Appendix F2.5 of the Draft Determination, the AER sets out the formula for correction factor Kz_t as part of the maximum transmission revenue control.⁷⁴

There is an error in this formula. The reference to TRa_{t-1} in this formula should be TRa_{t-2} .

3.5.4 Appendix E: Changes to tariff structures

Appendix E.1 of the Draft Determination sets out rules regarding the treatment of changes to tariff structures when applying the WAPC and side constraint. Powercor Australia considers that those rules are not workable in relation to determining the values of q^{ij}_{t-2} and p^{ij}_{t-1} . These issues are more significant for the Victorian DNSPs than in other jurisdictions because there is likely to be a significant reassignment of customers to new tariffs in the forthcoming regulatory control period due to the roll out of AMI meters.

3.5.4.1 Value of q^{ij}_{t-2}

When determining the value of q^{ij}_{t-2} , section E1.1.1 of Appendix E.1 of the Draft Determination states that reasonable estimates should be submitted by the DNSP *'based on the quantities that would have been sold if the new tariff/tariff*

⁷³ AER, Draft Determination Appendices, Appendix E, p14.

⁷⁴ AER, Draft Determination Appendices, Appendix E, p18.

component had been introduced in year 't-2'.' However, section E1.1.1 then requires the DNSP to make an assumption that customer load profiles will not change as a result of the reassignment to the new tariff, and requires that the DNSP uses actual audited quantities for the origin tariff/tariff component in year t-2. That assumption is inconsistent with the requirement to use a reasonable estimate of the quantity that would have been sold if the tariff/tariff component had been introduced in year t-2, and it does not reflect reality.

Appendix E.1 requires a DNSP to determine the values of q^{ij}_{t-2} for the origin tariff and new tariff based on the proportion of customers that are reassigned to the new tariff. If there is a customer response to the change in tariff, which is highly likely where customers are reassigned to time of use tariffs following the AMI rollout, these values of q^{ij}_{t-2} will not be realistic estimates.

This issue creates a significant risk that the WAPC and side constraint will result in the DNSP not being able to set prices that allow it to recover its revenue requirement for the relevant regulatory year and all future years in the regulatory control period. The risk of potential under-recovery of revenue will materially decrease the incentives to undertake significant tariff reform. Powercor Australia considers that the AER should consider these incentives when setting the rules regarding changes to tariff structures and ensure that its determination does not undermine the aims of the AMI rollout.

This requirement in Appendix E.1 is also inconsistent with the pricing principles in clause 6.18.5 of the Rules, which require tariffs to take into account the long run marginal cost for the service, have regard to whether customers are likely to respond to price signals, and ensure recovery of revenue with minimum distortion to efficient patterns of consumption.

Powercor Australia considers that this problem can be resolved by amending Appendix E.1 of the Draft Determination so that when determining the value of q^{ij}_{t-2} , a DNSP is required to adjust the q^{ij}_{t-2} values by an appropriate elasticity figure that represents the expected demand response for the remainder of the regulatory control period as a result of the reassignment, so as to leave the DNSP in a revenue neutral position. Powercor Australia considers that it is able to estimate the effects of demand responses with reasonable accuracy.

3.5.4.2 Values of p^{ij}_{t-1}

When determining the value of p^{ij}_{t-1} , section E1.1.2 of Appendix E.1 of the Draft Determination requires the DNSP to set the value of p^{ij}_{t-1} to zero if the origin tariff and the new tariff do not have the same unit of measure.

Setting the value of p^{ij}_{t-1} to zero is not a workable solution to this issue. It will distort the application of the WAPC and side constraint and will prevent those mechanisms from operating as intended. It will create a significant risk that the WAPC and side constraint will result in the DNSP not being able to set prices that allow it to recover its revenue requirement for the relevant regulatory year.

Powercor Australia expects that the most likely instance where the origin tariff and the new tariff will not have the same unit of measure is where the origin tariff is measured in kW and the new tariff is measured in kVa. This situation can be easily addressed by applying the estimated power factor effects over the remainder of the regulatory control period to convert the kVa value to a kW value.

Powercor Australia proposes that the AER should amend Appendix E.1 of the Draft Determination to remove the requirement that the value of p^{ij}_{t-1} must be set to zero if the origin tariff and the new tariff do not have the same unit of measure. In such a situation, the Appendix should instead provide that an adjustment should be made using an appropriate conversion factor and taking into account the expected behavioural response over the remainder of the regulatory control period.

3.5.5 Appendix G: Tariff reassignment requirements

3.5.5.1 Tariff reassignment requirements

The AER's proposed reassignment requirements in Appendix G of the Draft Determination are significantly more onerous than the requirements that currently apply. Powercor Australia expects that these requirements will cause it to incur additional costs that were not contemplated in its Initial Regulatory Proposal.

Powercor Australia's concerns with the Draft Determination relate to the requirement to notify customers of any assignment or reassignment and the interposition of EWOV in the tariff assignment dispute resolution process.

3.5.5.2 Assignment process

Clause 6 in Appendix G of the Draft Determination requires Victorian DNSPs to notify a customer in writing of the tariff class to which the customer has been assigned or reassigned, prior to the assignment or reassignment occurring.

Currently Victorian DNSPs must comply with a similar regulatory obligation under the ESCV's 2006-10 EDPR, which states: ⁷⁵

'The distribution business must notify the distribution customer concerned in writing of the distribution tariff to which the distribution customer has been reassigned, prior to the reassignment occurring.'

There are similarities in these clauses. However, by inserting the words 'assigned' and 'assignment' in clause 6 of Appendix G to capture notification for both circumstances, Powercor Australia considers clause 6 becomes unwieldy.

The words 'has been assigned' and 'prior to the assignment' in clause 6 also appear contradictory. If a DNSP is required to notify the customer of the tariff to which it has been assigned, the DNSP can only do so after the assignment – not prior.

Powercor Australia considers that there are implementation issues in relation to notification of tariff assignment, but not with reassignment. The issues with notification of tariff assignment are discussed in detail below.

⁷⁵ ESCV, 2006-10 EDPR, Volume 2 (Attachment 32 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), clause 2.1.20.

3.5.5.3 Issues with notification of tariff assignment for customer connections

Initial tariff assignment already involves implicit or explicit agreement to a customer's network tariff assignment. The means for this agreement differs between small and large customers, but in both cases customers are afforded the ability to question and/or dispute this initial assignment.

A significant proportion of Powercor Australia's distribution customers are small customers. Small customers who require new connections generally approach a retailer of their choice and arrange the connections. When a customer enters into a retail contract with their retailer, the retail tariff is inclusive of the DNSP's network tariff, which is bundled into the retail tariff.

Large customers generally negotiate directly with the DNSP on the most suitable network tariff class having regard to their load and connection characteristics. This negotiation takes place at the same time when the customers negotiate the supply connection with the DNSP. It is worth nothing that the connection charge payable by the customer can only be determined after agreement is reached with the customer on the applicable network tariff class. This is because the DNSP must know the future tariff revenue in order to calculate in required up-front connection charge net of expected revenues.

Therefore in all cases, the customers have either implicitly or explicitly agreed to the network tariff and there is no need to for the DNSP to provide notice of tariff assignment.

Powercor Australia receives approximately 35,000 energisation requests (fuse inserts) each year via the B2B process from retailers. They relate to properties that have been previously connected. Under Clause 6 of Appendix G of the Draft Determination, a DNSP would be required to notify each of these customers of the tariff class to which the customer has been assigned. Powercor Australia believes the DNSP's notice will only serve to confuse the customers, given the customers have instructed their retailer to arrange energisation, agreed to a retail tariff (inclusive of a network tariff) and entered into a retail contract. Moreover, the written notice will be marked attention to 'The Customer' because not all retailers provide the customer's name on the B2B service orders.

The distribution tariff on the DNSP's assignment notice to the customer will not match the retail tariff. Powercor Australia believes this confusion will lead to customers calling their retailer and/or the DNSP that sent the tariff assignment notice. Powercor Australia estimates that about 10 per cent of customers will call to enquire why the DNSP has sent them the information and question why that information cannot be reconciled with their retail bill.

3.5.5.4 Powercor Australia's proposed solution to avoid unnecessary and inefficient costs

Powercor Australia proposes a way forward that avoids unnecessary costs. In Powercor Australia's view, an effective system of assessment and review is only required when a customer's tariff is reassigned by the DNSP to another existing or new tariff in accordance with Appendix G. Powercor Australia proposes that clause 6 of Appendix G should be amended as follows:

'(a) A Victorian DNSP must notify the customer concerned in writing of the tariff class to which the customer <u>will be</u> has been assigned or re-assigned by it, prior to the assignment or reassignment occurring.

(b) A customer may apply for reassignment of their tariff class.'

If the AER does not make this amendment in the Final Determination, it must compensate Powercor Australia for the additional costs that it will incur by allowing a step change, as set out in Chapter 6 of this Revised Regulatory Proposal.

3.5.5.5 Dispute resolution through EWOV

The AER's Draft Determination alters the current tariff reassignment dispute resolution process without reason and with the likely effect of imposing significant additional costs on DNSPs and EWOV.

The current process set out in the ESCV's 2006-10 EDPR is: ⁷⁶

- '2.1.25 If a distribution customer disagrees with the distribution tariff to which that distribution customer has been assigned, then that distribution customer may give a written notice to the Commission and the distribution business requesting that they be reassigned.
- 2.1.26 (i) If the Commission receives a notice under clause 2.1.25, then it must decide which of the distribution business's distribution tariffs the distribution customer giving the notice under clause 2.1.25 should be assigned to, taking into account:
 - (a) the distribution customer's load and connection characteristics;
 - *(b)* whether the distribution customer has an interval meter installed; and
 - (c) the distribution tariffs to which other distribution customers with the same or materially similar load and connection characteristics, and the same or materially similar meter, have been assigned.
 - (ii) The Commission must notify the distribution customer giving the notice under clause 2.1.25 and the distribution business concerned in writing of its decision and the date from which its decision should be applied.
- 2.1.27 If the Commission does not give a written notice under clause 2.1.26(ii) within 30 business days of receiving the relevant notice under clause 2.1.25, then the Commission is to be regarded as having decided that the distribution customer giving the relevant notice under clause 2.1.25 should not be reassigned.

⁷⁶ ESCV, 2006-10 EDPR, Volume 2 (Attachment 32 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), clauses 2.1.25 to 2.1.28.

2.1.28 A distribution business must comply with a decision by the Commission under clause 2.1.26 in relation to a distribution customer.'

This process does not contemplate EWOV involvement primarily because:

- the AER is the economic regulator responsible for enforcement of price determinations applicable to Victorian DNSPs;
- EWOV is not resourced to handle network tariff assignment complaints; and
- DNSPs incur a fee of \$790 each time a customer escalates a complaint with EWOV. These costs are not currently incurred and, accordingly, are not included in Powercor Australia's base year opex.

Powercor Australia does not see any value in altering the existing process given that this would add costs and potentially increase customer confusion relative to current practice.

3.6 Powercor Australia's Revised Regulatory Proposal

3.6.1 WAPC formula

Powercor Australia amends its Initial Regulatory Proposal and proposes that the formula for the control mechanism for standard control services should be as follows:

$$\frac{\sum_{i=1}^{n}\sum_{j=1}^{m} p_{i}^{ij} q_{i-2}^{ij}}{\sum_{g=1}^{n}\sum_{h=1}^{m}\sum_{i=1}^{n}\sum_{j=1}^{m} p_{i-1}^{ghij} q_{i-2}^{ghij}} \leq (1+CPI_{t}) \times (1-$$

 $X_t) \times (1+S_t) \times (1+L_t) \times (1+T_t) \times (1+TRC_t) \times (1+KAY_t) \times (1+P_t)$

where a DNSP has *n* distribution tariffs, which each have up to *m* distribution tariff components, and where:

regulatory year "t" is the regulatory year in respect of which the calculation is being made;

regulatory year "t–1" is the regulatory year immediately preceding regulatory year "*t*";

regulatory year "t-2" is the regulatory year immediately preceding regulatory year "*t-1*";

tariff i and component j represent the proposed pricing segment in *regulatory year t*; tariff g and component h represent the source pricing segment from *regulatory year t-1* that has been mapped to tariff i and component j. There are n tariffs and up to m tariff components in total;

 p^{ij}_{t} is the proposed distribution price for component j of distribution tariff i in *regulatory year t*;

 q^{ij}_{t-2} is the audited quantity from *regulatory year t-2* that is mapped to component j of distribution tariff i in *regulatory year t*. (Note that this quantity may have actually been delivered to other tariffs than i and components than j in *regulatory year t-2*);

 p^{ghij}_{t-1} is the distribution price that was charged in *regulatory year t-1* for the subset of component j of distribution tariff i that was mapped from the source component h of source tariff g. (Note that $p^{ghij}_{t-1} = p^{gh}_{t-1}$ for all destination tariffs i and components j. If there is no tariff reassignment then g=i and h=j, and $p^{ghij}_{t-1} = p^{ij}_{t-1}$);

 q^{ghij}_{t-2} is the audited quantity from *regulatory year t-2* for the subset of component j of distribution tariff i that was mapped from source component h of source tariff g. (If there is no tariff reassignment then g=i and h=j);

 CPI_t is calculated as follows:

The Consumer Price Index, All Groups Index Number (weighted average of eight capital cities) published by the Australia Bureau of Statistics for the September Quarter immediately preceding the start of *regulatory year t*;

divided by

The Consumer Price Index, All Groups Index Number (weighted average of eight capital cities) published by the Australia Bureau of Statistics for the September Quarter immediately preceding the start of *regulatory year t–1*;

minus one.

 X_t is the value of X for *regulatory year t* of the regulatory control period as determined by the AER;

 S_t is the Service Target Performance Incentive Scheme factor to be applied in *regulatory year t*;

 L_t is the licence fee pass through adjustment to be applied in *regulatory year* t (calculated as discussed in section 3.5.3.3 of this Revised Regulatory Proposal);

 T_t is a factor applied in 2012 to recover a correction amount to close out the service incentive scheme under the ESCV's 2006-10 EDPR (calculated in accordance with Appendix 3.1 of this Revised Regulatory Proposal);

 TRC_t is the factor representing the amount paid by the DNSP in relation to premium feed-in tariff scheme payments, transmission connection charges, inter-DNSP charges (net of any payments received from other DNSPs) and avoided TUOS and avoided DUOS payments as approved by the AER (calculated in accordance with Appendix 3.1 of this Revised Regulatory Proposal);

 KAY_t is a factor to be applied in 2011 and 2012 to recover a correction amount to close out the maximum transmission revenue control under the ESCV's 2006-10 EDPR (calculated in accordance with Appendix 3.1 of this Revised Regulatory Proposal); and

 P_t is the change in approved pass through amounts, expressed in percentage form; it is the amount of the approved pass through adjustment to be applied in *regulatory year t* (calculated in accordance with Appendix 3.1 of this Revised Regulatory Proposal).

3.6.2 Side constraint formula

Powercor Australia amends its Initial Regulatory Proposal and proposes that the side constraint for standard control services should be as follows:

$$\frac{\sum_{i=1}^{n^{c}}\sum_{j=1}^{m^{c}}p_{i}^{cij}q_{i-2}^{cij}}{\sum_{g=1}^{n}\sum_{i=1}^{m^{c}}\sum_{j=1}^{m^{c}}p_{i-1}^{ghcij}q_{i-2}^{ghcij}} \leq (1+CPI)\times(1+X_{t})\times(1+S_{t})\times(1+L_{t})\times(1+T_{t})\times(1+TRC_{t})\times(1+KAY_{t})\times(1-Q)\times(1+P_{t})\times(1+Q_{t})\times(1+$$

Where:

regulatory year "t" is the regulatory year in respect of which the calculation is being made;

regulatory year "t-1" is the regulatory year immediately preceding regulatory year "t";

regulatory year "t-2" is the regulatory year immediately preceding regulatory year "t-1";

for each tariff class *c*:

tariff i and component j represent the proposed pricing segment in year t; tariff g and component h represent the source pricing segment from year t-1 that has been mapped to tariff i and component j. Each tariff class c has n^c tariffs, with up to m^c components. (Note that tariff g and component h are not necessarily of the same tariff class as tariff i and component j, if reassignment between classes occurs. Note also source tariff g and component h are summed over all tariff and components from all classes.);

 p^{cij}_{t} is the proposed distribution price for component j of distribution tariff i in regulatory year t;

 q^{cij}_{t-2} is the audited quantity from regulatory year t-2 that is mapped to component j of distribution tariff i in regulatory year t. (Note that this quantity may have actually been delivered to other tariffs than i and components than j in year t-2);

 p^{ghcij}_{t-1} is the distribution price that was charged in regulatory year t–1 for the subset of component j of distribution tariff i that was mapped from the source component h of source tariff g. (Note that $p^{ghcij}_{t-1} = p^{gh}_{t-1}$ for all destination tariffs i and components j. If there is no tariff reassignment then g=i and h=j, and $p^{ghcij}_{t-1} = p^{cij}_{t-1}$. Note also that source tariff g and source component h are not necessarily of class c.);

 q^{ghcij}_{t-2} is the audited quantity from regulatory year t-2 for the subset of component j of distribution tariff i that was mapped from source component h of source tariff g. (If there is no tariff reassignment then g=i and h=j. Note also that source tariff g and source component h are not necessarily of class c.);

 X_t is the value of X for year t of the regulatory control period as determined by the AER. If X>0, then X will be set equal to zero for the purposes of the side constraint formula; S_t is the Service Target Performance Incentive Scheme factor to be applied in regulatory year t;

 L_t is defined as set out in the WAPC formula;

 CPI_t is defined as set out in the WAPC formula;

 T_t is defined as set out in the WAPC formula;

 TRC_t is defined as set out in the WAPC formula;

 KAY_t is defined as set out in the WAPC formula; and

 P_t is defined as set out in the WAPC formula.

3.6.3 Revised opex forecasts and additional pass through event if the AER rejects the proposed WAPC or side constraint terms

Powercor Australia amends its Initial Regulatory Proposal and proposes that if the AER rejects Powercor Australia's proposed WAPC or side constraint terms (or both of them) regarding Transmission-related Costs (TRC_t), the AER must:

- increase Powercor Australia's forecast opex to include the estimated amounts of the transmission-related costs set out in Table 3.1 for each of the regulatory years 2011-15; and
- accept a 'transmission related costs event' as an additional nominated pass through event covering the difference between forecast and actual expenditure in respect of transmission connection charges, inter-DNSP charges and avoided TuOS and avoided DuOS payments, with a materiality threshold of zero.

3.6.4 Appendix G: Tariff reassignment requirements

Powercor Australia proposes that clause 6 of Appendix G of the Draft Determination should be amended as follows:

'(a) A Victorian DNSP must notify the customer concerned in writing of the tariff class to which the customer <u>will be</u> has been assigned or re-assigned by it, prior to the assignment or reassignment occurring.

(b) <u>A customer may apply for reassignment of their tariff class.</u>'

Powercor Australia proposes that Appendix G of the Draft Determination should be amended to delete clause 7.b and the reference in clause 7.c to 'and the ombudsman scheme noted in clause 7.b'.

If the AER does not accept these amendments, then Powercor Australia proposes an additional step change to cover the costs of compliance with these requirements, as set out in Chapter 6 of this Revised Regulatory Proposal.

4. GROWTH FORECASTS

In this Chapter of the Revised Regulatory Proposal, Powercor Australia responds to Chapter 5 of the AER's Draft Determination regarding Powercor Australia's growth forecasts (that is, its forecasts of energy consumption, maximum demand and customer numbers for standard control services) for the next regulatory control period.

4.1 Summary of key points

4.1.1 Energy consumption forecasts

Powercor Australia does not accept the AER's forecasts of energy consumption, substituted in the Draft Determination for those in Powercor Australia's Initial Regulatory Proposal.

In this Revised Regulatory Proposal, Powercor Australia adopts revised energy consumption forecasts prepared by NIEIR that reflect updated forecasts of economic growth and forecasts of population growth consistent with the population growth forecasts that the AER's consultant, ACIL Tasman (and thus the AER) recommended be used.

However, Powercor Australia rejects the AER's conclusions, based on the advice of ACIL Tasman, regarding the policy adjustments to energy consumption forecasts. Policy adjustments are required to ensure that recent or upcoming technological or policy changes that are not reflected in historical relationships are reflected in the forecasts. Powercor Australia explains the updates to NIEIR's policy adjustments that have occurred to reflect recent policy developments, responds to the AER's and ACIL Tasman's issues and concerns and adduces a further expert report by Frontier that supports the policy adjustments made by NIEIR in updating its energy consumption forecasts.

4.1.2 Maximum demand forecasts

Powercor Australia does not accept the AER's forecasts of maximum demand, substituted in the Draft Determination for those in Powercor Australia's Initial Regulatory Proposal.

Powercor Australia responds to the AER's concerns regarding its maximum demand forecasts in its Initial Regulatory Proposal by:

- explaining why, contrary to the AER's analysis, Powercor Australia's internal spatial demand forecasts have been demonstrated historically to have a high degree of accuracy;
- providing revised NIEIR forecasts of system maximum demand that are updated for currency and reflect corrections to the data underpinning NIEIR's November 2009 forecasts (provided with Powercor Australia's Initial Regulatory Proposal);
- reconciling Powercor Australia's internal spatial maximum demand forecasts with these revised NIEIR forecasts of system maximum demand; and

• adopting adjusted maximum demand forecasts that are consistent with NIEIR's updated forecasts of system maximum demand.

4.1.3 Customer numbers forecasts

Powercor Australia has addressed the concerns raised by the AER regarding its customer number forecasts in respect of economic and population growth by adopting updated NIEIR customer number forecasts that reflect updated forecasts of economic growth and population growth consistent with the population growth forecasts that ACIL Tasman and the AER recommended be used.

4.2 Rule requirements

Powercor Australia uses forecasts of maximum demand and customer numbers in preparing its opex and capex forecasts for the 2011-15 regulatory control period. Accordingly, the provisions of the Rules governing the opex and capex forecasts (detailed in Chapters 6 and 9 of this Revised Regulatory Proposal respectively) are applicable.

Of particular relevance for the AER's consideration of Powercor Australia's maximum demand forecasts is that the AER must accept a DNSP's opex and capex forecasts if it is satisfied that the total forecast reasonably reflects (among other things) 'a realistic expectation of the demand forecast ... required to achieve the [opex or capex objectives, as relevant]' (see clauses 6.5.6(c)(3) and 6.5.7(c))(3) of the Rules). In addition, the Rules allow for opex and capex required to meet or manage the expected demand for standard control services (clauses 6.5.6(a)(1), 6.5.6(c)(1), 6.5.7(a)(1) and 6.5.7(c)(1) of the Rules).

By contrast, Powercor Australia uses the forecasts of energy consumption in applying the control mechanism and setting prices for standard control services. As a result, in making its Final Determination, the AER must determine an 'appropriate' amount in accordance with clause 6.12.1(10) of the Rules.

In its Draft Determination, the AER states that:⁷⁷

'Clause 6.12.1(10) of the NER requires the AER to make a decision on appropriate amounts, values or inputs. These include forecasts of peak demand, energy consumption and customer numbers which are inputs to the capex and opex assessments, and the PTRM and subsequently X factors.'

However, clause 6.12.1(10) of the Rules does not necessarily apply to all of the growth forecasts proposed by Powercor Australia. For example, given:

- Powercor Australia's maximum demand forecasts are used solely for the purposes of forecasting the capex and opex required in the next regulatory control period; and
- the AER must make an assessment as to whether it accepts the total capex and opex forecasts proposed by Powercor Australia under clauses 6.12.1(3) and 6.12.1(4) of the Rules,

the maximum demand forecasts cannot be considered 'other' amounts for the purposes of clause 6.12.1(10) of the Rules. The AER must accept the total capex

⁷⁷ AER, Draft Determination, p73.

and opex forecasts if it is satisfied that they reasonably reflect the capex and opex criteria (including that they reflect a realistic expectation of the demand forecast required to achieve the capex or opex objectives), and may only adjust the forecast to the extent it is not so satisfied. The AER is not permitted under the Rules to substitute maximum demand forecasts it considers 'appropriate'.

Similarly, where customer number forecasts are used as a basis for forecasting new customer connections capex, the AER is required under the Rules to consider the total forecast capex against the capex criteria and cannot rely on clause 6.12.1(10) of the Rules to substitute customer number forecasts it considers appropriate.

4.3 Energy consumption forecasts

4.3.1 Powercor Australia's Initial Regulatory Proposal

In its Initial Regulatory Proposal, Powercor Australia adopted the energy consumption forecasts (including policy adjustments) prepared by NIEIR, which were set out in the report titled Electricity sales and customer number projections for the Powercor Australia region to 2019.⁷⁸

4.3.2 AER's Draft Determination

The AER rejected the energy consumption forecasts included in Powercor Australia's Initial Regulatory Proposal and substituted its own forecasts. The AER commented that the incentives of the weighted average price cap form of control (i.e. to understate energy consumption forecasts) may have affected Powercor Australia's energy consumption forecasts.⁷⁹ The reasons for the AER's rejection of Powercor Australia's energy consumption forecasts, and the forecasts substituted by the AER, are discussed in more detail below.

4.3.2.1 NIEIR's methodology

While the AER agreed with ACIL Tasman's concerns regarding the lack of transparency provided by NIEIR in respect of its energy forecasting methodology, the AER concluded that NIEIR's approach to forecasting energy consumption generally exhibits elements of good forecasting and appears to be reasonable.⁸⁰ The AER considered that NIEIR's industry based approach to forecasting energy consumption is likely to produce forecasts that are as accurate, if not more accurate, than forecasts simply based on total state or regional economic growth.⁸¹

4.3.2.2 Input assumptions

ACIL Tasman and the AER raised concerns regarding two of the input assumptions used by NIEIR in forecasting energy consumption:

- population growth; and
- economic growth.

⁷⁸ Attachment P0005 to the Initial Regulatory Proposal.

⁷⁹ AER, Draft Determination, p84.

⁸⁰ AER, Draft Determination, pp98-9.

⁸¹ AER, Draft Determination, p98.

After comparing NIEIR's population growth forecasts to forecasts prepared by the Victorian Treasury and the ABS, ACIL Tasman considered that NIEIR's population growth estimates were '*unreasonably pessimistic*'.⁸² ACIL Tasman recommended that NIEIR's population growth forecasts be replaced with the ABS' 'B series' population forecasts.⁸³ The AER agreed.⁸⁴

ACIL Tasman also recommended, and the AER agreed, that NIEIR's economic growth forecasts should be updated with a more recent set of economic growth forecasts.⁸⁵

4.3.2.3 Policy adjustments

ACIL Tasman and the AER expressed concerns regarding a number of the policy adjustments implicit in, or made to, NIEIR's energy consumption forecasts.

In light of the Federal Government's deferral of the CPRS until after the current commitment period of the Kyoto Protocol, the AER considered that NIEIR's forecasts should be adjusted to reflect this.⁸⁶

In addition, based on ACIL Tasman's recommendations, the AER removed the post model adjustments made by NIEIR for four policies:⁸⁷

- the insulation rebate program;
- the one watt standby target;
- MEPS for lighting; and
- the AMI roll-out.

Each of these policy adjustments is discussed in turn below.

Insulation rebate program

The forecasts of energy consumption included in the Initial Regulatory Proposal were prepared prior to the Federal Government's cancellation of the insulation scheme. The AER therefore concluded that NIEIR's adjustment relating to the scheme should be removed.⁸⁸

One watt standby target

On the basis that it could not identify what policy regarding standby power was being modelled by NIEIR, ACIL Tasman recommended reversing NIEIR's adjustment to energy consumption forecasts for the one watt standby target.⁸⁹ ACIL Tasman noted that its conclusion was '*strengthened by the fact that a*

⁸² ACIL Tasman, Victorian Electricity Distribution Price Review, Review of electricity sales and customer numbers forecasts, 21 April 2010, pp13-4.

⁸³ ACIL Tasman, Victorian Electricity Distribution Price Review, Review of electricity sales and customer numbers forecasts, 21 April 2010, pp13-4, and 80.

⁸⁴ AER, Draft Determination, p156.

⁸⁵ ACIL Tasman, Victorian Electricity Distribution Price Review, Review of electricity sales and customer numbers forecasts, 21 April 2010, p89; AER, Draft Determination, p156.

⁸⁶ AER, Draft Determination, pp116-17, and 156.

⁸⁷ ACIL Tasman, Victorian Electricity Distribution Price Review, Review of electricity sales and customer numbers forecasts, 21 April 2010, pp28, 31, 33 and 56; AER, Draft Determination, pp120-1.

⁸⁸ AER, Draft Determination, pp120-1.

⁸⁹ ACIL Tasman, Victorian Electricity Distribution Price Review, Review of electricity sales and customer numbers forecasts, 21 April 2010, pp30-1.

number of MEPS with one watt standby components are already in place and are thus already influencing the data that feeds NIEIR's electricity sales model.⁹⁰ The AER adopted ACIL Tasman's recommendation.⁹¹

Lighting MEPS

ACIL Tasman recommended that the post model adjustment for lighting MEPS be reduced to no more than the level of the impact estimated by the Federal Government's Lighting RIS.⁹² It did so on the basis that, while the Government was forecasting the total impact of replacing all non-compliant lamps in Australia with MEPS-compliant lighting, the policy adjustments made to NIEIR's energy consumption forecasts should reflect the impact of MEPS-compliant lighting that is likely to occur as a result of MEPS (i.e. a subset of the total impact of a move to MEPS-compliant lighting).⁹³ The AER agreed and adopted ACIL Tasman's recommendation in its Draft Determination.⁹⁴

AMI roll-out and TOU Tariffs

Arguing that the Victorian Government's moratorium on the TOU Tariffs introduces uncertainty, ACIL Tasman recommended that the AER remove the adjustments to energy consumption made by NIEIR for the AMI roll-out.⁹⁵ ACIL Tasman recommended that the AER remove the adjustments 'with a view to making any necessary adjustments as and when the future of AMI meters becomes clearer.'⁹⁶

Moratorium aside, ACIL Tasman did not agree with the levels of the adjustments for the AMI roll-out made by NIEIR. ACIL Tasman considered that the effect of TOU Tariffs (which are enabled by AMI) would be muted because it would impact on only one of the components of customer bills.

The AER, however, rejected adjustments to energy consumption for the AMI rollout and TOU tariffs based on the following:⁹⁷

- the inconsistent approach adopted by NIEIR with respect to determining the impact of AMI on energy consumption and maximum demand forecasts;
- the uncertainty around the introduction of TOU Tariffs; and
- impediments to the implementation of AMI and TOU Tariffs.

The AER's reasoning in its Draft Determination is discussed further below.

⁹⁰ ACIL Tasman, Victorian Electricity Distribution Price Review, Review of electricity sales and customer numbers forecasts, 21 April 2010, p31.

⁹¹ AER, Draft Determination, p120.

⁹² ACIL Tasman, Victorian Electricity Distribution Price Review, Review of electricity sales and customer numbers forecasts, 21 April 2010, p28.

⁹³ ACIL Tasman, *Victorian* Electricity Distribution Price Review, Review of electricity sales and customer numbers forecasts, 21 April 2010, p26.

⁹⁴ AER, Draft Determination, p114.

⁹⁵ ACIL Tasman, Victorian Electricity Distribution Price Review, Review of electricity sales and customer numbers forecasts, 21 April 2010, p56.

⁹⁶ ACIL Tasman, Victorian Electricity Distribution Price Review, Review of electricity sales and customer numbers forecasts, 21 April 2010, p56.

⁹⁷ AER, Draft Determination, pp148-55.

4.3.3 Powercor Australia's response to the AER's Draft Determination

4.3.3.1 Summary

Powercor Australia does not accept the AER's forecasts of energy consumption, substituted in the Draft Determination for those in Powercor Australia's Initial Regulatory Proposal.

Pursuant to the Draft Determination, Powercor Australia engaged NIEIR to produce updated forecasts of energy consumption over the next regulatory control period. These forecasts are set out in NIEIR's report, Electricity sales and customer number projections for the Powercor Australia region to 2019⁹⁸, June 2010. Powercor Australia submits these forecasts are appropriate.

Powercor Australia rejects the AER's suggestion that the incentives of the weighted average price cap form of control (i.e. to understate energy consumption forecasts) have affected Powercor Australia's energy consumption forecasts.⁹⁹ Powercor Australia's energy consumption forecasts were prepared by the independent expert NIEIR. In making these comments, the AER is inferring that NIEIR lacks independence and/or integrity. Powercor Australia notes that the AER does not appear to rely on any evidence in support of such a finding.

Further, the AER should accept NIEIR's revised forecasts of energy consumption included in the Revised Regulatory Proposal because:

- as accepted by the AER, NIEIR's methodology for forecasting energy consumption is reasonable;
- the AER should be satisfied that the macro-economic indicators forecast by NIEIR are reasonable:
 - NIEIR's updated population growth forecasts are consistent with the ABS' 'series B' population growth forecasts (recommended by ACIL Tasman and the AER); and
 - NIEIR's forecasts reflect updated forecasts of economic growth; and
- NIEIR's policy adjustments are appropriate:
 - consistent with the AER's Draft Determination, NIEIR's forecasts assume that the CPRS will be delayed until 1 January 2013; and
 - the overall level of the policy adjustments made by NIEIR are consistent with the level determined by a second independent expert, Frontier.

Powercor Australia also submits that the AER cannot rely on the alternative forecasts presented in its Draft Determination (from VENCorp and ACIL Tasman).

⁹⁸ NIEIR, Electricity sales and customer numbers for the Powercor Australia region to 2019, June 2010 (Attachment 34 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p85 (Table 7.1).

⁹⁹ AER, Draft Determination, p84.

4.3.3.2 NIEIR's methodology

Subsequent to submitting the Initial Regulatory Proposal, in order to increase the transparency of NIEIR's methodology and to offer the AER additional comfort in respect of the methodology, Powercor Australia sought from independent experts and provided to the AER (on 28 April 2010) the following:

- a report prepared by NIEIR, Overview of economic and energy forecasting methodologies used at the National Institute of Economic and Industry Research, April 2010; and
- a report by Frontier, Review of NIEIR's methodology for forecasting electricity consumption, prepared for Powercor Australia, April 2010.

The AER indicated in its Draft Determination that, given the time available, it had not considered the additional information provided by Powercor Australia for the purposes of the Draft Determination but would consider it in making its Final Determination.¹⁰⁰

NIEIR's report provides comprehensive discussion of NIEIR's energy consumption forecasting modelling and estimation processes.

Frontier was engaged by Powercor Australia to assess the reasonableness of the methodology used by NIEIR to prepare its energy consumption forecasts.¹⁰¹ Frontier concluded that the capabilities of NIEIR's modelling system meet world best practice standards.¹⁰² While the AER's own consultant, ACIL Tasman, does not refer to Frontier's findings in its review of NIEIR's energy consumption forecasts, ACIL Tasman concluded that NIEIR's approach to forecasting electricity consumption includes a number of the features that are necessary and desirable in any energy consumption forecasting process and is generally sound.¹⁰³ As a result, ACIL Tasman did not recommend the use of an alternative model.

The AER therefore has sufficient material before it to conclude that NIEIR's energy consumption forecasting methodology is appropriate.

4.3.3.3 Macro-economic indicators

As noted above, ACIL Tasman and the AER raised concerns regarding two of the macro-economic indicators used by NIEIR in forecasting energy consumption:

• population growth; and

¹⁰⁰ AER, Draft Determination, p94.

¹⁰¹ Footnote 6 in Frontier's report, Review of NIEIR's methodology for forecasting electricity consumption, April 2010 (provided to the AER by email on 28 April 2010), states that 'electricity sales' and 'electricity consumption' are used interchangeably in that report. While NIEIR's detailed methodology report was not completed in time to allow Frontier to incorporate it into its report on the reasonableness of NIEIR's methodology, Frontier sent Powercor Australia a letter dated 10 May 2010 indicating that it sees no conflict between NIEIR's overview of its methodology of April 2010 and its report, and confirms its conclusions remain unchanged in light of the additional NIEIR methodology document (Attachment 35 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal).

¹⁰² Frontier, Review of NIEIR's methodology for forecasting electricity consumption, April 2010 (provided to the AER by email on 28 April 2010), pii.

¹⁰³ ACIL Tasman, Victorian Electricity Distribution Price Review, Review of electricity sales and customer numbers forecasts, 21 April 2010, p10.

• economic growth.

Population growth

The updated energy consumption forecasts prepared by NIEIR reflect an average population growth forecast across Victoria in the next regulatory control period of 1.4 per cent.¹⁰⁴ This is consistent with the ABS' 'series B' population forecast that ACIL Tasman recommended for use in forecasting energy consumption.¹⁰⁵

As NIEIR's population growth assumption is now consistent with the ABS' 'series B' population growth forecast, no population adjustment should be made by the AER to Powercor Australia's energy consumption forecasts reflected in this Revised Regulatory Proposal.

Powercor Australia notes for completeness, however, that ACIL Tasman's approximation of the impact on energy consumption from an increase in the population growth rate is not an appropriate basis on which to adjust NIEIR's energy consumption forecasts. This is because:

- contrary to its recommendation that the ABS' 'series B' population growth forecast should be used, ACIL Tasman's approximation is based on the ABS' 'series A' (which reflects a more positive outlook for population growth than 'series B');¹⁰⁶ and
- the methodology adopted by ACIL Tasman for estimating the impact of the increase in population growth is flawed.

Powercor Australia engaged Frontier to review the methodology applied by ACIL Tasman for estimating the impact of a shift from NIEIR's assumptions in its November 2009 forecasts to the ABS' population growth forecasts.

Frontier noted that the calculation of ACIL Tasman's estimates is not clear from the description of the methodology in ACIL Tasman's report, but can be deduced from the workbook provided to Powercor Australia by the AER.¹⁰⁷ Frontier found that ACIL Tasman's approach to estimating the impact was flawed primarily because ACIL Tasman assumes a constant per capita energy use.¹⁰⁸ As was acknowledged by ACIL Tasman, this does not account for:¹⁰⁹

• changes in the key drivers of energy consumption, including economic growth and weather (ACIL Tasman only accounts for population as a key driver); or

¹⁰⁴ NIEIR, Electricity sales and customer numbers for the Powercor Australia region to 2019, June 2010 (Attachment 34 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p28.

¹⁰⁵ ACIL Tasman, Victorian Electricity Distribution Price Review, Review of electricity sales and customer numbers forecasts, 21 April 2010, pp13-4.

¹⁰⁶ Frontier, Review of ACIL Tasman recommendations, June 2010 (Attachment 37 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p15; ACIL Tasman, population adjustment spreadsheet (provided to Powercor Australia by the AER by email on 16 June 2010).

¹⁰⁷ Frontier, Review of ACIL Tasman recommendations, June 2010 (Attachment 37 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p15; ACIL Tasman, population adjustment spreadsheet (provided to Powercor Australia by the AER by email on 16 June 2010).

¹⁰⁸ Frontier, Review of ACIL Tasman recommendations, June 2010 (Attachment 37 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p15.

¹⁰⁹ Frontier, Review of ACIL Tasman recommendations, June 2010 (Attachment 37 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), pp15-6; ACIL Tasman, Victorian Electricity Distribution Price Review, Review of electricity sales and customer numbers forecasts, 21 April 2010, p14.

policy adjustments that affect energy consumption.

Frontier also observed that ACIL Tasman's approach is inconsistent with the principles of best practice that ACIL Tasman describes in chapter 2 of its report.110 Specifically, ACIL Tasman's approach does not test or validate its results.111

The AER should therefore not rely on ACIL Tasman's population growth adjustment for the purposes of its Final Determination. ACIL Tasman effectively acknowledged this in its report, indicating that the shortcomings in its approach would be addressed by using the ABS' 'series B' population growth forecast and NIEIR's model to produce fresh forecasts.¹¹² As discussed above, given the population growth forecast underpinning NIEIR's updated energy consumption forecasts is consistent with the ABS' 'series B' population growth forecast, the AER does not need to rely on ACIL Tasman's estimation of the impact of a change in population growth for the purposes of its Final Determination but can rely on the energy consumption forecasts produced by NIEIR.

Economic growth

The updated energy consumption forecasts prepared by NIEIR and incorporated into Powercor Australia's Revised Regulatory Proposal, reflect GSP forecasts that take into account recent economic conditions.¹¹³

While in November 2009 NIEIR considered there would be relatively slow economic growth virtually across the entire period in Victoria in 2011-15,¹¹⁴ NIEIR indicated in its June 2010 report that growth was expected to be stronger, particularly in the early part of the next regulatory control period.¹¹⁵

Powercor Australia notes that NIEIR's updated forecasts are broadly consistent with the forecasts from the Victorian Treasury. This is shown in Figure 4.1 below.

¹¹⁰ Frontier, Review of ACIL Tasman recommendations, June 2010 (Attachment 37 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p15.

Frontier, Review of ACIL Tasman recommendations, June 2010 (Attachment 37 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p16.

ACIL Tasman, Victorian Electricity Distribution Price Review, Review of electricity sales and customer numbers forecasts, 21 April 2010, pp14-5.

¹¹³ NIEIR, Electricity sales and customer numbers for the Powercor Australia region to 2019, June 2010 (Attachment 34 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), pp26-30. ¹¹⁴ NIEIR, Electricity sales and customer number projections for the Powercor Australia region to 2019,

November 2009 (Attachment P0005 to the Initial Regulatory Proposal), p21.

¹¹⁵ NIEIR, Electricity sales and customer numbers for the Powercor Australia region to 2019, June 2010 (Attachment 34 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p28.



Figure 4.1 Forecasts of Victorian GSP by NIEIR and the Victorian Treasury

4.3.3.4 Policy adjustments

Policy adjustments to energy consumption forecasts are required to ensure that recent or upcoming technological or policy changes that are not reflected in historical relationships are captured in the forecast.¹¹⁶

As noted above, the AER considered that NIEIR's forecasts should be adjusted to reflect the Federal Government's deferral of the CPRS. While the AER indicated that NIEIR should 'amend the CPRS policy assumption to delay the commencement of the CPRS by 6 months, to 1 January 2012', Powercor Australia assumes the AER intended the delay to be until 1 January 2013. NIEIR's updated energy consumption forecasts reflect this.¹¹⁷ As a result, the AER's previous basis for concern in respect of NIEIR's CPRS assumptions has been addressed.

The level of the reduction in energy consumption due to post model adjustments reflected in NIEIR's revised forecasts of energy consumption for the next regulatory control period is shown in Figure 4.2 below.

Powercor Australia submits that these adjustments are appropriate. This is demonstrated by Frontier's Review of policy adjustments, June 2010.¹¹⁸ Powercor Australia engaged Frontier to estimate the expected impact on energy consumption in the next regulatory control period of Government policies designed to address climate change and energy efficiency. Frontier's conclusions regarding the appropriate level of post model adjustments is also set out in Figure 4.2 below.

Figure 4.2 shows that the overall level of post model adjustments to energy consumption estimated by NIEIR (in its June 2010 report) and the level estimated by Frontier are consistent. Given this represents the views of two independent experts, Powercor Australia submits that, on the evidence before it, the AER

¹¹⁶ Frontier, Review of NIEIR's methodology for forecasting electricity consumption, April 2010 (provided to the AER by email on 28 April 2010), p7.

NIEIR, Electricity sales and customer numbers for the Powercor Australia region to 2019, June 2010 (Attachment 34 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p9. ¹¹⁸ Frontier, Review of policy adjustments, July 2010 (Attachment 36 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal),

should be satisfied as to the appropriateness of NIEIR's overall level of post model adjustments to its energy consumption forecasts.



Figure 4.2 Forecast post model adjustments by NIEIR, Frontier and ACIL Tasman

Powercor Australia notes that, while the AER may raise concerns in respect of particular post model adjustments made by NIEIR, it must exercise caution in making reductions to one or other NIEIR adjustment without considering the implications for the other adjustments. This is because, as noted by Frontier, any determination of post model adjustments involves taking into account potential double counting due to policy overlap, and thus the adjustments determined by any given expert are generally interdependent rather than standalone.¹¹⁹

The AER's own consultant, ACIL Tasman, recognised the importance of policy overlap in reviewing post model adjustments and noted NIEIR's efforts to address this.¹²⁰

Accordingly, where the AER is satisfied that the overall quantum of NIEIR's post model adjustments is appropriate, it would be erroneous for the AER to make reductions to individual NIEIR adjustments. Further, in the event that the AER does make a reduction to an individual NIEIR post model adjustment for the impact on energy consumption of a specific policy measure, it would be erroneous to disregard any offsetting effects on the overall level of the post model adjustments. Specifically, there may be increases in the post model adjustments for other policy measures, to reflect the removal of the potential for double counting that was recognised by the forecaster.

Nonetheless, to assist the AER in its assessment of this Revised Regulatory Proposal, Powercor Australia addresses below the reasons put forward by ACIL Tasman and the AER for rejecting the specific post model adjustments for the insulation rebate, one watt standby target, lighting MEPS and AMI roll-out.

¹¹⁹ Frontier, Review of policy adjustments, July 2010 (Attachment 36 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), pix.

pix. ¹²⁰ ACIL Tasman, Victorian Electricity Distribution Price Review, Review of electricity sales and customer numbers forecasts, Final report, 21 April 2010, p37.

Insulation rebate program

While NIEIR's forecasts of the impact of the Federal Government's insulation program have been reduced in light of the cancellation of the scheme, NIEIR's updated forecasts continue to reflect some impact of the scheme. For the reasons outlined below, Powercor Australia submits this is appropriate.

As noted by Frontier, given the rapid take-up of insulation prior to the cancellation of the program, the Government's discontinuation of the program does not necessarily mean that the potential energy savings from it should be entirely discounted.¹²¹ Frontier found that Insurance Council of Australia and New Zealand data suggested a 28 per cent take-up rate of uninsulated homes in Victoria prior to the cancellation of the scheme.¹²² Frontier considered that this, together with more recent evidence which indicates that total claims were 1.1 million of an estimated total of 2.7 million uninsulated homes¹²³ by the time of the cancellation of the program, justifies an adjustment to take into account some impact on energy consumption from the program.¹²⁴

Despite the cancellation of the insulation rebate program, therefore, it is appropriate to take into account the impact of the program on energy consumption in the next regulatory control period. Given the consistency between the overall level of post model adjustments made by NIEIR (and adopted by Powercor Australia) and the overall level of post model adjustments estimated by Frontier, the AER should also be satisfied that the post model adjustment to energy consumption forecasts for the insulation program proposed by Powercor Australia is appropriate.

As foreshadowed above, in the event the AER does seek to remove or alter NIEIR's post model adjustment for the insulation rebate, the AER must consider any impact this has for other policy adjustments. For example, NIEIR discounts the forecast impact of VEET on energy consumption on the basis of the policy's overlap with other Federal and Victorian Government initiatives, including the insulation rebate program.¹²⁵

One watt standby target

Contrary to ACIL Tasman's recommendation (with which the AER agreed), Frontier concluded that it is reasonable to take into account the impact of a one watt target for standby power.¹²⁶ Frontier reached its conclusion as follows:¹²⁷

¹²¹ Frontier, Review of policy adjustments, July 2010 (Attachment 36 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), pp62-3.

¹²² Frontier, Review of policy adjustments, July 2010 (Attachment 36 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), pp62-3; Frontier, Review of ACIL Tasman recommendations, June 2010 (Attachment 37 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p8.

¹²³ Hawke, A, Hawke Report, Review of the Administration of the Home Insulation Program, 6 April 2010 (Attachment 57 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p24.

¹²⁴ Frontier, Review of policy adjustments, July 2010 (Attachment 36 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), pp62-3; Frontier, Review of ACIL Tasman recommendations, June 2010 (Attachment 37 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p8; Minister Assisting the Minister for Climate Change and Energy Efficiency, Media release re Home Insulation Safety Plan, 1 April 2010 (Attachment 54 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal).

 ¹²⁵ NIEIR, Electricity sales and customer numbers for the Powercor Australia region to 2019, June 2010 (Attachment 34 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p68; Frontier, Review of policy adjustments, June 2010 (Attachment 36 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), pp55-6.
 ¹²⁶ Frontier, Review of policy adjustments, July 2010 (Attachment 36 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal),

¹²⁶ Frontier, Review of policy adjustments, July 2010 (Attachment 36 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p49.

- In 2000, all Australian jurisdictions (through the MCE) endorsed the International Energy Agency's one watt program for standby power.¹²⁸
- The MCE's strategy involved a two stage process:¹²⁹
 - Stage 1 for all key products, develop a product profile which outlines standby power performance and targets.
 - Stage 2 where voluntary action under stage 1 is inadequate and/or where the MCE accepts that regulation is necessary to achieve the standby target, introduce mandatory standby performance measures.

Accordingly, the presence of mandatory 'Stage 2' measures indicates that the achievement of the one watt standby target will occur in the future.

In responding to ACIL Tasman's findings, Frontier noted that a number of product profiles had been released, each containing a four watt voluntary target and a proposed mandatory one watt target for 2012.¹³⁰ In addition, Powercor Australia notes that recent statements by the Government suggest that the MCE remains committed to reducing standby energy consumption. Both the *Equipment Energy Efficiency Program Achievements 2008/09* report and the *Consultation Regulation Impact Statement: National Legislation for Appliance and Equipment Minimum Energy Performance Standards (MEPS) and Energy Labelling* indicate that all home and office electrical appliances not already subject to energy efficiency regulation will be subject to a uniform one watt standard to be introduced in April 2013.¹³¹

Regarding ACIL Tasman and the AER's assertion that the adjustment for a one watt standby target should be removed because one watt standby targets are already reflected in NIEIR's baseline energy consumption forecasts, Powercor Australia observes that NIEIR has recognised existing standby targets in preparing its energy consumption forecasts.¹³²

Similarly, in preparing its forecast of the impact, Frontier excluded the contribution to energy savings of air conditioners and televisions.¹³³ It did so because these appliances are already subject to MEPS.¹³⁴

¹²⁷ Frontier, Review of policy adjustments, July 2010 (Attachment 36 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p49.

p49. ¹²⁸ MCE, Money Isn't All You're Saving, Australia's standby power strategy 2002-2012, 2002 (Attachment 38 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal).

¹²⁹ MCE, Money Isn't All You're Saving, Australia's standby power strategy 2002-2012, 2002 (Attachment 38 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), pp10-1.

¹³⁰ Frontier, Review of ACIL Tasman recommendations, June 2010 (Attachment 37 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p9.

¹³¹ Equipment Energy Efficiency Program, Achievements 2008/09, December 2009 (Attachment 39 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p15; Department of the Environment, Water, Heritage and the Arts, Consultation Regulation Impact Statement: National Legislation for Appliance and Equipment Minimum Energy Performance Standards (MEPS) and Energy Labelling, January 2010 (Attachment 40 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p81.

¹³² NIEIR, Electricity sales and customer numbers projections for the Powercor Australia region to 2019, November 2009 (Attachment P0005 to the Initial Regulatory Proposal), p55; NIEIR, Electricity sales and customer numbers for the Powercor Australia region to 2019, June 2010 (Attachment 34 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p62.

¹³³ Frontier, Review of policy adjustments, July 2010 (Attachment 36 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p52.

Thus, on the basis of the evidentiary material before it, the AER should be satisfied that a post model adjustment to account for the impact on energy consumption of a one watt standby target in the next regulatory control period is appropriate. As noted above, the consistency in the overall level of post model adjustments forecast by independent experts NIEIR and Frontier suggests that the quantum of the post model adjustment for the one watt standby target proposed by Powercor Australia is appropriate.

Lighting MEPS

Frontier rejects ACIL Tasman's analysis of NIEIR's post model adjustment for lighting MEPS.

First, after reviewing a wider range of material than the Lighting RIS, Frontier finds that the Lighting RIS may underestimate the level of residential lighting use (and savings).¹³⁵

Second, Frontier notes that ACIL Tasman considered only the estimate for residential lighting set out in the Lighting RIS and ignores the Lighting RIS' estimate for commercial lighting.¹³⁶ Frontier notes that this is inconsistent and goes on to find that the Lighting RIS contemplates considerably higher savings in commercial lighting energy than NIEIR. The result of this is that ACIL Tasman significantly underestimates the impact of lighting MEPS on energy consumption. Accordingly, Frontier concludes that ACIL Tasman's analysis, which considers only residential savings, should be rejected.¹³⁷

As noted above, the consistent forecasts of the total level of post model adjustments estimated by NIEIR and Frontier indicate that the post model adjustment put forward by Powercor Australia for lighting MEPS in this Revised Regulatory Proposal is appropriate.

However, should the AER seek to constrain the lighting MEPS post model adjustment to the Lighting RIS, for the reasons identified by Frontier, the AER cannot rely on ACIL Tasman's analysis. The AER must also take into account the understatement of potential savings from residential lighting in the Lighting RIS and the estimated impact in the Lighting RIS of savings from commercial lighting.

Powercor Australia also notes that if the AER seeks to make any changes to NIEIR's post model adjustment for MEPS lighting, the AER would also be required to consider the impact this has on the quantum of NIEIR's policy adjustments for other interrelated policies. For example, as ACIL Tasman recognised, the impact of lighting MEPS was taken into account by NIEIR in

¹³⁴ Frontier, Review of policy adjustments, July 2010 (Attachment 36 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p52.

p52. ¹³⁵ Frontier, Review of ACIL Tasman recommendations, June 2010 (Attachment 37 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), pp9-11; Frontier, Review of policy adjustments, July 2010 (Attachment 36 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), pp34-6.

¹³⁶ Frontier, Review of ACIL Tasman recommendations, June 2010 (Attachment 37 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p11.

¹³⁷ Frontier, Review of ACIL Tasman recommendations, June 2010 (Attachment 37 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), pp11-2.

forecasting the likely impact of VEET.¹³⁸ If the AER reduces the impact of lighting MEPS, the AER must consider the implications of this for the VEET adjustment.

AMI roll-out and TOU Tariffs

Powercor Australia submits that it is reasonable to assume that the AMI roll-out, or more specifically, the TOU Tariffs made possible by AMI, will have an impact on energy consumption in the next regulatory control period.

ACIL Tasman does not identify a provision of the Rules under which the AER could make any necessary adjustments at a future date to account for TOU Tariffs of the kind ACIL Tasman proposed. Powercor Australia is not aware of any relevant provisions that would allow for this and considers that, accordingly, the likely impact of the TOU Tariffs must be taken into account in the Final Determination in determining the appropriate forecasts of energy consumption.

As noted above, the AER rejected adjustments to energy consumption for the AMI roll-out and TOU Tariffs given:¹³⁹

- the inconsistent approach adopted by NIEIR with respect to determining the impact of AMI on energy consumption and maximum demand forecasts;
- the uncertainty around the introduction of TOU tariffs; and
- impediments to the implementation of AMI and TOU tariffs. •

Powercor Australia rejects the AER's assertion that NIEIR was inconsistent in its treatment of the impact of the AMI roll-out and TOU Tariffs on energy consumption and maximum demand.¹⁴⁰ While the AER indicated that 'at the very least an examination of the available literature, consistent with NIEIR's ... approach for energy consumption, would be a reasonable approach to take',¹⁴¹ as noted by the AER's consultant ACIL Tasman, and the AER itself, the research into the impact of TOU Tariffs has focussed on the impact on energy consumption, and not maximum demand.¹⁴² Further, in response to the AER's comment that NIEIR did not consider certain papers discussed in the primary report relied on by NIEIR (the Brattle Group study),¹⁴³ Powercor Australia notes that this study is a survey of recent experiments.¹⁴⁴ That is, NIEIR relied on this report rather than conducting its own assessment of each of the underlying surveys. Powercor Australia submits this is entirely appropriate.

Regarding the uncertainty around the introduction of TOU Tariffs, Powercor Australia notes that it has agreed to a moratorium on TOU Tariffs only until the end of 2010. As evidenced by the letter from the Minister for Energy and

¹³⁸ ACIL Tasman, Victorian Electricity Distribution Price Review, Review of electricity sales and customer numbers forecasts, 21 April 2010, p37.

AER, Draft Determination, pp148-55.

¹⁴⁰ AER, Draft Determination, pp148-9.

¹⁴¹ AER, Draft Determination, p149.

¹⁴² ACIL Tasman, Review of maximum demand forecasts, 19 April 2010, p40; AER, Draft Determination, p149. ¹⁴³ AER, Draft Determination, p149.

¹⁴⁴ NIEIR, Maximum summer demand forecasts for Powercor Australia to 2020, June 2010 (Attachment 43 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p53; Faruqui, A and Sergici, S (Brattle Group), Household Response to Dynamic Pricing of Electricity - A Survey of the Experimental Evidence, 10 January 2009 (Attachment 41 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p2.

Resources regarding his request for a deferral of TOU Tariffs, the Minister only requested that the introduction be deferred until 2011.¹⁴⁵

Powercor Australia intends to move to TOU Tariffs in the next regulatory control period. This can be seen from Powercor Australia's presentation to retailers on 13 July 2010, which contemplates introduction of TOU Tariffs in January 2011.146



Powercor Australia notes that NIEIR assumes that TOU Tariffs will be introduced in 2013.¹⁴⁹ This is a conservative estimate of the likely timing of the TOU Tariffs given the moratorium has only been agreed to until the end of 2010.

In any event, as noted by Frontier, the moratorium does not prevent the introduction of optional TOU Tariffs.¹⁵⁰ Frontier concludes, based on its review of several studies, that even a partial take-up of TOU Tariffs should deliver most of the energy savings from such a pricing structure.¹⁵¹

Accordingly, even if TOU Tariffs are not made compulsory in the next regulatory control period, Powercor Australia considers its proposed introduction of voluntary TOU Tariffs will reduce energy consumption in 2011-15.

The 'impediments to the implementation of AMI and TOU' raised by ACIL Tasman and the AER included the following:

¹⁴⁵ Minister for Energy and Resources, Letter re Deferral of Network Time of Use Tariffs, 24 February 2010 (Attachment 44 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p1.

⁶ CitiPower and Powercor Australia, Presentation to the AMI retailers forum, Network Tariffs, Considered tariffs for 2011-15 price review period, 13 July 2010 (Attachment 45 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), slides 2, 3, 7.

¹⁴⁷ Oakley Greenwood, Review of AMI Benefits and Consolidation of AMI Costs and Benefits (Confidential Draft Report), May 2010 (Attachment 53 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), pp14, 36-9.

¹⁴⁸ DPI, Presentation to AMI Policy Committee, 29 June 2010 (Attachment 55 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), slides 2, 5-7. ¹⁴⁹ NIEIR, Energy consumption and customer numbers for the Powercor Australia region to 2019, June 2010,

p73. ¹⁵⁰ Frontier, Review of ACIL Tasman recommendations, June 2010 (Attachment 37 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p4; Frontier, Review of policy adjustments, July 2010 (Attachment 36 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p18.

¹⁵¹ Frontier, Review of policy adjustments, July 2010 (Attachment 36 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p24.

- the inability of DNSPs to send price signals to customers, including because of:
 - the proportion of the total bill that distribution charges make up;¹⁵² and
 - retailers incentives: 1) to modify the pricing signals to customers to better reflect the costs of their own businesses; and 2) to homogenise retail tariffs even where customers are serviced by different DNSPs;¹⁵³
- the inability of customers to respond to TOU tariffs due to their personal circumstances, particularly in the short term;¹⁵⁴
- inelastic demand for electricity in the short run;¹⁵⁵
- the 'fatigue' effect, which suggests that once the novelty of the TOU tariff has worn off and customers notice that the increases in their bills are not as dramatic as they feared they might be, customers' interest in reducing energy consumption wanes;¹⁵⁶
- similarly, the relativity effect, which suggests that as new prices become 'normal' and therefore not relatively more expensive than the reference point provided by recent prices, consumption might be expected to return to higher levels;¹⁵⁷ and
- the rebound effect.¹⁵⁸

Powercor Australia acknowledges that DNSPs' charges only constitute a part of the end price paid by consumers. However, Powercor Australia does not consider that this prevents DNSPs from sending price signals to consumers. Powercor Australia thus does not consider this to be a valid basis for reducing NIEIR's estimated impact of TOU tariffs in the next regulatory control period.

As noted by Frontier, the fact that distribution charges make up only part of the end price paid by consumers is consistent with the situation in the trials of advanced meters.¹⁵⁹ Thus, the results of the trials relied on by NIEIR and Frontier

¹⁵² ACIL Tasman, Victorian Electricity Distribution Price Review, Review of electricity sales and customer numbers forecasts, 21 April 2010, pp51-52.

¹⁵³ AER, Draft Determination, p151.

¹⁵⁴ AER, Draft Determination, p151; ACIL Tasman, Victorian Electricity Distribution Price Review, Review of electricity sales and customer numbers forecasts, 21 April 2010, p54.

¹⁵⁵ AER, Draft Determination, p151; ACIL Tasman, Victorian Electricity Distribution Price Review, Review of electricity sales and customer numbers forecasts, 21 April 2010, pp48 and 54.

¹⁵⁶ ACIL Tasman, Victorian Electricity Distribution Price Review, Review of electricity sales and customer numbers forecasts, 21 April 2010, pp48-9.

¹⁵⁷ AER, Draft Determination, pp151-2; ACIL Tasman, Victorian Electricity Distribution Price Review, Review of maximum demand forecasts, 19 April 2010, pp41-2. While the AER relies on ACIL Tasman's descriptions of the relativity and rebound effects that appear in its report on adjustment to maximum demand forecasts, these descriptions do not appear in ACIL Tasman's report on energy consumption. Powercor Australia nonetheless addresses these points in this Revised Regulatory Proposal as the AER appears to suggest they apply equally in respect of the impact of the AMI roll-out on energy consumption.

¹⁵⁸ AER, Draft Determination, pp151-2; ACIL Tasman, Victorian Electricity Distribution Price Review, Review of maximum demand forecasts, 19 April 2010, p42.

¹⁵⁹ Frontier, Review of ACIL Tasman recommendations, June 2010 (Attachment 37 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p5.

in estimating the impact of the AMI roll-out would already reflect this and the estimates based on these trials should not be adjusted to account for this.

Powercor Australia also notes that retailers have a commercial incentive to 'pass through' DNSP pricing structures to reduce the risk of under-recovery. While retailers are adept at managing pool price risk (i.e. the risk associated with energy prices), for example, through hedging contracts and generator ownership, retailers cannot so easily manage the risk associated with changing distribution charges. Given the small margins retailers generate, their approach to managing risk associated with distribution charges is to pass these charges onto consumers, rather than to bear the risk themselves.

Powercor Australia observes that the AER has not provided any evidence of retailers seeking to charge consumers consistent prices. To the contrary, Powercor Australia notes that retailers publish different tariffs, depending on the distribution region.¹⁶⁰

Powercor Australia also does not agree with the AER's conclusion that, because certain consumers will not be in a position to respond to the price signals they receive, the expected impact of TOU Tariffs should be reduced. This rejection of the AER's reasoning follows from Frontier's finding that the bulk of any reduction in energy consumption from the implementation of TOU Tariffs will generally be driven by a minority of customers.¹⁶¹ The fact that some customers may not be in a position to reduce energy consumption as a result of TOU Tariffs does not mean that other customers, who are in a position to respond, will not take up TOU Tariffs and reduce overall energy consumption.

Frontier notes that ACIL Tasman's statement that demand for electricity is inelastic in the short run is inconsistent with its reference to consumer 'fatigue' (which supposes that consumer response to TOU Tariffs is not sustained in the long run).¹⁶² The same can be said in respect of ACIL Tasman's comments on the relativity and rebound effects.

Regarding the 'fatigue' effect, Frontier observes that ACIL Tasman only cites one example (being the California Statewide Pricing Pilot).¹⁶³ As noted by Frontier, when Charles River Associates originally reported the results of this trial they discounted the value of the result due to the small sample sizes and other complexities and recommended using normal weekday elasticities from critical peak pricing results rather than the TOU results for determining the impact of TOU Tariffs.¹⁶⁴ The California Statewide Pricing Pilot is therefore not a strong basis for disregarding expected reductions in energy consumption.¹⁶⁵ ACIL

¹⁶⁰ See for example AGL Sales' and Origin Energy's standing offers (tariffs applicable from 1 January 2010) (Attachments 46 and 47 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal). ¹⁶¹ Frontier, Review of policy adjustments, July 2010 (Attachment 36 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal),

p24. 162 Frontier, Review of ACIL Tasman recommendations, June 2010 (Attachment 37 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), pp5-6. ¹⁶³ Frontier, Review of ACIL Tasman recommendations, June 2010 (Attachment 37 to this Revised

Regulatory Proposal), p6.

¹⁶⁴ Frontier, Review of ACIL Tasman recommendations, June 2010 (Attachment 37 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p6.

¹⁶⁵ Frontier, Review of ACIL Tasman recommendations, June 2010 (Attachment 37 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p6.

Tasman also relies on the California Statewide Pricing Pilot to support its statements regarding the relativity effect.¹⁶⁶ Accordingly, Powercor Australia submits there is no evidence before the AER to support a conclusion that the impact on energy consumption from TOU Tariffs is likely to reduce over time as a result of the 'fatigue' or relativity effects.

In developing their forecasts of the impact of TOU Tariffs on energy consumption, both NIEIR and Frontier allow for the inelasticity of demand in the short-run by 'smoothing' the demand response and discounting the short-term energy savings.¹⁶⁷ If anything, as noted by Frontier, the inelasticity of demand for electricity in the short term may suggest that short-term trial results (which form the basis for TOU Tariff impact estimates) understate the potential savings from TOU Tariffs in the long run.¹⁶⁸ Thus, forecast impacts of TOU Tariffs on energy consumption based on these trials are likely to be conservative.

ACIL Tasman suggests that the 'rebound effect' means that, as time passes, consumers may become less responsive to TOU Tariffs.¹⁶⁹ ACIL Tasman indicates that this is because:¹⁷⁰

- energy bills are a relatively small amount of disposable income;
- the people whose behaviour must change are not necessarily the payers of • the bills; and
- the message may be lost over time.

The phenomenon of the 'rebound effect' is not consistent with ACIL Tasman's examples. The rebound (or take-back) effect is the notion that more efficient appliances mean that it is cheaper for a customer to obtain a given level of service, which may induce the customer to use that appliance more.¹⁷¹ For example, efficient lighting might discourage consumers from turning off lights, given the cost of leaving them on is much lower than it previously was.¹⁷² Given TOU Tariffs do not entail any increases in efficiency, the rebound effect is not relevant. The examples that ACIL Tasman provided are more consistent with the 'fatigue' or relativity effects discussed above. For the reasons outlined above, the evidence before the AER does not support a conclusion that the impact on energy consumption from TOU Tariffs is likely to reduce over time as a result of these effects.

In any event, Powercor Australia notes that NIEIR considered its estimates of the impact of TOU Tariffs are conservative. Based on five key Australian and overseas studies, NIEIR formed the view that the average overall percentage

¹⁶⁶ ACIL Tasman, Victorian Electricity Distribution Price Review, Review of maximum demand forecasts,

 ¹⁹ April 2010, p42.
 ¹⁶⁷ Frontier, Review of ACIL Tasman recommendations, June 2010 (Attachment 37 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p5.

Frontier, Review of ACIL Tasman recommendations, June 2010 (Attachment 37 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p5. ¹⁶⁹ AER, Draft Determination, pp151-152; ACIL Tasman, Review of maximum demand forecasts, 19 April

^{2010,} p42.

¹⁷⁰ AER, Draft Determination, pp151-152; ACIL Tasman, Review of maximum demand forecasts, 19 April 2010, p42.

¹⁷¹ Frontier, Review of NIEIR's methodology for forecasting electricity consumption, April 2010, p18.

¹⁷² Frontier, Review of NIEIR's methodology for forecasting electricity consumption, April 2010, p18.

reduction in energy consumption due to TOU Tariffs is eight per cent.¹⁷³ However, the percentage reduction assumed by NIEIR to arise in the next regulatory control period due to TOU Tariffs for the purposes of forecasting energy consumption was four per cent.¹⁷⁴

The AER noted that NIEIR did not assume price signals would be delivered to customers through the use of IHDs, and did not assume any other enabling technologies, with the result that the only mechanism by which price signals can be taken into account is through retail billing arrangements.¹⁷⁵ However, as noted by Frontier, the minimum Victorian AMI roll-out requires that all AMI meters have an interface to a home area network, which will facilitate IHDs.¹⁷⁶ Frontier considered therefore that it was reasonable to assume that some benefits of IHDs could potentially be realised.¹⁷⁷

Finally, Powercor Australia observes that, even if the AER does not accept that TOU Tariffs will reduce energy consumption in the next regulatory control period, there are emerging technologies with effects on energy consumption similar to TOU Tariffs (that have not been taken into account by NIEIR) that the AER should consider. For example, Google PowerMeter is a free energy monitoring tool that uses energy information provided either by smart meters or energy monitoring devices.¹⁷⁸ It allows users to view their energy consumption from anywhere online.¹⁷⁹ Google PowerMeter:¹⁸⁰

- provides information regarding the amount of energy used by day, week or month;
- provides information in respect of the amount of power used by appliances that are always on;
- allows users to make comparisons to data belonging to other users;
- predicts a user's annual energy bill; and
- allows users to establish savings goals and track the progress of those goals.

Google PowerMeter therefore presents a free option for consumers to monitor and reduce their energy consumption. Such technology will reduce energy

 ¹⁷³ NIEIR, Electricity sales and customer numbers for the Powercor Australia region to 2019, June 2010 (Attachment 34 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p72.
 ¹⁷⁴ NIEIR, Electricity sales and customer numbers for the Powercor Australia region to 2019, June 2010

¹⁷⁴ NIEIR, Electricity sales and customer numbers for the Powercor Australia region to 2019, June 2010 (Attachment 34 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p73.

¹⁷⁵ AER, Draft Determination, p151.

¹⁷⁶ Frontier, Review of policy adjustments, July 2010 (Attachment 36 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p23.

p23.
 ¹⁷⁷ Frontier, Review of policy adjustments, July 2010 (Attachment 36 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p23.

p23. ¹⁷⁸ Google is partnered with 'Current Cost': Become a Google PowerMeter partner, available at <u>http://www.google.com/powermeter/about/partnerships.html</u> (Attachment 59 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal). In Australia, Current Cost energy monitoring devices (called ENVI) can be purchased from the 'SmartNow' website (<u>http://www.smartnow.com.au/current_cost_google_powermeter.html</u>). ENVI, together with the necessary cables and or adaptors be purchased for around \$210.00: SmartNow and Current Cost ENVI, available at <u>http://www.smartnow.com.au/current_cost_envi store.php</u>. For information regarding ENVI, see the CC128 ENVI Manual (Attachment 60 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal).

¹⁷⁹ What is Google PowerMeter, available at <u>http://www.google.com/powermeter/about/about.html</u> (Attachment 58 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal).

¹⁸⁰ What is Google PowerMeter, available at <u>http://www.google.com/powermeter/about/about.html</u> (Attachment 58 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal).

consumption in the next regulatory control period, regardless of whether TOU Tariffs are introduced.

Given the above, Powercor Australia considers that the AER should be satisfied on the material before it that a post model adjustment to account for the impact of TOU Tariffs on energy consumption is appropriate. Further, as previously noted, the consistency of the overall post model adjustments estimated by NIEIR and those of Frontier indicate that the AER should be satisfied as to the level of the adjustment for the AMI roll-out and TOU Tariffs proposed by Powercor Australia in this Revised Regulatory Proposal.

4.3.3.5 Alternative energy consumption forecasts

In the event the AER seeks to adjust Powercor Australia's forecasts for energy consumption in the next regulatory control period, neither VENCorp's nor ACIL Tasman's forecasts can be relied on to forecast energy consumption in the next regulatory control period.

VENCorp's forecasts

The AER noted in its Draft Determination that the Victorian DNSPs' forecasts of energy consumption differ significantly from those published in VENCorp's 2009 Victorian Annual Planning Report 2009, 16 July 2009.¹⁸¹

However, VENCorp's forecasts are now significantly out of date and do not reflect recent economic conditions. Further, Powercor Australia notes that methodological difficulties would likely arise in splitting VENCorp's state wide forecasts across the Victorian DNSPs' distribution areas.

ACIL Tasman's forecasts

The forecasts of energy consumption used by the AER in its Draft Determination are not realistic or appropriate. Considering the data for 2001-05 and 2006-10, Table 4.1 shows that there is a significant jump in the CAGR predicted by ACIL Tasman away from historic levels. That is, the AER is forecasting energy consumption well in excess of the long term average. This is not reasonable, particularly given the current climate in which a number of Government policies are directed at reducing energy consumption.

	GWh				CAGR	
	2006	2007	2008	2009	2010	2006-09
Draft Determination	10,148	10,299	10,510	10,579	10,876	1.40%
Revised Regulatory Proposal	10,148	10,299	10,510	10,491	10,585	1.11%
	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015	2010-15
Draft Determination	11,163	11,463	11,764	11,994	12,151	2.24%
Revised Regulatory Proposal	10,718	10,763	10,712	10,666	10,691	0.20%

Table 4.1 CAGR comparison between the current and forthcoming regulatory control periods

¹⁸¹ NIEIR, Electricity sales and customer numbers for the Powercor Australia region to 2019, June 2010 (Attachment 34 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p8.

4.3.4 Powercor Australia's Revised Regulatory Proposal

The energy consumption forecasts included in Powercor Australia's Revised Regulatory Proposal are set out in Table 4.2 below.

	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015
Energy consumption (GWh)	10,718	10,763	10,712	10,666	10,691

 Table 4.2 Energy consumption forecasts in the Revised Regulatory Proposal

4.4 Maximum demand forecasts

4.4.1 Powercor Australia's Initial Regulatory Proposal

The methodology for the spatial maximum demand forecasts underpinning Powercor Australia's Initial Regulatory Proposal was set out in correspondence to the AER dated 22 December 2009.

In its review of Powercor Australia's policies, practices, procedures and governance arrangements, the independent expert, PB concluded that Powercor Australia's approach to forecasting demand is appropriate and reasonable given the relatively low growth of network demand.¹⁸² Powercor Australia used the same approach to forecasting maximum demand in preparing its Initial Regulatory Proposal as is evident in the policies, practices, procedures and governance arrangements reviewed by PB.

Powercor Australia also submitted with its Initial Regulatory proposal system level maximum demand forecasts prepared by NIEIR.¹⁸³ However, as noted in material provided by Powercor Australia to the AER subsequent to the Initial Regulatory Proposal, Powercor Australia did not seek to identify errors in the report submitted.¹⁸⁴

4.4.2 AER's Draft Determination

The main flaw identified by the AER in the Victorian DNSPs' methodology for forecasting maximum demand was a lack of appropriate reconciliation to NIEIR's top down forecasts.¹⁸⁵ The AER considered such a top down reconciliation to be fundamental to producing reasonable spatial demand forecasts.¹⁸⁶

While acknowledging actual maximum demand in 2006-08 may have been affected by the onset of the GFC, the AER indicated that, on average, Powercor Australia's forecasts exceeded actual maximum demand by 13 per cent over 2006-08.¹⁸⁷

AER, Draft Determination, p92.

 ¹⁸² PB, Review of Powercor's policies, practices, procedures and governance arrangements, October 2009 (Attachment P0042 to Powercor Australia's Initial Regulatory Proposal), pp7-8 and 11.
 ¹⁸³ NIEIR, Maximum demand forecasts for Powercor Australia terminal stations to 2019, November 2009

 ¹⁸³ NIEIR, Maximum demand forecasts for Powercor Australia terminal stations to 2019, November 2009 (Attachment P006 to the Initial Regulatory Proposal).
 ¹⁸⁴ Powercor Australia, Maximum Demand forecasting – Questions for Powercor Australia (PC) Responses

¹⁸⁴ Powercor Australia, Maximum Demand forecasting – Questions for Powercor Australia (PC) Responses requested by 12 February 2009 (provided to the AER by email on 17 February 2010), p2.

¹⁸⁶ AER, Draft Determination, pp122 and 133.

¹⁸⁷ AER, Draft Determination, p81 (Table 5.7).

In describing Powercor Australia's spatial demand forecasting methodology, ACIL Tasman stated:¹⁸⁸

'Powercor has asserted that peak demand in its area is generally driven by water pumping. This makes Powercor's area unique among the Victorian distribution businesses as each of the others faces peak demand that is drive by temperature sensitive load, mainly air-conditioners.'

The AER rejected Powercor Australia's proposed maximum demand forecasts and substituted the maximum demand forecasts recommended by ACIL Tasman.¹⁸⁹

The reasoning underlying the AER's Draft Determination is discussed in more detail below.

4.4.3 Powercor Australia's response to the AER's Draft Determination

Powercor Australia does not accept the AER's forecasts of maximum demand, substituted in the AER's Draft Determination for those in its Initial Regulatory Proposal. Powercor Australia responds to the AER's concerns regarding its maximum demand forecasts in its Initial Regulatory Proposal by:

- explaining why, contrary to the AER's analysis, Powercor Australia's internal spatial demand forecasts have been demonstrated historically to have a high degree of accuracy;
- providing revised NIEIR forecasts of system maximum demand that are updated for currency and reflect corrections to the data underpinning NIEIR's November 2009 forecasts (provided with Powercor Australia's Initial Regulatory Proposal);
- reconciling Powercor Australia's internal spatial maximum demand forecasts with these revised NIEIR forecasts of system maximum demand; and
- adopting adjusted maximum demand forecasts that are consistent with NIEIR's updated forecasts of system maximum demand.

4.4.3.1 Spatial maximum demand forecasts

Powercor Australia rejects the AER's suggestion that their spatial demand forecasts are likely to overstate maximum demand in 2011-15.

As recognised by the AER, it is the non-coincident maximum demand forecasts at particular points in the network that are the main driver for growth driven capex.¹⁹⁰

Powercor Australia notes that the AER erred in its calculation of the difference between forecast and actual maximum demand.¹⁹¹ The peak demand forecasts

¹⁸⁸ ACIL Tasman, Victorian Electricity Distribution Price Review, Review of maximum demand forecasts,19 April 2010, p68.

¹⁸⁹ AER, Draft Determination, pp132-3 and 155-6.

¹⁹⁰ AER, Draft Determination, p74.

¹⁹¹ AER, Draft Determination, p81 (Table 5.7). Details of the calculation were provided to Powercor Australia by the AER by email on 16 June 2010.

relied on by the AER for the purposes of its analysis were incorrectly cited by the ESCV as being non-coincident zone substation level forecasts.¹⁹² The forecasts included in the ESCV's 2006-10 EDPR were in fact the sum of the feeder peak demands Powercor Australia submitted to the ESCV.¹⁹³ The AER compared the sum of these feeder demand forecasts to the actual unadjusted maximum demand at the network level. In short, the AER compared 'apples with oranges'.

In making a comparison between actual system maximum demand and the forecast sum of feeder maximum demands, it is to be expected there will be a reasonably large difference. This is because:

- the distribution feeders from a zone substation will not all peak at the same time and thus the sum of their maximum demands will always be greater than the sum of the maximum demand of the zone substation; and
- the zone substations will also not peak at the same time, hence the sum of their maximum demands will always be greater than the maximum demand of the network.

The AER has not considered the significant diversity between feeder maximum demands and the system maximum demand.

Contrary to the AER's suggestion in its Draft Determination, Powercor Australia's forecasts for 2006-08 zone substation maximum demand were **below** the actual level over the period. As shown in Table 4.3 below, the actual maximum demand (unadjusted for weather) in Powercor Australia's zone substations in the period 2006-10 was, on average, 104.3 per cent of its forecast.

Total ZSS maximum demand (MW)	2006	2007	2008	2009	2010
Forecast (50% PoE) ¹⁹⁴	2,045	2,101	2,155	2,204	2,254
Actual (unadjusted for weather)195	2,073	2,148	2,244	2,347	2,330
Actual relative to forecast	101.4%	102.2%	104.1%	110.6%	103.4%

Table 4.3 Powercor Australia's zone substation maximum demand forecasts relative to actual maximum demand

Far from suggesting that Powercor Australia's methodology for forecasting spatial maximum demand is unreliable, a proper comparison of Powercor Australia's forecasts of maximum demand for 2006-08 and actual maximum demand demonstrates the accuracy and reliability of Powercor Australia's forecasting methodology.

Further, Powercor Australia's 2010 actual maximum demand figures are consistent with the maximum demand forecasts included in the Initial Regulatory Proposal. Powercor Australia's total forecast zone substation maximum demand

¹⁹² The AER indicated in an email from Lawrence Irlam to Powercor Australia on 16 June 2010 that it relied on the forecasts 'from the ESCV's determination (table 4.3 on page 133 of its determination)'. ¹⁹³ Templeter 10(b) to 10(c) reliable to DSCV's determination (table 4.3 on page 133 of its determination)'.

¹⁹³ Templates 10(b) to 10(e) submitted to the ESCV in the 2006-10 EDPR process by Powercor Australia, 12 November 2004 (Attachment 48 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal) show that the figures cited by the ESCV on p133 of its EDPR 2006-10 (Volume 1) (Attachment 31 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal) are the sum of the peak demand on each feeder.

¹⁹⁴ Templates 10(c) to 10(f) submitted to the ESCV in the 2006-10 EDPR process by Powercor Australia, 12 November 2004 (Attachment 48 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal).

¹⁹⁵ See Revised Regulatory Template 6.3. Powercor Australia notes that it only has temperature adjusted actual maximum demand data at the zone substation level for 2010 (and not for preceding years).

was 2254 MW in 2010, while actual maximum demand was 2330 MW (103 per cent of the forecast).¹⁹⁶

Powercor Australia does not consider that ACIL Tasman's forecasts of maximum demand are an appropriate substitute for Powercor Australia's forecasts. ACIL Tasman placed undue reliance on the November 2009 NIEIR maximum demand forecasts for 2011-15, which as noted above, Powercor Australia did not review for data accuracy. As discussed in more detail below, NIEIR's November 2009 maximum demand forecasts are not reliable.

Powercor Australia also notes that, while it has provided historical figures for zone substation coincident maximum demand in Revised Regulatory Template 6.3, the AER should exercise caution in using these figures for any trend analysis. The independent expert engaged by Powercor Australia, SKM, concluded that raw coincidence factors **cannot** be used as a reliable estimate for either individual non-coincident zone substation maximum demands or summated zone substation non-coincident maximum demand for 2011-15.¹⁹⁷

Finally, for completeness, Powercor Australia notes that ACIL Tasman's assertion that Powercor Australia indicated that maximum demand in its distribution area is generally driven by water pumping is incorrect.¹⁹⁸ Rather, what Powercor Australia indicated in discussions with ACIL Tasman was that the maximum demand of some rural zone substations was subject to the variability of water pumping load.

4.4.3.2 Top down reconciliation

The AER's top down reconciliation of Powercor Australia's forecast maximum demand forecasts with NIEIR's maximum demand forecasts does not result in realistic forecasts of maximum demand. This is because the reconciliation was conducted using NIEIR's maximum demand forecasts of November 2009, which were based on data containing errors and data which is no longer current.

In responding to the concerns raised by the AER, however, Powercor Australia has conducted a top-down reconciliation of its internal spatial demand forecasts with NIEIR's updated system maximum demand forecasts and adjusted its internally prepared spatial demand forecasts so that they are consistent with NIEIR's updated forecasts of maximum demand.

NIEIR's maximum demand forecasts

As noted above, NIEIR's most recent system level maximum demand forecasts for the next regulatory control period are attached to this Revised Regulatory

¹⁹⁶ Revised Regulatory Template 6.3 (Tables 11 and 21). Powercor Australia observes that actual 2010 maximum demand data is now available. Accordingly, actual summer 2009-10 maximum demand data has been used to complete the '2010' column in Revised Regulatory Template 6.3 Tables 17 and 21 (despite the fact the heading of this column is 'Estimate').

¹⁹⁷ SKM, CitiPower/Powercor Demand Forecasts, 8 July 2010 (Attachment 50 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p34.

¹⁹⁸ ACIL Tasman, Victorian Electricity Distribution Price Review, Review of maximum demand forecasts, 19 April 2010, p68.

Proposal.¹⁹⁹ Powercor Australia submits that NIEIR's updated demand forecasts are reasonable because they:

- are based on data corrected for errors in the data underpinning the original forecasts;
- were prepared using a reasonable methodology; and
- are based on reasonable input assumptions.

The data underpinning NIEIR's original forecasts was incomplete as it did not reflect the following recent events related to recorded 2009 maximum demand (which forms the starting point for the 2010-15 forecasts):

- rearrangement of 66kV supply point (BLTS-BHM);
- rearrangement of 66kV supply point data (ATS-WBE); and
- commissioning of a small embedded generator in the Shepparton area.

The impact of this additional data provided to NIEIR (and the impact they had on NIEIR's recorded maximum demand for 2009) are set out in Table 4.4 below.

	MW
NIEIR November 2009 recorded system maximum demand	2,299
Recent rearrangement of 66kV supply point (BLTS-BHM)	29
Recent rearrangement of 66kV supply point (ATS-WBE)	41
Recently commissioned small embedded generator in the Shepparton area	1
Net HV feeder cross boundary supply to other DNSPs	7
Updated NIEIR Powercor Australia 2009 system maximum demand	2,377

Table 4.4 Impact of corrected data on NIEIR's recorded maximum demand

Regarding NIEIR's methodology, the AER's own consultant, ACIL Tasman, concluded that NIEIR's approach to forecasting maximum demand includes a number of features that are necessary and desirable in any maximum demand forecasting process and is generally sound.²⁰⁰ As a result, ACIL Tasman did not recommend the use of an alternative model. In addition, given NIEIR's demand forecasting methodology relies on many of the same models as are used in the energy consumption forecasting process, Powercor Australia observes that many of Frontier's positive findings regarding NIEIR's energy consumption forecasting methodology also apply equally to NIEIR's maximum demand forecasting methodology.²⁰¹

¹⁹⁹ NIEIR, Maximum summer demand forecasts for Powercor Australia to 2020, June 2010 (Attachment 43 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal).

²⁰⁰ ACIL Tasman, Victorian Electricity Distribution Price Review, Review of maximum demand forecasts, 19 April 2010, p19.

²⁰¹ These findings are set out in Frontier's report, Review of NIEIR's methodology for forecasting electricity consumption, April 2010, provided to the AER on 28 April 2010. As Powercor Australia did not rely on NIEIR's forecasts of maximum demand in preparing its Initial Regulatory Proposal, Powercor Australia did not engage Frontier to prepare a similar report in respect of NIEIR's maximum demand forecasting methodology.
The AER therefore has sufficient material before it to conclude that NIEIR's maximum demand forecasting methodology is reasonable and should be so satisfied on the basis of that material.

Given the consistency between the input assumptions made by NIEIR in forecasting energy consumption and maximum demand, the concerns of ACIL Tasman and the AER relating to NIEIR's population and economic growth assumptions in the energy consumption context also arose in the context of maximum demand. As noted above in respect of NIEIR's energy consumption forecasts NIEIR's updated forecasts address these concerns as follows:

- NIEIR assumes average population growth of 1.4 per cent across Victoria in the next regulatory control period,²⁰² which is consistent with the ABS' 'series B' population forecast that ACIL Tasman recommended; and
- NIEIR's updated economic growth forecasts reflect recent economic conditions.²⁰³

Similarly, while, as noted above, the AER raised concerns regarding NIEIR's assumptions in respect of the CPRS, NIEIR's revised maximum demand forecasts assume that the CPRS will be delayed to 1 January 2013.²⁰⁴

ACIL Tasman and the AER also expressed concerns in respect of the post model adjustments made by NIEIR to its maximum demand forecasts for three policies:²⁰⁵

- the insulation rebate program;
- the one watt standby target; and
- the AMI roll-out. •

Powercor Australia considers that each of these adjustments reflected in NIEIR's revised forecasts are reasonable.²⁰⁶ This is because, as noted above in respect of the post model adjustments to energy consumption forecasts:

- Frontier has demonstrated that, despite the cancellation of the insulation rebate program, the take up of insulation prior to the cancellation indicates that some impact should be taken into account. NIEIR's updated maximum demand forecasts reflect the Federal Government's discontinuation of the scheme.
- It is realistic to assume a one watt standby target will arise in the next • regulatory control period, and it is appropriate to make an adjustment to forecasts to account for this (provided the impact of existing policies is

²⁰² NIEIR, Maximum summer demand forecasts for Powercor Australia to 2020, June 2010 (Attachment 43 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p21. ²⁰³ NIEIR, Maximum summer demand forecasts for Powercor Australia to 2020, June 2010 (Attachment 43

to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), pp2-28.

²⁰⁴ NIEIR, Electricity sales and customer numbers for the Powercor Australia region to 2019, June 2010 (Attachment 34 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p9. ²⁰⁵ ACIL Tasman, Victorian Electricity Distribution Price Review, Review of maximum demand forecasts,

¹⁹ April 2010, pp30-33, 39-44; AER, Draft Determination, pp120-1, and 147-55.

²⁰⁶ Powercor Australia observes that it did not seek a report from Frontier regarding the quantum of NIEIR's policy adjustments to its maximum demand forecasts because it did not rely primarily on NIEIR's forecasts in preparing its Initial Regulatory Proposal.

accounted for). NIEIR has recognised existing standby targets in preparing its maximum demand forecasts.²⁰⁷

• It is reasonable to assume that TOU Tariffs will be introduced by Powercor Australia in the next regulatory control period, and NIEIR's assumption that TOU Tariffs will be introduced in 2013 is a conservative estimate of the likely timing of the Tariffs.²⁰⁸ Further, the 'impediments to the implementation of AMI and TOU' raised by ACIL Tasman and the AER are not borne out in the evidence presented. Finally, for the reasons outlined above, Powercor Australia rejects the AER's assertion that NIEIR was inconsistent in its assessment of the impact of TOU Tariffs on energy consumption and maximum demand.

Powercor Australia notes that it is realistic to expect the impact on maximum demand forecasts from TOU Tariffs to be smaller than the impact on energy consumption. Powercor Australia's TOU Tariffs would likely spread the peak period across five or six hours.²⁰⁹ The reduction in maximum demand as a result of TOU Tariffs spread over several hours would be minimal. Peak demand energy consumption is typically more responsive to pricing structures involving critical peak pricing. Powercor Australia is not proposing such a structure.

In addition, the AER's findings in respect of the impact of weather on maximum demand are incorrect. In its Draft Determination, the AER stated the following:²¹⁰

'While the AER is cognisant that maximum demand may be more sensitive to temperature rather than TOU, weather impacts are typically in the context of a 50 PoE temperature (approximately an average of 29 degrees). Contrary to NIEIR's assumption that customers would (largely) ignore prices at such temperatures and activate air conditioning as per normal, a more plausible outcome is that, in light o the education around TOU tariffs, customers would choose to adjust the thermostat on their air conditioners to a higher temperature (for example, 23 degrees instead of 21 degrees Celsius) and this is likely to result in a reduction in maximum demand.'

The AER does not provide any basis for its conclusions. Powercor Australia considers that, in circumstances where consumers have invested in installing an air conditioning unit, the additional cost associated with running the air conditioner in peak periods on days where the temperature is at or above 29 degrees is relative insignificant. Consumers are therefore likely to continue to use air conditioners at these times, indeed, they are particularly likely to use air conditioners at these times. Therefore, regardless of whether the peak tariff periods coincide with peak demand periods, TOU Tariffs are unlikely to have an impact on maximum demand because maximum demand is more sensitive to

²⁰⁷ NIEIR, Maximum summer demand forecasts for Powercor Australia to 2020, June 2010 (Attachment 43 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p44.

²⁰⁸ NIEIR, Maximum summer demand forecasts for Powercor Australia to 2020, June 2010 (Attachment 43 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p55.

²⁰⁹ CitiPower and Powercor Australia, Presentation to AMI retailers forum, Network Tariffs, Considered tariffs for 2011-15 price review period, 13 July 2010 (Attachment 45 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), slides 2, 3 and 7.

²¹⁰ AER, Draft Determination, p149.

weather than TOU Tariffs. Powercor Australia also observes that the AER has not presented any evidence that peak demand would be reduced as a result of consumers switching air conditioners from 21 degrees to 23 degrees and it is not clear that this would be the result.

For the reasons outlined above, any reconciliation of its spatial demand forecasts should be with NIEIR's updated maximum demand forecasts.

Methodology for reconciliation

The method adopted by Powercor Australia to reconcile its maximum spatial demand forecasts with the updated NIEIR system maximum demand forecasts is as follows:

- 1. By reference to SKM's expert report on Powercor Australia's maximum demand forecasts, CitiPower / Powercor Demand Forecasts, 8 July 2010, confirm if a reasonably reliable ratio can be established between the historical non-coincident zone substation maximum demands and Powercor Australia's network maximum demand.
- 2. Compare the 2011-15 zone substation non-coincident 50 per cent PoE maximum demand forecasts (Revised Regulatory Template 6.3, Table 21) with the NIEIR's 50 per cent PoE system maximum demand forecasts (Revised Regulatory Template 6.3, Table 12).
- 3. Test if the ratio observed in step 2 is within the 90 per cent confidence level of the ratio set out by SKM in its report CitiPower / Powercor Demand Forecasts, 8 July 2010.
- 4. If ratio is significantly outside the 90 per cent confidence level set out by SKM, revise the spatial forecasts such that the annual ratio between the zone substation non-coincident forecasts is within the 90 per cent confidence level.

SKM's analysis indicated a mean value of, 0.9403 with a 90 per cent confidence interval of ± -0.048 (i.e. a range of 0.8923 to 0.9883).²¹¹

The zone substation non-coincident forecasts from the Initial Regulatory Proposal were found to be outside the 90 per cent confidence levels established by SKM. NIEIR's forecasts indicated that Powercor Australia's zone substation forecasts were lower than they should be.

Accordingly, Powercor Australia adjusted its zone substation non-coincident forecasts to ensure the ratios with NIEIR's updated system level forecasts were within the 90 per cent confidence interval established by SKM. Individual zone substation adjustments were made by Powercor Australia as follows:

• The selected zone substations were identified from known high commercial and residential growth areas, where load growth is forecast to continue due to local economic development and government support. These areas include the growth corridor in the outer western suburbs of Melbourne, and

²¹¹ SKM, CitiPower/Powercor Demand Forecasts, 8 July 2010 (Attachment 50 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p23.

growth corridors in Geelong (including the Armstrong Creek major subdivision), Ballarat, Shepparton and Bendigo.

- The non-coincident load forecast was then increased by a small percentage on these targeted zone substations until the summated non-coincident zone substation forecast was within the 90 per cent confidence level.
- The adjusted non-coincident forecasts were then checked to confirm the new load growth was reasonable.

Powercor Australia's revised maximum spatial demand forecasts (including the adjustments made following the reconciliation with NIEIR's updated system peak demand forecasts) are shown in Appendix 4.1. The final ratios (based on Powercor Australia's adjusted maximum demand forecasts) are shown in Table 4.5 below. Table 4.5 shows that Powercor Australia's ratios are well within the 90 per cent confidence interval established by SKM.

50% PoE Forecasts (MW)	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015
NIEIR system ²¹²	2,385	2,483	2,596	2,695	2,780
Powercor Australia one substation non- coincident ²¹³	2,457	2,532	2,627	2,722	2,823
Ratio	0.971	0.981	0.988	0.990	0.985

 Table 4.5 Reconciliation of NIEIR system maximum demand forecasts and Powercor Australia's non-coincident maximum demand forecasts, 50% PoE

The forecasts from Table 4.5 are illustrated in Figure 4.3 below, together with actual maximum demand from 2006-10.



Figure 4.3 NIEIR system maximum demand forecasts and Powercor Australia's non-coincident zone substation maximum demand forecasts, 50% PoE

²¹² Revised Regulatory Template 6.3 (Table 12).

²¹³ Revised Regulatory Template 6.3 (Table 21).

4.4.4 Powercor Australia's Revised Regulatory Proposal

The maximum demand forecasts included in Powercor Australia's Revised Regulatory Proposal are set out in Table 4.6 below.

	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015
Maximum demand (MW)	2,481	2,557	2,652	2,747	2,848

 Table 4.6 Maximum demand forecasts included in the Revised Regulatory Proposal

4.5 Customer number forecasts

4.5.1 Powercor Australia's Initial Regulatory Proposal

In its Initial Regulatory Proposal, Powercor Australia adopted the customer number forecasts prepared by NIEIR which are set out in the report entitled *Electricity sales and customer number projections for the Powercor Australia region to 2019*.²¹⁴

Powercor Australia used NIEIR's customer number forecasts to prepare its new customer connection capex forecasts and to calculate the scale escalator applied to its opex forecasts.

4.5.2 AER's Draft Determination

ACIL Tasman did not reach a conclusion as to the reasonableness of the customer number forecasts reflected in Powercor Australia's Initial Regulatory Proposal.²¹⁵

While ACIL Tasman recommended that NIEIR's energy consumption forecasts be re-estimated with the ABS' 'series B' population forecasts as an input, ACIL Tasman noted that it would not expect to see a substantial change in NIEIR's customer number forecasts if they were re-estimated with ACIL Tasman's preferred population forecasts.²¹⁶

The AER found that NIEIR's forecasts predict a continuation of recent historical trends, which the AER considered was reasonable.²¹⁷ The AER went on, however, to state that:²¹⁸

'The AER notes that the factors affecting GSP and population growth forecasts are also likely to affect NIEIR's customer number forecasts and therefore expects these will all be updated for the Victorian DNSPs' revised proposals.'

4.5.3 Powercor Australia's response to the AER's Draft Determination

Powercor Australia's Revised Regulatory Proposal reflects the updated forecasts prepared by NIEIR, which are set out in its report, Electricity sales and customer

²¹⁴ Attachment P0005 to the Initial Regulatory Proposal.

²¹⁵ ACIL Tasman, Victorian Electricity Distribution Price Review, Review of electricity sales and customer numbers forecasts, Final report, 11 May 2010, pp58-9.

²¹⁶ ACIL Tasman, Victorian Electricity Distribution Price Review, Review of electricity sales and customer numbers forecasts, Final report, 11 May 2010, p59.

²¹⁷ AER, Draft Determination, p99.

²¹⁸ AER, Draft Determination, p99. The AER reiterated its position on page 156 of the Draft Determination.

number projections for the Powercor Australia region to 2019, June 2010.²¹⁹ Powercor Australia considers that the AER can be satisfied NIEIR's customer numbers forecasts for the next regulatory control period are reasonable because the macro-economic indicators used in the model to develop the forecasts included:

- population growth forecast across Victoria in the next regulatory control period of 1.4 per cent, which is consistent with the ABS' 'series B' population growth forecast that ACIL Tasman and the AER recommended be used; and
- updated forecasts of economic growth, which, for the reasons outlined earlier in this Chapter are reasonable.

4.5.4 Powercor Australia's Revised Regulatory Proposal

The customer numbers forecasts included in Powercor Australia's Revised Regulatory Proposal are set out in Table 4.7 below.

	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015
Customer numbers	717,745	731,603	745,570	759,343	772,544

 Table 4.7 Customer numbers forecasts included in the Revised Regulatory Proposal

4.6 Powercor Australia's Revised Regulatory Proposal

In preparing its Revised Regulatory Proposal, Powercor Australia has used the forecasts of energy consumption, maximum demand and customer numbers set out in Table 4.8.

	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015
Energy consumption (GWh)	10,718	10,763	10,712	10,666	10,691
Maximum demand (MW) ²²⁰	2,481	2,557	2,652	2,747	2,848
Customer numbers	717,745	731,603	745,570	759,343	772,544

 Table 4.8 Powercor Australia's energy consumption, maximum demand and customer numbers forecasts for

 2011-15 included in the Revised Regulatory Proposal

²¹⁹ NIEIR, Electricity sales and customer numbers for the Powercor Australia region to 2019, June 2010 (Attachment 34 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), pp100-1 (Tables 8.8 and 8.9).

²²⁰ Summation of non-coincident zone substation and 22kV terminal station points of supply, maximum demands.

5. OUTSOURCING ARRANGEMENTS

In this Chapter of the Revised Regulatory Proposal, Powercor Australia responds to the findings in Chapter 6 of, and section H.2 of Appendix H to, the AER's Draft Determination in respect of expenditure payable by Powercor Australia under its outsourcing arrangements. In particular, this Chapter responds to the AER's decision to exclude the margin payable by Powercor Australia under its outsourcing arrangements from the derivation of its forecast opex and capex for the 2011-15 regulatory control period.

5.1 Summary of key points

For the reasons cited by the AER in the Draft Determination, Powercor Australia accepts the following of the AER conclusions in the Draft Determination:

- the margin payable by Powercor Australia under the aforementioned contracts should be **excluded** from the calculation of the efficiency carry over mechanism amounts for the period 2006-09; and
- the margin payable by Powercor Australia under the aforementioned contracts should be **included** in the 2006-09 actual capex that is used in RAB roll forward calculation.

In addition, for the purposes of this Revised Regulatory Proposal only, Powercor Australia does not contest the AER's decision in the Draft Determination to exclude the administration fee payable by Powercor Australia under the DRMS with CHED Services from its expenditure forecasts for the 2011-15 regulatory control period and from the calculation of the EBSS carry over amounts for 2011-15.²²¹

However, Powercor Australia does not accept the AER's decision in the Draft Determination to exclude the margins payable under its Corporate Services Agreement with CHED Services, its Network Services Agreement with PNS and its Electrical Network Communications Agreement and Corporate Communications Agreement with Silk Telecom, from its opex and capex forecasts for the 2011-15 regulatory control period and from the calculation of the EBSS carry over amounts for 2011-15.

Powercor Australia maintains that the AER should accept the forecasts of total opex and capex included in this Revised Regulatory Proposal without making any adjustment to reduce the expenditure payable by Powercor Australia to CHED Services under the Corporate Services Agreement, PNS under the Network Services Agreement and Silk Telecom under the Electrical Network Communications Agreement and Corporate Communications Agreement to exclude margins. More specifically, Powercor Australia maintains that:

• its forecast expenditure inclusive of the margins payable to CHED Services, PNS and Silk Telecom under these Agreements satisfies the opex and capex criteria;

²²¹ Powercor Australia observes that, as discussed in detail in section 5.5.3 below, the administration fee payable to CHED Services under the DRMS was not included in the expenditure forecasts for the 2011-15 regulatory control period proposed in Powercor Australia's Initial Regulatory Proposal.

- the margins payable under these Agreements with CHED Services, PNS and Silk Telecom should be included in its opex and capex forecasts for the 2011-15 regulatory control period; and
- the margins payable under these Agreements with CHED Services, PNS and Silk Telecom should be included in the calculation of the EBSS carry over amounts for the 2011-15 regulatory control period.

In particular, Powercor Australia maintains that the AER must accept its forecast expenditure under the Corporate Services Agreement with CHED Services, the Network Services Agreement with PNS and the Electrical Network Communications Agreement and Corporate Communications Agreement with Silk Telecom, including the implied margins, without adjustment because:

- the opex and capex criteria, properly construed, do not permit the AER to reduce a DNSP's total expenditure forecasts, for example to exclude margins under outsourcing arrangements, below the efficient costs of achieving the opex and capex objectives; and
- benchmarking analysis conducted by NERA and SKM establishes that Powercor Australia's forecast opex for 2011-15 set out in its Initial Regulatory Proposal and its unit rates for capital works employed in forecasting capex for 2011-15 in its Initial Regulatory Proposal and this Revised Regulatory Proposal, inclusive of any implied margins incurred under the Corporate Services Agreement with CHED Services, the Network Services Agreement with PNS and the Electrical Network Communications Agreement and Corporate Communications Agreement with Silk Telecom, are efficiently incurred.

In addition, Powercor Australia maintains that the AER must accept its forecast expenditure under the Corporate Services Agreement with CHED Services and the Network Services Agreement with PNS, including the implied margins, without adjustment because:

- Contrary to the AER's conclusion, the decision by CitiPower and Powercor Australia to adopt their current service model, under which they pay a margin to CHED Services and PNS, was prudent at the time of that decision and remains prudent if assessed with the benefit of hindsight.
- The expenditure incurred under the Corporate Services Agreement with CHED Services and the Network Services Agreement with PNS inclusive of margins is prudent and efficient because:
 - the NEL and the Rules, properly construed and applied, require the AER to adopt the stand-alone, in-house cost of service provision (and do not permit the AER to adopt the costs that would be incurred by the group to which the DNSP belongs) as the benchmark or counterfactual for assessing forecast opex and capex under outsourcing arrangements that fail the 'presumption threshold'; and
 - the expenditure incurred under the Corporate Services Agreement with CHED Services and the Network Services Agreement with

PNS inclusive of margins is lower than the stand-alone, in-house cost of service provision.

• Even if (contrary to Powercor Australia's contentions) the AER maintains its view that the Rules permit it to consider the costs that would be incurred by the group rather than the individual DNSP, Powercor Australia would nonetheless maintain that the margins payable under the Corporate Services Agreement and the Network Services Agreement should be included, at least in part, in its expenditure forecasts for 2011-15 because:

- the AER cannot, acting reasonably, take into account efficiencies accruing to a contractor from the provision of services to third parties in circumstances where the AER must exclude the costs associated with the provision of unregulated services from allowed opex and capex; and
- PNS derived a significant portion of its revenue in 2009 from the supply of services to third parties.
- The margins payable under the Corporate Services Agreement with CHED Services and the Network Services Agreement with PNS reflect the margins that would be expected to be agreed to by parties operating on an arm's length basis because:
 - contrary to the AER's conclusion, Ernst & Young's analysis of the profit on direct and indirect costs earned by companies providing comparable services to third parties is just as relevant in an economic regulatory context as in a taxation context; and
 - the benchmark margins calculated by Ernst & Young in this manner were adopted as the margins payable under the Corporate Services Agreement and the Network Services Agreement.
- The AER should take additional comfort that the Corporate Services Agreement and the Network Services Agreement were not entered into for the purposes of transfer pricing or to otherwise agree to non arm's length terms from the following:
 - $\circ\;$ the non-price terms and conditions of the Agreements are of an arm's length nature; and
 - the Agreements accord CHED Services and PNS with appropriate incentives and ensure that the benefits of any cost savings are passed through to Powercor Australia and, in turn, users.

5.2 Rule requirements

The AER's assessment and treatment of a DNSP's forecast opex and capex for a regulatory control period is governed by:

- the NEO and the revenue and pricing principles set out in the NEL; and
- the provisions of the Rules governing the AER's assessment of total opex and capex forecasts set out in the building block proposal in the DNSP's regulatory proposal.

These limitations on the AER's assessment of a DNSP's opex and capex forecasts are discussed, in turn, below.

5.2.1 Relevant NEL provisions

When making the Final Determination, the AER is required to take into account the NEO and the revenue and pricing principles in the NEL.

The NEO is set out in section 7 of the NEL. The revenue and pricing principles are set out in section 7A of the NEL. The revenue and pricing principles include, in particular, section 7A(2) which provides as follows:

A regulated network service provider should be provided with a reasonable opportunity to recover at least the efficient costs the operator incurs in—

- (a) providing direct control network services; and
- *(b) complying with a regulatory obligation or requirement or making a regulatory payment.'*

5.2.2 Relevant provisions of the Rules

The AER's assessment of outsourcing arrangements must be undertaken in accordance with those Rules that govern the assessment of a DNSP's opex and capex forecasts. The rules pertaining to forecast opex are set out in clause 6.5.6 of the Rules while the rules pertaining to forecast capex are set out in clause 6.5.7.

Clause 6.5.6(c) of the Rules requires the AER to accept the forecast of required opex that is included by a DNSP in its building block proposal if:

'...the AER is satisfied that the total of the forecast operating expenditure for the regulatory control period reasonably reflects:

- (1) the efficient costs of achieving the operating expenditure objectives; and
- (2) the costs that a prudent operator in the circumstances of the relevant Distribution Network Service Provider would require to achieve the operating expenditure objectives; and
- (3) *a realistic expectation of the demand forecast and cost inputs required to achieve the* operating expenditure objectives.

(the operating expenditure criteria).'

The 'operating expenditure objectives' are set out in clause 6.5.6(a) of the Rules.

It is only if the AER is not satisfied that the total opex for the regulatory control period reasonably reflects the opex criteria that the AER may reject the DNSP's forecast opex and itself estimate the total of the DNSP's required opex for the regulatory control period that the AER is satisfied reasonably reflects the opex criteria, taking into account the opex factors (clauses 6.5.6(d) & 6.12.1(4)).

In deciding whether or not the AER is satisfied that the total opex for the regulatory control period reasonably reflects the opex criteria, the AER must consider the matters set out in clause 6.5.6(e), referred to as the 'operating

expenditure factors'. Of relevance to the AER's assessment of outsourcing arrangements are the following 'operating expenditure factors':

- '(4) benchmark operating expenditure that would be incurred by an *efficient* Distribution Network Service Provider *over the* regulatory control period;
- •••
- (9) the extent the forecast of required operating expenditure of the Distribution Network Service Provider is referable to arrangements with a person other than the provider that, in the opinion of the AER, do not reflect arm's length terms.'

Clauses 6.5.7 and 6.12.1(3) of the Rules contain analogous provisions in respect of the AER's assessment of a DNSP's forecast capex.

5.3 Powercor Australia's Initial Regulatory Proposal

Within its Initial Regulatory Proposal, Powercor Australia noted that it had sought to adopt a service model that would enable it to better focus on its long term asset ownership and performance²²² and that, in doing so, it had entered into the following arrangements with related entities:

- Corporate Services Agreement this Agreement was entered into in 2008 with CHED Services. Under the terms of this Agreement, CHED Services provides specialist corporate services to Powercor Australia, including the Chief Executive Officer, Finance, the Company Secretary, Legal, Human Resources, Corporate Affairs, Regulation, Customer Services, Information Technology and Office Administration;
- Network Services Agreement this Agreement was entered into in 2008 with PNS. Under the terms of this Agreement, PNS provides construction and maintenance services, including customer and connection services, asset replacement maintenance services, asset performance (fault services) and network development services to Powercor Australia; and
- DRMS this Scheme was put in place in 2004. Under the terms of the Scheme, CHED Services provides in-fill insurance cover to Powercor Australia in respect of motor vehicle insurance and amounts below the policy deductibles for the following external insurance policies: liability insurance; and property insurance.

Powercor Australia considered these arrangements were efficient on the basis that:

- they complied with principles established by Powercor Australia's Board for the engagement of related parties;²²³
- the margins under the arrangements were paid in accordance with arm's length transfer prices determined by independent expert, Ernst & Young;²²⁴ and

²²² Initial Regulatory Proposal, p365.

²²³ Initial Regulatory Proposal, p363.

• independent advice from KPMG indicated that had Powercor Australia delivered its nominated services for the year ended 31 December 2008 on an in-house stand alone basis, the cost of service delivery would have been per cent higher than the comparable actual direct costs incurred in that year.²²⁵

5.4 AER's Draft Determination

Chapter 6 of the AER's Draft Determination sets out both its:

- proposed two stage inquiry process for assessing outsourcing contracts; and
- assessment of the outsourcing arrangements entered into by each DNSP.

Section H.2 of Appendix H to the Draft Determination sets out the AER's detailed assessment of Powercor Australia's outsourcing arrangements.

5.4.1 Summary of AER's Findings

Based on its assessment of each of Powercor Australia's outsourcing agreements, the AER concluded in its Draft Determination that the margins payable under the following arrangements entered into by Powercor Australia did not reasonably reflect the opex criteria and the capex criteria set out in clauses 6.5.6(c) and 6.5.7(c) of the Rules respectively:

- the Corporate Services Agreement with CHED Services;
- the Network Services Agreement with PNS;
- the DRMS with CHED Services; and
- the Electrical Network Communications Agreement and Corporate Communications Agreement with Silk Telecom.

Having formed this view the AER excluded the margins payable by Powercor Australia under these arrangements from the calculation of:

- forecast opex and capex for the 2011-15 regulatory control period;²²⁶ and
- the EBSS carry over amounts for the 2011-15 regulatory control period.²²⁷

In addition, the AER excluded the margins payable by Powercor Australia under these arrangements from actual opex for 2006-09 in calculating the efficiency carry over amounts arising from the 2006-09 regulatory period to be carried forward for 2011-15. The AER did so because this is necessary to allow a 'like for like' comparison with the ESCV's opex forecasts for 2006-09, not on the basis of its assessment of those arrangements in its Draft Determination.²²⁸

Further, while the AER excluded the margin from the calculation of the items referred to above, the margin payable for capex over the period 2006-09 was **retained** in the RAB roll forward calculation. The AER retained these margins

²²⁴ Initial Regulatory Proposal, pp357-8.

²²⁵ KPMG, The efficiencies of the Powercor Service Model, October 2009 (Attachment P0053 to the Initial Regulatory Proposal), p11.

²²⁶ AER, Draft Determination, section 6.6.1, pp191-2; AER, Draft Determination Appendices, Appendix H, section H.2, pp25-33.

²²⁷ AER, Draft Determination, section 6.5.8, p190.

²²⁸ AER, Draft Determination, section 6.5.6, p188.

because it (correctly) conceded that this is required by clause 6.2.1(e)(1) of the Rules.²²⁹

The remainder of this section provides an overview of the AER's two stage assessment framework and the conclusions reached by the AER on Powercor Australia's outsourcing arrangements.

5.4.2 AER's two stage assessment framework

Sections 6.5.1 to 6.5.4 of the Draft Determination describe the AER's two stage approach to the assessment of outsourcing arrangements. Figure 5.1 below provides a summary of the pertinent features of the AER's proposed framework.

At its most elementary this framework consists of a two stage inquiry process, which in the first stage involves distinguishing between those contracts entered into by a regulated service provider that can be presumed to *'reflect efficient costs and costs that would be incurred by a prudent operator'* and those that cannot (referred to as the 'presumption threshold'). This assessment requires consideration to be given to the following questions:²³⁰

- Did the DNSP have an incentive to enter into a non-arm's length contract at the time the contract was negotiated (or at its most recent renegotiation)? Circumstances that the AER has noted could give rise to an incentive to enter into such arrangements include:²³¹
 - where the parties to the contract were related at the time the contract was negotiated (or re-negotiated);
 - \circ where the contract was entered into as part of a broader transaction; or
 - where the contractor conferred some form of benefit on the regulated service provider in return for it agreeing to pay an artificially inflated price.
- If a DNSP is found to have such an incentive, then the second question that must be addressed is whether the contract was the subject of an open tender process conducted in a competitive market to obtain the contract. Where a DNSP is found to have had an incentive to enter into a non-arm's length contract and the contract was not subject to an open tender process, then the contract is treated as having failed the 'presumption threshold'.

²²⁹ AER, Draft Determination, section 6.5.7, pp188-90.

²³⁰ AER, Draft Determination, p170.

²³¹ AER, Draft Determination, p170.





The second stage of the AER's framework requires a more detailed review of the contracts entered into by the DNSP to determine whether the margin payable under a contract should be included when deriving the DNSP's forecast opex and/or capex. Under the AER's proposed approach a distinction has been drawn between the manner in which margins will be treated in those contracts that pass the 'presumption threshold' and those that do not:²³²

'In summary, the AER's approach involves the following assessment:

- where a contract passes the presumption threshold the 'starting point' for setting future expenditure allowances should be the contract price itself, with limited further examination required. This further examination involves checking whether the contract wholly relates to the relevant services (for example, .standard [sic] control services) and whether the (efficiently presumed) contract price already compensates for risks or costs provided for elsewhere in the building blocks.
- where a contract fails the presumption threshold the 'starting point' for setting future expenditure allowances should be the contractor's actual costs itself, with a 'margin' above this level permitted only where the service provider is able to establish the efficiency and prudency of such a margin against legitimate economic reasons for the inclusion of the margin (including its quantum).'

Those factors cited by the AER as being 'legitimate' and therefore warranting the payment of an amount in excess of the contractor's directly incurred costs, in circumstances where the contract fails the presumption threshold, include:²³³

- the allowance required to enable the contractor to recover a 'reasonable allocation' of its common costs;
- the return on and of capital required to compensate the contractor for the use of assets that are employed in the provision of services to the DNSP that are owned by the contractor and are not included in the DNSP's RAB; and
- the allowance required by the contractor to self insure against asymmetric risks arising under the contract provided that these risks are not reflected elsewhere in the DNSP's building block proposal.

The AER concluded that, with the exception of any future expected but currently unrealised efficiencies accruing in the forthcoming (i.e. 2011-15) regulatory control period, scale, scope and other efficiencies do not warrant the payment of an amount in excess of the contractor's directly incurred costs for two reasons as follows:

- First, the AER reasoned that:²³⁴
 - \circ it is permitted by the Rules, in particular by the prudency criterion that is one of the three opex and capex criteria, to assess forecasts

²³² AER, Draft Determination, p169.

²³³ AER, Draft Determination, pp.180-2, 186.

²³⁴ AER, Draft Determination, pp178-9.

having regard to the costs that would be incurred by the group to which the DNSP belongs rather than the costs that would be incurred if the services were provided on a 'fully in-sourced, standalone' basis; and

- efficiencies, such as merger synergies, should be retained for a period of time by the DNSP but eventually passed through to consumers.
- Secondly, the AER reasoned that:²³⁵
 - pricing under outsourcing arrangements is efficient if that pricing is set in a workably competitive market through an open, competitive tender process or mimics pricing outcomes that would prevail in a workably competitive market; and
 - 'in a workably competitive market a contractor could not [charge a premium (i.e. a margin) above its full economic costs and] earn abnormal profits in the long run for efficiencies it has realised in the past'.

Accordingly, the AER's approach to a contractor's scale, scope and other efficiencies is to use the contractor's actual historical costs (both direct and common), including historical and realised efficiencies but ignoring future expected but currently unrealised efficiencies accruing in the forthcoming regulatory control period, in:²³⁶

- assessing whether DNSPs' forecast opex and capex, and forecasting substitute opex and capex that, reasonably reflects the opex and capex criteria; and
- actual opex in the forthcoming regulatory control period used at the end of that period to calculate the EBSS payments for that period.

5.4.3 Assessment of the Corporate Services Agreement

The AER's detailed assessment of the Corporate Services Agreement with CHED Services is set out in section H.2.2 of Appendix H to the Draft Determination.

In summary, the application of the AER's assessment framework to the Corporate Services Agreement prompted it to reach the following conclusions:

- the Agreement did not pass the presumption threshold;
- the margin payable under the Agreement was in excess of CHED Service's common costs and did not relate to a return of or on assets owned by CHED Services; and
- prior to the establishment of CHED Services, the services provided under the Corporate Services Agreement were provided by Powercor Australia to itself and CitiPower 'at cost' and so Powercor Australia could have secured the same economies of scale and scope, and other efficiencies as those available to CHED Services without payment of a margin, with the result

²³⁵ AER, Draft Determination, p182.

²³⁶ AER, Draft Determination, pp182-3.

that no margin would be incurred by a prudent operator in Powercor Australia's circumstances.²³⁷

On the basis of the foregoing, the AER concluded that the margin payable under the Corporate Services Agreement should be **excluded** from the derivation of Powercor Australia's opex and capex forecasts for the 2011-15 regulatory control period.

In this section of the Draft Determination, the AER also considered the relevance of the Ernst & Young reports commissioned by CitiPower and Powercor Australia, which were used to determine the initial margins payable under the Corporate Services Agreement.²³⁸ The AER ultimately concluded that no reliance could be placed on the findings in these reports because differences in the objectives underpinning the tax and economic regulatory regimes meant that it could not be 'assumed that practices which are appropriate in a tax context are always appropriate in an economic regulatory context'.²³⁹

5.4.4 Assessment of the Network Services Agreement

The AER's detailed assessment of the Network Services Agreement with PNS is set out in section H.2.4 of Appendix H to the Draft Determination.

In a similar manner to the Corporate Services Agreement, the application of the AER's framework resulted in the Network Services Agreement being deemed to fail the presumption threshold and the margin payable under this agreement being excluded from Powercor Australia's opex and capex forecasts for 2011-15. The basis for this decision is directly analogous to that set out in the preceding section in respect of the Corporate Services Agreement.²⁴⁰

5.4.5 Assessment of the Discretionary Risk Management Scheme

The AER's detailed assessment of the DRMS with CHED Services is set out in section H.2.3 of Appendix H to the Draft Determination.

The application of the AER's framework to this arrangement led it to conclude that:

• the arrangement failed the presumption threshold; and

²³⁷ AER, Draft Determination, Appendix H, pp26-7.

²³⁸ Ernst & Young, CitiPower Pty and Powercor Australia Limited Analysis of Transfer Prices for Corporate Services, 20 November 2006 (Attachment P0049 to the Initial Regulatory Proposal); Ernst & Young, CitiPower Pty and Powercor Australia Limited Analysis of Transfer Prices for Customer Services (Excluding Metering), 20 November 2006 (Attachment P0050 to the Initial Regulatory Proposal); Ernst & Young, CitiPower Pty and Powercor Australia Limited Analysis of Transfer Prices for IT Services), 20 November 2006 (Attachment P0051 to the Initial Regulatory Proposal); Ernst & Young, CitiPower Pty and Powercor Australia Limited Analysis of Transfer Prices for IT Services), 20 November 2006 (Attachment P0051 to the Initial Regulatory Proposal); Ernst & Young, CitiPower Pty and Powercor Australia Limited Analysis of Transfer Prices for IT Services, 21 May 2009 (Attachment P0052 to the Initial Regulatory Proposal). As discussed in the Initial Regulatory Proposal (at p356), in the May 2009 report by Ernst & Young, it updates the benchmark IT margin previously provided in its November 2006 report in respect of IT services and indicates that there has been little movement in the benchmark IT margin over the intervening period.

²³⁹ AER, Draft Determination, pp187-8 and Appendix H at p26.

²⁴⁰ The relevant Ernst & Young report in respect of the Network Services Agreement with PNS is Ernst & Young, CitiPower Pty and Powercor Australia Limited Analysis of Transfer Prices for Construction and Maintenance Services, 30 November 2006 (Attachment P0048 to the Initial Regulatory Proposal). It was considered by the AER in its Draft Determination in Appendix H at p29.

• the margin payable to CHED Services should be excluded from Powercor Australia's opex forecasts for the 2011-15 regulatory control period because a share of CHED Services' overheads was already included in Powercor Australia's base capex and opex forecasts and CHED Services did not appear to own any assets that were not already included in Powercor Australia's RAB.

In its assessment of this arrangement, the AER noted that the transfer of risk arising under this arrangement from Powercor Australia to CHED Services was not significant given the deductibles only relate to relatively low value amounts.²⁴¹ The AER therefore concluded that, while external insurance providers would charge both an administration fee to cover the insurer's administration costs and a profit margin, the margin payable to CHED Services for the DRMS was not prudent because the arrangement did not deliver *'significant cost-smoothing benefits'* relative to the situation if Powercor Australia retained the risks.²⁴²

5.4.6 Assessment of the Electrical Network Communications Agreement and Corporate Communications Agreement

The AER's detailed assessment of Powercor Australia's Electrical Network Communications Agreement and Corporate Communications Agreement with Silk Telecom is set out in section H.2.8 of Appendix H to the Draft Determination.

While Silk Telecom is no longer related to Powercor Australia, the AER concluded that, because the parties were related at the time the contracts were entered into, the contracts should be treated as having failed the presumption threshold. The AER also considered whether the decision by Powercor Australia not to trigger the contract price review provisions following the change of ownership of Silk Telecom could be viewed as confirming that the prices set within these contracts were those that would have been agreed if the parties were **not** related. The AER concluded, however, that given nature of the contract price review provisions, it could not form such a view. The contracts were therefore treated as having failed the presumption threshold.²⁴³

The AER then considered whether any margin would be warranted for a return on or of assets owned by Silk Telecom, or to enable it to recover a reasonable share of its common costs. On the first of these issues, the AER noted that it was not aware of Silk Telecom owning any assets and so no margin would be required for this reason.²⁴⁴ On the issue of common costs, the AER noted that an unsupported percentage margin above costs for corporate costs was not *'sufficient substantiation that the quantum of corporate costs proposed reasonably reflect efficient costs that would be incurred by a prudent operator'*.²⁴⁵ The AER therefore excluded the margin payable under these arrangements from Powercor Australia's forecast opex and capex for the 2011-15 regulatory control period but left the door open to Powercor Australia to provide evidence to demonstrate that

²⁴¹ AER, Draft Determination Appendices, Appendix H, p28.

²⁴² AER, Draft Determination Appendices, Appendix H, p28.

²⁴³ AER, Draft Determination Appendices, Appendix H, p32.

²⁴⁴ AER, Draft Determination Appendices, Appendix H, p33.

²⁴⁵ AER, Draft Determination Appendices, Appendix H, p33.

some, or all, of the margin payable to Silk Telecom related to its recovery of common costs.

5.5 Powercor Australia's response to the AER's Draft Determination

For the reasons cited by the AER, Powercor Australia accepts the following of the AER conclusions in the Draft Determination:

- the margin payable by Powercor Australia under the aforementioned contracts should be **excluded** from the calculation of the efficiency carry over mechanism amounts for the period 2006-09; and
- the margin payable by Powercor Australia under the aforementioned contracts should be **included** in the 2006-09 actual capex that is used in RAB roll forward calculation.

In addition, for the purposes of this Revised Regulatory Proposal only, Powercor Australia does not contest the AER's decision in the Draft Determination to exclude the administration fee payable by Powercor Australia under the DRMS with CHED Services from its expenditure forecasts for the 2011-15 regulatory control period and from the calculation of the EBSS carry over amounts for 2011-15.²⁴⁶

However, Powercor Australia does not accept the AER's decision in the Draft Determination to exclude the margins payable under its Corporate Services Agreement with CHED Services, its Network Services Agreement with PNS and its Electrical Network Communications Agreement and Corporate Communications Agreement with Silk Telecom, from its opex and capex forecasts for the 2011-15 regulatory control period and from the calculation of the EBSS carry over amounts for 2011-15.

Powercor Australia maintains that the AER should accept the forecasts of total opex and capex included in this Revised Regulatory Proposal without making any adjustment to reduce the expenditure payable by Powercor Australia to CHED Services under the Corporate Services Agreement, PNS under the Network Services Agreement and Silk Telecom under the Electrical Network Communications Agreement and Corporate Communications Agreement to exclude margins. More specifically, Powercor Australia maintains that:

- its forecast expenditure inclusive of the margins payable to CHED Services, PNS and Silk Telecom under these Agreements satisfies the opex and capex criteria;
- the margins payable under these Agreements with CHED Services, PNS and Silk Telecom should be included in its opex and capex forecasts for the 2011-15 regulatory control period; and

²⁴⁶ Powercor Australia observes that, as discussed in detail in section 5.5.3 below, the administration fee payable to CHED Services under the DRMS was not included in the expenditure forecasts for the 2011-15 regulatory control period proposed in Powercor Australia's Initial Regulatory Proposal.

• the margins payable under these Agreements with CHED Services, PNS and Silk Telecom should be included in the calculation of the EBSS carry over amounts for the 2011-15 regulatory control period.

In particular, Powercor Australia maintains that the AER must accept its forecast expenditure under the Corporate Services Agreement with CHED Services, the Network Services Agreement with PNS and the the Electrical Network Communications Agreement and Corporate Communications Agreement with Silk Telecom, including the implied margins, without adjustment because:

- the opex and capex criteria, properly construed, do not permit the AER to reduce a DNSP's total expenditure forecasts, for example to exclude margins under outsourcing arrangements, below the efficient costs of achieving the opex and capex objectives; and
- benchmarking analysis conducted by NERA and SKM establishes that Powercor Australia's forecast opex for 2011-15 set out in its Initial Regulatory Proposal and its unit rates for capital works employed in forecasting capex for 2011-15 in its Initial Regulatory Proposal and this Revised Regulatory Proposal, inclusive of any implied margins incurred under the Corporate Services Agreement with CHED Services, the Network Services Agreement with PNS and the Electrical Network Communications Agreement and Corporate Communications Agreement with Silk Telecom, are efficiently incurred.

In the remainder of this section 5.5, Powercor Australia responds, in turn, to:

- the AER's two stage assessment framework;
- the AER's assessment of Powercor Australia's Corporate Services Agreement with CHED Services and its Network Services Agreement with PNS;
- its assessment of the DRMS with CHED Services; and
- its assessment of Powercor Australia's Electrical Network Communications Agreement and Corporate Communications Agreement with Silk Telecom.

5.5.1 Response to the AER's two stage assessment framework

Powercor Australia maintains that the AER's two stage assessment framework for outsourcing arrangements, specifically the AER's treatment of scale and scope, and other, efficiencies available to the contractor at the second stage of its assessment framework, is flawed.

As discussed above, the AER concluded in the Draft Determination that, for outsourcing arrangements that fail the AER's first stage 'presumption threshold', scale, scope and other efficiencies do not warrant the payment of an amount in excess of the contractor's directly incurred costs, with the exception only of any future expected but currently unrealised efficiencies accruing in the forthcoming (i.e. 2011-15) regulatory control period. The AER adopted this approach in the second stage assessment of such arrangements because it reasoned that:

• the AER is permitted by the Rules, in particular by the prudency criterion that is one of the three opex and capex criteria, to assess forecasts having

regard to the costs that would be incurred by the group to which the DNSP belongs and that efficiencies, such as merger synergies, should be retained for a period of time by the DNSP but eventually passed through to consumers; and

• pricing under outsourcing arrangements is efficient if that pricing is set in a workably competitive market through an open, competitive tender process or mimics pricing outcomes that would prevail in a workably competitive market, and *'in a workably competitive market a contractor could not [charge a premium (i.e. a margin) above its full economic costs and] earn abnormal profits in the long run for efficiencies it has realised in the past'.*

Powercor Australia has identified the following flaws with respect to this aspect of the AER's second stage assessment:

- It is legally impermissible for the AER to adopt the costs that would be incurred by the group to which the DNSP belongs as a benchmark or counterfactual against which to assess Victorian DNSPs' expenditure under outsourcing arrangements that fail the AER's first stage 'presumption threshold'.
- The AER's application of theory regarding pricing outcomes in workably competitive markets is erroneous, including in particular by reason of the fact that, in applying that theory, the AER assumes that the long run is any period in excess of a 5 year regulatory control period, which assumption is contrary to observed commercial practices in workably competitive markets and a prior Tribunal decision.
- The AER's approach to scale and scope, and other, efficiencies in its second stage assessment:
 - does not recognise the potential for outsourcing arrangements that are deemed to fail the first stage 'presumption threshold' to be an efficient means of service delivery; and
 - as a result, creates perverse incentives for DNSPs to bring their operations in-house where the outsourcing arrangement is a more efficient means of service delivery.
- The AER's approach is inconsistent with previous regulatory decisions by itself and the ESCV.

Powercor Australia elaborates below on each of these flaws in the second stage of the AER's two stage assessment framework and then sets out the alternate assessment framework that the AER should apply to outsourcing arrangements that fail the AER's first stage 'presumption threshold'.

5.5.1.1 Benchmark or counterfactual of costs incurred by group is legally impermissible

Powercor Australia disagrees with the AER's construction and application of the opex and capex criteria and believes that its erroneous construction and application of these criteria has led the AER to **incorrectly** conclude that the costs that would be incurred by the **group** to which the DNSP belongs should be

adopted as the benchmark or counterfactual against which a DNSP's forecast of opex and capex under outsourcing arrangements that fail the first stage 'presumption threshold'.

The opex and capex criteria include both an efficiency criterion and a prudency criterion (as well as a third criterion which is of no relevance to the AER's assessment of related party expenditure included in a DNSP's expenditure forecasts and, accordingly, will not be considered further in this section 5.5.1.1).

The AER's construction and application of these criteria are critical to its conclusion in the Draft Determination that the margins payable by Powercor Australia under its various outsourcing arrangements should be excluded from its opex and capex forecasts for the 2011-15 regulatory control period. Accordingly, Powercor Australia sets out in Appendix 5.1 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal detailed legal analysis and conclusions on:

- the proper construction and application of the prudency criterion;
- the proper construction and application of the efficiency criterion; and
- the AER's discretion to balance the competing efficiency and prudency criteria.

Powercor Australia's legal analysis, set out in Appendix 5.1, demonstrates that the AER erred in the Draft Determination in concluding that:

- the Rules permit it to assess a DNSP's expenditure forecasts having regard to the costs that would be incurred by the group to which the DNSP belongs rather than the costs that would be incurred in the services were provided on a 'fully in-sourced, standalone' basis or the costs that would be incurred by the DNSP itself having regard to its group structure; and
- the efficient costs of the DNSP would not include any margin above its contractor's directly incurred costs in respect of scale, scope and other efficiencies, with the exception only of any future expected but currently unrealised efficiencies accruing in the forthcoming (i.e. 2011-15) regulatory control period, because such a margin could not be charged by that contractor in a workably competitive market.

Briefly stated, Powercor Australia's views on the proper construction and application of the prudency and efficiency criteria and the AER's discretion to balance these competing criteria are as follows:

- The phrase *'in the circumstances of the relevant* Distribution Network Service Provider', where it appears in the prudency criterion, does not permit the AER to have regard to the group structure of a DNSP in assessing its expenditure forecasts because:
 - in properly construing this phrase, a purposive rather than a literal interpretation must be adopted; and
 - the circumstances of the DNSP to which the prudency criterion refers were intended to require a consideration of the network operating conditions of the DNSP and not its group structure.

- In any event, even if the circumstances of the DNSP referred to in the prudency criterion include the group structure of the DNSP, it does not follow that the prudency criterion permits the AER to assess the DNSP's expenditure forecasts against the costs that would be incurred by the group to which the DNSP belongs because:
 - the prudency criterion refers to 'the circumstances of the relevant Distribution Network Service Provider' and not to the circumstances of the group to which that DNSP belongs and, accordingly, requires an inquiry into the costs that the DNSP itself (as distinct from the group to which it belongs), acting prudently, would require to achieve the opex and/or capex objectives;
 - it cannot be assumed that scale and scope efficiencies achievable by the group are necessarily available at no cost to the DNSP, acting prudently; and
 - it follows that the AER cannot exclude any scale and scope efficiencies achievable by the group to which a DNSP belongs from the benchmark costs against which a DNSP's expenditure forecasts are assessed in applying the prudency criterion, except where the AER satisfies itself that those efficiencies could be accessed without cost (i.e. margin) by the DNSP, acting prudently.
- While Powercor Australia accepts that the efficiency criterion, properly construed and applied, necessitates an inquiry into pricing outcomes in a workably competitive market, it disagrees with the AER that it follows that efficiencies realised by another entity in the group to which the DNSP belongs in the current or previous regulatory control periods do not warrant payment of an amount in excess of the contractor's directly incurred costs. To the contrary, the decision of the Tribunal in *Application by Optus Mobile Pty Limited and Optus Networks Pty Limited*²⁴⁷ establishes that, in a workably competitive market, a service provider may gain a competitive advantage by having access to economies of scale and scope by reason of its ownership and operation of other networks in addition to the regulated network such that the stand-alone, in-house costs of service provision is the cost benchmark that best reflects the pricing outcomes that would prevail in a workably competitive market.
- In striking a reasonable balance between the efficiency and prudency criteria, the AER has no discretion to reduce a DNSP's expenditure forecasts below the efficient costs of achieving the opex and capex objectives, on the basis of its assessment of that expenditure forecast against the prudency criterion, because:
 - in exercising its discretion to balance the efficiency and prudency criteria, the AER must do so in a manner that is likely to contribute to the achievement of the NEO and takes into account the revenue and pricing principles;²⁴⁸ and

²⁴⁷ [2006] ACompT 8 (Attachment 96 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal) at [119]-[124].

²⁴⁸ NEL, section 16; [2009] ACompT 8 (Attachment 97 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal) at [14] & [74].

• the Tribunal concluded in *Application of Energy Australia and Others* that the NEO and the revenue and pricing principles require that the regulatory setting of prices '*err on the side of allowing at least the recovery of efficient costs*'.²⁴⁹

Powercor Australia is therefore of the opinion that the opex and capex criteria, properly construed and applied, require the AER to adopt the stand-alone, inhouse cost of service provision as the benchmark or counterfactual for assessing forecast opex and capex under outsourcing arrangements that fail the 'presumption threshold', unless it can be demonstrated that the DNSP can access the economies of scale, scope and other efficiencies available to the group at no cost.

Even if the AER were to adopt a more stringent counterfactual than the standalone, in-house cost of service provision (which Powercor Australia does **not** concede is permissible under the Rules) then the AER should **not** take into account the efficiencies derived by the contractor from the provision of unregulated services or the provision of services to third parties when assessing a DNSP's forecast opex and capex under an outsourcing arrangement that fails the 'presumption threshold'. Just as the costs associated with the provision of unregulated services should not be taken into account when deriving forecasts for the standard control service neither should the benefits derived from the provision of these services.

5.5.1.2 Application of theory on workably competitive markets is erroneous

Powercor Australia accepts that:

- pricing under outsourcing arrangements is efficient if that pricing is set in a workably competitive market through an open, competitive tender process or mimics the pricing outcomes that would prevail in a workably competitive market; and
- in a workably competitive market a contractor could not charge a premium above its full economic costs in the long run.

However, Powercor Australia disagrees with the AER's conclusion that, it follows from the application of these propositions to outsourcing arrangements, that scale and scope, and other, efficiencies realised by a contractor in the current or previous regulatory control periods would never warrant the payment of a margin to that contractor in the forthcoming regulatory control period.

In applying the theory regarding pricing outcomes in workably competitive markets, the AER has assumed that the long run is any period in excess of a 5 year regulatory control period. Powercor Australia considers that this assumption is erroneous because it is contrary to observed commercial practices in workably competitive markets and a prior Tribunal decision.

The most significant flaw in the AER's application of theory regarding pricing outcomes in workably competitive markets is that it fails to explain why in

²⁴⁹ [2009] ACompT 8 (Attachment 97 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), at [78].

practice contractors continue to earn margins in excess of the amounts that the AER has categorised as forming a legitimate basis for a margin for periods exceeding the duration of a 5 year regulatory control period. The results of the benchmark EBIT margin study undertaken by NERA²⁵⁰ and the EBIT margin analysis contained in a report prepared by Impaq²⁵¹ for the AER in the context of the current review are apposite.

The important point to recognise with EBIT margins is that they represent the margin available to an entity after paying their directly incurred expenses, overheads and a return of capital invested in physical assets. Since the sample of entities relied upon by both NERA and Impaq in their respective studies was limited to those contractors that use a relatively low proportion of physical assets in the derivation of revenue, the margins can also be assumed to be well in excess of any return on capital that might otherwise be required for any physical assets used by the contractor.

The results of both NERA's and Impaq's studies demonstrate that contractors providing analogous services to those provided by CHED Services and PNS under the Corporate Services Agreement and the Network Services Agreement in contestable markets consistently earn margins in excess of the amounts that would be warranted for the factors identified by the AER as being 'legitimate' bases for payment of a margin. The results of these studies therefore suggest that either the AER's proposition does not hold in practice, or that there are other factors, such as differences in the relative efficiency of contractors, supporting the payment of a margin above the contractor's directly incurred costs, overheads and a return on and of capital. Either way, the studies provide unequivocal evidence that contractors providing analogous services to those provided by CHED Services and PNS under the Corporate Services Agreement and the Network Services Agreement in contestable markets earn margins in excess of overheads and a return on and of capital invested in physical assets.

Against this background, it is salient to revisit the conclusions of the Tribunal in Application by Optus Mobile Pty Limited and Optus Networks Pty Limited²⁵²

²⁵⁰ The EBIT benchmark study undertaken by NERA in 2007 found that the majority of contractors in the sample consistently earned a margin in excess of their overheads and a return of capital with the average margin earned over the 2002-06 period being 5.5 per cent (see NERA, Allen Consulting Group's Review of NERA's Benchmarking of Contractors' Margins Critique, October 2007 (Attachment 98 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), piv).

²⁵¹ In a report entitled 'Review of rates in proposed ACS Charges', dated 2 June 2010 (Attachment 227 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), Impaq made the following observation at p38:

^{&#}x27;ACS are not capital intensive and hence the application of the standard building blocks of Return of Capital and Return on Capital do not yield meaningful profit margins. However in similar service industries profit margins of from 3% to 8% are common'.

The footnote reference for the 3-8 per cent range cited by Impaq referred to the following (at footnote 17, p38):

^{&#}x27;Eg: Aust Financial Review – 10 March 2010 – Profits 2010, Page 12. Major service companies EBIT margins between 3% and 8%. Some instances are: United Group Limited, which provides services across several industries including electricity, have historically achieved net profit margins of about 5%. Refer UGL annual reports. Norfolk (which includes O'Donnel Griffin electrical contracting) has an EBIT margin of 3% in recent years. Downer EDI 5%, Leightons 7.5%)'.

The margin used by Impaq in the calculation of labour costs in this report was 3-8 per cent, which was over and **above** the allowance made for overheads.

²⁵² [2006] ACompT 8 (Attachment 96 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal) at [119]-[124].

discussed above and in Appendix 5.1 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal. Consistent with the results of the NERA and Impaq Consulting studies, which demonstrate that contractors consistently earn margins in excess of the amounts that would be warranted for the factors identified by the AER as being 'legitimate' bases for payment of a margin, the Tribunal concluded that, in a workably competitive market, a service provider may gain a competitive advantage by having access to economies of scale and scope by reason of its ownership and operation of other networks in addition to the regulated network. On this basis, the Tribunal concluded that the stand-alone, in-house cost of service provision is the cost benchmark that best reflects the pricing outcomes that would prevail in a workably competitive market.

It necessarily follows that the expenditure incurred by a DNSP under outsourcing arrangements that fail the 'presumption threshold' that is allowed by the AER will be lower than the expenditure that would be incurred by the DNSP if it acquired the outsourced services in a workably competitive market through an open, competitive tender process. This is further illustrated in section 5.5.2 below by reference to the margins payable by parties other than CitiPower and Powercor Australia to PNS for the provision of analogous services in such markets.

Another flaw in the AER's application of theory regarding pricing outcomes in workably competitive markets is that, in using the term 'margin', the AER equates the contractor's actual costs (both direct and indirect costs) with the 'full economic cost' of delivering the service. In so doing, the AER ignores the potential for the 'full economic cost' to include factors other than a contractor's direct and indirect actual costs, which factors render it possible in a workably competitive market that a margin in excess of the direct and indirect costs may be maintained over the longer run.

Finally, Powercor Australia finds it somewhat peculiar that the AER applies theory regarding pricing outcomes in workably competitive markets in its second stage assessment but has **not** sought to apply the same line of logic to those contracts that are deemed to pass the 'presumption threshold'. In particular, the AER has not sought to exclude any margin in excess of overheads and a return on and of capital invested in physical assets from the expenditure forecast to be incurred under these contracts. If the AER were genuinely of the view that, in a workably competitive market, a contractor would not be able to earn a margin referable to scale, scope or other efficiencies realised by the contractor for periods exceeding the duration of a 5 year regulatory control period, it would have excluded from DNSPs' expenditure forecasts any margins in excess of overheads and a return on and of capital invested in physical assets that are payable under those outsourcing arrangements that pass the 'presumption threshold'.

5.5.1.3 No recognition of potential efficiency of outsourcing arrangements and creation of perverse incentives

On the spectrum of possible counterfactuals that could be employed when assessing expenditure forecast to be incurred under an outsourcing agreement that fails the 'presumption threshold', the position taken by the AER is the most stringent. That is, it assumes that **all** of the efficiencies available to the contractor, including those derived from the provision of regulated and unregulated services to other related entities and third parties, are equally available to the DNSP and should therefore be passed on to consumers.

The AER's adoption of this counterfactual means there is **no** prospect whatsoever for outsourcing contracts that are deemed to fail the presumption threshold to be a more efficient means of delivering a service than in-house provision. This is in marked contrast to the ESCV's recognition, in the GAAR, that outsourcing arrangements that cannot be presumed to be efficient (i.e. that fail the 'presumption threshold') may nonetheless be an efficient means of service delivery.

In Powercor Australia's opinion it is not sufficient to simply **assume** that, in circumstances where a DNSP is found to have an **incentive** to agree to non arm's length terms, the DNSP actually **acted** upon that incentive. Rather, a more detailed inquiry of the nature described by the ESCV in the GAAR should be undertaken to determine whether the incentive was actually acted upon and resulted in the payment of a price that exceeds that which would otherwise have been incurred if the services had been provided in-house.

Powercor Australia understands that in developing its framework, the AER has had regard to the work undertaken by the ESCV in the context of both its 2006-10 EDPR and the GAAR and has also considered the submissions made by a number of economic consultants during the ESCV's review process for making the GAAR.²⁵³ It would also appear that the AER has had regard to the principles referred to in the Jemena Gas Access Draft Decision but **not** to the actual decision to allow a margin in the Jemena Gas Access Final Decision.

The framework developed by the ESCV in the context of the GAAR had its genesis in the ESCV's 2006-10 EDPR, although the final framework used by the ESCV in the GAAR differed in a number of fundamental ways from the framework applied in the 2006-10 EDPR (see Figure 5.2 below). One of the more significant changes to be made by the ESCV in the GAAR was to recognise that, while the circumstances surrounding the entry into the contract may mean that price payable under a contract could not be **presumed** efficient, a more detailed enquiry was required to determine whether the **incentive** a service provider may have had to agree to non arm's length terms had actually been acted upon.

The framework adopted by the ESCV in the GAAR was therefore modified to allow for the potential for the **contract price** to be used where it could be demonstrated that the contract price was **lower** than the cost of in-house provision.²⁵⁴ While the starting point for estimating the in-house cost of provision under the ESCV's framework was contractor's costs, the ESCV acknowledged that consideration would also need to be given to the following factors:²⁵⁵

• whether the contractor was able to achieve economies of scale, scope and other efficiencies (such as 'know-how') not otherwise available to the inhouse provider;

²⁵³ AER, Draft Determination, pp162-8.

²⁵⁴ ESCV, GAAR, Chapter 5 (Attachment 99 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p43.

²⁵⁵ ESCV, GAAR, Chapter 5 (Attachment 99 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), pp59-60.

- whether the actual costs incurred by the contractor incorporated a return on the assets employed by the contractor and/or an appropriate portion of common costs;
- efficiencies on the part of the contractor over the life of the contract; and
- the manner in which the contact allocates risk between the regulated service provider and the contractor.



ESCV, Electricity Distribution Price Review 2006-10 Final Decision: Notice of Errata, 23 November 2005 (Attachment 100 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal). ESCV, GAAR, Chapter 5 (Attachment 99 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), pp43-153.

The position taken by the ESCV on this issue is reflected in the following statement: 256

'In looking at the actual costs incurred by the contractor in undertaking the contracted activities, the Commission is not adopting the position that only the contractor's actual costs form a reasonable basis for the benchmark of prudent and efficient costs. The Commission accepts that, consistent with the views of both NERA and ACG, if over the relevant time horizon, the contractor incurs lower expected costs relative to providing the services in-house then this is a prudent and efficient outcome. Provided the overall contract payments do not exceed the amount that would have been incurred by the distributor undertaking the activity itself, the full contract amount would represent an efficient level of expenditure.'

The alternative types of evidence that the ESCV considered relevant to the assessment of whether the contract price was lower than the costs the regulated service provider would incur if it undertook the activities itself are described in the following statement:²⁵⁷

'There are various ways a distributor may seek to demonstrate that the costs it incurs under the outsourcing arrangements are lower than the costs that it would likely incur if it undertook the activities itself. One way to do this would be to produce evidence that it considered this factor when it entered into the contract and weighed up the alternatives before entering into the contract. Another way is to identify economies of scale, scope or other efficiencies that are available to the contractor that are not available to it. Another way is to provide evidence that shows that if it undertook the activities itself its costs would be higher than the contract payments.'

While the AER appears to have drawn heavily upon the work on the presumption threshold undertaken in the context of the GAAR, it has essentially gone back to the position adopted by the ESCV in its 2006-10 EDPR in respect of the stage two assessment required where a contract fails the presumption threshold and assumed that the contractor's costs (including a share of overheads and a return on and of physical assets) should be used as the basis for determining forecast opex and capex.

For the reasons set above, Powercor Australia disagrees with the position taken by the AER on this issue and notes that if it were employed then it would create a perverse incentive for DNSPs to bring the operations back in-house even if the price payable to its contractor is less than the cost it would incur if it were to provide the service in-house.

5.5.1.4 Inconsistency with previous regulatory decisions

The position taken by the AER in the Draft Determination on the benchmark or counterfactual that should be applied when assessing opex and capex forecast to

²⁵⁶ ESCV, Draft GAAR, Chapter 5 (Attachment 101 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p55.

²⁵⁷ ESCV, GAAR, Chapter 5 (Attachment 99 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p52.

be incurred under outsourcing agreements that fail the 'presumption threshold', including in particular the margins payable thereunder, is materially different from the position taken by the AER and the ESCV in previous regulatory decisions.

The AER's position in the Draft Determination on the benchmark or counterfactual is inconsistent with the position taken by the AER in both:

- the South Australian Draft Determination. In this Draft Determination, the AER considered the costs incurred by ETSA under its commercial contracts with CHED Services for the provision of call centre, FRC and FRC systems support services and noted that it supported the conclusion reached by its own consultant, PB, that *'outsourcing these services results in lower costs than providing the services in-house on a stand alone basis'*.²⁵⁸ The counterfactual adopted by the AER in this case is directly at odds with its current contention that the stand alone counterfactual is not the appropriate counterfactual to apply when assessing forecast opex and capex; and
- the Jemena Gas Access Final Decision. Released one week after the Draft Determination, the Jemena Gas Access Final Decision allowed a commercial-in-confidence margin to be included in the derivation of Jemena Gas' forecast opex and capex.²⁵⁹ Since this Final Decision has been heavily redacted it is not possible to determine whether the margin allowed by the AER is the same as that which was proposed by Jemena Gas. However, it is apparent from the AER's discussion of this issue that it did not assess whether the margin reflected the amount required by the contractor to recover a reasonable share of its overheads, a return on and of capital invested in physical assets and/or an allowance for asymmetric risks.²⁶⁰ To the contrary, the AER's decision on the margin that would satisfy the relevant criteria in the National Gas Rules appears to have been made on the basis of benchmark studies:²⁶¹

'The AER considers that the [c-i-c] is consistent with the benchmarking evidence...'

As discussed in section 5.5.1.3 above, the AER's position in the Draft Determination on the benchmark or counterfactual that should be applied when assessing opex and capex forecast to be incurred under outsourcing agreements that fail the 'presumption threshold' represents a significant departure from the ESCV's position in the GAAR.

5.5.1.5 Alternate assessment framework

There are, in Powercor Australia's view, a number of fundamental shortcomings with the second stage assessment undertaken pursuant to the framework developed by the AER and the approach that it has employed when assessing those contracts that are deemed to fail the presumption threshold.

 ²⁵⁸ AER, South Australian Draft Determination (Attachment 21 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p206.
 ²⁵⁹ AER, Jemena Gas Access Final Decision (Attachment 104 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), pp. 56-7

and 273. ²⁶⁰ AER, Jemena Gas Access Final Decision (Attachment 104 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), pp. 56-7 and 267-273.

²⁶¹ AER, Jemena Gas Access Final Decision (Attachment 104 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p270.

To address these shortcomings, Powercor Australia suggests that the framework developed by the AER be amended to bring it into line with the approach taken by the ESCV in the GAAR. Specifically, Stage 2B of the AER's framework should be amended to recognise the potential for the price (including an explicit or an implicit margin) payable under a contract that fails the 'presumption threshold' to comply with the opex and capex criteria contained in clauses 6.5.6(c) and 6.5.7(c) of the Rules, where it can be demonstrated that the contract price is less than or equal to the in-house cost of provision, where the in-house cost of provision is measured by reference to the stand-alone counterfactual.

The framework should also provide guidance to a DNSP on the types of evidence that may satisfy the AER that the price(s) payable under its outsourcing contract(s) are lower than the in-house cost of provision and, thus, reasonably reflect the opex and capex criteria. In keeping with the position taken by the ESCV on this issue,²⁶² Powercor Australia considers that it should suffice to satisfy the AER for a DNSP to submit evidence of one or more of the following types:

- documentary evidence from the time the contract was entered into that demonstrates that the DNSP considered whether the contract would lower its overall costs and that it weighed up the alternatives before entering into the contract;
- information on the economies of scale, scope and/or other efficiencies that would be available to the contractor that would not otherwise be available to the DNSP; or
- evidence that demonstrates that if the DNSP undertook the activities itself the costs would be higher than the contract payments.

Where a DNSP is able to demonstrate that the contract price is lower than the inhouse cost of provision, then the contract price should be accepted as representing the appropriate basis for determining forecast opex and capex subject to the following two caveats, which also apply to those contracts that pass the 'presumption threshold':

- the contract price relates wholly to the provision of the regulated service; and
- there is no double counting of costs or risks between the contract price and the DNSP's building block proposal.

In other words the contract should move from Stage 2B of the AER's framework to Stage 2A of the framework.

In those circumstances where a DNSP is unable to demonstrate that the contract price is lower than the in-house cost of provision, the AER should utilise the in-house cost estimate in the derivation of forecast opex and capex.

The modifications that Powercor Australia submits should be made to the AER's framework are set out in Figure 5.3 below.

²⁶² ESCV, GAAR, Chapter 5 (Attachment 99 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p52.



Other factors that Powercor Australia considers could inform a regulator's decision on whether the expenditure incurred under a contract that is deemed to fail the presumption threshold nonetheless reasonably reflects the opex and capex criteria contained in clauses 6.5.6(c) and 6.5.7(c) of the Rules, which were also identified by the ESCV as being relevant to the consideration, include:

- an assessment of the contract with particular emphasis placed on:²⁶³
 - the level of control accorded to the DNSP over the expenditure incurred by the contractor and other governance arrangements contained in the contract;
 - the extent to which the contract accords the contractor with an incentive to lower costs and to pass those reduced costs on to the DNSP; and
 - the risks accorded to the contractor under the contract; and
- comparative benchmark analysis.²⁶⁴

Powercor Australia understands that the AER has some concerns about benchmark studies and the extent to which they can be relied upon to demonstrate compliance with the forecast opex and capex criteria contained in the Rules. While Powercor Australia agrees that some care must be taken with benchmark studies, it believes that they still have a role to play particularly when they form part of a broader submission that demonstrates that the price payable under the contract does not exceed the level that would be incurred if the services were provided in-house.

5.5.2 Corporate Services Agreement with CHED Services and Network Services Agreement with PNS

Powercor Australia disagrees with the AER's assessment of the margins payable to CHED Services under the Corporate Services Agreement and PNS under the Network Services Agreement.

Powercor Australia is of the opinion that the price payable under both the Corporate Services Agreement with CHED Services and the Network Services Agreement with PNS, including the implied margins, should be accepted by the AER as being consistent with the opex and capex criteria contained in the Rules and used in both the derivation of forecast opex and capex for the 2011-15 regulatory control period and the calculation of EBSS carry over amounts in this period.

A primary reason for the AER's exclusion of the margins payable under the Corporate Services Agreement and the Network Services Agreement with PNS from Powercor Australia's expenditure forecasts was its conclusion that the adoption by CitiPower and Powercor Australia of their current service model was imprudent, in their respective circumstances.²⁶⁵ The AER reasoned that:²⁶⁶

'[P]rior to these services being provided by CHED Services and PNS, these services were provided by Powercor to both itself and CitiPower. ... The AER is not satisfied that the move to a business model where it now pays a profit margin to a related party (a cost it did not previously incur when providing the same

²⁶³ ESC, Draft GAAR, Chapter 5 (Attachment 101 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p54.

²⁶⁴ ESC, GAAR, Chapter 5 (Attachment 99 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p55.

²⁶⁵ AER, Draft Determination, p192 and Appendix H at pp26 and 29.

²⁶⁶ AER, Draft Determination, p192.

services to itself) reflects the actions of a prudent operator in Powercor's circumstances.'

While not expressly stated in the Draft Determination, it would appear that the AER would consider CitiPower's decision to adopt its current service model, under which it pays a margin to CHED Services and PNS, as imprudent for analogous reasons.

Powercor Australia wishes to address this AER reasoning at the outset. Powercor Australia refutes the AER's suggestion that the decision by CitiPower and Powercor Australia to adopt their current service model, under which it pays a margin to CHED Services and PNS, was imprudent. Powercor Australia maintains that, to the contrary, the decision to adopt the current service model was prudent at the time of that decision and remains prudent if assessed with the benefit of hindsight. This is because:

- As discussed in the Initial Regulatory Proposal, a key rationale for the decision to adopt the current service model was to enable CitiPower and Powercor Australia to better focus on their long term asset ownership and performance.²⁶⁷ In addition, other benefits of the current service model that were a part of the rationale for the decision to adopt that service model include:
 - the creation of increased incentives to pursue efficiency gains;
 - the greater potential for business growth/expansion including in particular through the provision of services to other entities within the group and third parties;
 - improved regulatory outcomes through the more cost-efficient provision of back office services than was achievable by Powercor Australia providing those services to itself and CitiPower;
 - greater potential for an improvement in back office service levels and performance; and
 - improved cost allocation and an associated reduction in the potential for the attribution of profits generated by the group through the provision of unregulated services to the provision of regulated services.²⁶⁸
- As intended at the time of the decision to adopt the current service model, the current service model has facilitated the provision of services to other entities within the group, notably ETSA where this is efficient for it, and the associated realisation of additional scale and scope efficiencies not available under the

²⁶⁷ Initial Regulatory Proposal, p365.

²⁶⁸ The following extracts from Board papers and minutes of the Board of CitiPower and Powercor Australia, and minutes of the Executive Committee of CitiPower and Powercor Australia, disclose that this was the rationale for establishment of the current service model; Extract of CitiPower Board Minutes, 24 August 2004 (Attachment 111 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal); Extract of Powercor Australia Board Minutes, 24 August 2004 (Attachment 112 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal); Extract of CitiPower Executive Committee Minutes, 10 December 2004 (Attachment 113 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal); Extract of Powercor Australia Executive Committee Minutes, 10 December 2004 (Attachment 114 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal); Presentation given by Shane Breheny, Chief Executive Officer CitiPower and Powercor Australia, and Julie Williams, Chief Financial Officer CitiPower and Powercor Australia, to Executive Committees of CitiPower and Powercor Australia at meeting of 10 December 2004 (Attachment 115 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal); Extract of CitiPower Executive Committee Minutes, 27 January 2005 (Attachment 116 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal); Extract of Powercor Australia Executive Committee Minutes, 27 January 2005 (Attachment 117 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal); CitiPower Board Paper, Related Party Contract Recommendations, 17 November 2006 (Attachment 118 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal); Powercor Australia Board Paper, Related Party Contract Recommendations, 17 November 2006 (Attachment 119 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal).

previous service model. Approximately per cent of CHED Services' revenue in 2009 was generated from the provision of services to ETSA. A report prepared for ETSA by SMS Consulting that was submitted to the AER by ETSA in the context of the South Australian Final Determination identifies the potential efficiencies associated with this provision of services to ETSA by CHED Services.²⁶⁹

• As intended at the time of the decision to adopt the current service model, the adoption of this model has enabled the group to expand its business activities to include the provision of unregulated services to other parties. As discussed in section 5.5.2.3 below, PNS, in particular, generated per cent of its revenue in 2009 from the provision of services to parties other than CitiPower and Powercor Australia. In addition, PNS continues to expand this aspect of its business activities. As a result, the current service model has also facilitated the realisation, and will continue to facilitate the future realisation, of additional scale and scope efficiencies not available under the previous service model, through the provision of services by CHED Services and PNS to other parties.

In any event, as discussed in section 5.5.1.1 above, the Rules require the AER to adopt the stand alone counterfactual when assessing the extent to which CitiPower and Powercor Australia can access the same efficiencies as those that are available to the contractor. The AER is required to disregard any scale, scope and other efficiencies accruing by reason of the common ownership and operation of the CitiPower and Powercor Australia distribution networks in establishing benchmark efficient and prudent expenditure against which to assess whether their expenditure forecasts satisfy the opex and capex criteria. This would be the case, even if CitiPower and Powercor Australia were still employing their previous service model, pursuant to which Powercor Australia provided the relevant services to itself and CitiPower.

In section 5.5.1 above, Powercor Australia established that:

- the Rules permit the AER to substitute alternative expenditure forecasts only where Powercor Australia's proposed expenditure is not efficient;
- the AER should adopt an assessment framework pursuant to which it undertakes a more detailed inquiry, in keeping with the approach adopted by the ESCV in the context of the GAAR, to determine whether the contract price exceeds the costs that would have been incurred if the services were provided in-house on a stand alone basis; and
- even if the AER were to adopt a more stringent counterfactual than the standalone, in-house cost of service provision (which Powercor Australia does **not** concede is permissible under the Rules) then the AER should **not** take into account the efficiencies derived by the contractor from the provision of unregulated services or, at a minimum, the provision of services to third parties

²⁶⁹ SMS Consulting, Review of CHED Services' forecast for FRC systems support, 25 February 2009 [commercial in confidence] provided to the AER by ETSA as Attachment F.11 to ETSA's Revised Regulatory Proposal 2011-15 dated 14 January 2010 (Attachment 107 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal). In this report, SMS Consulting considered whether CHED Services could provide the FRC systems required by ETSA at lower cost than it could achieve if it were to provide the services in-house or outsource the services to another party. SMS Consulting concluded that retaining CHED Services was the best option and in doing so referred to the benefit that ETSA would obtain because it would be able to retain *'synergies with CitiPower and Powercor with shared support services, infrastructure and software licences support fees'*.
when assessing a DNSP's forecast expenditure under an outsourcing arrangement that fails the 'presumption threshold'.

On the basis of the foregoing, Powercor Australia maintains that the AER should not exclude the implied margins payable under the Corporate Services Agreement with CHED Services and the Network Services Agreement with PNS from its forecast expenditure for 2011-15 because:

- benchmarking analysis demonstrates that:
 - Powercor Australia's forecast opex for 2011-15 set out in its Initial Regulatory Proposal inclusive of any expenditure incurred under the Corporate Services Agreement with CHED Services and the Network Services Agreement with PNS including implied margins; and
 - Powercor Australia's unit rates for capital works employed in forecasting capex for 2011-15 in its Initial Regulatory Proposal and this Revised Regulatory Proposal including any contract prices payable by Powercor Australia to CHED Services under the Corporate Services Agreement and PNS under the Network Services Agreement inclusive of implied margins,

are efficiently incurred;

- the application of the modified framework discussed in section 5.5.1.5 above establishes that the price payable under both the Corporate Services Agreement with CHED Services and the Network Services Agreement with PNS, including the implied margins, should be accepted by the AER as reasonably reflecting the opex and capex criteria contained in the Rules; and
- the efficiencies available to PNS include efficiencies derived from the provision of unregulated services and services to third parties which, as noted above, should not be taken into account by the AER when assessing a DNSP's forecast expenditure under an outsourcing arrangement that fails the 'presumption threshold'.

Powercor Australia elaborates on each of these contentions in greater detail, in turn, below.

In addition, Powercor Australia responds to the AER's conclusion, in assessing the margins payable under the Corporate Services Agreement and the Network Services Agreement, that the Ernst & Young reports commissioned by CitiPower and Powercor Australia and used to determine the initial margins payable under those Agreements²⁷⁰ are of no relevance because differences in the objectives underpinning the tax and

²⁷⁰ Ernst & Young, CitiPower Pty and Powercor Australia Limited Analysis of Transfer Prices for Corporate Services, 20 November 2006 (Attachment P0049 to the Initial Regulatory Proposal); Ernst & Young, CitiPower Pty and Powercor Australia Limited Analysis of Transfer Prices for Customer Services (Excluding Metering), 20 November 2006 (Attachment P0050 to the Initial Regulatory Proposal); Ernst & Young, CitiPower Pty and Powercor Australia Limited Analysis of Transfer Prices for IT Services), 20 November 2006 (Attachment P0050 to the Initial Regulatory Proposal); Ernst & Young, CitiPower Pty and Powercor Australia Limited Analysis of Transfer Prices for IT Services), 20 November 2006 (Attachment P0051 to the Initial Regulatory Proposal); Ernst & Young, CitiPower Pty and Powercor Australia Limited Analysis of Transfer Prices for IT Services, 21 May 2009 (Attachment P0052 to the Initial Regulatory Proposal); Ernst & Young, CitiPower Pty and Powercor Australia Limited Analysis of Transfer Prices for Construction and Maintenance Services, 30 November 2006 (Attachment P0048 to the Initial Regulatory Proposal). As discussed in the Initial Regulatory Proposal (at p356), in the May 2009 report by Ernst & Young, it updates the benchmark IT margin previously provided in its November 2006 report in respect of IT services and indicates that there has been little movement in the benchmark IT margin over the intervening period.

economic regulatory regimes meant that it could not be 'assumed that practices which are appropriate in a tax context are always appropriate in an economic regulatory context²⁷¹. Contrary to the AER's conclusion in the Draft Determination, Powercor Australia maintains that the reports prepared by Ernst & Young on arm's length transfer prices are relevant and establish that the margins payable by it under the Corporate Services Agreement and the Network Services Agreement reflect the margins that would be expected to be agreed to by parties operating on an arm's length basis.

5.5.2.1 Efficiency of expenditure forecasts inclusive of expenditure under Corporate Services Agreement and Network Services Agreement

Powercor Australia maintains that the AER must accept its forecast expenditure under the Corporate Services Agreement with CHED Services and the Network Services Agreement with PNS, including the implied margins, without adjustment because:

- as discussed in section 5.5.1.1 above and Appendix 5.1 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal, the opex and capex criteria, properly construed, do not permit the AER to reduce a DNSP's total expenditure forecasts, for example to exclude margins under outsourcing arrangements, below the efficient costs of achieving the opex and capex objectives;
- in deciding whether it is satisfied that Powercor Australia's total expenditure forecasts reasonably reflect the opex and capex criteria, clauses 6.5.6(e)(4) and 6.5.7(e)(4) of the Rules provide that the AER must have regard to benchmark opex and capex that would be incurred by an efficient DNSP over the regulatory control period; and
- benchmarking analysis demonstrates that:
 - Powercor Australia's forecast opex for 2011-15 set out in its Initial Regulatory Proposal inclusive of any expenditure incurred under the Corporate Services Agreement with CHED Services and the Network Services Agreement with PNS including implied margins; and
 - Powercor Australia's unit rates for capital works employed in forecasting capex for 2011-15 in its Initial Regulatory Proposal and this Revised Regulatory Proposal including any contract prices payable by Powercor Australia to CHED Services under the Corporate Services Agreement and PNS under the Network Services Agreement inclusive of implied margins,

are efficiently incurred.

This section 5.5.2.1 discusses the relevant benchmarking analysis.

Efficiency of total opex forecast

CitiPower and Powercor Australia engaged NERA to carry out a benchmarking exercise and to assess their relative efficiency $vis-\dot{a}-vis$ 11 other DNSPs operating in

²⁷¹ AER, Draft Determination, pp187-8 and Appendix H at pp26 and 29.

the NEM²⁷² and Western Australia. In so doing, NERA assessed the relative efficiency of:

- the forecast opex of CitiPower, Powercor Australia and other Victorian DNSPs for 2011-15 set out in their initial regulatory proposals of November 2009; and
- the opex allowance approved by the relevant regulator for DNSPs in other jurisdictions in their most recent distribution regulatory reviews.²⁷³

To assess the relative efficiency of CitiPower and Powercor Australia, NERA conducted a regression analysis similar in nature to the 'top down' analysis undertaken by the Ofgem to regulated distributors in the United Kingdom in its most recent price review. NERA also examined the relative performance of CitiPower and Powercor Australia using the ratios identified by the AER as being relevant in the context of the South Australian and Queensland Final Determinations and the Draft Determination.²⁷⁴

The results of this study are set out in a report entitled 'Review of Operating Expenditure Efficiency'. In summary, the results of this study indicate that:

- using the top-down approach Powercor Australia was found to be the second most efficient DNSP of the 13 DNSPs examined by NERA;²⁷⁵ and
- using the opex ratios previously employed by the AER, Powercor Australia ranked third in terms of opex per km, fifth in terms of opex per MW of maximum demand, sixth in terms of opex per customer and seventh in terms of opex per GWh of energy consumed and opex as a percentage of RAB.²⁷⁶

The results of this study demonstrate that, on a comparison of their opex forecasts for 2011-15 set out in their Initial Regulatory Proposals to the opex allowed for DNSPs in other jurisdictions in recent regulatory determinations, CitiPower and Powercor Australia are the most efficient DNSPs in Australia.

Efficiency of total capex forecast

Benchmarking capex has its difficulties. As the AER observed in its South Australian Final Determination:²⁷⁷

'Benchmarking total capex, especially over short periods of time, can be difficult, where the lumpiness of capex programs can impact on results. Firm-specific factors that are unaccounted for in a model may appear as inefficiency where this is not the case. Non-system capex is generally less lumpy and therefore better suited to benchmarking.

Different licensing requirements can make a large difference in a business' required system capex spend. For example, mandatory system security standards

²⁷² The DNSPs included in this study include Energex, ETSA, Ergon, Jemena, UED, Country Energy, SP AusNet, Western Power, Integral Energy, Energy Australia and ActewAGL.

²⁷³ NERA, Review of Operating Expenditure Efficiency, July 2010 (Attachment 102 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), pp5-6 and opex column in Table A.3 on pp26-30.

²⁷⁴ The ratios considered by NERA were opex per customer, opex per GWh of energy consumed, Opex per MW of maximum demand, opex per km, opex as a percentage of RAB.

²⁷⁵ NERA, Review of Operating Expenditure Efficiency, July 2010 (Attachment 102 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), pp20-21.

²⁷⁶ NERA, Review of Operating Expenditure Efficiency, July 2010 (Attachment 102 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), Table C.1.

²⁷⁷ AER, South Australian Final Determination (Attachment 22 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), pp368-9.

will vary from state to state. There are also differences in whether businesses buy or lease assets, and different in balance dates, all of which can make benchmarking more problematic.'

Nevertheless, Powercor Australia provides to the AER the results of a survey of market prices conducted by SKM as set out in a report entitled 'SKM Market Price Survey #4 – Results of a Survey for Powercor'. As part of the survey, SKM collected information about the market prices (including all material, labour, transport and overhead costs) for a sample range of eight typical distribution utility capital works unit rates. For the eight categories of capital works that were the subject of the survey, SKM determined a deemed market price (the mean of the market prices collected) and then compared this with the prices submitted by Powercor Australia. The results of the survey conducted by SKM are summarised in confidential Table 5.1.

The principal finding of the survey was that Powercor Australia's price was below the deemed market price across the eight categories surveyed. The results also indicated that in six of the categories surveyed, Powercor Australia's price was 15 per cent or more below the deemed market price and in one case was close to 40 per cent below the market price.²⁷⁸

Capex activity	Deemed market price	Powercor Australia's submitted price	Difference
Install 11kV / 22kV and LV underground cable in urban area	\$324,895	\$315,095	-3%
Install 11kV / 22kV underground cable in rural area	\$144,485	\$117,147	-18.9%
Construct 1km of 11kV / 22kV overhead line (wood pole, medium conductor) in urban area	\$73,749	\$56,633	-23.2%
Construct 1km of 11kV / 22kV overhead line (concrete pole, medium conductor) in urban area	\$95,742	\$90,574	-5.4%
Construct 1km of 11kV / 22kV overhead line (wood pole, medium conductor) in rural / regional area	\$42,195	\$26,015	-38.3%
Construct 1km of 11kV / 22kV overhead line (concrete pole, medium conductor) in rural / regional area	\$45,301	\$37,125	-18%
Construct 22kV / 415V or 11kV / 415V, 3 phrase, 300kVA pole mounted substation (urban environment)	\$31,316	\$24,844	-20.7%
Install 500kVA, 3 phase, 11kV / 22kV – 415V kiosk or pad mounted substation	\$73,379	\$60,633	-17.4%

Table 5.1 – Summary of SKM results for unit rate prices for capital works

Powercor Australia's unit rates for capital works benchmarked by SKM were its 2009 unit rates and included any contract prices for capital works payable by Powercor Australia to CHED Services under the Corporate Services Agreement and PNS under the Network Services Agreement inclusive of implied margins. These same 2009 unit

²⁷⁸ SKM, SKM Market Price Survey #4 – Results of Survey for Powercor, 6 July 2010 (Attachment 103 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), piii.

rates were used by Powercor Australia as the unescalated unit rates in forecasting capex for the 2011-15 regulatory control period in its Initial Regulatory Proposal and this Revised Regulatory Proposal. Accordingly, it follows from the SKM results set out above that the unit rates employed by Powercor Australia in forecasting capex, including any contract prices payable by Powercor Australia to CHED Services under the Corporate Services Agreement and PNS under the Network Services Agreement inclusive of implied margins, are efficiently incurred.

5.5.2.2 Application of modified assessment framework to Corporate Services Agreement and Network Services Agreement

Powercor Australia's Initial Regulatory Proposal contained a considerable amount of information about each of the outsourcing arrangements that it has in place with parties that could be viewed as being 'related' to Powercor Australia at the time they were entered into. While Powercor Australia accepts the AER's conclusion that the Agreements it has in place with CHED Services and PNS cannot be **presumed** to be consistent with the opex and capex criteria, it does **not** agree with either:

- the approach employed by the AER when considering the relevance of the price payable under these agreements; or
- its decision to exclude the margins payable under these Agreements from the derivation of forecast opex and capex and the calculation of the EBSS carry over amounts for the 2011-15 regulatory control period.

In short, Powercor Australia does not agree that it is sufficient for the AER to simply presume that because Powercor Australia may have had an incentive to agree to non arm's length terms that the Agreements it entered into were actually non arm's length.

To the contrary, Powercor Australia is of the opinion that a more detailed inquiry must be undertaken to determine whether the contract price exceeds the costs that would have been incurred if the services were provided in-house on a stand alone basis (see section 5.5.1.4). In keeping with the approach adopted by the ESCV in the context of the GAAR, such an assessment should be informed by:

- evidence that demonstrates that the price payable under the contract is lower than the cost of in-house provision;
- an assessment of the non-price terms and conditions contained in the contract to determine whether these are consistent with what one would expect to observe in an arm's length contract; and
- comparative benchmark analysis.

The remainder of this section 5.5.2.2 applies the framework that Powercor Australia considers should be employed when assessing these types of arrangements (see Figure 5.3) to the Corporate Services Agreement and the Network Services Agreement. Commencing with an overview of the two Agreements, this section then sets out:

- evidence that demonstrates that the prices payable under these two Agreements are lower than the cost of in-house provision;
- the results of an assessment of the non-price terms and conditions; and
- the results of an assessment of incentives provided under the two Agreements.

Section 5.5.2.1 above discusses the assessment of the performance of Powercor Australia relative to its peers and, accordingly, this will not be revisited in this section 5.5.2.2. Suffice to say that, as discussed above, this assessment demonstrates that Powercor Australia's forecast opex and unit rates for capital works employed in forecasting capex, inclusive of any implied margins incurred under the Corporate Services Agreement with CHED Services and the Network Services Agreement with PNS, are efficiently incurred.

Overview of Corporate Services Agreement with CHED Services

Under the terms of the Corporate Services Agreement, CHED Services provides Powercor Australia with specialist corporate services including: the Chief Executive Officer; Finance; the Company Secretary and Legal; Human Resources; Corporate Affairs; Regulation; Customer Services; Information Technology; and Office Administration.

The original Corporate Services Agreement was entered into by Powercor Australia with CHED Services in 2005 and had a term of just one year. The Agreement was renewed in 2006 and 2007, in each instance for a one year period, and in January 2008 the parties entered into the current Corporate Services Agreement, which operates over a three year period from 1 January 2008 through to 31 December 2010. The current Agreement has been used as the basis for the estimation of Powercor Australia's forecast expenditure for 2011-15.

Prior to entering into the 2007 and 2008-10 Agreements, Powercor Australia's Board established strict governance arrangements for the engagement of related parties.²⁷⁹ The principles established by the Board were the following:

- related party transactions are supported by contracts;
- contracts are commercial and arm's length, which includes: ensuring prices are based on market prices or comparable prices to unrelated parties or costs plus a commercial margin; a mechanism for passing through efficiencies; a clear description of the services provided; specified service levels and/or 'Key Performance Indicators' that are required by service recipients; and a reduction in fees for excessive, or enduring, poor performance;
- independent verification of arm's length nature of contracts;
- transactions comply with relevant laws; and
- transactions comply with undertakings to bond holders, banks, insurers and rating agencies.

In keeping with these principles, Powercor Australia and CHED Services have agreed to terms and conditions (including price) that are in line with those that would be expected to have been agreed through an arm's length negotiation process. The arm's length nature of the Agreement has been independently verified by KPMG.²⁸⁰

The pricing structure adopted in this Agreement consists of a fixed fee and provision has been made for this fee to be escalated in 2009 and 2010 using the change in the

²⁷⁹ Initial Regulatory Proposal, p363.

²⁸⁰ KPMG, Powercor Australia Limited, Consideration of the arms length nature of the Shared Service Arrangements, December 2007 (Attachment P0092 to the Initial Regulatory Proposal), p1.

CPI. The fixed charge in 2008 was based on forecast efficient costs plus a commercial margin. The margins used in the derivation of charges payable under the Agreement was based on the recommendations contained in a series of reports that were prepared by Ernst & Young for Powercor Australia and CitiPower in 2006.²⁸¹ There are no other incentive payments or overheads payable by Powercor Australia under this Agreement.

Overview of Network Services Agreement with PNS

In 2008, Powercor Australia entered into the Network Services Agreement with PNS. Under the terms of this Agreement, PNS provides Powercor Australia with various services including: customer and connection services; asset replacement maintenance services; asset performance (fault) services; and network development.

In keeping with the related party governance arrangements put in place by the Powercor Australia Board in 2006 discussed above, Powercor Australia and PNS have agreed to terms and conditions (including price) that are in line with those that would be expected to have been agreed through an arm's length negotiation process. The arm's length nature of the Agreement has been independently verified by KPMG.²⁸²

The pricing structure adopted in this contract is based on a mix of fixed price quotes, unit rates and labour rates. A share of PNS' overheads is also recovered through the Network Services Agreement along with a margin of 5.26 per cent. The margin payable under this Agreement is based on the recommendations contained in a report that was prepared by Ernst & Young for CitiPower and Powercor Australia in 2006.²⁸³ There was no incentive payment payable by Powercor Australia in 2008 under the Network Services Agreement.

Evidence that contract prices under the Corporate Services Agreement and Network Services Agreement are lower than the cost of in-house provision

The costs incurred by CHED Services in the provision of services to Powercor Australia are predominantly fixed in nature (i.e., salaries and IT infrastructure costs). The provision of services by CHED Services at a group level therefore enables CHED Services to access scale efficiencies that would not otherwise be available to Powercor Australia operating on a stand alone basis.²⁸⁴ The nature of the services provided by

²⁸¹ Ernst & Young, CitiPower Pty and Powercor Australia Limited Analysis of Transfer Prices for Corporate Services, 20 November 2006 (Attachment P0049 to the Initial Regulatory Proposal); Ernst & Young, CitiPower Pty and Powercor Australia Limited Analysis of Transfer Prices for Customer Services (Excluding Metering), 20 November 2006 (Attachment P0050 to the Initial Regulatory Proposal); Ernst & Young, CitiPower Pty and Powercor Australia Limited Analysis of Transfer Prices for IT Services), 20 November 2006 (Attachment P0051 to the Initial Regulatory Proposal); Ernst & Young, CitiPower Pty and Powercor Australia Limited Analysis of Transfer Prices for IT Services), 20 November 2006 (Attachment P0051 to the Initial Regulatory Proposal); Ernst & Young, CitiPower Pty and Powercor Australia Limited Analysis of Transfer Prices for IT Services, 21 May 2009 (Attachment P0052 to the Initial Regulatory Proposal). As discussed in the Initial Regulatory Proposal (at p356), in the May 2009 report by Ernst & Young, it updates the benchmark IT margin previously provided in its November 2006 report in respect of IT services and indicates that there has been little movement in the benchmark IT margin over the intervening period.
²⁸² KPMG, Powercor Australia Limited, Consideration of the arms length nature of the Shared Service

 ²⁸² KPMG, Powercor Australia Limited, Consideration of the arms length nature of the Shared Service Arrangements, December 2007 (Attachment P0092 to the Initial Regulatory Proposal), p1.
 ²⁸³ Ernst and Young, CitiPower Pty and Powercor Australia Limited Analysis of Transfer Prices for Construction

²⁸³ Ernst and Young, CitiPower Pty and Powercor Australia Limited Analysis of Transfer Prices for Construction and Maintenance Services, 30 November 2006 (Attachment P0048 to the Initial Regulatory Proposal).

²⁸⁴ Support for this view can be found in the report prepared for ETSA by SMS Consulting that was submitted to the AER by ETSA in the context of the South Australian Final Determination (as Attachment F.11 to ETSA's Revised Regulatory Proposal 2011-15 dated 14 January 2010). In this report, SMS Consulting considered whether CHED Services could provide the FRC systems required by ETSA at a lower cost than it could achieve if it were to provide the services in-house or outsource the services to another party. SMS Consulting concluded that retaining CHED Services was the best option and in doing so referred to the benefit that ETSA would obtain because it would

PNS and the provision of these services to parties other than CitiPower and Powercor Australia (discussed in section 5.5.2.4 below) means that it too is able to access economies of scale and scope, and other efficiencies, that would not otherwise be available to Powercor Australia operating on a stand alone basis.

In view of the efficiencies available to both CHED Services and PNS, the service provision model adopted by Powercor Australia (which encompasses the Corporate Services Agreement, the Network Services Agreement and the joint provision of asset management services across CitiPower and Powercor Australia) can be expected to constitute a more efficient outcome than if the services were provided in-house on a stand-alone basis.

To test whether this is in fact the case, Powercor Australia retained KPMG in 2009 to quantify both:

- the efficiencies arising from the service provision model; and
- the costs that would have been incurred by Powercor Australia in 2008 if the services provided by CHED Services, PNS and the asset management services jointly undertaken by CitiPower and Powercor Australia had been provided by Powercor Australia on an in-house stand-alone basis.

KPMG's findings are set out in a report entitled, 'The efficiencies of the Powercor Services Model'.²⁸⁵

The stand alone in-house cost provision estimate developed by KPMG does not provide a clear delineation between the services provided by CHED Services and PNS and so it has not been possible to determine whether on an individual basis, the prices payable under the Corporate Services Agreement and the Network Services Agreement are lower than the costs that would otherwise be incurred if the services provided under these Agreements were provided in-house. The results of the study do, however, allow a comparison of the costs incurred by Powercor Australia across its entire service provision model with the costs that would otherwise have been incurred if all of the services were provided in-house on a stand alone basis.

The principal findings emerging from this report are as follows: ²⁸⁶

- CHED Services and PNS are in a better position to achieve lower costs and improved service performance than Powercor Australia could on a stand alone basis because they can access economies of scale in the delivery of services that that would not otherwise have been available to Powercor Australia; and
- If the services provided under the Corporate Services Agreement and Network Services Agreement had been provided by Powercor Australia on an in-house stand alone basis then its costs would have been \$16.93 million (approximately

be able to retain 'synergies with CitiPower and Powercor with shared support resources, infrastructure and software licences support fees'. See SMS Consulting, Review of CHED Services' forecast for FRC systems support, 25 February 2009 [commercial in confidence] (Attachment 107 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal).

²⁸⁵ KPMG, The efficiencies of the Powercor Service Model, October 2009 (Attachment P0053 to the Initial Regulatory Proposal) and KPMG, Supplement to Report on Powercor Australia's service model, July 2010 (Attachment 105 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal).

²⁸⁶ KPMG, The efficiencies of the Powercor Australia Service Model, October 2009 (Attachment P0053 to the Initial Regulatory Proposal), p3.

21 per cent) higher in 2008 than the price actually paid under the contract in that year (\$96.212 million versus \$79.282 million).²⁸⁷

In Powercor Australia's view, KPMG's findings provide clear evidence that the price payable under the Corporate Services Agreement and the Network Services Agreement is **lower** than the cost that would be incurred if the services were provided in-house by Powercor Australia. Furthermore, it demonstrates that, while Powercor Australia may have had an incentive to agree to non arm's length terms, it did **not** actually do so when it entered into the Corporate Services Agreement and the Network Services Agreement.

The price payable under each of these Agreements should therefore be viewed by the AER as being consistent with the opex and capex criteria contained in the Rules subject to the following two caveats:

- the price payable under the Agreements relates wholly to the provision of the standard control service; and
- there is no double counting between the contract price under these Agreements and other elements of its building block proposal.

Powercor Australia can confirm that the portion of the contract price under the Corporate Services Agreement and the Network Services Agreement that it has used in the derivation of forecast expenditure for 2011-15 in its Initial Regulatory Proposal and this Revised Regulatory Proposal relates wholly to the provision of the standard control service and does not give rise to any double counting across other elements of the building block proposal.

Assessment of non-price terms of Corporate Services Agreement and Network Services Agreement

The non-price terms and conditions specified in the Corporate Services Agreement clearly define the roles and responsibilities of both CHED Services and Powercor Australia and set out:

- the services to be provided (schedules 2-4), the service levels to be maintained by CHED Services (schedule 5) and the KPIs to be met over the life of the contract (schedule 6);
- the circumstances in which Powercor Australia can terminate the contract (clause 14.2) or seek other remedies (clause 2.5(c)-(d)) where CHED Services fails to deliver the service or meet any applicable service level or KPI;
- the reporting requirements that CHED Services must comply with (clause 6 and schedule 3); and
- the dispute resolution mechanism (clause 16) to be applied when any disputes about the price or non-price terms of the contract arise.

In a similar manner to the Corporate Services Agreement, the non-price terms and conditions specified in the Network Services Agreement clearly define the roles and responsibilities of both PNS and Powercor Australia and set out:

²⁸⁷ KPMG, The efficiencies of the Powercor Australia Service Model, October 2009 (Attachment P0053 to the Initial Regulatory Proposal), p11.

- the services to be provided (schedules 1 and 5) and the KPIs to be met over the term of the contract (schedule 3);
- the circumstances in which Powercor Australia can terminate the contract (clause 14.2) or seek other remedies (clause 2.5(c)-(h)) where PNS fails to deliver the service or meet the minimum KPI over each 12 month period;
- the ability of Powercor Australia to direct PNS to reduce the scope of, or cease to provide services (clause 3.1);
- the reporting requirements that PNS must comply with (clause 6); and
- the dispute resolution mechanism (clause 16) to be applied when any disputes about the price or non-price terms of the contract arise.

A detailed assessment of these and other provisions in the Corporate Services Agreement and Network Services Agreement is set out in Confidential Appendix 5.2 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal. In Powercor Australia's view, the results of this assessment demonstrate that the governance arrangements and other provisions in these Agreements give rise to an appropriate allocation of risks and responsibilities and ensure that Powercor Australia retains sufficient control over its assets. Based on its contracting experience, the provisions contained in these two Agreements are broadly consistent with those specified in other contracts that Powercor Australia has entered into with third parties. The non-price terms and conditions contained in these two Agreements may therefore be viewed as being in line with what one would expect to observe in an arm's length contract. Further support for this view can be found in KPMG's review of the arm's length nature of these two Agreements.²⁸⁸

The arm's length nature of the non-price terms and conditions specified in both the Corporate Services Agreement and the Network Services Agreement, should, in Powercor Australia's view, provide the AER with some additional comfort that the Agreements were **not** entered into for the purposes of transfer pricing, or to otherwise agree to non arm's length terms.

Assessment of incentives provided by the Corporate Services Agreement and the Network Services Agreement

The price payable by Powercor Australia for services provided under the Corporate Services Agreement is fixed for a three year period. The fixed price nature of this Agreement means that, over the term of the Agreement, CHED Services will be able to retain the benefit of any cost savings and will therefore have an incentive to pursue both productive and dynamic efficiencies.

The pricing structure adopted in the Network Services Agreement is also largely fixed, with both the unit prices and labour charges specified in the Agreement and fixed price quotes applying to projects that exceed a specified threshold. The indexation of labour charges under the Network Services Agreement also includes a productivity factor of 0.39 per cent, which provides PNS with an additional incentive to pursue productive and dynamic efficiencies. Combined these aspects of the pricing structure can therefore also be viewed as providing PNS with an incentive to pursue both productive and dynamic efficiencies.

²⁸⁸ KPMG, Powercor Australia Limited, Consideration of the arms length nature of the Shared Service Arrangements, December 2007 (Attachment P0092 to the Initial Regulatory Proposal), p1.

Although not stated in either Agreement, the **actual** costs incurred by CHED Services and PNS have in the past formed the basis for determining the price to be paid in a subsequent contract term and this approach will continue going forward. Setting the new contract price by reference to the actual costs incurred by CHED Services and PNS (plus the margin recommended by Ernst & Young) means that any cost savings achieved by the two will be passed through to Powercor Australia at the commencement of the next contract. The two Agreements may therefore be viewed as according the contractors appropriate incentives and ensuring that the benefits of any cost savings are passed through to Powercor Australia, and in turn to users.

5.5.2.3 Efficiencies derived by PNS from provision of services to other parties

In section 5.5.1 above, it was noted that, if (contrary to Powercor Australia's contentions) the AER maintains its view that the Rules permit it to consider the costs that would be incurred by the group rather than the individual DNSP in assessing Powercor Australia's expenditure forecast to be incurred under the Corporate Services Agreement and the Network Services Agreement, Powercor Australia would nonetheless maintain that the AER cannot take into account efficiencies accruing to a contractor from the provision of services to third parties.

It would be inconsistent with the requirement, established by the opex and capex criteria, that allowed opex and capex be that reasonably required for the provision of standard control services by the DNSP to take into account efficiencies accruing to a contractor from the provision of unregulated services. It would be unreasonable for the AER to exclude the costs associated with the provision of unregulated services from allowed opex and capex, as required by the Rules, but to take into account the benefit of any scale, scope and other efficiencies accruing to the contractor by reason of its supply of those services. It follows that, **at a minimum**, the AER's benchmark costs against which it assesses Powercor Australia's expenditure forecasts should not take into account efficiencies accruing to CHED Services and PNS from the supply of services to third parties.

At this point in time, PNS is the only contractor providing services to parties outside the group. Any analysis by the AER of the costs that would be incurred by the group must therefore exclude the effect of any cost savings available to PNS from the provision of these services. To provide the AER with some insight into how significant this issue is, Powercor Australia has reviewed PNS' 2009 Regulatory Accounts and CitiPower and Powercor Australia's 2009 Regulatory Accounts²⁸⁹ to determine what proportion of its revenue was derived from parties other than CitiPower and Powercor Australia.

²⁸⁹ Powercor Network Services Pty Ltd ABN 94 123 230 240, Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2009 (Previously provided to AER under cover of email from B Cleeve, Manager Price Review, CitiPower and Powercor Australia, to S Sandles, AER, dated 29 March 2010) (Attachment 108 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal); Powercor Australia, Regulatory Accounts, 31 December 2009 (Previously provided to the AER in soft copy under cover of an email from R Gross, General Manager Regulation, CitiPower and Powercor to C Pattas, General Manager Network Regulation South Branch, AER dated 30 April 2010 and in hard copy under cover of a letter of the same date from R Gross to C Pattas) (Attachment 121 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal); CitiPower, Regulatory Accounts for the Year Ended 31 December 2009 (Previously provided to the AER in soft copy under cover of an email from R Gross, General Manager Regulation, CitiPower and Powercor to C Pattas, General Manager Network Regulation South Branch, AER dated 30 April 2010 and in hard copy under cover of a nemail from R Gross, General Manager Regulation, CitiPower and Powercor to C Pattas, General Manager Network Regulation South Branch, AER dated 30 April 2010 and in hard copy under cover of a letter of the same date from R Gross, General Manager Regulation, CitiPower and Powercor to C Pattas, General Manager Network Regulation South Branch, AER dated 30 April 2010 and in hard copy under cover of a letter of the same date from R Gross to C Pattas) (Attachment 122 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal).

According to the information contained in these Regulatory Accounts, per cent of the revenue earned in 2009 was generated from the provision of services to parties other than CitiPower and Powercor Australia.²⁹⁰ The proportion of revenue accounted for by this group is not insignificant and suggests that if the AER is to maintain its position in the Final Determination, then it will need to make a material adjustment to PNS' actual costs to remove the effect of the efficiencies derived by PNS from the provision of these services.

The review of these 2009 Regulatory Accounts also revealed that the margins earned by PNS from the provision of services to CitiPower and Powercor Australia in 2009 were those earned from the provision of services to other parties (see Table 5.2 below). The results of this study provide further confirmation that the price paid by Powercor Australia under the Network Services Agreement was not artificially inflated.

²⁹⁰ The derivation of this figure by reference to the PNS, CitiPower and Powercor Australia 2009 Regulatory Accounts is set out in Table 5.2 in this Revised Regulatory Proposal and the footnotes to that Table 5.2.

	Powercor Australia	CitiPower	Other	Total
Costs				
Revenue				
Margin				
% of Total revenue generated by PNS				

Table 5.2 – PNS 2009 Costs, Revenue & Margins

In addition, PNS continues to expand this aspect of its business activities. For example, PNS:

- is currently tendering for a contract to provide distribution line construction and maintenance services to Energex in Queensland in one or more of its 6 regions, with a value of \$8million per annum (assuming 2 regions are awarded);
- recently secured a contract valued at \$6.2million to develop all connection assets for the Gunning Wind Farm Balance of Plant Project (NSW) near the ACT; and

²⁹³ This figure is derived by deducting the PNS costs attributable to each of CitiPower and Powercor Australia (appearing in Table 5.2) from PNS' total costs (appearing in Table 5.2).

²⁹¹ Letter from M Sturgess, General Manager, PNS to R Gross, General Manager Regulation, CitiPower and Powercor, 'Request for Information on Allocation of PNS 2009 Expenditure', 26 March 2010 (Previously provided to AER under cover of email from B Cleeve, Manager Price Review, CitiPower and Powercor Australia, to S Sandles, AER, dated 29 March 2010) (Attachment 120 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p2, table allocating PNS expenditure. The costs for Powercor Australia appearing in Table 5.2 in this Revised Regulatory Proposal are derived by summing the 'Total capital expenditure' and 'Total operating expenditure' figures for Powercor Australia in the table on p2 of this letter.

²⁹² Letter from M Sturgess, General Manager, PNS to R Gross, General Manager Regulation, CitiPower and Powercor, 'Request for Information on Allocation of PNS 2009 Expenditure', 26 March 2010 (Previously provided to AER under cover of email from B Cleeve, Manager Price Review, CitiPower and Powercor Australia, to S Sandles, AER, dated 29 March 2010) (Attachment 120 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p2, table allocating PNS expenditure. The costs for CitiPower appearing in Table 5.2 in this Revised Regulatory Proposal are derived by summing the 'Total capital expenditure' and 'Total operating expenditure' figures for CitiPower in the table on p2 of this letter.

²⁹⁴ Letter from M Sturgess, General Manager, PNS to R Gross, General Manager Regulation, CitiPower and Powercor, 'Request for Information on Allocation of PNS 2009 Expenditure', 26 March 2010 (Previously provided to AER under cover of email from B Cleeve, Manager Price Review, CitiPower and Powercor Australia, to S Sandles, AER, dated 29 March 2010) (Attachment 120 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p2, table allocating PNS expenditure. The total PNS costs for appearing in Table 5.2 in this Revised Regulatory Proposal are derived by summing the 'Total capital expenditure' and 'Total operating expenditure' figures in the 'Total' column in the table on p2 of this letter.

on p2 of this letter. ²⁹⁵ Powercor Australia, Regulatory Accounts, 31 December 2009 (Previously provided to the AER in soft copy under cover of an email from R Gross, General Manager Regulation, CitiPower and Powercor to C Pattas, General Manager Network Regulation South Branch, AER dated 30 April 2010 and in hard copy under cover of a letter of the same date from R Gross to C Pattas) (Attachment 121 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p43, under the heading 'Services Fee - Powercor Network Services'.

²⁹⁶ CitiPower, Regulatory Accounts for the Year Ended 31 December 2009 (Previously provided to the AER in soft copy under cover of an email from R Gross, General Manager Regulation, CitiPower and Powercor to C Pattas, General Manager Network Regulation South Branch, AER dated 30 April 2010 and in hard copy under cover of a letter of the same date from R Gross to C Pattas) (Attachment 122 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p40, under the heading 'Services Fee - Powercor Network Services'.

²⁹⁷ This figure is derived by deducting the PNS revenues attributable to each of CitiPower and Powercor Australia (appearing in Table 5.2) from PNS' total revenues (appearing in Table 5.2).

²⁹⁸ Powercor Network Services Pty Ltd ABN 94 123 230 240, Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2009 (Previously provided to AER under cover of email from B Cleeve, Manager Price Review, CitiPower and Powercor Australia, to S Sandles, AER, dated 29 March 2010) (Attachment 108 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p14, item 4. PNS' total revenue appearing in Table 5.2 of this Revised Regulatory Proposal is derived by summing the 'Construction and maintenance revenue - related parties' for 2009 and the 'Construction and maintenance revenue' for 2009 figures that appear in this item 4.

• recently commenced a project valued at \$3million to design and construct the Country Energy Buronga Zone Substation in NSW.

The benefits to Powercor Australia from PNS' provision of services to third parties include:

- the development of a wider pool of specialised labour resources, e.g. training and development of apprentices, trainees, engineers, on external business activities at no cost to Powercor Australia;
- increased buying power in the logistics/supply chain, so reducing costs to Powercor Australia for equipment, materials and contracts sourced for them;
- reduced overhead costs for Powercor Australia as these PNS overhead costs are spread over a broader customer base;
- the benefits of innovations, e.g. in technologies, construction techniques and work practices, developed and funded through projects undertaken by PNS for third parties; and
- increased utilisation of existing labour pool and high cost equipment, which in turn reduces the costs faced by Powercor Australia.

5.5.2.4 Margins under Corporate Services Agreement and Network Services Agreement reflect arm's length margins

Powercor Australia disagrees with the AER's dismissal as irrelevant of the reports prepared by Ernst & Young on arm's length transfer prices for services of the kind provided under the Corporate Services Agreement and the Network Services Agreement. To the contrary, Powercor Australia maintains that those reports are relevant and establish that the margins payable by it under those Agreements reflect the margins that would be expected to be agreed to by parties operating on an arm's length basis.

It would appear that the AER has dismissed the relevance of the Ernst & Young report on the basis that differences in the assumptions underpinning the tax and economic regulatory regimes meant that it could not be *'assumed that practices which are appropriate in a tax context are always appropriate in an economic regulatory context'*.²⁹⁹ Powercor Australia disagrees with the position taken by the AER on this issue and notes that, in a similar manner to the economic regulatory regime, the ATO's methods are designed to prevent any consideration passing between two related parties that would **not** be agreed by parties operating on an arm's length basis.³⁰⁰

The ruling developed by the ATO on this issue provides guidance on when the costs associated with providing services to related parties should be recovered and when the

²⁹⁹ AER, Draft Determination, pp187-8.

³⁰⁰ Ernst & Young, CitiPower Pty and Powercor Australia Limited Analysis of Transfer Prices for Corporate Services, 20 November 2006 (Attachment P0049 to the Initial Regulatory Proposal), p5, Ernst & Young, CitiPower Pty and Powercor Australia Limited Analysis of Transfer Prices for Construction and Maintenance Services, 30 November 2006 (Attachment P0048 to the Initial Regulatory Proposal), p4, Ernst & Young, CitiPower Pty and Powercor Australia Limited Analysis of Transfer Prices for Customer Services (Excluding Metering), 20 November 2006 (Attachment P0050 to the Initial Regulatory Proposal), p4, Ernst & Young, CitiPower Pty and Powercor Australia Limited Analysis of Transfer Prices for IT Services, 20 November 2006 (Attachment P0051 to the Initial Regulatory Proposal), p4, Ernst & Young, CitiPower Pty and Powercor Australia Limited Analysis of Transfer Prices for IT Services, 20 November 2006 (Attachment P0051 to the Initial Regulatory Proposal), p4, Ernst & Young, CitiPower Pty and Powercor Australia Limited Analysis of Transfer Prices for IT Services, 20 May 2009 (Attachment P0052 to the Initial Regulatory Proposal), p4.

costs should include a mark-up on those costs (i.e., a margin above the directly and indirectly incurred costs). In accordance with the ruling, where the provision of services to an associated entity confers a benefit on that entity then the arm's length charge should reflect the economic and commercial value of that benefit, including a margin.³⁰¹ The application of the ATO's ruling requires consideration to be given to: ³⁰²

- the nature and the quantum of the services provided and in particular whether the services can be characterised as:
 - non-chargeable activities, i.e., if the entities were unrelated they would not be prepared to pay the other party for the activities;
 - specific benefit activities, i.e., if the entities were not related they would pay the other party for the activities; or
 - centralised services, i.e., the services benefit the related group as a whole or a particular group of related subsidiaries and must be apportioned and so a charge for the services would normally be made if the entities were dealing with each other on an arm's length basis; and
- the method that will be used to determine the arm's length charge. The methods accepted by the ATO for determining the arm's length charge include:
 - the CUP method this method may be used where the service provided by the related entity is also provided to an unrelated entity. In such circumstances the price paid by the third party may be used to derive the charge payable by the related party; and
 - the CP method this method calculates an arm's length mark-up by analysing the profit earned on direct and indirect costs that companies providing comparable services to third parties earn. This is the method that Ernst & Young applied to calculate the cost plus margins (measured as the ratio of EBIT to opex) for all of the services that CitiPower and Powercor Australia are provided under their respective outsourcing agreements.

³⁰¹ Ernst & Young, CitiPower Pty and Powercor Australia Limited Analysis of Transfer Prices for Corporate Services, 20 November 2006 (Attachment P0049 to the Initial Regulatory Proposal), p6, Ernst & Young, CitiPower Pty and Powercor Australia Limited Analysis of Transfer Prices for Construction and Maintenance Services, 30 November 2006 (Attachment P0048 to the Initial Regulatory Proposal), p6, Ernst & Young, CitiPower Pty and Powercor Australia Limited Analysis of Transfer Prices for Customer Services (Excluding Metering), 20 November 2006 (Attachment P0050 to the Initial Regulatory Proposal), p6, Ernst & Young, CitiPower Pty and Powercor Australia Limited Analysis of Transfer Prices for IT Services, 20 November 2006 (Attachment P0051 to the Initial Regulatory Proposal), p6, Ernst & Young, CitiPower Pty and Powercor Australia Limited Analysis of Transfer Prices for IT Services, 20 November 2006 (Attachment P0051 to the Initial Regulatory Proposal), p6, Ernst & Young, CitiPower Pty and Powercor Australia Limited Analysis of Transfer Prices for IT Services, 20 May 2009 (Attachment P0052 to the Initial Regulatory Proposal), p6.

³⁰² Ernst & Young, CitiPower Pty and Powercor Australia Limited Analysis of Transfer Prices for Corporate Services, 20 November 2006 (Attachment P0049 to the Initial Regulatory Proposal), pp.5-8, Ernst & Young, CitiPower Pty and Powercor Australia Limited Analysis of Transfer Prices for Construction and Maintenance Services, 30 November 2006 (Attachment P0048 to the Initial Regulatory Proposal), pp 5-7, Ernst & Young, CitiPower Pty and Powercor Australia Limited Analysis of Transfer Prices for Customer Services (Excluding Metering), 20 November 2006 (Attachment P0050 to the Initial Regulatory Proposal), pp 5-7, Ernst & Young, CitiPower Pty and Powercor Australia Limited Analysis of Transfer Prices for IT Services, 20 November 2006 (Attachment P0051 to the Initial Regulatory Proposal), pp 5-7, Ernst & Young, CitiPower Pty and Powercor Australia Limited Analysis of Transfer Prices for IT Services, 20 November 2006 (Attachment P0051 to the Initial Regulatory Proposal), pp 5-7, Ernst & Young, CitiPower Pty and Powercor Australia Limited Analysis of Transfer Prices, 20 May 2009 (Attachment P0052 to the Initial Regulatory Proposal), pp 5-7.

Powercor Australia cannot understand why the AER maintains that an analysis of the profit on direct and indirect costs earned by companies providing comparable services to third parties, of the kind used by Ernst &Young in calculating the cost plus margins adopted under the Corporate Services Agreement and the Network Services Agreement, is not relevant to the objectives of the economic regulatory regime under Chapter 6 of the Rules. In Powercor Australia's view such an analysis is just as relevant in an economic regulatory context as it is in a taxation context, particularly against the background of Powercor Australia's comments on the application of theory on pricing outcomes in workably competitive markets in section 5.5.1.2 above.

The application of this approach by Ernst & Young and its findings should **not** therefore be dismissed out of hand as the AER has sought to do. Rather, the AER should accept that the recommendations contained in the various Ernst & Young reports reflect the margins that would be expected to be agreed to by parties operating on an arm's length basis and, accordingly, that the margins payable by Powercor Australia under the Corporate Services Agreement and the Network Services Agreement reflect the margins that would be expected to be agreed to by parties operating operating on an arm's length basis.

5.5.3 Discretionary Risk Management Scheme with CHED Services

For the purposes of this Revised Regulatory Proposal only, Powercor Australia does not contest the AER's assessment of the administration fee payable to CHED Services under the DRMS. This is because, due to an oversight, Powercor Australia's forecast of opex for 2011-15 in its Initial Regulatory Proposal did not include any amount in respect of the administration fee payable to CHED Services under the DRMS forecast to be incurred by Powercor Australia in 2011-15.

As set out in Powercor Australia's Initial Regulatory Proposal, Powercor Australia commissioned Aon to calculate the self-insurance premiums that Powercor Australia could expect to pay into the DRMS in each year in the 2011-15 regulatory control period.³⁰³ The self-insurance premiums for 2011-15 calculated by Aon in its report 'Powercor Australia Self Insurance Risk Quantification'³⁰⁴ are set out in Table 6-18 in the Initial Regulatory Proposal.³⁰⁵ As disclosed by section 2.2 of the Aon report, which discusses Aon's methodology and approach to determining Powercor Australia's self-insurance premiums in 2011-15, Aon did not include any amount in respect of the administration fee payable to CHED Services under the DRMS in 2011-15. As the self-insurance premiums calculated by Aon constituted Powercor Australia's forecast opex on self-insurance for 2011-15 set out in the Initial Regulatory Proposal, it follows that Powercor Australia's forecast opex on self-insurance for 2011-15 in that Proposal did not include any amount in respect of the administration fee payable to CHED Services under the DRMS in 2011-15 in that Proposal did not include any amount in respect of the ADM constituted Powercor Australia's forecast opex on self-insurance for 2011-15 set out in the Initial Regulatory Proposal, it follows that Powercor Australia's forecast opex on self-insurance for 2011-15 in that Proposal did not include any amount in respect of the administration fee payable to CHED Services under the DRMS.³⁰⁶

³⁰³ Initial Regulatory Proposal, pp180-1.

³⁰⁴ Attachment P0066 to the Initial Regulatory Proposal.

³⁰⁵ Initial Regulatory Proposal, p181.

³⁰⁶ Powercor Australia's actual opex in the 2009 base year included the payment of an administration fee to CHED Services under the DRMS. However, the self-insurance step change was calculated by deducting Powercor Australia's actual opex on self-insurance in 2009 from the self-insurance premiums for 2011-15 calculated by Aon. As a result, the amount of Powercor Australia's forecast opex on self-insurance in the Initial Regulatory Proposal (being the sum of base year opex on self-insurance and the self-insurance step change) was set equal to the premium payable to the DRMS estimated by Aon for 2011-15. Accordingly, while Powercor Australia's actual opex in the

5.5.4 Electrical Network Communications Agreement and Corporate Communications Agreement with Silk Telecom

Powercor Australia disagrees with the AER's assessment of the margins payable to Silk Telecom under the Electrical Network Communications Agreement and the Corporate Communications Agreement.

Powercor Australia is of the opinion that the price payable under both the Electrical Network Communications Agreement and the Corporate Communications Agreement with Silk Telecom, including the implied margins, should be accepted by the AER as being consistent with the opex and capex criteria contained in the Rules and used in the derivation of forecast opex and capex for the 2011-15 regulatory control period.

Powercor Australia maintains that the AER must accept its forecast expenditure under the Electrical Network Communications Agreement and the Corporate Communications Agreement with Silk Telecom, including the implied margins, without adjustment because:

- as discussed in section 5.5.1.1 above and Appendix 5.1 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal, the opex and capex criteria, properly construed, do not permit the AER to reduce a DNSP's total expenditure forecasts, for example to exclude margins under outsourcing arrangements, below the efficient costs of achieving the opex and capex objectives;
- in deciding whether it is satisfied that Powercor Australia's total expenditure forecasts reasonably reflect the opex and capex criteria, clauses 6.5.6(e)(4) and 6.5.7(e)(4) of the Rules provide that the AER must have regard to benchmark opex and capex that would be incurred by an efficient DNSP over the regulatory control period; and
- benchmarking analysis demonstrates that:
 - Powercor Australia's forecast opex for 2011-15 set out in its Initial Regulatory Proposal inclusive of any expenditure incurred under the Electrical Network Communications Agreement and the Corporate Communications Agreement with Silk Telecom including implied margins is efficient; and
 - Powercor Australia's unit rates for capital works employed in forecasting capex for 2011-15 in its Initial Regulatory Proposal and this Revised Regulatory Proposal including any contract prices payable by Powercor Australia to Silk Telecom under the Electrical Network Communications Agreement and the Corporate Communications Agreement inclusive of implied margins are efficiently incurred.

Section 5.5.2.1 above discusses the relevant benchmarking analysis.

In addition, Powercor Australia observes that:

²⁰⁰⁹ base year included the payment of an administration fee to CHED Services under the DRMS, its total forecast opex on self-insurance in 2011-15 set out in the Initial Regulatory Proposal did not.

- The AER recognised in its Draft Determination that margins above direct costs are warranted where they are necessary to enable a contractor to recover common costs and concluded that:³⁰⁷
 - the margins payable to Silk Telecom may be warranted, at least in part, to enable it to recover a reasonable allocation of its common costs; and
 - \circ to the extent that Powercor Australia substantiated the appropriate allocation of Silk Telecom's common costs, it would allow a margin in the Final Determination that reflects this amount.
- The AER observed in its Draft Determination that 'the AER is not aware of any assets owned and utilised by Silk Telecom in providing services to CitiPower and Powercor which are not already contained within the DNSPs' regulatory asset bases' but recognised that '[t]he existence of such assets would justify a margin being paid to Silk Telecom'.³⁰⁸
- As discussed in section 5.5.1 above, the NEL and the Rules necessitate an inquiry by the AER as to whether the contract price under outsourcing arrangements such as the Electrical Network Communications Agreement and the Corporate Communications Agreement with Silk Telecom exceeds the costs that would have been incurred if the services were provided in-house on a stand alone basis.
- As also discussed in section 5.5.1 above and expanded upon in section 5.5.2.3 above, even if the AER were to adopt a more stringent counterfactual than the stand-alone, in-house cost of service provision (which Powercor Australia does **not** concede is permissible under the Rules) then the AER should **not** take into account the efficiencies derived by the contractor, here Silk Telecom, from the provision of unregulated services or, at a minimum, services to third parties when assessing a DNSP's forecast expenditure under an outsourcing arrangement that fails the 'presumption threshold'.

In the time available, Powercor Australia has not been able to obtain from Silk Telecom the information required by Powercor Australia to determine the extent to which the margins payable by Silk Telecom may be warranted by reason of:

- the recovery by Silk Telecom of a reasonable allocation of its common costs;
- the existence of assets owned and utilised by Silk Telecom in providing services to CitiPower and Powercor Australia under the Electrical Network Communications Agreement and/or the Corporate Communications Agreement which are not already contained within their RABs;
- the contract price under the Electrical Network Communications Agreement and the Corporate Communications Agreement with Silk Telecom being lower than the costs that would be incurred if the services were provided in-house on a stand alone basis; and/or

³⁰⁷ AER, Draft Determination Appendices, Appendix H, p33.

³⁰⁸ AER, Draft Determination Appendices, Appendix H, p33.

• any scale, scope or other efficiencies accruing by reason of Silk Telecom's provision of services to parties outside the group to which Powercor Australia belongs.

Powecor Australia will continue to make efforts to obtain this information and will bring any such information obtained, together with the implications thereof, to the AER's attention at the earliest practicable opportunity. In the interim, however, Powercor Australia observes that:

- when Silk Telecom was part of the group to which Powercor Australia belongs, it had over \$15 million in property plant and equipment that were directly utilised in the provision of services to CitiPower and Powercor Australia and which are not contained within their RABs; and
- Silk Telecom has significant corporate costs embedded in its structure.

Accordingly, Powercor Australia has not excluded these margins paid to Silk Telecom from its forecast expenditure for the 2011-15 regulatory control period in this Revised Regulatory Proposal.

5.6 Powercor Australia's Revised Regulatory Proposal

Powercor Australia's Revised Regulatory Proposal in respect of its treatment of forecast expenditure under its outsourcing arrangements with CHED Services, PNS and Silk Telecom is unchanged from that set out in its Initial Regulatory Proposal.

In summary, Powercor Australia maintains in this Revised Regulatory Proposal that:

- the prices payable under its Corporate Services Agreement with CHED Services, its Network Services Agreement with PNS and its Electrical Network Communications Agreement and Corporate Communications Agreement with Silk Telecom, inclusive of margins, satisfy the opex and capex criteria;
- the margins payable under these outsourcing agreements should be included in its opex and capex forecasts for the 2011-15 regulatory control period; and
- the margins payable under these outsourcing agreements should be included in the calculation of the EBSS carry over amounts for 2011-15.

For completeness, Powercor Australia also observes that, for the purposes of this Revised Regulatory Proposal and for the reasons cited by the AER in its Draft Determination, Powercor Australia accepts the AER's conclusions in the Draft Determination that:

- the margins included in actual opex incurred for 2006-09 should be excluded in calculating the efficiency carry over mechanism amounts to be carried forward for 2011-15; and
- the margins incurred in its actual capex for 2006-09 should be included in the historical actual capex for 2006-09 that is rolled into the RAB in determining the opening RAB value for the 2011-15 regulatory control period.

6. OPERATING EXPENDITURE

In this Chapter of the Revised Regulatory Proposal, Powercor Australia responds to:

- Chapter 7 of the Draft Determination in respect of opex; and
- Appendix L of the Draft Determination in respect of step changes.

Powercor Australia also sets out its revised opex forecast for the 2010-15 regulatory control period. Powercor Australia has prepared this revised forecast to be consistent with the AER's Draft Decision for other Victorian DNSPs, with the exception of specific deviations which are discussed in this Chapter which Powercor Australia considers are required to meet the opex objectives described in the Rules.

6.1 Summary of key points

6.1.1 Adjustments to base year opex

The AER's adjustments to Powercor Australia's base year opex in respect of superannuation payments and capitalisation, and to account for movement in the provisions relating to employee entitlements, were incorrect. Accordingly, Powercor Australia has proposed in this Revised Regulatory Proposal correct adjustments to account for movement in provisions relating to employee entitlements and in respect of capitalisation. Powercor Australia has retained within its base year opex all superannuation costs, however, it has applied a step change for the years 2011-15 based on an actuarial assessment of its defined benefit scheme and the increase in contributions through the accumulation fund to offset retiring employees.

Powercor Australia does not accept the AER's decision not to apply a customer growth factor to its allowance in respect of GSL payments and accordingly has included in this Revised Regulatory Proposal an allowance based on its average GSL payments over 2005-09 escalated with the customer growth factor set out in Chapter 7 of this Revised Regulatory Proposal.

6.1.2 Debt raising costs

Powercor Australia does not accept the AER's position in respect of debt raising costs. In particular, it does not agree that early refinancing costs are included in the calculation of direct debt raising costs.

6.1.3 Step changes

Powercor Australia does not accept the AER's decision in respect of its proposed step change for compliance with the 2010 Line Clearance Regulations. Powercor Australia submits that the 2010 Line Clearance Regulations will significantly increase its costs of implementing and maintaining line clearances and sets out its step change costs resulting from the changes between the 2005 Line Clearance Regulations and the 2010 Line Clearance Regulations.

Powercor Australia does not accept the AER's decision to reject its proposed step change in respect of its at risk townships program. Powercor Australia believes in light of community expectations, a prudent operator would undertake works such as its program. The AER has not cited, and Powercor Australia is not aware, of any legislative reason why the AER has to wait until the Victorian Government implements its response to the Bushfires Royal Commission. It is imprudent of the AER not to

consider the program at this time given that the opportunity to mitigate some of the fire risks posed by distribution assets around at risk townships exists today.

In respect of its insurance step change, Powercor Australia proposes to provide the AER with invoices for its actual premiums once they become available in September 2010. Powercor Australia will accept a step change that reflects the difference between its 2009 and 2010 external insurance.

The AER failed to comment on Powercor Australia's proposed step change for communications in extreme supply events. The amendments to the Distribution Code which take effect from 1 April 2010 in respect of communications in extreme supply events will result in increased costs for Powercor Australia which are not reflected in its base year opex. It is necessary for the AER to allow this step change for Powercor Australia because the costs associated with the step change satisfy the opex criteria, as the AER has recognised in allowing a similar step change for Jemena and UED.

In this Revised Regulatory Proposal, Powercor Australia proposes additional step changes in respect of:

- the Commonwealth Government's announcement in respect of the superannuation guarantee levy;
- compliance with the AER's outcomes monitoring framework that is foreshadowed in Chapter 21 of its Draft Determination;
- compliance with the AER's proposed tariff assignment requirements in Appendix G of its Draft Determination; and
- Transmission-related Costs (should the AER reject its proposal to include new terms in the WAPC and side constraint formula to address Transmission-related Costs).

6.2 Rule requirements

Clause 6.5.6(c) of the Rules provides that the AER must accept the forecast of required opex that is included in a building block proposal if the AER is satisfied that the total forecast opex for the regulatory control period reasonably reflects the 'opex criteria', namely:

- the efficient costs of achieving the opex objectives (set out in clause 6.5.6(a));
- the costs that a prudent operator in the circumstances of the relevant distribution business would require to achieve the opex objectives; and
- a realistic expectation of the demand forecast and cost inputs required to achieve the opex objectives.

Powercor Australia set out its understanding of the interpretation of this statutory test in a letter to Mr Chris Pattas of the AER dated 4 May 2010. By way of summary, Powercor Australia considers that there may be a range of forecasts that reasonably reflect the opex criteria.³⁰⁹ Powercor Australia appreciates that the AER may need to assess the methodology, approaches and input values used to develop the total forecast.

³⁰⁹ The notion that there can be no one correct or 'best' figure was recognised by the AEMC in its Rule Determination, National Electricity Amendment (Economic Regulation of Transmission Services) Rule 2006 No. 18, 16 November 2006 (Attachment 109 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p52. While the statement was made in the context of the regulation of transmission businesses, it is equally applicable to the regulation of DNSPs.

However, the ultimate inquiry for the AER is whether the expenditure forecast meets the statutory test. After assessing the methodologies, approaches and input values underpinning the total forecast, the AER must 'take a step back' and consider whether the forecast falls within the range that reasonably reflects the opex criteria.

The AER must balance any competing effects on the total forecast of Powercor Australia's choices of methodology, approach or input values to determine whether, overall, those choices mean the AER is not satisfied that the total forecast falls within the range that reasonably reflects the opex criteria. The AER is not permitted to reject a total forecast put forward by Powercor Australia because one or more of the methodologies, approaches or inputs used to develop the forecast does/do not fall within the range that reasonably reflects the opex criteria without first satisfying itself that the compound effect of the choices is such that the total forecast does not reasonably reflect the criteria.

Where a forecast put forward by Powercor Australia does not fall within the range of forecasts that reasonably reflect the opex criteria, clause 6.12.3(f) of the Rules provides that the AER is only permitted to amend Powercor Australia's forecast to the extent necessary to enable it to be approved in accordance with the Rules, that is, for the AER to be satisfied that the amended forecast reasonably reflects the opex criteria. The AER is not permitted, for example, to reduce or increase a single component of the forecast without determining whether (in light of the other components of the forecast) the change is required to ensure that the total forecast falls within the range that reasonably reflects the opex criteria and is not permitted to reduce or increase the forecast to the level it or its consultants consider most appropriate.

This approach to the Rules is consistent with the philosophy underlying economic regulation under Chapter 6 that an economic regulator should not second guess the operational decisions of the regulated business. Provided, overall, the forecasts of opex reasonably reflect the opex criteria, the expenditure should be allowed by the AER.

In addition, the complexity of forecasting opex for a five year period means that the risk of regulatory error if a 'whole of expenditure' approach is not adopted by the AER may undermine the NEO, which is to promote efficient investment in, and efficient operation and use of, electricity services for the long term interests of consumers of electricity with respect to price, quality, safety and security of supply of electricity and the reliability, safety and security of the national electricity system.³¹⁰

6.2.1 Step changes

Since clause 6.5.6(c) of the Rules requires the opex forecast to reflect the costs that a prudent operator in the circumstances of the relevant DNSP would require to achieve the opex objectives, the forecast must take into account all relevant changes. A positive step change may be permitted where in the next regulatory control period an efficient and prudent operator would be required to undertake new or increased activities and incur new or increased costs, which are not reflected in its 2009 efficient

³¹⁰ The highly complex nature of forecasting opex over a five year period was recognised by the AEMC in its Rule Determination, National Electricity Amendment (Economic Regulation of Transmission Services) Rule 2006 No. 18, 16 November 2006 (Attachment 109 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p52. While the statement was made in the context of the regulation of transmission businesses, it is equally applicable to the regulation distribution businesses.

costs. In addition a negative step change may occur where in the next regulatory control period a prudent DNSPs' costs decrease from its 2009 efficient costs as a result of a decreased activity.

6.3 **Powercor Australia's Initial Regulatory Proposal**

In Chapter 6 of its Initial Regulatory Proposal, Powercor Australia:

- proposed total forecast opex for the 2011-15 regulatory control period of \$902,222,000 (\$2010);
- identified the fourth year of the 2006-10 regulatory control period being 2009 as an efficient base year;
- described the nature, aims and objectives of its forecast opex for the next regulatory control period; and
- provided information on its proposed step changes relevant to the development of its opex forecasts.

6.4 AER's Draft Determination

The AER adopted a revealed cost approach and adopted 2009 as the base year from which to assess the DNSPs' forecast opex.³¹¹ Since Powercor Australia's audited actual expenditure was not available until late in the process, the AER used the unaudited base year costs as a placeholder for the DNSPs' audited 2009 costs. The AER said that it would have regard to the DNSPs' audited 2009 costs in establishing base year expenditure for its Final Decision.

The AER considered it was necessary to adjust the DNSPs' reported base year expenditure for the following in order to ensure that the costs reflected efficient costs in accordance with clause 6.5.6(c) of the Rules³¹²:

- related party margins;
- movements in provisions;
- distribution licence fees;
- a reallocation of costs to AMI services;
- GSL payments;
- avoided DuOS;
- an over allocation of the related party's corporate costs to the DNSP;
- corporate cost categories that may double count costs recovered elsewhere in the regulatory regime (for example, debt raising costs) or other corporate cost categories that do not sufficiently contribute to the provision of distribution services or are not an efficient cost that would be incurred by a prudent operator;
- where necessary, the removal of non-recurrent costs to ensure that the base year costs are representative of efficient costs; and

³¹¹ AER, Draft Determination, p238.

³¹² AER, Draft Determination, pp240-6.

• any changes in capitalisation policy between the current regulatory control period and the forthcoming regulatory control period.

The AER decided to roll forward the 2009 base year costs to 2010 by inflating the 2009 costs by the change in costs assumed by the ESCV in determining the benchmark opex allowance for 2009 and 2010 in its 2006-10 EDPR.³¹³

The AER rejected Powercor Australia's proposals with respect to scale escalation, real cost escalation and debt raising costs on the basis that they did not meet the opex criteria.³¹⁴

The AER rejected Powercor Australia's proposed step changes for:

- self insurance;
- insurance;
- climate change;
- compliance with the Electricity Safety Management Regulations;
- compliance with the 2010 Line Clearance Regulations; and
- its at risk townships project.

The AER failed to comment on Powercor Australia's proposed step change for communications in extreme supply events.

The AER accepted Powercor Australia's proposed step changes for the national framework for distribution network planning and expansion. The AER also accepted a step change for Powercor Australia in respect of the customer charter (although it reduced the amount of the step change proposed by Powercor Australia). The AER also gave Powercor Australia a step change in respect of regulatory submission costs.

6.5 Powercor Australia's response to AER's Draft Determination

Powercor Australia has reviewed all of the matters raised by the AER in its Draft Determination, including where the AER has made adjustments to Powercor Australia's Initial Regulatory Proposal.

Powercor Australia has amended its Initial Regulatory Proposal and prepared this Revised Regulatory Proposal to be consistent with the AER's Draft Determination in respect of the following:

- the AER's adjustment to base year costs to remove regulatory reset costs;³¹⁵
- the AER's decision to roll forward the 2009 base year costs to 2010 by inflating the 2009 costs by the change in costs assumed by the ESCV, adjusted for the difference between forecast and actual growth, in determining the benchmark opex allowance for 2009 and 2010 in its 2006-10 EDPR;³¹⁶

³¹³ AER, Draft Determination, p246.

³¹⁴ AER, Draft Determination, pp249-61.

³¹⁵ AER, Draft Determination, p243.

³¹⁶ AER, Draft Determination, p246.

- the AER's decision in respect of Powercor Australia's proposed step change for self insurance:³¹⁷
- the AER's decision in respect of Powercor Australia's proposed step change for climate change:³¹⁸
- the AER's decision in respect of Powercor Australia's proposed step change for compliance with the Electricity Safety Management Regulations;³¹⁹
- the AER's decision in respect of Powercor Australia's proposed step change for the national framework for distribution network planning and expansion;³²⁰
- the AER's decision in respect of Powercor Australia's proposed step change in respect of the customer charter:³²¹ and
- the AER's decision to include a step change for Powercor Australia in respect of regulatory submission costs.³²²

Powercor Australia disputes the AER's Draft Determination in respect of opex in respect of the following issues:

- the AER's adjustment to base year operating costs for 2009 to account for movement in the provisions relating to employee entitlements;
- the AER's adjustment to base year and forecast costs to exclude related party margins;³²³
- the AER's adjustment to base year opex in respect of Powercor Australia's distribution licence fee:³²⁴
- the AER's adjustment to base year costs in respect of GSL payments;³²⁵
- the AER's adjustment in respect of capitalisation:³²⁶
- the AER's adjustment to base year costs in respect of superannuation payments;327
- the AER's decision to reject Powercor Australia's proposed step change in respect of insurance;³²⁸
- the AER's decision in respect of Powercor Australia's proposed step change in respect of compliance with the 2010 Line Clearance Regulations;³²⁹
- the AER's decision in respect of Powercor Australia's proposed step change in respect of its at risk townships project:³³⁰

³¹⁷ AER, Draft Determination, Appendix M.

³¹⁸ AER, Draft Determination, Appendix L, p186.

³¹⁹ AER, Draft Determination, Appendix L, p159. ³²⁰ AER, Draft Determination, Appendix L, p197.

³²¹ AER, Draft Determination, Appendix L, p203. ³²² AER, Draft Determination, Appendix L, p208.

³²³ AER, Draft Determination, p242.

³²⁴ AER, Draft Determination, p242.

³²⁵ AER, Draft Determination, p242. ³²⁶ AER, Draft Determination, p246.

³²⁷ AER, Draft Determination, p244.

³²⁸ AER, Draft Determination, pp191-2.

³²⁹ AER, Draft Determination, Appendix L, p171.

³³⁰ AER, Draft Determination, Appendix L, p232.

- the AER's failure to comment on Powercor Australia's proposed step change for communications in extreme supply events;
- the AER's decision in respect of Powercor Australia's debt raising costs;
- the AER's decision in respect of scale escalation (Powercor Australia responds to this in Chapter 7 of this Revised Regulatory Proposal); and
- the AER's decision in respect of real cost escalation (Powercor Australia responds to this in Chapter 8 of its Revised Regulatory Proposal).

In addition, Powercor Australia proposes additional step changes in respect of:

- its defined benefit and accumulation superannuation schemes;
- the Commonwealth Government's announcement in respect of the superannuation guarantee levy;
- compliance with the AER's outcomes monitoring framework that is foreshadowed in Chapter 21 of its Draft Determination; and
- compliance with the AER's proposed tariff assignment requirements in Appendix G of its Draft Determination; and
- Transmission-related Costs (should the AER reject its proposal to include new terms in the WAPC and side constraint formula to address Transmission-related Costs).

Powercor Australia notes that:

- The AER asked Victorian DNSPs to provide forecast expenditure associated with any avoided DuOS.³³¹ Powercor Australia observes that it does not have any avoided DuOS and forecasts that it will not have any in 2011-15.
- The AER stated that it would review Powercor Australia's audited 2009 accounts for its final decision and, where necessary, make an adjustment to remove any AMI related adjustments.³³² Powercor Australia observes that it does not have any AMI related adjustments in its audited 2009 accounts.

The aspects of the AER's Draft Determination which Powercor Australia disputes are expanded upon below.

6.5.1 Base year expenditure

Powercor Australia observes that the AER has had regard to the 10 March 2010 unaudited regulatory accounts for 2009 in its Draft Determination in respect of opex. Powercor Australia assumes that, as the AER has indicated, it will have regard to the final audited regulatory accounts for 2009 in establishing the base year level of expenditure its Final Determination.³³³

6.5.2 Movements in provisions

In determining the base year operating costs for 2009, the AER has made adjustments to account for movements in provisions. Powercor Australia does not disagree in

³³¹ AER, Draft Determination, p242.

³³² AER, Draft Determination, p242.

³³³ AER, Draft Determination, p238.

principle with making such adjustments. However the AER has made an incorrect adjustment for employee entitlements.

As set out in Chapter 14 of this Revised Regulatory Proposal, the provision adjustment for employee entitlements for 2009 is incorrect for the following reasons:

- The Draft Determination uses the unaudited 2009 Regulatory Accounts to calculate the provision movement. However the final 2009 Regulatory Accounts employee entitlement provision statement differs from the unaudited value.
- The Draft Determination allocates the entire employee entitlement provision movement between capex and opex. The employee entitlement provision for 2009 contains a present value adjustment for long service leave which is made in accordance with accounting standards. This adjustment is driven by assumptions in the present value calculation and therefore remains allocated to opex as per the income statement.
- The Draft Determination allocates the employee entitlement provision based on the labour costs in the unaudited 2009 Regulatory Accounts (which only includes labour costs for the licensee) whereas as it should be based on the labour costs of the ownership group. The following table provides the labour cost split for 2009 based on the ownership group.

	2009
	Labour Costs
Operating Expenditure	
Maintenance Expenditure	
Capital Expenditure	
Total	

Table 6.1 Labour cost split for 2009

The second and third issues were highlighted in Powercor Australia's letter to the AER of 3 February 2010 regarding 'Regulatory Accounts, Provisions and AMI Adjustment to Regulatory Accounts'.³³⁴

Powercor Australia engaged its external auditor, Deloitte to review all the movements in provisions proposed by Powercor Australia. Deloitte has confirmed the adjustments proposed by Powercor Australia to be correct.³³⁵

6.5.3 Exclusion of related party margins

Powercor Australia does not accept the AER's decision to exclude related party margins from base year opex in forecasting opex for 2011-15. Powercor Australia

³³⁴ Attachment 217 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal

³³⁵ Letter from T Imbesi, Partner, Deloitte, to J Williams, Chief Financial Officer, CHEDA, titled 'Powercor Regulatory Accounts: Accounting treatment of provisions', 20 July 2010 (Attachment 218 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal).

refers the AER to Chapter 5 of this Revised Regulatory Proposal which deals with outsourcing arrangements.

6.5.4 Distribution licence fees

6.5.4.1 AER's Draft Determination

The AER stated that it would exclude distribution licence fees from the Victorian DNSP's base year expenditure on the basis that distribution licence fees will be recovered on an annual basis through the weighted average price cap.³³⁶

The AER deducted approximately \$0.8 million for Powercor Australia's distribution licence fees.

6.5.4.2 Powercor Australia's response to the AER's Draft Determination

The adjustment which the AER made for Powercor Australia's distribution licence fees is too high. Powercor Australia's actual distribution licence fees for 2009 were \$302,995. Accordingly, the AER should adjust that amount from Powercor Australia's base year expenditure in respect of the distribution licence fee adjustment.

Attached to this Revised Regulatory Proposal is a copy of the invoice for Powercor Australia's 2009 distribution licence fees.³³⁷

6.5.5 Guaranteed service level payments

6.5.5.1 Powercor Australia's Initial Regulatory Proposal

Powercor Australia based its forecast of the number of GSL payments on the number of payments made in 2009 and it applied a customer growth factor to the forecasts.

6.5.5.2 AER's Draft Determination

The AER excluded Powercor Australia's 2009 GSL payments from its base year opex because it considered that those costs were not representative of the GSL allowance for the 2011-15 regulatory control period.³³⁸ It provided Powercor Australia with a GSL allowance for the 2011-15 regulatory control period based on an average of its actual payments over 2005-09.

The AER rejected Powercor Australia's forecast of GSL payments based upon 2009 because it considered that GSL payments in that year appeared abnormally high.³³⁹ Further, the AER did not accept the customer growth factor which Powercor Australia applied to its forecasts.

6.5.5.3 Powercor Australia's response to the AER's Draft Determination

Powercor Australia agrees that it is appropriate to exclude 2009 GSL payments from its base year opex and provide it with a GSL allowance for the 2011-15 regulatory control period based on an average of its actual payments over 2005-09.

However, Powercor Australia disagrees with the AER's Draft Determination not to apply a customer growth factor to the average GSL payment value. This is because by their very nature GSL payments would be expected to increase as customer numbers

³³⁶ AER, Draft Determination, p242.

³³⁷ Attachment 129 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal.

³³⁸ AER, Draft Determination, p242.

³³⁹ AER, Draft Determination, p687.

increase. Accordingly, Powercor Australia has applied the customer growth factor set out in Chapter 7 of this Revised Regulatory Proposal to its average GSL payment value.

Powercor Australia provides as an attachment to this Revised Regulatory Proposal a model which calculates an historic average level of GSL payments based on payments reported to the ESCV and AER during 2005-09.340

	\$'000 (\$2010)							
	2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 Tot							
GSL payments	1,152	1,152	1,152	1,152	1,152	5,761		

Powercor Australia's forecast GSL payments are set out in the following table.

Table 6.2 Forecast GSL payments

6.5.6 Capitalisation adjustment

6.5.6.1 Powercor Australia's Initial Regulatory Proposal

In its Initial Regulatory Proposal, Powercor Australia determined the allocation of overheads in accordance with its overhead allocation policy based on its proposed capex and opex costs and service classification.³⁴¹ Powercor Australia proposed a step change decrease in standard control opex due to increased capitalisation of overheads as a consequence of an increase the proportion of capex to opex. Powercor Australia's other proposed step changes were presented inclusive of overheads and therefore the capitalisation adjustment did not include overheads associated with those proposed step changes.

6.5.6.2 AER's Draft Determination

In its Draft Determination, the AER purported to accept Powercor Australia's adjustment for the reassignment of overhead costs due to increases in capital costs, referring to it as a '*capitalisation adjustment*'.³⁴² The AER reduced Powercor Australia's base level of opex by \$4 million (\$2010). The AER correspondingly increased Powercor Australia's capex associated with indirect overheads.

6.5.6.3 Powercor Australia's Response to AER's Draft Determination

Powercor Australia's accounting policy on overhead allocation

The following figure provides a simplified illustration of the flow of overheads between operating, maintenance and capital costs in accordance with Powercor Australia's accounting policy.

³⁴⁰ Attachment 12 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal.

 ³⁴¹ Initial Regulatory Proposal, p144.
 ³⁴² AER, Draft Determination, p246.



Figure 6.1 Flow of overheads between operating, maintenance and capital costs

Powercor Australia allocates overheads via an overhead rate which is calculated as the forecast overhead pool divided by the relevant forecast cost base. The overhead rates are calculated at least annually and are calculated inclusive of related party margins. The cost base is different for direct and indirect overheads.

Accordingly, the amount of overhead cost transferred out of opex for standard control services and the amount of overhead cost capitalised in capex for standard control services depends upon forecasts of:

- each of the overhead pool costs;
- each cost base that applies to each overhead pool;
- relative operating, maintenance and capital costs (including those step changes which attract overheads); and
- relative costs of standard control, alternative control, negotiated, metering and unregulated services.

The following scenarios show how the amount of the capitalisation adjustment depends on those factors.

- 1. If for the 2011-15 regulatory period the forecast costs and service classification remained unchanged from the 2009 base year, then the amount of overheads transferred out of standard control opex would remain unchanged and the amount capitalised in standard control capex would remain unchanged.
- 2. If for the 2011-15 regulatory period relative to the 2009 base year, overhead costs and service classification remained unchanged, but operating and maintenance costs increased at a faster rate than direct capital costs, then there would be a step change increase in standard control opex and a corresponding decrease in standard control capitalised overheads.

3. If for the 2011-15 regulatory period relative to the 2009 base year, overhead costs and service classification remained unchanged, but operating and maintenance costs increased at a slower rate than direct capital costs, then there would be a step change decrease in standard control operating costs and a corresponding increase in standard control capitalised overheads.

Errors in AER's capitalisation adjustment

In making the capitalisation adjustment, the AER made the following errors:

- the AER rejected Powercor Australia's forecast opex and capex, however, it applied a similar step change decrease in standard control opex due to increased capitalisation of overheads to that proposed by Powercor Australia;
- the AER applied the adjustment to indirect overheads only, but it should have applied the adjustment proportionally across indirect and direct overheads;
- the AER made a one-off adjustment to the 2009 base year cost which effectively assumed that the adjustment was equal in each year of the regulatory control period. However, the amount of the adjustment should vary in each year of the regulatory control period as the ratio of capex to total costs changes;
- the AER does not appear to have adjusted the amount proposed by Powercor Australia for related party margins. The adjustment in Powercor Australia's Initial Regulatory Proposal included related party margins. This is because Powercor Australia's accounting policies calculate and apply indirect overheads on a related party margin inclusive basis. However, the AER has excluded related party margins from forecast capex and opex in its Draft Determination. Accordingly, if the AER determines to exclude related party margins in its Final Determination, it should make an adjustment to Powercor Australia's proposed adjustment for margins; and
- the AER did not re-allocate the overheads associated with Powercor Australia's proposed step changes.

Since the AER's Draft Determination does not propose a significant increase in capital cost forecasts or a significant change in service classification relative to 2009, the Draft Determination should not have included any adjustment for the reassignment of overhead costs. That is, instead of making an adjustment of \$21.7 million, it should have applied an adjustment of or near zero.

If for the purposes of its Final Determination, the AER proposes to make changes to the capex, opex and service classification which Powercor Australia has proposed in this Revised Regulatory Proposal, it should ask Powercor Australia to determine the adjustments for the reassignment of overhead costs based on the AER's decision on those matters.

If the AER fails to make adjustments which reflect Powercor Australia's overhead allocation policy, the AER will be in error, inconsistent with Powercor Australia's Cost Allocation Methodology and will distort the efficiency benefit sharing through its inconsistency in the basis on which the benchmarks have been calculated.

On the basis of the capex, opex and service classification proposed by Powercor Australia in this Revised Regulatory Proposal the adjustments for the reassignment of overheads are set out in the following table. This table excludes related party margins.

	\$'000 (\$2010)						
	2009	2010	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015
DIRECT OVERHEADS						•	
Overhead pool							
Standard Control capex	5,485	5,576	5,997	5,957	5,901	5,808	5,788
Standard Control O&M	1,777	1,641	1,346	1,365	1,404	1,479	1,512
Other Services	1,147	1,191	1,066	1,087	1,104	1,122	1,109
Total	8,409	8,409	8,409	8,409	8,409	8,409	8,409
Step change							
Standard Control capex	0	91	511	472	416	322	302
Standard Control O&M	0	(135)	(431)	(412)	(373)	(297)	(265)
Other Services	0	45	(81)	(60)	(43)	(25)	(38)
Total	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
INDIRECT OVERHEADS							
Overhead pool							
Standard Control capex	19,282	19,558	20,047	20,102	20,242	20,016	19,961
Standard Control O&M	12,094	11,876	11,611	11,463	11,230	11,407	11,475
Other Services	2,653	2,595	2,371	2,463	2,557	2,606	2,593
Total	34,029	34,029	34,029	34,029	34,029	34,029	34,029
Step change							
Standard Control capex	0	276	766	820	960	734	679
Standard Control O&M	0	(219)	(484)	(631)	(865)	(687)	(619)
Other Services	0	(58)	(282)	(189)	(96)	(47)	(60)
Total	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
TOTAL OVERHEADS							
Overhead pool							
Standard Control capex	24,767	25,134	26,044	26,059	26,143	25,824	25,749
Standard Control O&M	13,871	13,517	12,957	12,828	12,634	12,886	12,987
Other Services	3,799	3,786	3,437	3,550	3,661	3,727	3,702
Total	42,437	42,437	42,437	42,437	42,437	42,437	42,437
Step change							
Standard Control capex	0	367	1,277	1,292	1,376	1,056	982
Standard Control O&M	0	(354)	(914)	(1,043)	(1,237)	(985)	(884)
Other Services	0	(13)	(362)	(249)	(139)	(72)	(97)
Total	0	0	0	0	0	0	0

Overheads are calculated in the Cost Forecast Model provided as an attachment to this Revised Regulatory Proposal.³⁴³

Table 6.3 Adjustments for overheads (excluding input escalation, scale escalation and related party margins)

6.5.7 Debt raising costs

6.5.7.1 Powercor Australia's Initial Regulatory Proposal

In Chapter 6 of its Initial Regulatory Proposal, Powercor Australia included debt raising costs as an element of its opex forecasts. Powercor Australia proposed the following debt raising costs:

- direct debt raising costs of 12 basis points per annum; and
- early debt refinancing costs of 16.6 basis points per annum.³⁴⁴

³⁴³ Attachment 10 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal.

6.5.7.2 AER's Draft Determination

The AER did not accept Powercor Australia's proposed debt raising costs. In Appendix P of its Draft Determination, the AER concluded that:

- the appropriate amount of direct debt raising costs was between 9.0 and 10.8 basis points per annum, depending on the number of debt issues;³⁴⁵
- early debt refinancing costs were a legitimate expense for which DNSPs should be compensated;³⁴⁶
- the AER's estimate of the amount of early debt refinancing costs was 4-8 basis points per annum, based on the underwriting method;³⁴⁷
- however, the AER considered that the costs of early debt refinancing were already included in the direct debt raising costs and an additional allowance for early debt refinancing costs was not appropriate.³⁴⁸

6.5.7.3 Powercor Australia's Response to AER's Draft Determination

Powercor Australia does not accept the AER's position in relation to debt raising costs.

Powercor Australia considers that the appropriate allowance for debt raising costs is a total of 24.6 basis point per annum. This allowance is made up of direct debt raising costs of 9.1 basis points and early refinancing costs of 15.5 basis points. This allowance needs to be updated in the Final Determination to use the agreed averaging period.

Powercor Australia does not agree that early refinancing costs are included in the calculation of direct debt raising costs.

	\$'000 (\$2010)							
	2011	2011 2012 2013 2014 2015						
Debt raising costs	3,187	3,475	3,764	4,043	4,321	18,791		

Powercor Australia's forecast debt raising costs are set out in the following table.

Table 6.4: Debt raising costs

6.5.8 Step change - Superannuation payments

6.5.8.1 Powercor Australia's Initial Regulatory Proposal

In its Initial Regulatory Proposal, Powercor Australia observed that its contributions to the defined benefit scheme have been very volatile as a result of turbulent market conditions during the last couple of years.³⁴⁹ However, the effects of the deteriorating market conditions and the reduced value of investments related to the defined benefit schemes have lead to an increase in the required contribution rates, particularly in

³⁴⁴ Powercor Australia's Initial Regulatory Proposal p188-90.

³⁴⁵ AER, Draft Determination, Appendix P, p337.

³⁴⁶ AER, Draft Determination, Appendix P, p345.

³⁴⁷ AER, Draft Determination, Appendix P, p343.

³⁴⁸ AER, Draft Determination, Appendix P, p345.

³⁴⁹ Initial Regulatory Proposal, p226.

2009. Powercor Australia stated that the volatility in defined superannuation contributions has resulted in a variation between Powercor Australia's actual expenditure and the ESCV's approved allowance.

6.5.8.2 AER's Draft Determination

The AER considered that fluctuations in required superannuation contributions are likely to be broadly symmetrical because financial market conditions are likely to fluctuate such that any actuarial adjustments are likely to balance out over time.³⁵⁰ Nonetheless, the AER considered that the impact of the recent GFC was such that any actuarial adjustments related to defined benefit scheme contributions reflected in the reported base year costs were unlikely to be consistent with the level of costs expected to occur in the forthcoming regulatory control period.

The AER said that to ensure the reported base year costs were reflective of an efficient level of expenditure, the AER required Victorian DNSPs to identify any actuarial adjustment to defined benefit scheme contributions in 2009 where those adjustments were included in the Victorian DNSPs' Regulatory Accounts.

The AER estimated Powercor Australia's actuarial adjustment to defined benefit scheme contributions to be \$5 million (\$2010) and removed this amount from Powercor Australia's base year opex. The AER said that this adjustment was based on the difference between Powercor Australia's estimated cost of \$10 million (\$2010) in 2009 and its average costs over 2006-08. The AER said it would require Powercor Australia to identify the actuarial adjustment for its Final Determination and whether the adjustment was included in the Regulatory Accounts.

In addition, in its Draft Determination, the AER failed to have regard to the changes to the superannuation guarantee levy announced by the Commonwealth Government following the Henry Review. In Chapter 12 of its Draft Determination relating to corporate income tax, the AER refers to the announcements made by the Commonwealth Government on 11 May 2010 arising out of the Henry Review.³⁵¹ However, the AER focuses on the changes announced in relation to the corporate tax rate being to reduce it to 29 per cent for 2013-14 and to 28 per cent from the 2014-15 financial year and concludes that these changes should be reflected in the expected statutory corporate income tax rate under clause 6.5.3 of the Rules.

6.5.8.3 Powercor Australia's response to AER's Draft Determination

In response to the AER's Draft Determination, Powercor Australia proposes the following step changes in respect of superannuation:

- a step change in respect of contributions to its defined benefit fund and accumulation fund; and
- a step change as a result of the Commonwealth Government's announcement in respect of changes to the superannuation guarantee levy.

Step change - defined benefit fund and accumulation fund contributions

The AER's adjustment of \$5 million to Powercor Australia's base year opex is incorrect. Firstly, the adjustment is based on all superannuation contributions rather

³⁵⁰ AER, Draft Determination, p244.

³⁵¹ AER, Draft Determination, p555.

than the defined benefits contribution portion. Secondly, it uses as a base the costs incurred over 2006-08 which are artificially low as a result of favourable market conditions during that time.

Powercor Australia has therefore preserved in its base opex for 2009 all superannuation costs associated with the defined benefit superannuation scheme. It has then applied a step change for the years 2011-15 based on the difference between 2009 defined benefit contributions and an actuarial assessment of its defined benefit superannuation scheme as determined by Mercer, the actuary for the fund.³⁵² Mercer's Report is attached to this Revised Regulatory Proposal.³⁵³ In addition, Powercor Australia has provided the cost build up model for this step change as an attachment to this Revised Regulatory Proposal.³⁵⁴

The Draft Determination assumes that accumulation fund contributions will remain constant at 2009 levels. This is by virtue of the 'revealed cost' model adopted by the AER. Powercor Australia however expects to experience strong growth in its requirements to make contributions into the accumulation fund over the next five years that are not otherwise compensated through scale escalation.

Mercer's Report shows that it is projected that the number of employees who are active members of the defined benefit scheme will decline significantly, and at an increasing rate, as they retire from the workforce over the period 2011-15.³⁵⁵ Powercor Australia will be required to replace these employees. All new employees must join the accumulation fund. Consequently contributions to the accumulation fund will grow strongly over the next regulatory control period through the replacement of employees (as opposed to additional employees who would be funded through scale escalation).

As set out in the following table, the superannuation step change comprises the effects of the Mercer Report projections for the defined benefit fund over the next regulatory control period plus an adjustment to the accumulation fund for those new employees replacing those who have departed the defined benefit fund.

³⁵⁴ Attachment 13 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal.

³⁵² Letter from D Scott, Mercer, to T Mutton, CitiPower and Powercor, dated 28 June 2010 regarding projected superannuation expense under AASB 119 (Attachment 123 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal); Letter from D Scott, Mercer, to T Mutton, CitiPower and Powercor, dated 28 June 2010 regarding interim AASB 119 results – six months ending 30 June 2010 (Attachment 124 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal).

³⁵³ Letter from D Scott, Mercer, to T Mutton, CitiPower and Powercor, dated 28 June 2010 regarding projected superannuation expense under AASB 119 (Attachment 123 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal); Letter from D Scott, Mercer, to T Mutton, CitiPower and Powercor, dated 28 June 2010 regarding interim AASB 119 results – six months ending 30 June 2010 (Attachment 124 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal).

³⁵⁵ Letter from D Scott, Mercer, to T Mutton, CitiPower and Powercor, dated 28 June 2010 regarding projected superannuation expense under AASB 119 (Attachment 123 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p2.

	\$'000 (\$2010)					
	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015	Total
Mercer Report forecast defined benefit fund contributions	-760	-1,381	-1,972	-2,536	-3,081	-9,730
Incremental increase in accumulation fund contributions to replace employees who have departed the defined benefit fund	838	1,687	2,592	3,546	4,628	13,292
Total step change	77	306	620	1,010	1,547	3,561

Table 6.5 Step change - defined benefit fund and accumulation fund contributions

Step change – Superannuation guarantee levy

In its Draft Determination, the AER has ignored changes following the Henry Review which will result in increased costs for DNSPs. Following the Henry Review, in addition to changes to the corporate tax rate the Commonwealth Government announced an intention to increase the superannuation guarantee levy to 12 per cent.³⁵⁶ Under the Commonwealth Government's plan, the superannuation guarantee levy will be increased by 0.25 percentage points on 1 July 2013 and again on 1 July 2014. Further increments of 0.5 percentage points will apply annually up to 2019-20 when the superannuation guarantee rate will be set at 12 per cent. If this recommendation comes into effect through legislation, it will increase the superannuation liability of Powercor Australia.

Powercor Australia has calculated that the proposed changes to the superannuation guarantee levy would result in a step change of over 2013-15 in accumulation payments, prior to escalation. Powercor Australia has provided the cost build up model for this step change as an attachment to this Revised Regulatory Proposal.³⁵⁷

Powercor Australia considers that should the AER reconfirm its position to make decisions based on Government policy announcements following the Henry Review before they are reflected in legislation as it has done in the Draft Determination in respect of estimated corporate income tax, it should also have regard to the changes associated with the superannuation guarantee levy and accept this step change amount.

³⁵⁶ Australian Government, Fact Sheet Superannuation – Increasing the Superannuation Guarantee Rate to 12 per cent (Attachment 131 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal); Australian Government, webpage entitled 'Banking the benefits of the boom with fairer concessions for Super' accessed on 12 July 2010 (Attachment 132 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal).

³⁵⁷ Attachment 13 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal.
	\$'000 (\$2010)						
	2013	2014	2015	Total			
Superannuation guarantee levy	121	379	790	1,289			

 Table 6.6 Incremental impact of increase in the superannuation guarantee levy on accumulation fund contributions (assumes no growth in employee numbers)

6.5.9 Step change – insurance

6.5.9.1 Powercor Australia's Initial Regulatory Proposal

In Chapter 6 of its Initial Regulatory Proposal, Powercor Australia proposed a step change of \$27.5 million for opex resulting from insurance premiums above those reflected in Powercor Australia's 2009 base year opex.³⁵⁸

Powercor Australia provided the AER with a report prepared by its insurance broker Aon which provided an estimate of its insurance costs to 2015. Aon's report identified that Powercor Australia's insurance premiums were likely to increase considerably in the next regulatory control period.³⁵⁹

Powercor Australia observed that appropriate insurance coverage was a critical element of its approach to risk management and it was not an option for it to avoid taking out appropriate insurance coverage by not paying the increased premiums. Powercor Australia observed that clause 6.5.6(a)(4) requires the building block proposal to include the forecast opex for the regulatory control period which the DNSP considers is required to, among other things, maintain the reliability, safety and security of the distribution system through the supply of standard control services. Having this insurance coverage ensures that Powercor Australia can prudently manage the costs of unforseen events that may otherwise compromise its ability to maintain the reliability, safety or security of its distribution system.

6.5.9.2 AER's Draft Determination

The AER was not satisfied that Powercor Australia's proposed insurance step change reasonably reflected the opex criteria.

The AER observed that Aon identified asset value growth and revenue growth as 'business trend' drivers and applied one of these drivers to Powercor Australia's insurance premiums.³⁶⁰ It considered that Aon had not explained why it chose these particular drivers or demonstrated that Powercor Australia's premiums had moved in line with their asset value growth or revenue growth. The AER also considered that the business trend drivers appeared to play a similar role to opex scale adjustments. Since the AER had applied scale adjustments to the total opex base in its Draft Determination, it considered that it would lead to double counting if it accepted the business trend escalators.

³⁵⁸ Initial Regulatory Proposal p167-8.

³⁵⁹ Aon Risk Services Australia, Powercor Australia Ltd Insurance Cost Projections, October 2009 (Attachment P0067 to the Initial Regulatory Proposal).

³⁶⁰ AER, Draft Determination, Appendix L, p189.

The AER considered that Aon had not demonstrated that Powercor Australia's historical insurance premiums had moved in line with movements in the general insurance market such that it might be reasonable to assume their future insurance premiums would move in line with these factors.³⁶¹

In respect to liability (including bushfire liability) premiums, the AER considered that there was no clear link between the factors raised by Aon and the percentage increases it estimated.³⁶² The AER said that while it had not accepted Powercor Australia's liability insurance forecasts, it expected that most of the re-pricing of insurance premiums as a result of bushfires in 2009 was likely to be reflected in the 2010 premiums. Accordingly, it said that if Powercor Australia submitted its 2010 bushfire liability premiums with its revised proposal, the AER may be satisfied that the difference between its 2009 and 2010 premiums reflect a realistic expectation of cost inputs over the forthcoming regulatory control period.

The AER accepted an insurance step change of \$15 million for SP AusNet subject to it submitting invoices with its regulatory proposal which verified this increase in its liability insurance premiums in September 2009.

The AER accepted an insurance step change of \$3.5 for UED after verifying this step change against the renewal report submitted by UED.

6.5.9.3 Powercor Australia's Response to AER's Draft Determination

Powercor Australia observes that its insurance program is undertaken jointly with CitiPower and ETSA. The AER decided that ETSA forecast network insurance opex reasonably reflected the opex criteria. Similar to Powercor Australia and CitiPower, ETSA commissioned Aon to provide an estimate of its insurance costs for the next regulatory control period. PB reviewed Aon's report at the AER's request. The AER observes in its South Australian Draft Determination that:³⁶³

'PB submit that given the transparent approach adopted by AON Risk Services and the nature of the insurance classes included in ETSA Utilities' 2008-09 insurance costs and the potential impact of bushfire and environmental factors outlined, PB was satisfied that ETSA Utilities' forecast network insurance allowances are prudent and efficient.'

In deciding to accept ETSA forecast network insurance opex, the AER stated:³⁶⁴

'The AER considers it appropriate that ETSA Utilities commissioned AON Risk Services to provide an estimate of its insurance liabilities for the next regulatory control period. The AER also considers the approach undertaken by AON Risk Services is transparent and reasonable and agrees with PB's assessment that ETSA Utilities' forecast network insurance allowances are prudent and efficient. The AER notes that AON Risk Services concluded that ETSA Utilities are likely to experience increased insurance costs as a result of both business growth and rate increases caused by general market trends."³⁶⁵

³⁶¹ AER, Draft Determination, Appendix L, p190.

³⁶² AER, Draft Determination, Appendix L, p191-2.

³⁶³ AER, South Australian Draft Determination (Attachment 21 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p220.

³⁶⁴ AER, South Australian Draft Determination (Attachment 21 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p221

³⁶⁵ AER, South Australian Draft Determination (Attachment 21 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p221.

Accordingly, in its South Australian Final Determination the AER accepted the Aon report prepared at the request of ETSA Utilities as transparent and reasonable. Further, contrary to the Draft Determination for Powercor Australia, the AER accepted the asset value growth and revenue growth as 'business trend' drivers chosen by Aon in its report for ETSA.

Similar to Powercor Australia, ETSA did not apply any additional scale escalation to its forecast for insurance premiums since it considered that Aon's estimate gave consideration to scale factors.³⁶⁶ However, as in the Draft Determination for Victorian DNSPs, in the South Australian Final Determination, the AER applied scale escalation to the total opex base. In its Draft Determination, the AER rejected Powercor Australia's insurance step change in part because the AER had applied scale adjustments to the total opex base and it considered that if it accepted the business trend escalations in the Aon report, this would lead to 'double counting'.³⁶⁷ It is inconsistent for the AER to reject Powercor Australia's insurance step change on this basis when it accepted ETSA's insurance step change at the same time as applying scale escalation to the total opex base.

There is no basis for the AER accepting the Aon report for ETSA in the South Australian Final Determination, but rejecting the Aon report prepared for Powercor Australia in its Draft Determination. This is particularly so given the acceptance of the analogous Aon report prepared for ETSA was accepted by the AER's own expert, PB, as providing transparent and reliable estimates of prudent and efficient forecast network insurance allowances. There is similarly no basis for the AER rejecting Powercor Australia's proposed step change for insurance in circumstances where Powercor Australia and ETSA have a joint program with respect to insurance and the AER accepted ETSA's network insurance opex.

The AER's Draft Determination indicates that the AER requires proof of Powercor Australia's insurance renewal amount for 2010 in order to accept an insurance step change for Powercor Australia.

Powercor Australia's process for renewing its insurance is currently taking place. Powercor Australia will not have its actual insurance premiums until September 2010. Accordingly, Powercor Australia is not currently in a position to provide the AER with invoices showing its actual insurance premiums. Powercor Australia proposes to provide the AER with those invoices as soon as it is able to, which will likely be on 30 September 2010. Powercor Australia's process for insurance renewal is thorough and, accordingly, lengthy. Powercor Australia provides a description of this process in the table below.

The following table details the process undertaken in respect of acquiring combined liability underwriting insurance for Powercor Australia, CitiPower and ETSA. It includes the preparation of a liability marketing submission which is written in conjunction with each of the business areas and covers the key activities of bushfire mitigation, an update on business activities over the last 12 months and business exposure and risk management activities to mitigate these risks.

 ³⁶⁶ AER, South Australian Draft Determination (Attachment 21 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p220.
 ³⁶⁷ AER, Draft Determination, Appendix L, p189.

Month	Activity
October	• Renew the insurance liability submission (copy provided to the insurance underwriters) to identify any improvements in the Businesses' internal processes.
December	 Advise senior management team of the combined liability insurance renewal process for the coming year and seek nominated representatives from each Business Unit. Review prior year liability submission and determine Business Unit representatives for coming year – a spreadsheet is set up detailing sections from the prior year submission, Business Unit, General Manager, updating officer, date the section was sent, date received, date updated and any other comments. Prior year liability submission is broken down into sections to send to the updating officer.
January	 Liability underwriting submission is sent to updating officers requesting that the section be reviewed, updated as appropriate and new information is provided accordingly. Any changes to updating officers are noted and updated on the spreadsheet.
April	 Prepare current year liability submission. Ensure that the Business' responses are accurate and that there is a consistency of writing format of the submission. Link into the annual report to ensure consistency in reporting. Receive updates from the Business and update the spreadsheet. Review company documentation and external data to support liability submission. Review undertaken of liability submission by Corporate Risk team.
Мау	 Send out annual report to insurance underwriters. Final review undertaken of the liability submission by the Corporate Risk team. Review and signoff by the Senior Management Team on liability submission. Liability submission sent to printer for proofing. Liability strategy meeting with insurance broker.
June	 Final copy of the liability underwriting submission received from the printer. Distribute the liability underwriting submission to insurance underwriters around the world through the insurance broker. Complete insurance documentation for the Bermuda market.
July	 Participate in the marketing liability roadshow in the major insurance markets around the world. Meet with current and prospective insurance underwriters.
August	 Participate in the Australian insurance market roadshow. Prepare risk Management and Compliance Committee papers.

September	 Review quotations and insurance options provided by the insurance broker. Ensure that insurance underwriters meet the credit rating criteria per company credit policy. Ensure that appropriate senior management approvals are received for the placement of the insurance. Ensure insurance is placed and that Business risk exposure is mitigated. Review of process undertaken and identification of improvement opportunities for the next year.
October	Payment of invoices

Table 6.7 Powercor Australia's Insurance Renewal Process

Powercor Australia will accept a step change that reflects the difference between its 2009 and 2010 external insurance. However, since Powercor Australia will not have its actual insurance premiums until September 2010, for the purposes of this Revised Regulatory Proposal Powercor Australia has used a placeholder assumption for the insurance step change based on a 15 per cent increase in the insurance premium reported in its 2009 Regulatory Accounts.

The step change for insurance based on this placeholder assumption is set out in the table below.

	\$'000 (\$2010)							
	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015	Total		
Insurance step change	437	437	437	437	437	2,183		

Table 6.8 Insurance step change

6.5.10 Step change – Electricity Safety (Electric Line Clearance) Regulations 2010

6.5.10.1 Powercor Australia's Initial Regulatory Proposal

In Chapter 6 of its Initial Regulatory Proposal, Powercor Australia proposed a step change for the costs of complying with the 2005 Line Clearance Regulations and 2005 Line Clearance Code.

Powercor Australia only set out the step change costs of complying with the requirements of the 2005 Line Clearance Regulations and the 2005 Line Clearance Code in respect of LBRA. The step change cost was mischaracterised as a cost of complying with the 2005 Line Clearance Code in LBRA without the exemption from Code requirements granted by the ESV in December 2005. However, the step change cost was actually proposed for the costs of achieving compliance with the 2005 Line Clearance Regulations in LBRA with the exemption. This is explained further below. Further, in calculating those step change costs, Powercor Australia made an error which is corrected in this Revised Regulatory Proposal.

Powercor Australia omitted in its Initial Regulatory Proposal to identify the step change costs associated with complying with the 2005 Line Clearance Regulations and the 2005 Line Clearance Code without the exemption in respect of HBRA.

In addition, the 2010 Line Clearance Regulations and Code replaced the 2005 Line Clearance Regulations and Code on 29 June 2010. In its Initial Regulatory Proposal of 30 November 2009 Powercor Australia did not propose a step change for changes in costs of complying with the 2010 Line Clearance Regulations and Code as the they had not yet been released for public comment. Rather, Powercor Australia proceeded on the assumption, expressly stated in the Initial Regulatory Proposal, that the 2010 Line Clearance Regulations and Code. However, subsequent to the release of the proposed 2010 Line Clearance Regulations on 25 February 2010, Powercor Australia provided the AER with estimates of the cost impact of the then proposed Regulations.

Since that time, the 2010 Line Clearance Regulations and Code have come into effect. As set out in this Revised Regulatory Proposal, there are several key changes between the 2005 Line Clearance Regulations and Code and the 2010 Line Clearance Regulations and Code which will increase Powercor Australia's costs of complying with the 2010 Line Clearance Regulations and 2010 Line Clearance Code.

6.5.10.2 AER's Draft Determination

In its Draft Determination, the AER observed that on 25 February 2010, after the DNSPs submitted their regulatory proposals, the ESV published a draft for public comment of the proposed 2010 Line Clearance Regulations together with the Line Clearance RIS. The final version of the 2010 Line Clearance Regulations varies only slightly to the draft which the ESV published for public comment on 25 February 2010.

The AER said it expected that when the 2010 Line Clearance Regulations commenced, they would likely increase the DNSPs' opex requirements.³⁶⁸ Accordingly, the AER anticipated that the DNSPs would include in their revised regulatory proposals an opex step change for increased vegetation management activities under the 2010 Line Clearance Regulations.

In the meantime, for the purposes of the Draft Determination, the AER sought to estimate the step change costs of complying with the 2010 Line Clearance Regulations, including costs flowing from the cessation of the exemptions.

The AER noted that the Line Clearance RIS identified four changes in the then proposed line clearance regulations that will impact the DNSPs:

- updating of management plans;
- providing written notification to affected persons;
- clearance space surrounding aerial bundled cables; and
- overhanging branches in HBRA.

The AER observed that as part of the cost benefit analysis in the Line Clearance RIS, the ESV estimated the cost to DNSPs of complying with both the 2005 Line Clearance Regulations and the 2010 Line Clearance Regulations. The AER sought to estimate the step change cost for DNSPs of complying with the 2010 Line Clearance Regulations by reference to the cost benefit analysis in the Line Clearance RIS (by

³⁶⁸ AER, Draft Determination, Appendix L, p162.

deducting the costs to DNSPs of complying with the 2005 Line Clearance Regulations estimated in the Line Clearance RIS from the estimated costs of complying with the 2010 Line Clearance Regulations).

In respect of costs resulting from the cessation of the exemptions, the AER found that it was not satisfied that the DNSPs' proposed expenditure for the cessation of line clearance exemptions reasonably reflected the opex criteria.³⁶⁹

The AER calculated a negative step change of -17.1 million for Powercor Australia.³⁷⁰

6.5.10.3 Powercor Australia's response to AER's Draft Determination

Powercor Australia's detailed response to the AER's Draft Determination is contained in Appendix 6.1 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal. In that response, Powercor Australia:

- explains that the AER cannot rely on the cost impact analysis in the Line Clearance RIS³⁷¹ in determining the step change costs of complying with the 2010 Line Clearance Regulations. This is because the Line Clearance RIS failed both to correctly identify the key changes between the 2005 Line Clearance Regulations and the 2010 Line Clearance Regulations, and to correctly cost compliance with the 2010 Line Clearance Regulations as compared with the 2005 Line Clearance Regulations. As the AER is aware, ESV has expressly told the AER that it cannot rely on the cost impact analysis in the Line Clearance RIS for the purpose of determining the step changes in the price review process;³⁷²
- describes the changed regulatory obligations resulting from the changes between the 2005 Line Clearance Regulations and the 2010 Line Clearance Regulations;
- sets out the step change costs resulting from the changes between the 2005 Line Clearance Regulations and the 2010 Line Clearance Regulations; and
- sets out the step change cost of achieving compliance in respect of LBRA.

As set out in Appendix 6.1, Powercor Australia's vegetation clearance contractor, VEMCO has considered the cost impact of each of the changes between the 2010 Line Clearance Regulations and the 2005 Line Clearance Regulations based on legal advice on those changes provided by DLA Phillips Fox dated 21 June 2010.³⁷³ VEMCO has provided a letter dated 13 July 2010 to Powercor Australia in respect of the cost increases above 2009 actual costs that will apply over the years from January 2011 to December 2015.³⁷⁴ Since VEMCO is engaged by Powercor Australia to undertake vegetation clearance in accordance with the 2010 Line Clearance Regulations, these costs reflect the increased costs Powercor Australia will be required to pay under the 2010 Line Clearance Regulations. Powercor Australia submits that the AER should accept those step change costs as reasonably reflecting the opex criteria.

³⁶⁹ AER, Draft Determination, Appendix L, p170.

³⁷⁰ AER, Draft Determination, Appendix L, p171.

³⁷¹ Attachment 241 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal.

³⁷² Meeting with the AER, ESV and Victorian DNSPs on 13 July 2010.

³⁷³ Attachment 244 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal.

³⁷⁴ Letter from VEMCO to CitiPower and Powercor Australia, 13 July 2010 (Attachment 245 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal).

Powercor Australia has revised its Initial Regulatory Proposal to include the following step change costs in respect of vegetation clearance.

			\$'000 (\$2010)		
	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015	Total
Vegetation Clearance (HBRA)	8,200	7,300	5,600	4,400	3,300	28,800
Vegetation clearance (omission of exceptions in clauses 9.2.1, 9.2.2 and clause 9.3) – lines from pole to pole	2,896	2,896	2,896	2,896	2,896	14,481
Vegetation clearance (omission of exceptions in clauses 9.2.1, 9.2.2 and clause 9.3) – service lines from pole to building	4,199	4,199	4,199	4,199	4,199	20,996
Vegetation clearance (omission of clauses 10(b) and (c) and tables 10.2 and 10.3)	2,475	2,475	1,485	1,485	1,485	9,405
Vegetation Clearance (larger LBRA clearance spaces)	1,460	1,460	1,460	1,460	1,460	7,300
Vegetation Clearance (notification and consultation)	(2)	(2)	(2)	(2)	(2)	(8)
Vegetation Clearance (clause 2(3) native trees)	0	764	1,019	2,038	2,547	6,368
Vegetation Clearance (habitat trees)	100	100	100	100	100	500
Vegetation Clearance (LBRA)	2,187	2,038	(83)	(892)	0	3,250
Total Vegetation Clearance Step Change	21,516	21,231	16,675	15,685	15,986	91,093

Table 6.9 Step changes – Electricity Safety (Electric Line Clearance) Regulations

6.5.11 Step change – Electrical Safety (Management) Regulations 2009

6.5.11.1 Powercor Australia's Initial Regulatory Proposal

In its Initial Regulatory Proposal, Powercor Australia proposed a \$10,255,000 step change in respect of changes to the Electricity Safety Act which make it compulsory for DNSPs operating in Victoria to submit and operate under an approved ESMS.³⁷⁵ The changes will make the provisions of the proposed Electricity Safety Management Regulations mandatory for DNSPs, whereas the provisions of the current regulations apply only where the DNSP has voluntarily elected to develop an ESMS.

³⁷⁵ Initial Regulatory Proposal, p177.

6.5.11.2 Powercor Australia's response to the AER's Draft Determination

In its Draft Determination, the AER concluded that Powercor Australia had not justified that it required additional opex, above that expended in the 2009 base year to achieve compliance with their ESMS.³⁷⁶

In coming to this conclusion the AER relied on the ESV's advice to it that the Electrical Safety Management Regulations would not increase the ongoing compliance costs of the Victorian DNSPs and that any additional costs would be borne in the current regulatory control period.³⁷⁷

6.5.11.3 AER's Draft Determination

Powercor Australia has accepted the AER's decision to reject this step change on the basis of the ESV's advice that the Electrical Safety Management Regulations would not increase the ongoing compliance costs of the Victorian DNSPs and that any additional costs would be borne in the current regulatory control period. Powercor Australia assumes that the ESV will honour this position when deciding whether or not to approve ESMSs.

Powercor Australia has proposed a pass through for conditions or limitations imposed by ESV on provisional acceptance of an ESMS under the Electricity Safety Act (see Chapter 17 of this Revised Regulatory Proposal).

6.5.12 Step change – At risk townships

6.5.12.1 Powercor Australia's Initial Regulatory Proposal

In Chapter 6 of its Initial Regulatory Proposal, Powercor Australia proposed a \$22 million (\$2010) step change to undertake prudent measures to reduce the fire risk posed by distribution assets in areas identified in the Victorian Government's 'at risk townships' protection plans initiative.³⁷⁸

On 7 February 2009, Victoria suffered the most devastating bushfires ever to occur in the State. On the advice of fire agencies, as part of its response to the events of 7 February 2009, the Victorian Government announced its intention to establish individual township protection plans for 52 towns and communities within 25 local government areas over and above standard municipal fire prevention plans.

Thirty eight of these towns are located in Powercor Australia's service territory. Six of those towns are already captured within the areas treated under the existing enhanced bushfire mitigation program. Powercor Australia is working with the communities and fire agencies on a number of initiatives, over and above its existing bushfire mitigation programs targeted at providing even greater protection for the towns identified by the Victorian Government.

The anticipated benefits of the program are to reduce as far as practicable the risk of fires caused by asset failure or vegetation impacting on power lines.³⁷⁹

 ³⁷⁶ AER, Draft Determination, Appendix L, p159.
 ³⁷⁷ AER, Draft Determination, Appendix L, p158.

³⁷⁸ Initial Regulatory Proposal, p174.

³⁷⁹ See attachment to email from Powercor Australia to AER dated 8 February 2010.

6.5.12.2 AER's Draft Determination

The AER decided that Powercor Australia's at risk townships proposal did not reasonably reflect the opex criteria. 380

The AER dismissed the step change proposed by Powercor Australia on the grounds that:

- the at risk township protection plans did not impose an obligation on Powercor Australia to undertake specific fire mitigation strategies;
- Powercor Australia could choose to undertake the at risk townships proposal through self financing arrangements; and
- Powercor Australia's proposal pre-empted the recommendations of the Bushfires Royal Commission and the Victorian Government's response to these recommendations. The AER stated that if the Victorian Government imposes new regulatory requirements on the Victorian DNSPs due to the recommendations of the VBRC or other processes, the DNSPs may seek the approval of the AER to pass through to distribution network users a positive pass through amount.

6.5.12.3 Powercor Australia's response to AER's Draft Determination

Powercor Australia does not contest there is no regulatory obligation on Powercor Australia to undertake the program. This is recognised by the AER in the Draft Determination.³⁸¹ However, just because there is no regulatory obligation specifying the requirement on Powercor Australia, does not mean the program is not prudent or without merit.

Powercor Australia developed its program to complement the Victorian Government's initiatives. The program complements the Victorian Government's program in that it is targeted at the towns considered of greatest bushfire risk and it seeks to actively ameliorate the risk faced by the residents of these towns from potential fire risks created by distribution assets.

Powercor Australia believes in light of community expectations, a prudent operator would undertake a program such as that proposed. A prudent operator would consider the risk of ignoring the Victorian Government's initiatives to the community and assess the resultant risk to it of not putting in place a program, including potential legal actions and community backlash. In fact, in 2010 Powercor Australia commenced implementing this program.

Clause 3.1 of the Distribution Code places an onus on Powercor Australia to operate its network in accordance with the concept of 'good electricity industry practice'. This requires Powercor Australia to determine the maintenance practices that best meet the needs of its customers and network rather than leaving this to the government to determine through legislation. Thus the absence of legislated maintenance practices is not sufficient grounds for the AER to dismiss this program. Indeed, Nuttall Consulting

³⁸⁰ AER, Draft Determination, Appendix L, p232.

³⁸¹ AER, Draft Determination, Appendix L, p232.

noted the benefits of this program are likely to be material.³⁸²

The AER stated that it considered Powercor Australia could self finance the program irrespective of whether it receives funding from the AER. This statement appears linked to the operation of the EBSS in view of the comments made by Nuttall Consulting on this step change. Such an inference is flawed in that the EBSS can only justify additional expenditure where the benefits of that expenditure accrue to the DNSP. If this is not the case, the DNSP will incur a double penalty. Firstly through returns below those deemed efficient (as the expenditure is not incorporated into the revenue requirement) and secondly, through a negative carryover. As is noted by Powercor Australia in its email to the AER of 5 March 2010, the benefits arising from the program are in the form of reducing, as far as practicable, the risk of fires caused by asset failure or vegetation impacting on power lines which benefits accrue to customers.

Powercor Australia provided the AER with its cost build up model for this step change by email on 8 February 2010.³⁸³

Since its Initial Regulatory Proposal, Powercor Australia has further developed the benefits case for the at risk township program. Powercor Australia's analysis shows that the base case benefits case has a NPV of \$12.4 million over 20 years. In assessing the benefits case Powercor Australia developed a number of scenarios to test for sensitivity around the benefits case. Of the ten sensitivity tests undertaken, eight of the scenarios had a positive net present value over 20 years. The scenarios which resulted in negative net present values were based on aggressive assumptions. In one of the scenarios which resulted in a negative net present value an aggressive assumption was made with respect to the reduction in fire starts such that it was assumed that fire starts would reduce by 20 per cent. In the other scenario which resulted in a negative net present value an aggressive assumption in the consequences of fire starts such that it was assumed that this would reduce by 20 per cent.

In assessing whether the expenditure is prudent and efficient Powercor Australia considers that the regulatory test principle should be adopted being that since the base case and majority of sensitivity analyses have a positive NPV, the expenditure can be viewed as prudent and efficient.

The results of this benefits analysis are described in an internal report prepared by Powercor Australia entitled Business Case for Enhanced Asset Management of At Risk Townships protection plans.³⁸⁴ The Business Case also describes the methodology used to quantify the future potential risks. The Business Case observes that Powercor Australia's risk assessment and cost-benefit analysis has identified an existing risk in terms of the likelihood and value of consequences associated with asset failures associated with at risk townships and a trend that indicates emerging issues and an increasing risk to Powercor Australia's network and the health and safety of

³⁸² Nuttall Consulting, Capital Expenditure – Victorian Electricity Distribution Revenue Review, 26 May 2010, p.346.

³⁸³ Attachment 251 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal.

³⁸⁴ Powercor Australia, Business Case for Enhanced Asset Management of At Risk Townships protection plans, 15 July 2010 (Attachment 250 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal).

communities.³⁸⁵ It recommends that Powercor Australia allow for an increase in opex to implement an enhanced asset management strategy for the at risk townships.

The enhanced asset management activities considered in the Business Case at the thirty eight townships involve:³⁸⁶

- pre summer vegetation clearing;
- planned line condition audits;
- ground based vegetation inspections;
- LIDAR (vegetation line clearance inspection audit); and
- ground clearing around fused installations.

The Business Case excluded a number of research activities on the basis that there was no guarantee that these research projects will proceed to implementation and the implementation costs and potential benefits were unknown.³⁸⁷

The AER also dismissed the program on the basis that it pre-empts the Bushfires Royal Commission and the Victorian Government's response to the Bushfires Royal Commission. Powercor Australia would again reiterate that it has an obligation under clause 3.1 of the Distribution Code to use 'good asset management'. As noted in the Distribution Code, 'good asset management' is designed to encourage innovation in the provision of distribution services and not prescribe distributor's practices in detail. Further, the Bushfires Royal Commission recommendations are not expected to be released until the second half of 2010. Following their release it will take a period of time for the Victorian Government to consider its response and then, if necessary, put in place legislation. Based on similar legislative changes, it would not be unexpected that the relevant changes could take years rather than months to be implemented.

However, the opportunity to mitigate some of the fire risks posed by distribution assets around at risk townships exists today. Powercor Australia questions the AER's decision that the community should sit back and wait for the 'cogs of government' to turn. The AER has not cited, and Powercor Australia is not aware, of any legislative reason why the AER has to wait until the Victorian Government implements its response. Indeed, it would appear imprudent of the AER not to consider the program at this time.

There is also a discussion in the Draft Determination that infers Powercor Australia can seek a pass through for recommendations arising from the Bushfires Royal Commission.³⁸⁸ This is not necessarily the case. The AER has rejected the Bushfires Royal Commission as a nominated pass through event.³⁸⁹ Instead it states it is 'possible' the Bushfires Royal Commission may qualify as a regulatory change or service standard pass through event. In adopting such a position, the AER has afforded no certainty at all to DNSPs that the Bushfires Royal Commission would be considered

³⁸⁵ Powercor Australia, Business Case for Enhanced Asset Management of At Risk Townships protection plans, 15 July 2010 (Attachment 250 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p2.

³⁸⁶ Powercor Australia, Business Case for Enhanced Asset Management of At Risk Townships protection plans, 15 July 2010 (Attachment 250 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p2.

³⁸⁷ The costs of these research projects was forecast as \$450,000 per annum in the model provided by Powercor Australia to the AER on 8 February 2010 (Attachment 251 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal),.

AER, Draft Determination, Appendix L, p232.

³⁸⁹ AER, Draft Determination, p710.

a pass through event and as such, Powercor Australia can place no reliance on the AER's comments on this matter. This is particularly so given the AER's erroneous interpretation of a regulatory change event in its Draft Determination (where the AER confines it to changes in existing regulations), which means there is a greater risk that recommendations arising from the Bushfires Royal Commission will not qualify as a regulatory change event. Powercor Australia discusses this pass through issue further in the Chapter 17 of this Revised Regulatory Proposal.

Powercor Australia, as noted in its Initial Regulatory Proposal, is committed to the at risk townships program. Powercor Australia has already commenced implementing this program. The program has been incorporated in its on-going bushfire mitigation activities and has also been included in Powercor Australia's insurance liability underwriting submission for 2010/11.

Powercor Australia has also reviewed the comments made by Nuttall Consulting in reference to the at risk townships program.³⁹⁰ In relation to those comments Powercor Australia provides the following response:

- Powercor Australia rejects that the proposed expenditure calculations were provided at a 'high level'. Powercor Australia refers the AER to Attachment A to its email of 8 February 2010 which set out how the step change costs were developed and the sources of information underlying the step change and, accordingly, are of no relevance to research and development undertaken as part of the at risk townships program;
- Nuttall Consulting discredited the research and development component of the program (which comprised less than 12 per cent of the total program) on the basis it would fund itself through the EBSS. Powercor Australia would again refer the AER to the discussion above that the EBSS will only provide an incentive where the benefits accrue to the DNSP. The ESCV comments noted by Nuttall Consulting referred to research and development targeted at creating internal efficiencies within DNSPs;
- Nuttall Consulting formed the view expenditures associated with line surveys, LIDAR and independent asset audits should be removed. The Nuttall Consulting report provides no basis for this view.
- Nuttall Consulting also expressed the view that the fact that SP AusNet has not put up a step change in relation to at risk townships, this in some way discredits the Powercor Australia program. Powercor Australia would question the opex factor or criteria this judgment was based on. Whether SP AusNet put up a step change in relation to at risk townships has no relevance to the AER's assessment of Powercor Australia's forecast opex in accordance with the opex criteria.

For the above reasons, Powercor Australia submits that the AER should accept Powercor Australia's step change for the at risk townships program. Powercor Australia's forecast direct costs of this program are set out in the following table. The proposed forecast step change costs in this table have decreased slightly from those in Powercor Australia's Initial Regulatory Proposal.

³⁹⁰ Nuttall Consulting, Capital Expenditure – Victorian Electricity Distribution Revenue Review, 26 May 2010, pp344-6.

	\$'000 (\$2010)							
	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015	Total		
At risk townships step change	3,847	3,847	3,847	3,847	3,847	19,235		

Table 6.10 Step change – At risk townships

6.5.13 Step change – Communications in extreme supply events

6.5.13.1 Powercor Australia's Initial Regulatory Proposal

In its presentation to the AER on 28 January 2010, Powercor Australia informed the AER of an additional proposed step change in respect of communications in extreme supply events. In its letter dated 4 March 2010, Powercor Australia informed the AER that its estimated costs of this step change were \$0.4 million per annum (\$2 million in total).

The step change arose as a result of the ESCV's Extreme Supply Events Decision. Accordingly, it arose after Powercor Australia submitted its Initial Regulatory Proposal on 30 November 2009.

6.5.13.2 AER's Draft Determination

The AER considered that some Victorian DNSPs may experience a step change in costs as a result of the amendments to the Distribution Code. The AER accepted a step change for Jemena (\$2.1 million) and UED (\$1.6 million) for communication to customers during outage events.³⁹¹ The AER reduced the step changes proposed by Jemena and UED on the basis that it did not consider that there was sufficient certainty regarding an obligation for the Victorian DNSPs to communicate with customers via SMS.

The AER did not comment on Powercor Australia's proposed step change.

6.5.13.3 Powercor Australia's response to AER's Draft Determination

The ESCV's Extreme Supply Events Decision was made in response to a request from the Minister for Energy and Resources that it consider and progress a number of regulatory matters relevant to significant energy supply events.³⁹²

In accordance with the ESCV's Extreme Supply Events Decision, the Distribution Code has been amended to require distributors to:

- comply with the AEMO's Single Industry Spokesperson Protocol and co-operate on the ongoing development of that protocol (clause 8.2);
- provide the Department of Human Services and the Department of Health with street addresses where outages are expected to exceed 24 hours. This information must be provided within 28 hours of a sustained interruption occurring and for every 12 hours afterwards until the sustained interruption has been resolved (clause 5.7.1);

³⁹¹ AER Draft Determination, pp197-200.

³⁹² ESC, Final Amendments to the Electricity Distribution Code and the Energy Retail Code, 24 February 2010 (Attachment 126 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal).

- update their life support registers on an annual basis (clause 5.6.3);
- write to their customers prior to the end of December of each year informing customers of the distributors' role in relation to maintenance of supply, emergencies and restoration after interruptions and their contact details and website address (clause 9.1.2A); and
- provide information on supply interruptions or emergencies on their websites (clause 5.4.1(a)).

The amended Distribution Code took effect from 1 April 2010.³⁹³

Since the amendments to the Distribution Code came into effect, Powercor Australia has further reviewed its costs resulting from those amendments and, as a result, revised its costs for this step change from those provided to the AER in March 2010. The step change costs are set out in the table below.

	\$'000 (\$2010)						
	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015	Total	
Step change costs for communications in extreme supply events	686	686	686	686	686	3,430	

 Table 6.11 Communications in extreme supply events step change

The breakdown of these costs is provided as an attachment to this Revised Regulatory Proposal.³⁹⁴ Since there are synergies for CitiPower and Powercor Australia in complying with the new requirements of the Distribution Code, the total costs of complying with this step change have been calculated and 70 per cent of those costs have been allocated to Powercor Australia with the remaining 30 per cent being allocated to CitiPower based on share of customers.

Powercor Australia observes that the total of this step change relates to the new requirements in respect of communication in extreme supply events that are included in the Distribution Code as set out above. That is, no component of this step change cost relates to SMS communication with customers.

It is necessary for the AER to allow this step change for Powercor Australia because the costs associated with the step change satisfy the opex criteria, as the AER has recognised in allowing a similar step change for Jemena and UED. Powercor Australia considers its proposed costs for this step change are consistent with those which the AER approved for Jemena and UED.

6.5.14 Step change – Outcomes monitoring and compliance

6.5.14.1 AER's Draft Determination

In Chapter 21 of its Draft Determination, the AER proposed the introduction of an outcomes monitoring program to replace the existing annual reporting requirements. The AER set out:

³⁹³ ESCV, Distribution Code (Attachment 127 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal).

³⁹⁴ Attachment 128 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal.

- the monitoring framework which it intends to establish to monitor the consistency of the Victorian DSNPs with the AER's Final Determination, and the service levels delivered to customers; and
- the information the AER proposes to collect annually to assess the Victorian DNSPs' compliance with the Final Determination. The AER proposed that this information would be collected annually through the issuing of a RIN under section 28F(1)(a) of the NEL.

The proposed outcomes monitoring program represents a considerable expansion of the reporting requirements under the existing regulatory framework of the ESCV. The present arrangements focus on the provision of aggregated financial information available through the regulatory accounts, reliability reporting, generic network statistics and reporting of volume data (energy, demand and customer numbers) and the Annual Planning Report.

The AER's outcomes monitoring program, as Powercor Australia understands it, requires in addition to what is provided today:

- the provision of the condition or health index of each zone substation transformer and major item of switchgear;
- individual distribution feeder information;
- for each asset category, the forecast volume of replacement and refurbishment to be undertaken;
- provision of the number of customer connection jobs by connection category;
- plans, expenditure and actual activities against programs to reduce bushfire risk;
- asset failure rates; and
- annual five year forecasts of a variety of capex categories.

6.5.14.2 Powercor Australia's response to AER's Draft Determination

As the AER would be aware through the information exchange process that followed the lodging of Powercor Australia's Initial Regulatory Proposal, the information sought above is not readily available from within Powercor Australia's systems. Where that information was provided to the AER during the information exchange process, it was often the result of approximations or assumptions or involved the extensive use of internal resources to prepare.

While approximations or assumptions may be suitable for a 'one off' request, it is not suitable as a process for the longer term and is unlikely to result in the quality of information the AER expects to receive to implement its outcomes monitoring framework. Further, Powercor Australia cannot continue to devote up to ten full time resources to collecting information not used internally within Powercor Australia.

The requirement for annual five yearly forecasts for capex appears particularly onerous. This equates effectively to an annual price reset process for DNSPs which will require extensive resourcing across the Network, Finance and Regulation divisions within Powercor Australia.

Based on Powercor Australia's previous regulatory experience, it expects that the high level listing of information in the Draft Determination will not be all that is required to satisfy the AER's outcomes monitoring framework. Experience has demonstrated through the RIN process associated with the current price reset that final RINs have deviated substantially from draft RINs and over time, further information has been sought that has not been listed in any RIN.

Accordingly, the outcomes monitoring program will not be costless and will require augmentation of Powercor Australia's existing reporting systems and resourcing.

Powercor Australia also expects that because information is now being sought through a RIN, the collection and reporting of that information will require greater due diligence than it has exercised under the existing reporting arrangements. This is because, under section 28R of the NEL, the provision of false or misleading information is punishable through substantial fines. As a consequence Powercor Australia will be required to periodically audit the information being provided and subject any information being provided to the AER to legal review.

Powercor Australia has reviewed the Previous Distribution Determinations and finds no reference to the outcomes monitoring program. This is perplexing given the creation of a national regulatory framework was intended to create consistency across jurisdictions, particularly in relation to the information being collected.

While Powercor Australia does not object to the imposition of the AER's proposed outcomes monitoring framework provided it receives a commensurate expenditure allowance to enable it to comply with that framework, Powercor Australia reserves its rights in respect of the making of the RIN, including its right to raise any matters in the consultation process on the RIN.

Powercor Australia has forecast the costs associated with managing the AER's proposed outcomes monitoring program. The expenditure associated with this change in reporting requirements is ongoing expenditure and is not reflected in Powercor Australia's 2009 base year opex. This expenditure relates to IT costs of developing programs to capture the AER's outcomes monitoring and compliance requirements, costs of Powercor Australia's regulatory team and its Network group in preparing responses to the RIN, costs of auditing the information being provided to the AER and costs of legal reviews undertaken of that information. The break down of these costs (including a detailed breakdown of IT costs) is set out in an attachment to this Revised Regulatory Proposal.³⁹⁵ The total costs have been apportioned evenly between CitiPower and Powercor Australia.

Accordingly, Powercor Australia proposes the following step change for that expenditure:

³⁹⁵ Cost build up model for outcomes monitoring and compliance step change (Attachment 130 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal).

	\$'000 (\$2010)						
	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015	Total	
Step change costs for outcomes monitoring and compliance	665	60	60	60	60	905	

 Table 6.12
 Step change - incremental impact of increase in costs associated with outcomes monitoring and compliance

6.5.15 Step change – Tariff assignment requirements

6.5.15.1 AER's Draft Determination

Appendix G of the AER's Draft Determination contains the AER's proposed procedures for assigning or reassigning customers to tariff classes. Clause 6 of the procedure requires Victorian DNSPs to notify the customer concerned in writing of the tariff class to which the customer has been assigned or reassigned prior to the assignment or reassignment occurring.³⁹⁶

6.5.15.2 Powercor Australia's response to AER's Draft Determination

Currently, the analogous regulatory obligation on Victorian DNSPs is limited to notifying customers of the distribution tariff to which the distribution customer has been reassigned, prior to the reassignment occurring.³⁹⁷ That is, unlike the AER's proposal it does not require DNSPs to notify customers of the tariff class to which the customer has been assigned prior to the assignment occurring. This issue is discussed in further detail in Chapter 3 of this Revised Regulatory Proposal which deals with control mechanisms for standard control services.

If the AER retains this change to the current obligation in its Final Determination, Powercor Australia considers that the AER must compensate it for the additional costs it will incur. Accordingly, Powercor Australia has proposed a step change for that expenditure.

Powercor Australia considers that, if the AER does not alter this requirement in the procedures for assigning or reassigning customers to tariff classes, Powercor Australia's forecast step change would:

- properly be categorised as being triggered by a change in Powercor Australia's regulatory obligations, as Powercor Australia's obligations under the ESCV's 2006-10 EDPR do not require this expenditure; and
- reasonably reflect the efficient costs a prudent operator in Powercor Australia's circumstances would require to achieve the opex objectives, in particular the requirement in clause 6.5.6(a)(2) to comply with all applicable regulatory obligations or requirements associated with the provision of standard control services.

Accordingly, Powercor Australia proposes the following step change for that expenditure:

³⁹⁶ AER, Draft Determination, Appendix G, p21.

³⁹⁷ Clause 2.1.20 of the ESCV's 2006-10 EDPR (Attachment 32 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal).

	\$'000 (\$2010)						
	2011	2015	Total				
Tariff assignment step change	1,016	330	330	330	330	2,337	

Powercor Australia observes that the AER will not need to allow Powercor Australia this step change if the AER accepts its proposal described in Chapter 3 of this Revised Regulatory Proposal to amend clause 6 of the AER's proposed procedures for assigning and reassigning customers to tariff classes.

6.5.16 Step change - transmission-related costs

In Chapter 3 of this Revised Regulatory Proposal, Powercor Australia proposed that the AER should include a new term in each of the WAPC and side constraint formulas to address transmission-related costs.

In preparing this Revised Regulatory Proposal, Powercor Australia has proceeded on the basis that the AER will accept its proposal to include new terms in the WAPC and side constraint formula to address transmission-related costs. Accordingly, it has not included this expenditure in its forecast opex.

However, as set out in Chapter 3, Powercor Australia submits that if the AER rejects its proposed WAPC or side constraint terms (or both of them) regarding transmission-related costs, the AER will have to make an allowance in opex for the recovery of those costs. This expenditure is required to achieve the opex objectives under clause 6.5.6(a) of the Rules. These costs would be required to be incurred by an efficient and prudent operator to achieve the opex objectives.

6.6 Powercor Australia's Revised Regulatory Proposal

Powercor Australia has amended its Initial Regulatory Proposal and prepared this Revised Regulatory Proposal to be consistent with the AER's Draft Determination in respect of the following:

- the AER's adjustment to base year costs to remove regulatory reset costs;³⁹⁸
- the AER's decision to roll forward the 2009 base year costs to 2010 by inflating the 2009 costs by the change in costs assumed by the ESCV in determining the benchmark opex allowance for 2009 and 2010 in its 2006-10 EDPR;³⁹⁹
- the AER's decision in respect of Powercor Australia's proposed step change for self insurance;⁴⁰⁰
- the AER's decision in respect of Powercor Australia's proposed step change for climate change;⁴⁰¹

³⁹⁸ AER, Draft Determination, p243.

³⁹⁹ AER, Draft Determination, p246.

⁴⁰⁰ AER, Draft Determination, Appendix M.

⁴⁰¹ AER, Draft Determination, Appendix L, p186.

- the AER's decision in respect of Powercor Australia's proposed step change for compliance with the Electricity Safety Management Regulations;⁴⁰²
- the AER's decision in respect of Powercor Australia's proposed step change for the national framework for distribution network planning and expansion;⁴⁰³
- the AER's decision in respect of Powercor Australia's proposed step change in respect of the customer charter;⁴⁰⁴ and
- the AER's decision to include a step change for Powercor Australia in respect of regulatory submission costs.⁴⁰⁵

Powercor Australia has revised its Initial Regulatory Proposal and prepared this Revised Regulatory Proposal:

- having regard to its final audited regulatory accounts;
- to make adjustments for movements in provisions;
- to adjust base year opex to deduct Powercor Australia's distribution licence fee of \$302,995;
- to make a GSL allowance for the 2011-15 regulatory control period based on an average of its actual payments over 2005-09 with a customer growth factor applied to the average GSL payment value;
- to alter its proposed adjustment in respect of capitalisation to that set out above;
- to alter its proposed amount of debt raising costs to that set above;
- to adjust its base opex for 2009 to include all superannuation costs and apply a step change for the years 2011-15 in respect of its defined benefit and accumulation superannuation schemes;
- to propose an additional step change set out above as a result of the Commonwealth Government's announcement in respect of the superannuation guarantee levy;
- to revise its proposed step change in respect of insurance to be based on a 15 per cent increase on the 2009 insurance premium reported in its regulatory accounts pending determination of the premium for 2010/11 on or around 30 September 2010;
- to clarify and alter its proposed step change in respect of compliance with the 2010 Line Clearance Regulations to that set out above;
- to revise its proposed step change amount in respect of its at risk townships program to that set out above;
- to include its proposed step change set out above for complying with the new requirements of the Distribution Code in respect of communication in extreme supply events;

⁴⁰² AER, Draft Determination, Appendix L, p159.

⁴⁰³ AER, Draft Determination, Appendix L, p197;

⁴⁰⁴ AER, Draft Determination, Appendix L, p203.

⁴⁰⁵ AER, Draft Determination, Appendix L, p208.

- to propose an additional step change set out above for compliance with the AER's outcomes monitoring framework that is foreshadowed in Chapter 21 of its Draft Determination;
- to propose an additional step change set out above for compliance with the AER's proposed tariff assignment requirements in Appendix G of its Draft Determination;
- to apply scale escalation as set out in Chapter 7 of this Revised Regulatory Proposal; and
- to apply real cost escalators as set out in Chapter 8 of this Revised Regulatory Proposal.

Powercor Australia's Regulatory Proposal in respect of opex is otherwise that set out in its Initial Regulatory Proposal.

The key assumptions which underlie the proposed opex forecast as set out and included in Powercor Australia's building block proposal are listed in Appendix 1.1 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal.

The table below shows the calculation of Powercor Australia's revised proposed 2010 base opex the 2010-15 regulatory control period.

	(\$'000, \$2010)
2009 O&M per Regulatory Accounts	126,588
Provision adjustments	4,874
Licence fee	(307)
ATO audit	(1,978)
GSLs	(1,813)
Superannuation	0
Price Review	(2,083)
2010 Benchmark Efficiency	4,361
Total	129,641

Table 6.14 Powercor Australia's revised proposed 2010 base opex

The table below shows Powercor Australia's revised proposed forecast total operating and maintenance costs the 2010-15 regulatory control period.

	\$'000 (\$2010)							
	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015	Total		
2010 Base O&M	129,641	129,641	129,641	129,641	129,641	648,205		
Step changes (excluding margins, escalation & overheads)	34,790	33,064	29,189	31,175	32,393	160,611		
Change in overhead transfers (excluding margins and escalation)	(914)	(1,043)	(1,237)	(985)	(884)	(5,063)		
Input escalation (on above costs)	3,953	8,561	12,218	15,177	18,139	58,048		
Scale escalation (on above costs)	1,507	3,648	5,551	7,788	10,227	28,721		
Margins (on above costs)	6,611	6,948	7,231	7,520	7,804	36,114		
Total	175,588	180,819	182,591	190,316	197,320	926,634		

 Table 6.15 Powercor Australia's revised proposed forecast total opex

The following table shows Powercor Australia's proposed step changes, including escalation, margins and overheads where relevant.

	\$'000 (\$2010)						
	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015	Total	
Direct costs							
Customer Charter	743	-	-	-	-	743	
AEMC Framework Distribution Planning	863	940	748	863	862	4,276	
At Risk Victorian Towns	3,847	3,847	3,847	3,847	3,847	19,235	
Communications in extreme supply events	686	686	686	686	686	3,430	
Vegetation clearance (compliance with Line Clearance Regulations)	21,516	21,231	16,675	15,685	15,986	91,093	
Insurance	437	437	437	437	437	2,183	
Tariff assignment	1,016	330	330	330	330	2,337	
Demand incentive allowance	600	600	600	600	600	3,000	
GSL payments	1,152	1,152	1,152	1,152	1,152	5,761	
Regulatory submission costs	-	-	149	2,083	1,775	4,007	
Superannuation	77	306	741	1,389	2,337	4,851	
Outcomes monitoring and compliance	665	60	60	60	60	905	
Overhead transfers	(914)	(1,043)	(1,237)	(985)	(884)	(5,063)	
Debt Raising Costs	3,187	3,475	3,764	4,043	4,321	18,791	
Total	33,876	32,021	27,951	30,191	31,509	155,548	
Escalation							
Customer Charter	17	-	-	-	-	17	
AEMC Framework Distribution Planning	31	78	94	138	167	507	
At Risk Victorian Towns	119	273	401	502	604	1,899	
Communications in extreme supply events	15	32	42	49	58	196	
Vegetation clearance (compliance with Line Clearance Regulations)	-	-	-	-	-	-	
Insurance	-	-	-	-	-	-	
Tariff assignment	-	-	-	-	-	-	

	-	_		-		
Demand incentive allowance	-	-	-	-	-	-
GSL payments	21	43	65	86	106	321
Regulatory submission costs	-	-	9	148	150	307
Superannuation	-	-	-	-	-	-
Outcomes monitoring and compliance	-	-	-	-	-	-
Overhead transfers	-	-	-	-	-	-
Debt Raising Costs	-	-	-	-	-	-
Total	203	426	611	923	1,085	3,247
Overheads						
Customer Charter	-	-	-	-	-	-
AEMC Framework Distribution Planning	-	-	-	-	-	-
At Risk Victorian Towns	368	376	391	409	417	1,961
Communications in extreme supply						
events	-	-	-	-	-	-
Line Clearance Regulations)	1,996	1,936	1,536	1,476	1,498	8,441
Insurance	-	-	-	-	-	-
Tariff assignment	-	-	-	-	-	-
Demand incentive allowance	-	-	-	-	-	-
GSL payments	-	-	-	-	-	•
Regulatory submission costs	-	-	-	-	-	-
Superannuation	-	-	-	-	-	-
Outcomes monitoring and compliance	-	-	-	-	-	-
Overhead transfers	-	-	-			-
Debt Raising Costs						
Bobt I taloing booto	-	-	-	-	-	-
Total	2,363	2,312	1,927	1,885	1,915	10,402
Total Margins	2,363	2,312	1,927	1,885	1,915	10,402
Total Margins Customer Charter	2,363	2,312	1,927		1,915 -	- 10,402 -
Margins Customer Charter AEMC Framework Distribution Planning	2,363 - -	2,312 - -	1,927 - -	- 1,885 - -	- - -	- - -
Margins Customer Charter AEMC Framework Distribution Planning At Risk Victorian Towns	2,363 - - 32	2,312 - - 32	1,927 - - 32	- - - 34	1,915 - - 34	10,402 - - 163
Total Margins Customer Charter AEMC Framework Distribution Planning At Risk Victorian Towns Communications in extreme supply wasta	2,363 - - 32	2,312 - - 32	1,927 - - 32	1,885 - - 34	1,915 - - 34	10,402 - - 163
Total Margins Customer Charter AEMC Framework Distribution Planning At Risk Victorian Towns Communications in extreme supply events Vegetation clearance (compliance with	2,363 32	2,312 - - 32 -	- - 32 -	- - - 34 -	1,915 - - 34 -	- - - 163 -
Margins Customer Charter AEMC Framework Distribution Planning At Risk Victorian Towns Communications in extreme supply events Vegetation clearance (compliance with Line Clearance Regulations)	2,363 32 - 176	2,312 - - 32 - 174	1,927 - - 32 - 140	1,885 - - 34 - 137	1,915 - - 34 - 141	10,402 - - 163 - 769
Total Margins Customer Charter AEMC Framework Distribution Planning At Risk Victorian Towns Communications in extreme supply events Vegetation clearance (compliance with Line Clearance Regulations) Insurance	2,363 32 - 176	2,312 32 - 174	1,927 32 - 140	- - - 34 - 137 -	1,915 - - 34 - 141 -	10,402 - - 163 - 769 -
Total Margins Customer Charter AEMC Framework Distribution Planning At Risk Victorian Towns Communications in extreme supply events Vegetation clearance (compliance with Line Clearance Regulations) Insurance Tariff assignment	2,363 - - 32 - 176 - -	2,312 - - 32 - 174 - -	1,927 - - 32 - 140 - -	- - 34 - 137 - -	1,915 - - 34 - 141 - -	- - - 163 - 769 - -
Total Margins Customer Charter AEMC Framework Distribution Planning At Risk Victorian Towns Communications in extreme supply events Vegetation clearance (compliance with Line Clearance Regulations) Insurance Tariff assignment Demand incentive allowance	2,363 - - 32 - 176 - - - -	2,312 - - 32 - 174 - - -	1,927 - - 32 - 140 - - -	- - - 34 - 137 - - -	1,915 - - 34 - 141 - - - -	10,402 - - 163 - 769 - - -
Total Margins Customer Charter AEMC Framework Distribution Planning At Risk Victorian Towns Communications in extreme supply events Vegetation clearance (compliance with Line Clearance Regulations) Insurance Tariff assignment Demand incentive allowance GSL payments	2,363 - - 32 - 176 - - - - - - - - - - - - -	2,312 - - 32 - 174 - - - - - - - - - - - - -	- - 32 - 140 - - - - - - -	- - - 34 - 137 - - - - - - - -	1,915 - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -	10,402 - - 163 - 769 - - - - - - -
Total Margins Customer Charter AEMC Framework Distribution Planning At Risk Victorian Towns Communications in extreme supply events Vegetation clearance (compliance with Line Clearance Regulations) Insurance Tariff assignment Demand incentive allowance GSL payments Regulatory submission costs	2,363 - - 32 - 176 - - - - - - - - -	2,312 - - 32 - 174 - - - - - - - - - - - - -	1,927 - 32 - 140 - - - - - - - - - - - - -	- - - 34 - 137 - - - - - - - -	1,915 - - 34 - 141 - - - - - - - - - - - - -	10,402 - - 163 - 769 - - - - - - - -
Total Margins Customer Charter AEMC Framework Distribution Planning At Risk Victorian Towns Communications in extreme supply events Vegetation clearance (compliance with Line Clearance Regulations) Insurance Tariff assignment Demand incentive allowance GSL payments Regulatory submission costs Superannuation	2,363 - - 32 - 176 - - - - - - - - - - - - -	2,312 - - 32 - 174 - - - - - - - - - - - - -	1,927 - - 32 - 140 - - - - - - - - - - - - -	1,885 - - 34 - 137 - - - - - - - - - - - - -	1,915 - - 34 - 141 - - - - - - - - - - - - -	10,402 - - 163 - 769 - - - - - - - - -
Total Margins Customer Charter AEMC Framework Distribution Planning At Risk Victorian Towns Communications in extreme supply events Vegetation clearance (compliance with Line Clearance Regulations) Insurance Tariff assignment Demand incentive allowance GSL payments Regulatory submission costs Superannuation Outcomes monitoring and compliance	2,363 - - 32 - 176 - - - - - - - - - - - - -	2,312 - - 32 - 174 - - - - - - - - - - - - -	1,927 - - 32 - 140 - - - - - - - - - - - - -	1,885 - - - - - - - - - - - - -	1,915 - - - - - - - - - - - - -	10,402 - - 163 - 769 - - - - - - - - - - - - -
Total Margins Customer Charter AEMC Framework Distribution Planning At Risk Victorian Towns Communications in extreme supply events Vegetation clearance (compliance with Line Clearance Regulations) Insurance Tariff assignment Demand incentive allowance GSL payments Regulatory submission costs Superannuation Outcomes monitoring and compliance Overhead transfers	2,363 - - 32 - 176 - - - - - - - - - - - - -	2,312 - - 32 - 174 - - - - - - - - - - - - -	1,927 - - 32 - 140 - - - - - - - - - - - - -	1,885 - - 34 - 137 - - - - - - - - - - - - -	1,915 - - 34 - 141 - - - - - - - - - - - - -	10,402
Total Margins Customer Charter AEMC Framework Distribution Planning At Risk Victorian Towns Communications in extreme supply events Vegetation clearance (compliance with Line Clearance Regulations) Insurance Tariff assignment Demand incentive allowance GSL payments Regulatory submission costs Superannuation Outcomes monitoring and compliance Overhead transfers Debt Raising Costs	2,363 - - 32 - 176 - - - - - - - - - - - - -	2,312 - - 32 - 174 - - - - - - - - - - - - -	1,927 - - 32 - 140 - - - - - - - - - - - - -	1,885 	1,915 - - - - - - - - - - - - -	10,402
Total Margins Customer Charter AEMC Framework Distribution Planning At Risk Victorian Towns Communications in extreme supply events Vegetation clearance (compliance with Line Clearance Regulations) Insurance Tariff assignment Demand incentive allowance GSL payments Regulatory submission costs Superannuation Outcomes monitoring and compliance Overhead transfers Debt Raising Costs Total	2,363 - - 32 - 176 - - - - - - - - - - - - -	2,312 - - 32 - 174 - - - - - - - - - - - - -	1,927 - - 32 - 140 - - - - - - - - - - - - -	1,885 - - - - - - - - - - - - -	1,915 - - - - - - - - - - - - -	10,402
Total Margins Customer Charter AEMC Framework Distribution Planning At Risk Victorian Towns Communications in extreme supply events Vegetation clearance (compliance with Line Clearance Regulations) Insurance Tariff assignment Demand incentive allowance GSL payments Regulatory submission costs Superannuation Outcomes monitoring and compliance Overhead transfers Debt Raising Costs Total	2,363 - - 32 - 176 - - - - - - - 208	2,312 - - 32 - 174 - - - - - - - 206	1,927 - 32 - 140 - - - - - - - - - - - - -	1,885 - 34 - 34 - 137 -	1,915 - - 34 - 141 - -<	10,402
Total Margins Customer Charter AEMC Framework Distribution Planning At Risk Victorian Towns Communications in extreme supply events Vegetation clearance (compliance with Line Clearance Regulations) Insurance Tariff assignment Demand incentive allowance GSL payments Regulatory submission costs Superannuation Outcomes monitoring and compliance Overhead transfers Debt Raising Costs Total Customer Charter	2,363 - - 32 - 176 - - - - - - - - - 208 760	2,312 - - 32 - 174 - - - - - - - - - 206	1,927 - - 32 - 140 - - - - - - - - - - - - -	1,885 	1,915 - - 34 - 141 -	10,402
Total Margins Customer Charter AEMC Framework Distribution Planning At Risk Victorian Towns Communications in extreme supply events Vegetation clearance (compliance with Line Clearance Regulations) Insurance Tariff assignment Demand incentive allowance GSL payments Regulatory submission costs Superannuation Outcomes monitoring and compliance Overhead transfers Debt Raising Costs Total Customer Charter AEMC Framework Distribution Planning	2,363 - - 32 - 176 - - - - - - - - - 208 760 894	2,312 - - 32 - 174 - - - - - - - - - - - - -	1,927 - 32 - 32 - 140 - <t< td=""><td>1,885 - 34 - 34 - 137 - 1,001</td><td>1,915 - 34 - 141 - 1,029</td><td>10,402 </td></t<>	1,885 - 34 - 34 - 137 - 1,001	1,915 - 34 - 141 - 1,029	10,402
Total Margins Customer Charter AEMC Framework Distribution Planning At Risk Victorian Towns Communications in extreme supply events Vegetation clearance (compliance with Line Clearance Regulations) Insurance Tariff assignment Demand incentive allowance GSL payments Regulatory submission costs Superannuation Outcomes monitoring and compliance Overhead transfers Debt Raising Costs Total Customer Charter AEMC Framework Distribution Planning At Risk Victorian Towns	2,363 - - 32 - 176 - - - - - - - - 208 760 894 4,366	2,312 - - - - - - - - - - - - -	1,927 - 32 - 140 - -<	1,885 - 34 - 137 - 1,001 4,791	1,915 - 34 - 141 - 1,029 4,902	10,402
Total Margins Customer Charter AEMC Framework Distribution Planning At Risk Victorian Towns Communications in extreme supply events Vegetation clearance (compliance with Line Clearance Regulations) Insurance Tariff assignment Demand incentive allowance GSL payments Regulatory submission costs Superannuation Outcomes monitoring and compliance Overhead transfers Debt Raising Costs Total Total Customer Charter AEMC Framework Distribution Planning At Risk Victorian Towns Communications in extreme supply	2,363 - - - 32 - 176 - - - - - - - - 208 760 894 4,366 704	2,312 - - - - - - - - - - - - -	1,927 - 32 - 32 - 140 -	1,885 - - 34 - 137 - 1,001 4,791	1,915 - - - 34 - 141 - 1,029 4,902	10,402

Vegetation clearance (compliance with Line Clearance Regulations)	23,688	23,341	18,351	17,297	17,625	100,302
Insurance	437	437	437	437	437	2,183
Tariff assignment	1,016	330	330	330	330	2,337
Demand incentive allowance	600	600	600	600	600	3,000
GSL payments	1,173	1,195	1,217	1,238	1,259	6,082
Regulatory submission costs	-	-	158	2,232	1,925	4,314
Superannuation	77	306	741	1,389	2,337	4,851
Outcomes monitoring and compliance	665	60	60	60	60	905
Overhead transfers	(914)	(1,043)	(1,237)	(985)	(884)	(5,063)
Debt Raising Costs	3,187	3,475	3,764	4,043	4,321	18,791
Total	36,650	34,964	30,663	33,169	34,683	170,128

 Table 6.16 Powercor Australia's proposed step changes (including escalation, overheads and margins)

7. SCALE ESCALATION

In this Chapter of the Revised Regulatory Proposal, Powercor Australia responds to section 7.5.5 of, and Appendix J to, the AER's Draft Determination regarding Powercor Australia's proposed scale escalation of its opex forecast.

7.1 Summary of key points

While Powercor Australia accepts the AER's use of a composite growth factor based on physical metrics as a network growth driver, Powercor Australia contends that growth in the **number of zone substations** is not a reasonable indicator of growth in operating and maintenance activity levels resulting from network growth. Rather, Powercor Australia considers that a network growth escalator based on the simple average of growth in line length, transformers and **installed zone substation capacity** is appropriate.

Powercor Australia does not contest the AER's decision to reject its work volume escalator and apply a network growth escalator to the relevant capex categories instead.

Noting the AER's acceptance of its customer growth escalator in the Draft Determination, Powercor Australia includes in this Revised Regulatory Proposal an updated customer growth escalator, which reflects current customer growth forecasts based on more recent macro economic data.

Powercor Australia agrees with the AER's rejection of the escalation of the following: 'Emergency faults (meters)', 'Meters, timeswitches & services maintenance', 'Metering communications' and 'New connections' (function codes 311, 430, 435 and 852). Powercor Australia has also adopted the AER's economies of scale adjustment of 50 per cent for the 'Quality audits' opex category (function code 482).

However, Powercor Australia maintains that its remaining economies of scale adjustments, and its application of these adjustments, are reasonable.

Powercor Australia submits that the AER should not make a downward adjustment to its opex due to the reliability and quality maintained capex proposed in its Revised Regulatory Proposal. Powercor Australia considers that the approach adopted by the AER to determining the capex/opex trade-off is unreasonable and results in a significant understatement of the opex that Powercor Australia, acting efficiently and prudently, will require in the next regulatory control period. In particular, the AER's approach fails to take into account the increasing average asset age of Powercor Australia's network, which implies that Powercor Australia's opex should be expected to increase (rather than decrease) in the next regulatory control period. Acting conservatively, however, Powercor Australia has not included any amounts in this Revised Regulatory Proposal to reflect the increase in opex it anticipates will arise in the next regulatory control period given its proposed level of capex.

7.2 Rule requirements

Powercor Australia applies scale escalators (and makes economies of scale adjustments) to input cost escalated opex forecasts for the 2011-15 regulatory control period. Accordingly, the provisions of the Rules governing the total opex forecast (detailed in Chapter 6 of this Revised Regulatory Proposal) apply. Broadly, the total opex forecast must reasonably reflect the opex criteria.

7.3 Powercor Australia's Initial Regulatory Proposal

7.3.1 Scale escalators

Scale escalation of opex forecasts is required to allow for the additional costs associated with operating and maintaining a growing network.

In its Initial Regulatory Proposal, Powercor Australia applied one of three proposed scale escalators (or scale drivers) to a number of opex categories that were identified as being driven by growth.⁴⁰⁶ The scale escalators applied were:

- network growth to take into account growth in the size of the distribution network. Powercor Australia's network growth escalator was determined based on the undepreciated RAB;
- work volume to take into account changes in the volume of capital and maintenance activity on the network; and
- customer growth to take into account changes in customer numbers.

Powercor Australia engaged an independent expert, SKM, to examine the derivation of the scale escalators. SKM was satisfied with the calculation methodology utilised for each escalator.⁴⁰⁷

The values of the scale escalators reflected in the Initial Regulatory Proposal are set out in Table 7.1 below.

	Cumulative %						
	2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015						
Network growth	2.5	5.7	9.0	12.4	16.0	19.7	
Work volume	4.3	22.4	25.1	27.6	30.8	32.3	
Customer growth	1.8	3.6	5.3	7.1	8.9	10.9	

Table 7.1 Scale escalators applied in Powercor Australia's Initial Regulatory Proposal

7.3.2 Economies of scale adjustments

To account for the fact that opex does not grow in direct proportion to the growth in the network,⁴⁰⁸ Powercor Australia made economies of scale adjustments to reduce the impact of the scale escalators (identified in Table 7.1 above) on the total opex forecast.

The economies of scale adjustments made by Powercor Australia were determined by SKM, adopting the approach previously used by ElectraNet and ETSA.⁴⁰⁹

The economies of scale adjustments reflected in the Initial Regulatory Proposal are set out in Table 7.2 below. The percentages set out in Table 7.2 represent the percentage

⁴⁰⁶ Initial Regulatory Proposal, pp160-1.

⁴⁰⁷ SKM, Scale Escalators Model Review for CitiPower and Powercor Australia, 24 November 2009 (Attachment P0093 to the Initial Regulatory Proposal), pp9-10.

⁴⁰⁸ Opex does not grow in direct proportion to the growth in the network (including physical network growth, growth in work volume and customer growth) because economies of scale allow DNSPs to achieve efficiencies resulting from a larger network.

⁴⁰⁹ SKM, Scale Escalators Model Review for CitiPower and Powercor Australia, 24 November 2009 (Attachment P0093 to the Initial Regulatory Proposal), p11.

reduction to the scale escalation amount for the identified opex category to account for economies of scale. 410

7.3.3 Application of the scale escalators and economics of scale adjustments

As noted, one of the escalators set out in Table 7.1 above was applied to each opex activity that was identified by Powercor Australia as being driven by scale. The application of the scale escalators is shown in Table 7.2 below.

The escalators were applied to opex forecasts that had already been escalated for expected increases in input costs.

Powercor Australia engaged SKM to review the application of the scale escalators. SKM found that the application of the scale escalators (set out in Appendix A to SKM's report) was reasonable.⁴¹¹ SKM supported the approach of applying scale escalators to input cost escalated forecasts.⁴¹²

SKM also reviewed the application of the economies of scale adjustments to the opex categories.⁴¹³ SKM found that Powercor Australia's application (also set out in Appendix A to SKM's report) was reasonable.⁴¹⁴

Function code	Operating and maintenance activity	Scale escalator	Economies of scale adjustment				
Network operating & maintenance activities							
309	Emergency faults - overhead	Network growth	5%				
310	Emergency faults - underground	Network growth	5%				
311	Emergency faults - meters	Customer growth	5%				
312	Emergency faults - protection and control	Network growth	5%				
313	Emergency faults - public lighting	Customer growth	5%				
314	Faults & emergency work	Network growth	5%				
315	Fault investigation	Network growth	5%				
316	ZSS plant routine & defect maintenance	Network growth	5%				
317	ZSS breakdown maintenance	Network growth	5%				
318	Distribution system plant routine & defect maintenance	Network growth	5%				
319	Distribution system plan breakdown maintenance	Network growth	5%				
321	System planning contingencies	Network growth	75%				

 ⁴¹⁰ The figures in Table 7.2 are 100 per cent minus the economies of scale 'factors' identified by SKM. The adjustments have been represented in this way in the Revised Regulatory Proposal so that they are consistent with the AER's representation them.
 ⁴¹¹ SKM, Scale Escalators Model Review for CitiPower and Powercor Australia, 24 November 2009 (Attachment

⁴¹¹ SKM, Scale Escalators Model Review for CitiPower and Powercor Australia, 24 November 2009 (Attachment P0093 to the Initial Regulatory Proposal), p12.

⁴¹² SKM, Scale Escalators Model Review for CitiPower and Powercor Australia, 24 November 2009 (Attachment P0093 to the Initial Regulatory Proposal), pp1, 13.

⁴¹³ SKM, Scale Escalators Model Review for CitiPower and Powercor Australia, 24 November 2009 (Attachment P0093 to the Initial Regulatory Proposal), p12.

⁴¹⁴ SKM, Scale Escalators Model Review for CitiPower and Powercor Australia, 24 November 2009 (Attachment P0093 to the Initial Regulatory Proposal), p12.

Function code	Operating and maintenance activity	Scale escalator	Economies of scale adjustment
322	System operators	Network growth	50%
325	Roads management bill	Work volume	5%
330	Overhead line maintenance	Network growth	5%
333	Conductor clearance (ops)	Network growth	5%
335	Voltage complaints	Network growth	5%
336	TV interference (TVI) complaint investigation	Network growth	75%
350	High voltage installation maintenance	Network growth	5%
380	Asset inspection	Network growth	5%
381	Pole defect management	Network growth	5%
383	Safety compliance	Network growth	75%
400	Vegetation control	Network growth	5%
410	Insulator washing	Network growth	5%
425	Environmental management	Network growth	90%
426	Bushfire mitigation	Network growth	5%
430	Meters, timeswitches & services - maintenance	Customer growth	5%
435	Metering communications - maintenance & operating	Customer growth	5%
440	Underground cable locations	Network growth	5%
442	Underground cable maintenance	Network growth	5%
450	Public lighting maintenance	Customer growth	5%
477	Customer establishment works	Customer growth	50%
478	Customer supply negotiations	Customer growth	50%
482	Quality audits	Work volume	5%
483	Thermovision	Network growth	5%
484	Quality investigations	Network growth	5%
485	Network logging monitoring	Network growth	90%
486	Maintenance research and development	Network growth	90%
487	Technical standards and innovation	Network growth	90%
488	OCEI reporting	Network growth	90%
490	Property - operating & maintenance	Network growth	90%
492	Substation property maintenance	Network growth	5%
500	General & administration	Work volume	90%
505	Quality accreditation	Network growth	90%
506	Engineering & technical services	Network growth	75%

Function code	Operating and maintenance activity	Scale escalator	Economies of scale adjustment
512	Recruitment	Work volume	75%
516	Health & safety	Work volume	75%
525	Training	Work volume	90%
536	Motor vehicle and plant	Work volume	75%
590	Computer systems	Work volume	75%
595	Voice communications	Work volume	75%
596	Data communications	Work volume	75%
605	Work completed by PCA CP	Work volume	90%
635	Salary expenditure	Network growth	75%
640	Cust serv: techn supp	Customer growth	75%
682	GSL payment	Customer growth	5%
800	Revenue - customer connections	Customer growth	5%
802	Revenue maintenance	Customer growth	5%
852	New connections	Customer growth	5%
999	Capital data take on Stores recovery	Network growth	75%
Meter Data	Services		
	FRC/MDS/CIS	Customer growth	90%
	FRC/MDS/CIS - AMI	Customer growth	90%
	Meter data management	Customer growth	90%
Billing & rev	venue collection		
	Billing & Rev Collection	Customer growth	5%
Customer s	ervice		
	Customer service	Customer growth	50%
Other			
	Network Finance	Network growth	90%
	HR Corporate	Work volume	90%
	GIS/OMS/SCADA	Network growth	75%
	Infrastructure	Work volume	90%

 Table 7.2 Application of scale escalators and economies of scale adjustments in Powercor Australia's Initial Regulatory Proposal

7.4 **AER's Draft Determination**

The AER did not accept Powercor Australia's proposed scale escalation of its opex forecasts.

In place of the scale escalators proposed by each of the Victorian DNSPs, the AER proposed two growth drivers:⁴¹⁵

- a network growth driver, equal to the simple average of the annual growth in line length, the number of distribution transformers and the number of zone substations over the forthcoming regulatory control period; and
- the annual growth in customer numbers over the forthcoming regulatory control period.

The AER increased the economies of scale adjustment proposed by Powercor Australia for some categories.⁴¹⁷ The AER also stated that it made adjustments to reflect SKM's recommendations regarding the economies of scale adjustments to be made.⁴¹⁸

The AER indicated in its Draft Determination that an adjustment should be made to Powercor Australia's total opex forecast to reflect its proposed increase in reliability and quality maintained capex (i.e. to reflect the capex/opex trade-off).⁴¹⁹ The AER reduced Powercor Australia's proposed opex by adopting the approach to capex/opex trade-off outlined by PB in support of the AER's South Australian Draft Determination.⁴²⁰

The AER's rejection of Powercor Australia's proposed scale escalators and economies of scale adjustments, as well as the AER's approach to the capex/opex trade-off, are set out in more detail below.

7.5 Powercor Australia's response to the AER's Draft Determination

7.5.1 Scale escalators

7.5.1.1 Summary

While Powercor Australia accepts the AER's use of a composite growth factor based on physical metrics as a network growth driver, Powercor Australia contends that growth in the number of zone substations is not a reasonable indicator of growth in operating and maintenance activity levels resulting from network growth. Rather, Powercor Australia considers that a network growth escalator based on the simple average of growth in line length, transformers and installed zone substation capacity is appropriate.

⁴¹⁵ AER, Draft Determination, p252.

⁴¹⁶ AER, Draft Determination Appendices, Appendix J, pp100-103; AER, spreadsheet titled

^{&#}x27;CP PAL Scale Opex Economies of Scale Draft Decision' (provided to Powercor Australia by the AER by email on 24 June 2010). ⁴¹⁷ AER, Draft Determination Appendices, Appendix J, pp101-103; AER, spreadsheet titled

^{&#}x27;CP PAL Scale Opex Economies of Scale Draft Decision' (provided to Powercor Australia by the AER by email on 24 June 2010).

AER, Draft Determination Appendices, Appendix J, p100.

⁴¹⁹ AER, Draft Determination Appendices, Appendix J, pp105-107.

⁴²⁰ AER, Draft Determination Appendices, Appendix J, pp105-7.

Powercor Australia does not contest the AER's decision to reject its work volume escalator and apply a network growth escalator to the relevant capex categories instead.

Noting the AER's acceptance of its customer growth escalator in its Draft Determination, Powercor Australia includes in this Revised Regulatory Proposal an updated customer growth escalator, which reflects current customer growth forecasts based on more recent macro economic data.

Each of these matters is discussed in further detail below.

7.5.1.2 Network growth

Powercor Australia accepts the AER's decision to adopt physical metrics as a driver for network growth. Further, Powercor Australia accepts the AER's decision to calculate the network growth driver by taking the simple average of the physical metrics.

However, Powercor Australia does not accept the AER's selection of physical metrics. While Powercor Australia accepts that growth in line length and growth in the number of distribution transformers may be appropriate measures of network growth, Powercor Australia does not consider growth in the number of zone substations to be a reasonable driver of growth.

The growth in the number of zone substations does not provide an indication of the growth in the operating and maintenance activity levels resulting from growth in the network. In a review of the AER's Draft Determination (requested by Powercor Australia following the release of the Draft Determination), SKM noted that the operating and maintenance costs associated with zone substations are closely related to the size and quantity of the equipment contained therein and this can vary significantly between zone substations.⁴²¹ SKM observed that:⁴²²

'Rural zones are frequently only single transformer, whereas urban and CBD zones often have 3, 4 or more transformers, and are frequently developed in a "staged" manner whereby additional transformers are installed over time. The number of busbars, circuit breakers, protection relays and other items of equipment that drive opex costs are also generally proportional to the number of transformers.'

Another independent expert engaged by Powercor Australia following the release of the Draft Determination, PB, reached the same view. PB noted that:⁴²³

'the use of the number of zone substations is likely to be a less accurate indicator of growth in opex costs than aggregate capacity as typically, operational costs, inspection costs and routine/condition/emergency related maintenance is undertaken based on both the number of discrete pieces of plant and equipment used within zone substations, and to a lesser extent the size (which may be considered a measure of the importance of the plant). Practically, it is reasonable to expect a zone substation with four transformers and associated

⁴²¹ SKM, Review of AER Draft Decision – Opex Scale Escalation for CitiPower and Powercor Australia, 8 July 2010 (Attachment 133 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p3.

⁴²² SKM, Review of AER Draft Decision – Opex Scale Escalation for CitiPower and Powercor Australia, 8 July 2010 (Attachment 133 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), pp3-4.

⁴²³ PB, Letter re Application of network growth scale escalators for opex forecasts, 2 July 2010 (Attachment 134 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p2.

volumes of sub-transmission and HV switchgear will require substantially more operation and maintenance opex compared with a single transformer site.'

By contrast, SKM noted that 'per substation' items (e.g. batteries) would generally comprise only a small proportion of the zone substation opex costs.⁴²⁴

Further, contrary to the AER's suggestion that the AER's approach is broadly consistent with the approach adopted in the South Australian Final Determination,⁴²⁵ Powercor Australia considers that moving from a composite network growth factor based on line length, transformers and **installed zone substation capacity** (as was used in the South Australian Final Determination⁴²⁶) to a composite network growth factor based on line length, transformers and the **number of zone substations** is significant. First, as discussed above, the growth in the number of zone substations does not provide an indication of growth in operating and maintenance activity levels resulting from growth in the network. Second, while PB, an independent expert engaged by the AER, approved the use of growth in installed zone substation capacity as an appropriate driver of network growth,⁴²⁷ Powercor Australia is not aware of any expert opinion supporting the use of the number of zone substations as a measure of network growth.

Powercor Australia therefore proposes in this Revised Regulatory Proposal a network growth escalator equal to the simple average of growth in line length, growth in the number of distribution transformers and growth in installed zone substation capacity. The determination of the network growth escalator applied by Powercor Australia is set out in Table 7.3 below.

	Level and Growth %						
	2010	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015	
Lines (km) ⁴²⁸	83,926	85,377	86,875	88,443	90,074	91,725	
Lines growth (year on year)		1.73%	1.75%	1.81%	1.84%	1.83%	
Distribution transformers	81,095	82,560	84,052	85,571	87,117	88,691	
Distribution transformers growth (year on year)		1.81%	1.81%	1.81%	1.81%	1.81%	
Installed substation capacity	3,221	3,287	3,419	3,505	3,623	3,755	
Installed substation capacity growth (year on year)	2.53%	2.05%	4.02%	2.50%	3.38%	3.64%	
Average growth – bottom up (simple average)		1.86%	2.53%	2.04%	2.34%	2.43%	

 Table 7.3 Determination of the network growth escalator applied in Powercor Australia's Revised Regulatory Proposal

⁴²⁵ AER, Draft Determination Appendices, Appendix J, p95.

⁴²⁴ SKM, *Review* of AER Draft Decision – Opex Scale Escalation for CitiPower and Powercor Australia, 8 July 2010 (Attachment 133 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p4.

⁴²⁶ AER, South Australian Draft Determination (Attachment 21 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), pp212-4; AER, South Australian Final Determination (Attachment 22 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), pp120-2.

⁴²⁷ PB, Review of ETSA Utilities regulatory proposal for the period July 2010 to June 2015, November 2009 (Attachment 135 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), pp365-6.

⁴²⁸ See Revised Regulatory Templates 6.1.

7.5.1.3 Work volume

The AER rejected Powercor Australia's approach to determining a work volume escalator on the basis it was circular.⁴²⁹

While SKM, in its review of the AER's Draft Determination, disputes the AER's conclusion that Powercor Australia's proposed work volume growth driver is circular and suggests that the AER undertake a proper review of the escalator,⁴³⁰ Powercor Australia accepts the AER's decision not to use a work volume escalator and to apply a network growth escalator to the relevant categories of opex instead.⁴³¹

7.5.1.4 Customer growth

In its Draft Determination, the AER acknowledged that, in addition to size of the physical network, opex (specifically, opex relating to customer service and associated corporate services) can be driven by the number of customers.⁴³² The AER accepted the customer growth escalator proposed by Powercor Australia.⁴³³

The customer growth escalator applied in Powercor Australia's Revised Regulatory Proposal has been updated to reflect NIEIR's current forecasts of customer growth (discussed in Chapter 4).

7.5.2 Economies of scale adjustment

Powercor Australia agrees with the AER's rejection of the escalation of the following: 'Emergency faults (meters)', 'Meters, timeswitches & services maintenance', 'Metering communications' and 'New connections' (function codes 311, 430, 435 and 852). Powercor Australia has also adopted the AER's economies of scale adjustment of 50 per cent for the 'Quality audits' opex category (function code 482).

However, Powercor Australia maintains that its remaining economies of scale adjustments, and its application of these adjustments, are reasonable.

As noted above, the adjustments proposed in the Initial Regulatory proposal were considered reasonable by an independent expert, SKM.⁴³⁴ In addition, Powercor Australia observes that the determination of the economies of scale adjustments by SKM was based on the approach previously used by ETSA and other DNSPs and TNSPs,⁴³⁵ which has, in the main, been accepted by the AER.

⁴²⁹ AER, Draft Determination Appendices, Appendix J, p93.

⁴³⁰ SKM, Review of AER Draft Decision – Opex Scale Escalation for CitiPower and Powercor Australia, 8 July 2010 (Attachment 133 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), pp4-7.

⁴³¹ AER, Draft Determination Appendices, Appendix J, pp94 (including footnote 39), 98 (Table J.7); AER, spreadsheet titled 'CP_PAL_Scale_Opex_Economies of Scale_Draft_Decision' (provided to Powercor Australia by the AER by email on 24 June 2010).

⁴³² AER, Draft Determination Appendices, Appendix J, p94.

⁴³³ AER, spreadsheet titled 'CP PC_AER_Scale_Opex_Draft_Decision' (provided to Powercor Australia by the AER by email on 7 June 2010).

⁴³⁴ SKM, Scale Escalators Model Review for CitiPower and Powercor Australia, 24 November 2009 (Attachment P0093 to the Initial Regulatory Proposal), p12.

⁴³⁵ SKM, Scale Escalators Model Review for CitiPower and Powercor Australia, 24 November 2009 (Attachment P0093 to the Initial Regulatory Proposal), p11; SKM, *Review of AER Draft Decision – Opex Scale Escalation for CitiPower and Powercor Australia, 8 July 2010 (Attachment 133 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p1.*

In reviewing the economies of scale adjustments made by ETSA, the AER's expert, PB, concluded that:⁴³⁶

'the economy of scale adjustments that have been incorporated are reasonable and consistent with those used by similar businesses such as ElectraNet and Powerlink.'

PB (and, in response, the AER) raised concerns only in respect of ETSA's economies of scale adjustment to emergency response opex.⁴³⁷ For the reasons discussed below, Powercor Australia does not consider that the AER's conclusion in respect of ETSAs' escalation of emergency response opex can reasonably be applied to Powercor Australia's proposed escalation of emergency response opex.

Powercor Australia contests the changes made by the AER to the economies of scale adjustments to the following opex categories:

- emergency maintenance (function codes 309, 310, 312, 314, 315, 317 and 319);
- overhead line maintenance and pole defect maintenance (function codes 330 and 338);
- salary expenditure (function code 635); and
- vegetation control, insulator washing and bushfire mitigation (function codes 400, 410 and 426).

7.5.2.1 Emergency maintenance

In its Draft Determination, the AER increased Powercor Australia's proposed economies of scale adjustment to emergency maintenance opex from five per cent to 45 per cent to remove escalation of that portion of the forecast expenditure that it considered likely to relate to equipment failure (as opposed to external influences).⁴³⁸

The AER applied the reasoning that underpinned the South Australian Draft Determination, specifically, that 'emergency response not only includes responses to outages due to a variety of issues such as storms, animals contacting mains, etc but also from asset failures' and that, as asset replacement capex and preventative and corrective maintenance should directly reduce the level of emergency response opex

⁴³⁶ PB, Review of ETSA Utilities regulatory proposal for the period July 2010 to June 2015, November 2009 (Attachment 135 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p138.

⁴³⁷ PB, Review of ETSA Utilities regulatory proposal for the period July 2010 to June 2015, November 2009 (Attachment 135 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), pp138-9; AER, South Australian Draft Determination (Attachment 21 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), pp213-5; AER, South Australian Final Determination (Attachment 22 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), pp115. PB also raised concerns in respect of ETSA's escalation of network access, monitoring and control opex activity. However, rather than raising concerns in respect of the economies of scale adjustment, PB indicated that the escalator applied by ETSA was not reasonable. The escalator applied by ETSA was a multi-factor escalator (based on ETSAs' network growth and worth volume escalators), whereas PB considered the costs of providing network access, monitoring and control are more closely aligned with full time employees directly employed in the activity than either network growth or work volume: PB, Review of ETSA Utilities regulatory proposal for the period July 2010 to June 2015, November 2009 (Attachment 135 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), pp140-2.

⁴³⁸ AER, Draft Determination Appendices, Appendix J, pp101-2. The AER increased the economies of scale adjustment from five per cent to 45 per cent on the basis that (according to the AER's Victorian Electricity Businesses Comparative Performance Report 2008) the Victorian DNSPs' equipment failure and vegetation accounted for 45 per cent of supply interruptions: AER, Draft Determination Appendices, Appendix J, pp100-1.

because new or refurbished and maintained assets are less likely to fail, emergency maintenance expenditure arising due to asset failure should not be escalated.⁴³⁹

However, while the AER's position was upheld in the South Australian Final Determination, its reasons for that position were not.

In responding to the South Australian Draft Determination, ETSA highlighted that its escalation of emergency response opex involves taking the defect ratio that applies to its network today, and applying this same ratio to an enlarged network in the future.⁴⁴⁰ ETSA noted that the average age of its assets will either remain stable or increase throughout the 2010-15 regulatory control period, and in the absence of a replacement capex program will progressively increase.⁴⁴¹ Thus, ETSA considered that there was no basis for an increase in the economies of scale adjustment applied to its emergency response opex.⁴⁴²

Accordingly, the AER did not reject ETSA's scale escalation of emergency response opex on the basis of the above. Rather, the AER rejected ETSA's proposed escalation because ETSA's modelling had taken asset age into account.⁴⁴³ ETSA had proposed an asset age escalator, which it applied to 43 per cent of its emergency response opex (being the emergency response opex arising due to equipment failure rather than exogenous events).⁴⁴⁴ As PB noted, '*it is through this mechanism ETSA Utilities has endeavoured to establish the relationship between asset age, defects and associated opex*'.⁴⁴⁵

PB recognised that the increasing weighted average age of key asset classes represented a risk to ETSA and recommended the application of age escalation.⁴⁴⁶ While the AER rejected the proposed scale escalation of that proportion of ETSA's emergency response opex that related to asset failure,⁴⁴⁷ the AER did so on the basis that it allowed asset age escalation of that opex.⁴⁴⁸ That is, the AER implicitly recognised that it would not be appropriate to increase the economies of scale adjustment to emergency maintenance opex in the manner it proposed in its South Australia Draft Determination, in circumstances where the average age of network assets is increasing, unless the AER allowed age escalation of that opex.

⁴³⁹ AER, Draft Determination Appendices, pp100-1; AER, South Australian Draft Determination (Attachment 21 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p214.

⁴⁴⁰ ETSA, Revised Regulatory Proposal 2010-15, 14 January 2010 (Attachment 137 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p120.

⁴⁴¹ ETSA, Revised Regulatory Proposal 2010-15, 14 January 2010 (Attachment 137 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p120.

⁴⁴² ETSA, Revised Regulatory Proposal 2010-15, 14 January 2010 (Attachment 137 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p120.

⁴⁴³ AER, South Australian Final Determination (Attachment 22 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p115.

⁴⁴⁴ ETSA, Revised Regulatory Proposal 2010-15, 14 January 2010 (Attachment 137 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), pp124-7.

 ⁴⁴⁵ PB, Review of ETSA Utilities' revised regulatory proposal for the period July 2010 to June 2015, May 2010 (Attachment 136 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p28.
 ⁴⁴⁶ PB, Review of ETSA Utilities' revised regulatory proposal for the period July 2010 to June 2015, May 2010

⁴⁴⁶ PB, Review of ETSA Utilities' revised regulatory proposal for the period July 2010 to June 2015, May 2010 (Attachment 136 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p35.

⁴⁴⁷ AER, South Australian Final Determination (Attachment 22 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p115.

⁴⁴⁸ PB, Review of ETSA Utilities' revised regulatory proposal for the period July 2010 to June 2015, May 2010 (Attachment 136 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), pp31-3; AER, South Australian Final Determination (Attachment 22 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), pp119-20.

Subsequent to the Draft Determination, Powercor Australia engaged SKM to consider the average asset age of its network.⁴⁴⁹ SKM's analysis suggests that, like ETSA, Powercor Australia's average network asset age, and the proportion of assets older than their nominal life, is expected to increase in the next regulatory control period.⁴⁵⁰ Accordingly, Powercor Australia expects its emergency response opex will increase with growth in the network. In contrast to ETSA, Powercor Australia has not proposed an escalator for asset age. The AER cannot, therefore, reject Powercor Australia's scale escalation of emergency response opex on the basis that Powercor Australia has already sought to account for its increasing average network asset age through an age escalator.

Powercor Australia notes that new assets such as distribution transformers and zone substation primary and secondary equipment typically exhibit the classic 'bathtub' failure profile, where early in their life they exhibit failure rates (and require emergency maintenance) higher than in mid life. Therefore, as the network grows, the additional distribution transformers and zone substations implies additional emergency maintenance expenditure will be incurred. Powercor Australia observes that the fact that new assets may be repaired under warranty does not mitigate the need for scale escalation of emergency maintenance opex. This is because:

- the expenditure incurred under the emergency maintenance function codes (309, 310, 312, 314, 315, 317 and 319) largely relates to labour, and thus would not be covered by any supplier warranty;⁴⁵¹
- for smaller distribution items (such as hardware associated with poles and wires), it is not economic for Powercor Australia to seek to claim on every warranty; and
- warranty periods generally only extend 12 months, after which time asset failures can, and do, occur,⁴⁵² and these failures are not covered by supplier warranties.

In any event, Powercor Australia notes for completeness that the majority of the outages it experiences are the result of exogenous events. This is because most of Powercor Australia's network is overhead. The proportion of outage events due to equipment failure events is set out in Table 7.4 below.

	2006	2007	2008	2009
Equipment failure outage events	14,990	14,917	13,321	7,767
Total number of outage events	37,670	32,968	39,513	19,676
Proportion of outage events due to				
equipment failure	40%	45%	34%	39%

⁴⁴⁹ SKM, Impact of ageing assets on Powercor operating costs, 8 July 2010 (Attachment 138 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal).

⁴⁵⁰ SKM, Impact of ageing assets on Powercor operating costs, 8 July 2010 (Attachment 138 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p4.

⁴⁵¹ Powercor Australia notes that distribution network equipment has a long expected asset life and thus the assets are of a capital nature. Costs associated with asset replacement following asset failure are thus captured against capex function codes, rather than opex function codes.

⁴⁵² See, for example, SKM, Review of AER Draft Decision – Opex Scale Escalation for CitiPower and Powercor Australia, 8 July 2010 (Attachment 133 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p9. SKM's analysis shows instances of pole defects occurring, and transformer breakdown maintenance costs being incurred, throughout the assets lives.
7.5.2.2 Overhead line maintenance and pole defect maintenance

The AER applied the same reasoning in respect of overhead line maintenance and pole defect maintenance as it did in respect of emergency maintenance opex.⁴⁵³ The AER reasoned that as overhead line maintenance and pole defect maintenance is driven by defects, this implies that a greater proportion of activity is driven by asset failures (i.e. a greater proportion than the 45 per cent driven by asset failures for emergency maintenance opex).⁴⁵⁴ Accordingly, the AER increased the economies of scale adjustment applied to function codes 330 and 338 from 5 per cent to 75 per cent.⁴⁵⁵

However, a significant volume of the work for overhead line maintenance and pole defect maintenance relates to routine asset inspection programs rather than asset failures. The programs involve preventive works to deal with 'defects' on the asset that, if not addressed, will cause the asset to fail in future. As Powercor Australia's network grows, more poles, distribution transformers and zone substation equipment enter the maintenance system. As a consequence, more asset inspections and routine testing is scheduled. Powercor Australia submits that its proposed escalation of these function codes is appropriate.

Further, for the same reasons as outlined above in respect of the AER's rejection of scale escalation of emergency maintenance opex relating to asset failure, the AER's reasoning in the South Australian Draft Determination regarding ETSA's emergency maintenance opex cannot reasonably be used by the AER as a basis for rejecting scale escalation of overhead line maintenance and defect maintenance opex.

7.5.2.3 Salary expenditure

The AER was not satisfied that the salary expenditure function code represents increases in activity and not increases resulting from real wage inflation (or a combination of both).⁴⁵⁶ The AER also considered that salary expenditure under this code is not linked to a specific function, which indicates that it is less likely to be driven by increases in activity levels.⁴⁵⁷

In its Draft Determination, the AER stated that the economies of scale adjustment for the salary expenditure function code was increased from 5 per cent to 100 per cent. However, Powercor Australia observes that the AER's scale escalation model adjusted the economies of scale factor for salary expenditure from 5 per cent to 75 per cent.⁴⁵⁸

The salary expenditure function code is applied only to salaries earned by Powercor Australia employees in the network business unit of Powercor Australia who do not time confirm (i.e. employees who do not allocate their time by project) and who undertake the following activities:⁴⁵⁹

• control and operations;

⁴⁵³ AER, Draft Determination Appendices, Appendix J, p101.

⁴⁵⁴ AER, Draft Determination Appendices, Appendix J, p101.

⁴⁵⁵ AER, Draft Determination Appendices, Appendix J, p101.

⁴⁵⁶ AER, Draft Determination Appendices, Appendix J, pp101-2.

⁴⁵⁷ AER, Draft Determination Appendices, Appendix J, pp101-2.

⁴⁵⁸ AER, Draft Determination Appendices, Appendix J, pp101-2; AER, spreadsheet titled 'CP_PAL_Scale_Opex_Economies of Scale_Draft_Decision' (provided to Powercor Australia by the AER by email on 24 June 2010).

⁴⁵⁹ Salaries of employees that are time confirmed (i.e. salaries of employees that allocate their time by project) are allocated directly to the relevant function code.

- inspection and maintenance;
- safety and environmental compliance;
- asset strategy and performance;
- customer projects; and
- engineering.

It is reasonable to expect that as the network grows, the activity for the above functions will also increase as there are more assets to plan, manage and maintain. That is, it is reasonable to assume that an increase in the number of assets will result in an increase in the level of activity by these network business unit employees.

7.5.2.4 Vegetation control, insulator washing and bushfire mitigation

The AER's Draft Determination did not explicitly address the AER's changes to Powercor Australia's proposed economies of scale adjustments for vegetation control, insulator washing and bushfire mitigation (function codes 400, 410 and 426).⁴⁶⁰ However, the AER's scale adjustments model indicates that the AER increased the economies of scale adjustment applying to each of these codes from 5 per cent to 75 per cent.⁴⁶¹ Powercor Australia observes that this change to the economies of scale adjustment is identical to the change recommended by SKM in respect of CitiPower.⁴⁶²

On 29 June 2010, Powercor Australia sought an explanation from the AER in respect of these adjustments.⁴⁶³ The AER responded to Powercor Australia's request, but did not provide an explanation. Specifically, the AER indicated that it *'recognises the adjustments to these factors were recommended for CitiPower and not Powercor'* and referred Powercor Australia to its email response of 24 June 2010.⁴⁶⁴ In the response of 24 June 2010, the AER similarly recognised that SKM's recommendations applied to CitiPower and not Powercor Australia but stated: '*Notwithstanding, the AER's draft decision on relevant matters is contained in appendix J, including the additional adjustments presented in table J.9'*.⁴⁶⁵ Powercor Australia therefore understands the AER to be seeking to rely on its explanations in Table J.9 in respect of 'various' expenditure categories.⁴⁶⁶ However, there is no reasoning apparent in the 'various' row of Table J.9, other than a reference to the SKM recommendation, which the AER has acknowledged relates only to CitiPower.⁴⁶⁷

Powercor Australia highlights that there is a strong relationship between network growth and the vegetation control, insulator washing and bushfire mitigation operating and maintenance activities.⁴⁶⁸ In particular, the volume of work in relation to each of

⁴⁶⁰ AER, Draft Determination Appendices, Appendix J, pp100-103.

⁴⁶¹ AER, spreadsheet titled 'CP_PAL_Scale_Opex_Economies of Scale_Draft_Decision' (provided to Powercor Australia by the AER by email on 24 June 2010). ⁴⁶² SKM, Scale Escalators Model Review for CitiPower and Powercor Australia, 24 November 2009

⁴⁶² SKM, Scale Escalators Model Review for CitiPower and Powercor Australia, 24 November 2009 (Attachment P0093 to the Initial Regulatory Proposal), p11.

⁴⁶³ Email from Powercor Australia to the AER, 29 June 2010.

⁴⁶⁴ Email from Peter Betson, AER, 1 July 2010.

⁴⁶⁵ Email from Peter Betson, AER, 24 June 2010.

⁴⁶⁶ AER, Draft Determination Appendices, Appendix J, p100.

⁴⁶⁷ AER, Draft Determination Appendices, Appendix J, p100; Emails from Peter Betson, AER, 24 June 2010 and 1 July 2010.

⁴⁶⁸ Vegetation control includes all costs directly associated with management of vegetation to comply with mandatory requirements, outworking any safety scheme, delivering vegetation strategy obligations such as normal

these activities has a direct correlation with line length. For example, growth in line length would mean that more spans were exposed to vegetation and hence vegetation control activities would increase. Similarly, the longer the line length, the more insulators on the network and thus the higher the costs involved in removing dust and pollution. Finally, the longer the line length, the greater the number of spans over which bushfire mitigation activity would need to take place.

Powercor Australia notes that SKM indicated that the increase in the scale of economies adjustments⁴⁶⁹ it recommended in respect of CitiPower was appropriate because the CitiPower network 'footprint' was not expanding substantially and that growth would be within the existing footprint.⁴⁷⁰ Accordingly, SKM observed that network growth would not add to the line length that drives operating and maintenance costs.⁴⁷¹ This reasoning does not apply in respect of Powercor Australia where the network 'footprint' is continuing to expand and thus the operating and maintenance costs associated with vegetation control, insulator washing and bushfire mitigation are likely to increase broadly in line with network growth and thus a five per cent economies of scale adjustment is appropriate.

7.5.3 Application of scale escalators and economies of scale adjustments

While not addressed in the AER's Draft Determination, Powercor Australia observes that the AER has applied scale escalation independently of input escalation.⁴⁷² This approach will lead to an error as the compounding effect of input cost and scale escalation has been ignored.

SKM agreed with Powercor Australia's proposed approach of applying scale escalators to input cost escalated opex because cost equals quantity by price and thus 'if both price (input cost escalator) and quantity (scale escalator) go up, the impact will be geometric, not a simple addition.⁴⁷³

Further, the AER calculated the economies of scale adjustments using the network growth, work volume and customer growth escalators included in Powercor Australia's Initial Regulatory Proposal, rather than its own escalators applied in the Draft Determination.⁴⁷⁴ This introduces inconsistency into the Draft Determination and resulted in the scale escalation allowance in the Draft Determination being lower than it would otherwise have been.⁴⁷⁵ Powercor Australia submits that it is imperative that,

tree cutting, undergrowth control and debris disposal connected with sub-transmission, HV or LV systems. Insulator washing includes the costs of live-line washing high voltage overhead line insulators to remove dust and pollution. Bushfire mitigation includes the following activities in HBRAs: pre-summer line condition audits; reduction of ground fuel around poles; silicone treatment of overhead line insulators; and audit of vegetation around overhead lines.

That is, to use the language of SKM, the reduction in the economies of scale factors.

⁴⁷⁰ SKM, Scale Escalators Model Review for CitiPower and Powercor Australia, 24 November 2009 (Attachment P0093 to the Initial Regulatory Proposal), p11.

⁴⁷¹ SKM, Scale Escalators Model Review for CitiPower and Powercor Australia, 24 November 2009 (Attachment P0093 to the Initial Regulatory Proposal), p11.

⁴⁷² AER, spreadsheet titled 'CP PC AER_Scale_Opex_Draft_Decision' (provided to Powercor Australia by the AER by email on 7 June 2010). ⁴⁷³ SKM, Scale Escalators Model Review for CitiPower and Powercor Australia, 24 November 2009 (Attachment

P0093 to the Initial Regulatory Proposal), pp1, 13.

⁴⁷⁴ AER, spreadsheet titled 'CP_PAL_Scale_Opex_Economies of Scale_Draft_Decision' (provided to Powercor Australia by the AER by email on 24 June 2010).

⁴⁷⁵ This is because Powercor Australia's proposed escalators would have resulted in a larger (gross) increase in opex than the escalators applied in the Draft Determination. Using Powercor Australia's proposed escalators to

in its Final Determination, the AER uses the escalators it intends to apply when calculating the economies of scale adjustments.

7.5.4 Capex/opex trade-off

In its Draft Determination, the AER considered that because it had allowed reliability and quality maintained capex in the next regulatory control period above the historical level, this should result in a reduction in the level of required opex.⁴⁷⁶

Powercor Australia submits that the AER should not make a downward adjustment to its opex due to the reliability and quality maintained capex proposed in its Revised Regulatory Proposal. As noted above, SKM's analysis suggests that Powercor Australia's average network asset age, and the proportion of assets older than their regulatory life, is expected to increase in the next regulatory control period.⁴⁷⁷ This implies that, when proper consideration is given to the characteristics of Powercor Australia's network, Powercor Australia's opex should be expected to increase (rather than decrease) in the next regulatory control period.

SKM has developed a rigorous, sophisticated capex/opex trade-off model that calculates the age of the network over a regulatory period at a detailed 'asset level'.⁴⁷⁸ The model also calculates opex costs as a function of age calibrated against actual data.⁴⁷⁹ The modelling conducted by SKM for Powercor Australia is the same as was conducted for ETSA in its recent price review process.⁴⁸⁰ The analysis was accepted by PB (and therefore the AER in the South Australian Final Determination) on the basis that the SKM modelling was '*preferred and more accurate*' compared with the approach originally substituted by PB.⁴⁸¹ The AER should therefore accept that SKM's analysis is more robust than the approach adopted by the AER in its Draft Determination.

In its Draft Determination, the AER determined the reduction in opex resulting from the increase in reliability and quality maintained capex in accordance with the approach outlined by PB prior to the South Australian Draft Determination.⁴⁸² The methodology:⁴⁸³

'involves calculating the annual ratio of compounding recommended asset replacement expenditure to the current (undepreciated) replacement cost of the

determine the economies of scale adjustments therefore results in a larger reduction to the increase in opex than would otherwise have occurred, with the result that the increase in opex (net of the economies of scale adjustments) is smaller than would otherwise have been the case.

⁴⁷⁶ AER, Draft Determination Appendices, Appendix J, pp106-8.

⁴⁷⁷ SKM, Impact of ageing assets on Powercor operating costs, 8 July 2010 (Attachment 138 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p4.

SKM's methodology is discussed in its reports attached to this Revised Regulatory Proposal: SKM, Review of AER Draft Decision - Opex Scale Escalation for CitiPower and Powercor Australia, 8 July 2010 (Attachment 133 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p15; SKM, Impact of ageing assets on Powercor operating costs, 8 July 2010 (Attachment 138 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), pp8-15.

SKM, Review of AER Draft Decision - Opex Scale Escalation for CitiPower and Powercor Australia, 8 July 2010 (Attachment 133 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p15; SKM, Impact of ageing assets on Powercor operating costs, 8 July 2010 (Attachment 138 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), pp8-15. ⁴⁸⁰ SKM, Review of AER Draft Decision – Opex Scale Escalation for CitiPower and Powercor Australia,

⁸ July 2010 (Attachment 133 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p15.

⁴⁸¹ PB, Review of ETSA Utilities' revised regulatory proposal for the period July 2010 to June 2015, May 2010 (Attachment 136 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p38.

AER, Draft Determination Appendices, Appendix J, p107.

⁴⁸³ PB, Review of ETSA Utilities' revised regulatory proposal for the period July 2010 to June 2015, November 2009 (Attachment 136 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p144.

asset base, and then applying 20% of this ratio to calculate the recommended adjustment in the network maintenance forecast opex.'

Powercor Australia considers that the approach adopted by the AER to determining the capex/opex trade-off will not result in opex that reasonably reflects the opex criteria. This is because:

- the AER has made errors in its calculations;
- the methodology used by the AER is not likely to produce estimates of opex; and
- only around 31 per cent of Powercor Australia's opex was strongly linked to age and condition.⁴⁸⁴

Powercor Australia observes that the AER calculated the reduction to Powercor Australia's opex on the basis of the gross customer connections and reliability and quality maintained capex forecasts included in Powercor Australia's Initial Regulatory Proposal, rather than the capex forecasts substituted by the AER in its Draft Determination. Given the significant downward adjustment to Powercor Australia's proposed capex made in the AER's Draft Determination, the AER's calculation of the capex/opex trade-off amount is significantly overstated.

As noted by ETSA in response to the AER's South Australian Draft Determination,⁴⁸⁵ the fundamental premise underlying PB's methodology is that, if the growth rate of asset replacement expenditure exceeds the rate at which a DNSP's network grows, a larger proportion of that network must be new and thus opex will decrease. However, such analysis fails to take into account the overall average age of the network. As noted by SKM, this approach considers only half of the ageing equation.⁴⁸⁶ That is, the approach adopted by the AER takes into account the component that reduces asset age (i.e. replacement or reliability and quality maintained capex) but ignores the inevitable ageing of the asset base as a whole.⁴⁸⁷

SKM also considered that the AER's use of simplistic financial ratios was not adequate to analyse an issue as complex as the opex relationship to ageing network assets (including the effect of asset replacements) and thus failed to produce a result that is consistent with the opex costs faced by a prudent and efficient operator.⁴⁸⁸

Powercor Australia rejects the 20 per cent factor applied by PB and adopted by the AER.⁴⁸⁹ Neither PB nor the AER has provided evidence to support the appropriateness

⁴⁸⁴ SKM, Review of AER Draft Decision – Opex Scale Escalation for CitiPower and Powercor Australia, 8 July 2010 (Attachment 133 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p13.

⁴⁸⁵ ETSA Utilities, Revised Regulatory Proposal 2010-2015, 14 January 2010 (Attachment 137 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), pp121-3.

⁴⁸⁶ SKM, Review of AER Draft Decision – Opex Scale Escalation for CitiPower and Powercor Australia, 8 July 2010 (Attachment 133 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p13.

⁴⁸⁷ SKM, Review of AER Draft Decision – Opex Scale Escalation for CitiPower and Powercor Australia, 8 July 2010 (Attachment 133 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p13.

 ⁴⁸⁸ SKM, Review of AER Draft Decision – Opex Scale Escalation for CitiPower and Powercor Australia,
 8 July 2010 (Attachment 133 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p12.

⁴⁸⁹ AER, Draft Determination Appendices, Appendix J, p107.

of the factor.⁴⁹⁰ PB observed in a footnote in its report supporting the South Australian Draft Determination:⁴⁹¹

'accounts for reduced defect requirements with replace assets, and effectively reflects the proportion of total maintenance that is typically experienced by network owners associated with rectifying defects compared with the amount associated with routine inspections and maintenance. This proportion has been identified as typical, based in PB's experience working with a number of network owners across Australia.'

Powercor Australia submits that this is a gross generalisation. Further, in its report on the AER's Draft Determination, SKM stated that it considered an appropriate adjustment would generally be well below 20 per cent for even the oldest assets.⁴⁹² Powercor Australia therefore submits that the 20 per cent adjustment made by the AER will not produce a reasonable estimate of the reduction in required opex Powercor Australia should expect in the next regulatory control period due to its increase in capex.

Finally, SKM noted that not all opex is likely to be affected by age.⁴⁹³ Overall, SKM found that only around 31 per cent of Powercor Australia's opex was strongly linked to age and condition.⁴⁹⁴ This reduces the potential for replacement capex to reduce Powercor Australia's required opex.

In light of the above, the AER's adjustment for the capex/opex trade-off set out in the AER's Draft Determination cannot be considered reasonable and results in a significant understatement of the opex that Powercor Australia, acting efficiently and prudently, will require in the next regulatory control period. Acting conservatively, Powercor Australia has not included any amounts in this Revised Regulatory Proposal to reflect the increase in opex it anticipates will arise in the next regulatory control period given its proposed level of capex.

7.6 **Powercor Australia's Revised Regulatory Proposal**

For the reasons outlined above, in this Revised Regulatory Proposal, Powercor Australia has used the scale escalators set out in Table 7.5 below. The application of these escalators and the economies of scale adjustments made to each opex item are as set out in the Initial Regulatory Proposal, except as outlined in sections 7.5.1 and 7.5.2 above and as reflected in Powercor Australia's Cost Escalation Model.⁴⁹⁵

The resultant opex proposed by Powercor Australia as a result of this proposed scale escalation is set out in Table 7.6 below.

⁴⁹⁵ Attachment 9 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal.

⁴⁹⁰ This criticism is echoed by SKM: SKM, Review of AER Draft Decision – Opex Scale Escalation for CitiPower and Powercor Australia, 8 July 2010 (Attachment 133 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p14. ⁴⁹¹ PB, Review of ETSA Utilities' revised regulatory proposal for the period July 2010 to June 2015, November

^{2009 (}Attachment 136 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p144, footnote 370. ⁴⁹² SKM, Review of AER Draft Decision – Opex Scale Escalation for CitiPower and Powercor Australia,

⁸ July 2010 (Attachment 133 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p14.

⁴⁹³ SKM, Review of AER Draft Decision - Opex Scale Escalation for CitiPower and Powercor Australia, 8 July 2010 (Attachment 133 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p13. 494 SKM, Review of AER Draft Decision – Opex Scale Escalation for CitiPower and Powercor Australia,

⁸ July 2010 (Attachment 133 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p13.

	Cumulative %						
	2011 2012 2013 2014 201						
Network growth	4.43%	6.56%	9.06%	11.71%	1.86%		
Customer growth ⁴⁹⁶	3.91%	5.89%	7.85%	9.73%	1.94%		

Table 7.5 Scale escalators applied in Powercor Australia's Revised Regulatory Proposal

	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015	Total
Total scale escalation (\$'000 2010)	1,507	3,648	5,551	7,788	10,227	28,721

Table 7.6 Opex resulting from Powercor Australia's proposed scale escalation

⁴⁹⁶ See Revised Regulatory Template 6.1 in Attachment 1 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal.

8. REAL COST ESCALATORS

In this Chapter of the Revised Regulatory Proposal, Powercor Australia responds to section 7.5.6 of, and Appendix K to, the AER's Draft Determination regarding Powercor Australia's input (or real) cost escalation and scale escalation. Specifically, this Chapter deals with Powercor Australia's:

- labour costs escalators used in developing its capex and opex forecasts; and
- materials escalators used in developing its capex and opex forecasts.

8.1 Summary of key points

In its Draft Determination, the AER substituted alternative escalators for the labour, contract and other costs and materials escalators (collectively, **input costs escalators**), as well as the scale escalators, proposed by Powercor Australia in its Initial Regulatory Proposal.

Powercor Australia does not accept the AER's forecasts of labour costs. In particular, Powercor Australia maintains that labour cost escalators based on the EGW measure will produce opex and capex forecasts that reflect a realistic expectation of cost inputs in the next regulatory control period.

In the Revised Regulatory Proposal, Powercor Australia uses labour cost forecasts prepared by KPMG which are based on AWE measures of wage growth and take account of projected productivity increases. Contrary to the approach taken by the AER to determining labour escalators for internal labour, Powercor Australia maintains that it is appropriate to apply the labour rate forecasts for the EGW industry to both specialist EGW employees and clerical and administrative staff.

In addition, Powercor Australia does not accept the AER's decision on its proposed materials escalators and, accordingly, provides updated materials escalators determined by independent engineering consultant, SKM, in this Revised Regulatory Proposal.

To address the AER's concerns regarding the currency of labour cost forecasts, Powercor Australia will update its labour cost forecasts closer to the date of the AER's Final Determination, at a date of the AER's choosing or, if no date is nominated by the AER, then Powercor Australia will provide the updated forecasts to the AER by 13 September 2010. Similarly, to address any currency concerns the AER may have regarding materials cost forecasts, Powercor Australia proposes to also provide the AER with updated materials cost forecasts.

8.2 Rule requirements

Powercor Australia applies input cost escalators in preparing the capex and opex forecasts for the 2011-15 regulatory control period and scale escalators to the input cost escalated opex forecasts. Accordingly, the provisions of the Rules governing capex and opex (detailed in Chapters 7 and 8 of this Revised Regulatory Proposal) apply. Broadly, the total capex and opex forecasts must reasonably reflect the capex and opex criteria respectively.

Of particular relevance for the purposes of the AER's assessment of the input cost escalators proposed by Powercor Australia is that the AER must accept the total capex and opex forecasts if they reasonably reflect (among other things) a realistic expectation of the cost inputs required to achieve the capex and opex objectives

(clauses 6.5.6(c)(3) and 6.5.7(c)(3) of the Rules). If the AER is satisfied as to this (and the other opex and capex criteria), the AER must accept the total capex and opex forecasts without making any adjustments to them.

8.3 Labour and contract and other costs escalators

8.3.1 Powercor Australia's Initial Regulatory Proposal

In its Initial Regulatory Proposal, Powercor Australia adopted labour escalators (for internal labour costs) and contract and other costs escalators (for outsourced labour costs) as determined by the independent economic consultant, BIS Shrapnel.⁴⁹⁷

In determining these escalators, BIS Shrapnel used the AWOTE measure as it considered this measure best reflects the increase in wage cost changes for business and the public sector across the economy.⁴⁹⁸ BIS Shrapnel recommended that Powercor Australia use forecast changes to AWOTE in the EGW to escalate its internal labour costs⁴⁹⁹ and a simple average of forecast changes to 'construction' and 'property and business services' wages to escalate its outsourced labour costs.⁵⁰⁰

The real labour cost growth and growth in contracts and other costs reflected in Powercor Australia's Initial Regulatory Proposal are set out in Table 8.1.

	% (real)								
	2010	2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015							
Labour cost growth	3.20	2.49	2.49	2.64	2.64	2.49			
Growth in contracts and other costs	3.64	1.86	2.25	2.79	2.74	2.40			

 Table 8.1
 Forecast labour cost growth and growth in contracts and other costs

8.3.2 AER's Draft Determination

8.3.2.1 Labour cost escalators (for internal labour)

While the AER indicated that BIS Shrapnel's methodology for determining labour cost escalators appeared reasonable, the AER raised some concerns with BIS Shrapnel's approach. In particular, the AER raised concerns with:⁵⁰¹

- BIS Shrapnel's use of AWOTE (rather than LPI) to measure labour cost growth; and
- the application of an EGW based escalator to 100 per cent of Powercor Australia's internal labour costs.

The AER also indicated in its Draft Determination that:⁵⁰²

⁴⁹⁷ BIS Shrapnel's methodology and findings are set out in the report Wages Outlook for the Electricity Distribution Sector in Victoria, August 2009 (Attachment P0040 to the Initial Regulatory Proposal).

⁴⁹⁸ BIS Shrapnel, Wages Outlook for the Electricity Distribution Sector in Victoria, Final Report, August 2009(Attachment P0040 to the Initial Regulatory Proposal), p10.

 ⁴⁹⁹ Powercor Australia notes that it treated the labour costs incurred by CHED Services and PNS as 'internal' labour costs for the purposes of labour cost escalation.
 ⁵⁰⁰ BIS Shrapnel, Wages Outlook for the Electricity Distribution Sector in Victoria, Final Report, August 2009,

⁵⁰⁰ BIS Shrapnel, Wages Outlook for the Electricity Distribution Sector in Victoria, Final Report, August 2009, (Attachment P0040 to the Initial Regulatory Proposal), p1.

⁵⁰¹ AER, Draft Determination Appendix K, pp132-7.

⁵⁰² AER, Draft Determination Appendix K, pp132-7.

- it considered compensating a DNSP for actual EBA wage increases largely eliminates the incentive for a DNSP to actively pursue efficient and competitive wage outcomes during EBA negotiations;
- productivity impacts in modelling labour escalators can be an important factor in forecasting actual business costs; and
- the DNSPs' forecasts should be updated to reflect the most recent data.

For these reasons, the AER:⁵⁰³

- substituted labour cost growth forecasts determined by its consultant, Access Economics; and
- limited the application of Access Economics' EGW measure to 89.6 per cent of Powercor Australia's internal labour costs (a percentage it determined based on data in the Revised Regulatory Templates).

8.3.2.2 Contract and other costs escalators (for outsourced labour)

The AER rejected the contract and other cost escalators put forward by BIS Shrapnel on the basis that the data used to develop the forecast was not the most recent available.⁵⁰⁴ While it did not explicitly indicate as much in respect of the contract and other costs escalators, presumably the AER also rejected the BIS Shrapnel escalators for outsourced labour on the basis that:

- BIS Shrapnel used AWOTE (rather than LPI) to measure labour cost growth; and
- the productivity impacts in modelling labour escalators were not taken into account.

The AER substituted an 'outsourced' labour cost escalator determined by Access Economics.⁵⁰⁵

8.3.3 Powercor Australia's response to the Draft Determination

Powercor Australia expects that there will be a significant upward pressure on the wages of skilled employees in the EGW sector over the next regulatory control period.

The continued wage growth in this sector reflects persistent strong demand for labour, as a result of large and growing construction programs and expansion services. It also reflects the nature of labour in these essential services industries, with a high proportion of skilled workers and the need for uninterrupted service. While higher wages are expected to attract new workers to the electricity sector, skills imbalances take some time to resolve, as entry into electricity distribution field work, for example, requires a four year apprenticeship to be undertaken, and a further two years of on-job training and experience.

Specific to the Victorian electricity distribution sector there are a number of unique investment requirements that will increase the demand for labour resources. These are:

• a number of Victorian DNSPs, such as Powercor Australia, will have a significant number of assets reaching the end of their economic life over the next

⁵⁰³ AER, Draft Determination Appendix K, pp132-7.

⁵⁰⁴ AER, Draft Determination Appendix K, pp136-7.

⁵⁰⁵ AER, Draft Determination Appendix K, p139.

regulatory control period. This will trigger significant capex on asset replacements; and

• the mandated accelerated roll out of interval meters which has already commenced will require the replacement of over 2,000,000 meters across Victoria.

Increased demand for labour will not only be driven by demand in Victoria, but by demand across Australia:

- capex in NSW is forecast for the next five years in the order of \$14.4 billion (\$2008-09) based on the AER's NSW Final Determination; and
- opex in Queensland is forecast for the next five years in the order of \$10.8 billion (\$2009-10) based on the AER's Queensland Final Determination.

Taken together, these substantial increases on expenditure will lead to significant increases in demand for skilled labour in an already tight national market.

8.3.3.1 Labour cost forecasting methodology

As noted above, the AER raised two main methodological issues with Powercor Australia's proposed labour cost and contract and other cost escalators:

- the labour cost forecasts were based on an AWE measure rather than an LPI measure; and
- the labour cost forecasts did not reflect projected increases in productivity.

The AER also sought to raise as an issue the currency of the data underlying Powercor Australia's labour cost escalators. Each of these issues is discussed in turn below.

AWE versus LPI

The ABS publishes several labour cost indicators. The indicators of relevance in this price review are the AWE and LPI measures.

The AWE is based on a quarterly sample survey of approximately 5,500 employers.⁵⁰⁶ It measures the average weekly earnings of employed wage and salary earners (excluding those employed in private agriculture).⁵⁰⁷ The estimates of the AWE are calculated by dividing estimates of weekly total earnings by estimates of the number of employees.⁵⁰⁸

The AWE provides three earnings measures:

- AWOTE;
- AWTE; and
- average weekly total earnings (i.e. including overtime) of full-time employees.

⁵⁰⁶ KPMG, Labour Cost Forecasts for Powercor and CitiPower, 3 July 2010 (Attachment 143 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p22.

⁵⁰⁷ ABS, 6301.0 Average Weekly Earnings, February 2010 available at <u>www.abs.gov.au</u>, accessed 8 July 2010 (Attachment 151 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal).

⁵⁰⁸ KPMG, Labour Cost Forecasts for Powercor and CitiPower, 3 July 2010 (Attachment 143 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p23.

The LPI is based on a survey sample of approximately 4,800 employers.⁵⁰⁹ Employers provide hourly wage and salary costs for a sample of jobs in their workforce.⁵¹⁰ In subsequent quarters, employers provide details of payments made to the current occupants of these same jobs.⁵¹¹

In its Draft Determination, the AER agreed with its consultant, Access Economics, that the LPI is the measure that most reasonably reflects the labour costs for DNSPs in Victoria.⁵¹² Access Economics concluded that LPI was the preferred measure on the basis that the ABS sees LPI as its preferred measure for 'changes in the price of labour' and as it is not affected by shifts in the composition of employment.⁵¹³

The AER's decision to accept the LPI measure in its Draft Determination is contrary to its Jemena Gas Access Final Decision where the AER approved BIS Shrapnel's AWOTE forecasts, its SP AusNet Final Transmission Determination where it approved BIS Schrapnel's AWOTE forecasts and its NSW Final Determination where it accepted KPMG's AWE forecast.

The AER when determining the most appropriate wage measure to adopt for the purposes of forecasting the businesses' labour cost should consider 'fitness of purpose'. While the AER notes that ABS has stated that the LPI is a preferable measure over AWE/AWOTE, the ABS developed the LPI in response to the decentralisation of the labour market and more employees being covered by diverse agreements. The LPI purposely ignores these agreements to capture the 'underlying wage trend' and provide a 'high-level' index for the economy. The LPI was not developed for the purposes of forecasting actual labour costs for a business.

It is relevant for the purposes of escalating labour costs that the composition of the workforce is changing. Rather than viewing the fact that the LPI does not take compositional changes into account as a reason for adopting the measure, BIS Shrapnel noted the following:⁵¹⁴

'Importantly, the LPI does not reflect changes in the skill levels of employees within industries or for the overall workforce, and will therefore understate (or overstate) wage inflation if the overall skill levels increase (or decrease). The labour price index is also likely to understate true wage inflationary pressures as it does not capture situations where promotions are given in order to achieve a higher salary for a given individual, often to retain them in a tight labour market... [P]romoting employees to a higher occupation category would not necessarily show up in the labour price index. However, the employer's total wages bill (and unit labour costs) would be higher.'

While Access Economics recognised that it is sometimes relevant that the composition of the workforce is changing, particularly during sustained expansion, Access

⁵⁰⁹ KPMG, Labour Cost Forecasts for Powercor and CitiPower, 13 July 2010 (Attachment 143 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p23.

⁵¹⁰ ABS, 6345.0 Labour Price Index, March 2010 available at <u>www.abs.gov.au</u>, accessed 17 July 2010 (Attachment 144 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal).

⁵¹¹ KPMG, Labour Cost Forecasts for Powercor and CitiPower (Attachment 143 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), 13 July 2010, p24.

⁵¹² AER, Draft Determination Appendix K, p132.

⁵¹³ Access Economics, Forecast growth in labour costs: March 2010 report, 16 March 2010, pp112-3.

⁵¹⁴ BIS Shrapnel, *Wages Outlook for the Electricity Distribution Sector in Victoria, Final Report*, August 2009, included as Attachment P0040 to the Initial Regulatory Proposal, p10.

Economics considered that the LPI's downward bias is unlikely to have been large given it has existed only since 1997 and Australia's economic expansion began in 1992.⁵¹⁵ In addition, Access Economics considered that the slow down in the economy means that the pace of promotions is slowing and thus, other things being equal, the LPI is more likely to overstate potential wage growth than understate it.⁵¹⁶

As the Australian economy's expansion continued following the commencement of the LPI in 1997, so too did the compositional shift. This means that the commencement of the expansion period in 1992 and the commencement of the LPI measure in 1997 does not address the concerns with downward bias (acknowledged by Access Economics) associated with the LPI.

This view on the slow down in the economy and the resultant conclusion that the LPI is more likely to overstate than understate potential wage growth is inconsistent with Access Economics' views expressed elsewhere in the report. For example, Access Economics noted:⁵¹⁷

'Global economic recovery is underway, and Australia's recovery is outpacing it, suggesting that 2010 will see improving rates of economic growth, and hence also some unwinding of the emergency policy supports put in place through the period of crisis.'

Access Economics' position also contrasts with the views of KPMG. In its Labour Cost Forecasts report, KPMG discusses the different labour cost indicators published by the ABS: the AWE, the LPI, the mean weekly earnings and compensation of employees measures.⁵¹⁸

KPMG concludes that the AWE is the more appropriate measure based on its statistical reliability and conceptual suitability.

In respect of its statistical reliability, KPMG finds that the AWE (at the state by industry level) is the best source to measure wage movements because it:⁵¹⁹

- is available for a longer historical period than the LPI, meaning it is more amenable to robust statistical analysis; and
- is less volatile than the mean weekly earnings and compensation of employees figures.

At a conceptual level, KPMG finds that the AWE is more suitable than the LPI as compositional impacts are taken into account (i.e. the impacts of the composition of the employee workforce).⁵²⁰ KPMG indicates that compositional impacts are expected to continue to play an influential role in the overall labour costs faced by employers over the forecast period.⁵²¹ This is because, during the recent economic downturn there

⁵¹⁵ Access Economics, Forecast growth in labour costs: March 2010 report, 16 March 2010, pp113-4.

⁵¹⁶ Access Economics, *Forecast growth in labour costs: March 2010 report*, 16 March 2010, p114.

⁵¹⁷ Access Economics, *Forecast growth in labour costs: March 2010 report*, 16 March 2010, p11.

⁵¹⁸ KPMG, Labour Cost Forecasts for Powercor and CitiPower, 13 July 2010, (Attachment 143 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p22-27.

⁵¹⁹ KPMG, Labour Cost Forecasts for Powercor and CitiPower, 13 July 2010 (Attachment 143 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p28.

⁵²⁰ KPMG, Labour Cost Forecasts for Powercor and CitiPower, 13 July 2010 (Attachment 143 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), pp28-30.

⁵²¹ KPMG, Labour Cost Forecasts for Powercor and CitiPower, 13 July 2010 (Attachment 143 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p30.

were changes to the composition of the workforce, which are expected to be reversed out as the economy recovers. For example, while there was a move to put promotions on hold during the downturn, as the labour market tightened, promotions are expected to resume in the forthcoming regulatory control period as firms seek to retain individuals. In addition, over the longer term, population ageing will influence the composition of employment as more experienced workers retire and are not replaced.⁵²²

While both KPMG and BIS Shrapnel use AWE measures, KPMG uses the AWTE and BIS Shrapnel utilises the AWOTE. The difference between the measures is that the AWTE takes into account part-time employees and overtime, while the AWOTE does not. As KPMG observes, the movements within the AWOTE and AWTE have generally been quite similar.⁵²³ KPMG observes that:⁵²⁴

'if the compositional shares between full-time and part-time workers, and the ratio of ordinary time to overtime worked are expected to be fixed, AWOTE can be considered to be as good a measure as the AWE for the purposes of generating labour cost forecasts.'

Accordingly, Powercor Australia considers escalators based on an AWE measure (and not the LPI) will produce opex and capex forecasts that reflect a realistic expectation of cost inputs in the next regulatory control period.

Productivity

As noted above, the AER supported the application of productivity impacts in forecasting wage cost growth.⁵²⁵

Powercor Australia does not consider that labour cost forecasts used to escalate labour costs in DNSP price review processes should take productivity improvements into account because this distorts the incentives for efficiency that would otherwise be created by the AER's EBSS.

However, as discussed further below, the forecasts on which Powercor Australia's labour and contract and other costs escalators proposed in this Revised Regulatory Proposal are based do take into account productivity improvements. Accordingly, Powercor Australia's in principle position that productivity improvements should not be taken into account is not reflected in this Revised Regulatory Proposal, and the AER cannot reject Powercor Australia's proposed labour and contract and other costs escalators on the basis of failure to take into account productivity improvements.

Currency of data

Contrary to the AER's apparent reasoning in its Draft Determination,⁵²⁶ currency of data is not a reason for rejecting a DNSP's proposed methodology for determining input cost escalators.

⁵²² KPMG, Labour Cost Forecasts for Powercor and CitiPower, 13 July 2010 (Attachment 143 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p30. ⁵²³ KPMG. Labour Cost Forecasts for Powercor and CitiPower, 12 L 1, 2010 (Attachment 143 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p30.

 ⁵²³ KPMG, Labour Cost Forecasts for Powercor and CitiPower, 13 July 2010 (Attachment 143 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p30.
 ⁵²⁴ KPMG, Labour Cost Forecasts for Powercor and CitiPower, 13 July 2010 (Attachment 143 to this Revised

⁵²⁴ KPMG, Labour Cost Forecasts for Powercor and CitiPower, 13 July 2010 (Attachment 143 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p31.

 ⁵²⁵ AER, Draft Determination Appendix K, p133.
 ⁵²⁶ AER, Draft Determination Appendix K, pp136-7.

To address the AER's concerns regarding the currency of Powercor Australia's labour cost escalators, Powercor Australia is proposing to engage KPMG to provide updated labour cost forecasts closer to the date of the AER's Final Determination, at a date of the AER's choosing. If the AER does not advise of the date by which it would like the updated forecasts, Powercor Australia will provide the updated forecasts to the AER by 13 September 2010.

8.3.3.2 Labour costs escalators (for internal labour)

Powercor Australia submits that it is not reasonable to use the growth rates determined by Access Economics. Rather, Powercor Australia considers that EGW forecasts provided by KPMG constitute a 'realistic expectation' of labour costs in the 2011-15 period. Accordingly, in this Revised Regulatory Proposal, Powercor Australia's has used labour cost escalators based on KPMG's EGW forecasts. Powercor Australia considers that use of those labour cost escalators results in total capex and opex forecasts that reasonably reflect the capex criteria and opex criteria.

In addition, Powercor Australia submits that:

- contrary to the AER's position, it is appropriate to take into account Powercor Australia's EBA rates for 2010; and
- contrary to the AER's position, it is reasonable to apply the growth in the EGW labour rate to 100 per cent of Powercor Australia's internal labour costs.

Each of these issues is expanded upon below.

Access Economics forecasts

In forecasting growth in internal labour costs for the next regulatory control period, it is not reasonable to use the growth rates determined by Access Economics. This is because:

- Access Economics uses the LPI rather than an AWE measure of wage growth;
- there are problems with the method Access Economics employs to generate its State by industry LPI data series; and
- the forecasts prepared by Access Economics are significantly lower than those developed by KPMG, which suggests that they do not constitute a 'realistic expectation' of cost inputs over the regulatory control period.

The reasons why escalators based on AWE measures are more likely than escalators based on the LPI to result in forecasts that reflect the cost inputs required to achieve the capex and opex objectives are set out above.

In addition to its criticism of the use of LPI as opposed to AWE in its report foreshadowed above⁵²⁷, KPMG observes in its report, Assessment of the AER's Draft Decision on Labour Cost Escalation: Victoria, that there are issues related to data availability and the method employed by Access Economics to generate its State by

⁵²⁷ KPMG, Labour Cost Forecasts for Powercor and CitiPower, 13 July 2010, (Attachment 143 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal),.

industry LPI data series. ⁵²⁸ KPMG notes that the issues stem from the fact that LPI data is itself not fully available for all one-digit level industries in each State economy.

KPMG states that:

- in Access Economics' LPI model, when a sectoral LPI is not available for a given State, sectoral AWOTE data (as a deviation from the national/State AWOTE) is used to estimate the sectoral LPI;
- applying estimates from the AWOTE series to estimate State by industry LPI does not automatically ensure consistency between the different LPI services, rather additional adjustments would need to be made to the State by industry LPIs;
- a failure to ensure consistency can lead to a downward bias in wage forecasts as wage pressures that arise from sectoral competition are not adequately accounted for; and
- since Access Economics provides no information on how, or if, such adjustments have been made, it is not clear that its model ensures consistency between detailed State by industry series and the aggregated series at the State level and the national industry level.

Further, KPMG observes that Access Economics developed labour cost forecasts by linking movements in the LPI to a range of underlying economic drivers, including GDP. Access Economics' GDP forecasts prepared in March 2010 are outdated and overly pessimistic.⁵²⁹ As a result, the associated wage forecasts prepared by Access Economics are likely to understate the wage pressures currently being created by labour demand in the economy. In addition, KPMG Economics notes that Access Economics' more recent short run GDP forecasts are pessimistic in comparison to those of the RBA and KPMG. This would suggest that Access Economics' forecasts are at the bottom of the range of reasonable expectations of future growth. As a result, Access Economics' LPI forecasts may underestimate wage pressures being created by growing labour demand.

The fact that the forecasts prepared by Access Economics are significantly lower than the forecasts developed by KPMG, suggests that they do not constitute a 'realistic expectation' of cost inputs in the 2011-15 period and would not lead to forecasts that reasonably reflect the capex criteria and opex criteria.

Powercor Australia's proposed labour costs escalators

For the purposes of preparing this Revised Regulatory Proposal, Powercor Australia engaged KPMG to forecast growth in labour costs for the next regulatory control period. Powercor Australia considers that KPMG's EGW forecasts constitute a 'realistic expectation' of labour costs in the 2011-15 period and, accordingly, that Powercor Australia's revised escalators, based on KPMG's EGW forecasts, produce total capex and opex forecasts that reasonably reflect the capex criteria and opex criteria.

⁵²⁸ KPMG, Assessment of the AER's Draft Decision on Labour Cost Escalation: Victoria, 13 July 2010 (Attachment 156 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p22-3.

⁵²⁹ KPMG, Assessment of the AER's Draft Decision on Labour Cost Escalation: Victoria, 13 July 2010, (Attachment 156 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p34 and 39.

Consistent with the discussion earlier in this Chapter, the AER should accept Powercor Australia's labour costs escalators because they:

- are based on AWE measures, rather than the LPI; and
- take into account anticipated increases in productivity.

Powercor Australia also notes that KPMG's forecasts were calculated using a model developed for the AER, which has been accepted by the AER in previous regulatory decisions.

KPMG's LCM was purpose built for the AER in 2007 for the purposes of the SP AusNet Final Transmission Determination.⁵³⁰ Forecasts produced by LCM were relied on by the AER in decisions as set out in Table 8.2 below.

AER decision	Use of KPMG's LCM forecasts by AER
AER, SP AusNet Draft Transmission Determination	AER used Econtech's ⁵³¹ forecasts to conclude that the forecasts provided by SP AusNet (prepared by BIS Shrapnel) were <i>'not excessive'</i> . ⁵³²
	The AER concluded that, as there was not a significant difference between the forecasts prepared by the AER's two consultants, Econtech and PB, and those prepared by SP AusNet's consultant, BIS Shrapnel, the AER considered SP AusNet's forecast reasonably reflected a realistic expectation of labour cost increases. ⁵³³
AER, SP AusNet Final Transmission Determination	AER used Econtech's forecasts to conclude that the forecasts put forward by SP AusNet (prepared by BIS Shrapnel) should be accepted.
	The AER noted that Econtech's analysis was 'sufficiently robust to rely on in assessing the reasonableness of SP AusNet's proposal.' ⁵³⁴
AER, NSW Draft Determination	The AER was satisfied that Econtech's forecasts were robust and applied these. ⁵³⁵
AER, NSW Final Determination	The AER adopted updated Econtech forecasts. ⁵³⁶ The AER considered that Econtech's methodology was robust and transparent. ⁵³⁷

Table 8.2 Development and use of KPMG's LCM model

While no longer relevant as it is proposing to apply escalators based on KPMG's labour growth forecasts, Powercor Australia notes that, contrary to the concerns expressed by

⁵³⁰ Econtech, Labour cost growth forecasts 2007/08 to 2016/17, 19 September 2008 (Attachment 146 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p1; AER, NSW Draft Determination (Attachment 142 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal),

p489, footnote 1311. ⁵³¹ Econtech Pty Ltd merged with KPMG in August 2008: AER, NSW Draft Determination (Attachment 142 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p534, footnote 1238.

⁵³² AER, Draft Decision, SP AusNet Transmission Determination 2008-09 to 2013-14, 31 August 2007 (Attachment 147 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p141.

⁵³³ AER, Final Decision, SP AusNet Transmission Determination 2008-09 to 2013-14, 14 January 2008 (Attachment 148 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), pp114-115. The difference between the forecasts was average nominal annual growth of 6.38% in the case of Econtech, and 5.13% in the case of PB. ⁵³⁴ AER, Final Decision, SP AusNet Transmission Determination 2008-09 to 2013-14, 14 January 2008

⁽Attachment 148 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p116.

AER, NSW Draft Determination (Attachment 142 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p538.

⁵³⁶ AER, NSW Final Determination (Attachment 141 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), pp495-6.

⁵³⁷ AER, NSW Final Determination (Attachment 141 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), pp491-2.

the AER in the Draft Determination,⁵³⁸ its escalators in the Initial Regulatory Proposal did not represent a moving average. Rather, Powercor Australia took a simple average of labour growth forecasts for two financial years to calculate the nominal escalator for a calendar year (e.g. Powercor Australia took the simple average of BIS Shrapnel's 2011-12 and 2012-13 financial year figures to calculate the nominal escalator for the 2012 calendar year).

Impact of collective bargaining

As noted above, the AER considered in its Draft Determination that compensating a DNSP for actual EBA wage increases in its expenditure forecasts largely eliminates the incentive for a regulated DNSP to actively pursue efficient and competitive wage outcomes during EBA negotiations. This assumption is incorrect.

Victorian DNSPs will continue to have an incentive to strongly negotiate EBA rates in the next regulatory control period because of the incentives built into the regulatory regime, that is, the AER's EBSS. In adopting a revealed cost approach to forecasting capex and opex in the next regulatory control period, the AER has accepted that the ESCV's efficiency carry over mechanism ensured that DNSPs had incentives to incur only efficient capex and opex in the current regulatory period. The same efficiency incentives will be created in the 2011-15 period by the AER's EBSS.

The AER indicated in its Draft Determination that it would 'observe the actual EBA rate increases incurred by the Victorian DNSPs up until the beginning of the forthcoming regulatory control period.⁵³⁹ However, the AER, as illustrated by the AER's conclusion on the internal labour real cost escalators, has not done so.

The AER should take into account its current EBA rates for 2010. Further, as noted above, Powercor Australia's current EBA rates were negotiated at a time when the ESCV's efficiency carry over mechanism provided incentives for Powercor Australia to incur only efficient opex, including labour costs. Finally, the AER has previously accepted that it is reasonable to adopt actual EBA wage increases in the current regulatory control period.⁵⁴⁰

Application of labour cost escalators

The AER rejected BIS Shrapnel's application of EGW rates to internal labour cost forecasts.⁵⁴¹ The AER indicated that the EGW did not reflect the underlying composition of the workforce and an alternative growth rate should be applied to those internal labour costs that relate to clerical and administrative staff.⁵⁴²

To determine the composition of the workforce, the AER used the Initial Regulatory Templates to derive a 'split' of labour costs associated with specialist EGW employees and labour costs associated with clerical and administrative staff.⁵⁴³ The AER then applied these estimated weightings to the EGW and general Victorian wage growth

⁵³⁸ AER, Draft Determination, p128.

⁵³⁹ AER, Draft Determination Appendix K, p136.

⁵⁴⁰ AER, South Australian Final Determination (Attachment 22 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p96.

⁵⁴¹ AER, Draft Determination Appendix K, pp133-4.

⁵⁴² AER, Draft Determination Appendix K, pp134-5.

⁵⁴³ AER, Draft Determination Appendix K, p135.

forecasts prepared by Access Economics to determine a weighted average labour cost growth forecast.⁵⁴⁴

Implicit in the AER's Draft Determination is an assumption that EGW wage measures reflect only wages paid to specialist EGW employees and not wages paid to clerical and administrative staff working in the electricity, gas or water industries.⁵⁴⁵ This assumption is incorrect.

The EGW measures are calculated based on the earnings of employees of businesses in the EGW industry, which means that it includes both EGW specialist occupations and other occupations. ABS has confirmed that its AWE and LPI statistics for the EGW industry reflect all employees in the EGW industry and not just specialist EGW employees.⁵⁴⁶

Accordingly, as noted by KPMG, if the composition of Powercor Australia's internal workforce (including employees seconded to CHED Services and PNS) is similar to the average for the industry, changes in internal labour costs would be adequately reflected in EGW measures.⁵⁴⁷

Powercor Australia therefore maintains that it is reasonable to apply the growth in the EGW labour rate to 100 per cent of its internal labour costs. In preparing this Revised Regulatory Proposal, Powercor Australia has applied the growth in EGW labour costs forecast by KPMG to all of its internal labour costs (including CHED Services and PNS labour).

8.3.3.3 Contract and other costs escalators (for outsourced labour)

Access Economics forecasts

Access Economics' forecasts for outsourced labour costs are not realistic estimates of the input costs likely to face Powercor Australia in the next regulatory control period. This is because Access Economics' forecasts are based on the LPI rather than an AWE measure, which, for the reasons outlined above, is not an appropriate measure of the increase in labour costs. Further, Access Economics' forecasts of growth in Victorian wages are considerably lower than the all industries forecasts prepared by KPMG as shown in the following graph.

⁵⁴⁴ AER, Draft Determination Appendix K, p135.

⁵⁴⁵ AER, Draft Determination Appendix K, p134.

⁵⁴⁶ Email from ABS to DLA Phillips Fox regarding LPI, 8 July 2010 (Attachment 149 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal); Email from ABS to DLA Phillips Fox regarding AWE, 8 July 2010 (Attachment 150 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal); ABS 6302.0 Average Weekly Earnings, Australia, February 2010 (Attachment 151 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal).

⁵⁴⁷ KPMG, Labour Cost Forecasts for Powercor and CitiPower, 13 July 2010 (Attachment 143 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p33.



Figure 8.1 Graph comparing KPMG's labour cost forecast to Access Economics' labour cost forecast

Powercor Australia's proposed contract and other cost escalators

The contract and other costs escalators proposed by Powercor Australia in this Revised Regulatory Proposal are based on KPMG's forecasts. Powercor Australia considers these escalators reflect a realistic expectation of the external labour costs that will be incurred by Powercor Australia in the next regulatory control period.

As noted above, KPMG's forecasts are based on AWE measures of wage growth and take into account productivity impacts.

Powercor Australia has proposed in this Revised Regulatory Proposal contract and cost escalators equal to the simple average of the 'construction' and 'administrative support services' forecasts prepared by KPMG. In its Draft Determination, the AER accepted that it was reasonable to use a simple average of the Victorian 'construction' and 'property business services' measures to determine outsourced labour costs.⁵⁴⁸ However, the 'property and business services' classification has since been split into three separate industry classifications:⁵⁴⁹

- rental, hiring and real estate services;
- professional, scientific and technical services; and
- administrative and support services.

Of these, KPMG recommended that the 'administrative and support services' category was the most appropriate to use together with the 'construction' category for the

⁵⁴⁸ AER, Draft Determination Appendix K, p136.

⁵⁴⁹ ABS, Australian and New Zealand Standard Industrial Classification (ANZSIC), 2006 (Attachment 152 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), paragraph 1.37, p11. A description of the previous Property and Business Services Division is contained in ABS, 1292.0, Australian and New Zealand Standard Industrial Classification (ANZSIC), 1993 (Attachment 153 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal).

purposes of the outsourced labour costs.⁵⁵⁰ In calculating its contract and other costs escalators, Powercor Australia has taken the simple average of each of the measures forecast by KPMG.

8.4 Materials escalators

8.4.1 Powercor Australia's Initial Regulatory Proposal

In its Initial Regulatory Proposal, Powercor Australia adopted materials escalators as determined by independent engineering consultants SKM.⁵⁵¹

8.4.2 AER's Draft Determination

The AER made a number of adjustments to the materials escalators proposed by Powercor Australia. 552

8.4.3 Powercor Australia's response to the Draft Determination

Since its Initial Regulatory Proposal, in July 2010 SKM provided Powercor Australia with updated materials escalators which bring into account more recent market information that has become available since the development of the escalation rates used in its Initial Regulatory Proposal.⁵⁵³

In determining the updated the materials escalators SKM gave consideration to the AER's assessment of real cost escalators in its Draft Determination. SKM's report includes an evaluation of the AER's conclusions in relation to real cost escalation rates.⁵⁵⁴

In updating the materials escalators, SKM incorporated the following changes having regard to the AER's Draft Determination:⁵⁵⁵

- SKM did not include a CPRS/Carbon component;
- SKM did not include any real escalation of wood poles; and
- SMK did not include a Trade Weighted index component.

Powercor Australia has used the updated materials escalators in SKM's July 2010 report for the purposes of preparing this Revised Regulatory Proposal. However, to address any concerns the AER may have regarding the currency of materials cost forecasts, Powercor Australia will update its materials cost forecasts closer to the date of the AER's Final Determination, at a date of the AER's choosing or, if no date is nominated by the AER, then Powercor Australia will provide the updated forecasts to the AER by 13 September 2010.

⁵⁵⁰ KPMG, Labour Cost Forecasts for Powercor and CitiPower, 13 July 2010 (Attachment 143 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p33.

⁵⁵¹ SKM's methodology and findings are set out in the report Victorian Distribution Network Service Providers annual material cost escalators 2010-15(Attachment P0041 to the Initial Regulatory Proposal).

⁵⁵² AER, Draft Determination Appendix K, pp118-125, 139-145.

⁵⁵³ SKM, Victorian Distribution Network Service Providers cost escalator updates, Final Report – CitiPower and Powercor Asset Categories, 8 July 2010 (Attachment 155 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p15.

⁵⁵⁴ SKM, Victorian Distribution Network Service Providers cost escalator updates, Final Report – CitiPower and Powercor Asset Categories, 8 July 2010 (Attachment 155 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p3-13.

⁵⁵⁵ SKM, Victorian Distribution Network Service Providers cost escalator updates, Final Report – CitiPower and Powercor Asset Categories, 8 July 2010 (Attachment 155 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p14.

8.5 Powercor Australia's Revised Regulatory Proposal

For the reasons outlined above, in this Revised Regulatory Proposal, Powercor Australia has applied the escalators set out below.

	% (real)							
	2010	2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 201						
Labour costs	6.85	3.54	4.61	3.93	3.05	2.86		
Contracts and other costs	4.98	2.22	2.37	1.44	0.91	1.25		

Table 8.3 Labour and other contract cost escalators reflected in Powercor Australia's Revised Regulatory Proposal

	% (real)							
	2010	2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 20						
Network	9.37	6.06	-0.17	-0.45	-1.10	-1.06		
SCADA/network control	1.97	0.18	0.43	-0.05	-0.07	-0.08		
Non network general IT	1.96	0.18	0.42	-0.07	-0.07	-0.07		
Non network general other	1.76	0.16	0.37	-0.06	-0.06	-0.06		
Weighted average	8.72	5.56	-0.14	-0.42	-1.01	-0.97		

 Table 8.4 Materials cost escalators reflected in Powercor Australia's Revised Regulatory Proposal

Table 8.5 below shows net capex due to labour cost escalation.

	\$,000 (\$2010)							
	2010	2010 2011 2012 2013 2014						
Labour escalation	4,221	8,085	12,227	15,500	18,748	22,166		
Material escalation	5,241	10,613	11,248	11,110	10,053	9,543		
Contract & other cost escalation	4,421	9,294	12,934	15,232	17,201	18,596		

Table 8.5 Net capex due to real cost escalation

Table 8.6 shows opex due to labour cost escalation.

	\$,000 (\$2010)						
	2010	2010 2011 2012 2013 2014					
Labour escalation	0	2,276	5,393	8,189	10,503	12,685	
Material escalation	0	276	218	161	80	(3)	
Contract & other cost escalation	0	1,402	2,950	3,868	4,594	5,458	

 Table 8.6 Opex due to real cost escalation

9. FORECAST CAPITAL EXPENDITURE

In this Chapter of the Revised Regulatory Proposal, Powercor Australia responds to Chapter 8 of the AER's Draft Determination regarding Powercor Australia's capex forecasts for standard control services for the next regulatory control period and Appendix N to the Draft Determination regarding equity raising costs.

9.1 Summary of key points

Powercor Australia does not accept the AER's rejection of its proposed capex forecasts for the next regulatory control period. Powercor Australia submits that the AER's downward adjustment of almost \$580 million over the next regulatory control period results in a capex allowance that does not reasonably reflect the capex criteria and does not constitute the minimum adjustment to Powercor Australia's proposed capex allowance necessary for the resultant allowance to reasonably reflect the capex criteria.

9.1.1 General

There are several issues in the AER's Draft Determination that are relevant to the AER's assessment of Powercor Australia's proposal for a number of capex categories. Specifically, Powercor Australia is concerned with the following:

- the inconsistency of the AER's approach to the Draft Determination with previous AER distribution determinations and decision making processes;
- the imposition of new evidentiary threshold requirements that are impermissible at law, and which are unduly onerous and demanding and ignore the difficulties which will ordinarily confront a regulated business in a price review process;
- the AER's failure to use 2009 actual data provided to it to model historical expenditure;
- the AER's 'revealed cost' approach to producing substitute forecasts of capex for the next regulatory control period;
- the failure by the AER to make the minimum adjustment to Powercor Australia's forecast necessary to enable the AER to approve the capex under the Rules, as required by clause 6.12.3(f);
- the lack of practical and relevant experience in operating an Australian distribution network of the authors of the Nuttall Consulting report relied on by the AER for the purposes of its Draft Determination in respect of capex; and
- the AER's incorrect finding that Powercor Australia's historical forecasting accuracy is poor.

9.1.2 New customer connections capex

Powercor Australia has amended its customer connections capex forecasts in this Revised Regulatory Proposal to:

• respond to the AER's concerns with its calculation of gross customer connections capex; and

• reflect the AER's recent decision regarding CitiPower's upstream augmentation charge rates.⁵⁵⁶

However, Powercor Australia contends that the AER has made an error in removing function codes 114 and 115 from standard control and allocating them to alternative control.

9.1.3 Reinforcement capex

Powercor Australia submits that its methodology for forecasting reinforcement capex does not result in a systematic upward bias in the estimate of future prudent and efficient reinforcement capex. This is because:

- Powercor Australia's internal planning criteria incorporate the same criteria as Powercor Australia's governance documents, which Nuttall Consulting concluded would be expected to deliver prudent and efficient outcomes;
- Powercor Australia's processes take into account synergies and result in forecasts that are economically justified;
- overall, SKM found that Powercor Australia's energy at risk modelling (including its load duration and transformer outage rate assumptions) is likely to **understate** energy at risk; and
- the zone substation level maximum demand forecasts used to prepare the reinforcement capex forecasts are lower than the maximum demand forecasts reconciled with NIEIR's system maximum demand forecast (presented in Chapter 4) and thus the maximum demand forecasts used to forecast reinforcement capex are conservative and not likely to result in a systematic upward bias in the estimate.

Powercor Australia rejects Nuttall Consulting's approach to forecasting reinforcement in the next regulatory control period.

Powercor Australia contends that each of the reinforcement projects in the Revised Regulatory Proposal will be required as proposed in the next regulatory control period.

9.1.4 Reliability and quality maintained capex

Powercor Australia maintains that the reliability and quality maintained capex forecasts included in its Initial Regulatory Proposal reasonably reflect the capex criteria. However, in this Revised Regulatory Proposal, Powercor Australia has adopted the AER's forecasts for its overhead and underground line replacement and HV and LV switch replacement programs.

Powercor Australia has provided in this Revised Regulatory Proposal additional details regarding key reliability and quality maintained capex programs for the next regulatory control period.

Powercor Australia does not consider that the Repex Model is capable of forecasting reliability and quality maintained capex that reasonably reflects the capex criteria. However, even if the calibrated Repex Model is assumed to produce reasonable forecasts, the independent expert, PB, found that the Repex Model supports Powercor Australia's forecasts. Removing the two major drivers of the increase in Powercor

⁵⁵⁶ AER, Final Customer Contributions Decision.

Australia's forecast in the next regulatory control period (the conductor replacement and reliability programs), which PB considered should be evaluated as step change increases, PB concluded that the variation between the calibrated Repex Model and Powercor Australia's forecasts did not justify an adjustment to Powercor Australia's proposed forecast.

9.1.5 Environmental, safety and legal capex

Powercor Australia does not contest the AER's Draft Determination with respect to environmental, safety and legal capex. However, Powercor Australia contends that the AER should include 2009 actual data in its trend analysis and in forecasting the capex required in the next regulatory proposal by reference to historical expenditure.

9.1.6 SCADA and network control capex

While the AER found that Victorian DNSPs have underspent in relation to the ESCV's benchmark allowance for the current regulatory control period, this is not the case for Powercor Australia. Based on the AER's analysis, Powercor Australia only underspent (relative to the ESCV allowance) by around 8.5 per cent.

The AER has not considered the circumstances of Powercor Australia's network in assessing its proposed SCADA and network control capex. Powercor Australia contends that its SCADA and network control programs in the next regulatory control period are required and provides in this Revised Regulatory Proposal additional information regarding key programs.

9.1.7 Non-network capex

Powercor Australia maintains that its proposed non-network – IT capex forecasts reasonably reflect the capex criteria.

Powercor Australia's expenditure in the current regulatory control period has been reduced relative to the ESCV's allowance in the 2006-10 EDPR as a result of the mandated AMI roll-out. Powercor Australia does not consider that an event, such as the AMI roll-out, will occur in the next regulatory control period such that Powercor Australia's non-network – IT capex should be constrained to the levels of its actual expenditure in the current regulatory control period. Powercor Australia rejects Nuttall Consulting's assertion that its IT systems are not 'agile' and submits that its proposed expenditure is required to ensure that its systems will remain 'agile' in the next regulatory control period.

The AER cannot discount the evidentiary value of the external cost benefit analysis Powercor Australia obtained from PwC in respect of its AMI leveraged project on the basis that it is not an internal assessment. As part of this Revised Regulatory Proposal, Powercor Australia has removed the one component from the AMI leveraged project that is able to be recovered through the S factor scheme. Even with this adjustment, PwC's review indicates that the AMI leveraged projects give rise to a significant expected net benefit. Powercor Australia rejects the AER's proposition that reinforcement capex deferrals would contribute to the funding of AMI leveraged projects.

Powercor Australia does not consider that the non-network – other capex included in the AER's Draft Determination, an amount significantly less than historical capex, reasonably reflects the capex criteria.

9.2 Rule requirements

Clause 6.5.7(c) of the Rules provides that the AER must accept the forecast of required capex that is included in a building block proposal if the AER is satisfied that the total forecast capex for the regulatory control period reasonably reflects the capex criteria, namely:

- the efficient costs of achieving the capex objectives (set out in clause 6.5.7(a));
- the costs that a prudent operator in the circumstances of the relevant distribution business would require to achieve the capex objectives; and
- a realistic expectation of the demand forecast and cost inputs required to achieve the capex objectives.

Powercor Australia set out its understanding of the interpretation of this statutory test in a letter to Mr Chris Pattas of the AER dated 4 May 2010. By way of summary, Powercor Australia considers that there may be a range of forecasts that reasonably reflect the capex criteria.⁵⁵⁷ Powercor Australia appreciates that the AER may need to assess the methodology, approaches and input values used to develop the total forecast. However, the ultimate inquiry for the AER is whether the expenditure forecast meets the statutory test. After assessing the methodologies, approaches and input values underpinning the total forecast, the AER must 'take a step back' and consider whether the forecast falls within the range that reasonably reflects the capex criteria.

The AER must balance any competing effects on the total forecast of Powercor Australia's choices of methodology, approach or input values to determine whether, overall, those choices mean the AER is not satisfied that the total forecast falls within the range that reasonably reflects the capex criteria. The AER is not permitted to reject a total forecast put forward by Powercor Australia because one or more of the methodologies, approaches or inputs used to develop the forecast does/do not fall within the range that reasonably reflects the capex criteria without first satisfying itself that the compound effect of the choices is such that the total forecast does not reasonably reflect the criteria.

Where a forecast put forward by Powercor Australia does not fall within the range of forecasts that reasonably reflect the capex criteria, clause 6.12.3(f) of the Rules provides that the AER is only permitted to amend Powercor Australia's forecast to the extent necessary to enable it to be approved in accordance with the Rules, that is, for the AER to be satisfied that the amended forecast reasonably reflects the capex criteria. The AER is not permitted, for example, to reduce or increase a single component of the forecast without determining whether (in light of the other components of the forecast) the change is required to ensure that the total forecast falls within the range that reasonably reflects the capex criteria and is not permitted to reduce or increase the forecast to the level it or its consultants consider most appropriate.

This approach to the Rules is consistent with the philosophy underlying economic regulation under Chapter 6 that an economic regulator should not second guess the operational decisions of the regulated business. Provided, overall, the forecasts of

⁵⁵⁷ The notion that there can be no one correct or 'best' figure was recognised by the AEMC in its Rule Determination, National Electricity Amendment (Economic Regulation of Transmission Services) Rule 2006 No. 18, 16 November 2006 (Attachment 109 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p52. While the statement was made in the context of the regulation of TNSPs, it is equally applicable to the regulation of DNSPs.

capex reasonably reflect the capex criteria, the expenditure should be allowed by the AER.

In addition, the complexity of forecasting capex for a five year period means that the risk of regulatory error if a 'whole of expenditure' approach is not adopted by the AER may undermine the objective of the NEO, which is to promote efficient investment in, and efficient operation and use of, electricity services for the long term interests of consumers of electricity with respect to price, quality, safety and security of supply of electricity and the reliability, safety and security of the national electricity system.⁵⁵⁸

9.3 Powercor Australia's Initial Regulatory Proposal

Powercor Australia's total forecast capex (by category) for the next regulatory control period included in its Initial Regulatory Proposal is set out in Table 9.1.

	\$'000s (real 2010)							
Gross expenditure category	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015	Total		
Reinforcements	53,443	55,856	62,604	68,805	70,577	311,285		
New Customer Connections	154,676	160,053	163,359	168,827	174,460	821,375		
Total demand related	208,119	215,909	225,963	237,632	245,037	1,132,660		
Reliability and Quality Maintained	87,428	89,526	94,428	95,203	97,493	464,078		
Environmental, Safety and Legal	15,037	10,789	12,361	11,695	10,656	60,538		
SCADA and Network Control	6,801	7,381	7,582	7,471	7,467	36,702		
Total non-demand related	109,266	107,696	114,371	114,369	115,616	561,318		
Demand and non-demand related	317,385	323,605	340,334	352,001	360,653	1,693,978		
Non-network	41,968	39,270	38,180	47,096	40,713	207,227		
Less Customer Contributions	(58,871)	(60,905)	(62,447)	(64,637)	(66,832)	(313,692)		
Net capex	300,482	301,970	316,067	334,460	334,534	1,587,513		

The forecast capex included in Powercor Australia's Initial Regulatory Proposal is discussed in further detail below, by capex category.

Table 9.1 Powercor Australia's total capex forecasts for the 2011-15 regulatory control period included in the Initial Regulatory Proposal

9.4 AER's Draft Determination

The AER rejected the total forecast capex proposed in Powercor Australia's Initial Regulatory Proposal and substituted an estimate reflecting the recommendations of its consultant, Nuttall Consulting, and its own considerations. Specifically, the AER substituted (unescalated) total capex for 2011-15 which was the summation of the following:

⁵⁵⁸ The highly complex nature of forecasting capital expenditure over a five year period was recognised by the AEMC in its Rule Determination, National Electricity Amendment (Economic Regulation of Transmission Services) Rule 2006 No. 18, 16 November 2006 (Attachment 109 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p52. While the statement was made in the context of the regulation of TNSPs, it is equally applicable to the regulation of DNSPs.

- new customer connections capex consistent with Powercor Australia's Initial Regulatory Proposal, except for the residential subdivisions and HV connections forecasts, for which the AER substituted average expenditure from 2006-09;
- reinforcement capex as forecast by Nuttall Consulting using the weighted average probability (derived from six project reviews and Nuttall Consulting's 'broader findings' in respect of Powercor Australia's forecasting methodology);
- reliability and quality maintained capex based on historical (2006-08) expenditure, with some allowance for the ageing of the network (based on the Repex Model findings), as forecast by Nuttall Consulting;
- environmental, safety and legal capex based on historical (2004-08) expenditure;
- SCADA and network control capex based on historical (2004-08) expenditure; and
- non-network capex based on constant expenditure of \$8m per annum.

The basis for the AER's Draft Determination, and Powercor Australia's response to the AER's Draft Determination, is discussed in more detail in the remainder of this Chapter.

9.5 Incorporation in Revised Regulatory Proposal of Draft Determination

Powercor Australia does not contest, and thus has incorporated in this Revised Regulatory Proposal, the AER's Draft Determination in respect of environmental, safety and legal capex (see further discussion below). Powercor Australia notes, however, that the AER should incorporate 2009 actual data in its consideration of these capex categories in the Final Determination.

Powercor Australia also does not contest the AER's Draft Determination with respect to equity raising costs.⁵⁵⁹

Powercor Australia does not accept the AER's Draft Determination with respect to the remaining capex categories. These are discussed below, following a discussion of the general issues with the Draft Determination that Powercor Australia seeks to raise that cut across a number of capex categories.

9.6 General issues with the AER's Draft Determination

There are several issues in the AER's Draft Determination that are relevant to the AER's assessment of Powercor Australia's proposal for a number of capex categories. Specifically, Powercor Australia is concerned with the following:

- the inconsistency of the AER's approach to the Draft Determination with Previous Distribution Determinations and decision making processes;
- the imposition of new evidentiary threshold requirements that are impermissible at law, and which are unduly onerous and demanding and ignore the difficulties which will ordinarily confront a regulated business in a price review process;

⁵⁵⁹ AER, Draft Determination, p439; AER, Draft Determination, Appendix N.

- the AER's failure to use 2009 actual data provided to it to model historical expenditure;
- the AER's 'revealed cost' approach to producing substitute forecasts of capex for the next regulatory control period;
- the failure by the AER to make the minimum adjustment to Powercor Australia's forecast necessary to enable the AER to approve the capex under the Rules, as required by clause 6.12.3(f);
- the lack of practical and relevant experience in operating an Australian distribution network of the authors of the Nuttall Consulting report relied on by the AER for the purposes of its Draft Determination in respect of capex; and
- the AER's incorrect findings that Powercor Australia's historical forecasting accuracy is poor.

These issues are discussed in this section of the Revised Regulatory Proposal.

9.6.1 Inconsistency with Previous Distribution Determinations and decision making processes

Powercor Australia is concerned by the lack of consistency in the AER's procedure and approach to making its Draft Determination compared to its approach to previous regulatory determinations in New South Wales, the Australian Capital Territory, Queensland and South Australia.

Powercor Australia contends that maintaining consistency in decision making was, and remains, a core objective of the establishment of the national framework for economic regulation of distribution and is characteristic of good administrative decision making.

For example, in assessing Powercor Australia's forecast reinforcement capex, the AER adopted forecasts prepared by Nuttall Consulting using a newly developed approach that is based entirely on engineering judgement, with no link to the demand forecasts that drive reinforcement capex. The approach has not been applied in any previous AER decision or any previous determination by the ESCV. Not only does Powercor Australia submit that it is a qualitative and subjective approach to forecasting, the approach is untested.

9.6.2 Imposition of evidentiary threshold requirements

In its Draft Determination, the AER sought to establish new evidentiary thresholds that are not reasonable and, in some instances, are not permissible at law. The thresholds the AER sought to establish are as follows:

- formal cost benefit analysis, including options analysis, and/or a risk assessment;
- internal cost benefit analysis (rather than external expert analysis);
- cost benefit analysis quantifying benefits and/or demonstrating a net benefit in circumstances where a DNSP's forecast capex is required to achieve compliance with its mandatory legal obligations; and
- a risk assessment where regulators have encouraged a risk management approach to compliance with mandatory legal obligations.

Each of these matters are discussed in turn below.

9.6.2.1 Formal cost benefit analysis as a threshold requirement

First, the AER sought to establish formal cost benefit analysis, including options analysis, and/or a risk assessment as a threshold requirement for the AER to be satisfied that a DSNP's forecast capex reasonably reflects the capex criteria. This is not legally permissible and involves an error of law.

In *Telstra Corporation Limited v Australian Competition Tribunal*, the Full Federal Court agreed with Telstra that the Australian Competition Tribunal had fallen into error by devising a set of rules (which it called a 'road map') for the making of its decision in that case, rather than directly applying the statutory test.⁵⁶⁰ The Court stated:⁵⁶¹

'Telstra submitted that, in reaching its ultimate conclusion that it was not satisfied that the making of the claimed exemption orders would promote the [long term interests of end-users], the Tribunal demanded evidentiary requirements and standards of Telstra which far exceeded those which were authorised by the relevant provisions of Pt XIC of the [Trade Practices Act 1974]. Thus, so it was submitted, the imposition of those requirements by the Tribunal demonstrated that the Tribunal had applied the wrong test in assessing the question of competition for the purpose of considering objective (c).

•••

In our view, a critical part of the Tribunal's reasoning leading to its ultimate decision to set aside the exemption orders made by the ACCC was its holding that, in order for Telstra to satisfy the requirements of s 152AT(4) [of the Trade Practices Act 1974], it was necessary for Telstra to adduce empirical evidence before the Tribunal from which it would be possible to arrive at conclusions about market behaviour both as it existed at the time the exemptions were under considerations and in the future. It was this approach that led to the formulation and articulation of the road map in the Tribunal reasons...

To impose a requirement of empirical evidence which addressed the matters set out in the road map as a minimum set of standards for an applicant for exemption to meet in a case such as the present is, as Telstra submitted, to apply the wrong test to the objective of competition required to be considered under s 152AB(2)(c).

In our view, the Tribunal made an error of law in this regard. That error was fundamental to its decision. Accordingly, the Tribunal's decision ought be wholly set aside on this ground pursuant to s 5(1)(f) of the ADJR Act and s39B of the Judicial Act.'

Powercor Australia therefore submits that the AER cannot, at law, seek to establish threshold requirements (such as formal cost benefit analysis, including options analysis, and/or a risk assessment) for the AER to be satisfied that a DSNP's forecast capex reasonably reflects the capex criteria.

In addition, Powercor Australia notes that, as a practical matter, by seeking particular evidentiary material to achieve the necessary satisfaction under the Rules, the AER is

⁵⁶⁰ Telstra v Australian Competition Tribunal (2009) 175 FCR 201 at [174]-[175].

⁵⁶¹ Telstra v Australian Competition Tribunal (2009) 175 FCR 201 at [171], [173]-[175].

setting the evidentiary threshold at an unreasonably high level. The AER's evidentiary threshold requirements are unduly onerous and demanding, and ignore the difficulties which will ordinarily confront a regulated business in a price review process.

9.6.2.2 Internal cost benefit analysis as a threshold requirement

Similarly, the AER's establishment of a DNSP's **own** cost benefit analysis as a threshold requirement for AER satisfaction that a DNSP's capex forecast reasonably reflects the capex criteria is not legally permissible and involves an error or law.⁵⁶²

As noted above, the Full Federal Court has ruled that an administrative decision maker cannot set evidentiary thresholds and impose these in place of the relevant statutory test of satisfaction.⁵⁶³

The statutory task with which the AER is charged under clause 6.5.7(c) of the Rules is to assess whether it can be satisfied that the DNSP's proposed capex reasonably reflects the capex criteria on the basis of the evidentiary material before it. In circumstances where this evidentiary material includes a detailed and rigorous cost benefit analysis performed by an independent expert, it is not open to the AER, acting reasonably reflects the capex criteria because the cost benefit analysis before it was performed by an independent expert rather than the DNSP's proposed capex.

9.6.2.3 Cost benefit analysis for capex to achieve compliance with mandatory legal obligations as a threshold

It is not legally permissible for the AER to require a DNSP to adduce a cost benefit analysis demonstrating a net benefit or to 'quantify benefits and outcomes for consumers achieved by the forecast level of investment'⁵⁶⁴ as a precondition to AER satisfaction under clause 6.5.7(c) of the Rules in circumstances where the DNSP's forecast capex is required to achieve compliance with its mandatory legal obligations.

As noted above, the AER must accept a DNSP's total capex forecast if it is satisfied that the forecast reasonably reflects the efficient costs of achieving the capex objectives and the costs a prudent operator would require to achieve the capex objectives (clause 6.5.7(c) of the Rules).

Achievement of the capex objectives includes compliance with all applicable regulatory obligations or requirements associated with the provision of standard control services (see clause 6.5.7(a) of the Rules). It follows that the AER has no discretion to refuse to accept a DNSP's forecast of capex required to achieve compliance with its mandatory legal obligations in circumstances where the AER is satisfied that the forecast reasonably reflects the efficient costs of compliance with those obligations. In particular, the AER has no discretion to refuse to accept a DNSP's forecast of capex required to achieve a DNSP's forecast of capex required to achieve with those obligations. In particular, the AER has no discretion to refuse to accept a DNSP's forecast of capex required to achieve compliance with its mandatory legal obligations on the basis that the DNSP has not demonstrated a net benefit associated with that capex or has not quantified the benefits and outcomes for consumers.

⁵⁶² For example, the AER appears to have done this in respect of the AMI leveraged projects proposed by Powercor Australia as part of non-network – IT capex: AER, Draft Determination, p423.

⁵⁶³ Telstra v Australian Competition Tribunal (2009) 175 FCR 201 at [173]-[175].

⁵⁶⁴ For example, see AER, Draft Determination, p403.

This is consistent with the regulatory test under the Rules for transmission. Clause 5.6.5B(b) of the Rules states that a 'preferred option' (i.e. the option that maximises the present value of net economic benefit *'may, in the relevant circumstances, have a negative net economic benefit (that is, a net economic cost) where the* identified need *is for* reliability corrective action.' 'Reliability corrective action' is defined in Chapter 10 of the Rules to mean investment by a TNSP in a transmission network for the purposes of meeting the service standards linked to the technical requirements of schedule 5.1 or in 'applicable regulatory instruments'. 'Applicable regulatory instruments' is also defined in Chapter 10 of the Rules to mean all laws, regulations, orders, licences, codes, determinations and other regulatory instruments to the extent that they regulate or contain terms and conditions relating to access to a network, connection to a network, the provision of network services, network service price or augmentation of a network.

9.6.2.4 Risk assessment for capex required to achieve compliance with mandatory legal obligations as a threshold

Finally, it is not legally permissible for the AER to require a risk assessment as a precondition to AER satisfaction that a DNSP's forecast of capex required to achieve compliance with its mandatory legal obligations, on the basis that regulators of these obligations have adopted a 'risk based approach' to compliance.⁵⁶⁵

As noted, the AER must accept a DNSP's total forecast capex if it is satisfied that the forecast reasonably reflects the efficient costs of achieving the capex objectives and the costs a prudent operator would require to achieve the capex objectives (clause 6.5.7(c) of the Rules).

As also noted above, achievement of the capex objectives includes compliance with all applicable regulatory obligations or requirement associated with the provision of standard control services (clause 6.5.7(a) of the Rules). It follows that the AER has no discretion to refuse to accept a DNSP's forecast of capex required to achieve compliance with mandatory legal obligations in circumstances where the AER is satisfied that the forecast reasonably reflects the efficient costs of compliance with those obligations. In particular, the AER has no discretion to refuse to accept a DNSP's forecast of capex required to accept a DNSP's forecast of capex required to accept a DNSP's forecast of capex required to achieve compliance with those obligations. In particular, the AER has no discretion to refuse to accept a DNSP's forecast of capex required to achieve compliance with its mandatory legal obligations for the reason that the DNSP has failed to adduce a risk assessment that supports the capex on the basis that the DNSP could bear 'compliance risk' (i.e. the risks associated with non-compliance with its legal obligations).

9.6.3 Use of 2009 actual capex

In its trend analysis in the Draft Determination, the AER used actual data from 2004-08 (and 2006-08 in the case of reliability and quality maintained capex). Powercor Australia notes that using data from 2004-08 or 2006-08 results in a systematic

⁵⁶⁵ The AER indicated in respect of Powercor Australia's environmental, safety and legal capex forecasts, for example, that '*EPA Victoria and Energy Safe Victoria (ESV) have encouraged businesses to adopt a risk management approach to compliance*' and commented that Powercor Australia did not link its capex proposals to any risk assessment in support of the overall works program: AER, Draft Determination, pp401-2. Similarly, in respect of Powercor Australia's proposed replacement of mobile cranes, the AER noted that a risk management approach to compliance allows businesses to assess their obligations and bear compliance risk where they are willing to do so.': AER, Draft Determination, p431.

downward bias in the trend in Powercor Australia's actual expenditure over the current regulatory control.

In respect of environmental, legal and safety, SCADA and network control and nonnetwork capex, the AER indicated that it had excluded 2009 and 2010 data provided by the DNSPs because it is *'forecast data and therefore not considered to be part of the historical trend.*⁵⁶⁶ On 30 April 2010, Powercor Australia provided to the AER its audited regulatory accounts for 2009. There is therefore no basis for excluding 2009 data from the analysis.

While not citing reasons for excluding 2009 data in respect of reliability and quality maintained expenditure, presumably the AER was reliant on Nuttall Consulting, who indicated that the 2009 audited data arrived too late for direct input into its review.⁵⁶⁷ Again, given the audited regulatory accounts were provided to the AER on 30 April 2010, there is no reason for excluding the 2009 data from the analysis.

Powercor Australia notes that there is an inconsistency in the Draft Determination between the AER's treatment of 2009 actual data in its assessment of opex forecasts and its assessment of capex forecasts. Specifically, the AER had regard to unaudited 2009 costs provided to the AER on 10 March 2010 for the purposes of determining base year opex⁵⁶⁸ but did not consider these unaudited costs for the purposes of assessing Powercor Australia's proposed capex. Powercor Australia notes that there is no basis for drawing this distinction.

While time pressures may have prevented the AER from having regard to 2009 unaudited accounts in considering Powercor Australia's capex forecasts, Powercor Australia expects that the AER will have regard to 2009 audited data in its Final Determination.

9.6.4 'Revealed cost' approach

In its Draft Determination, the AER largely adopted a 'revealed cost' approach to assessing Powercor Australia's proposed capex and forecasting substitute capex. The AER outlined its approach to the review of the Victorian distributors' forecast capex as follows:⁵⁶⁹

'The AER's approach in this review has been to review what costs may be considered efficient in the circumstances. In most instances where a need to substitute an alternative estimate of the likely cost has arisen, the AER has adopted a 'revealed cost' approach. This approach considers that a well managed business responding to the regulatory incentive framework will not incur inappropriate costs. Therefore, for that DNSP, its historical costs in relation to an activity can be regarded as an efficient base for determining an alternative view for that activity.'

The AER used actual expenditure for the period 2004-08 as a basis for forecasting capex in the environmental safety and legal and SCADA and network control categories of capex. The AER also used the historical expenditure trend as a basis for concluding that Powercor Australia's forecasts of non-network capex did not

⁵⁶⁶ AER, Draft Determination, pp400, 410, 419 and 429.

⁵⁶⁷ Nuttall Consulting, Report – Capital Expenditure, 4 June 2010, p23.

⁵⁶⁸ AER, Draft Determination, p238.

⁵⁶⁹ AER, Draft Determination, p288.

reasonably reflect the capex criteria (in the case of non-network - other capex, erroneously). Further, the AER used actual expenditure for the period 2006-08 (together with the Repex Model calibrated with 2006-08 data) to reject and substitute amounts for Powercor Australia's proposed reliability and quality maintained capex.

With the exception of customer connections capex (in respect of which, as discussed further below, Powercor Australia accepts a 'revealed cost' approach may be appropriate), historical expenditure is not a reasonable basis on which to prepare forecasts of capex for 2011-15 that reasonably reflect the capex criteria.

The AER acknowledged this in its Draft Determination. For example, the AER acknowledged that the variability of past expenditure in the environmental, legal and safety, SCADA and network control and non-network capex categories means that the *'historic trend cannot completely determine future requirements'*.⁵⁷⁰

As noted in Powercor Australia's Initial Regulatory Proposal,⁵⁷¹ the ESCV has also recognised that there are reasons why historical capex will not necessarily be indicative of capex going forward. The ESCV stated in its 2006-10 EDPR that it:⁵⁷²

'recognises that there are reasons as to why a reasonable forecast of capital expenditure for 2006-10 may be different from historic [2001-05] expenditure including:

- growth in peak demand;
- *the ageing of the asset base which may lead to an increase in expenditure;*
- *the removal of expenditure for reliability improvements from the forecasts; and*
- *expenditure to comply with the new regulatory obligations such as amendments to the Electricity Safety Regulations.'*

Powercor Australia notes that it expects both maximum demand and the average asset age of the network to increase in the next regulatory control period (see Chapters 4 and 9). Powercor Australia also notes that the risks its network will face in the next regulatory control period will not be the same as the risks it faced in the past. Accordingly, Powercor Australia is concerned that the Draft Determination fails to provide for capex that would be required by an efficient and prudent operator to meet the capex objectives.

9.6.5 Adjustments to Powercor Australia's forecasts

As noted above, clause 6.12.3(f) of the Rules provides that the AER is only permitted to amend Powercor Australia's forecast to the extent necessary to enable it to be approved in accordance with the Rules, that is, for the AER to be satisfied that the amended forecast reasonably reflects the capex criteria.

Aside from cursory comments that the AER considered its adjustment to be the minimum adjustment necessary, there is no evidence in the Draft Determination of the AER seeking to identify the minimum adjustment necessary. The AER has simply

⁵⁷⁰ AER Draft Determination, pp399, 409, 419 and 429.

⁵⁷¹ Initial Regulatory Proposal, pp139-40.

⁵⁷² ESCV's 2006-10 EDPR, p269.

identified and adopted point estimates based on Nuttall Consulting's recommendations, including those estimates based on historical expenditure trends and the Repex Model.

In order to comply with the Rules, Powercor Australia submits that the AER must adjust the forecasts included in Powercor Australia's Revised Regulatory Proposal to the minimum extent necessary to reach satisfaction under the Rules.

9.6.6 Experience of Nuttall Consulting

On 22 June 2010, Powercor Australia requested (by email) copies of the curriculum vitae of each of the authors of the Nuttall Consulting report. Powercor Australia was advised by the AER by email on 25 June 2010 that, given Mr Nuttall's unavailability, the relevant curriculum vitae would be provided prior to, or in conjunction with, the AER's Final Determination.

It is Powercor Australia's understanding that the authors of the Nuttall Consulting Report – Capital Expenditure of 4 June 2010 may not have adequate practical experience in operating an Australian distribution network. In light of this, and in the context of Nuttall Consulting's recommendations significantly contributing to the AER's capex cuts of in excess of \$2,096 million across all Victorian DNSPs in the next regulatory control period, the findings of Nuttall Consulting should be carefully scrutinised.

9.6.7 Historical accuracy of Powercor Australia's forecasts

In its Draft Determination, the AER had regard to the past forecasting performance of Victorian DNSPs.⁵⁷³ The AER concluded that DNSPs' capex forecasts tend to systematically over estimate actual capex.⁵⁷⁴

However, a DNSP's actual expenditure will necessarily be constrained by the allowance it receives in the relevant regulatory decision. Regulated businesses do not have access to an endless pool of capital, and thus they are constrained by the revenue allowed by the regulator.

Despite this, in the current regulatory control period, Powercor Australia's actual capex in 2006-09 **exceeded** the benchmark set by the ESCV and is expected to exceed the benchmark for 2010 (see Table 9.2 below). The difference is largely attributable to non-routine new customer connections, which have increased significantly due to stronger growth in customer numbers and steady growth in reinforcement expenditure. This was discussed further in sections 5.5 and 5.10 of the Initial Regulatory Proposal.

⁵⁷³ AER, Draft Determination, pp291-2, 315, 356-7, 409, 418 and 428. The AER indicated that it considered Powercor Australia's historical accuracy of forecasting on the basis of clauses 6.5.7(e)(5) of the Rules: AER, Draft Determination, p291 (footnote 22). However, this section of the Rules does not justify an assessment of past forecasting accuracy. Clause 6.5.7(e)(5) of the Rules provides that the AER must have regard to the actual and expected capex of the distribution network service provider during any preceding regulatory control periods. That is, rather than requiring a comparison of past forecast and actual expenditure, the section requires the AER to have regard to: 1) actual capex incurred in past and current regulatory control periods; and 2) expected capex in the remaining years of the current regulatory control period in respect of which there are no actual expenditure figures. ⁵⁷⁴ AER, Draft Determination, pp291-2.

	\$'000 2010							
Сарех	2006	2007	2008	2009	2010	Total		
Actual/projected	223,199	253,153	242,619	230,007	263,991	1,212,969		
Regulatory allowance	203,891	220,924	225,848	222,641	225,806	1,099,111		
Difference	19,307	32,230	16,771	7,365	38,185	113,858		

Table 9.2 Comparison of gross capex over 2006-10 to ESCV allowance

Finally, contrary to the AER's conclusion that DSNPs' capex forecasts tend to systematically overestimate capex,⁵⁷⁵ as shown in Table 9.2 above, Powercor Australia's 2009 actual capex was consistent with its 2009 forecasts.

9.7 New customer connections capex

9.7.1 Powercor Australia's Initial Regulatory Proposal

In its Initial Regulatory Proposal, Powercor Australia included, in the total forecast capex, new customer connections capex net of customer contributions.

9.7.1.1 Gross customer connections

Powercor Australia prepared its gross new customer connections capex forecasts for each year of the next regulatory control period by drawing on historic expenditure at an activity code level. The methodology used by Powercor Australia was outlined in the Initial Regulatory Proposal.⁵⁷⁶

Powercor Australia considers that historical capex can be an appropriate basis on which to determine gross customer connections forecast capex because the drivers of customer connections remain relatively constant across regulatory control periods.

9.7.1.2 Customer contributions

Powercor Australia indicated in its Initial Regulatory Proposal that, in calculating customer contributions, it had assumed that it will continue to:

- require customer contributions for new connections when it is expected that the customer will contribute less in incremental revenue through the payment of DuOS charges than the incremental cost of providing supply; and
- calculate customer contributions in accordance with ESCV's Guideline 14.577

After lodging its Initial Regulatory Proposal, Powercor Australia raised concerns with the AER that, in forecasting capital contributions, Powercor Australia had used the 2009 Contribution Rate and had only adjusted the 2009 Contribution Rate to account for expected changes to the MCR.⁵⁷⁸ The Contribution Rate is also a function of three other factors: the P₀, X factor and WACC. The values underpinning the 2009 Contribution Rate are those set out in the ESCV's 2006-10 EDPR. These values are expected to change significantly, however, with the AER's Final Determination in this price review.

 ⁵⁷⁵ AER, Draft Determination, p292.
 ⁵⁷⁶ Initial Regulatory Proposal, pp88-91.

⁵⁷⁷ Initial Regulatory Proposal, p87.

⁵⁷⁸ Letter to Mr Blair Burkitt, Director Network Regulation South, AER, 19 April 2010, pp5-7.
Powercor Australia indicated to the AER that it would propose revised customer contribution forecasts in its Revised Regulatory Proposal that are consistent with:⁵⁷⁹

- ESCV's Guideline 14, including its understanding of the AER's interpretation of ESCV's Guideline 14 following the AER's Draft Decision, Benchmark Upstream Augmentation Charge Rates for CitiPower's Network of 19 February 2010;⁵⁸⁰ and
- the proposed P₀, X factor and WACC values included in the Revised Regulatory Proposal.

9.7.2 AER's Draft Determination

9.7.2.1 Gross customer connections

The AER accepted Powercor Australia's proposed gross customer connections forecast in respect of function code 118 (cogeneration).⁵⁸¹

The AER rejected the remaining gross customer connections forecasts put forward by Powercor Australia because:⁵⁸²

- Powercor Australia did not have regard to the likely number of connections or jobs;
- using actual reported expenditure from the current regulatory control period (i.e. 2006-09) provides a more accurate basis to forecast expenditure than one year of data;
- growth in the total number of customers is not a reasonable indicator of growth in gross customer connections capex as growth in connections expenditure should only occur if the number of new connections or jobs is forecast to change; and
- the AER did not accept Powercor Australia's proposed classification of a number of services as standard control.

Regarding the classification of services, the Draft Determination referred to Powercor Australia including in its proposed customer connections forecasts capex relating to services the AER identified as *'labour and materials for routine connections'*.⁵⁸³ Powercor Australia has assumed the AER is referring to capex in function codes 114 and 115.

Powercor Australia's Initial Regulatory Proposal assigned function codes 114 and 115 to standard control customer connection capex. However, because the AER did not accept the classification of services under these codes as standard control services, the AER assigned function codes 114 and 115 to alternative control, presumably to routine connections.

- ⁵⁸¹ AER, spreadsheet titled 'Draft Decision Master Capex Powercor'.
- ⁵⁸² AER, Draft Determination, pp306-7.
- ⁵⁸³ AER, Draft Determination, p307.

⁵⁷⁹ Letter to Mr Blair Burkitt, Director Network Regulation South, AER, 19 April 2010, p8.

⁵⁸⁰ The AER's decision regarding CitiPower's customer contribution charges applies equally to Powercor Australia because the DNSPs adopt the same methodology for determining customer contribution charges.

The AER substituted average actual expenditure from 2006-09 for residential and business subdivision projects and low voltage connections with customer supply capacity at greater than 500kVA.⁵⁸⁴

9.7.2.2 Calculation of customer contributions

In the Draft Determination, the AER noted the issue of the Victorian DNSPs' treatment of the X factor in the proposed calculation of customer contributions and inserted a 'place holder' for the purposes of the Draft Determination, indicating that DNSPs must revise their calculations to ensure compliance with ESCV's Guideline 14 in their revised regulatory proposals.⁵⁸⁵

9.7.3 Powercor Australia's response to the AER's Draft Determination

Powercor Australia has amended its customer connections capex forecasts in this Revised Regulatory Proposal to:

- respond to the AER's concerns with its calculation of gross customer connections capex; and
- reflect the AER's Final Customer Contributions Decision, which was published after the Draft Determination.

Powercor Australia attaches to this Revised Regulatory Proposal its Customer Capex Model and Customer Contributions Rate Model, which give effect to the above.⁵⁸⁶

Powercor Australia submits that its revised customer connections capex forecasts will result in total capex forecasts that reasonably reflect the capex criteria.

9.7.3.1 Gross customer connections

In response to the AER's Draft Determination, Powercor Australia has revised its gross customer connections forecasts for the next regulatory control period.

Given the AER's acceptance of Powercor Australia's forecasts for connections under function code 118 (cogeneration), Powercor Australia retained the forecasts included in its Initial Regulatory Proposal.

For all function codes except function code 118, Powercor Australia has been unable to find a significant historic relationship between volume of projects and change in number of customers or regional economic growth. Therefore, in the absence of any identifiable driver of volume of projects, Powercor Australia has assumed that the 2010-15 annual volume of projects will be equal to the average 2006-09 annual volume of projects.

The 2010-15 annual unit rates, exclusive of input escalation, overheads and margins, are forecast to be equal to the average 2006-09 annual unit rates (in real terms). Therefore, the total annual cost, exclusive of input escalation, overheads and margins, is forecast to be equal to the average 2006-09 annual cost (in real terms).

The AER should accept Powercor Australia's customer connections capex forecasts because they are based on historic expenditure from more than one year (i.e. 2006-09).

⁵⁸⁴ AER, Draft Determination, p307.

⁵⁸⁵ AER, Draft Determination, pp305-308.

⁵⁸⁶ Customer Capex Model (Attachment 7 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal) and Customer Contributions Rate Model (Attachment 8 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal).

9.7.3.2 Function codes 114 and 115

In an email to the AER of 22 February 2010, Powercor Australia set out descriptions of various function codes, including 114 and 115. The descriptions for function codes 114 and 115 were as follows:

- **New connections servicing materials:** All costs of materials associated with the works necessary to supply and connect new overhead, underground and URD services.
- New connections servicing labour: includes:
 - installation costs relating to the provision of overhead services for supply upgrades;
 - installation costs relating to the provision of overhead servicing and connection from line of mains;
 - installation costs relating to the service provision of current transformers;
 - installation costs relating to the connection of underground service cable to customer's mains; and
 - processing of connection requests for new servicing activities.

Powercor Australia considers that the AER has made an error in removing function codes 114 and 115 from standard control and allocating them to alternative control. Powercor Australia takes this view based on the following:

- function codes 114 and 115 capture the costs of miscellaneous customer connection services which do not fit into the other customer connection categories;
- Powercor Australia's auditors (Deloitte) have signed off that these costs are customer connection capex and not a routine connection excluded service cost for the purposes of the 2006-09 regulatory accounts;
- the Draft Determination states that 'The AER agrees with SP AusNet that the previous classification of routine connections under the ESCV regime as excluded services is analogous to their classification as alternative control services under the NER'.⁵⁸⁷ The AER has thus confirmed the allocation of costs in respect of routine connections as signed off by Deloitte is appropriate; and
- Powercor Australia's approved CAM classifies these costs as standard control.

Powercor Australia notes that the routine connection costs reported in the 2009 regulatory accounts are already significantly greater than the routine connection revenue implied by the charges proposed in the Draft Determination. By including function codes 114 and 115, the AER is implying that Powercor Australia's costs of providing a routine connection are at least double the AER's Draft Determination benchmark. This is clearly at odds with the AER's assertion that the Victorian DNSPs are efficient.

Finally the miscellaneous nature of services provided under function codes 114 and 115 do not allow Powercor Australia to provide volumes for these function codes. For

⁵⁸⁷ AER, Draft Determination, p23.

the purposes of forecasting costs in function codes 114 and 115, Powercor Australia has assigned an annual volume of one over 2006-09 and forecast gross capex in accordance with the methodology set out in the previous section (i.e. for all function codes other than function code 118).

9.7.3.3 Customer contributions

As noted above, subsequent to Powercor Australia's correspondence with the AER regarding customer contributions and the AER's Draft Determination, the AER issued a final decision regarding CitiPower's upstream augmentation charges. The Final Customer Contributions Decision confirmed the AER's approach to ESCV's Guideline 14, as outlined in its Draft Decision, Benchmark Upstream Augmentation Charge Rates for CitiPower's Network, 19 February 2010.

As foreshadowed in its letter of 19 June 2010, Powercor Australia has amended its forecasts of customer contributions in this Revised Regulatory Proposal to ensure consistency with ESCV's Guideline 14 and the P_0 , X factor and WACC values included in the Revised Regulatory Proposal. Powercor Australia forecast customer contributions for each of those function codes that are likely to be affected by a change in the MCR, P_0 , X or WACC by:

- starting with the average 2006-09 Contribution Rate;
- using a sample of actual connection projects in each function code, calculating the expected change in the Contribution Rate if:
 - a reduction in the MCR consistent with the Final Customer Contributions Decision is applied; and
 - \circ the P₀, X factor and WACC values included in this Revised Regulatory Proposal are applied.
- calculating the forecast Contribution Rate as the average 2006-09 Contribution Rate adjusted for the impact of the reduction in the MCR and the application of the P₀, X factor and WACC values included in this Revised Regulatory Proposal; and
- applying the adjusted Contribution Rate to forecast gross new customer connections capex over the next regulatory control period.

Given the Contribution Rate is dependent on P_0 , X factor and WACC values, Powercor Australia observes that if the AER rejects any of these values included in this Revised Regulatory Proposal, then the AER will need to calculate the impact on the Contribution Rate of the values it substitutes, and thus the impact of these values on customer contributions in the next regulatory control period. As noted above, Powercor Australia has attached to this Revised Regulatory Proposal its Customer Contribution Rate and Customer Capex Models, which the AER can use for this purpose.⁵⁸⁸

9.7.4 Powercor Australia's Revised Regulatory Proposal

The new customer connections capex forecasts included in Powercor Australia's Revised Regulatory Proposal are set out in Table 9.3 below.

⁵⁸⁸ Attachments 7 and 8 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal.

	\$'000 (real 2010)					
Expenditure category	2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 Total					
Gross new customer connections	141,298	144,460	147,090	148,956	150,651	732,456
Customer contribution	(42,190)	(43,248)	(44,062)	(44,582)	(45,124)	(219,205)
Net new customer connections	99,109 101,212 103,028 104,375 105,527 513,251					513,251

 Table 9.3 Forecast customer capex included in Powercor Australia's Revised Regulatory Proposal

9.8 Reinforcement capex

9.8.1 Powercor Australia's Initial Regulatory Proposal

Reinforcement capex relates to capital works that are required to augment Powercor Australia's:

- sub-transmission network (i.e. assets directly connected to transmission connection points, made up of 66kV sub-transmission lines and zone substations); and
- high voltage and low voltage network (i.e. distribution assets below the zone substations including high voltage lines, distribution substations and low voltage lines).

Distribution assets operate at higher utilisation levels as their loading levels increase. This can affect their long term serviceability. Reinforcement capex is designed to enable Powercor Australia to augment its network to ensure that it has sufficient capacity to avoid asset utilisation rates exceeding the upper bounds of good engineering practice, in order to ensure the safety, reliability and security of supply of the distribution network.

For sub-transmission projects, Powercor Australia's reinforcement capex is therefore driven by maximum demand forecasts and the resultant energy at risk. For low voltage and high voltage parts of the network, reinforcement capex is driven by utilisation. The methodology for forecasting reinforcement capex was set out in the Initial Regulatory Proposal.⁵⁸⁹

Subsequent to the Initial Regulatory Proposal, Powercor Australia provided to the AER (among other things) energy at risk calculations for each sub-transmission and zone substation.⁵⁹⁰

9.8.2 AER's Draft Determination

The AER rejected Powercor Australia's methodology for forecasting reinforcement capex on the basis that the process adopted by Powercor Australia for a bottom-up build of reinforcement capex does not provide a reasonable unbiased estimate of efficient future reinforcement capex.⁵⁹¹

The AER reached this view based on the following conclusions of Nuttall Consulting:

• The use of a probabilistic approach that weighs the forecast value of expected energy at risk against the costs to reduce energy at risk in forecasting reinforcement capex is reasonable but the implementation of this approach by Powercor Australia results in a systematic upward bias in the resultant estimate

⁵⁸⁹ Initial Regulatory Proposal, pp79-83 and 401-16.

⁵⁹⁰ The calculations were provided to the AER on CD on 27 January 2010.

⁵⁹¹ AER, Draft Determination, pp334-7.

of future reinforcement capex.⁵⁹² Specifically, Nuttall Consulting concluded that Powercor Australia's approach to forecasting:

- does not take account of synergies between projects (rather it involves a simple summation of total projects planned), whereas detailed cost/benefit analyses would allow for synergies between projects;⁵⁹³ and
- does not adequately consider options that may involve lower cost, whereas detailed cost/benefit analyses may determine that deferral of projects or lower cost alternatives are more efficient options.⁵⁹⁴
- Powercor Australia's use of a load profile from 2009 will result in a systematic upward bias in its estimates of future prudent and efficient reinforcement capex.⁵⁹⁵ This is because the extended periods of hot weather in 2008-09 mean the 2009 load profile is relatively flat.⁵⁹⁶
- Powercor Australia's assumptions regarding transformer outage rates were overstated, and there is scope for these to be reduced via optimisation of spares and contracting with transformer manufacturers.⁵⁹⁷

The AER also concluded that:

- Powercor Australia's use of overstated maximum demand forecasts in forecasting reinforcement capex will result in a systematic upward bias in the estimate of prudent and efficient reinforcement capex.⁵⁹⁸
- Powercor Australia's process for a bottom-up build of reinforcement capex was based on factors other than a probabilistic assessment, which were not demonstrated to result in a forecast of efficient reinforcement capex. Specifically, the AER considered that, in many cases, the timing of major reinforcement capex projects was based on a number of factors in addition to the cost of energy at risk and was heavily reliant on the judgement of planning engineers.⁵⁹⁹

Finally, based on Nuttall Consulting's assessment, the AER was not satisfied as to the likelihood of Powercor Australia's expenditure being required as proposed in the next regulatory control period.⁶⁰⁰ Nuttall Consulting concluded that there was a moderate probability (62 per cent) of Powercor Australia's reinforcement capex being required as proposed.⁶⁰¹

⁵⁹² AER, Draft Determination, p324.

 ⁵⁹³ AER, Draft Determination, p319.
 ⁵⁹⁴ AER, Draft Determination, p322.

⁵⁹⁵ AER, Draft Determination, p322.

⁵⁹⁶ AER, Draft Determination, p324.

⁵⁹⁷ AER, Draft Determination, p318.

⁵⁹⁸ AER, Draft Determination, p322.

⁵⁹⁹ AER, Draft Determination, p325.

⁶⁰⁰ AER, Draft Determination, p324. The AER accepted Nuttall Consulting's findings in reaching its conclusions on Powercor Australia's proposed reinforcement capex: AER, Draft Determination, p336.

⁶⁰¹ Nuttall Consulting, Report – Capital Expenditure, 4 June 2010, p181. Powercor Australia assumes that Nuttall Consulting's reference to the CBD Security of Supply and Metro 2012 projects in its report is a typographical error.

In place of Powercor Australia's reinforcement capex forecasts, the AER substituted forecasts prepared by Nuttall Consulting.⁶⁰² To determine reinforcement capex for the next regulatory control period Nuttall Consulting:⁶⁰³

- reviewed six of the projects proposed by Powercor Australia and assigned a probability (low 33 per cent, moderate 50 per cent, moderate/high 70 per cent or high 90 per cent) that the project expenditure would be required at the level and time proposed. As well as reflecting the individual project reviewed, the probability assigned to each project allowed for Nuttall Consulting's *'broader findings from the methodology review and expenditure analysis'*;
- applied the average weighted probability to Powercor Australia's proposed total reinforcement capex; and
- developed an annual expenditure profile, using:
 - average annual expenditure over 2006-08 as a base-line for the expenditure; and
 - a constant annual expenditure growth rate.

Following this process, Nuttall Consulting recommended reducing Powercor Australia's forecast of reinforcement capex by 38 per cent.⁶⁰⁴

9.8.3 Powercor Australia's response to the AER's Draft Determination

9.8.3.1 Summary

Powercor Australia submits that its approach to forecasting reinforcement capex does not result in a systematic upward bias in the estimate of future prudent and efficient reinforcement capex. This is because:

- its methodology does not result in a systematic upward bias in the estimate. Specifically:
 - Powercor Australia's internal planning criteria incorporate the same criteria as Powercor Australia's governance documents, which Nuttall Consulting concluded would be expected to deliver prudent and efficient outcomes;
 - Powercor Australia's processes take into account synergies and result in forecasts that are economically justified; and
 - overall, SKM found that Powercor Australia's energy at risk modelling (including its load duration and transformer outage rate assumptions) is likely to understate energy at risk;⁶⁰⁵ and
- the zone substation level maximum demand forecasts used to prepare the reinforcement capex forecasts are lower than the maximum demand forecasts reconciled with NIEIR's system maximum demand forecast (presented in Chapter 4). Thus the maximum demand forecasts used to forecast reinforcement

⁶⁰² AER, Draft Determination, p336.

⁶⁰³ Nuttall Consulting, Report – Capital Expenditure, 4 June 2010, pp55-6.

⁶⁰⁴ Nuttall Consulting, Report – Capital Expenditure, 4 June 2010, p181; AER, Draft Determination, p336.

⁶⁰⁵ SKM, SKM Comments on Nuttall Consulting Report RE: Impact of Load Duration Curve, 9 July 2010 (Attachment 160 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p21.

capex are conservative and not likely to result in a systematic upward bias in the estimate.

Powercor Australia rejects Nuttall Consulting's approach to forecasting reinforcement in the next regulatory control period.

Powercor Australia contends that each of the reinforcement projects in the Revised Regulatory Proposal will be required as proposed in the next regulatory control period. Additional details of Powercor Australia's proposed reinforcement projects are set out below and are included in material project templates.⁶⁰⁶

9.8.3.2 Powercor Australia's methodology for forecasting reinforcement capex

Powercor Australia's methodology for forecasting reinforcement capex does not result in a systematic upward bias in the estimate of future prudent and efficient reinforcement capex. The reasons for this are discussed below.

Internal planning criteria

Nuttall Consulting concluded that Powercor Australia's governance documentation '*demonstrates well-developed capital governance processes and practices that, if followed, would be expected to deliver prudent and efficient outcomes for its stakeholders.*⁶⁰⁷ Powercor Australia's internal planning criteria incorporate the same criteria as Powercor Australia's governance documents. The rigour of the analysis applied by Powercor Australia in its forecasting and its governance processes is the same. Any changes in project scope and timing are the result of new information, rather than more detailed analyses being conducted.

Synergies

Powercor Australia takes synergies into account when developing its forecasts of reinforcement capex. For example, Powercor Australia notes that synergies are reflected in its Transformer and Distribution Circuit Breaker Strategic Replacement Program⁶⁰⁸. In addition, the asset management plan in respect of zone substation transformers makes it clear that '*[t]he suggested replacement program may have to be adjusted to suit any unexpected load changes*'.⁶⁰⁹

Nuttall Consulting recognised that, in some circumstances, projects may be advanced or their scopes increased as they move through DNSPs' capital governance processes.⁶¹⁰ Nuttall Consulting concluded, however, that this will most likely result in overall expenditure being less than the simple summation of the project plans.⁶¹¹ Powercor Australia maintains that project scopes and timing move in both directions as projects move through Powercor Australia's governance processes. As noted above, this reflects changes in relevant circumstances, rather than the application of a more detailed analysis.

⁶⁰⁶ Included in Attachment 161 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal.

⁶⁰⁷ Nuttall Consulting, Report – Capital Expenditure, 4 June 2010, p101; AER, Draft Determination, p303.

⁶⁰⁸ Attachment P0106 to the Initial Regulatory Proposal

⁶⁰⁹ Powercor Australia, Zone Substation Transformers Asset Management Plan, November 2009 (Attachment P0104 to the Initial Regulatory Proposal), p28.

⁶¹⁰ Nuttall Consulting, Report – Capital Expenditure, 4 June 2010, pp51-2.

⁶¹¹ Nuttall Consulting, Report – Capital Expenditure, 4 June 2010, p51.

Cost benefit analyses

To assist the AER with its assessment of Powercor Australia's proposed reinforcement capex, Powercor Australia has conducted cost benefit analyses in respect of five of the major projects reviewed by Nuttall Consulting. These cost benefit analyses are set out in the reinforcement capex material projects templates included in Attachment 161 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal. The cost benefit analyses show that these projects are economically justified. Powercor Australia notes that it has not provided a material project template with this Revised Regulatory Proposal in respect of the Eagle Hawk zone substation upgrade because Nuttall Consulting's concern was in respect of the load profile assumptions underpinning the forecast.⁶¹² This issue is addressed further below.

Powercor Australia submits that the cost benefit analyses conducted for these major projects demonstrates that Powercor Australia's internal processes for forecasting reinforcement capex are likely to identify reinforcement projects for the next regulatory control period that are economically justified and result in total forecasts that are prudent and efficient.

Energy at risk modelling

Powercor Australia's use of a load profile from 2009 will not result in a systematic upward bias in its estimate of prudent and efficient reinforcement capex. As noted by the independent expert engaged by Powercor Australia to consider its and Nuttall Consulting's load duration curve assumptions, SKM, Nuttall Consulting's analysis is flawed because it places significant weight on the shape of the top one per cent of the summer load duration curves, whereas, in SKM's experience, this part of the curve has little impact on the energy at risk.⁶¹³

Powercor Australia's assumption of a 2.6 month outage duration for transformers is reasonable for planning purposes. As recognised by Nuttall Consulting and SKM, the rate is consistent with long standing industry standard.⁶¹⁴ In addition, the independent expert, SKM, concluded that Powercor Australia's transformer outage duration assumptions are in line with international experience.⁶¹⁵

The 2.6 month duration is a weighted average of the duration of a catastrophic failure and the duration of other, less catastrophic, failure modes. The duration intervals are estimates of the time taken to assess the transformer on site following a fault. Certain diagnostic tests are needed to determine whether the transformer can be repaired on site or needs to be sent to a manufacturer's facility for repair. A suitable spare could be determined to install in the station. However, this might require the construction of different foundation and bundling works. Primary and secondary design works are also likely to be required to assess the characteristics of the particular zone substation. If irreparable, and no in-service units are identified for relocation, a new transformer

⁶¹² Nuttall Consulting, Report – Capital Expenditure, 4 June 2010, p178.

 ⁶¹³ SKM, SKM Comments on Nuttall Consulting Report RE: Impact of Load Duration Curve, 9 July 2010 (Attachment 160 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p19.
 ⁶¹⁴ Nuttall Consulting, Report – Capital Expenditure, 4 June 2010, p52; SKM, SKM Comments on Nuttall

⁶¹⁴ Nuttall Consulting, Report – Capital Expenditure, 4 June 2010, p52; SKM, SKM Comments on Nuttall Consulting Report RE: Impact of Load Duration Curve, 9 July 2010 (Attachment 160 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p21.

⁶¹⁵ SKM, SKM Comments on Nuttall Consulting Report RE: Impact of Load Duration Curve, 9 July 2010 (Attachment 160 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p16.

would be ordered and manufactured. There are very long lead times in procuring transformers (up to 18 months).⁶¹⁶

Nuttall Consulting suggested that transformer outage durations could be reduced through optimisation of spares and through contracting arrangements with manufacturers. However, in suggesting these options, Nuttall Consulting failed to consider the cost associated with implementing these measures. Nuttall Consulting's proposed options are not sustainable at this time and should not be accepted by the AER as a basis for concluding that Powercor Australia's transformer outage duration assumptions are unreasonably high.

The reduction of outage durations through the measures suggested by Nuttall Consulting would not be efficient or prudent measures for Powercor Australia to pursue at this time. Nuttall Consulting concluded that Powercor Australia is relatively efficient.⁶¹⁷ If follows that, if it was efficient to hold spares or to seek to negotiate special terms with manufacturers, Powercor Australia would already be doing this.

There are significant costs associated with implementation of the measures for reducing outage durations proposed by Nuttall Consulting. Powercor Australia notes there are 11 'families' or 'generic types' of power transformers currently in service on its network (see Table 9.4 below). The different types involve different voltage ratios, tap-changing ranges, vector groups, output ratings, connection arrangements and cooling arrangements etc.

Voltage (kV)	Vector Group	Size (MVA)	Cooling Bank
66/11	DY1	20/33	Attached
66/22	11YY0	20/27	Attached
66/22	YY	20/33	Attached
66/22	YY	20/33	Separate
66/22	YZ	10/13.5	Attached
66/22	DY1	10/13.5	Attached
66/22	DY1	20/33	Attached
66/22	DY1	20/33	Separate
66/22	DYN1	10/13.5	Attached
66/22	DYN1	20/33	Attached
66/22	31DY9	10/13.5	Attached

 Table 9.4 Powercor Australia's power transformer generic types

Given the above range of transformers, it would be not be efficient for Powercor Australia to seek to hold spares of each. Powercor Australia notes that while it is seeking to reduce outage durations by improving the interchangeability of transformers between sites through standardisation,⁶¹⁸ the benefits of this strategy will take a period significantly longer than the next regulatory control period to materialise.

Similarly, it would be very difficult and/or costly to enter into contracts with manufacturers to reduce outage durations. This is because the units would have to be specifically designed for each transformer type in Powercor Australia's network. Powercor Australia would then have to negotiate a holding or leasing arrangement for

⁶¹⁶ Powercor Australia, Zone Substation Transformers Asset Management Plan, November 2009 (Attachment P0104 to the Initial Regulatory Proposal), p27.

⁶¹⁷ Nuttall Consulting, Report – Capital Expenditure, 4 June 2010, p21; AER, Draft Determination, p285.

⁶¹⁸ Powercor Australia, Zone Substation Transformers Asset Management Plan, November 2009 (Attachment P0104 to the Initial Regulatory Proposal), p27.

the manufacturer to construct a holding facility, which complies with the range of regulatory and legislative obligations regulating the containment and drainage of oil filled equipment, to store and maintain the transformer units.⁶¹⁹ This would not be costless. Given the number of transformer types Powercor Australia could potentially be required to replace in a given period, the additional costs associated with this approach would be significant.⁶²⁰

Overall, SKM indicated that Powercor Australia's approach to energy at risk modelling is likely to **understate** energy at risk because:⁶²¹

- Powercor Australia's energy at risk analysis uses the 50 per cent PoE demand forecasts, whereas in practice Powercor Australia must take into account the possibility of an extreme summer and the possible impact on climate change on both the maximum temperatures and duration of hot spells;
- Powercor Australia models energy at risk using fault rates for power transformers, but not the energy at risk for other equipment faults in the substations (e.g. cables, switchgear); and
- Powercor Australia uses transformer fault rates which are intended to reflect transformer outages where actual damage occurs to the transformer. There are other outages that occur where energy is at risk, but for which no damage has occurred and supply is restored after several hours, and these faults are not modelled by Powercor Australia.

Maximum demand forecasts

As noted in Chapter 4, the AER rejected the maximum demand forecasts proposed by Powercor Australia in the Initial Regulatory Proposal, and instead substituted maximum demand forecasts that it had reconciled with the maximum demand forecasts produced by NIEIR in November 2009. The maximum demand forecasts used to develop Powercor Australia's reinforcement capex forecasts in this Revised Regulatory Proposal are those included in its Initial Regulatory Proposal. These maximum demand forecasts are lower than the maximum demand forecasts reconciled with NIEIR's updated maximum demand forecasts that are presented in this Revised Regulatory Proposal. Accordingly, the maximum demand forecasts used for the purposes of forecasting reinforcement capex can be considered conservative. They are not likely to result in a systematic upward bias in the forecasts of reinforcement capex.

Other matters raised by the AER

Powercor Australia observes that the AER did not identify the factors in addition to energy at risk that it considered influenced the timing of the projects reflected in Powercor Australia's forecasts of reinforcement capex. In any event, Powercor Australia develops its sub-transmission reinforcement capex forecasts solely by reference to energy at risk. In respect of its high and low voltage network, Powercor

⁶¹⁹ The sources of these obligations are outlined in the Initial Regulatory Proposal, pp114-5.

⁶²⁰ Powercor Australia notes that the additional costs associated with replacing failed transformers with another type of transformer (i.e. a transformer of a different type to the failed transformer) means that not all failed transformers can be replaced with a standardised transformer at this time. The need for Powercor Australia to hold a significant number of transformer types as spares (under Nuttall Consulting's proposal) is therefore not alleviated by its strategy to standardise its transformer population.

⁶²¹ SKM, SKM Comments on Nuttal Consulting Report RE: Impact of Load Duration Curve, 9 July 2010 (Attachment 160 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p22.

Australia considers utilisation of the network and, in rural areas, seeks to ensure compliance with the voltage level requirements in the Distribution Code. The only exceptions are where, as discussed above, synergies can be extracted from reliability and quality maintained capex.

It is unclear what the AER means by its comments that Powercor Australia did not establish a clear link between the exercise of engineering judgment and the economic efficiency of the resultant forecast of reinforcement capex.⁶²² As noted above, forecast sub-transmission reinforcement capex is driven by energy at risk and low and high voltage network by utilisation (with deviations only to account for potential synergies). In any event, as highlighted above, the cost benefit analyses conducted by Powercor Australia in forecasting reinforcement capex are set out in the material projects templates relating to major reinforcement capex, and thus support the methodology used by Powercor Australia.

9.8.3.3 Reinforcement projects proposed by Powercor Australia

As noted above, the AER accepted Nuttall Consulting's assessment that there was a moderate probability (62 per cent) of Powercor Australia's reinforcement capex being required as proposed in the next regulatory control period.⁶²⁴ However, Nuttall Consulting's methodology for determining the probabilities is flawed.

To reach its overall conclusion on the probability of Powercor Australia's reinforcement projects being required, Nuttall Consulting:⁶²⁵

- assigned to six proposed projects a probability of those projects being required. Nuttall Consulting assigned a probability (of either low – 33 per cent, moderate – 50 per cent, moderate/high – 70 per cent or high – 90 per cent) based on:
 - its assessment of the individual project; and
 - its 'broader findings' from the methodology review and expenditure analysis; and
- then extrapolated the weighted average probability of these six projects being required across the remainder of the proposed reinforcement capex.

The errors in Nuttall Consulting's probability assessment are four fold. First, Nuttall Consulting's assessment of the six individual projects assessed is heavily reliant on Nuttall Consulting's engineering judgement and is flawed. As shown in Table 9.5 below, the six projects assessed by Nuttall Consulting will be required as proposed in the next regulatory control period.

Second, while Nuttall Consulting has accounted for projects that will be deferred, and has noted the possibility of projects being advanced,⁶²⁶ Nuttall Consulting does not take into account the possibility that projects that are not currently reflected in Powercor Australia's forecasts may be brought forward to fall within the regulatory control period.

⁶²⁴ AER, Draft Determination, p324.

⁶²² AER, Draft Determination, p335.

⁶²³ Included in Attachment 161 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal.

⁶²⁵ Nuttall Consulting, Report – Capital Expenditure, 4 June 2010, p55.

⁶²⁶ Nuttall Consulting, Report – Capital Expenditure, 4 June 2010, p176.

Third, Nuttall Consulting's 'broader findings' do not justify a reduction in the assigned probabilities. This is because, as discussed in more detail above:

- in forecasting its reinforcement capex, Powercor Australia has:
 - applied the same criteria as are set out in its governance documents, and applied these criteria with the same rigour as it does during its governance processes (which Nuttall Consulting has concluded are likely to result in efficient and prudent outcomes⁶²⁷); and
 - taken into account potential synergies and produced forecasts that are economically justified;
- Nuttall Consulting's criticisms of Powercor Australia's load profile and transformer outage duration assumptions are not justified. Further, overall, SKM found that Powercor Australia's approach to energy at risk modelling is likely to **understate** energy at risk;
- the maximum demand forecasts used by Powercor Australia in preparing its reinforcement capex forecasts are conservative; and
- Powercor Australia has not taken into account factors other than energy at risk (and potential synergies) and high and low voltage network utilisation and compliance in forecasting reinforcement capex.

Finally, it is not reasonable to extrapolate the probabilities for six major projects across Powercor Australia's entire reinforcement capex. These projects make up only 21 per cent of Powercor Australia's total reinforcement capex.

Powercor Australia submits that the projects reviewed by Nuttall Consulting will be required as proposed in the next regulatory control period. The reasons for this are outlined in Table 9.5 below.

Project reviewed	Nuttall Consulting assessment	Powercor Australia response
Eagle Hawk zone substation upgrade	The energy at risk calculations suggest the timing of the project is reasonable and the options considered are reasonable. ⁶²⁸ However, given the load profile assumptions, there is a reasonable possibility that this project may be optimally deferred. ⁶²⁹ Moderate to high probability of being required as proposed (70%).	Powercor Australia's load profile (or load duration curve) assumptions are reasonable (see discussion above). Accordingly, in circumstances where Nuttall Consulting accepted that, on the energy at risk calculations, the forecast timing and consideration of options was reasonable, and did not raise any other concerns regarding the project, there is no basis for discounting of the probability of the project proceeding. The project should be assigned 100% probability of being required as proposed.
Gisborne new zone substation	It is not clear that Powercor Australia's energy at risk calculations support the timing of the project. ⁶³⁰ Further, the AER's maximum demand forecasts and Powercor Australia's	Powercor Australia has provided the calculations of the expected value of energy at risk in the material projects template relating to this project. ⁶³⁴ These calculations support the timing of the project. The maximum demand forecasts

⁶²⁷ Nuttall Consulting, Report - Capital Expenditure, 4 June 2010, p303.

⁶²⁸ Nuttall Consulting, Report – Capital Expenditure, 4 June 2010, p178.

⁶²⁹ Nuttall Consulting, Report – Capital Expenditure, 4 June 2010, p178.

⁶³⁰ Nuttall Consulting, Report – Capital Expenditure, 4 June 2010, p178.

Project reviewed	Nuttall Consulting assessment	Powercor Australia response
	load profile assumptions mean that the project may well be deferred. ⁶³¹ Lower cost options (for example, the first stage of a switching station at Gisborne) have not been adequately considered. ⁶³² Low probability of being required as proposed (33%). ⁶³³	underpinning Powercor Australia's reinforcement capex are conservative and Powercor Australia's load duration curve assumptions are reasonable (see discussion above). It is not appropriate, therefore to assume a deferral of the project is likely on the basis of either of these assumptions. The material projects template shows that there are no lower cost options. Significantly, as noted in the confidential CIC meeting minutes of 1 June 2010 ⁶³⁵ this project has been approved through Powercor Australia's internal governance processes (the same processes which Nuttall Consulting considers have resulted in efficient capex in the current regulatory control period ⁶³⁶) and no lower cost options were identified. Accordingly, the project should be assigned 100% probability of being required as proposed.
Bendigo terminal station to Charlton zone substation (BETS-CTN) 66kV line upgrade	The AER's maximum demand forecasts suggest that this project may be deferred and lower cost options have not been adequately considered. ⁶³⁷ For example, there may be options linked with the staged upgrade of the line (such as the installation of reactive compensation) or alternatives such as the construction of a new line from KGTS to CTN. ⁶³⁸ Moderate probability of being required as proposed (50%). ⁶³⁹	As noted above, the maximum demand forecasts underpinning Powercor Australia's reinforcement capex are conservative and it is therefore not appropriate to assume a deferral of the project on the basis of these forecasts. Powercor Australia has provided to the AER a material projects template relating to this project. ⁶⁴⁰ The template shows that there are no lower cost options. Significantly, the first stages of this upgrade have been approved through Powercor Australia's governance processes (the same processes which Nuttall Consulting considers have resulted in efficient capex in the current regulatory control period ⁶⁴¹) and no lower cost options were identified. ⁶⁴² Accordingly, the project should be assigned 100% probability of being required as proposed.
Geelong East (GLE) upgrade	The energy at risk calculations do not justify the project (specifically, it is not	Powercor Australia has provided the calculations of the expected value of energy at risk in the

⁶³⁴ Included in Attachment 161 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal.

⁶³¹ Nuttall Consulting, Report – Capital Expenditure, 4 June 2010, p178.

⁶³² Nuttall Consulting, Report - Capital Expenditure, 4 June 2010, p178.

⁶³³ Nuttall Consulting, Report – Capital Expenditure, 4 June 2010, p178.

⁶³⁵ Powercor Australia, Minutes, Capital Investment Committee Meeting, 1 June 2010 (Attachment 168 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p3. ⁶³⁶ Nuttall Consulting, Report – Capital Expenditure, 4 June 2010, p101; AER, Draft Determination, p303. ⁶³⁷ Nuttall Consulting, Report – Capital Expenditure, 4 June 2010, p179.

⁶³⁸ Nuttall Consulting, Report – Capital Expenditure, 4 June 2010, p179.

⁶³⁹ Nuttall Consulting, Report – Capital Expenditure, 4 June 2010, p179.

⁶⁴⁰ Included in Attachment 161 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal.

⁶⁴¹ Nuttall Consulting, Report – Capital Expenditure, 4 June 2010, p101; AER, Draft Determination, p303.

⁶⁴² Powercor Australia, Minutes to the Capital Investment Committee meeting, 11 August 2009.

Project reviewed	Nuttall Consulting assessment	Powercor Australia response
	clear they adequately allow for available load transfers). ⁶⁴³ Further, Powercor Australia's load profile assumptions mean that the project is likely to be deferred. ⁶⁴⁴ Moderate probability of being required as proposed (50%). ⁶⁴⁵	 material projects template relating to this project.⁶⁴⁶ These calculations demonstrate the need for the capex. As noted above, SKM found that Powercor Australia's load duration curves are reasonable. In any event, adjusting the load profile does not affect the optimal timing of the project (see the material projects template included in Attachment 161 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal). Accordingly, Powercor Australia's load profile assumptions do not provide a basis for discounting the probability of the project proceeding. Accordingly, the project should be assigned 100% probability of being required as proposed.
Geelong (GTS) subtransmission 66kV lines augmentation	The energy at risk calculations appear to support the timing of this project and the options considered appear reasonable. ⁶⁴⁷ However, given Powercor Australia's load profile assumptions, there is a reasonable possibility this project may be deferred. ⁶⁴⁸ High probability of being required as proposed (90%). ⁶⁴⁹	Powercor Australia's energy at risk calculations are shown in the material projects template for this project. ⁶⁵⁰ These calculations demonstrate the need for the project within the proposed timing. In any event, Nuttall Consulting accepted the forecast timing of this project and accepted that Powercor Australia's consideration of options were reasonable. Nuttall Consulting raised concerns only with respect to Powercor Australia's load profile assumptions. As noted above, SKM found that Powercor Australia's load profile assumptions are reasonable and it is therefore not appropriate to assume a deferral of the project on the basis of these. Accordingly, the project should be assigned 100% probability of being required as proposed.
Numurkah to Cobram East (NKA-CBE) 66kV line upgrade	Powercor Australia has not demonstrated that the energy at risk, allowing for all interim measures (for example load transfers and emergency generation), justifies the project. ⁶⁵¹ Powercor Australia also has not provided details of its assessment of the alternative of transferring load away from CBE via the construction of three new 22kV feeders and has not adequately considered other	Powercor Australia has provided the calculations of the expected value of energy at risk in the material projects template relating to this project (included in Attachment 161 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal). These calculations demonstrate the need for the project within the proposed timing. Powercor Australia notes that Nuttall Consulting's load curve analysis has no bearing on the energy at risk for this project, as the line is radial, and therefore has energy at risk for 365

 ⁶⁴³ Nuttall Consulting, Report – Capital Expenditure, 4 June 2010, p179.
 ⁶⁴⁴ Nuttall Consulting, Report – Capital Expenditure, 4 June 2010, p179.
 ⁶⁴⁵ Nuttall Consulting, Report – Capital Expenditure, 4 June 2010, p179.
 ⁶⁴⁶ Included in Attachment 161 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal.
 ⁶⁴⁷ Strand Report - Capital Expenditure, 4 June 2010, p179.

⁶⁴⁷ Nuttall Consulting, Report – Capital Expenditure, 4 June 2010, pp179-80.

 ⁶⁴⁸ Nuttall Consulting, Report – Capital Expenditure, 4 June 2010, pp179
 ⁶⁴⁸ Nuttall Consulting, Report – Capital Expenditure, 4 June 2010, p180.
 ⁶⁴⁹ Nuttall Consulting, Report – Capital Expenditure, 4 June 2010, p180.
 ⁶⁵⁰ Included in Attachment 161 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal.
 ⁶⁵¹ Nuttall Consulting, Report – Capital Expenditure, 4 June 2010, p180.

Project reviewed	Nuttall Consulting assessment	Powercor Australia response
	alternatives (for example, a smaller scale 22kV transfer project). ⁶⁵² Moderate to high probability of being required as proposed (70%). ⁶⁵³	days per year. Accordingly, the project should be assigned 100% probability of being required as proposed.

Table 9.5 Powercor Australia's response to Nuttall Consulting's individual project assessments

9.8.3.4 Nuttall Consulting's forecasts

For the reasons outlined above, on the basis of the material before it, the AER should be satisfied that Powercor Australia's proposed reinforcement capex reasonably reflects the capex criteria. In the event it is not so satisfied, however, it would not be reasonable for the AER to substitute the reinforcement capex forecasts determined by Nuttall Consulting.

Nuttall Consulting's approach to forecasting reinforcement capex is novel. Powercor Australia is not aware of it having been applied in any previous AER determination, or any previous determination by the ESCV. As a result, it is an untested approach to forecasting reinforcement capex.

Perhaps because of this Nuttall Consulting's forecasting methodology and the assumptions underpinning its approach are flawed. The methodology is flawed because:

- the forecasts are not linked to maximum demand forecasts. Aside from noting that the AER's conclusions on maximum demand forecasts support its view that many of the projects included in Powercor Australia's forecasts of reinforcement capex may be optimally deferred, Nuttall Consulting does not consider maximum demand. In particular, Nuttall Consulting's forecasts of reinforcement capex do not reflect any explicit consideration of maximum demand. This is inconsistent with the AER's recognition that the primary driver of reinforcement capex is 'to meet the growing demand on the network' and 'to ensure [network components] have sufficient capacity to meet high peak demand days'⁶⁵⁴ (so as to avoid asset utilisation rates exceeding the upper bounds of good engineering practice);
- Nuttall Consulting's determination of the probability of the reinforcement capex projects going ahead is not reasonable. This is because:
 - Nuttall Consulting's assessment of each of the projects is heavily reliant on engineering judgement and is incorrect. For the reasons set out in Table 9.5 above, the projects reviewed have a 100 per cent probability of being required as proposed in the next regulatory control period; and
 - as discussed above, Nuttall Consulting's 'broader findings' regarding Powercor Australia's forecasting methodology do not justify a reduction in the probabilities assigned to individual projects.

In addition, as noted above, while Nuttall Consulting has accounted for projects that will be deferred, and has noted the possibility of projects being advanced, Nuttall Consulting does not take into account the possibility that projects that are

⁶⁵² Nuttall Consulting, Report – Capital Expenditure, 4 June 2010, p180.

⁶⁵³ Nuttall Consulting, Report – Capital Expenditure, 4 June 2010, p180.

⁶⁵⁴ AER, Draft Determination, pp311-2.

not currently reflected in the Powercor Australia's forecasts may be brought forward to fall within the regulatory control period; and

• as discussed above, it is not reasonable to extrapolate the probabilities for six major projects across Powercor Australia's entire reinforcement capex.

9.8.4 Powercor Australia's Revised Regulatory Proposals

The reinforcement forecasts included in Powercor Australia's Revised Regulatory Proposal are set out in Table 9.6 below.

	\$'000 (real 2010)					
Expenditure category	2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 Total					Total
Reinforcements	55,783	57,783	63,740	65,198	71,173	313,678

 Table 9.6 Reinforcement capex forecasts included in the Revised Regulatory Proposal

9.9 Reliability and quality maintained capex

9.9.1 Powercor Australia's Initial Regulatory Proposal

Reliability and quality maintained capex is required to maintain network performance within acceptable risk levels, as well as to replace assets that have failed or are imminently about to fail. Reliability and quality maintained capex is necessary because with time, network assets age and deteriorate and, if they are not replaced, may fail or operate at a sub-standard level. This may result in reduced service reliability and quality.

Subsequent to the Initial Regulatory Proposal, Powercor Australia provided to the AER material program templates for each activity within each reliability and quality maintained capex function code.⁶⁵⁵ These templates provided details in respect of the historic and forecast expenditure for that activity, where there was reliable historic expenditure at the program level. Powercor Australia highlighted that historical expenditure is generally not maintained at the program level, rather, it is maintained at the aggregate function code level.

Some of the more significant replacement programs proposed by Powercor Australia in its Initial Regulatory Proposal for the next regulatory control period are discussed in more detail below.

9.9.1.1 Conductor replacement program

In its Initial Regulatory Proposal, Powercor Australia included capex relating to an enhanced high voltage overhead conductor replacement works program.⁶⁵⁶ Additional information regarding the program was included in the relevant material program template provided to the AER on 26 February 2010⁶⁵⁷ and the Subtransmission and HV Conductors Asset Management Plan.⁶⁵⁸

The conductor replacement program was developed to prepare for anticipated increases in high voltage overhead conductor failures.⁶⁵⁹ A total of 420 in-service conductor

⁶⁵⁵ Material program templates were provided to the AER by email on 26 February 2010 and 3 March 2010.

⁶⁵⁶ Initial Regulatory Proposal, p110.

⁶⁵⁷ Document titled 'PAL 150 Overhead Line Replacement'.

⁶⁵⁸ This plan was provided to the AER by email on 24 December 2009.

⁶⁵⁹ Document titled 'PAL 150 Overhead Line Replacement' (provided to the AER by email on 26 February 2010), p1.

failures occurred on Powercor Australia's network between 2005 -09, an average of 84 per year.⁶⁶⁰ As Powercor Australia's conductor population becomes older, the risk of conductor failures is expected to increase.

Conductor failures can arise due to a number of reasons including lightning strikes, conductor annealing, wind induced conductor vibration or a combination of corrosion and localised heating. These failures usually result from gradual deterioration caused by the combined effects of corrosion load and fault currents and external forces such as wind, rain and lightning. Climate change modelling indicates that both the frequency and intensity of extreme events is likely to increase over the next 40 years and the general increase in temperatures and decrease in rainfall is likely to make the consequence of failure (e.g. bushfire) more significant over this period.⁶⁶¹ The older the conductor population, the more deteriorated the conductor and the more susceptible the conductor are to failures.

The potential impacts of conductor failure (bushfire and public safety) are well known. The expected general increase in temperatures and decrease in rainfall over the next 40 years make the consequence of conductor failure more significant over this period.⁶⁶²

In the past, conductor replacement has been largely as a result of network augmentation, with some replacement based on condition (i.e. replacement of localised sections of conductor that have a history of failing or signs of deterioration sufficient to justify taking the conductor out of service).⁶⁶³ The volume of conductor replaced through these processes has been relatively small.⁶⁶⁴

As Powercor Australia's conductor population ages, the current rate of replacement will not be sufficient to manage the risk of conductor failure going forward. In 2011 Powercor Australia is proposing to commence a program of works to replace high voltage overhead conductor installed before 1971 over a 40 year period.⁶⁶⁵ The majority of conductor that was installed prior to 1971 is nearing the end of its expected service life.⁶⁶⁶

Powercor Australia forecast capex of \$20 million per year in the next regulatory control period for its enhanced conductor replacement program. Powercor Australia developed this forecast as follows:

Assuming a nominal service life of 50 years for conductors in coastal areas and 80 years for all other areas, Powercor Australia conducted analysis which suggested that, on average, about 660km of lines would be identified for replacement each year.

⁶⁶⁰ Document titled 'PAL 150 Overhead Line Replacement' (provided to the AER by email on 26 February 2010),

p1. ⁶⁶¹ See the climate change modelling prepared by Maunsell, Climate Change Impact Assessment on Powercor Australia for the 2011-15 EDPR, 30 September 2009 (Attachment P0016 to the Initial Regulatory Proposal). ⁶⁶² See the climate change modelling prepared by Maunsell, Climate Change Impact Assessment on Powercor

Australia for the 2011-15 EDPR, 30 September 2009 (Attachment P0016 to the Initial Regulatory Proposal). ⁶⁶³ Document titled 'PAL 150 Overhead Line Replacement' (provided to the AER by email on 26 February 2010),

p1. 664 Document titled 'PAL 150 Overhead Line Replacement' (provided to the AER by email on 26 February 2010),

p1. 665 Document titled 'PAL 150 Overhead Line Replacement' (provided to the AER by email on 26 February 2010),

p1. 666 The conductor installed before 1971 was installed between the early 1950s and mid 1960s. Document titled 'PAL 150 Overhead Line Replacement' (provided to the AER on 26 February 2010), pp2-3.

- Based on a representative sample of conductor replacement projects undertaken in 2009, Powercor Australia estimated that replacing 660 kilometres of line in a staged program would cost, on average, approximately \$27 million.
- On the basis that there would likely be some other reasons why conductors would need to be replaced (such as augmentations of capacity and line relocations), Powercor Australia considered it prudent to allow for replacement of less than 660 kilometres of line through the conductor replacement program to account for synergies between its conductor replacement program and its other capex programs. Specifically, Powercor Australia assumed an average 484 kilometres of conductors would be replaced under the program each year in the next regulatory control period, at a cost of \$20 million per annum.

The program will prioritise the 38 towns identified by the Victorian Government as high risk fire towns, as well as conductor exposed to corrosive salt in coastal conditions.

Alternative options to the replacement of overhead conductor include undergrounding, which is prohibitively expensive, or ongoing maintenance and repair of damaged conductors. The latter includes significant costs for the management of affected customers and liability issues. Powercor Australia's approach is intended to optimise the reasonable spread and mix of costs of on-going maintenance and capital investment for replacement.⁶⁶⁷ The risk associated with not implementing the proposed replacement program is that the increasing number of deteriorated conductors that require replacement will lead to a potentially unmanageable conductor replacement program in future. This would result in untenably high total (opex and capex) costs.

9.9.1.2 Zone substation replacement

Powercor Australia forecast its capex required for zone substation replacement in the next regulatory control period using a CBRM model.

The CBRM methodology was developed and supplied to Powercor Australia by EA Technology. It provides a systematic framework to quantify the current or future condition, performance and risk of assets so that the need for replacement or refurbishment works can be identified. The CBRM model determines the probability of asset failure based, generally, on a 'health index' (HI). As the probability of failure increases the HI increases.

On 26 February 2010, Powercor Australia provided to the AER by email:

- a Memo from EA Technology which confirmed the appropriateness of the inputs used in the CBRM model; and
- material program templates in respect of function code 157 (which relates to zone substation replacement capex). This included templates relating to transformer replacement, transformer refurbishments and circuit breaker replacement (66kV and 22kV).

⁶⁶⁷ Document titled 'PAL 150 Overhead Line Replacement' (provided to the AER by email on 26 February 2010), p1.

9.9.1.3 Zone substation secondary replacements

Secondary equipment has an important role to ensure that the reliability of the network is always at its optimal condition. In its Initial Regulatory Proposal, Powercor Australia proposed zone substation secondary replacements in accordance with its RCM methodology. This methodology is generally applied to routine replacement expenditure, taking into account the asset age, condition and operating environment.

Subsequent to the Initial Regulatory Proposal, Powercor Australia provided to the AER material program templates for all zone substation secondary replacement activity.⁶⁶⁸

One of the more significant programs under this category of expenditure is relay replacement.⁶⁶⁹

9.9.1.4 Reliability replacement

Reliability replacement relates to work to address worst served customers. Subsequent to the Initial Regulatory Proposal, Powercor Australia provided details of its reliability replacement programs, including works to address:⁶⁷⁰

- the worst performing 22kV feeders;
- 22kV feeders serving worst served customers;
- dead spots on 66kV lines;
- the worst performing 66kV lines; and
- asset related issues that are not addressed through existing fault follow up processes.

9.9.2 AER's Draft Determination

The AER commented in its Draft Determination that, in previous regulatory proposals, DNSPs used 'black boxed proprietary' models and the AER was unable to assess the underlying assumptions within, or confirm the outputs of, these models.⁶⁷¹

To assist it to assess DNSPs' reliability and maintained capital expenditure proposals, in September 2009, the AER engaged Nuttall Consulting to develop the Repex Model.⁶⁷² The Repex Model uses age as a proxy for the many factors that drive individual asset replacements.⁶⁷³

The Repex Model assumes that recent historic replacement levels are reflective of the prudent and efficient management of the asset base⁶⁷⁴ and *'was ... calibrated so that it reflected historical levels and costs*⁶⁷⁵.

In its Draft Determination, the AER used the Repex Model forecasts:⁶⁷⁶

⁶⁶⁸ Each of the material program templates under function code 156 provided to the AER by email on 26 February 2010.

⁶⁹ Document titled 'PAL Ageing_Unreliability Relay Replacement', provided to the AER by email on 26 February 2010.

 $^{^{670}}$ See templates relating to function code 172, provided to the AER on 3 March 2010.

⁶⁷¹ AER, Draft Determination, p339.

⁶⁷² AER, Draft Determination, p339.

⁶⁷³ Nuttall Consulting, Report – Capital Expenditure, 4 June 2010, p29.

⁶⁷⁴ Nuttall Consulting, Report – Capital Expenditure, 4 June 2010, p29.

⁶⁷⁵ AER, Draft Determination, p339.

⁶⁷⁶ AER, Draft Determination, pp338-9.

- as a check on the DNSPs' proposed reliability and quality maintained expenditure; and
- in a number of the above categories of reliability and quality maintained expenditure, as a substitute forecast for the proposed forecast.⁶⁷⁷

The AER raised concerns with, and reduced the allowance for, the following items of reliability and quality maintained expenditure:⁶⁷⁸

- conductor replacement program;
- zone substation plant replacement;
- zone substation secondary systems replacement;
- overhead and underground line replacement;
- HV and LV switch replacement; and
- reliability replacement.

The AER's reasoning behind the rejection of the proposed reliability and quality maintained capex in respect of some of the more significant of these programs is discussed below.

9.9.2.1 Conductor replacement program

The AER recognised that the recent 2009 experience of bushfires in Victoria demonstrates that a case can be made for enhanced expenditure on conductor replacement and historical expenditure alone is unlikely to be the best guide to the efficient level of capex.⁶⁷⁹

However, the AER reduced Powercor Australia's proposed expenditure in the next regulatory period by \$62.3 million (or around 60 per cent).⁶⁸⁰ While the description appearing in the AER's Draft Determination is somewhat unclear,⁶⁸¹ the calculations provided to Powercor Australia show that, in determining the amount to be substituted for Powercor Australia's forecasts, the AER:⁶⁸²

- used the estimated quantity of conductor replacement reflected in Powercor Australia's Initial Regulatory Proposal;
- applied a unit cost of \$20.60 (rather than the rate of \$40.60 proposed by Powercor Australia); and
- then reduced the resultant total by a further 20 per cent.

The AER indicated in its Draft Determination that it applied an average unit costs rate rather than Powercor Australia's rate because it *'considered the proposed unit costs to be on the high side.*⁶⁸³

 ⁶⁷⁷ Zone substation plant replacement, zone substation secondary systems replacement and HV switch replacement.
 ⁶⁷⁸ AER, Draft Determination, pp356-66.

⁶⁷⁹ AER, Draft Determination, p358.

⁶⁸⁰ AER, Draft Determination, p366.

⁶⁸¹ AER, Draft Determination, p358.

⁶⁸² AER, 'Conductor model – PowerCor', provided to Powercor Australia by the AER on 7 June 2010.

⁶⁸³ AER, Draft Determination, p358.

It appears that the AER reduced the forecast for the program by 20 per cent on the basis that the AER believed that Powercor Australia '*will be able to achieve 80 per cent accuracy*' in targeting the conductors to be replaced to address bushfire risk.⁶⁸⁴

9.9.2.2 Zone substation replacement

The AER agreed with Nuttall Consulting that Powercor Australia's CBRM forecast does not reflect Powercor Australia's future replacement needs.⁶⁸⁵ The AER indicated (references excluded) that:⁶⁸⁶

'[the CBRM] modelling exercise is undertaken principally to support the regulatory proposal but, in practice more detailed review and testing of the assets will occur prior to any replacements being approved.'

Nuttall Consulting also raised concerns with the inputs and assumptions of the CBRM. Specifically, Nuttall Consulting did not accept the following:⁶⁸⁷

- the current HI of the transformers, which it indicated may not be consistent with the results of Powercor Australia's polymerization test on the condition of transformers;
- the assets life assumption in respect of circuit breakers, the derivation of which it indicated is not clear; and
- the international failure probability rates for transformers and circuit breakers, which it indicated may not be consistent with Powercor Australia's historical data.

In respect of circuit breakers, Nuttall Consulting noted that it is not clear how Powercor Australia has derived the number of replacements from the model outputs.⁶⁸⁸

To demonstrate the suitability of the CBRM to forecasting zone substation plant replacement in the next regulatory control period, Nuttall Consulting indicated Powercor Australia would require:⁶⁸⁹

'a far more substantial and quantitative analysis... [including] network level and sample asset level analysis that shows that the number of failures, probability of failure, the aging relationship, and the consequences, derived through the model are reasonable unbiased estimates of the replacement needs. Such an evaluation would need to take into account Powercor's historical information, including failures statistics, asset condition monitoring results and risk mitigation measures.'

Nuttall Consulting recommended an allowance based on average expenditure over 2006-08, with an increase based on the Repex Model.⁶⁹⁰

⁶⁸⁴ AER, Draft Determination, p358.

⁶⁸⁵ AER, Draft Determination, p360.

⁶⁸⁶ AER, Draft Determination, p360.

⁶⁸⁷ Nuttall Consulting, Report – Capital Expenditure, 4 June 2010, pp189-90; AER, Draft Determination, p360.

⁶⁸⁸ Nuttall Consulting, Report – Capital Expenditure, 4 June 2010, p190.

⁶⁸⁹ Nuttall Consulting, Report – Capital Expenditure, 4 June 2010, p191.

⁶⁹⁰ Nuttall Consulting, Report – Capital Expenditure, 4 June 2010, pp191 and 205.

9.9.2.3 Zone substation secondary systems replacement

The AER was not satisfied that the forecast expenditure for the zone substation secondary systems replacement reasonably reflects the capex criteria.⁶⁹¹

The AER raised concerns in respect of the projected costs of the replacement of aged relays (which constituted 8 per cent of the reliability and quality maintained expenditure on zone substation secondary systems replacements forecast in the Initial Regulatory Proposal).⁶⁹² The AER indicated that while the volume of the relays replaced is expected to decline in the next regulatory control period, the expenditure proposed by Powercor Australia did not.⁶⁹³

Regarding the current and proposed programs more generally, the AER indicated that: 694

- Powercor Australia has not provided sufficient cost benefit analysis in respect of the programs;
- the risks appear to have existed in the current regulatory control period and Powercor Australia has not demonstrated why it cannot manage the associated risks within the current level of expenditure and existing practices as achieved in the current regulatory control period; and
- Powercor Australia has not adequately demonstrated how its asset management plans or engineering judgment have been reflected in the expenditure forecasts.

The AER adopted Nuttall Consulting's recommended allowance based on average expenditure over 2006-08, with an increase based on the Repex Model.⁶⁹⁵

9.9.2.4 Reliability replacement

The AER rejected Powercor Australia's proposed reliability expenditure in its entirety on the basis that:⁶⁹⁶

- Powercor Australia has not provided sufficient cost benefit analysis in respect of the proposed programs;
- the risks appear to have existed in the current regulatory control period and Powercor Australia has not demonstrated why it cannot manage the associated risks within the current level of expenditure and existing practices as achieved in the current regulatory control period; and
- Powercor Australia has not adequately demonstrated how its engineering judgment has been reflected in the expenditure forecasts.

The AER endorsed Nuttall Consulting's conclusion that:⁶⁹⁷

'as expenditure is not captured to this activity code prior to 2009, it is not clear how similar works have been allocated historically. However, assuming that

⁶⁹¹ AER, Draft Determination, pp361-2.

⁶⁹² AER, Draft Determination, p361; Nuttall Consulting, Report – Capital Expenditure, 4 June 2010, p192.

⁶⁹³ AER, Draft Determination, p361.

⁶⁹⁴ AER, Draft Determination, pp361-2.

⁶⁹⁵ Nuttall Consulting, Report – Capital Expenditure, 4 June 2010, p205.

⁶⁹⁶ AER, Draft Determination, p365.

⁶⁹⁷ Nuttall Consulting, Report – Capital Expenditure, 4 June 2010, p197; AER, Draft Determination, p365.

similar works in the current period have been captured in the other RQM activity codes, we consider that there should already be some allowance for these proposed works in our suggested forecasts for other activity codes, which are predominantly based upon an extrapolation of the 2006-08 costs.'

9.9.3 Powercor Australia response to the AER's Draft Determination

Powercor Australia maintains that its reliability and quality maintained capex forecasts in the Initial Regulatory Proposal reasonably reflect the capex criteria. However, for the purposes of this Revised Regulatory Proposal, Powercor Australia has adopted the amounts in the AER's Draft Determination in respect of the following reliability and quality maintained programs:

- overhead and underground line replacement; and
- HV and LV switch replacement.

Powercor Australia has provided in this Revised Regulatory Proposal additional details regarding key reliability and quality maintained capex programs that it maintains as originally proposed for the next regulatory control period.

Powercor Australia does not consider that the Repex Model is capable of forecasting reliability and quality maintained capex that reasonably reflects the capex criteria. However, even if the calibrated Repex Model is assumed to produce reasonable forecasts, the independent expert, PB, found that the Repex Model supports Powercor Australia's forecasts. Removing the two major drivers of the increase in Powercor Australia's forecast in the next regulatory control period (the conductor replacement and reliability programs), which PB considered should be evaluated as step change increases, PB concluded that the variation between the calibrated Repex Model and Powercor Australia's forecasts did not justify an adjustment to Powercor Australia's proposed forecast.

Powercor Australia observes, for completeness, that it is not relying on 'black box' forecasting models to forecast reliability and quality maintained capex in the current price review process and did not rely on such models in the 2006-10 price review process before the ESCV. In the 2006-10 price review process, Powercor Australia utilised the proprietary model used by the ORG in the ORG's 2001-05 EDPR. In the current process, rather than rely on a 'black box' model, Powercor Australia has used transparent, bottom-up build processes to produce efficient and prudent reliability and quality maintained forecasts for the next regulatory control period. By contrast, Powercor Australia notes that the AER's Repex Model is a 'black box' proprietary model.⁶⁹⁸

9.9.3.1 The AER's Repex Model and its application in the Draft Determination

Powercor Australia has significant concerns that the Repex Model, including the way in which it was used in the Draft Determination, will not produce forecasts of reliability and quality maintained capex for 2011-15 that reasonably reflect the capex criteria.

Following the release of the AER's Draft Determination, Powercor Australia engaged PB to consider the AER's approach to assessing Powercor Australia's reliability and

⁶⁹⁸ PB, Repex Model Review, July 2010 (Attachment 171 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p11.

quality maintained capex forecasts for the next regulatory control period.⁶⁹⁹ Powercor Australia also invited EA Technology to comment on the AER's Draft Determination and the underlying Nuttall Consulting report.⁷⁰⁰

As discussed in the 'General issues' section above, it is not appropriate for the AER to use actual data from 2006-08 to model historical expenditure. The AER should also be using actual expenditure data from 2009. Regardless, it is not appropriate to calibrate the Repex Model using historic expenditure. This equates to adopting a 'revealed cost' approach, which as noted in the 'General issues' section above, is not a reasonable basis on which to prepare forecasts of capex for 2011-15 that reasonably reflect the capex criteria. As PB concludes in respect of its review of the Repex Model:⁷⁰¹

'...the AER's approach assumes that the asset condition and associated business risks over the period from 2006 to 2008 are not materially different to those expected over the next regulatory control period. In the absence of an ex-post review of the drivers of actual replacement expenditure, PB considers that limited conclusions can be drawn based on historical levels of expenditure, particularly over relatively short periods.'

These concerns were shared by EA Technology.⁷⁰² Further, EA Technology observed that the Repex Model 'uses coarser granularity than the Ofgem model' (on which it is based).⁷⁰³ Specifically, 'distribution assets are broken down into 11 categories, compared with 68 asset classes used by Ofgem'.⁷⁰⁴

PB also concluded that, as the Repex Model does not take account of replacement drivers other than asset age, the model is unlikely to produce reasonable forecasts of capex that reflect the circumstances of DNSPs in the next regulatory control period.⁷⁰⁵ PB stated:⁷⁰⁶

'The substitute forecasts may not be sufficient to address the specific needs and risks identified in the businesses' submitted AMPs, reflecting the assessed asset condition. Given that these needs include factors other than age, it is not clear how the Repex model is able to estimate the risks associated with replacement drivers that are not related to time based deterioration (e.g. technical obsolescence, changes in statutory obligations, parts availability, etc.) or do not fit the assumed failure profile (such as multi-modal failure profiles due to differing root causes).'

⁶⁹⁹ PB, Repex Model Review, July 2010 (Attachment 171 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal).

⁷⁰⁰ EA Technology, Commentary on Victorian Electricity Distribution Network Service Providers Distribution Determination 2011-15 (Draft Decision) June 2010, July 2010 (Attachment 163 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal).

⁷⁰¹ PB, Repex Model Review, July 2010 (Attachment 171 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), pvi.

⁷⁰² EA Technology, Commentary on Victorian Electricity Distribution Network Service Providers Distribution Determination 2011-15 (Draft Decision) June 2010, July 2010 (Attachment 163 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p4.

⁷⁰³ EA Technology, Commentary on Victorian Electricity Distribution Network Service Providers Distribution Determination 2011-15 (Draft Decision) June 2010, July 2010 (Attachment 163 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p4.

⁷⁰⁴ EA Technology, Commentary on Victorian Electricity Distribution Network Service Providers Distribution Determination 2011-15 (Draft Decision) June 2010, July 2010 (Attachment 163 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p4.

⁷⁰⁵ PB, Repex Model Review, July 2010 (Attachment 171 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p13.

⁷⁰⁶ PB, Repex Model Review, July 2010 (Attachment 171 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p13.

In addition to raising specific concerns with the Repex Model itself, PB raised concerns with three aspects of the approach taken to the review by Nuttall Consulting and the AER.⁷⁰⁷ These were:

- the reasons for rejecting the DNSPs' proposals;
- the determination of substitute forecasts; and
- an inconsistent application of the Repex Model findings.

Each of these matters is discussed in turn below.

Regarding the reasons for rejecting the DNSPs' proposals, PB summarised that DNSP proposals were rejected on the basis of benchmarking analysis, and a high level assessment of the historical variation between the regulatory allowance and the actual expenditure over the previous and current regulatory control periods.⁷⁰⁸

PB observed that it was unusual that, in circumstances where Nuttall Consulting accepted that the plans proposed by the DNSPs' were generally reasonable and '*at an internal level to identify likely future network needs, work levels and associated expenditure*', Nuttall Consulting formed the view that these plans were not suitable for preparing regulatory forecasts.⁷⁰⁹

PB noted that without a fundamental assessment of the needs and risks advanced in the asset management plans and the forecasting approach taken by the DNSPs, and in the absence of any third party review of the Repex Model, a misalignment between results from the Repex Model and the models used by the DNSPs does not necessarily demonstrate that the higher value is unreasonable, imprudent or inefficient.⁷¹⁰ PB concluded that:⁷¹¹

'On the basis that there appears to have been little analysis of the fundamental needs set out in the documentation supporting the businesses' expenditure proposals, and that the accuracy of the Repex model has neither been verified by a third party or demonstrated through calibration at a detailed level, PB considers that Nuttall's dismissal of the expenditure proposal due, in a large part, to non-alignment with the Repex model results does not reflect the specific risks faced by the business over the next regulatory control period, and does not reflect a reasonable benchmark for the acceptance/rejection of the businesses proposal.'

In respect of the AER's use of the Repex Model to determine substitute forecasts, PB raised concerns that the AER's approach did not comply with the Rules.⁷¹² Specifically, PB considered that:⁷¹³

• the substitute forecast was not based on the regulatory proposal, but rather was based on the independently developed Repex Model results; and

⁷⁰⁷ PB, Repex Model Review, July 2010 (Attachment 171 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), pp10-6.

⁷⁰⁸ PB, Repex Model Review, July 2010 (Attachment 171 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p10.

⁷⁰⁹ PB, Repex Model Review, July 2010 (Attachment 171 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p10-1.

⁷¹⁰ PB, Repex Model Review, July 2010 (Attachment 171 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p11.

⁷¹¹ PB, Repex Model Review, July 2010 (Attachment 171 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p12.

⁷¹² PB, Repex Model Review, July 2010 (Attachment 171 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), pp12-3.

⁷¹³ PB, Repex Model Review, July 2010 (Attachment 171 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), pp12-3.

• no attempt has been made to demonstrate that the Repex Model adjusts forecasts only to the minimum extent necessary to achieve the capex objectives or that the substitute forecast is sufficient to meet the expenditure needs of the business over the next regulatory control period. Rather, Nuttall Consulting has proposed that the DNSPs should '*demonstrate why they cannot manage the overall risks within the overall recommendations*'.

Finally, PB observed that, to determine whether a DNSP's forecast is accepted or not, Nuttall Consulting has generally:⁷¹⁴

- adopted a DNSP's proposal at the activity code level where the proposed forecast is close to or lower than the Repex Model or consistent with the 2006-08 average expenditure; and
- adopted the Repex Model forecast at the activity code level in cases where the DNSP's forecast is above the Repex Model.

PB raised three concerns with this approach by Nuttall Consulting to using the results of the Repex Model.

First, PB noted its understanding that, given the limited calibration of the Repex Model at a detailed level, the Repex Model is intended to produce a reasonable estimate of the future replacement requirements only at the total expenditure level.⁷¹⁵ Therefore, PB concluded that *'using Repex model forecasts at the activity code level as an acceptance/rejection criterion is inappropriate'*.⁷¹⁶ PB considered that the wide variation (-63 per cent to +105 per cent) in the accepted and rejected forecasts across the reliability and quality maintained categories *'appears to be demonstrative of the limited confidence that can be placed in the Repex model forecasts at this level'*.⁷¹⁷ PB further noted that Nuttall Consulting made no attempt to compare the proposed reliability and quality maintained expenditure with the total expenditure calculated by the Repex Model.⁷¹⁸

Second, PB noted that 'considerable discretion has been exercised with regard to selection of a substitute forecast based on the 2006-2008 average, the Repex model results, or the business' forecast'.⁷¹⁹

Third, PB highlighted that Nuttall Consulting's inconsistent application of the substitute forecasts determined through the Repex Model gives rise to a systematic underestimation of the total substitute forecasts of reliability and quality maintained capex.⁷²⁰

Nuttall Consulting's approach of accepting the DNSP's forecast at the activity level where they are below the Repex Model forecast at the activity level and substituting the Repex Model forecast where the DNSP's forecast is higher produces a substitute for the total replacement forecast that is materially below both the forecasts proposed

⁷¹⁴ PB, Repex Model Review, July 2010 (Attachment 171 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p9. PB noted that there were instances where the stated approach was not applied consistently: PB, Repex Model Review, July 2010 (Attachment 171 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), pp14-5.

⁷¹⁵ PB, Repex Model Review, July 2010 (Attachment 171 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p13.

⁷¹⁶ PB, Repex Model Review, July 2010 (Attachment 171 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), piii.

⁷¹⁷ PB, Repex Model Review, July 2010 (Attachment 171 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p21.

⁷¹⁸ PB, Repex Model Review, July 2010 (Attachment 171 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p14.

 ⁷¹⁹ PB, Repex Model Review, July 2010 (Attachment 171 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), piii.
 ⁷²⁰ PB, Repex Model Review, July 2010 (Attachment 171 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p14.

by Powercor Australia and the total replacement forecast predicted by the calibrated Repex Model. This is shown in Table 9.7 below.

Activity Code	Nuttall Consulting View	Powercor Proposed	Calibrated Repex Model	Nuttall Recommended
Cross Arm	Accepted	40.9	84.0	40.9
Conductor Replacement Program	Rejected – no allowance	125.7	-	-
Fault Related	Accepted	68.5	94.8	68.5
HV Fuse Unit & Surge Diverter	Accepted	14.5	20.1	14.5
HV Switch	Rejected – allowance based upon average 2006-2008, with increase based upon Repex model findings	6.8	2.2	2.2
OH/UG Line	Rejected – allowance based upon average 2006-2008, with increase based upon Repex model findings	19.6	10.0	10.0
Pole	Accepted	3.7	6.1	3.7
Pole	Accepted	69.0	73.3	69.0
Reliability Improvement	Rejected – no allowance	9.5	0.0	0.0
Services	Accepted	16.1	8.6	16.1
Transformer	Accepted	6.3	11.2	6.3
Zone Substation Plant	Rejected – allowance based upon average 2006-2008, with increase based upon Repex model findings	44.1	24.4	24.4
Zone Substation Secondary Systems	Rejected – allowance based upon average 2006-2008, with increase based upon Repex model findings	39.2	14.4	14.4
Total		464.1	349.1	270.1
	Rejected categories (no allowance)	(135.2)	-	_
Total	(ex rejected categories)	328.8	349.1	270.1

Source: Nuttall Report p.205 & PB Analysis of AER Repex Powercor.xls

Table 9.7 PB summary of results (\$m 2010)⁷²¹

PB considered that, for the Repex Model to be considered a reasonable and unbiased estimator of the prudent and efficient replacement capex required by the DNSPs, both the total Repex Model forecast and the aggregate of the substitute forecasts should be closely aligned. PB further considered that the misalignment in the Repex Model total forecast and the aggregate of the substitute forecasts identified in Table 9.7 above could be due to:⁷²²

• an inherent bias in the analysis approach leading to an underestimate of the prudent and efficient level of reliability and quality maintained capex required by the DNSP;

⁷²¹ PB, Repex Model Review, July 2010 (Attachment 171 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p20.

⁷²² PB, Repex Model Review, July 2010 (Attachment 171 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p15.

- calibration errors in the Repex Model, meaning that the Repex Model does not represent a prudent and efficient substitute forecast, at least at an activity code level; and
- assumptions or simplifications in the replacement algorithms, categorisation or input data leading to unrealistic forecasts in some categories. In this case, PB noted that it is difficult to understand how the integrity and calibration of the Repex Model remains valid.

PB also noted that Nuttall Consulting's framework analysis:⁷²³

'places the risk of inaccuracy of the Repex model and the validity of its calibration on the businesses. Given that a \$691m reduction across the five businesses has been recommended by Nuttall on the basis of this approach, the accuracy of the Repex model represents a material risk to the Victorian business' ability to maintain reliability and quality of supply.'

PB concluded, therefore, that the Repex Model category forecasts should only be considered where the total replacement capex proposed by the DNSP is inconsistent with the model's total replacement capex forecast and where it can be transparently demonstrated that the activity code forecast is well calibrated to the DNSPs' asset base.⁷²⁴

In any event, even if the calibrated Repex Model is assumed to produce reasonable forecasts for the next regulatory control period, Powercor Australia observes that PB found that the Repex Model supports Powercor Australia's forecasts (excluding its step change conductor replacement and its reclassified reliability replacement programs).

After removing the conductor program and reliability replacement programs, PB found that Powercor Australia's proposed capex is approximately 6 per cent **lower** than the total expenditure forecast by the calibrated Repex Model.⁷²⁵ PB stated:⁷²⁶

'In PB's opinion a 6% variation between a 'top down' forecast modelled on asset age and a 'bottom-up' forecast taking into specific account ...asset condition, risk and obsolescence as identified in PAL's AMPs, is within the range of reasonable modelling expectations.'

Given that the Repex Model forecast is not materially different to the total forecast proposed by Powercor Australia, it was not clear to PB why the 'top-down' Repex Model forecast is adopted as a reasonable base over Powercor Australia's 'bottom-up' proposal.⁷²⁷ Accordingly, PB concluded that, on the assumption that the calibrated Repex Model is a reasonable and unbiased estimate of Powercor Australia's future total replacement capex:

• the submitted proposal, excluding the conductor replacement and reliability replacement programs, should be accepted as a reasonable baseline forecast of the replacement capex needs of Powercor Australia and no further reliance on the Repex Model is required; and

⁷²³ PB, Repex Model Review, July 2010 (Attachment 171 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p14.

⁷²⁴ PB, Repex Model Review, July 2010 (Attachment 171 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p15.

⁷²⁵ PB, Repex Model Review, July 2010 (Attachment 171 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p20.

⁷²⁶ PB, Repex Model Review, July 2010 (Attachment 171 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p21.

⁷²⁷ PB, Repex Model Review, July 2010 (Attachment 171 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p21.

• consistent with the intent of Nuttall Consulting's methodology, the two excluded programs (i.e. conductor replacement and reliability replacement) should be evaluated as step change increases on the basis of the fundamental need, risks and the consideration of alternative options.⁷²⁸

Powercor Australia submits that the AER need not rely on the Repex Model as its proposed reliability and quality maintained capex reasonably reflects the capex criteria. As discussed in greater detail below, the risks Powercor Australia anticipates will arise in the next regulatory control period justify the proposed capex.

In any event, as noted by PB, if the two major drivers of the increase in Powercor Australia's forecasts for the next regulatory control period are removed from the analysis and assessed as step change increases on the basis of the fundamental need, risks and the consideration of alternative options, the total forecast resulting from Nuttall Consulting's Repex Model is around six per cent higher than Powercor Australia's Initial Regulatory Proposal.⁷²⁹ Thus, if it is assumed that the Repex Model is a reasonable unbiased estimate of Powercor Australia's future total replacement expenditure, Powercor Australia's forecast excluding these step changes can be considered a reasonable forecast of the replacement needs of the business in the next regulatory control period.⁷³⁰

9.9.3.2 Impact of the AER's Draft Determination on opex

If the AER reduces Powercor Australia's forecast reliability and quality maintained capex as proposed in the Draft Determination, the AER should allow additional opex to ensure that Powercor Australia is able to meet the NEO.

Powercor Australia engaged the independent expert, SKM, to conduct a study of the expected magnitude of the opex increase due to the expected ageing of the network over the period 2011-15.⁷³¹

SKM modelled a range of scenarios, assuming:⁷³²

- the capex in Powercor Australia's Initial Regulatory Proposal was allowed;
- reductions in capex from Powercor Australia's Initial Regulatory Proposal equal to 10 per cent, 20 per cent, 30 per cent, 40 per cent and 50 per cent; and
- a reduction in capex consistent with the AER's Draft Determination.

Under each scenario, SKM indicated there would be an increase in age-related opex in the next regulatory control period.⁷³³ For instance, SKM found that, if Powercor Australia was allowed the capex amounts in the AER's Draft Determination, the

⁷²⁸ PB, Repex Model Review, July 2010 (Attachment 171 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), pp21-2.

⁷²⁹ PB, Repex Model Review, July 2010 (Attachment 171 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p21.

⁷³⁰ PB, Repex Model Review, July 2010 (Attachment 171 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p22.

⁷³¹ SKM, Impact of ageing assets on Powercor operating costs, 8 July 2010 (Attachment 138 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal).

⁷³² SKM, Impact of ageing assets on Powercor operating costs, 8 July 2010 (Attachment 138 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), pp17-23.

⁷³³ SKM, Impact of ageing assets on Powercor operating costs, 8 July 2010 (Attachment 138 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p4.

incremental increase in ageing of the network would require additional opex of \$6.04m over 2011-15.⁷³⁴

Adopting a conservative approach, however, Powercor Australia has not included an increase in opex in this Revised Regulatory Proposal to reflect an expected increase in age-related opex in the next regulatory control period.

9.9.3.3 Powercor Australia's proposed reliability and quality maintained programs

Powercor Australia has provided in the remainder of this section of the Revised Regulatory Proposal additional details regarding key reliability and quality maintained capex programs that it maintains as originally proposed for the next regulatory control period.

Conductor replacement program

Subsequent to the submission of the Initial Regulatory Proposal, Powercor Australia engaged PB to provide an independent review of the risk associated with its overhead conductor assets and an assessment of the effective and efficient level of investment to mitigate this risk over an extended planning horizon.⁷³⁵

PB identified an existing risk in terms of the likelihood and consequences of conductor failures and an increasing risk to Powercor Australia's network and the health and safety of communities due to an ageing conductor population.⁷³⁶ PB concluded that it is prudent and efficient to reduce the risk associated with conductor failures over the next 15 years and considered it prudent that Powercor Australia increase the level of conductor replacement.⁷³⁷

Powercor Australia's proposed conductor replacement program is intended to address this increasing risk. As noted in above, Powercor Australia is proposing an age-based approach, whereby it replaces conductors installed before 1971 over a 40 year period, targeting its program based on asset lives.

Powercor Australia submits an age-based approach to conductor replacement is prudent and efficient. Powercor Australia does not currently have a specific indicator of the condition or relative health of all sections of its overhead conductors. As noted by the independent expert, PB, this is not unusual because:⁷³⁸

- the overhead conductor asset categories are linear (i.e. there are no discrete sites to visit such as a zone substation, or even a pole);
- they cover an extensive route length that traverses a mixture of business, privately owned and public access locations; and

⁷³⁴ SKM, Impact of ageing assets on Powercor operating costs, 8 July 2010 (Attachment 138 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p23.

 ⁷³⁵ PB, Overhead conductor replacement investment strategy, May 2010 (Attachment 252 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p4.
 ⁷³⁶ PB, Overhead conductor replacement investment strategy, May 2010 (Attachment 252 to this Revised

⁷³⁰ PB, Overhead conductor replacement investment strategy, May 2010 (Attachment 252 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), pp1 and 48.

⁷³⁷ PB, Overhead conductor replacement investment strategy, May 2010 (Attachment 252 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), pp48-9.

⁷³⁸ PB, Overhead conductor replacement investment strategy, May 2010 (Attachment 252 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p14.

• there is limited information available at present from sampled predictive tests through which a technically accurate condition assessment of the wider population can be made.

As recognised by PB, expected asset life is an appropriate proxy for condition given the principle that overhead conductors exhibit wear out characteristics associated with the gradual and combined effects of failure modes caused by matters including atmospheric and galvanic corrosion, electrical arcing, conductor annealing, wind induced vibration, mechanical wear and damage from lightning and bird strikes, etc.⁷³⁹

As detailed above, Powercor Australia has proposed expenditure of \$20 million per annum over the next regulatory control period for the conductor replacement program. This level of expenditure is supported by PB. PB concluded that, of the options considered, an investment of \$20 million per annum maximises the net present value in 14 of the 15 sensitivity cases it examined.⁷⁴⁰

Regarding the AER's Draft Determination, Powercor Australia maintains that the average unit cost of \$40.60 reflected in its Initial Regulatory Proposal is efficient. Subsequent to the submission of the Initial Regulatory Proposal, Powercor Australia's conductor replacement unit costs (which were used to develop the average unit cost of \$40.60⁷⁴¹) were reviewed by the independent expert, PB. PB found that Powercor Australia's costs are reasonable and fall within the bounds of typical industry values.⁷⁴²

Other than to note that it is 'an average unit cost for conductors', the AER did not provide details of the calculations of the unit cost of \$20.60 it has used to determine its capex allowance for the conductor replacement program. The AER also did not produce evidence to show that the cost is a reasonable estimate of the costs that Powercor Australia will likely face in the next regulatory control period.⁷⁴³ Given the unit cost is significantly lower than the average cost identified by Powercor Australia, which is based on rates that PB found were reasonable, Powercor Australia submits that the AER's unit cost assumptions do not reflect a realistic expectation of the conductor replacement costs Powercor Australia will face in the next regulatory control period. These unit cost assumptions should therefore not be used by the AER to determine Powercor Australia's replacement expenditure in the next regulatory control period in the AER's Final Determination.

Powercor Australia observes that the unit rates included in other DNSPs' regulatory proposals may not reflect the same activities that are reflected in Powercor Australia's unit rates. For example, the unit rates proposed by Powercor Australia provide for the necessary replacement of a proportion of poles and cross-arms associated with the replacement of overhead conductor. Powercor Australia understands that other Victorian DNSPs' proposals may include these costs elsewhere. The AER must take care to ensure that it is comparing like with like before imposing on Powercor Australia a unit cost of half of that proposed.

⁷³⁹ PB, Overhead conductor replacement investment strategy, May 2010 (Attachment 252 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p14.

⁷⁴⁰ PB, Overhead conductor replacement investment strategy, May 2010 (Attachment 252 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p47.

⁷⁴¹ Document titled 'PAL 150 Overhead Line Replacement' (provided to the AER on 26 February 2010), p2.

⁷⁴² PB, Overhead conductor replacement investment strategy, May 2010 (Attachment 252 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p32.

⁷⁴³ AER, Draft Determination, p358.

The AER also does not provide adequate justification for its reduction of the total allowance by 20 per cent. A mere assertion that Powercor Australia will only be able to achieve 80 per cent accuracy in targeting the conductors to be replaced to address bushfire risk is not a valid basis for reducing the allowed expenditure. The AER's proposed reduction would result in a proportionate reduction in the conductors replaced by the program but the accuracy with which Powercor Australia is able to target the program would remain unchanged. Any practical impediments to accurately targeting conductors at risk of failure should be reflected in the allowed expenditure. This is because a prudent and efficient operator may accept a degree of inaccuracy in a particular program where the costs of ensuring that the program is targeted with 100 per cent accuracy would outweigh the benefits of the improved accuracy. Powercor Australia submits that an age-based approach to conductor replacement, where there is no specific indicator of the condition of all sections of its overhead conductors is both prudent and efficient.

Powercor Australia notes that if the AER reduces the capex allowed for this program away from the amount proposed by Powercor Australia, Powercor Australia will necessarily reduce the scope of the program by reducing the number of replacements it makes in the next regulatory control period. If Powercor Australia then seeks to mitigate the increasing risks of failure (and associated bushfire starts) as a result of the ageing of its overhead conductors in future, rather than investing in conductor replacement smoothly over time under its proposed program, Powercor Australia will be required to abruptly and significantly increase its investment in conductor replacement. Powercor Australia considers that such a deferral of the program will lead to a potentially unmanageable conductor replacement program in future, which would result in untenably high total (opex and capex) costs.

Zone substation replacement

Since lodging the Initial Regulatory Proposal, Powercor Australia has identified additional zone substation replacement expenditure that will be required in the next regulatory control period. When a detailed scoping of the replacement works at the Sunshine zone substation were commenced in late 2009, it was discovered that a complete redevelopment would be more efficient than the partial redevelopment contemplated in the Initial Regulatory Proposal. As demonstrated in the material program template,⁷⁴⁴ Sunshine zone substation is at the end of its life, at risk of imminent failure and thus posing risks to the health and safety of personnel. Preliminary feasibility work has begun and the new transformers for the zone substation have been included in the quantity of units currently out to tender. Powercor Australia has included the costs of this redevelopment in this Revised Regulatory Proposal, instead of the replacement works initially proposed.

Regarding the remainder of the zone substation replacement proposed in the Initial Regulatory Proposal, Powercor Australia maintains that the CBRM model is an appropriate tool for forecasting zone substation replacement capex in the next regulatory control period.

The inputs and assumptions used in the CBRM model are reasonable. Pursuant to the AER's Draft Determination, Powercor Australia invited EA Technology to comment

⁷⁴⁴ Included in Attachment 164 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal.

on the Draft Determination and Nuttall Consulting's report.⁷⁴⁵ While the report by EA Technology primarily discusses the application of the CBRM methodology by CitiPower, as noted by EA Technology, the same methodology is applied by Powercor Australia to transformer and switchgear assets.⁷⁴⁶

Regarding Nuttall Consulting's rejection of the current HI of transformers,⁷⁴⁷ EA Technology stated that:⁷⁴⁸

'[B]y any individual measure, the transformer might appear to have some service life remaining. It is only by considering all relevant factors (age, observed condition, measured condition, expected service lift, ageing rate, manufacturer type history, etc) that an accurate indication of remaining life can be obtained.'

That is, the HIs in the CBRM model (which are determined by combining multiple measures of condition) are representative of the condition of the transformer, whereas a single measure (such as the results of Powercor Australia's polymerization test) is not.

For instance, taking the example of a CitiPower transformer that Nuttall Consulting discussed in its report,⁷⁴⁹ EA Technology noted that the operating conditions of that unit are a particularly important consideration. The fact that the transformer is on hot standby (no load) and continues to gas highlights the relevance of considering operating conditions in conjunction with test results to arrive at a final HI.⁷⁵⁰

Further, EA Technology highlighted the importance of combining objective test data with subjective assessment in order to arrive at a reliable forecast of remaining life. EA Technology stated:⁷⁵¹

'CBRM models use multiple sources of information to forecast remaining service life as reliably as possible. In addition to direct measurements to objectively measure asset condition, it benefits from subjective observations made by asset managers and field staff.

These observations are expressed as factors within the model to quantify subjective observations and apply them across large numbers of assets. In some cases, such as the example described above, these factors may well exert considerable influence over the predicted remaining life. In other cases, measured condition information will dominate. As with all CRBM factors, these are shown explicitly in the Calibration section of the model and can be inspected, challenged and modified if required.'

⁷⁴⁵ EA Technology, Commentary on Victorian Electricity Distribution Network Service Providers Distribution Determination 2011-15 (Draft Decision) June 2010, July 2010 (Attachment 163 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal).

⁷⁴⁶ EA Technology, Commentary on Victorian Electricity Distribution Network Service Providers Distribution Determination 2011-15 (Draft Decision) June 2010, July 2010 (Attachment 163 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p2.

⁷⁴⁷ Nuttall Consulting, Report – Capital Expenditure, 4 June 2010, pp189-90.

⁷⁴⁸ EA Technology, Commentary on Victorian Electricity Distribution Network Service Providers Distribution Determination 2011-15 (Draft Decision) June 2010, July 2010 (Attachment 163 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p3.

⁷⁴⁹ Nuttall Consulting, Report – Capital Expenditure, 4 June 2010, p100.

⁷⁵⁰ EA Technology, Commentary on Victorian Electricity Distribution Network Service Providers Distribution Determination 2011-15 (Draft Decision) June 2010, July 2010 (Attachment 163 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p3.

Proposal), p3. ⁷⁵¹ EA Technology, Commentary on Victorian Electricity Distribution Network Service Providers Distribution Determination 2011-15 (Draft Decision) June 2010, July 2010 (Attachment 163 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p4.

Powercor Australia observes that its CBRM model spreadsheets were provided to the AER on 27 January 2010.

In respect of Nuttall Consulting's suggestion that the transformer failure rates in the CBRM model are too high,⁷⁵² EA Technology stated that the failure rates are '*many times below the average*'.⁷⁵³ EA Technology stated:⁷⁵⁴

'The failure rate used for high voltage switchgear was 0.13% per annum. We are not aware of any internationally published failure rates against which to compare this figure. However, in EA Technology's experience the average failure rate for comparable assets in recent CBRM studies is 0.49%. The rate used by CitiPower is less than a third of this average rate.

For power transformers, the CIGRE International Survey on Failures in Large Power Transformers in Service concluded that the overall failure rate for power transformers with tapchangers not less than 20 years old was 1.5-2%. The higher figure is in line with EA Technology's experience of rates observed in previous CBRM studies for similar assets. The failure rate used in the CitiPower transformer model is 0.5%, i.e. between one quarter and one third of the published international rate.'

EA Technology drew the following general conclusions regarding CitiPower's (and thus Powercor Australia's) application of the CBRM model:⁷⁵⁵

'CitiPower have implemented a comprehensive, detailed and robust CBRM process to provide the high standard of information necessary to determine the most appropriate level of required investment. We therefore believe that the levels of investment identified using this process, based on the available information, are both prudent and justified. In our view, the proposed programme represents the lowest-cost investment plan to adequately manage the replacement of assets over the next regulatory control period.'

Powercor Australia also notes that the AER accepted the capex proposed by Energex using the CBRM methodology in its Queensland Final Determination.⁷⁵⁶ The expert engaged by the AER for the purposes of that review, PB, found that the processes and procedures Energex used for determining reliability and quality maintained expenditure (including the CBRM model) was reflective of good industry practice and its implementation should lead to a prudent and efficient outcome.⁷⁵⁷

⁷⁵² Nuttall Consulting, Report – Capital Expenditure, 4 June 2010, p190.

⁷⁵³ EA Technology, Commentary on Victorian Electricity Distribution Network Service Providers Distribution Determination 2011-15 (Draft Decision) June 2010, July 2010 (Attachment 163 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p2.

Proposal), p2. ⁷⁵⁴ EA Technology, Commentary on Victorian Electricity Distribution Network Service Providers Distribution Determination 2011-15 (Draft Decision) June 2010, July 2010 (Attachment 163 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p2.

⁷⁵⁵ EA Technology, Commentary on Victorian Electricity Distribution Network Service Providers Distribution Determination 2011-15 (Draft Decision) June 2010, July 2010 (Attachment 163 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p2.

 ⁷⁵⁶ AER, Queensland, Draft distribution determination 2010-11 to 2014-15, 25 November 2009, Appendices, p477 (Attachment 158 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal).
 ⁷⁵⁷ PD Provide CEVER CONTRACTOR (Control of the Control of the Center of th

⁷⁵⁷ PB, Review of ENERGEX regulatory proposal for the period July 2010 to June 2015, 2009 (Attachment 159 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p38.

The CBRM methodology is set out in Powercor Australia's Transformer and Switchgear Replacement Plan.⁷⁵⁸ Regarding Nuttall Consulting's suggestion that it is not clear how Powercor Australia has derived the number of circuit breaker replacements from the model outputs,⁷⁵⁹ Powercor Australia sets out, in Table 9.8 below, the CBRM model outputs, including the replacement year and the predicted HI at 2015 if the circuit breaker was left in service.

Item ID	Zone substation.	СВ Туре	Function	Replacement year	HI Y0 (2009)	HI at 2015
20001265	SU	LG1C	Bus CB	2012	7.59	10.12
20001243	SU	LG1C	SU002	2012	7.59	10.12
20001245	SU	LG1C	SU003	2012	7.59	10.12
20001247	SU	LG1C	SU004	2012	7.59	10.12
20001249	SU	LG1C	SU005	2012	7.59	10.12
20001251	SU	LG1C	SU008	2012	7.59	10.12
20001253	SU	LG1C	SU009	2012	7.59	10.12
20001255	SU	LG1C	SU010	2012	7.59	10.12
20001257	SU	LG1C	SU027	2012	7.59	10.12
20001259	SU	LG1C	SU097	2012	7.59	10.12
20001261	SU	LG1C	Trans CB	2012	7.59	10.12
20001263	SU	LG1C	Trans CB	2012	7.59	10.12
20000618	CRO	LG1C	CR0021	2013	6.60	9.18
20000619	CRO	LG1C	CR0022	2013	6.60	9.18
20000620	CRO	LG1C	CR0023	2013	6.60	9.18
20000621	CRO	LG1C	CR0031	2013	6.60	9.18
20000622	CRO	LG1C	CR0032	2013	6.60	9.18
20000623	CRO	LG1C	CR0033	2013	6.60	9.18
20000624	CRO	LG1C	CR0034	2013	6.60	9.18
20000757	GL	LG1C	Bus CB	2014 / 2015	6.60	8.8
20000749	GL	LG1C	GL025	2014 / 2015	6.60	8.8
20000750	GL	LG1C	GL011	2014 / 2015	6.60	8.8
20000751	GL	LG1C	GL012	2014 / 2015	6.60	8.8
20000752	GL	LG1C	GL021	2014 / 2015	6.60	8.8
20000753	GL	LG1C	GL022	2014 / 2015	6.60	8.8
20000754	GL	LG1C	GL023	2014 / 2015	6.60	8.8
20000755	GL	LG1C	GL024	2014 / 2015	6.60	8.8
20000756	GL	LG1C	Trans CB	2014 / 2015	6.60	8.8
20000758	GL	LG1C	Trans CB	2014 / 2015	6.60	8.8
20000962	MNA	LG1C	MNA021	2015	6.60	9.18
20000964	MNA	LG1C	MNA022	2015	6.60	9.18
20000966	MNA	LG1C	MNA024	2015	6.60	9.18
20000968	MNA	LG1C	MNA034	2015	6.60	9.18
20001002	NKA	HKCYB	NKA001	2011	6.60	9.05
20001004	NKA	HKCYB	NKA003	2011	6.60	9.05
20001006	NKA	HKCYB	NKA004	2011	6.60	9.05
20001008	NKA	HKCYB	NKA005	2011	6.60	9.05
20001026	PLD	НКСҮВ	PLD001	2010	6.60	9.32
20001197	STL	HKCYB	STL006	2011	6.60	8.91
20001199	STL	HKCYB	STL007	2011	6.60	8.91
20001335	WPD	LG1C	WPD011	2015++	6.60	9.34

 ⁷⁵⁸ Attachment P0033 to the Initial Regulatory Proposal.
 ⁷⁵⁹ Nuttall Consulting, Report – Capital Expenditure, 4 June 2010, p190.
Item ID	Zone substation.	СВ Туре	Function	Replacement year	HI Y0 (2009)	HI at 2015
20001336	WPD	LG1C	WPD014	2015++	6.60	9.34
20001337	WPD	LG1C	WPD021	2015++	6.60	9.34
20001338	WPD	LG1C	WPD022	2015++	6.60	9.34
20001339	WPD	LG1C	WPD024	2015++	6.60	9.34

Table 9.8 CBRM model output (circuit breaker replacement)

In this Revised Regulatory Proposal, Powercor Australia is proposing to replace 22kV circuit breakers in accordance with the outputs of the CBRM model (shown in Table 9.8 above), with the exception of the Sunshine zone substation replacements identified for 2012. While the CBRM modelling indicates that 12 of the 22kV circuit breakers at the SU (Sunshine) zone substation require replacement, as discussed above, all 16 existing outdoor circuit breakers will be replaced as the SU zone substation is being refurbished and the outdoor kV switchyard will be replaced with an indoor 22kV switchboard.⁷⁶⁰ While more detail is included in the relevant material program template, by way of summary, the physical constraints at the substation do not allow a combination of four outdoor and 12 indoor 22kV circuit breakers.⁷⁶¹

On the basis of the above, Powercor Australia submits that the reliability and quality maintained capex forecast by Powercor Australia using the CRBM methodology is prudent and efficient.

While Nuttall Consulting suggested that to demonstrate the suitability of the CBRM, Powercor Australia would require '*a far more substantial and quantitative analysis*',⁷⁶² as discussed in the 'General issues' section above, it is not legally permissible for the AER to establish threshold requirements for it to be satisfied that a DNSP's capex reasonably reflects the capex criteria. On the evidence before it, the AER should be satisfied that Powercor Australia's forecasts for zone substation replacement capex reflect the capex required by a prudent and efficient operator.

In the event the AER rejects Powercor Australia's zone substation plant replacement capex in the next regulatory control period, Powercor Australia observes that, as discussed above, it would not be reasonable for the AER to substitute values based on historic capex with an adjustment determined by the Repex Model.

Zone substation secondary systems replacement

Powercor Australia maintains that its zone substation secondary systems replacement reasonably reflects the capex criteria.

In its Draft Determination, the AER did not consider the detail provided in respect of each of the material reliability and quality maintained programs submitted by Powercor Australia to the AER by email on 26 February 2010. Each of the programs are driven by unique circumstances and risks. As noted above, a number of further material program templates are included in Attachment 164 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal. These templates should allow the AER to satisfy itself that the proposed expenditure is required in the next regulatory control period.

⁷⁶⁰ See the material program template 'NP157_2015_X SU (Sunshine) Zone Substation Rebuild' included in Attachment 164 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal.

⁷⁶¹ See the material program template 'NP157_2015_X SU (Sunshine) Zone Substation Rebuild' included in Attachment 164 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal.

⁷⁶² Nuttall Consulting, Report – Capital Expenditure, 4 June 2010, p191.

The zone substation secondary equipment on Powercor Australia's network is becoming technically obsolete and thus requires replacement. The AER's Repex Model is not capable of taking this into account. As noted by PB, in its review of the AER's Repex Model:⁷⁶³

'Due to replacement [being] driven by factors other than age, it is not clear how the Repex model is able to estimate replacements that are not related to time based deterioration (e.g. technical obsolescence, changes in statutory obligations, parts availability, etc)'

Accordingly, rather than simply substituting the forecasts prepared by Nuttall Consulting using the Repex Model, the AER must consider the circumstances and risks driving each of the reliability and quality maintained programs.

The risks driving Powercor Australia's proposed zone substation secondary systems replacement programs can be grouped into three broad categories:

- maintaining network risks and reliability through the next regulatory control period (consistent with clauses 6.5.7(a)(3) and (4) of the Rules);
- maintaining the network's occupational health and safety and public safety (consistent with clause 6.5.7(a)(4) of the Rules); and
- ensuring compliance with obligations under the Electricity System Code⁷⁶⁴ (and the associated HV Protection Sub-Code⁷⁶⁵), Chapter 5 of the Rules⁷⁶⁶ and the Distribution Code (consistent with clause 6.5.7(a)(2) of the Rules).

These risks, and how they drive key zone substation replacement programs, are discussed further below.

As noted above, the AER raised concerns in respect of Powercor Australia's proposed relay replacement. Powercor Australia notes that the asset management plan relating to relay replacement was 'draft' at the time it was submitted to the AER. The plan has now been finalised.⁷⁶⁷

In commenting that the level of replacement in the next period is lower than the average level in the current period,⁷⁶⁸ Nuttall Consulting has misunderstood the difference between relays and protection schemes. Nuttall Consulting has made a comparison between the average number of **relays** replaced in 2006-10 with the proposed number **schemes** to be replaced in 2011-15.

In most old electro mechanical feeder protection schemes, there are typically discrete relays connected to measure current on each of the three phases (red, white and blue) and a separate relay to measure the current flowing to earth. These relays provide the ability to detect network faults where high current flows occur and signals are sent to

⁷⁶³ PB, Repex Model Review, July 2010 (Attachment 171 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p38.

⁷⁶⁴ Attachment 167 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal.

⁷⁶⁵ Powercor Australia observes that the HV Protection Sub-Code (Attachment 166 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal) was only established in July 2008, and thus compliance expenditure associated with this Sub-Code would not be included in the 2006-08 period examined by Nuttall Consulting.

⁷⁶⁶ Powercor Australia notes that it is required to comply with Chapter 5 of the Rules from 1 January 2011: clause 9.7 of the Rules.

⁷⁶⁷ Powercor Australia, Protection Equipment (Relays) Asset Management Plan (Attachment 255 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal).

⁷⁶⁸ Nuttall Consulting, Report – Capital Expenditure, 4 June 2010, p193.

circuit breakers to isolate the fault. With modern relays, however, the discrete relays are built into a single protection relay that is referred to as a protection scheme.

As noted in the template provided to the AER, across Powercor Australia's network, there are on average two relays for each scheme.⁷⁶⁹ Accordingly, rather than indicating that Powercor Australia is proposing to reduce the number of relays replaced, as suggested by Nuttall Consulting,⁷⁷⁰ the template provided to the AER indicated that on average, approximately 38.3 schemes (or 76.6 relays) were replaced per annum in 2006-10, with 55 schemes (or approximately 550 relays) per annum proposed for replacement in 2011-15.⁷⁷¹ That is, Powercor Australia is proposing an increase in the number of schemes (and thus relays) to be replaced in the next regulatory control period. The capex proposed by Powercor Australia for relay replacement is consistent with the proposed increase in the number of relays to be replaced.

The increase in relay replacement in the next regulatory control period is driven by Powercor Australia's RCM analysis, which is reflected in Powercor Australia's Protection Equipment (Relays) Asset Management Plan.⁷⁷² The RCM process involves assessing the risk of failure that each relay presents to the business. An overall risk score is calculated for each relay taking into account a range of risk factors (which are set out in the Protection Equipment (Relays) Asset Management Plan⁷⁷³). Powercor Australia notes that one of these risks is lack of product support (manufacturers support for hardware and software is limited to approximately 15 years, after which time, manufacturers do not provide updated software configuration and maintenance of the relays becomes problematic).⁷⁷⁴

In the next regulatory control period, Powercor Australia is proposing to replace:

- relays that were assigned a 'very high' overall risk score (assets which require replacement within 0-4 years);
- a large proportion of relays that were assigned a 'high' overall risk score (assets which require replacement within 4-8 years); and
- some relays that were assigned an 'elevated' overall risk score (assets which require replacement within 8-10 years).

Replacement of some relays assigned an 'elevated' overall risk score will be required where technical adequacy is insufficient and performance changes.⁷⁷⁵ Regarding the number of relays with an 'elevated' overall risk score, Powercor Australia expects

⁷⁶⁹ Document titled 'PAL 156 – Ageing_Unreliable Relay Replacement' (provided to the AER 26 February 2010), p1.

p1. ⁷⁷⁰ Nuttall Consulting, Report – Capital Expenditure, 4 June 2010, p193.

⁷⁷¹ Document titled 'PAL 156 – Ageing_Unreliable Relay Replacement' (provided to the AER 26 February 2010), p1.

p1. ⁷⁷² Powercor Australia, Protection Equipment (Relays) Asset Management Plan, May 2010 (Attachment 255 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal).

⁷⁷³ Powercor Australia, Protection Equipment (Relays) Asset Management Plan, May 2010 (Attachment 255 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p20-1.

⁷⁷⁴ Powercor Australia, Protection Equipment (Relays) Asset Management Plan, May 2010 (Attachment 255 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p20.

⁷⁷⁵ Powercor Australia, Protection Equipment (Relays) Asset Management Plan, May 2010 (Attachment 255 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p21.

approximately 10 per cent of the total relays population will move into the 'elevated' risk category over the next regulatory control period.⁷⁷⁶

Powercor Australia also considers that the most efficient way of upgrading relays is to concentrate on replacement by zone substation, rather than discrete individual relays across the entire network.⁷⁷⁷ This is to ensure that isolated relays, which do not confirm with Powercor Australia's new standards,⁷⁷⁸ are not left unchanged.⁷⁷⁹ Based on past programs, Powercor Australia has estimated that this will increase the number of relays requiring replacement in the next regulatory control period by approximately 20 per cent.⁷⁸⁰

Powercor Australia has estimated that it will replace 55 schemes per annum (or approximately 550 relays) in the next regulatory control period.⁷⁸¹ This reflects:⁷⁸²

- replacement of approximately 300 relays classified as 'very high' risk;
- replacement of approximately 150 relays classified as 'high' risk;
- replacement of approximately 10 relays in the 'elevated' risk category; and
- replacement of approximately 90 relays to ensure that isolated relays are not left unchanged as the program is implemented.

Failure of one type of relay can affect hundreds of circuits in Powercor Australia's network. Powercor Australia estimates, on the replacement included in its Revised Regulatory Proposal, the 2010 level of 109 relays in the very high risk category will be broadly maintained by 2015, when an estimated 138 relays will be in this 'very high' risk category.⁷⁸³ This is shown in Figure 9.1 below. This expenditure would ensure compliance with the 'good asset management' obligations in clause 3 of the Distribution Code. On the AER's Draft Determination, however, the number of relays in the 'very high' risk category would increase by 169 to 278.⁷⁸⁴ This is also shown in Figure 9.1 below. Powercor Australia considers that this increase in the number of relays in this category would be inconsistent with the Distribution Code 'good asset management' obligations.

⁷⁷⁶ Powercor Australia, Protection Equipment (Relays) Asset Management Plan, May 2010 (Attachment 255 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p22. ⁷⁷⁷ Powercor Australia, Protection Equipment (Relays) Asset Management Plan, May 2010 (Attachment 255 to this

Revised Regulatory Proposal), p22.

⁷⁷⁸ Powercor Australia's standards are outlined in its Protection Equipment (Relays) Asset Management Plan, May 2010 (Attachment 255 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p11. That is, the Powercor Australia now procures relays with fully integrated microprocessor controlled sensing and actuation controlled by software.

⁷⁹ Powercor Australia, Protection Equipment (Relays) Asset Management Plan, May 2010 (Attachment 255 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p22.

⁷⁸⁰ Powercor Australia, Protection Equipment (Relays) Asset Management Plan, May 2010 (Attachment 255 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p22. ⁷⁸¹ Document titled 'PAL 156 – Ageing_Unreliable Relay Replacement', provided to the AER by email on

⁵ March 2010. ⁷⁸² These figures can be determined by taking the total number of relays in Powercor Australia's network (approximately 3000) and the percentages of relays falling within each risk category shown in the relevant Asset Management Plan: Powercor Australia, Protection Equipment (Relays) Asset Management Plan, May 2010 (Attachment 255 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), pp5 and 22. ⁷⁸³ See material program template 'Ageing/Unreliable Relay Replacement Program – Zone Substations' (included in

Attachment 164 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal).

⁷⁸⁴ See material program template 'Ageing/Unreliable Relay Replacement Program – Zone Substations' (included in Attachment 164 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal).



igure 9.1 Powercor Australia relay risk profile (2010 and 2015)

On the information set out above, Powercor Australia submits that its proposed relay replacement program in the next regulatory control is prudent and efficient.

Regarding the other zone substation secondary system replacement programs reflected in Powercor Australia's 2011-15 forecasts, Powercor Australia maintains that these are economically justified or are required to respond to increased risk on the network. In addition to the further material program templates included in Attachment 164 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal, Table 9.9 below sets out some of the major programs reflected in the 2011-15 forecast, including the circumstances and risks driving each program.

Program	Explanation
Augmentation associated with SP AusNet projects ⁷⁸⁵	SP AusNet is proposing to upgrade its Geelong terminal station (GTS) and Keilor terminal station (KTS). SP AusNet's works will involve 66kV asset rebuilds. To maintain the reliability and security of the transmission connection points, all 66kV lines protection schemes associated with these works at connected zone substations must be re-established. That is, Powercor Australia's program includes non-discretionary replacement of x and y schemes at Powercor Australia zone substations that communicate to GTS and KTS (six lines in total). If Powercor Australia does not carry out the proposed replacement of relays at connecting zone substations then the protection systems will be compromised.
DC supplies, amp hour capacity and fusing upgrades for zone substations ⁷⁸⁶	This program is required to ensure that DC capacity is available to run zone substation protection and control systems not only for short duration outages of up to 8 to 12 hours but for longer outages of up to 24 or 48 hours. Where the DC power fails then all protection and control systems at zone substations will cease to operate and the zone substation can no longer be used as a supply point until the

⁷⁸⁵ See document titled 'PAL 156 Augmentation associated with SPAusNet Projects' provided to the AER by email on 26 February 2010 and the material program template 'Augmentation Associated with SPAusNet Projects' (included in Attachment 164 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal).

⁷⁸⁶ See documents titled 'PAL 156 – DC Supplies, AmpHour Capacity and Fusing Upgrades' (provided to the AER by email on 26 February 2010) and the material programs template 'Replacement Battery Banks and Charges' (included in Attachment 164 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal).

Program	Explanation
	DC systems are restored. If backup power fails then there is the risk of failure of all protection and control systems at zone substations.
	An analysis of battery systems has shown that a significant number of stations do not have adequate backup capacity. This project aims to commence a program to upgrade the highest risk sites.
Control room modifications ⁷⁸⁷	Powercor Australia has a number of ageing control rooms, which can restrict the deployment of additional equipment and systems required for Powercor Australia's proposed protection and control works. For example, older control rooms may:
	 not allow for safe access to panels and equipment;
	 not have adequate space to house new equipment;
	 give rise to difficulties at commissioning due to the space constraints of temporary cubicles;
	 have inadequate cable trenches that restrict the level of cabling that can be deployed; and
	 not adequately manage humidity and condensation.
	Historically, control room modifications have been put off and protection changes forced into the limited spaces available. This has led to poor arrangements and difficult operating testing environments.
	Deferral is not longer possible due to likely health and safety risks from the limited space now available.
	Upgrades have been proposed to ensure a safe, secure and effective control room environment.
Duplicate protection on selected buses and circuit breaker backup schemes ⁷⁸⁸	Duplicate protection on 66kV buses lowers the risk of zone substation outages and provides flexibility and security when undertaking maintenance. If there is no circuit breaker backup, protection devices further removed from the fault will need to be activated to clear the fault. Both are consistent with good industry practice.
	Duplicate protection on 66kV buses and circuit breaker backup schemes have not been established across Powercor Australia's entire network. This program is designed to bring existing zone substations up to the same level of functionality as new installations.
	Powercor Australia has proposed these works to coincide with other proposed protection works. Powercor Australia is proposing three physicals per annum.
	These works are required to achieve compliance with clauses 3.2, 3.5.2.1 and 3.5.2.3 of the HV Protection Sub-Code and clause S5.3a.6 of the Rules. Without the proposed program, Powercor Australia would not be able to achieve compliance with these mandatory obligations.
Duplicate protection on selected feeders ⁷⁸⁹	Powercor Australia is proposing duplicate protection on 22kV feeders as required to meet backup protection reach. If primary protection fails and backup protection cannot clear a fault, there are significant consequences to public and employee safety, as well as damage to assets.
	The program is required to ensure that protection backup is maintained across Powercor Australia's network and to ensure that faults are isolated and cleared safety and efficiently. As loads continue to increase across the network, this has become more difficult to achieve through protection setting changes.

⁷⁸⁷ See document titled 'PAL 156 - Control Room Modification' provided to the AER by email on 26 February 2010. ⁷⁸⁸ See document titled 'PAL 156 – Duplicate protection on Buses and CB Backup', provided to the AER by email

on 26 February 2010. ⁷⁸⁹ See document titled 'PAL 156 – Duplicate Protection on Selected Feeders', provided to the AER on

²⁶ February 2010.

Program	Explanation			
Auto reclose implementation program on 66kV & 22kV buses ⁷⁹⁰	Powercor Australia is proposing auto reclose functionality on 66kV and 22kV zone substation buses.			
	This program is associated with those zone substations supplying a mix of urban rural areas, focusing on those areas with a growing urban customer base.			
	Without auto reclose, assets can be opened for events that are transitory. In the case of zone substation buses an extended outage may occur that could have been avoided. The restore time could also be significant as onsite checking of buses would need to occur before restoration.			
	This program aims to improve Powercor Australia's zone substation security on a continuing basis across the network and to bring Powercor Australia in line with good engineering practice.			
Communications network radio/equipment replacements/upgrades ⁷⁹¹	This program involves the replacement of ageing and unsupported radio communications equipment. Current radio communications equipment does not meet the current digital communications requirements for greater bandwidth demanded of SCADA systems.			
	Powercor Australia is proposing to address approximately six communications devices per year over the next regulatory control period.			
	The program is necessary to address the increased failure rates of unsupported radio communications equipment currently being experienced and to maintain the SCADA protection networks. The level of unplanned failure of communications devices needs to be better managed through a planned replacement program, such as the proposed program. Powercor Australia's proposed program will ensure network reliability is maintained and the health and safety risks are not increased. The program will also ensure that Powercor Australia complies with the 'good asset management' obligations in clause 3 of the Distribution Code.			
	If the expenditure is cut in accordance with the AER's Draft Determination, Powercor Australia would face increased risk of failure of the analogue radio system, which would lead to extended outage times. The reduced expenditure would also increase the health and safety risks resulting from the loss of monitoring and control of zone substations. Finally, Powercor Australia would risk non- compliance with the 'good asset management' obligations under clause 3 of the Distribution Code.			
Replacement of supervisory cable with	This program involves the replacement of communications equipment that use supervisory cable with fibre based systems.			
existing optical fibre cable ⁷⁹²	Powercor Australia has a number of supervisory cable systems and communications equipment that are required to be upgraded to be compatible with the new SCADA system and align with the <i>Network Protection and Communications Strategy 2009-2014.</i> ⁷⁹³ Some of this equipment is located in substations where fibre optic systems are available but not yet fully utilised.			
	The existing communications systems support protection schemes, remote tripping between substations and monitoring and control applications via VF technologies. Due to changes in communication technology and upgrade of the SCADA system, the use of VF needs to be phased out and replaced with industry standard digital communication interfaces.			

 $^{^{790}}$ See document titled 'PAL 156 – Install Auto Reclose on 66kV and 22kV Buses' (provided to the AER on 26 February 2010). ⁷⁹¹ See document titled 'PAL 156 – Communications Network Equipment Replacements' (provided to the AER on

⁷⁹³ Attachment P0030 to the Initial Regulatory Proposal.

²⁶ February 2010) and material program template 'Communications Network Radio/Equipment replacements/upgrades' (included in Attachment 164 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal). ⁷⁹² See document titled 'PAL 156 – Replacement of Supervisory Cable with Existing OFC' (provided to the AER by email on 26 February 2010) and material program template 'PAL 156 – Replacement of Supervisory Cable with

Existing optical fibre cable' (included in Attachment 164 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal).

Program	Explanation
	Powercor Australia forecasts are based on an average replacement of 10km per year over the next regulatory control period. This will ensure that the remaining overhead supervisory cable is replaced. The unit cost is based on an estimate of works for other like communications works (specifically work carried out for the Richmond terminal station to TK zone substation).
	The move to fibre optics and new technologies is prudent and consistent with good electricity industry practice. It will ensure:
	 equipment and system support can be maintained; availability of spare parts; technical adequacy; network reliability is maintained; improved visibility and maintenance of equipment and systems; improved speed and data capability of communications; standard protocols and interfaces are utilised; increased distance for signalling; and facilities are available for extended uses.
	Under its proposal, Powercor Australia will be able to maintain reliability by replacing supervisory and VF equipment that is approaching the end of its technically useful life and will be in compliance with its 'good asset management' obligations under clause 3 of the Distribution Code. Powercor Australia will also be able to ensure there are no increases to health and safety risks. However, under the AER's Draft Determination, Powercor Australia notes that there would be an increase risk of failure of the ageing supervisory and VF systems, leading to reduced network reliability. There would also be increased risks to health and safety due to increasing failures leading to loss of protection coordination between zone substations. Powercor Australia would also risk non-compliance with the 'good asset management' obligations under clause 3 of the Distribution Code.

 Table 9.9 Key zone substations secondary system replacement programs included in Powercor Australia's Revised

 Regulatory Proposal

Reliability replacement

Powercor Australia maintains that its proposed reliability replacement programs and associated capex in the next regulatory control period are prudent and efficient.

Proposing relatively modest expenditure to address small pockets of the network experiencing levels of reliability well below average levels ensure that customers in the worst served areas are brought closer to the average levels of reliability.

Powercor Australia believes that this level of expenditure is required to ensure compliance with Powercor Australia's obligation to '*meet reasonable customer* expectations of reliability of supply' in clause 5.2 of the Distribution Code.

In its independent review of the Draft Determination in respect of reliability and quality maintained capex, PB noted that Nuttall Consulting did not attempt to identify how reliability replacement expenditure has been allocated historically and has not supported the rejection of this expenditure with any analysis of the fundamental need for the proposed expenditure.⁷⁹⁴

⁷⁹⁴ PB, Repex Model Review, July 2010 (Attachment 171 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p23.

To assist the AER with its consideration of Powercor Australia's Revised Regulatory Proposal, Powercor Australia provides further details in respect of each of its reliability replacement programs in Table 9.10 below.

Program	Explanation
22kV worst performing feeders ⁷⁹⁵	These works are required to address customer service issues arising from Powercor Australia's worst performing 22kV feeders. Powercor Australia proposes to address five of the worst performing feeders in each feeder category (urban, rural short and rural long) in each year of the next regulatory control period (i.e. 15 projects per annum).
	The feeders are selected on an annual basis from Powercor Australia's regular monitoring activities. Each feeder is investigated separately to determine what measures are most appropriate and effective.
	In 2009, 7 feeders were identified as having effective work packages that could address the localised service issue. The remaining feeders on the target list, which were not addressed in 2009, were dealt with by normal maintenance expenditure. Prior to 2009 there was no consolidated documentation of works at the program level (the only details are at the function code level).
	Powercor Australia is proposing works on 15 feeders per annum in the next regulatory control period. The works are required to address reliability issues on these worst served parts of the network.
22kV worst served customers ⁷⁹⁶	These works are to address reliability for Powercor Australia's 22 kV worst served customers. The program focuses on isolated pockets or communities of customers who experience the worst reliability performance. This may involve communities at the end of a feeder experiencing poor performance where the total feeder performance may not be in the worst performing category and hence not part of another reliability replacement program.
	unplanned SAIDI. Approximately 60 to 70 feeders make up this list for analysis. Worst served customers are also identified by reports of performance downstream of the protective devices and by local interaction with communities.
	The works are required to address reliability issues on these worst served parts of the network.
66kV 'dead spot' program ⁷⁹⁷	Infra red surveys are carried out on subtransmission lines to identify thermal defects and hot joints. However, parts of the lines are not covered due to geographical access limitations. These areas are referred to as 'dead spots'.
	These works involve replacing failed and obsolete connectors in dead spots on 66kV lines. The works are required to avoid outages due to connection failures and thus to maintain reliability levels.
	Powercor Australia is proposing to address approximately two line projects per annum.
66kV projects ⁷⁹⁸	This program addresses the worst performing 66kV lines or sections of lines. Specifically, it addresses lines, parts of lines and particular structures that, while compliant with existing or previous standards, have risk of failure due to known issues, which risks can be reduced by additional targeted works.
	Powercor Australia's forecast is based on an average of eight projects per annum. The works are required to address reliability issues on these parts of the network.
System event minor reliability	This program involves addressing asset related issues that are not addressed through existing fault follow up processes, i.e., works that fall outside maintenance and FFU28 fault

⁷⁹⁵ See document titled 'PAL 172 - 22 kV Worst Performing Feeders' (provided to the AER by email on 3 March 2010). ⁷⁹⁶ See document titled 'PAL 172 – 22 kV Worst Served Customers' (provided to the AER by email on

³ March 2010).

 ⁷⁹⁷ See document titled 'PAL 172 – 66 kV Dead Spot Program' (provided to the AER by email on 3 March 2010).
 ⁷⁹⁸ See document titled 'PAL 172 – 66kV Projects' (provided to the AER by email on 3 March 2010).

Program	Explanation
projects ⁷⁹⁹	follow up policies and processes (to restore and repair within 28 days).
	In the course of addressing faults, additional work in a nearby area may be identified. For example, pole clearances may not be adequate on an adjacent structure or there may be a similar issue to that which caused the existing fault.
	The program is necessary to maintain reliability.

Table 9.10 Key reliability programs included in Powercor Australia's Revised Regulatory Proposal

9.9.4 Powercor Australia's Revised Regulatory Proposal

The reliability, quality and maintained capex forecasts included in Powercor Australia's Revised Regulatory Proposal are set out in Table 9.11 below.

	\$'000 (real 2010)					
Expenditure category	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015	Total
Reliability and quality maintained	91,052	100,364	99,862	94,776	95,777	481,831

Table 9.11 Reliability and quality maintained capex forecasts included in Powercor Australia's Revised Regulatory Proposal

9.10 Environmental, safety and legal capex

9.10.1 Powercor Australia's Initial Regulatory Proposal

In its Initial Regulatory Proposal, Powercor Australia proposed capex relating to capital works to ensure that it complies with all applicable environmental, electrical safety, regulatory and other Victorian and national legislative obligations.⁸⁰⁰

Powercor Australia indicated that the main factors driving the increase in this category of capex from 2006-10 capex were:

- increased noise mitigation at zone sub-stations;
- expenditure on the management of powerline easements in Victorian national parks; and
- bushfire mitigation expenditure.⁸⁰¹

9.10.2 AER's Draft Determination

In its Draft Determination, the AER observed that Victorian DNSPs actual capex tends to follow a gradually increasing trend.⁸⁰²

The AER concluded that:⁸⁰³

- the Victorian DNSPs have not demonstrated there will be material changes to their compliance with environmental legislation and regulations or safety legislation and regulations in the next regulatory control period;
- the Victorian DNSPs are currently complying with their environmental, safety and legal obligations; and

⁷⁹⁹ See document titled 'PAL 172 – System Event Minor Reliability Projects' (provided to the AER by email on 3 March 2010).

⁸⁰⁰ Initial Regulatory Proposal, p112.

⁸⁰¹ Initial Regulatory Proposal, p121.

⁸⁰² AER, Draft Determination, p399.

⁸⁰³ AER, Draft Determination, p402.

• accordingly, the associated costs would be reflected in the historical capex for this category.

The AER indicated that, because EPA Victoria and the ESV have encouraged DNSPs to adopt a *'risk management approach to compliance'*, the AER expected the DNSPs to provide risk assessments in support of their proposed expenditure.⁸⁰⁴ The AER noted the project explanations provided by Powercor Australia, but indicated these were not linked to any risk assessment in support of an overall works program.⁸⁰⁵

The AER therefore rejected Powercor Australia's proposed environmental, safety and legal capex forecasts and substituted amounts based on a continuation of historical trend in this capex category.⁸⁰⁶ In identifying the historical trend, the AER used 2004-08 data (excluding 2009 and 2010 on the basis that the data before the AER was forecast data only).⁸⁰⁷

9.10.3 Powercor Australia's response to the AER's Draft Determination

Powercor Australia does not contest the AER's Draft Determination with respect to environmental, safety and legal capex. However, for the reasons outlined in the 'General issues' section above, Powercor Australia considers that the AER should include 2009 actual data:

- in its trend analysis; and
- in forecasting the environmental, legal and safety capex required in the next regulatory control period by reference to historical expenditure.

Powercor Australia notes that, as demonstrated by Figure 9.2 below, when data beyond 2004-08 (including 2009 actual data) is incorporated into the analysis, the AER's conclusion that Powercor Australia's actual capex follows a gradually increasing trend is less compelling.

⁸⁰⁴ AER, Draft Determination, p401.

⁸⁰⁵ AER, Draft Determination, p402.

⁸⁰⁶ AER, Draft Determination, pp394-404.

⁸⁰⁷ AER, Draft Determination, p400.



Figure 9.2 Powercor Australia's historical environmental, safety and legal capex (real \$'000)

Powercor Australia notes that, if the AER makes its Final Determination consistent with its Draft Determination, Powercor Australia will not be in a position to complete all of the noise works contemplated in its Initial Regulatory Proposal.⁸⁰⁸

Powercor Australia also rejects the AER's suggestion that because the EPA and ESCV have encouraged DNSPs to adopt a 'risk management approach to compliance', DNSPs should provide risk assessments in support of their proposed expenditure. As noted in the 'General issues' section above, this is not legally permissible because achievement of the capex objectives includes compliance with all applicable regulatory obligations or requirements associated with the provision of standard control services (clause 6.5.7(a) of the Rules). Accordingly, should a DNSP require capex to comply with an obligation, it should suffice to satisfy the AER, acting reasonably, that the capex would be required by a prudent and efficient operator to achieve the capex objectives for that DNSP to demonstrate that its proposed capex is the lowest means of achieving compliance.

Finally, as discussed in further detail in Chapters 6 and 17 of this Revised Regulatory Proposal, Powercor Australia considers the plans submitted under the Electrical Safety Management Regulations should be addressed by the AER as a nominated pass through.

9.10.4 Powercor Australia Revised Regulatory Proposal

The environmental, safety and legal capex forecasts included in Powercor Australia's Revised Regulatory Proposal are set out in Table 9.12 below.

⁸⁰⁸ Initial Regulatory Proposal, p114.

	\$'000 (real 2010)					
Expenditure category	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015	Total
Environmental, safety & legal	8,211	8,352	8,456	8,527	8,595	42,141

Table 9.12 Environmental, safety and legal capex forecasts included in Powercor Australia's Revised Regulatory Proposal

9.11 SCADA and network control capex

9.11.1 Powercor Australia's Initial Regulatory Proposal

Powercor Australia's Initial Regulatory Proposal included SCADA and network control capex.⁸⁰⁹ The proposed SCADA and network control capex program included provision for the following:⁸¹⁰

- continuation of the installation of new protection and control communications infrastructure, which CitiPower and Powercor Australia commenced as a joint project in the current regulatory control period. A summary of the requirements of this Program was set out in CitiPower and Powercor Australia's Network Protection and Control Communications Strategy 2009 2014 (included as Attachment P0030 to the Initial Regulatory Proposal);
- installation of DMS field devices, which are network data collection devices that sit on poles or in substations that provide interface with electrical assets;
- migration away from TMR, which is an old mobile radio technology, to SCADA; and
- increased substation monitoring and automation investments.

Powercor Australia provided SCADA and network control material program templates to the AER by email on 9 March 2010. These templates detailed the range and rationale for the expenditure in this capex category at the program level.

9.11.2 AER's Draft Determination

In its Draft Determination, the AER observed that Victorian DNSPs actual capex tends to follow a gradually increasing trend.⁸¹¹ The AER also commented that each DNSP underspent its benchmark allowance in the current regulatory control period.⁸¹²

The AER indicated that Powercor Australia had not justified the significant increase in forecast SCADA and network control required for the next regulatory control period.⁸¹³ The AER commented that, because DNSPs have discretion to prioritise their work program, each DNSP underspent relative to the ESCV benchmark allowance on the basis that it considered it efficient to do so.⁸¹⁴

In assessing Powercor Australia's proposed SCADA and network control capex, Nuttall Consulting stated that the DMS field devices installation program identified by Powercor Australia is captured in proposed non-network – IT capex.⁸¹⁵ Consequently, Nuttall Consulting did not assess it in the SCADA and network control section of its

⁸⁰⁹ Initial Regulatory Proposal, pp121-30.

⁸¹⁰ Initial Regulatory Proposal, p123.

⁸¹¹ AER, Draft Determination, p409.

⁸¹² AER, Draft Determination, p410.

⁸¹³ AER, Draft Determination, pp411-2.

⁸¹⁴ AER, Draft Determination, p411.

⁸¹⁵ Nuttall Consulting, Report – Capital Expenditure, 4 June 2010, p211.

report⁸¹⁶ and the AER did not refer to the installation of the DMS field devices in its Draft Determination.⁸¹⁷

The AER indicated that CitiPower and Powercor Australia had not quantified the costs and benefits of their joint installation of new protection and control communications infrastructure project or justified the scope and timing of the individual projects proposed under it.⁸¹⁸ The AER also did not consider that Powercor Australia had linked the majority of the proposed projects to the Network Protection and Control Communications Strategy 2009-2014.⁸¹⁹

The AER therefore rejected Powercor Australia's proposed SCADA and network control forecasts and substituted amounts based on a continuation of historical trend in this capex category.⁸²⁰ In identifying the historical trend, the AER used 2004-08 data (excluding 2009 and 2010 on the basis that the data before the AER was forecast data only).⁸²¹

9.11.3 Powercor Australia's response to the AER's Draft Determination

For the reasons outlined in the 'General issues' section above, Powercor Australia considers that the AER should include 2009 actual data in its trend analysis and in determining an amount that is consistent with historical capex.

Powercor Australia notes that, as demonstrated by Figure 9.3 below, when data beyond 2004-08 (including 2009 actual data) is incorporated into the analysis, the AER's conclusion that Powercor Australia's actual capex follows a gradually increasing trend is less compelling.

⁸¹⁶ Nuttall Consulting, Report – Capital Expenditure, 4 June 2010, p211.

⁸¹⁷ AER, Draft Determination, p411.

⁸¹⁸ AER, Draft Determination, p411.

⁸¹⁹ AER, Draft Determination, p411.

⁸²⁰ AER, Draft Determination, pp409-13.

⁸²¹ AER, Draft Determination, p409.



Figure 9.3 Powercor Australia's historical SCADA and network control capex

While the AER found that Victorian DNSPs underspent in relation to the ESCV's benchmark allowance for the current regulatory control period,⁸²² this is not the case for Powercor Australia. Based on the AER's analysis, Powercor Australia only underspent (relative to the ESCV allowance) by around 8.5 per cent. This is not a significant degree of underspend (particularly in light of the deferrals discussed further below).

In assessing its proposed SCADA and network control capex, the AER did not consider the circumstances and risks facing Powercor Australia in the next regulatory control period. Powercor Australia contends that its SCADA and network control programs are required in the next regulatory control period. The risks driving these programs can be grouped into three broad categories:

- maintaining network risks and reliability through the next regulatory control period (consistent with clauses 6.5.7(a)(3) and (4) of the Rules);
- maintaining the network's occupational health and safety and public safety (consistent with clause 6.5.7(a)(4) of the Rules); and
- ensuring compliance with obligations under the Electricity System Code⁸²³ (and the associated HV Protection Sub-Code⁸²⁴), Chapter 5 of the Rules⁸²⁵ and the Distribution Code (consistent with clause 6.5.7(a)(2) of the Rules).

⁸²² AER, Draft Determination, p410.

⁸²³ Attachment 167 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal.

⁸²⁴ Attachment 166 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal.

⁸²⁵ Powercor Australia notes that it is required to comply with Chapter 5 of the Rules from 1 January 2011.

These risks are discussed in relation to Powercor Australia's proposed SCADA and network control programs in more detail below, after the specific issues raised by Nuttall Consulting and the AER are addressed.

9.11.3.1 DMS field devices

Nuttall Consulting is correct in stating that expenditure on the DMS in the next regulatory control period is included in Powercor Australia's non-network – IT capex. This is because the DMS is part of the IT system. However, Nuttall Consulting erred in finding that the implementation of the DMS field devices (network data collection field devices) is also covered by non-network – IT capex.⁸²⁶ This expenditure is included in the SCADA capital expenditure because it directly relates to the roll out of DMS field devices.

To further clarify, it is the capex on the acquisition of the DMS itself that is included in Powercor Australia's non-network - IT capex. The DMS is designed to support and extend Powercor Australia's SCADA operations and will enhance the ability to display and utilise data captured by and transmitted from the DMS field devices. By contrast, the capex included in the SCADA and other network control capex forecasts relates to the roll-out of DMS field devices (i.e. the cost of acquiring and installing the network data collection devices) rather than the implementation of the DMS itself.

9.11.3.2 Reasons for underspend in the current regulatory control period

The AER's conclusion that Powercor Australia underspent on SCADA and network control capex in relation to the ESCV's benchmark allowance because it considered it efficient to do so is erroneous. As outlined by in Powercor Australia's Response to the AER's Capex Guidance Paper,⁸²⁷ the deferral of much of Powercor Australia's SCADA and network control capex in the current regulatory control period was for reasons other than efficiency.

For example, prior to preparing its 2006-10 forecasts, Powercor Australia was advised by Telstra that Telstra would retire its TMR network.⁸²⁸ On the basis of that information, Powercor Australia proposed to upgrade approximately 300 TMR sites to general packet radio system communications. Subsequently, however, Telstra decided that it would refresh, rather than retire, its TMR network. Accordingly, Powercor Australia decided to hold off on the plans to upgrade its TMR sites until a clear business direction was established for its communications infrastructure. This direction was established in the Network Protection and Control Communications Strategy 2009-2014 and includes the replacement of TMR.⁸²⁹

In addition, there was a delay in the installation of the DMS field devices due to delays in the implementation of the DMS. The implementation of the DMS was delayed by complications arising with essential lead-in projects, including the following:

⁸²⁶ Nuttall Consulting, Report – Capital Expenditure, 4 June 2010, p211.

⁸²⁷ Powercor Australia, Powercor Australia's Response to the AER's Capex Guidance Paper, 11 January 2010, pp8-9.

<sup>9.
&</sup>lt;sup>828</sup> This detail was provided to the AER in Powercor Australia's Response to the AER's Capex Guidance Paper, 11 January 2010, p8.

 ⁸²⁹ CitiPower and Powercor Australia, Network Protection and Control Communications Strategy 2009-2014,
 11 November 2009 (Attachment P0030 to the Initial Regulatory Proposal), p9.

- the migration of both CitiPower and Powercor Australia's different versions of GIS to a common and updated platform;
- the migration of both CitiPower and Powercor Australia's different versions of OMS to a common and updated platform; and
- replacement of CitiPower's SCADA system with the same platform as that used by Powercor Australia.

The alignment of the GIS and OMS was delayed by CitiPower and Powercor Australia's primary service provider. Specifically, it was delayed due to the following:

- the structure, resourcing and management of the service provider's offshore development program;
- underestimation of the complexity of the project by the service provider; and
- underestimation of the level of testing required.

Alignment of the GIS and OMS has now been achieved and thus the replacement of CitiPower's SCADA system with the same platform as that used by Powercor Australia is in the implementation phase. The project is expected to go live in August 2010.

The installation of the DMS field devices is therefore expected to go ahead as proposed in the next regulatory control period.

9.11.3.3 Links to the Network Protection and Control Communications Strategy

The confidential minutes to Powercor Australia's CIC meeting on 1 June 2010 demonstrate that Powercor Australia continues to support the Network Protection and Control Communications Strategy 2009-2014:⁸³⁰

'Communication strategies and the smart grid initiative for both CP and PAL networks were outlined per the presentation. The Communication strategy includes programs to replace redundant technology (unable to be supported by manufacturers). The CIC endorsed the direction of the Communications and Control Strategy.'

Powercor Australia maintains that each of its proposed projects link with the Network Protection and Control Communications Strategy 2009-2014.⁸³¹ This is shown in the material program templates for each of the relevant programs.⁸³² The linkages are also discussed in Table 9.13 below.

9.11.3.4 SCADA and network control programs proposed by Powercor Australia

As shown in Table 9.13 below, the programs proposed by Powercor Australia for the next regulatory control period justify forecast expenditure greater than the historical trend.

⁸³⁰ Powercor Australia, Minutes to the Capital Investment Committee meeting, 1 June 2010 (Attachment 168 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p2.

⁸³¹ Attachment P0030 to the Initial Regulatory Proposal.

⁸³² See material program templates provided to the AER by email on 9 March 2010 and material program templates included in Attachment 157 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal.

Program	Explanation and link to Network Protection and Control Communications Strategy 2009-2014			
Installation of DMS field devices	Refer Executive Summary and section 4 of the Network Protection and Control Communications Strategy 2009-2014. ⁸³³			
	Installation of DMS field devices (coupled with the DMS) will allow network events to be modelled so that Powercor Australia can plan operational switching requirements that provide the best network performance and reliability. This is important given there will be an increased need to have a real time operational view of the network's condition in the next regulatory control period, for example, due to expected increases in the number of small and large embedded generators. The increasing amount of bi-directional power flows when embedded generators connect to the network leads to increasing complexity in ensuring the safe and reliable operation of the network.			
	Powercor Australia's proposed program of installing DMS field devices is also required to maintain reliability of a network that is experiencing increasing utilisation levels and increased levels of embedded generation. The program will allow Powercor Australia to have full control and knowledge of the distribution network, allowing Powercor Australia to avoid any increases in potential health and safety incidents.			
	If the AER's Draft Determination was affirmed, however, Powercor Australia would not be able to maintain reliability and would not have full control and knowledge of the distribution network. This could give rise to potential health and safety incidents.			
Migration of	Refer to section 4(a)iii of the Network Protection and Control Communications Strategy			
reclosers and HV	This program involves the migration of TMR View to SCADA			
switch control from TMR View to SCADA ⁸³⁴	Powercor Australia has an extensive number of remote controlled ACR's and switches in the distribution network that utilise a proprietary SCADA platform and communication protocol that are now approaching obsolescence. The existing SCADA platform (TMRView) restricts the opportunities that Powercor Australia's key SCADA and DMS platforms can offer in the way of real time information, outage reporting and management and long term historical data. Given the obsolescence of the technology, replacement modems are becoming unavailable.			
	The benefits of migration from TMR View to SCADA include:			
	 real time data on SCADA/DMS for improved operational control; 			
	improved operational planning;			
	improved reporting into OMS;			
	better management and visibility in high load scenarios;			
	Instorical load data available for planning, ungraded field equipment will offer improved protection and fault detection facilities:			
	 better management and visibility in high load scenarios: 			
	 improved data capture for further analysis; 			
	 improved fault analysis; and 			
	integration with Powercor Australia's asset management systems.			
	The work involved in this program is a combination of communication upgrades and field equipment upgrades. The communication upgrades will allow real time communication in line with the Network Protection and Control Communications Strategy 2009-2014 ⁸³⁶ and			

⁸³³ CitiPower and Powercor Australia, Network Protection and Control Communications Strategy 2009-2014

⁽Attachment P0030 to the Initial Regulatory Proposal), pp5-6. ⁸³⁴ See material program template 'Automatic reclosers (**ACRs**) and SW migration from trunk mobile ratio (**TMR**) View to SCADA' (included in Attachment 157 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal). ⁸³⁵ CitiPower and Powercor Australia, Network Protection and Control Communications Strategy 2009-2014, 11

November 2009 (Attachment P0030 to the Initial Regulatory Proposal), pp9-10.

⁸³⁶ CitiPower and Powercor Australia, Network Protection and Control Communications Strategy 2009 - 2014, 11 November 2009 (Attachment P0030 to the Initial Regulatory Proposal), pp9-10 (section 4(a)(iii)).

Program	Explanation and link to Network Protection and Control Communications Strategy 2009-2014
	the field equipment upgrades target equipment approaching obsolescence that cannot be upgraded to a modern Ethernet based protocol, to allow data exchange with the SCADA and DMS systems.
	The program will allow Powercor Australia to maintain reliability by replacing TMR equipment, which is approaching the end of its technically useful life. It will ensure Powercor Australia remains compliant with its 'good asset management' obligations in clause 3 of the Distribution Code.
	Without the proposed program, Powercor Australia would experience decreasing reliability of the TRM system, which would mean that Powercor Australia would be unable to remote switch field switches and thus reduce the reliability of the network. Powercor Australia would also risk non-compliance with clause 3 of the Distribution Code.
Zone substation SCADA	Refer to section 4(c) of the Network Protection and Control Communications Strategy 2009 - 2014. ⁸³⁸
communications to DNP3.0 ⁸³⁷	This program involves replacing the existing extensive rural radio network and Telstra lines that utilise VF technology with digital network and DNP3.0 communications.
	DNP3.0 is a protocol that is standard on most electronic devices and is suited for application on an Ethernet system. DNP3.0 is fully compatible with SCADA and will improve data bandwidth and the ability to secure communications through redundant communications links.
	Consistent with its Network Protection and Control Communications Strategy 2009- 2014, ⁸³⁹ Powercor Australia is proposing to convert all VF networks to digital networks and DNP communications over the next regulatory control period. Unit costs are based on the average contemporary cost of new radio network equipment, including base stations and Ethernet equipment. They also reflect the average contemporary costs of required security devices as well as redundant links, DNP conversions and RTU communication upgrades.
	This program will allow Powercor Australia to maintain reliability and security of its network by ensuring effective communication with modern digital protection equipment. It will also ensure Powercor Australia maintains the risk of human error incidents. Powercor Australia considers that this program will ensure it remains compliant with its 'good asset management' obligations under clause 3 of the Distribution Code.
	Without the DNP protocol, Powercor Australia would be unable to effectively communicate with modern digital protection and would face increased risk of human error incidents from delayed and inadequate system data being communicated. Powercor Australia would also risk non-compliance with clause 3 of the Distribution Code.
Installation of IEC61850	Refer to section 4(c) of the Network Protection and Control Communications Strategy 2009-2014. ⁸⁴¹
communications ⁸⁴⁰	The new standard for protection relay communications is IEC61850. This communications protocol allows peer to peer communications between devices as well as SCADA communications and relay remote access and event reporting.
	This program involves Powercor Australia implementing communications around this new protocol standard and deploying suitable Ethernet systems to ensure backup capability within the zone substations. This includes dual Ethernet switches for redundancy and

⁸³⁷ See document titled 'PAL 168 – ZSS SCADA comms migration to DNP3.0' (provided to the AER by email on

⁹ March 2010). ⁸³⁸ CitiPower and Powercor Australia, Network Protection and Control Communications Strategy 2009 – 2014, November 2009 (Attachment P0030 to the Initial Regulatory Proposal), pp17-9. ⁸³⁹ CitiPower and Powercor Australia, Network Protection and Control Communications Strategy 2009-2014,

November 2009 (Attachment P0030 to the Initial Regulatory Proposal), pp6, and 17-9 (section 4(c)). ⁸⁴⁰ See document titled 'PAL 168 – Installation of IEC61850 communications' (provided to the AER by email on

⁹ March 2010).

⁸⁴¹ CitiPower and Powercor Australia, Network Protection and Control Communications Strategy 2009-2014, November 2009 (Attachment P0030 to the Initial Regulatory Proposal), pp17-9.

Program	Explanation and link to Network Protection and Control Communications Strategy 2009-2014				
	network servers that can manage and store the data from the relays for presentation to				
	Powercor Australia expects to migrate to IEC61850 within the next 10 to 15 years, and thus consistent with its Network Protection and Control Communications Strategy 2009-2014, ⁸⁴² . Powercor Australia is proposing implementing communications around this new protocol standard and deploying suitable Ethernet systems to ensure back-up capability within the substations.				
	Going forward, the move to IEC61850 will allow Powercor Australia to maintain reliability and security of its network by ensuring effective communication with modern digital protection equipment. It will also ensure Powercor Australia is compliant with its 'good asset management' obligations under clause 3 of the Distribution Code.				
	Without the above prototyping and testing of IEC61850-enabled systems in the next regulatory control period, Powercor Australia would be unable to effectively migrate to IEC 61850 as contemplated in the Network Protection and Control Communications Strategy 2009-2014.				
Enhanced zone substation	Refer to section 4(b)iii of the Network Protection and Control Communications Strategy 2009-2014.844				
monitoring via SCADA ⁸⁴³	This program involves the upgrade and replacement of existing remote electronic monitoring equipment in Powercor Australia's zone substations with new enhanced functionality devices.				
	New functionality will relate, in particular, to transformers and capacitor banks (which are essential in managing emerging system loading constraints). The new equipment will be compatible with the new SCADA system and its communications hardware, software and protocols.				
	Powercor Australia is proposing to install enhanced monitoring and control systems in 6 substations per annum over the next regulatory control period.				
	The proposed program is important because remote control and monitoring functionality of Powercor Australia's zone substations will improve the visibility of zone substation assets in order to provide better reliability and asset management. This is particularly important given the long distance and travel times in Powercor Australia's distribution area. The collection of data is also required for ongoing asset maintenance management, including population of the GIS and SAP databases.				
	Upgrading the existing equipment aligns with Powercor Australia's goals as documented in the Network Protection and Control Communications Strategy 2009-2014 (Attachment P0030 to the Initial Regulatory Proposal). The benefits of the program include:				
	 better voltage management during planned and unplanned switching; 				
	 improved quality of supply to customers; 				
	 better management and visibility in high load scenarios; 				
	management of the system fault levels;				
	Improved data capture for further analysis;				
	Improved fault analysis; and integration with Development Australia's accest success to the sector of the				
	Integration with Powercor Australia's asset management systems. This program will enable Dewarcor Australia to maintain performance of maintain p				
	thus, to ensure security of supply at zone substations is maintained. The program will also				

⁸⁴² CitiPower and Powercor Australia, Network Protection and Control Communications Strategy 2009-2014, November 2009 (Attachment P0030 to the Initial Regulatory Proposal), pp6, and 17-9 (section 4(c)). ⁸⁴³ See document titled 'PAL 168 – Enhanced zone substation monitoring via SCADA' (provided to the AER by

email on 9 March 2010). ⁸⁴⁴ CitiPower and Powercor Australia, Network Protection and Control Communications Strategy 2009-2014, November 2009 (Attachment P0030 to the Initial Regulatory Proposal), p15.

Program	Explanation and link to Network Protection and Control Communications Strategy 2009-2014
	allow Powercor Australia to avoid increases in risks of plant failure and personnel safety.
	Without the proposed program, there would be reduced performance of major plants, which would lead to reduced security of supply at zone substations. There would also be increased risks of plant failure and increased safety risks to personnel.
New fibre allowance ⁸⁴⁵	Refer to section 4(a)ii of the Network Protection and Control Communications Strategy 2009-2014. ⁸⁴⁶
	Powercor Australia is proposing SCADA and network control capex in the next regulatory period to continue to upgrade the communications network to fibre optics to allow for the increased control and monitoring of plant and relays. ⁸⁴⁷ As noted in the Network Protection and Control Communications Strategy 2009–2014, fibre is required to ensure that the minimum bandwidth requirements necessary to take advantage of proposed increasing functionality of digital devices (including relays, meters and controllers) are met. ⁸⁴⁸
	The existing copper supervisory cables use VF technology which is outdated and not compatible with the Ethernet protocols and modern equipment functionality and bandwidth requirements. The copper cables also limit the distance and speed that digital signals can be sent. Upgrading to fibre optics addresses these limitations including in relation to the distance or speed of data transfer. The need to replace the copper supervisory cables with optical fibre cables is prudent and consistent with good industry practice, and is set out in the Network Protection and Control Communications Strategy 2009-2014. ⁸⁴⁹ The benefits of fibre optics include:
	enabling the deployment of modern relays when replacing protection schemes;
	 providing communication bandwidth for modern protocols;
	 facilitating, through modern equipment, the collection of data from stations;
	 facilitating, the implementation of security monitoring systems;
	 providing enhanced SCADA performance and increased data capture; and
	 enabling field workers to access to corporate networks at stations.
	The proposed program will allow Powercor Australia to maintain reliability by ensuring Ethernet communications over optical fibre is suited to modern protection equipment. It will also avoid any increase in possible human error incidents from delayed and inadequate system data being communicated. Powercor Australia considers this program will ensure compliance with its 'good asset management' obligations under the Distribution Code.
	Without the proposed program, there would be reliability degradation as obsolete communications systems would not be suited to modern protection equipment. There would also be a possible increase in human error incidents from delayed and inadequate system data being communicated. Powercor Australia would risk non-compliance with clause 3 of the Distribution Code.

Table 9.13 Key SCADA and network control programs included in Powercor Australia's Revised Regulatory Proposal

While it is difficult to quantify the benefits likely to result from Powercor Australia's proposed SCADA and network control capex in the next regulatory control period, broadly, the benefits can be summarised as follows:

⁸⁴⁵ See document titled 'PAL 168 - New fibre allowance' (provided to the AER by email on 9 March 2010) and material program template 'New fibre allowance' (included in Attachment 157 to this Revised Regulatory

Proposal). ⁸⁴⁶ CitiPower and Powercor Australia, Network Protection and Control Communications Strategy 2009-2014, 11 November 2009 (Attachment P0030 to the Initial Regulatory Proposal), p5. ⁸⁴⁷ See material program template 'New fibre allowance' (included in Attachment 157 tot his Revised Regulatory

Proposal). ⁸⁴⁸ CitiPower and Powercor Australia, Network Protection and Control Communications Strategy 2009-2014, 11

November 2009 (Attachment P0030 to the Initial Regulatory Proposal), p5.

⁸⁴⁹ CitiPower and Powercor Australia, Network Protection and Control Communications Strategy 2009-2014, 11 November 2009 (Attachment P0030 to the Initial Regulatory Proposal), pp8-9 (section 4(a)(ii)).

- improved data for making operational decisions (e.g. information regarding outages, voltage control, plant and equipment availability, service conditions, operational planning);
- improved data for making network planning decisions (e.g. information regarding network load and voltage modelling, contingency scenarios);
- improved data for condition monitoring assessments;
- better security of network sites;
- improved access to data for field technicians working at zone substations;
- improved ability to analyse network faults; and
- better ability to manage the network in relation to the uptake of household generation and electric vehicles, by having access to real time network loading where currently none exists.

Each of these benefits will allow Powercor Australia to maintain reliability and performance of the network and justify the SCADA and network control capex proposed by Powercor Australia in the next regulatory control period.

9.11.3.5 Powercor Australia Revised Regulatory Proposal

The SCADA and network control capex forecasts included in Powercor Australia's Revised Regulatory Proposal are set out in Table 9.14 below.

	\$'000 (real 2010)					
Expenditure category	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015	Total
SCADA and network control	6,959	7,605	7,815	7,684	7,662	37,724

Table 9.14 SCADA and network control capex forecasts included in Powercor Australia's Revised Regulatory Proposal

9.12 Non-network capex

9.12.1.1 Powercor Australia's Initial Regulatory Proposal

The non-network capex included in Powercor Australia's Initial Regulatory Proposal falls into two subcategories:⁸⁵⁰

- IT (supporting the management of distribution assets, relating to customer service systems, to corporate systems and underlying IT support architecture); and
- 'other' (including general equipment, motor vehicles, office furniture and property).

The IT subcategory can be further broken down into 'general' IT capex and capex related to projects designed to make use of some of the functions inherent in the AMI meters that would not have been initiated (and thus whose costs would not be recoverable) as part of the AMI roll-out. These projects are referred to as 'AMI leveraged projects'.

⁸⁵⁰ Initial Regulatory Proposal, pp131-132.

The AMI leveraged projects proposed by Powercor Australia (as joint projects with CitiPower) were the subject of a cost benefit analysis performed by PwC. They were found to give rise to significant benefits across the two businesses.⁸⁵¹

Powercor Australia set out its approach to forecasting IT capex in its Initial Regulatory Proposal.⁸⁵² Powercor Australia provided to the AER material projects templates setting out details of its forecasts in respect of four general IT projects (including the replacement of its CIS), as well as a material projects template in respect of the AMI leveraged projects.⁸⁵³

Powercor Australia also provided to the AER CHED Services' IT Strategic Plan 2010 - 2015,⁸⁵⁴ together with an independent review of that plan by Gartner Inc.⁸⁵⁵ Subsequent to the Initial Regulatory Proposal, Powercor Australia provided additional information relating to general IT capex in Powercor Australia's Response to the AER's Capex Guideline paper.⁸⁵⁶ On 26 February 2010, following a meeting with the AER on 10 February 2010, Powercor Australia provided to the AER a written response to its additional queries, including details of Powercor Australia's IT procedure on decommissioning of assets and of the build up of the replacement of the CIS and the governance processes for a number of IT projects.

9.12.2 AER's Draft Determination

In its Draft Determination, the AER observed that Victorian DNSPs' actual capex tends to follow a gradually increasing trend.⁸⁵⁷

The AER's findings regarding non-network – IT (general) capex, non-network – IT (AMI leveraged projects) capex and non-network – other capex are set out below.

9.12.2.1 Non-network – IT (general)

The AER concluded that Powercor Australia had underspent relative to the ESCV allowance in the current regulatory control period because it considered it was efficient to do so.⁸⁵⁸

The AER (somewhat inconsistently) also stated that each DNSP's IT activities in the current regulatory control period have been limited by operational capabilities and the amount of IT changes able to be tolerated by the DNSP. It sought to illustrate this by reference to the deferral by Powercor Australia of the replacement of its CIS as a result of the mandated AMI roll-out.⁸⁵⁹

The AER agreed with Nuttall Consulting that Powercor Australia does not have 'agile' IT architecture supporting its business operations and service delivery and that this absence of 'agile' IT environments will hinder Powercor Australia's ability to complete its proposed IT projects in the next regulatory control period. The AER further observed that the Victorian DNSPs' IT strategies do not discuss how their

⁸⁵¹ PwC, CitiPower and Powercor, AMI leveraged projects, An assessment of the justifiable need for investment in additional AMI capabilities, October 2009 (Attachment P0036 to the Initial Regulatory Proposal).

⁸⁵² Initial Regulatory Proposal, pp133-5.

⁸⁵³ Initial Regulatory Proposal, pp425-32.

⁸⁵⁴ Attachment P0010 to the Initial Regulatory Proposal.

⁸⁵⁵ Attachment P0012 to the Initial Regulatory Proposal.

⁸⁵⁶ The response was provided to the AER on 11 January 2010.

⁸⁵⁷ AER, Draft Determination, p418.

⁸⁵⁸ AER, Draft Determination, p420.

⁸⁵⁹ AER, Draft Determination, p421.

proposed IT investments would allow them to better respond in future to external events such as the mandated AMI roll-out.860

Accordingly, the AER concluded that 'the DNSPs will likely defer projects or adopt alternative projects in the forthcoming regulatory control period and accepted Nuttall Consulting's recommendation of reducing the general IT capex forecast by spreading Powercor Australia's IT capex forecast for 2011-13 evenly across 2011-15.861

9.12.2.2 Non-network – IT (AMI leveraged projects)

The AER accepted the conclusion reached by Nuttall Consulting, as a result of its investigation of the AMI leveraged projects, that there was no evidence of 'double counting' in Victorian DNSPs' non-network - IT capex of the AMI roll-out costs to be recovered by those DNSPs in accordance with the AER's AMI determination made in 2009.⁸⁶² Nonetheless, the AER did not allow any capex on AMI leveraged projects proposed by any Victorian DNSP.

The AER rejected Powercor Australia's proposed capex on AMI leveraged projects for the following reasons:

- the AER rejected the probative value of the PwC cost benefit analysis of the AMI • leveraged projects on the basis that it was prepared externally rather than internally:⁸⁶³
- the AER considered that the S factor scheme provides financial incentives to • Powercor Australia to implement projects (such as the AMI leveraged projects) that achieve reliability benefits;⁸⁶⁴ and
- the AER also concluded that the implementation of enhanced load shedding capabilities may defer some network reinforcement projects and thus the DNSPs' reinforcement capex amounts should allow for implementation of enhanced load shedding capabilities.⁸⁶⁵

9.12.2.3 Non-network - other

Regarding the non-network – other capex proposed by Powercor Australia, the AER indicated that Powercor Australia did not provide sufficient information regarding its proposed projects to satisfy the AER that the proposed capex reasonably reflects the capex criteria.⁸⁶⁶

Given it considered that similar issues and cost drivers were raised in support of the capex proposals for the current regulatory control period, the AER purported to allow capex consistent with the historical trend. In identifying the historical trend, the AER used 2004-08 data (excluding 2009 and 2010 on the basis that the data before the AER was forecast data only).⁸⁶⁷

⁸⁶⁰ AER, Draft Determination, p421.

⁸⁶¹ AER, Draft Determination, p422.

⁸⁶² AER, Draft Determination, p423.

⁸⁶³ AER, Draft Determination, p423.

⁸⁶⁴ AER, Draft Determination, p423.

⁸⁶⁵ AER, Draft Determination, p423.

⁸⁶⁶ AER, Draft Determination, p432. ⁸⁶⁷ AER, Draft Determination, p429.

While the AER purported to allow capex consistent with historical spend, in fact, in respect of non-network – other capex, the AER provided Powercor Australia with capex significantly below actual historic spend.

9.12.3 Powercor Australia's response to the AER's Draft Determination

9.12.3.1 Summary

Powercor Australia maintains that its proposed non-network – IT capex forecasts reasonably reflect the capex criteria.

Powercor Australia's expenditure in the current regulatory control period has been reduced relative to the ESCV's allowance in the 2006-10 EDPR as a result of the mandated AMI roll-out. Powercor Australia does not consider that an event such as the AMI roll-out will occur in the next regulatory control period such that Powercor Australia's non-network – IT capex should be constrained to the levels of its actual expenditure in the current regulatory control period. Powercor Australia rejects Nuttall Consulting's assertion that its IT systems are not 'agile' and submits that its proposed expenditure is required to ensure that its systems will remain 'agile' in the next regulatory control period.

The AER cannot discount the evidentiary value of the external cost benefit analysis Powercor Australia obtained from PwC in respect of its AMI leveraged project on the basis that it is not an internal assessment. As part of this Revised Regulatory Proposal, Powercor Australia has removed one of the components from the AMI leveraged project that is able to be recovered through the S-factor scheme. Powercor Australia also rejects the AER's proposition that reinforcement capex deferrals would contribute to the funding of AMI leveraged projects.

In addition, Powercor Australia maintains that its proposed non-network – other capex forecasts reasonably reflect the capex criteria. The AER allowed an amount for non-network – other capex that is well below actual historic spend. The AER's allowance cannot reasonably reflect the capex criteria.

For the reasons outlined in the 'General issues' section above, Powercor Australia considers that the AER should use 2009 actual data in its trend analysis. Powercor Australia notes that, as demonstrated by Figures 9.4 and 9.5 below, when 2009 actual data is incorporated into the analysis, the AER's conclusion that Powercor Australia's actual non-network capex follows a gradually increasing trend is less compelling.



Figure 9.4 Powercor Australia's historical non-network - IT capex





9.12.3.2 Non-network – IT (general)

Contrary to the AER's suggestion that Powercor Australia underspent on IT (relative to the ESCV allowance) in the current regulatory control period because it was efficient to do so, Powercor Australia reiterates that Powercor Australia underspent because it directed IT resources to the implementation of the mandated AMI rollout. Thus, the decision to reduce expenditure on non-AMI IT was not based on reasons of efficiency, but on the need to respond to new legal obligations emerging in the course of the regulatory control period. The AER recognised as much, in stating that each DNSP's IT activities in the current regulatory control period have been limited by operational capabilities and the amount of IT changes able to be tolerated by the DNSP.

As discussed above, the AER rejected Powercor Australia's proposed non-network - IT (general) capex because it concluded that '*the DNSPs will likely defer projects or adopt alternative projects in the forthcoming regulatory control period*'. ⁸⁶⁸ While the AER's reasoning process is not made wholly explicit in the Draft Determination, the AER would appear to have reached this conclusion because:

- the Victorian DNSPs' IT activities in the current regulatory control period have been limited by operational capabilities and the amount of IT changes able to be tolerated by the DNSPs, the AER's inference being that Powercor Australia's proposed general IT projects for the 2011-15 period are likely to be similarly constrained in this period; and
- the asserted lack of 'agility' of the Victorian DNSPs' IT architecture supporting its business operations and service delivery will hinder Powercor Australia's ability to complete its proposed IT projects in the next regulatory control period.

As noted above, Powercor Australia agrees that its IT activities in the current regulatory control period have been reduced from those in the previous regulatory control period, as a result of the mandated AMI roll-out.⁸⁶⁹ However, Powercor Australia does not accept the AER's inference that this means it will likely defer or modify its proposed non-network - IT projects in the 2011-15 period.

In making this inference, the AER has assumed that an event akin to the mandated AMI roll-out will occur in the next regulatory control period. There is no basis for concluding that such an event will occur in the next regulatory control period.

The task with which the AER is charged is to assess whether Powercor Australia's nonnetwork - IT capex reasonably reflects the efficient and prudent costs required to achieve the capex objectives. In making this assessment, the AER must do so on the basis of a reasonable expectation of future external events.

To assume that an event akin to the mandated AMI roll-out will occur in the next regulatory control period, and thus to reduce Powercor Australia's proposed nonnetwork - IT capex because of the limitations such an event would impose on its operational capabilities, is not reasonable. Regulatory change necessitating an IT project of the size and scale of the AMI roll-out is an exceptional event. There is no

⁸⁶⁸ AER, Draft Determination, p422.

⁸⁶⁹ The most significant example of this was the deferral of the replacement of the CIS. As noted in the material projects table relating to this project and the slides provided to the AER on 26 February 2010, the replacement of the CIS was deferred because the introduction of AMI meant that changing billing systems could potentially increase the risks of delivering the AMI project. The deferral was not the result of limitations on Powercor Australia's IT capabilities or its ability to accommodate IT change.

reason to think (and certainly no evidence on which to reach a conclusion) that regulatory changes necessitating an IT project of the size and scale of the AMI roll-out will occur in the next regulatory control period.

It is only where the AER determines that there is a realistic expectation of a future event necessitating an IT project of a size and scale similar to that necessitated by the AMI roll-out, in circumstances where the resultant costs will not be recovered through charges for standard control services, that the deferral of IT projects by Powercor Australia in the current regulatory control period as a result of the mandated AMI roll-out provides a basis for concluding that 'the DNSPs will likely defer projects or adopt alternative projects in the forthcoming regulatory control period'. Powercor Australia maintains that there is little possibility of such a future event.

Powercor Australia rejects Nuttall Consulting's assertion that its IT systems are not 'agile'. This is for a number of reasons.

The detail of Nuttall Consulting's analysis is not DNSP specific.⁸⁷⁰ As a result, Nuttall Consulting's findings are gross generalisations and do not take into account the specific circumstances of Powercor Australia.

In discussing the concept of agility in its report, Nuttall Consulting provides examples of the kinds of IT infrastructure it considers to be 'agile'.⁸⁷¹ A number of these technology approaches are already within use across Powercor Australia's business. Powercor Australia has, for instance (as Nuttall Consulting recognises in its report), used Server Virtualisation since 2004.⁸⁷² Server Virtualisation delivers each of the attributes described by Nuttall Consulting in its report⁸⁷³ being high availability, enhanced disaster recovery, portability and live migration.

Further, many systems commonly considered to be 'agile' systems are used by Powercor Australia. For example:

- Powercor Australia has had 'open systems' since 1999;
- it uses commercial 'off the shelf' software rather than customer software; and
- Powercor Australia's IT systems already have identity management to enable many users across multiple systems.

Powercor Australia ensures its systems are agile by using leading technology platform providers. For example, business applications are supplied by SAP, GE Energy and Microsoft. Powercor Australia's DBMS facilities are by Oracle, SQL Server and its infrastructure is by Hitachi Data Systems, Hewlett-Packard, CISCO Systems, Sun and Toshiba. Powercor Australia's IT services are sourced from a number of different providers to maximise value, demand and skill flexibility, including Computer Sciences Corporation Australia, WiPro IT Business, General Electric Energy, DWS Advance Business Solutions, SMS Management & Technology and Logica Australia.⁸⁷⁴

⁸⁷⁰ Nuttall Consulting, Report – Capital Expenditure, 4 June 2010, pp74-81.

⁸⁷¹ Nuttall Consulting, Report – Capital Expenditure, 4 June 2010, pp78-81.

⁸⁷² Nuttall Consulting, Report – Capital Expenditure, 4 June 2010, p215.

⁸⁷³ Nuttall Consulting, Report – Capital Expenditure, 4 June 2010, p79.

⁸⁷⁴ More details regarding Powercor Australia's IT service providers are set out in Attachment 173 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal.

Powercor Australia ensures its systems are agile by using leading technology platform providers.

Powercor Australia also notes that it has demonstrated repeatedly over the past 15 years its ability to manage and execute major IT projects including those necessitated by the SECV privatisation, the introduction of full retail contestability in Victoria, the merger with CitiPower and the AMI roll-out.

If AMI IT expenditure is added to (standard control) non-network – IT capex, the amounts invested by CitiPower and Powercor Australia exceed the ESCV allowance for both businesses. In nominal terms, CitiPower and Powercor Australia spent \$16m, \$28m and \$45m in the period 2006-08. The overall expenditure by Powercor Australia on IT systems in the current regulatory control period therefore demonstrates that its systems are sufficiently 'agile' to accommodate a significant degree of IT development.

While the AER used the deferral of the replacement of the CIS as an example of Powercor Australia deferring capex because of limitations on its IT capabilities and the amount of IT change that can be accommodated by Powercor Australia,⁸⁷⁵ this deferral was not for these reasons. Rather, as noted in the material projects template relating to the CIS and the slides provided to the AER on 26 February 2010,⁸⁷⁶ the replacement of the CIS was deferred because the introduction of AMI meant that changing billing systems could potentially increase the risks of delivering the AMI project.

Powercor Australia observes that the implementation of a new billing system is a highly complex major project. It is necessary to establish clearly defined requirements at the project initiation stage and any variation to the project must be minimised during the life of the project to reduce the risk of increased cost and time delays. In the absence of absolute certainty of the emerging billing requirements (e.g. TOU Tariffs) an AMI environment introduced an unacceptable level of risk that any new billing system would quickly become redundant. This would have inflated the total cost of the project implementation. Instead, Powercor Australia made tactical enhancements to the existing billing system to extend its life to the end of the AMI rollout. The replacement program is scheduled to ensure that all AMI requirements can be identified in the new billing systems application. Accordingly, it is clear that the deferral was not the result of limitations on Powercor Australia's IT capabilities or its ability to accommodate IT change.

In this regard, Powercor Australia notes that the AER's Draft Determination is inconsistent with the AER's decision to allow capex to ETSA for the CIS.⁸⁷⁷ The replacement is a joint project between ETSA, CitiPower and Powercor Australia. The expert engaged by the AER in ETSA's price review process, PB, concluded that ETSA's proposed IT capex was prudent and efficient.⁸⁷⁸ PB noted that replacement of the CIS was required because the IT platform support has been extended as far as possible because of the discontinued vendor systems and that ETSA's cost sharing

⁸⁷⁵ AER, Draft Determination, p421.

⁸⁷⁶ CitiPower and Powercor Australia, Project Proposal CIS Replacement 2013 – 2015, May 2009 (provided to the AER by email on 26 February 2010), slide 3.

 ⁸⁷⁷ AER, South Australian Draft Determination, p171; AER, South Australian Distribution Determination, pp105-6.
 ⁸⁷⁸ PB, Review of ETSA Utilities regulatory proposal for the period July 2010 to Jun 2015, November 2009 (Attachment 135 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p100.

with CitiPower and Powercor Australia was an efficient way to manage the replacement.⁸⁷⁹

The AER noted in its Draft Determination that CitiPower and Powercor Australia had *'already deferred'* the replacement of the CIS from the current regulatory control period to 2014 in the next regulatory control period.⁸⁸⁰ The AER appears to be implying that CitiPower and Powercor Australia may defer the project again. However, the project cannot be further delayed. This is because:

- the vendor of the existing CIS (CIS-OV) ceased business in 1995. The asset was purchased by Logica but immediately withdrawn from the market. This means that there is no committed support for the product;
- all vendor initiated development of CIS-OV ceased in 2003. As a consequence, no product maintenance or enhancements are initiated by the vendor;
- by 2015, the CIS-OV will be 16 years old and well beyond its expected service life. The underlying technology supporting CIS-OV (Cobol, Powerbuilder & Tuxedo) will become obsolete; and
- Powercor Australia is one of the last remaining customers in the world using CIS-OV in this form.

As noted in the material projects template provided in the Initial Regulatory Proposal, the above means that the lack of ongoing support for the CIS-OV presents a risk to Powercor Australia as the stability of its system is likely to be impaired. Failure to update the system will also mean that the full benefits of AMI cannot be realised.

Against this background, the AER's rejection of Powercor Australia's non-network - IT capex including that required for replacement of the CIS is contrary and internally inconsistent. The AER rejects that capex, in part, on the (incorrect) basis that Powercor Australia's existing IT infrastructure is not 'agile'. But, in so doing, the AER does not fund Powercor Australia to implement the very IT projects, such as the replacement of the CIS, required if Powercor Australia is to maintain the agility of its IT infrastructure in 2011-15 and beyond.

Powercor Australia notes Nuttall Consulting's findings that, in light of the many unknowns in operating a DNSP business, an efficient DNSP would require agile IT architecture that would be able to readily accommodate a reasonable level of change even before a major capital investment is required.⁸⁸¹ Much of Powercor Australia's proposed capex is aimed at keeping systems 'agile' and avoiding technical and commercial obsolescence. For example, the proposed capex includes:

- the replacement of the CIS, which, as discussed in greater detail above is required to ensure the system remains 'agile';
- the replacement of a PABX system that is over 20 years old with VoIP and associated unified communication software, which provides one network for

⁸⁷⁹ PB, Review of ETSA Utilities regulatory proposal for the period July 2010 to Jun 2015, November 2009 (Attachment 135 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p99. The CIS is one component of the 'FRC systems' referred to by PB. A general discussion of the FRC systems is included in a report by SMS Consulting (commissioned by ETSA), Strategic Scenarios Assessment, 25 February 2009, Attachment F.11 to ETSA's regulatory proposal (Attachment 107 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal).

⁸⁸⁰ AER, Draft Determination, p421.

⁸⁸¹ Nuttall Consulting, Report – Capital Expenditure, 4 June 2010, p79.

voice and data services and will result in improved customer service, optimise system availability and maximise business efficiency;⁸⁸²

- growth and refreshment of SANS, archive backup and de-duplication technology and upgrade system monitoring systems;
- replacing aging TMR technology;
- undertaking cyclical upgrades of Unix, Linux, Window Servers for capacity of maintenance at supported levels migrating to Blade technology where supported;
- cyclical upgrades of Core Network Switches, LAN Switches, Firewalls, Remote Access (VPN, Citrix), Security Gateway Technology Systems (Firewalls, Reverse proxy, Internet & Email protection systems);
- cyclical upgrades of Identity Management, Antivirus, Anti Malware, AntiSpyware, Host Intrusion Prevention and Data loss prevention systems; and
- cyclical upgrades of desk top virtualisation, software packaging, operating systems and office productivity systems.

In contrast to the AER's comment that the Victorian DNSPs' IT strategies do not discuss how their proposed IT investments would allow them to better respond in future to external events such as the mandated AMI roll-out,⁸⁸³ Powercor Australia believes it has a proven record in responding to external events and changes. The IT Policies, IT Application Strategies, IT Sourcing Strategies, all contained in the Information Technology Strategic Plan 2010-15,⁸⁸⁴ clearly set out strategies that have, and will continue to, enable the Powercor Australia to establish itself from the SECV, manage the introduction of the goods and services tax, deal with Y2K, develop systems for full retail contestability in Victoria and South Australia, and deal with multiple company mergers, divestures and purchases. In addition, Powercor Australia has made extensive investments in lessons learned and 'future proofing' to allow it to respond to ever increasing changes in the electricity sector and the technology arena.

Thus, Powercor Australia's proposed capex for each of the above projects should be considered prudent and efficient.

Upgrading infrastructure is also critical to managing increasing staff numbers, increasing security requirements, managing growing data volumes, constant monitoring (i.e. 24 hours, seven days a week) of systems and maintaining Powercor Australia's disaster recovery programs. Table 9.15 below demonstrates the growth in IT infrastructure since 2003, thus demonstrating the need for continued growth in IT infrastructure.

⁸⁸² Initial Regulatory Proposal, p426.

⁸⁸³ AER, Draft Determination, p421.

⁸⁸⁴ Attachment P0010 to the Initial Regulatory Proposal.

	2003	2004	2005	2006	2007	2008	2009	2010
Windows Servers	80	111	111	104	160	295	366	450
Unix / Linux Servers	25	35	38	32	38	53	84	90
Oracle Databases	55	125	140	160	177	193	260	298
SQL Databases	5	6	6	11	20	45	53	65
SAP Systems	5	6	10	14	17	13	19	24
LAN/WAN Devices			158	154	165	174	188	210
Security Devices	2	6	6	8	8	16	28	34
Disk Terabytes	10	20	28	45	53	68	90	210

 Table 9.15 Growth in CitiPower and Powercor Australia's IT infrastructure

Powercor Australia does not consider that an amount based on historical non-network – IT capex will provide sufficient capex in the next regulatory control period to allow Powercor Australia to meet the capex objectives. As the AER itself acknowledged, given the variability of capex amounts in this category, the historic trend cannot completely determine future requirements.⁸⁸⁵ Powercor Australia requests that the AER actively engage in considering the material before it (in both the Initial Regulatory Proposal and this Revised Regulatory Proposal). If it does so, the AER should be satisfied that the proposed expenditure is prudent and efficient and reasonably reflects the capex criteria.

9.12.3.3 Non-network – IT (AMI leveraged projects)

As noted in the 'General issues' section above, the AER cannot discount the evidentiary value of the external cost benefit analysis Powercor Australia obtained from PwC in respect of the AMI leveraged projects on the basis that it is not an internal assessment of the projects. The PwC report provides an independent expert opinion that identifies the significant benefits of the AMI leveraged projects for CitiPower and Powercor Australia's customers and concludes that the projects are justified on the basis of a cost benefit analysis.⁸⁸⁶ There is no foundation for the AER's conclusion that the probative value of this PwC report is reduced by reason of the fact that it contains an independent expert analysis of the costs and benefits of the relevant projects rather than an internal assessment. To the contrary, the fact that the PwC report is an **independent** and **expert** opinion, rather than an internal opinion, if anything, increases its probative value.

Contrary to the AER's conclusion in the Draft Determination, Powercor Australia cannot recover its costs for the AMI leveraged projects through the S factor scheme. Powercor Australia acknowledges that **one** of the AMI leveraged projects (specifically, automatic outage notification) may generate a STPIS saving. Powercor Australia has therefore removed this particular project in preparing its capex forecasts in this Revised Regulatory Proposal. Powercor Australia notes that, even if the automatic outage notification is removed from the analysis, PwC's review indicates that the AMI leveraged projects give rise to an expected benefit of \$61,505,000.⁸⁸⁷ The costs of the

⁸⁸⁵ AER, Draft Determination, p419.

⁸⁸⁶ PwC, CitiPower and Powercor, AMI leveraged projects, An assessment of the justifiable need for investment in additional AMI capabilities, October 2009 (Attachment P0036 to the Initial Regulatory Proposal).

⁸⁸⁷ PwC, CitiPower and Powercor, AMI leveraged projects, An assessment of the justifiable need for investment in additional AMI capabilities, October 2009 (Attachment P0036 to the Initial Regulatory Proposal), p49.

remaining AMI leveraged projects proposed by Powercor Australia (set out in Table 9.16 below), however, will not be funded through the S factor.

Additional capability	Description	STPIS implication		
Enhanced load shedding capability	Using the AMI meters' functionality to enable more granular emergency load shedding by allowing a 'bottom-up' choice of customer load shed, in order to reduce the cost of unserved energy from necessary load sheds.	None. The enhanced load shedding functionality is intended for use during times where the DNSP is directed to shed load by AEMO. Load shedding is excluded from the STPIS.		
Enhanced powerflow analysis – near real time network data	Leveraging data collected by the AMI meters to provide forecasting and scheduling information and simulation capability to improve network management and asset optimisation. This functionality will be particularly important in the context of increasing embedded or distributed generation sources.	None. The additional functionality is intended to assist network planners in determining when and where to augment the network.		
Quality of supply event recording – proactive voltage compliant analysis	Utilising the AMI meters' Quality of Supply (QoS) recording to allow improved analysis, network management and customer service. This will allow the businesses to adequately monitor quality of supply compliance.	None. Quality of supply measures are not part of the STPIS.		
Customer load controls	Enabling implementation of agreed load limits, including emergency supply constraints.	None. The customer load control functionality is intended for use during times where the DNSP is directed to shed load by AEMO. Load shedding events are excluded from the STPIS.		
Consumption profiling	An analytical capability, whereby supply data may be quickly and easily analysed to establish consumer profiles for network planning and forecasting. This ability to understand consumer profiles will enhance the load shedding capability.	None. Consumption profiling will be used by network planners to improve decisions with respect to when and where to augment the network. It will also assist in tariff design.		

Table 9.16 AMI leveraged projects proposed by Powercor Australia

Powercor Australia rejects the proposition that reinforcement capex deferrals would contribute to the funding of the AMI leveraged projects.

The AER reasoned that, as the AMI leveraged projects would enable reinforcement capex deferrals, a portion of the reinforcement capex allowed by the AER in the Draft Determination for the 2011-15 period could be redirected to funding the AMI leveraged projects in that period. However, the AER's reasoning assumes that any

reinforcement capex savings associated with the AMI leveraged projects would be realised in the 2011-15 regulatory control period. This assumption is incorrect.

Any reinforcement capex savings associated with the AMI leveraged projects would be realised only after completion of those projects. The AMI leveraged projects are only scheduled for completion in 2015.⁸⁸⁸ This eliminates the potential for any reinforcement capex deferral benefit to arise in the period 2011-15 and, thus also, the potential for such a benefit to be used to (partially) fund the implementation of the AMI leveraged projects in that period.

Further, the AER would be expected to take into account capital deferral benefits likely to be realised in the 2016-20 period as a result of the AMI leveraged projects upfront, i.e. it would not allow reinforcement capex that could be deferred through the AMI leveraged projects in the period 2016-20. As a consequence, the benefit of any network reinforcement deferral will be passed immediately through to customers without Powercor Australia obtaining any share of those benefits that could be directed towards (partially) funding the AMI leveraged projects.

9.12.3.4 Non-network – other

In the Draft Determination the AER adopted an inconsistent approach in assessing non-network - other capex compared to network - related capex.

In respect of network - related capex, the AER concluded that the recent historic network capex levels were reflective of the prudent and efficient management of the asset base⁸⁸⁹. By contrast, for non-network - other capex, the AER provided Powercor Australia with capex significantly **below** actual historic spend.

The AER provided Powercor Australia with non-network - other capex totalling \$40 million (\$2010) for the next regulatory control period. However, Powercor Australia's actual historic non-network - other capex spend for 2005-2009 was \$90 million (\$2010) in total. Accordingly, in fact for non-network - other capex, the AER provided Powercor Australia with capex that was \$50 million (\$2010) below actual historic spend.

This decision is contrary to the AER's statement in the Draft Determination that: 890

'Given that similar issues and cost drivers were raised in support of the capex proposals for the current and previous regulatory control periods, the AER considers that the actual/out-turn expenditure represents the efficient capex amount'.

The AER rejected Powercor Australia's proposed non-network - other capex on the grounds that Powercor Australia:⁸⁹¹

- had not adequately demonstrated how engineering judgements had been translated into a step change in expenditure;
- had not demonstrated an underlying need for a step increase in investment supported by an economic justification; and

⁸⁸⁸ PwC, CitiPower and Powercor, AMI leveraged projects, An assessment of the justifiable need for investment in additional AMI capabilities, October 2009 (Attachment P0036 to the Initial Regulatory Proposal), p15 (Table 2.3).
⁸⁸⁹ Nuttall Consulting, Report – Capital Expenditure, 4 June 2010, p29.

⁸⁹⁰ AER, Draft Determination, p430.

⁸⁹¹ AER, Draft Determination, p432.

• had not demonstrated why it cannot manage existing programs and associated risks within the current level of expenditure and existing practices as achieved in the current period.

Powercor Australia provides the following response to the AER's points:

- It is unclear how engineering judgement is a factor in determining a step change in expenditure for non-network other capex considering this category captures projects of a non-engineering nature.
- The majority of non-network other capex relates to ongoing non-operational activities such as motor vehicles, general equipment, office furniture etc, which is required to support management and operation of the network in accordance with good electricity practice. By their very nature, it is difficult to apply a separate cost-benefit analysis for every chair and vehicle. Accordingly, Powercor Australia has demonstrated for discrete projects such as the replacement of mobile cranes the need for the investment.
- In circumstances where the AER's approved expenditure is substantially less than the historic direct capex spend, Powercor Australia fails to understand the AER's comment that it has not demonstrated why it cannot management existing programs and associated risks within the current level of expenditure, This comment by the AER suggests that (contrary to what the AER has actually done) the AER proposed to at least approve expenditure commensurate with Powercor Australia's current level of expenditure.

Further, as discussed in the 'General issues' section above, Powercor Australia considers that, in forecasting the non-network – other capex required in the next regulatory control period by reference to historical capex, the AER should include 2009 actual data. Accordingly, Powercor Australia maintains that the AER should accept its proposed non-network – other capex forecasts as reasonably reflecting the capex criteria

9.12.4 Powercor Australia's Revised Regulatory Proposal

	\$'000 (real 2010)					
	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015	Total
Non-Network Assets - IT	26,496	23,136	21,010	32,885	26,337	129,864
Non-Network Assets - Other	17,143	18,291	17,381	17,535	17,505	87,855
Non-Network Assets - Total	43,639	41,427	38,391	50,420	43,842	217,719

The non-network capex forecasts included in Powercor Australia's Revised Regulatory Proposal are set out in Table 9.17 below.

 Table 9.17 Non-network capex forecasts included in Powercor Australia's Revised Regulatory Proposal

9.13 Powercor Australia's Revised Regulatory Proposal

The total forecast capex included in Powercor Australia's Revised Regulatory Proposal is set out in Table 9.18. The key assumptions which underlie the proposed capex as set out and included in Powercor Australia's building block proposal are listed in Appendix 1.1 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal.

	\$'000 (real 2010)							
	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015	Total		
Reinforcement	55,783	57,783	63,740	65,198	71,173	313,678		
Gross new customer connections	141,298	144,460	147,090	148,956	150,651	732,456		
Sub-total demand related	197,082	202,243	210,831	214,154	221,824	1,046,134		
Reliability and quality maintained	91,052	100,364	99,862	94,776	95,777	481,831		
Environmental, safety and legal	8,211	8,352	8,456	8,527	8,595	42,141		
SCADA/Network Control	6,959	7,605	7,815	7,684	7,662	37,724		
Sub-total network	303,303	318,564	326,964	325,141	333,858	1,607,830		
Non-network - IT	26,496	23,136	21,010	32,885	26,337	129,864		
Non-network - other	17,143	18,291	17,381	17,535	17,505	87,855		
Sub-total non-network	43,639	41,427	38,391	50,420	43,842	217,719		
Total gross capex	346,942	359,991	365,355	375,560	377,701	1,825,549		
Less capital contributions	42,190	43,248	44,062	44,582	45,124	219,205		
Total	304,753	316,743	321,293	330,979	332,577	1,606,344		

Table 9.18 Total forecast capex included in Powercor Australia's Revised Regulatory Proposal
10. OPENING ASSET BASE

In this Chapter of the Revised Regulatory Proposal, Powercor Australia responds to Chapter 9 of the Draft Determination regarding Powercor Australia's opening asset base.

10.1 Summary of key points

Powercor Australia accepts the approach set out in the Draft Determination in relation to the opening RAB except for the AER's adjustment to account for the difference between estimated and actual disposals in 2005. Powercor Australia does not consider that the AER's adjustment to disposals is permitted by the Rules.

10.2 Rules requirements

Clause 6.4.3(a)(1) of the Rules provides that the indexation of the RAB is one of the building blocks to be used in calculating the ARR for the next regulatory control period. Clause 6.4.3(b)(1) of the Rules requires that this indexation be undertaken in accordance with:

- clause 6.5.1 of the Rules, which details the basis on which the AER must develop and publish a model to roll forward the RAB between regulatory years;
- schedule 6.2 of the Rules, which provides information on establishing the opening RAB for the next regulatory control period and rolling the RAB forward between years.

Clauses S6.2.1(c) and S6.2.1(e) of the Rules specify the adjustments that the AER must make when rolling forward the RAB to determine the opening RAB as at 1 January 2011. The only adjustments that the AER is permitted to make are those set out in these clauses.

10.3 Powercor Australia's Initial Regulatory Proposal

Powercor Australia provided as an attachment to its Initial Regulatory Proposal a Roll Forward Model setting out the roll forward of the RAB to 31 December 2010.⁸⁹²

	\$m (nominal)					
	2006	2010				
Opening RAB	1,651.5	1,756.7	1,879.6	1,970.2	2,116.9	
Net capital expenditure	166.9	167.7	173.7	171.9	199.1	
Disposals	4.9	2.3	3.0	-	-	
Depreciation	106.7	111.6	115.1	123.4	126.1	
Indexation of RAB	50.0	69.2	35.0	98.1	26.7	
Closing RAB	1,756.7	1,879.6	1,970.2	2,116.9	2,216.6	

Table 10.1 shows the roll forward of Powercor Australia's RAB to 31 December 2010 as set out in the Initial Regulatory Proposal.⁸⁹³

Table 10.1 Initial Regulatory Proposal - Roll forward of the RAB from 1 January 2006 to 31 December 2010

⁸⁹² Roll Forward Model (Attachment 3 to the Initial Regulatory Proposal).

⁸⁹³ Initial Regulatory Proposal, p302.

10.4 AER's Draft Determination

The AER's decision on Powercor Australia's opening RAB in the Draft Determination is set out in Table 10.2.⁸⁹⁴

	\$m (2010)					
	2006	2007	2008	2009	2010	
Opening RAB	1,916.8	1,978.7	2,034.4	2,093.0	2,136.2	
Net capex	182.0	176.5	181.0	168.2	199.1	
Depreciation	-120.1	-120.9	-122.4	-124.9	-126.9	
Compound return on 2005 capex difference					-4.3	
Closing RAB	1,978.7	2,034.4	2,093.0	2,136.2	2,204.9	
Difference from proposed RAB					-11.7	

 Table 10.2: Draft Determination - Roll forward of the RAB from 1 January 2006 to 31 December 2010

The AER's Roll Forward Model calculates 2005 actual and estimated net capex by subtracting 2005 actual and estimated disposals. As a result, the AER has made an adjustment to the opening value of the RAB to account for the difference between estimated and actual disposals in 2005.

The AER's Roll Forward Model also applies the cash value of proceeds from the sale of assets for disposals whereas Powercor Australia proposed applying the book value of disposals.⁸⁹⁵

In calculating the roll forward of the RAB from 1 January 2011 to 31 December 2015, the AER has accepted Powercor Australia's forecast in its Initial Regulatory Proposal of zero disposals over the period.

10.5 Powercor Australia's response to the AER's Draft Determination

Powercor Australia accepts the approach set out in the Draft Determination in relation to the opening RAB, except for the AER's adjustment to the value of 2005 disposals. Powercor Australia considers that the AER does not have any power under the Rules to make this adjustment.

Clause S6.2.1(e)(6) permits the AER, in determining the opening RAB value for 2011-15, to make adjustments to remove the disposal value of any asset disposed of in the previous regulatory control period, i.e. in 2006-10. It does not empower the AER to make adjustments for disposals occurring prior to the previous regulatory control period, e.g. in 2005.

Clause S6.2.1(c)(2) contains a specific power for the AER to make adjustments for the difference between estimated and actual capex in *any* previous regulatory control period, i.e. it would allow the AER to make such adjustments for the difference between estimated and actual capex in 2005. The Rules do not contain any similar

⁸⁹⁴ AER, Draft Determination, p455.

⁸⁹⁵ AER, Draft Determination, p444.

power to make adjustments for the difference between estimated and actual disposals in *any* previous regulatory control period, e.g. in 2005.

An adjustment to account for disposals is not permitted by the Rules as part of making the adjustment for the difference between estimated and actual capex in *any* previous regulatory control period under clause S6.2.1(c)(2). To construe the power conferred by clause S6.2.1(c)(2) in this manner would be erroneous. This is because the existence of clause S6.2.1(e)(6), which specifically provides for disposals and confers a power to make an adjustment to account for the disposal value of any asset that was disposed of in the previous regulatory control period (i.e. 2006-10), indicates that clauses S6.2.1(c)(2) and S6.2.1(e)(3) do not confer such a power.

This express power in relation to disposals in the 2006-10 period, and the absence of any similar power in relation to disposals in any prior period, confirms that:

- a power to make an adjustment for 2005 disposals could not have been intended to be within the scope of the capex adjustment permitted by clause S6.2.1(c)(2); and
- accordingly, the AER does not have any power to make an adjustment to account for the difference between estimated and actual disposals in 2005.

Powercor Australia accepts the AER's approach of applying the cash value of proceeds from the sale of assets for disposals instead of the book value of disposals. It also accepts the AER's decision that forecast disposals for the 2011-15 period are zero.

10.6 Powercor Australia's Revised Regulatory Proposal

Powercor Australia amends its Initial Regulatory Proposal to adopt the approach set out in the Draft Determination in relation to the opening RAB, except for the AER's adjustment to the value of disposals in 2005. Powercor Australia considers that no adjustment should be made to account for the difference between estimated and actual disposals in 2005.

	\$m (nominal)				
	2006	2010			
Opening RAB	1,654.3	1,759.3	1,880.0	1,970.2	2,110.9
Net capex	166.9	167.7	173.7	167.0	207.2
Disposals	5.2	4.6	3.5	1.0	-
Depreciation	106.7	111.6	115.1	123.4	126.1
Indexation of RAB	50.1	69.3	35.0	98.1	26.6
Closing RAB	1,759.3	1,880.0	1,970.2	2,110.9	2,218.6

Powercor Australia's calculation of the opening RAB is set out in Table 10.3.

 Table 10.3
 Roll forward of the RAB from 1 January 2006 to 31 December 2010

Powercor Australia's calculation of the roll forward of the RAB from 1 January 2011 to 31 December 2015 is set out in Table 10.4.

	\$m (nominal)					
	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015	
Opening RAB	2,214.7	2,476.9	2,751.8	3,032.1	3,323.8	
Net capex	324.4	345.6	359.5	379.9	391.5	
Disposals	-	-	-	-	-	
Depreciation	119.1	134.3	150.0	166.1	185.2	
Indexation of RAB	56.9	63.7	70.7	77.9	85.4	
Closing RAB	2,476.9	2,751.8	3,032.1	3,323.8	3,615.6	

 Table 10.4: Roll forward of the RAB from 1 January 2011 to 31 December 2015

11. DEPRECIATION

In this Chapter of the Revised Regulatory Proposal, Powercor Australia responds to Chapter 10 of the Draft Determination regarding depreciation.

11.1 Summary of key points

Powercor Australia accepts the approach set out in the Draft Determination in relation to depreciation, except for the minor adjustments and corrections to the AER's calculations that are set out in Powercor Australia's Roll Forward Model.

11.2 Rules requirements

Depreciation must be calculated in accordance with clause 6.5.5 of the Rules, which provides:

- *'(a) The depreciation for each* regulatory year:
 - (1) must be calculated on the value of the assets as included in the regulatory asset base, as at the beginning of that regulatory year, for the relevant distribution system; and
 - (2) *must be calculated:*
 - (i) providing such depreciation schedules conform with the requirements set out in paragraph (b), using the depreciation schedules for each asset or category of assets that are nominated in the relevant Distribution Network Service Provider's building block proposal; or
 - (ii) to the extent the depreciation schedules nominated in the provider's building block proposal do not so conform, using the depreciation schedules determined for that purpose by the AER.
- (b) The depreciation schedules referred to in paragraph (a) must conform to the following requirements:
 - (1) the schedules must depreciate using a profile that reflects the nature of the assets or category of assets over the economic life of that asset or category of assets;
 - (2) the sum of the real value of the depreciation that is attributable to any asset or category of assets over the economic life of that asset or category of assets (such real value being calculated as at the time the value of that asset or category of assets was first included in the regulatory asset base for the relevant distribution system) must be equivalent to the value at which that asset or category of assets was first included in the regulatory asset base for the relevant distribution system;
 - (3) the economic life of the relevant assets and the depreciation methods and rates underpinning the calculation of depreciation for a given regulatory control period must be consistent with those determined for the same assets on a prospective basis in the distribution determination for that period.'

Powercor Australia's Initial Regulatory Proposal 11.3

In its Initial Regulatory Proposal, Powercor Australia used the AER's Post Tax Revenue Model to calculate depreciation in accordance with the requirements of clause 6.5.5 of the Rules as follows:⁸⁹⁶

	\$m (nominal)					
	2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 1					
Depreciation	64.3	72.7	81.2	90.3	101.5	410.0

Table 11.1 Initial Regulatory Proposal - Depreciation

This depreciation calculation was based on the following proposed asset lives:⁸⁹⁷

	Standard	Remaining
Subtransmission	50.0	25.8
Distribution system assets	51.0	25.5
Metering	15.0	5.8
Public lighting	25.0	14.1
SCADA/Network control	13.0	6.4
Non-network - IT	6.0	5.2
Non-network - Other	15.0	9.7

Table 11.2 Initial Regulatory Proposal - Asset lives (years)

11.4 **AER's Draft Determination**

In the Draft Determination, the AER determined that Powercor Australia's depreciation for each regulatory year should be as follows:⁸⁹⁸

	\$m (nominal)						
	2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 Total						
Depreciation	62.0	68.1	74.6	81.5	88.9	375.1	

Table 1.3	Draft Determinatio	on - Depreciation
-----------	---------------------------	-------------------

⁸⁹⁶ Powercor Australia, Post Tax Revenue Model (Attachment 2 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal).

 ⁸⁹⁷ Initial Regulatory Proposal, p298.
 ⁸⁹⁸ AER, Draft Determination, p477.

	2011-15 standard asset lives for new capex	2011-15 remaining asset lives
Subtransmission	50.0	25.8
Distribution system assets	51.0	25.7
Metering	N/A	5.8
Public lighting	N/A	13.1
SCADA/Network control	13.0	6.3
Non-network - IT	6.0	5.2
Non-network - Other	15.0	9.7
Equity raising costs	45.2	N/A

This depreciation calculation was based on the following asset lives:⁸⁹⁹

 Table 11.4 Draft Determination - Asset lives (years)

11.5 Powercor Australia's response to the AER's Draft Determination

Powercor Australia accepts the AER's calculation of depreciation and asset lives set out in the Draft Determination, except that Powercor Australia considers that minor amendments and corrections are required to the AER's calculations. Powercor Australia's proposed amendments are set out in the change log to Powercor Australia's Roll Forward Model.

11.6 Powercor Australia's Revised Regulatory Proposal

Powercor Australia amends its Initial Regulatory Proposal to propose the following depreciation amounts (straight line depreciation less indexation of the RAB):

	\$m (nominal)					
	2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 Total					
Depreciation	62.2	70.6	79.3	88.1	99.8	400

 Table 11.5 Revised Regulatory Proposal - Depreciation

The calculation of these amounts is set out in Powercor Australia's revised Post Tax Revenue Model, Roll Forward Model and Remaining Asset Life Model.

⁸⁹⁹ AER, Draft Determination, p470.

12. COST OF CAPITAL

In this Chapter of the Revised Regulatory Proposal, Powercor Australia responds to the Draft Determination regarding the WACC.

This Chapter does not address the following issues that are related to the cost of capital but which were included in other chapters of the Draft Determination:

- Equity raising costs. That issue is addressed as part of capex in Chapter 9.
- Debt raising costs. That issue is addressed as part of opex in Chapter 6.
- The value of gamma (the assumed utilisation of imputation credits). That issue is addressed as part of the estimated cost of corporate income tax in Chapter 13.

12.1 Summary of key points

12.1.1 Debt Risk Premium

Powercor Australia does not accept the approach in the Draft Determination in relation to the method for calculating the DRP.

The Draft Determination adopted a DRP of 3.25 per cent, calculated based on the CBASpectrum service. Powercor Australia considers that the AER's method for assessing whether to use CBASpectrum or Bloomberg (or an average of them) to determine the DRP is unreliable and does not result in the selection of the service that produces the most accurate estimate of the DRP.

Powercor Australia proposes an alternative method developed by PwC for testing whether CBASpectrum or Bloomberg produces the more accurate estimate of the DRP. Powercor Australia considers that the decision whether to base the DRP on CBASpectrum or Bloomberg (or an average of them) should be made in accordance with this method rather than the AER's method.

Powercor Australia also considers that the AER's approach to extrapolating the Bloomberg curve to 10 years does not result in an accurate measure of the DRP. Powercor Australia proposes an alternative method for extrapolating the Bloomberg curve developed by PwC.

Based on Powercor Australia's proposed method, Bloomberg provides a more reliable estimate of the DRP over the averaging period used for this Revised Regulatory Proposal. Based on Bloomberg, Powercor Australia considers that the appropriate DRP is 4.28 per cent for the averaging period used for this Revised Regulatory Proposal.

Powercor Australia attaches an expert report from CEG critiquing the AER's approach for determining the DRP and proposing amendments that will enhance the robustness of the AER's approach. If the AER does not accept Powercor Australia's proposed approach for determining the DRP, then Powercor Australia proposes that the DRP should be determined in accordance with CEG's modifications to the AER's approach.

12.1.2 Market risk premium

Although Powercor Australia does not agree with the analysis underlying the AER's decision regarding the MRP in the Draft Determination, Powercor Australia adopts the MRP of 6.5 per cent set out in the Draft Determination.

12.1.3 Summary and other parameters

The following table sets out the values for the WACC parameters that were proposed by Powercor Australia in its Initial Regulatory Proposal, the values that were adopted by the AER in the Draft Determination, and the values that are proposed by Powercor Australia in this Revised Regulatory Proposal.

Parameter	Initial Regulatory Proposal	Draft Determination	Revised Regulatory Proposal	Does Powercor Australia adopt the approach in the Draft Determination?
Nominal risk free rate (Rf)	5.47%	5.65%	5.65%	Yes
Inflation rate (f)	2.44%	2.57%	2.57%	Yes
Equity beta (ße)	0.8	0.8	0.8	Yes
Market risk premium (MRP)	8.0%	6.5%	6.5%	Yes
Value of debt as a proportion of the value of equity and debt (D/V)	60%	60%	60%	Yes
Debt risk premium (DRP)	4.71% (Based on Bloomberg)	3.25% (Based on CBASpectrum)	4.28% (Based on Bloomberg)	Νο
Nominal WACC	10.86%	9.68%	10.29%	_

 Table 12.1
 WACC parameter values

The values for the nominal risk free rate, DRP and expected inflation rate are indicative only. The values for nominal risk free rate and DRP were calculated over the 30 business days from 19 April to 31 May 2010, which is the averaging period selected for the purpose of this Revised Regulatory Proposal.

Prior to the Final Determination, the nominal risk free rate and DRP will be replaced with data from the agreed averaging period and the expected inflation rate will be updated with the most recent RBA inflation forecasts. The changes in the values for the nominal risk free rate and expected inflation rate are due to the different period during which these indicative values were determined.

12.2 Debt risk premium

12.2.1 Rules requirements

Clause 6.5.2(e) of the Rules provides that the DRP is the margin between:

- the annualised nominal risk free rate; and
- the observed annualised Australian benchmark corporate bond rate for corporate bonds which have a maturity equal to that used to derive the nominal risk free rate and a credit rating from a recognised credit rating agency.

The AER's SoRI did not determine a DRP. However, the SoRI did determine that:

• the credit rating for determining the DRP is BBB+;⁹⁰⁰ and

⁹⁰⁰ AER, SoRI (Attachment 174 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal).

• the maturity for determining the nominal risk free rate, which is also the maturity that must be used for determining the DRP, is 10 years.⁹⁰¹

12.2.2 Powercor Australia's Initial Regulatory Proposal

Powercor Australia proposed a DRP of 4.71 per cent in its Initial Regulatory Proposal. This value was based on the Bloomberg BBB 7 year fair value curve measured over the first 15 business days in October 2009, extrapolated to 10 years based on a linear extrapolation.⁹⁰²

Powercor Australia's method for determining the DRP was based on a report from PwC, which was attached to the Initial Regulatory Proposal.⁹⁰³ The PwC report:

- set out a methodology to test whether the Bloomberg fair value curve reasonably meets the legislative requirements for determining the DRP;
- set out an alternative methodology for calculating the DRP that best meets the legislative requirements should Bloomberg fail the above test;
- applied these tests over the first 15 business days in October 2009;
- concluded that the Bloomberg fair value curve reasonably meets the legislative requirements over the first 15 business days in October 2009; and
- concluded that the appropriate measure of the DRP over the first 15 business days in October 2009 was 4.71 per cent.

In the Initial Regulatory Proposal, Powercor Australia observed that this proposed DRP of 4.71 per cent was an indicative value that would be updated in the Final Determination using data from the agreed averaging period.

Powercor Australia's Initial Regulatory Proposal proposed that the final DRP be determined by applying the methods set out in the PwC report during the agreed averaging period.⁹⁰⁴

The Initial Regulatory Proposal did not propose a departure from the SoRI in relation to the BBB+ credit rating or the 10 year maturity period.

12.2.3 AER's Draft Determination

In the Draft Determination, the AER adopted a value of 3.25 per cent for the DRP.⁹⁰⁵ This value was determined based on the CBASpectrum fair value curves. It was measured over an indicative period of the 15 days ending on 19 March 2010.

In summary, the AER concluded that:

- it is appropriate to consider both Bloomberg and CBASpectrum in the calculation of the DRP;
- its approach to testing both CBASpectrum and Bloomberg data is appropriate and has been affirmed by the Tribunal;

⁹⁰¹ AER, SoRI (Attachment 174 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p7.

⁹⁰² Initial Regulatory Proposal, p307.

⁹⁰³ PwC, Victorian Distribution Businesses Methodology to Estimate the Debt Risk Premium, November 2009 (Attachment P0079 to Initial Regulatory Proposal).

⁹⁰⁴ Initial Regulatory Proposal, p307.

⁹⁰⁵ AER, Draft Determination, p523.

- PwC's linear extrapolation methodology is inappropriate, and a proxy extrapolation using AAA fair yields would better estimate the 10 year BBB+ cost of debt;
- the use of CBASpectrum's BBB+ fair value curve provides the best available prediction of observed yields for the purposes of determining the yield on the benchmark BBB+ 10 year corporate bond because it meets the need for the return on debt to reflect the current cost of borrowings for comparable debt.⁹⁰⁶

As in the Initial Regulatory Proposal, the AER's proposed DRP is an indicative value that will be updated in the Final Determination using data from the agreed averaging period.

12.2.4 Powercor Australia's response to the AER's Draft Determination

Powercor Australia does not accept the AER's method for determining whether Bloomberg or CBASpectrum should be used to determine the DRP. Powercor Australia considers that the AER's method is unreliable for the reasons set out in sections 12.2.4.1 and 12.2.4.3 below, and that it is unreasonable to use that method.

Powercor Australia also does not accept the AER's method for extrapolating the Bloomberg fair value curve to produce a measure of the 10 year corporate bond rate, for the reasons set out in section 12.2.4.2 below.

Powercor Australia attaches an expert report by PwC on the method for assessing which of Bloomberg or CBASpectrum (or the average) provides the most reliable estimate of the DRP, including the method for extrapolating the Bloomberg fair value curve).⁹⁰⁷ Powercor Australia considers that the most reliable method for determining the DRP is that developed by PwC and discussed in sections 12.2.4.1 and 12.2.4.2 below.

If for any reason the AER rejects Powercor Australia's proposed approach and continues to apply the framework set out in its Draft Determination, then Powercor Australia considers that the AER must make the amendments to its approach that are set out in the report from CEG discussed in section 12.2.4.3 below in order for the AER's approach to be a reasonable method for determining the DRP.

12.2.4.1 Powercor Australia's proposed method for testing Bloomberg and CBASpectrum

Powercor Australia accepts the AER's view that the DRP should be determined using the Bloomberg fair value curve or the CBASpectrum fair value curve (or the average of them).

Powercor Australia considers that the decision whether to use Bloomberg or CBASpectrum (or the average) should be based on the tests set out in PwC's report. PwC proposes an approach that involves the following four steps:⁹⁰⁸

• test the integrity of the fair value curves to the extent possible;

⁹⁰⁶ AER, Draft Determination, pp522-523.

⁹⁰⁷ PwC, Methodology for the calculation of debt risk premium, 19 July 2010 (Attachment 162 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal).

⁹⁰⁸ PwC, Methodology for the calculation of debt risk premium, 19 July 2010 (Attachment 162 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), pp3-4.

- test the predictive accuracy of the fair value curves, by applying the average error test and the weighted sum of squared errors test;
- test the extrapolation of the curve beyond the data points, which were limited to 5-6 years in the sample of BBB+ bonds currently on issue; and
- draw on other information as a cross-check, which may include the yields on floating rate note yields (adjusted to a fixed rate equivalent yield), evidence from other bond ratings and other estimates of fair value yield curves.

PwC applied these tests to Bloomberg and CBASpectrum and concluded that:⁹⁰⁹

'We find that the Bloomberg BBB band fair value curve provides a more accurate prediction of the estimates from different providers of the yields of Australian BBB+ corporate bonds than the alternatives that the AER offers (namely the CBASpectrum BBB+ fair value curve and average of the Bloomberg BBB band and CBASpectrum curves).'

PwC reviewed the AER's approach in the Draft Determination and concluded that the AER's approach involved the following significant errors:⁹¹⁰

- Exclusion of the DBCT bond as an outlier. The DBCT bond should be included in the sample of BBB+ bonds due to:
 - its importance as the longest dated bond in this rating category, which should raise the standard of proof to reject it;
 - $\circ\;$ recent pronouncements by Standard & Poor's confirm its BBB+ rating; and
 - $\circ\;$ the AER's reasons for rejecting the DBCT bond as an outlier are not persuasive.
- Focussing only on squared errors, not testing whether the predicted yield is downward biased. The AER's focus on minimising squared errors does not provide information on whether the relevant fair value curve may systematically under- or over-estimate the underlying yield data.
- Not testing how the debt risk premium should increase beyond 5 or 6 years. The AER has only tested the respective fair value curves up to a term of 5-6 years. The AER has not tested whether the increase in the debt risk premium between 5 and 10 years predicted by CBASpectrum is reasonable against other evidence. PwC finds that during the reference period, the CBASpectrum BBB+ debt risk premium increased by only 21 basis points between 5 and 10 years, compared to the Bloomberg AAA-band debt risk premium which increased by 83 basis points. PwC also observes that two Telstra A rated bonds with 5 and 10 year terms currently exhibit a change in the debt risk premium of 56 to 84 basis points (depending on data source). Against these benchmarks, PwC considers that CBASpectrum's prediction of a 21 basis point increase in the debt risk premium between 5 and 10 years is implausibly low.

⁹⁰⁹ PwC, Methodology for the calculation of debt risk premium, 19 July 2010 (Attachment 162 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p2.

⁹¹⁰ PwC, Methodology for the calculation of debt risk premium, 19 July 2010 (Attachment 162 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), pp5-7.

POWERCOR AUSTRALIA LTD'S REVISED REGULATORY PROPOSAL 2011-15

• Failure to consider a wider range of sources of information. By restricting its attention only to the Bloomberg and CBASpectrum fair value curves and the limited number of BBB+ rated Australian corporate bonds on issue, the AER has ignored other potentially useful sources of information that may assist in improving the estimate of the debt risk premium that is commensurate with prevailing conditions in the market for a 10 year BBB+ Australian corporate bond.

During the averaging period used for this Revised Regulatory Proposal, Powercor Australia does not consider that any bonds should be treated as outliers and excluded from the analysis.

Applying PwC's tests to the relevant measurement period of the 30 business days from 19 April to 31 May 2010, the Bloomberg fair value curve provides the most reliable estimate of the DRP.

12.2.4.2 Powercor Australia's proposed method for extrapolation of Bloomberg

Bloomberg's longest maturity BBB fair value curve is currently 7 years. It is accepted by the AER that this curve must be extrapolated to 10 years when assessing the DRP.⁹¹¹

Powercor Australia considers that extrapolation of the Bloomberg curve should be performed by using the methodology set out in the attached report from PwC,⁹¹² which involves using the Bloomberg BBB fair value curve to 6 years and then extrapolating it using the Bloomberg AAA curve to 10 years.

As explained in the report by PwC:⁹¹³

- Extrapolating from the Bloomberg BBB curve at the 6 year mark is most appropriate because the longest dated bond in the sample during the relevant measurement period has a term of approximately 5-6 years.
- The BBB curve should then be extrapolated to 10 years using the Bloomberg AAA curve because the Bloomberg AAA curve is less reliant on the slope of the Bloomberg curve at any interval. As the Bloomberg curve is often a series of discontinuous line-segments, this approach reduces the risk of an aberrant value from the linear extrapolation. However, this is a conservative approach and is likely to understate the correct DRP, as the AAA curve would be expected to understate the slope of the BBB curve.
- PwC notes that Bloomberg ceased publishing a AAA 10 year curve from 22 June, although it is possible that it may restart publishing that curve in the future. If the AAA 10 year curve is published at the time of the agreed averaging period, then that curve should be used as discussed above. If the AAA 10 year curve is not published at the time of the agreed averaging period, then the AER should use the average of the 10 year AAA curve over the latest period for which it was available.

⁹¹¹ AER, Draft Determination, p521.

⁹¹² PwC, Methodology for the calculation of debt risk premium, 19 July 2010 (Attachment 162 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal).

⁹¹³ PwC, Methodology for the calculation of debt risk premium, 19 July 2010 (Attachment 162 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), pp22-23.

12.2.4.3 CEG's critique of the AER's approach and enhancements to that approach

The Victorian DNSPs commissioned a report from CEG entitled 'Testing the accuracy of Bloomberg vs CBASpectrum Fair Value Estimates, A report for Victorian Electricity DBs'.⁹¹⁴ The CEG report:

- critiques the AER's approach in the Draft Determination for determining the DRP; and
- proposes amendments to the AER's approach that will enhance the robustness of the AER's approach.

The CEG report identifies the following problems with the AER's approach in the Draft Determination:

• the AER's approach asks the wrong question and is not a reasonable test for assessing which of CBASpectrum or Bloomberg provides the best estimate of the 10 year BBB+ corporate bond rate. The CEG report states: ⁹¹⁵

'The methodology adopted by the AER in the Draft Decision attempts to test which of the Bloomberg or the CBASpectrum BBB+ fair value curves better fits the available estimates of bond yields. The AER uses a small sample of only five bonds with an average maturity of just 3.6 years to maturity to perform this test (with individual bonds maturities ranging from 2.2 to 5.4 years). Once the AER has determined which of the fair value curves it considers to be a better fit to the available data the AER then uses the 10 year fair value estimate from that curve to determine the NER cost of debt.

In our view, this involves an important error in that the AER methodology is not attempting to answer the correct question (the 'wrong question error'). Specifically, the correct question is which of the fair value curves best estimates the 10 year BBB+ cost of debt. However, by applying the AER's test to the AER's sample of bond yields it has effectively asked which curve best estimates the cost of debt for maturity of around 3.6 years.'

- the AER's approach does not consider all relevant information and excludes the vast majority of potentially relevant corporate bonds from its sample;
- the AER should also consider information regarding:
 - fixed coupon BBB+ bonds that are covered by one or two of UBS, CBASpectrum or Bloomberg, rather than only considering bonds that are covered by all three;
 - BBB+ floating rate bonds;
 - $\circ~$ bonds that do not have a BBB+ rating, such as BBB or A- rated bonds; and

⁹¹⁴ CEG, Testing the accuracy of Bloomberg vs CBASpectrum Fair Value Estimates, A report for Victorian Electricity DBs', July 2010 (Attachment 176 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal).

⁹¹⁵ CEG, Testing the accuracy of Bloomberg vs CBASpectrum Fair Value Estimates, A report for Victorian Electricity DBs', July 2010 (Attachment 176 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p1.

- bonds that are issued in Australia by foreign companies;
- the AER's failure to consider this information is particularly problematic given the short maturity of the bonds in the AER's sample and the absence of any 10 year BBB+ fixed coupon corporate bonds;
- the AER's failure to consider this information is what CEG terms 'a non corresponding data set error' and means that the AER fails to have regard to the most relevant information required to answer the correct question of which of CBASpectrum or Bloomberg provides the most reliable estimate of the 10 year BBB+ corporate bond rate; and
- the AER's tests for outliers are inappropriate, in particular because:
 - the AER applies its tests over an incorrect timeframe, using the period from 2 January 2009 until the end of the DRP measurement period, when the relevant question is whether the bond is an outlier during the DRP measurement period and therefore the test should only be applied during the DRP measurement period;
 - the AER only considers the yield on a potential outlier bond against the other 5 bonds in the AER's sample, but to be a reliable test the AER must consider other data;
 - the AER does not adjust for maturity when considering if a bond is an outlier, which is an error given it is well understood that yields increase with maturity and the fact that a longer maturity bond has a higher yield should not result in it being treated as an outlier;
 - \circ the Chow test is not a useful test for these purposes; and
 - $\circ\;$ applied correctly, the outlier tests would show that the DBCT bond is not an outlier.

CEG considers that the following amendments to the AER's approach are required to improve the robustness of that approach:

- the AER's tests should also consider information regarding:
 - fixed coupon BBB+ bonds that are covered by one or two of UBS, CBASpectrum or Bloomberg, rather than only considering bonds that are covered by all three;
 - BBB+ floating rate bonds;
 - $\circ~$ bonds that do not have a BBB+ rating, such as BBB or A- rated bonds; and
 - o bonds that are issued in Australia by foreign companies; and
- the AER's test for outliers should:
 - be applied over the DRP measurement period;
 - account for differences in maturity;
 - use the classic test, the box plot test and Chauvenet's test; and

• consider all relevant bonds, including the four additional types of information noted above.

The CEG report demonstrates why it is incorrect and unreasonable for the AER to apply the approach set out in the Draft Determination to determine the DRP.

Also attached to this Revised Regulatory Proposal is a compantion report from CEG entitled 'Detailed application of AER cost of debt methodology to alternative bond samples, A report for Victorian DBs'.⁹¹⁶ That report explains the results of applying CEG's proposed adjustments to the AER's methodology during the measurement period used for this Revised Regulatory Proposal.

Powercor Australia considers that the appropriate method to determine the DRP is that set out in sections 12.2.4.1 and 12.2.4.2 above. However, if the AER rejects Powercor Australia's proposed approach and continues to apply the framework set out in its Draft Determination, Powercor Australia considers that the AER must make the amendments to its approach that are set out in the CEG reports in order for the AER's approach to be a reasonable method for determining the DRP.

12.2.4.4 Additional matters

In the Draft Determination, the AER stated that: 917

'In its recent review of the AER's New South Wales distribution determination, the Australian Competition Tribunal also affirmed the AER's method of comparing the fair yield curves of data service firms against the actual bond yields to assess the reliability of data service providers.'

That statement is not an accurate description of the Tribunal's decision.

The Tribunal only determined that, in the particular circumstances of the NSW distribution determinations, it would have been an error for the AER to adopt an average of Bloomberg and CBASpectrum. The Tribunal did not affirm the AER's approach for testing whether Bloomberg or CBASpectrum was more reliable. In particular, the following statement by the Tribunal shows that it was not endorsing the use of the AER's approach for future determinations: ⁹¹⁸

'No doubt in future revenue determinations the AER will need to consider again the data sources and methodology. That will certainly be the case if there are competing series and continuing divergence between them.'

12.2.5 Powercor Australia's Revised Regulatory Proposal

Powercor Australia revises its Initial Regulatory Proposal in relation to the method for determining the DRP as follows:

- The DRP should be determined based on the CBASpectrum or Bloomberg fair value curves, or an average of CBASpectrum and Bloomberg.
- The decision whether to base the DRP on the CBASpectrum or Bloomberg fair value curves (or an average of them) should be made in accordance with

⁹¹⁶ CEG, Detailed application of AER cost of debt methodology to altenative bond samples, A report for Victorian DBs, July 2010 (Attachment 257 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal).

⁹¹⁷ AER, Draft Determination, p520.

⁹¹⁸Application by Energy Australia and Others [2009] ACompT 8 (Attachment 97 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal) at 122.

Powercor Australia's proposed method set out in section 12.2.4.1 above and the attached expert report from PwC.⁹¹⁹

- Extrapolation of the Bloomberg curve should be performed by using the Bloomberg BBB fair value curve to 6 years and then extrapolating it using the Bloomberg AAA curve to 10 years, in accordance with the report from PwC. If the Bloomberg AAA curve is not published during the agreed averaging period, then the AER should use the average of the Bloomberg AAA curve over the latest period for which it was available.
- If the CBASpectrum curve (or the average) is considered to be the appropriate curve to use, then only the 5 year measurement from the CBASpectrum curve should be used and to that 5 year observation should be added an amount equal to the change in the Bloomberg AAA fair value curve between a 5 and 10 year term.
- Based on Powercor Australia's proposed method, the Bloomberg fair value curve provided the more reliable estimate of the DRP based on a measurement period of the 30 business days from 19 April to 31 May 2010. That assessment will need to be repeated for the agreed averaging period.
- Based on Powercor Australia's proposed method and a measurement period of the 30 business days from 19 April to 31 May 2010, Powercor Australia considers that the appropriate indicative DRP is 4.28 per cent. Prior to the Final Determination, this indicative value will be replaced with data from the agreed averaging period.
- If the AER does not accept Powercor Australia's proposed approach for determining the DRP, then the decision whether to base the DRP on the CBASpectrum or Bloomberg fair value curves (or an average of them) should be made in accordance with the modifications to the AER's approach that are set out in the report from CEG.⁹²⁰

12.3 Market risk premium

12.3.1 Rules requirements

Clause 6.5.2(b) of the Rules sets out the formula for calculating WACC. One of the parameters in that formula is the MRP. The Rules do not define the MRP or specify how it is to be calculated.

In the SoRI, the AER adopted a value of 6.5 per cent for the MRP.⁹²¹

Clause 6.5.4 of the Rules provides that a distribution determination must be consistent with the SoRI unless there is persuasive evidence justifying a departure from the value set out in the SoRI. In deciding whether a departure from the SoRI is justified, the AER must consider:

• the underlying criteria on which the value was set in the SoRI; and

⁹¹⁹ PwC, Methodology for the calculation of debt risk premium, 19 July 2010 (Attachment 162 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal).

⁹²⁰ CEG, Testing the accuracy of Bloomberg vs CBASpectrum Fair Value Estimates, A report for Victorian Electricity DBs', July 2010 (Attachment 176 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal).

⁹²¹ AER, SoRI (Attachment 174 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p7.

• whether, in light of the underlying criteria, a material change in circumstances since the date of the SoRI, or any other relevant factor, now makes the value set out in the SoRI inappropriate.

12.3.2 Powercor Australia's Initial Regulatory Proposal

Powercor Australia proposed an MRP of 8.0 per cent in its Initial Regulatory Proposal.⁹²² The Initial Regulatory Proposal stated that there is persuasive evidence to demonstrate that the MRP of 6.5 per cent set out in the SoRI is inappropriate and that a departure from that value is justified.

The Initial Regulatory Proposal stated that a departure from the SoRI is justified on the basis of:

- the on-going uncertainty regarding the outlook for global economic and capital market conditions;
- new evidence regarding investors' forward-looking required rates of return in the present environment of on-going high uncertainty, as supported by an expert report from Bishop and Officer⁹²³; and
- Powercor Australia's contention that under the prevailing conditions in the market, applying the MRP value specified in the SoRI would deliver an outcome that is inconsistent with the NEO and the revenue and pricing principles set out in the NEL.⁹²⁴

12.3.3 AER's Draft Determination

In the Draft Determination, the AER adopted an MRP of 6.5 per cent.⁹²⁵ The AER considered that there was not persuasive evidence to demonstrate that a departure from the MRP set out in the SoRI is justified.

In summary, the basis for the Draft Determination was that:

- commentary on financial markets indicates clear signs of stabilisation since the time of the SoRI and the AER's decision to increase the MRP to 6.5 per cent;
- Officer and Bishop's implied volatility and glide path analysis is subject to limitations as addressed by the AER in previous regulatory determinations;
- no persuasive evidence exists to support a long term historical average of 7 per cent for the MRP as assumed by Officer and Bishop;
- Officer and Bishop have not adequately demonstrated that the current level of credit spreads are explained by movements in the MRP; and
- the AER considered that a MRP of 6.5 per cent may be considered conservative when accounting for current prevailing conditions.⁹²⁶

⁹²² Initial Regulatory Proposal, p312.

⁹²³ Professor Bob Officer and Dr Stephen Bishop of Value Adviser Associates, Market Risk Premium Estimate for 2011 to 2015, October 2009 (Attachment P0194 to the Initial Regulatory Proposal).

⁹²⁴ Initial Regulatory Proposal, pp307-312.

⁹²⁵ AER, Draft Determination, p503.

⁹²⁶ AER, Draft Determination, p503.

12.3.4 Powercor Australia's response to the AER's Draft Determination

Powercor Australia does not agree with the analysis underlying the AER's adoption of this value for the MRP and continues to consider that the true MRP is 8.0 per cent as set out in the Initial Regulatory Proposal.

Powercor Australia notes that market conditions have significantly deteriorated since:

- the date of the Draft Determination; and
- the date of the analysis relied on in the Draft Determination, which only covers the period up to January to March 2010.⁹²⁷

This change in market conditions indicates that the MRP will have risen since the date of the Draft Determination and remains significantly above normal levels.

12.3.4.1 Officer and Bishop report

The Victorian DNSPs commissioned a report from Professor Bob Officer and Dr Stephen Bishop of Value Adviser Associated entitled 'Market Risk Premium: Comments on AER Draft Distribution Determination for Victorian Electricity Distribution Network Service Providers' ⁹²⁸ This further Officer and Bishop report represents the most up-to-date information regarding the level of the MRP.

The Officer and Bishop report states that: 929

'an MRP of 6.5% does not reflect current economic conditions, and nor does it reflect what may prevail over the regulatory period. Current high levels of market risk demand a risk premium over the long term average and this, in our view, means 6.5% will not reward investors for average market risk anticipated over the next five year regulatory period.'

The Officer and Bishop report undertakes an analysis of the levels of volatility in the market and concludes that current market volatility is well above the historical average. Officer and Bishop note that the higher than average volatility experienced during the peak of the GFC diminished to an extent but then recently rebounded, as shown by the following graph: ⁹³⁰

 $^{^{927}}$ See for example the graphs on pp501-503 of the Draft Determination.

⁹²⁸ Professor Bob Officer and Dr Stephen Bishop of Value Adviser Associates, Market Risk Premium: Comments on AER Draft Distribution Determination for Victorian Electricity Distribution Network Service Providers, July 2010 (Attachment 177 to the Revised Regulatory Proposal).

⁹²⁹ Professor Bob Officer and Dr Stephen Bishop of Value Adviser Associates, Market Risk Premium: Comments on AER Draft Distribution Determination for Victorian Electricity Distribution Network Service Providers, July 2010 (Attachment 177 to the Revised Regulatory Proposal) p27.

⁹³⁰ Professor Bob Officer and Dr Stephen Bishop of Value Adviser Associates, Market Risk Premium: Comments on AER Draft Distribution Determination for Victorian Electricity Distribution Network Service Providers, July 2010 (Attachment 177 to the Revised Regulatory Proposal), Figure 1, p3.

POWERCOR AUSTRALIA LTD'S REVISED REGULATORY PROPOSAL 2011-15



Figure 12.1 Implied volatility of 12 month options on the ASX 200

The Officer and Bishop report states that: 931

'Using this view of volatility, combined with a long term average of the historical MRP, we estimate that a one year forward view of the MRP is 11.9% and the 'average' forward view over the period 2011 - 2015 to is 8%.'

Officer and Bishop consider the appropriate method for determining the MRP for the regulatory control period, which requires an assessment to be made as to the current MRP, the appropriate glide path to the long term average MRP, the likely rate of decline, and the appropriate time period over which to determine the MRP.

Officer and Bishop analyse various sources of data and note that if history is a guide then the 2007 crash will take 6 $\frac{1}{2}$ years to recover from, ie from December 2007 until June 2014.⁹³² Officer and Bishop consider that a reasonable estimate of the period during which the MRP will be above historical levels as a result of the GFC is 4-5 years.⁹³³

Officer and Bishop consider that the range of the MRP over the 2011-15 regulatory control period is likely to be between 8.2 per cent and 11.9 per cent, depending on whether the MRP declines to the historical level after 1, 3 or 5 years. In concluding that the appropriate MRP for the 2011-15 period is 8.0 per cent, Officer and Bishop note that they are taking a conservative view and adopting an estimate at the lower end of the range.⁹³⁴

⁹³¹ Professor Bob Officer and Dr Stephen Bishop of Value Adviser Associates, Market Risk Premium: Comments on AER Draft Distribution Determination for Victorian Electricity Distribution Network Service Providers, July 2010 (Attachment 177 to the Revised Regulatory Proposal), p3.

⁹³² Professor Bob Officer and Dr Stephen Bishop of Value Adviser Associates, Market Risk Premium: Comments on AER Draft Distribution Determination for Victorian Electricity Distribution Network Service Providers, July 2010 (Attachment 177 to the Revised Regulatory Proposal), p12.

⁹³³ Professor Bob Officer and Dr Stephen Bishop of Value Adviser Associates, Market Risk Premium: Comments on AER Draft Distribution Determination for Victorian Electricity Distribution Network Service Providers, July 2010 (Attachment 177 to the Revised Regulatory Proposal), p14.

⁹³⁴ Professor Bob Officer and Dr Stephen Bishop of Value Adviser Associates, Market Risk Premium: Comments on AER Draft Distribution Determination for Victorian Electricity Distribution Network Service Providers, July 2010 (Attachment 177 to the Revised Regulatory Proposal), p19.

The Officer and Bishop report concludes that: 935

We reinforce our view that a MRP of 8% for the 2011 to 2015 regulatory period reflects current circumstances and a view as to what will prevail over the regulatory period.'

The Officer and Bishop report also responds to several criticisms that the AER made of previous reports by Officer and Bishop in the Draft Determination and the South Australian Final Determination.

12.3.4.2 Other comments

Powercor Australia considers that the AER's approach in the Draft Determination of estimating the MRP over a 10 year period is incorrect. The AER states that it uses a 10 year estimation period because it is consistent with the term set for the risk-free rate in the SoRI.⁹³⁶ However, the purpose of the WACC is to determine the cost of capital that would be required over the regulatory control period by investors in a commercial enterprise with a similar nature and degree of non-diversifiable risk as that faced by the DNSP. The Rules therefore require the AER to determine a WACC that is appropriate over the term of the regulatory control period.

The need for the WACC parameters to be estimated over the term of the regulatory period was recently confirmed by the Tribunal's decision in Application by Telstra Corporation Limited.⁹³⁷ In that decision, the Tribunal stated: ⁹³⁸

'An undertaking has effect over a period, and the price it sets need to be appropriate for the period.

The Tribunal notes that the use of the WACC formula is only a means to an end, which is to estimate the required rate of return for an investment with certain characteristics of riskiness and debt. That rate of return is unlikely to vary greatly over the short to medium term, and should not therefore be overly subject to the vagaries of short-term movements in parameters such as market interest rates. Moreover, the rate of return applies over the period of the undertaking. Both the access provider and the ACCC should keep these facts in mind to ensure that they do not, by lighting on parameter values that are unrepresentative, end up with a rate of return that is inappropriate to its purpose.'

The AER must therefore determine an accurate estimate of the MRP that is likely to apply over the next 5 years. In the current market conditions, that approach is likely to result in a higher MRP than if a 10 year timeframe was used.

Powercor Australia also notes that the IMF recently issued a Working Paper entitled 'Potential Growth of Australia and New Zealand in the Aftermath of the Global Crisis', which considered current market conditions in Australia and concluded that: ⁹³⁹

⁹³⁵ Professor Bob Officer and Dr Stephen Bishop of Value Adviser Associates, Market Risk Premium: Comments on AER Draft Distribution Determination for Victorian Electricity Distribution Network Service Providers, July 2010 (Attachment 177 to the Revised Regulatory Proposal), p2.

 ⁹³⁶ AER, Draft Determination, p490.
 ⁹³⁷ [2010] ACompT 1 (Attachment 179 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal).

⁹³⁸ [2010] ACompT 1 (Attachment 179 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal) at [419] and [422].

'A higher cost of capital may become a long-lasting legacy of the recent global crisis, weighing on future investment.'

This comment demonstrates that the MRP has not fallen to its pre-GFC level, and may not do so even in the long-term.

However, for the purposes of the Final Determination only, Powercor Australia adopts the MRP of 6.5 per cent as set out in the Draft Determination and does not propose a departure from the SoRI.

12.3.5 Powercor Australia's Revised Regulatory Proposal

Despite continuing to consider that the most appropriate MRP is 8.0 per cent, Powercor Australia amends its Initial Regulatory Proposal to adopt a value of 6.5 per cent for the MRP as set out in the Draft Determination.

12.4 Other WACC parameters

Subject to a minor issue regarding the expected inflation rate, the Draft Determination accepted the values for the following WACC parameters, or the methods for calculating those values, that were proposed in Powercor Australia's Initial Regulatory Proposal:

- nominal risk-free rate;⁹⁴⁰
- expected inflation rate;⁹⁴¹
- gearing level (value of equity as a proportion of the value of equity and debt);⁹⁴² and
- equity beta.⁹⁴³

Powercor Australia does not make any amendments to its Initial Regulatory Proposal in relation to these parameters.

Powercor Australia notes that the indicative values for the nominal risk free rate and expected inflation rate set out in the Initial Regulatory Proposal have been updated and are:

- nominal risk free rate: 5.65 per cent; and
- expected inflation rate: 2.57 per cent.

The nominal risk free rate is calculated over the 30 business days from 19 April to 31 May 2010, which is the averaging period selected for the purpose of this Revised Regulatory Proposal.

Prior to the Final Determination, this indicative nominal risk free will be replaced with data from the agreed averaging period and this indicative expected inflation rate will be updated with the most recent RBA inflation forecasts.

⁹⁴¹ AER, Draft Determination, p525.
 ⁹⁴² AER, Draft Determination, p485.

⁹³⁹ IMF, IMF Working Paper, Potential Growth of Australia and New Zealand in the Aftermath of the Global Crisis, May 2010 (Attachment 178 to the Revised Regulatory Proposal).

⁹⁴⁰ AER, Draft Determination, p488. This indicative rate was measured over the 15 days ending on 19 March 2010.

⁹⁴³ AER, Draft Determination, p485.

12.5 Regulatory Information Notice response

Paragraphs 2.3 and 2.4 of the Further RIN require Powercor Australia to:

- identify each proposed departure from a WACC parameter set out in the SoRI; and
- for each such departure, provide all supporting consultants reports and documents.

Powercor Australia does not propose any departures in respect of the WACC parameters discussed in this Chapter 12 from those set out in the SoRI.

13. ESTIMATED CORPORATE INCOME TAX

In this Chapter of the Revised Regulatory Proposal, Powercor Australia responds to Chapter 12 of the Draft Determination regarding the estimated cost of corporate income tax.

This Chapter includes the issue of the value of gamma (the assumed utilisation of imputation credits). Gamma was addressed in the rate of return on capital Chapter of Powercor Australia's Initial Regulatory Proposal, but was addressed in the estimated corporate income tax Chapter of the Draft Determination.

13.1 Summary of key points

Powercor Australia does not accept the AER's decision in the Draft Determination to adopt a value of 0.65 for gamma.

Powercor Australia maintains that, in light of the underlying criteria, a material change in circumstances since the date of the SoRI or another relevant factor makes the value for gamma set out in the SoRI inappropriate. Powercor Australia considers that the appropriate value for gamma is 0.5.

Powercor Australia adopts the AER's approach in the Draft Determination in relation to changes in tax laws and tax depreciation of equity raising costs, except that the company tax rate reduction should be amended to reflect the Government's announcements that the proposed reduction to 28 per cent will not occur.

13.2 Gamma (assumed utilisation of imputation credits)

13.2.1 Rules requirements

The Rules require an assumption regarding the utilisation of imputation credits to calculate the cost of corporate income tax of a DNSP for each regulatory year. Clause 6.5.3 of the Rules requires that the cost of corporate income tax be calculated in accordance with the following formula:

$$ETC = (ETI \ x \ r)(1 - \gamma)$$

where:

ETI is the estimated taxable income for the regulatory year;

r is the statutory income tax rate; and

 γ (gamma) is the assumed utilisation of imputation credits.

Gamma is conventionally estimated using the Monkhouse formulation, under which gamma is the product of:⁹⁴⁴

- the payout ratio, which is the share of created imputation credits that are distributed to shareholders; and
- theta, which represents the market value of imputation credits as a proportion of their face value.

The Rules also require the AER to carry out a review of rate of return parameters every five years and issue a SoRI adopting values, methods and credit rating levels for

⁹⁴⁴ Monkhouse P (1993), 'The cost of equity under the Australian dividend imputation tax system', *Accounting and Finance*, volume 33,(Attachment 181 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), pp1-18.

POWERCOR AUSTRALIA LTD'S REVISED REGULATORY PROPOSAL 2011-15

DNSPs or specified classes of DNSPs.⁹⁴⁵ A distribution determination to which a SoRI is applicable must be consistent with the SoRI unless there is *'persuasive evidence justifying a departure, in a particular case, from a value, method or credit rating level set in the statement'*.⁹⁴⁶ In determining whether a departure from a SoRI is justified in a distribution determination, the AER is required to consider:⁹⁴⁷

- the criteria on which the value, method or credit rating level was set in the SoRI; and
- whether a material change in circumstances since the date of the SoRI, or any other relevant factor, now makes the value, method or credit rating level set in the SoRI inappropriate.

As required by the Rules, the AER concluded its first review of rate of return parameters on 1 May 2009 and issued its SoRI. The SoRI set a value for gamma of 0.65.⁹⁴⁸ In the SoRI Final Decision, the AER justified this on the grounds that:⁹⁴⁹

- an assumed payout ratio of 100 per cent appeared reasonable and consistent with the Officer framework;
- the value of theta should be 0.65, being the midpoint of the values produced by dividend drop-off studies and taxation studies. The only dividend drop-off study relied upon by the AER was Beggs and Skeels, 'Market arbitrage of cash dividends' (2006) 82 (258) *The Economic Record* 239 (**Beggs and Skeels** (2006)), which produced an estimate for theta of 0.57. The AER did not place any weight on the more up-to-date findings of the dividend drop-off study by SFG, 'The impact of franking credits on the cost of capital of Australian firms', 18 September 2008 (SFG (2009)), which produced substantially lower estimates of theta. The AER relies on tax studies to provide an 'upper bound' for theta. It derives an upper bound of 0.74, being the mid-point of the range of values from the tax studies (the range being 0.67 to 0.81).

In the Draft Determination, the AER stated that the underlying criteria on which the value of gamma was set in the SoRI are:

- the need for the rate of return to be a forward looking rate of return that is commensurate with the prevailing conditions in the market for funds and the risk involved in providing regulated distribution services;
- the need to achieve an outcome that is consistent with the NEO;
- the need for persuasive evidence before adopting a value or method that differs from the value or method previously adopted;
- the relevant revenue and pricing principles, which are: ⁹⁵⁰
 - providing a service provider with a reasonable opportunity to recover at least the efficient costs;

⁹⁴⁵ Rules, clause 6.5.4.

⁹⁴⁶ Rules, clause 6.5.4(g).

 $^{^{947}}_{448}$ Rules, clause 6.5.4(h).

⁹⁴⁸ AER, SoRI (Attachment 174 to the Revised Regulatory Proposal).

⁹⁴⁹ AER, SoRI Final Decision, p466. (Attachment 175 to the Revised Regulatory Proposal).

⁹⁵⁰ AER, Draft Determination, pp529-530.

- providing a service provider with effective incentives in order to promote efficient investment; and
- \circ having regard to the economic costs and risks of the potential for under and over investment.

The gamma of 0.65 adopted in the SoRI was a departure from the previous prevailing value for gamma. Prior to the SoRI, the value for gamma for all electricity distribution and transmission businesses in Australia had been 0.5.⁹⁵¹

0.5 is also the value for gamma generally adopted by regulators in relation to other industries in Australia. For example, the ACCC adopted a gamma of 0.5 in its ULLS Final Decision, which was released only three days before the SoRI Final Decision.⁹⁵²

13.2.2 Powercor Australia's Initial Regulatory Proposal

In its Initial Regulatory Proposal, Powercor Australia proposed a departure from the value of gamma set in the SoRI, as did all of the other Victorian DNSPs. Powercor Australia and all of the other DNSPs except Jemena proposed a value of 0.5,⁹⁵³ while Jemena proposed a value of 0.2.⁹⁵⁴

All of the DNSPs' proposals argued that there was persuasive evidence justifying a departure from the SoRI value for gamma. This included the fact that there appeared to be a number of weaknesses in the AER's reasoning in the WACC review and the criteria on which the SoRI value was set. Furthermore, there was evidence before the AER of a material change in circumstances since the date of the SoRI which means that the value of 0.65 is now inappropriate.

Specifically in relation to the payout ratio, the DNSPs cited similar concerns to those raised by ETSA in the South Australian distribution price review process. The DNSPs referred to the expert evidence of Professor Robert Officer⁹⁵⁵ (architect of the CAPM Officer Framework) and tax lawyer Peter Feros⁹⁵⁶ who both reject the assumption that all imputation credits are distributed to shareholders. The DNSPs also noted the findings of the Officer and Hathaway (2004) study which estimated a payout ratio of 0.71.⁹⁵⁷ Jemena further noted the conclusions of a tax study prepared for Jemena by Synergies,⁹⁵⁸ which found that between 2003-07 the payout ratio averaged 66 per cent, based on tax statistics.⁹⁵⁹

The DNSPs argued that the value of theta should be less than that set in the SoRI, and submitted evidence to support this claim. The key evidence relating to the value of theta was a report by Professor Skeels reviewing the SFG (2009) study which produced

⁹⁵¹ AER, SoRI Final Decision (Attachment 175 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p395.

⁹⁵² ULLS Final Decision, Chapter B.7 of Appendix (B) (Cost of Capital) (Attachment 180 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal). The AER's Proposed SoRI, which first proposed a gamma of 0.65, was released on 11 December 2008 and the AER's final SoRI was released on 1 May 2009.

⁹⁵³ Initial Regulatory Proposal, p315.

⁹⁵⁴ Jemena, Regulatory Proposal 2011-2015, 30 November 2009, p175.

 ⁹⁵⁵ Robert R. Officer, Estimating the Distribution Rate of Imputation Tax Credits: Questions Raised by ETSA's Advisers, 23 June 2009 (Attachment 185 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal).
 ⁹⁵⁶ Peter Feros, Review of WACC parameters: Gamma, ETSA Price Reset, 22 June 2009 (Attachment 182 to the

⁹⁵⁶ Peter Feros, Review of WACC parameters: Gamma, ETSA Price Reset, 22 June 2009 (Attachment 182 to the Revised Regulatory Proposal).

⁹⁵⁷ N. Hathaway and B. Officer, The Value of Imputation Tax Credits – Update 2004, Capital Research Pty Ltd, November 2004 (Attachment 183 to the Revised Regulatory Proposal) pp13 and 24 (Officer and Hathaway (2004)).

⁹⁵⁸ Synergies Economic Consulting, Gamma: New Analysis Using Tax Statistics, 28 May 2009.

⁹⁵⁹ Jemena, Regulatory Proposal 2011-15, 30 November 2009, p178.

a substantially lower value of theta. Professor Skeels noted that the AER arguments against the use of the SFG study were 'unconvincing' and were in fact nothing more than allusions to potential problems which required further investigation. Professor Skeels conducted such an investigation of the SFG study and found its results to be convincing. His report concluded: ⁹⁶⁰

'This leads me to consider that their [SFG's] estimate of theta of 0.23 is the best such estimate currently available for Australia. It might be argued that their methodology does not perfectly replicate that of Beggs and Skeels (2006) and that the remaining differences may downwardly bias the estimates provided by SFG in Appendix I. I am not one who shares that view as I think their analysis is now compelling. However, if one was to take that view then I think that a very strong case could be made for the true value of theta to lie somewhere between the SFG estimate of 0.23 and the Beggs and Skeels (2006) estimate of 0.57, and in all probability to lie towards the lower end of that range. Any higher value for theta seems completely implausible, both in terms of the empirical evidence presented and in terms of the theoretical arguments underpinning them.'

Jemena also noted the findings of the Synergies tax study⁹⁶¹ which estimates that investors on average only utilise 35 per cent of the credits that they receive.

13.2.3 AER's Draft Determination

In the Draft Determination, the AER rejected the DNSPs' proposals for a departure from the SoRI value of 0.65. The Draft Determination drew on two new reports commissioned by the AER:

- a report by Associate Professor John Handley of the University of Melbourne (Handley Report);⁹⁶² and
- a report by Professor Michael McKenzie and Associate Professor Graham Partington on behalf of the Securities Industry Research Centre of Asia-Pacific (McKenzie and Partington Report).⁹⁶³

In relation to the payout ratio, the AER stated that the evidence presented by Jemena had already been considered as part of the WACC review. The AER repeated its contention that a payout ratio of 100 per cent is consistent with the Officer CAPM Framework, which assumes that cash flows occur in perpetuity and are therefore fully distributed at the end of each period. The AER also asserted that even where imputation credits are retained, they will still hold value. The AER noted and agreed with the advice of its experts (including McKenzie and Partington) that the actual payout ratio is likely to be between 70 per cent and 100 per cent. Nonetheless, the AER adopted a value at the top of this range, noting that *'the assumption of a 100 per cent payout ratio simplifies the framework for estimating gamma'*.⁹⁶⁴

In relation to theta, the AER stated in its Draft Determination that it does not consider the report by Professor Skeels to represent persuasive evidence. The AER noted that

⁹⁶⁰ Christopher L Skeels, A Review of the SFG Dividend Drop-Off Study – A Report prepared for Gilbert and Tobin, 28 August 2009, p31(Attachment 188 to the Revised Regulatory Proposal).

⁹⁶¹ Synergies Economic Consulting, Gamma: New Analysis Using Tax Statistics, 28 May 2009.

⁹⁶² Associate Professor John Handley, Report prepared for the AER on the estimation of gamma, 19 March 2010.

⁹⁶³ Professor Michael McKenzie and Associate Professor Graham Partington, Evidence and submissions on gamma, 25 March 2010.

⁹⁶⁴AER, Draft Determination, p537.

although Professor Skeels appeared to address a number of the AER's concerns with the SFG study, there were still a significant number of issues which demonstrated that SFG's estimates were likely to be unreliable.

In its Draft Determination the AER relied heavily on the two new reports on gamma which it had commissioned. On the basis of these reports the AER expressed the following concerns:

- McKenzie and Partington's analysis demonstrates that SFG's regression results are likely to be affected by multicollinearity and as a result the values of imputation credits are likely to be downwardly biased;⁹⁶⁵
- the SFG (2009) study has problems with consistency in parameter estimation and data reliability remains an issue;
- based on McKenzie and Partington's advice, SFG's use of the Cook's D-statistic is likely to be less reliable than the filtering methodology used by Beggs and Skeels (2006);⁹⁶⁶
- the number of zero and negative drop-offs in SFG's data set is abnormally high; and
- the AER notes the conclusions of the Handley report that taxation studies may provide a reasonable estimate of the upper bound for theta.

The remainder of this Chapter addresses each of the arguments made by the AER in its Draft Determination and the accompanying expert reports.

13.2.4 Powercor Australia's response to the AER's Draft Determination

13.2.4.1 Payout ratio

There is now a considerable volume of persuasive evidence before the AER that would justify a departure from the assumption of a 100 per cent payout ratio. In addition to the evidence presented by the DNSPs in their regulatory proposals (particularly the expert evidence of Professor Officer and Mr Feros and the findings of the Officer and Hathaway (2004) study), there is also new evidence from the AER's own expert advisors which demonstrates that the payout ratio is less than 100 per cent.

McKenzie and Partington refer to the actual payout ratio as being 'about 70 per cent',⁹⁶⁷ in line with the findings of Officer and Hathaway (2004) and more recently NERA (2010).⁹⁶⁸ McKenzie and Partington go on to conclude that the appropriate payout ratio for the purposes of estimating gamma should lie between 70 per cent and 100 per cent, since undistributed credits will have at least some value. It is noted that the AER implicitly assumes that either there is 100 per cent payout (an assumption which

⁹⁶⁵ AER, Draft Determination, pp542-545.

⁹⁶⁶ AER, Draft Determination, p548.

⁹⁶⁷ Professor Michael McKenzie and Associate Professor Graham Partington, Evidence and submissions on gamma, 25 March 2010, p27.

⁹⁶⁸ NERA, Payout ratio of regulated firms, report for Gilbert and Tobin, 5 January 2010 (Previously provided to the AER under cover of an email to C Pattas of the AER from B Cleeve of CitiPower and Powercor Australia on 22 February 2010) (**NERA (2010**)) (Attachment 184 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal).

McKenzie and Partington consider to be unrealistic) or undistributed credits have the same value as distributed credits:⁹⁶⁹

The AER makes the assumption that there is a 100 percent payout of imputation credits. Taken literally, this is clearly incorrect. However, we view the 100 percent payout assumption as simply a convenient step designed to allow for the value of undistributed franking credits when computing gamma. It is equivalent to saying that undistributed franking credits have the same value as distributed franking credits. In principle, this is likely to overstate the value of the undistributed credits. but it is not clear by how much.'

McKenzie and Partington also consider the assumption that undistributed and distributed credits hold the same value to be unrealistic. They note that:⁹⁷⁰

'Clearly, undistributed credits will be discounted relative to distributed credits...'

The Handley Report reaches a similar conclusion that the payout ratio lies between 70 per cent and 100 per cent. Professor Handley also considers the AER's assumption of full payout to be unrealistic, given the empirical evidence which demonstrates substantially lower payout, and the fact that investors are likely to discount the value of undistributed credits. Professor Handley notes:⁹⁷¹

'An assumption that all credits are distributed in the period in which they are created will likely overstate the value of gamma.'

Thus the AER's expert advisors would appear to agree that that the payout ratio is less than 100 per cent and hence that assuming 100 per cent payout would lead to an overstatement of gamma. The only issue in the minds of these experts is the extent to which the payout ratio should be below 100 per cent, to reflect the lower value of undistributed credits. For the reasons set out below, Powercor Australia considers that little value should be assigned to undistributed credits and hence the payout ratio should be significantly below 100 per cent.

The AER's 100 per cent distribution rate implicitly makes two important assumptions:

- that undistributed credits will eventually be distributed; and
- there is no difference in value between distributed and undistributed credits.

In relation to the first assumption, the expert evidence of Mr Feros demonstrates that there are a number of legal and regulatory impediments to distribution of retained credits.⁹⁷² Additionally, there will be practical impediments to distribution since companies will build up large amounts of retained credits as they only distribute, on average, around 70 per cent of those created in each year. Over time, companies will need to distribute more credits than are actually created in order to distribute retained credits. That the 70 per cent figure is an average and that over time businesses do not generally distribute more credits than are actually created is obvious from the large

⁹⁶⁹ Professor Michael McKenzie and Associate Professor Graham Partington, Evidence and submissions on gamma, 25 March 2010, p26. ⁹⁷⁰ Professor Michael McKenzie and Associate Professor Graham Partington, Evidence and submissions on gamma,

²⁵ March 2010, p25. ⁹⁷¹ Associate Professor John Handley, Report prepared for the AER on the estimation of gamma, 19 March 2010,

p33. ⁹⁷² Peter Feros, Review of WACC parameters: Gamma, ETSA Price Reset, 22 June 2009 (Attachment 182 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal).

POWERCOR AUSTRALIA LTD'S REVISED REGULATORY PROPOSAL 2011-15

amounts of retained credits revealed in the ATO statistics - the Handley Report notes that the aggregate balance of retained imputation credits at the end of June 2007 totalled almost \$150 billion.⁹⁷³ It would also explain the tendency for franking account balances to rise over time, noted by McKenzie and Partington.⁹⁷⁴

The AER does not have any empirical evidence to support its assumption that retained credits will be distributed soon after retention. The AER says it is uncertain as to how long firms are likely to retain credits and says it is not aware of any empirical research on the retention period.⁹⁷⁵ It is simply assumed that retained credits will be paid out within a one to five year period, when there is in fact no reason to believe that the payout period would necessarily match the regulatory period. The AER also ignores the evidence referred to above which demonstrates the significant constraints on the ability of companies to distribute retained credits in a timely manner.

It is argued by Professor Handley that there are ways in which the value of retained credits may be 'unlocked', including through off-market buy-backs and dividend reinvestment plans. However, the use of such mechanisms is likely to be relatively limited and will not significantly affect the overall balance of retained imputation credits. In any case, the use of such mechanisms will already be reflected in the distribution rate studies, including those of Officer and Hathaway (2004) and NERA (2010). These studies consider the total amount of credits distributed by any means (including those referred to by Professor Handley) as a share of credits created.

With respect to the second assumption made by the AER, there appears to be general recognition (including among the AER's experts) that investors will discount the value of undistributed credits. The extent to which discounting occurs will depend on investors' discount rates and the time it takes for retained credits to be distributed (discussed above). Even where the discount rate is low, the discounted value of retained credits will be very small if it takes a long time for retained credits to be distributed.

Given the evidence relating to the rate of retention of credits by companies and the constraints on distribution once these credits are retained. Powercor Australia considers it likely that investors would heavily discount the value of retained credits. Therefore, the payout ratio should closely reflect the actual distribution rate of 70 per cent which is supported by the empirical evidence and recognised by the AER's expert advisors.

Finally it should be noted that a payout ratio below 100 per cent would not be inconsistent with the Officer CAPM Framework as the AER claims in its Draft Professor Officer himself has stated that the Officer CAPM Determination. Framework says nothing about the payout ratio, other than to make a simplifying assumption.976 Such simplifying assumptions are common in academic analysis and are not necessarily intended to reflect reality.

⁹⁷³ Associate Professor John Handley, Report prepared for the AER on the estimation of gamma, 19 March 2010,

p36. ⁹⁷⁴ Professor Michael McKenzie and Associate Professor Graham Partington, Evidence and submissions on gamma, 25 March 2010, p27.

AER, Draft Decision, p537.

⁹⁷⁶ Robert R. Officer, Estimating the Distribution Rate of Imputation Tax Credits: Questions Raised by ETSA's Advisers, 23 June 2009 (Attachment 185 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal).

13.2.4.2 Theta

In relation to theta, the AER's consultants have noted the limitations of empirical studies generally, not just the SFG (2009) study of which the AER is critical in the Draft Determination. In light of these limitations, McKenzie and Partington recommend a balanced approach to the evidence on theta, taking into account all available sources of information. McKenzie and Partington state (emphasis added): ρ_{77}

'Ex-dividend studies and taxation studies however, both have limitations. Exdividend studies have substantial measurement and estimation issues and they involve analysis of trades in a restricted window. Taxation studies present results that apply across a broad sweep of investors, but they are subject to measurement problems (this has proven to be less of an issue since the introduction of the simplified tax system). Furthermore, the link between taxation statistics and the market value of imputation credits remains indirect. Therefore, neither type of study is likely to provide an accurate and definitive estimate of gamma on its own. Given the uncertainty surrounding the estimates of gamma, we argue that it is preferable to consider evidence from multiple sources. This means considering results from both types of study and, where multiple studies of the same type are available, considering the results across these studies.

McKenzie and Partington summarised this advice, which the AER did not follow in the Draft Determination, in even more explicit terms (emphasis added): ⁹⁷⁸

'Given the problems inherent in estimating gamma using either taxation or exdividend studies, we argue in favour of a balanced approach. Since the best estimation techniques are beset with problems, the most logical approach is to consider the evidence on balance across all available sources. In this respect, the AER's approach of considering both ex-dividend and taxation statistics has merit, but we would recommend a broader range of studies to triangulate the evidence considered by the AER.'

In the Draft Determination, the AER appears to have largely ignored this advice from its own consultants. The AER relied on just one dividend drop-off (ex-dividend) study in Beggs and Skeels (2006) and ignored the more recent SFG (2009) study. Moreover, the AER appears to have ignored the limitations of the only tax study it relies on (Handley and Maheswaran $(2008)^{979}$). The limitations of this taxation study and the AER's specific concerns with the SFG (2009) study are addressed in more detail below.

Use of taxation studies

Powercor Australia considers that tax studies should not be used to calculate the value of theta, since these studies provide no indication as to the value of imputation credits to investors, only the extent to which they are used. However, if the AER is inclined to

 ⁹⁷⁷ Professor Michael McKenzie and Associate Professor Graham Partington, Evidence and submissions on gamma,
 25 March 2010, pp9-10.

⁹⁷⁸ Professor Michael McKenzie and Associate Professor Graham Partington, Evidence and submissions on gamma, 25 March 2010, p3.

⁹⁷⁹ John C Handley and Krishnan Maheswaran, 'A measure of the efficacy of the Australian imputation tax system', *The Economic Record*, volume 84, number 264, March 2008 (Attachment 186 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal) (**Handley and Maheswaran (2008)**).

POWERCOR AUSTRALIA LTD'S REVISED REGULATORY PROPOSAL 2011-15

use tax studies, the findings of these studies should be interpreted with care, given the apparent problems with data used.

(i) Appropriateness of using tax studies

The tax studies relied on by the AER estimate the extent to which imputation credits are used by investors. The result of these studies is a ratio of credits redeemed in a given year to the number of credits created in that year. These studies provide limited information on the value of imputation credits to those investors that redeem them and therefore should not be used to calculate theta.

Tax studies would only be relevant to the value of theta if one assumed that the value of redeemed credits was equal to 100 per cent of their face value. If the value of these credits to redeeming investors was 50 per cent of their face value, then theta would be 50 per cent of the redemption rate.

It is not claimed by the AER's expert advisors that the tax studies provide a reliable estimate of theta, only that these studies provide a reasonable upper bound - in other words theta will be no higher than the estimates produced by the tax studies, but could be significantly lower. The Handley Report refers to the results of tax studies as an 'upper bound' for theta,⁹⁸⁰ noting that this term is used in the sense of a theoretical maximum, rather than in a statistical confidence interval sense. McKenzie and Partington note that: 981

"...the link between taxation statistics and the market value of imputation credits remains indirect.'

These comments by the AER's expert advisors appear to reflect a recognition that the redemption rate of imputation credits will only reflect their value to investors if it is assumed that redeemed credits are fully valued. In practice this may not be a realistic assumption.

Powercor Australia considers that the AER should not take into account these 'upper bound' estimates from tax studies which are at best indirectly linked to the value of imputation credits. In calculating theta, it is inappropriate to average these theoretical maximum values with the point estimates produced by the dividend drop-off studies.

(ii) Risks associated with using tax studies

Notwithstanding the arguments against the use of tax studies (outlined above) if the AER maintains its view that these studies should be used, it should interpret their results with considerable caution. There are a number of issues with both the theoretical bases for these studies and the econometric techniques used.

The study relied on by the AER to derive its 'point estimate'⁹⁸² for theta from tax statistics contains various qualifications and assumptions which should induce caution The study by Handley and Maheswaran (2008) produces an in interpretation. imputation credit redemption range of 0.67 to 0.81, from which the AER takes a mid-

⁹⁸⁰ Associate Professor John Handley, Report prepared for the AER on the estimation of gamma, 19 March 2010,

p15. ⁹⁸¹ Professor Michael McKenzie and Associate Professor Graham Partington, Evidence and submissions on gamma,

⁹⁸² As noted above, it is incorrect to interpret this as a point estimate for theta, since the tax studies at best provide an upper bound.

point of 0.74.⁹⁸³ However, Handley and Maheswaran (2008) make a number of assumptions and qualifications in their study, which are not interrogated by the AER.

Most obviously, Handley and Maheswaran (2008) do not empirically estimate the redemption rate for imputation credits for the post-2000 period. The authors in fact assume that all credits will be redeemed by individuals and funds over this period, while estimating the redemption rate for non-residents.⁹⁸⁴ It is not apparent what the basis for this assumption is, besides mere 'investor rationality'.⁹⁸⁵ Nevertheless, it is clear that the estimate of redemption rates for this period cannot be relied on by the AER since it is based on assumption rather than empirical analysis. The use of this assumption in the post-2000 period may explain why the estimate produced by Handley and Maheswaran (2008) is substantially higher for 2001-04, compared to the previous decade (0.81 compared to 0.67).

Further problems are identified by Dr Neville Hathaway in his expert report on the Handley and Maheswaran (2008) study.⁹⁸⁶ Dr Hathaway notes that some of the key limitations of this study include:

- the results appear to be contrived as they are based on analyses of data that the authors themselves have created by their assumptions;
- data has been averaged over periods of materially different tax regimes, • potentially distorting the results; and
- the methodology used to combine data for different groups introduces the risk of double counting.

In a separate report commissioned by the DNSPs in response to the Draft Determination, Dr Hathaway finds that the taxation data relied on by Handley and Maheswaran appears to be highly unreliable.⁹⁸⁷ Dr Hathaway notes that there are significant unexplained discrepancies in the taxation data and he concludes that this data should not be relied on for making conclusions as to the value of theta.

Given these limitations, the results of the Handley and Maheswaran (2008) study should be interpreted with extreme caution.

Dividend drop-off studies

The DNSPs agree with the recommendation made by McKenzie and Partington for a more 'balanced approach' to the evidence from the available dividend drop-off studies. It is unreasonable for the AER to place so much weight on the findings of Beggs and Skeels (2006), whilst ignoring the more recent evidence from SFG (2009). Although the AER expressed several concerns with the SFG (2009) study in the Draft

⁹⁸³ John C Handley and Krishnan Maheswaran, 'A measure of the efficacy of the Australian imputation tax system', The Economic Record, volume 84, number 264, March 2008 (Attachment 186 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal). ⁹⁸⁴ John C Handley and Krishnan Maheswaran, 'A measure of the efficacy of the Australian imputation tax system', The Economic Record, volume 84, number 264, March 2008 (Attachment 186 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal),

p90 - in the bottom panel of Table 4, the utilisation rate is set to 1 for individuals and funds for each of the years 2001-04 (for earlier years this takes a lower value). ⁹⁸⁵ John C Handley and Krishnan Maheswaran, 'A measure of the efficacy of the Australian imputation tax system',

The Economic Record, volume 84, number 264, March 2008 (Attachment 186 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p 86. ⁹⁸⁶ Neville Hathaway, Comment on: "A Measure of the Efficacy of the Australian Imputation Tax System" by John

Handley and Krishan Maheswaran, July 2008 (Attachment 190 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal).

⁹⁸⁷ Neville Hathaway, Imputation Credit Redemption: ATO data 1988-2008, July 2010 (Attachment 189 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal).

Determination, these concerns would appear to be unfounded. Each of the AER's specific concerns in relation to the SFG (2009) study is addressed below.

(i) Multicollinearity

The AER have argued that the multicollinearity remains an issue in the dividend drop off study. However, the AER has failed to acknowledge that multicollinearity is no more of an issue for SFG than it is for Beggs and Skeels (2006). McKenzie and Partington's criticisms are generic to dividend drop off studies as a whole and not unique to SFG.

McKenzie and Partington note that multicollinearity is a problem for dividend drop-off studies generally and therefore emphasise the importance of taking a balanced approach to the evidence:⁹⁸⁸

'The final area of concern for dividend drop off studies relates to the econometric issues surrounding the estimation of the regression equations. In particular, the issue of multicollinearity dominates as there is a perfect linear relationship between the size of the cash dividend and the franking credit... We conclude that the problems inherent to dividend drop off studies only serve to reinforce our view that a logical approach to estimating gamma is to consider the evidence on balance across all available sources and not rely on any one individual source.'

Despite this clear advice from McKenzie and Partington, the AER relied in the Draft Determination on just one dividend drop off study, presumably on the assumption that this study is not affected by the same econometric issues as it perceives in the SFG (2009) study. However, the expert report commissioned by the AER demonstrates that this is clearly not the case.

(ii) Reliability of SFG data

The AER has noted that the sampling methodology developed by Field implies a range of 6.2 - 16.7 per cent of 'unacceptable' observations. Although this may be the case the AER has given no consideration to the materiality of the 'unacceptability' and its likely effect on the results.

SFG have adopted a modified version of the Cook's D procedure which removed influential and unreliable observations. While unreliable observations may remain, any such observations would not be influential – that is, they would have little impact on the results.

Despite the AER's suggestion that the sampling exercise was of no useful purpose, what the sampling procedure has clearly shown is that the removal of any further observations has an immaterial effect on the results, with SFG's results being incredibly stable. After a re-calibration of the estimation following the removal of a handful of observations there was a change at the third decimal point.⁹⁸⁹

As a final observation, the SFG study has been subject to a much higher degree of scrutiny than the Beggs and Skeels (2006) study. Unlike the Beggs and Skeels (2006) study, the SFG data has been made available for comment and SFG have responded to

⁹⁸⁸ Professor Michael McKenzie and Associate Professor Graham Partington, Evidence and submissions on gamma, 25 March 2010, p5.

 $^{^{989}}$ SFG, Response to the AER draft determination in relation to gamma, 13 January 2010 (Attachment 187 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), pp 17 – 18.

any concerns of the AER. There has been no such interrogation of the Beggs and Skeels study notwithstanding that the paper was peer reviewed. It is also relevant that this paper was written to examine structural breaks in the tax system not give an estimate for theta per se. Even Skeels himself has stated that in his opinion the SFG estimate is currently the best estimate available.⁹⁹⁰

(iii) Use of Cook's D Statistic

The criticisms in the Draft Determination surrounding the use of Cook's D Statistic have already been addressed by Skeels and SFG. SFG modified the Cook's D Statistic to identify the top one per cent of observations and then only exclude those which were unreliable. This application is not arbitrary and is justified on economic grounds.

The AER has provided no examples of the types of decisions it may consider to be 'jointly influential' or how this may manifest itself in the results. This is merely an allusion to a possible concern, but is not supported by anything other than an assertion of the AER.

Skeels has reviewed this modified approach to the use of the Cook's D Statistic and commented that it is a reasonable trade off in terms of efficiency and accuracy.⁹⁹¹ Further, this statistical measure should also be considered in light of the other diagnostics and checks performed by SFG including the standard errors of the results and the fact that the sampling exercise shows significant stability in the SFG estimate.

(iv) Zero and negative drop-offs

McKenzie and Partington have criticised the data in the SFG analysis for containing a number of zero and negative drop-offs.

McKenzie and Partington stated that the number of zero drop-off observations in the SFG study is 'higher than expected'.⁹⁹² However, there is simply no evidence provided to support this assertion. There is also no evidence as to the number of zero and negative drop-offs in the Beggs and Skeels (2006) study. The AER has not tested this aspect of the study on which it relies and it is quite possible that this study has a similar number of such observations.

In relation to negative drop-offs, McKenzie and Partington have argued that negative and zero drop-offs may bias the sample and should be removed.⁹⁹³ However, this argument ignores the fact that the negative or zero-drop off is caused by a purely random event and there is accordingly no basis to remove it from the sample. In fact, excluding observations in this arbitrary manner would inevitably bias the results. SFG, in its report in response to the Draft Determination, concludes:⁹⁹⁴

⁹⁹⁰ Christopher L Skeels, A Review of the SFG Dividend Drop-Off Study – A Report prepared for Gilbert and Tobin, 28 August 2009 Attachment 188 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p 31.

 ⁹⁹¹ See, Christopher L Skeels, Response to AER Questions, 21 September 2009 (Attachment 191 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p 6 – 8.
 ⁹⁹² Professor Michael McKenzie and Associate Professor Graham Partington, Evidence and submissions on gamma,

⁹⁹² Professor Michael McKenzie and Associate Professor Graham Partington, Evidence and submissions on gamma, 25 March 2010, p38.

²⁹³ Professor Michael McKenzie and Associate Professor Graham Partington, Evidence and submissions on gamma, 25 March 2010, p38.

⁹⁹⁴ SFG, Issues relating to the estimation of gamma, 15 July 2010 (Attachment 192 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p18.

POWERCOR AUSTRALIA LTD'S REVISED REGULATORY PROPOSAL 2011-15

'it would be wrong to routinely omit zero or negative drop-off observations. Such observations should only be omitted if they are erroneous, and there is no evidence of that.'

(v) Consistency in AER parameter estimation

As noted in the SFG report in response to the Draft Determination, the AER has also failed to address the two inconsistent assumptions it makes when deriving the return on capital:⁹⁹⁵

- the AER's empirical estimates of theta (and consequently gamma) are conditional on an estimated value of cash dividends of 80 cents per dollar; and
- the AER's estimate of the required return on equity using the Officer CAPM Framework is conditional on cash dividends being valued at 100 cents per dollar.

It is inconsistent and wrong for the AER to use two different values for the same parameter when estimating the return on capital. The Tribunal has previously recognised the importance of maintaining the mathematical integrity of the Officer CAPM framework when estimating the WACC in the Application by GasNet Australia (Operations) Pty Ltd.⁹⁹⁶ The AER must address this issue and cannot maintain its previous approach in violation of the principle set out in the Application by GasNet Australia (Operations) Pty Ltd.

(vi) Methodological issues

In the Draft Determination, the AER takes an average of the values from Beggs and Skeels (2006) and Handley and Maheswaran (2008) to derive its value of theta. The AER argues that this is a valid approach, since both of these values represent point estimates. The AER considers the value from Handley and Maheswaran (2008) to represent an 'upper value within a range of reasonable point estimates' and not an upper bound for theta.⁹⁹⁷

This approach to estimating theta is methodologically flawed, since it takes an average of a point estimate (from the Beggs and Skeels (2006) dividend drop-off study) and an upper bound estimate (from the taxation study). This implies that the AER's estimate of theta will be upwardly biased.

Tax statistics do not contain any information about the value of an imputation credit in the sense of what an investor would pay for it. The tax studies will only provide an upper bound for theta since there is an implicit assumption that credits are fully valued by the investors that redeem them. If credits are not fully valued, then the value of theta will be less than what is implied by the tax studies. This point is noted in the SFG report in response to the Draft Determination⁹⁹⁸ and also by the AER's own consultants.

⁹⁹⁵ SFG, Issues relating to the estimation of gamma (Attachment 192 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), 10 July 2010.

⁹⁹⁶ Application by GasNet Australia (Operations) Pty Ltd [2003] ACompT 6 (Attachment 193 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal).

⁹⁹⁷ AER, Draft Determination, pp551-552.

⁹⁹⁸ SFG, Issues relating to the estimation of gamma, 15 July 2010 (Attachment 192 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), pp25-26.
13.2.4.3 Conclusions

Powercor Australia submits that a value of gamma of 0.65 is inappropriate. The AER's reasoning in support of this value for gamma is deficient in a number of areas, including the following, and there is persuasive evidence to depart from the value for gamma set out in the SoRI.

- The AER has ignored the weight of empirical evidence which demonstrates that the distribution rate is not 100 per cent, and is in fact likely to be around 70 per cent. This includes the expert reports commissioned by the AER itself which acknowledge that the distribution rate is below 100 per cent.
- The AER continues to assert that a 100 per cent distribution rate is consistent with the Officer CAPM Framework, even though this has been denied by Professor Officer himself.
- The AER has relied on the tax study by Handley and Maheswaran (2008) to derive an 'upper bound' for theta, despite apparent deficiencies in this study. The AER also appears to have misinterpreted the results of this study in deriving its 'upper bound'.
- The AER has relied on just one dividend drop-off study to estimate theta, notwithstanding the advice of its experts to take a more 'balanced approach'. The AER continues to disregard the more recent SFG (2009) study, despite expert evidence to suggest that this study is at least as reliable as the Beggs and Skeels (2006) study.
- The AER's approach to estimating theta as an average of a point estimate and an upper bound is methodologically flawed.

Taking a more balanced approach to the evidence (including consideration of the empirical evidence in relation to the distribution rate and the SFG (2009) study in relation to theta) would yield a gamma value that is significantly below 0.5. Therefore adopting a value for gamma of 0.5 is conservative, and is consistent with the significant body of empirical evidence and expert opinion.

13.2.5 Powercor Australia's Revised Regulatory Proposal

Powercor Australia does not make any amendments to its Initial Regulatory Proposal in relation to the value of gamma.

Powercor Australia maintains that, in light of the underlying criteria, a material change in circumstances since the date of the SoRI or another relevant factor makes the value for gamma set out in the SoRI inappropriate. Powercor Australia considers that the appropriate value for gamma is 0.5.

13.2.6 Regulatory Information Notice response

Paragraphs 2.3 and 2.4 of the Further RIN - require Powercor Australia to:

- identify each proposed departure from a WACC parameter set out in the SoRI; and
- for each such departure, provide all supporting consultants reports and documents.

Powercor Australia proposes departures from the value for gamma set out in the SoRI. As explained in section 13.2.4 above, Powercor Australia considers that the appropriate value for gamma is 0.5.

Attached to this Revised Regulatory Proposal are the supporting consultant reports and other relevant documents related to this proposed departure from the SoRI, including the underlying data, assumptions, calculations, modelling code, estimation outputs from any regression results and results of any statistical tests.

13.3 Change in tax laws and other taxation issues

13.3.1 Rules requirements

Transitional provisions of specific application to Victoria are set out in clause 11.17 of the Rules. Clause 11.17.2(b) requires that when calculating the estimated cost of corporate income tax for the 2011-15 regulatory control period, the AER must adopt the same taxation values, classification of assets and method of depreciation adopted by the ESCV in the ESCV's 2006-10 EDPR. However, clause 11.17.2(c) provides that the AER may depart from these methods of asset classification or depreciation 'to the extent required by changes in the taxation laws or rulings given by the Australian Taxation Office'.

13.3.2 Powercor Australia's Initial Regulatory Proposal

In the Initial Regulatory Proposal, Powercor Australia did not propose any departures from the methods adopted by the ESCV as a result of changes in taxation laws or rulings by the ATO.

13.3.3 AER's Draft Determination

In the Draft Determination, the AER made the following departures from the methods adopted by the ESCV:

- as a result of amendments to Division 40 of the *Income Tax Assessment Act 1997* (Cth) to reflect increases in the deductions for the decline in value of depreciating assets, the AER amended Powercor Australia's tax roll forward calculations to apply higher depreciation rates; and
- as a result of announcements by the Commonwealth Government that it intends to reduce the corporate tax rate to 29 per cent for the 2013-14 financial year and to 28 per cent for the 2014-15 financial year, the AER has modified the statutory corporate income tax rate.⁹⁹⁹

The AER also included tax depreciation of equity raising costs, calculating tax depreciation on a straight line basis applying a tax rate of 20 per cent.

13.3.4 Powercor Australia's response to the AER's Draft Determination

Powercor Australia adopts the AER's amendments in the Draft Determination, except that Powercor Australia notes that the Government announced on 2 July 2010 that the company tax rate will continue to be cut to 29 per cent from 2013-14 but will not be further reduced to 28 per cent in 2014-15.¹⁰⁰⁰

⁹⁹⁹ AER, Draft Determination, p555.

¹⁰⁰⁰ Media release by Prime Minister entitled 'Breakthrough agreement with industry on improvements to resources taxation', 2 July 2010, <u>http://www.pm.gov.au/node/6868</u> (Attachment 195 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal).

Accordingly, the AER must amend its approach in the Draft Determination to reflect the latest Government policy and the removal of the proposed reduction of the corporate income tax rate to 28 per cent.

Powercor Australia also notes that other tax changes that were announced by the Government at same time as the original proposed changes to the corporate income tax rate include an increase in the superannuation guarantee rate to 12 per cent, with the increases starting on 1 July 2013.¹⁰⁰¹ For consistency with its approach to the company tax rate changes, the AER must also allow an opex step change to address this announced change to the superannuation guarantee rate.

13.3.5 Powercor Australia's Revised Regulatory Proposal

Powercor Australia amends its Initial Regulatory Proposal to adopt the AER's approach in the Draft Determination in relation to changes in tax laws and tax depreciation of equity raising costs, except that it proposes that the company tax rate reduction should be amended to reflect the Government's announcements that the proposed reduction to 28 per cent will not occur.

Powercor Australia's proposed estimated cost of corporate income tax is set out in Table 13.1.

	\$m (nominal)					
	2011 2012 2013 2014 201					
Estimated cost of corporate income tax	3.9	4.8	6.0	7.2	9.0	

 Table 13.1
 Estimated cost of corporate income tax

Australian Government Fact Sheet, Cutting the Company Tax Rate (accessed 8 July 2010) (Attachment 194 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal).

¹⁰⁰¹ Australian Government Fact Sheet, Superannuation – Increasing the superannuation guarantee rate to 12 per cent, (Attachment 131 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal).

14. EFFICIENCY CARRYOVER AMOUNTS FOR 2006-10

In this Chapter of the Revised Regulatory Proposal, Powercor Australia responds to Chapter 13 of the Draft Determination regarding efficiency carryover amounts for 2006-10.

This Chapter does not address Chapter 14 of the Draft Determination regarding the EBSS. The EBSS is addressed in Chapter 15 of this Revised Regulatory Proposal.

14.1 Summary of key points

Powercor Australia does not accept the AER's decision to deduct Powercor Australia's accrued negative carryover from 2001-05 from Powercor Australia's 2006-10 efficiency carryover amounts. That decision is incorrect and based on errors of law.

- The AER has no power under the Rules to take the 2001-05 negative carryover into account in making its Final Determination.
- The AER's conclusion in the Draft Determination that it is authorised, and indeed required, by the AER's EBSS Final Decision, the ESCV's 2006-10 EDPR and the NEVA to deduct the 2001-05 negative carryover from Powercor Australia's positive carryover amount for 2006-10 is based on several errors of law. In particular:
 - neither the AER's EBSS Final Decision nor the ESCV's 2006-10 EDPR can confer powers on the AER that are not conferred on it under the Rules; and
 - \circ $\,$ the AER's enforcement powers under the NEVA do not apply.

Powercor Australia does not accept the AER's decision to reject Powercor Australia's proposed adjustments to the 2006-10 carryover amounts to exclude uncontrollable costs (increased vegetation management costs, 2008 ATO costs, superannuation costs and GSL payments) and remove the ESCV's \$5.5 million efficiency adjustment and 0.39 per cent partial productivity factor adjustment. That decision is incorrect, based in part on errors of law, inconsistent with the NEL and Rules and inconsistent with the AER's decisions and reasons in other parts of the Draft Determination.

Powercor Australia does not accept the amount of the adjustments that the AER made in relation to provisions, licence fees or network growth when calculating the 2006-10 carryover amounts. Those decisions are incorrect and based on errors of fact.

14.2 Rules requirements

The AER's only power to bring to account efficiency carryover amounts from a previous regulatory period arises under clause 6.4.3(a)(6) of the Rules.

Clause 6.4.3(a) of the Rules provides:

'Building blocks generally

The annual revenue requirement for a Distribution Network Service Provider *for each* regulatory year *of a* regulatory control period *must be determined using a building block approach, under which the building blocks are:*

- (1) indexation of the regulatory asset base see paragraph (b)(1); and
- (2) a return on capital for that year see paragraph (b)(2); and
- (3) the depreciation for that year see paragraph (b)(3); and
- (4) the estimated cost of corporate income tax of the provider for that year – see paragraph (b)(4); and
- (5) the revenue increments or decrements (if any) for that year arising from the application of the efficiency benefit sharing scheme, the service target performance incentive scheme and the demand management incentive scheme – see paragraph (b)(5); and
- (6) the other revenue increments or decrements (if any) for that year arising from the application of a control mechanism in the previous regulatory control period – see paragraph (b)(6); and
- (7) the forecast operating expenditure for that year see paragraph (b)(7).'

Clause 6.4.3(b)(6) provides:

'the other revenue increments or decrements referred to in paragraph (a)(6) are those that are to be carried forward to the current regulatory control period as a result of the application of a control mechanism in the previous regulatory control period and are apportioned to the relevant year under the distribution determination for the current regulatory control period.'.

14.3 2001-05 negative carryover

14.3.1 Powercor Australia's Initial Regulatory Proposal

Powercor Australia incurred a negative efficiency carryover of -\$22.9 million (in \$2004) in the 2001-05 regulatory period . In the ESCV's 2006-10 EDPR, the ESCV decided not to carry over this amount when applying the ECM in the ESCV's 2006-10 EDPR.

In its Initial Regulatory Proposal, Powercor Australia stated that the NEL, the Rules and the AER's EBSS Guideline do not permit the AER to deduct the 2001-05 negative carryover in its Final Determination for the following reasons: ¹⁰⁰²

- clause 6.4.3(a) of the Rules only allows revenue increments or decrements arising from the application of the EBSS or from the application of a control mechanism in the previous regulatory control period, and that clause does not allow the AER to include revenue decrements based on mechanisms applied in prior periods;
- carrying over 2001-05 losses would be inconsistent with the NEO and revenue and pricing principles in the NEL, in particular the requirement that a DNSP should be provided with effective incentives in order to promote economic efficiency; and
- carrying over 2001-05 losses would be inconsistent with the EBSS principles in clause 6.5.8(c) of the Rules.

¹⁰⁰² Initial Regulatory Proposal, pp263-264.

Powercor Australia also noted that neither the AER's EBSS Guideline nor the Framework and Approach Paper addressed the 2001-05 negative carryover or contemplated that it would be taken into account in the Final Determination.

Powercor Australia also provided an expert report from NERA, which stated that it is not appropriate to carry over the 2001-05 negative carryover and that to do so would be inconsistent with the NEO, the revenue and pricing principles and clause 6.5.8(c).¹⁰⁰³

14.3.2 AER's Draft Determination

In the Draft Determination, the AER deducted the 2001-05 negative carryover from Powercor Australia's 2006-10 efficiency carryover amounts.¹⁰⁰⁴

The AER considered that it must apply the ESCV's ECM as set out in the ESCV's 2006-10 EDPR. The AER disagreed with Powercor Australia's view that the AER has no power to deduct 2001-05 negative carryover from Powercor Australia's positive 2006-10 carryover amounts. Instead, the AER considered that it was empowered to do so, and indeed required to do so, by the ESCV's 2006-10 EDPR, the AER's EBSS Final Decision and the AER's powers under the NEVA to enforce the ESCV's 2006-10 EDPR.¹⁰⁰⁵

14.3.3 Powercor Australia's response to the AER's Draft Determination

The AER's conclusion in the Draft Determination is incorrect and based on errors of law.

In the Draft Determination, the AER states that it is required to bring the 2001-05 negative carryover to account because the AER's EBSS Final Decision states that the AER will apply carryover amounts under existing schemes in accordance with the existing jurisdictional arrangements. That is incorrect and an error of law for the following reasons:

- The AER's own final decision on a matter cannot provide the AER with powers that are not conferred on it under the Rules. As explained below, the AER has no powers under the Rules to address the 2001-05 negative carryover in its Final Determination.
- Deducting the 2001-05 negative carryover would be contrary to the NEO and revenue and pricing principles. The AER's own final decision on a matter cannot empower the AER to act in a manner that is inconsistent with the NEO and revenue and pricing principles.

In the Draft Determination, the AER states that the ECM in the ESCV's 2006-10 EDPR empowers the AER to deduct the 2001-05 negative carryover. That is incorrect and an error of law. The ESCV's 2006-10 EDPR cannot confer any powers on the AER that are not conferred on it under the Rules, and cannot empower the AER to act in a manner that is inconsistent with the NEO and revenue and pricing principles.

¹⁰⁰⁴ AER, Draft Determination, p598.

¹⁰⁰³ NERA, Treatment of Accrued Carryovers in the 2011-15 Regulatory Period, 22 December 2009, provided by Powercor Australia to the AER on 23 December 2009 (Previously provided to the AER under cover of an email to B Burkitt, Director Network Regulation South Branch AER from B Cleeve, Manager Price Review, CitiPower and Powercor Australia of the same date).

¹⁰⁰⁵ AER, Draft Determination, pp562-580.

The AER also states in its Draft Determination that the NEVA authorises it to deduct the 2001-05 negative carryover as part of enforcing the ESCV's 2006-10 EDPR. That is incorrect and an error of law for the following reasons:

- The AER's powers under the NEVA in relation to the ESCV's 2006-10 EDPR only apply during the term of the ESCV's 2006-10 EDPR, ie 1 January 2006 to 31 December 2010. From 1 January 2011, the AER's powers in relation to the economic regulation of DNSPs are as set out in the NEL and the Rules. The NEVA does not confer on the AER a power to effectively carry over parts of the ESCV's 2006-10 EDPR into 2011-15 and to disregard the limitations on its powers under the NEL and the Rules, which is the effect of what the AER proposes in the Draft Determination.
- The AER states that section 25 of the NEVA authorises it to enforce the ESCV's 2006-10 EDPR and that carrying over the 2001-05 negative carryover is part of the exercise of that enforcement power. That is incorrect and an error of law because:
 - section 25 only applies 'if a relevant distributor has contravened or is contravening or, in the opinion of the AER, is likely to contravene' the ESCV's 2006-10 EDPR or certain conditions of its distribution licence;
 - Powercor Australia has not contravened the ESCV's 2006-10 EDPR or its distribution licence, so section 25 does not apply and is simply not relevant to this issue;
 - in any event, the only enforcement action authorised under section 25 is to serve a provisional order or final order requiring compliance with the ESCV's 2006-10 EDPR, and the NEVA does not authorise the AER to include a matter in its Final Determination as part of its enforcement powers.
- The ESCV's 2006-10 EDPR does not set out a clear position on the treatment of the 2001-05 negative carryover after 2010 and does not require that it must be deducted in 2011-15. The ESCV's 2006-10 EDPR only states the ESCV's expectation that the 2001-05 negative carryover could 'possibly' be deducted from any future positive carryover amount.

The AER has no power to take the 2001-05 negative carryover into account in making its 2011-15 determination for the following reasons:

- The AER's only power under the NEL or Rules in relation to the carrying over of efficiency gains or losses from periods prior to the commencement of the 2011-15 regulatory control period is to apply a building block revenue increment or decrement under clause 6.4.3(a)(6) of the Rules.
- Clause 6.4.3(a)(6) only empowers the AER to apply revenue increments or decrements *'arising from the application of a control mechanism in the previous regulatory control period'.*
- The carrying over of the 2001-05 negative carryover is not a revenue increment or decrement 'arising from the application of a control mechanism in the previous regulatory control period'.

Powercor Australia also notes that the AER's reasoning in relation to the 2001-05 negative carryover is inconsistent with its reasoning and conclusions in other parts of the Draft Determination. In section 9.5.4 of the Draft Determination, the AER rejected Jemena's proposal that it be compensated for financing costs associated with the overspend of its capital expenditure allowance for 2006-10.¹⁰⁰⁶ The AER accepted in the Draft Determination that the ESCV stated in the ESCV's 2006-10 EDPR that DNSPs overspending their capex allowances should be able to recover financing costs by rolling them into the 2011 opening RAB in the Final Determination. However, the AER determined that it was unable to give effect to that expectation because the relevant provisions of the Rules do not allow it to make such adjustments to the opening RAB.

The AER's approach in section 9.5.4 of the Draft Determination is correct, but it is inconsistent with its approach to the 2001-05 negative carryover. In section 9.5.4, the AER accepted that the ESCV's 2006-10 EDPR provided for financing costs to be included in the opening RAB for 2011 and that the ESCV had an expectation that the AER would do so, but the AER acknowledged that it was unable to give effect to that provision of the ESCV's 2006-10 EDPR and the ESCV's expectation unless there was an express provision in the Rules allowing to it make such an adjustment the RAB. In contrast, the AER's reasoning in relation to the 2001-05 negative carryover is that it must give effect to the ECM provisions in the ESCV's 2006-10 EDPR and the ESCV's 2006-10 EDPR and the ESCV's 2006-10 EDPR and the ESCV's and the ESCV's expectation that the 2001-05 negative carryover could (possibly) be deducted from 2006-10 positive carryovers, regardless of whether there is any Rules provision allowing it to do so. That is incorrect. As the AER notes in section 9.5.4, the AER can only give effect to the provisions and expectations in the ESCV's 2006-10 EDPR if it is permitted to do so by the relevant provisions of the Rules.

It is also notable that in section 9.5.4 of the Draft Determination, the AER rejects Jemena's argument that this adjustment could be made under clause 6.4.3(a)(6) and the AER acknowledges that it only has a power under that section if the matter arises from the application of a control mechanism in the ESCV's 2006-10 EDPR. In relation to the 2001-05 negative carryover, the AER makes no similar attempt to analyse the extent of its powers under clause 6.4.3(a)(6) and does not explain the basis on which carrying over the 2001-05 negative carryover is a matter that arises from the application of a control mechanism in the ESCV's 2006-10 EDPR. The ESCV's statements about how the 2001-05 negative carryover may possibly be treated in the future do not form part of the 'control mechanism' in the ESCV's 2006-10 EDPR.

In addition, it is not appropriate for the AER to take the 2001-05 negative carryover into account in making its Final Determination. To so would be inconsistent with the NEO, the revenue and pricing principles and the objectives of the EBSS. This view was confirmed in the expert report from NERA that was provided with Powercor Australia's Initial Regulatory Proposal.¹⁰⁰⁷

¹⁰⁰⁶ AER, Draft Determination, p449.

¹⁰⁰⁷ NERA, Treatment of Accrued Carryovers in the 2011-15 Regulatory Period, 22 December 2009, provided by Powercor Australia to the AER on 23 December 2009 (Previously provided to the AER under cover of an email to B Burkitt, Director Network Regulation South Branch AER from B Cleeve, Manager Price Review, CitiPower and Powercor Australia of the same date).

The AER states that it is not appropriate to apply the requirements of the NEL and Rules retrospectively to the ESCV's ECM.¹⁰⁰⁸ As explained in section 14.4.3.4 below, that comment shows a misunderstanding of the concept of retrospectivity.

Powercor Australia's proposed adjustments, and the reasoning to support those adjustments, does not involve retrospective application of the Rules. The decision that the AER is required to make is a decision under clause 6.4.3(a)(6) in relation to the amount of the revenue increments or decrements that arise from the carryover of gains or losses into the 2011-15 regulatory control period. That decision relates to Powercor Australia's revenue requirements for the forthcoming regulatory control period. It is a decision about Powercor Australia's future rights. It is not a retrospective decision and it does not involve retrospective application of the Rules to the ESCV's ECM. In making that decision, the AER is required by the NEL to have regard to the NEO and revenue and pricing principles.

14.4 Exclusion of uncontrollable costs and removal of efficiency adjustments

14.4.1 Powercor Australia's Initial Regulatory Proposal

In its Initial Regulatory Proposal, Powercor Australia proposed that adjustments to the ESCV's operating expenditure benchmarks or Powercor Australia's actual opex figures were required for the purposes of the 2006-10 efficiency carryover calculation in relation to:

- increased vegetation management costs;
- ATO investigation and enforcement costs in 2008-09;
- superannuation costs in 2006-09;
- GSL payments in 2006-09;
- removal of the ESCV's \$5.5 million (\$2004) efficiency adjustment; and
- removal of the ESCV's 0.39 per cent partial productivity factor adjustment.¹⁰⁰⁹

The basis for these adjustments is that they are consistent with:

- the approach taken by the ESCV in the ESCV's 2006-10 EDPR for calculation of carryover amounts arising from 2001-05, which adopted a principle of requiring adjustments so that there can be a 'like-for-like comparison' between the opex benchmarks and actual opex;
- the ORG Appeal Panel Decision in relation to the ORG's 2001-05 EDPR, which required adjustments in calculating the carryover amounts arising from the previous period so that the benchmarks and actual opex figures were comparable and an accurate measure of efficiency; and
- the AER's EBSS Guideline, which provides for adjustments for uncontrollable costs and pass through events.¹⁰¹⁰

Powercor Australia also provided an expert report from NERA, which stated that in order to be consistent with the NEO, the revenue and pricing principles and

¹⁰⁰⁸ AER, Draft Determination, p576.

¹⁰⁰⁹ Initial Regulatory Proposal, pp254-262.

¹⁰¹⁰ Initial Regulatory Proposal, pp254-262.

clause 6.5.8(c) of the Rules, efficiency gains or losses from the 2006-10 period should only be carried over by the AER if the AER adjusts the carryover amounts to remove the effects of uncontrollable costs and the ESCV's productivity adjustment.¹⁰¹¹

14.4.2 AER's Draft Determination

In the Draft Determination, the AER rejected all of Powercor Australia's proposed adjustments.

While the AER's explicit consideration of Powercor Australia's proposed adjustments is set out in section 13.5.5 of the Draft Determination, the AER's reasons for its decision to reject all of those adjustments appear to also be set out, in part, in section 13.5.2 of the Draft Determination in relation to Powercor Australia's 2001-05 accrued negative carryover. Accordingly, it is necessary to identify and consider all of the AER's reasoning of potential applicability to Powercor Australia's proposed adjustments to properly understand the AER's reasons for rejecting Powercor Australia's proposed adjustments.

The stated reasons for the AER's decision to reject all of those adjustments appear in section 13.5.5 of the Draft Determination under the sub-heading 'AER conclusion'. These stated reasons were that:

- the ESCV did not explicitly allow for adjustments to exclude uncontrollable costs in its ECM to apply to the Victorian DNSPs for the 2011–15 regulatory control period;
- the Victorian DNSPs did not raise the issue of uncontrollable costs in the ECM in the ESCV's 2006-10 EDPR and have previously criticised any attempts to distinguish between management induced efficiencies and windfall gains; and
- any adjustment for windfall losses would require a consideration of windfall gains (however, given the information asymmetry, the DNSPs may not identify windfall gains).¹⁰¹²

The AER also made the following additional observations in section 13.5.5 in considering Powercor Australia's proposed adjustments:

- The ORG Appeal Panel Decision rejecting the ORG's decision not to make adjustments to Powercor Australia's 1995-99 costs associated with network growth in calculating the carryover amounts arising from the 1995-99 period did not provide any expectation that uncontrollable costs would be excluded from the carryover amounts for 2011-15 because the decision was limited to growth adjustments in the calculation of carryover amounts.¹⁰¹³
- In its EBSS Final Decision, the AER requires that the exclusion of cost categories from the calculation of the EBSS carryover amounts arising in the 2011-15 and subsequent regulatory control periods be determined on an ex ante basis to preserve the ex ante incentives established by the EBSS. However, the

¹⁰¹¹ NERA, Treatment of Accrued Carryovers in the 2011-15 Regulatory Period, 22 December 2009, provided by Powercor Australia to the AER on 23 December 2009 (Previously provided to the AER under cover of an email to B Burkitt, Director Network Regulation South Branch AER from B Cleeve, Manager Price Review, CitiPower and Powercor Australia of the same date).

¹⁰¹² AER, Draft Determination, p594.

¹⁰¹³ AER, Draft Determination, p592.

ESCV's ECM as detailed in the ESCV's 2006-10 EDPR did not specify any ex ante adjustments to the ESCV benchmark allowance for uncontrollable costs.¹⁰¹⁴

In addition, it appears that some of the AER's reasoning set out in section 13.5.2 of the Draft Determination in relation to Powercor Australia's 2001-05 accrued negative carryover may have influenced its decision in section 13.5.5 to reject Powercor Australia's proposed adjustments. The AER reasoning set out in section 13.5.2 of the Draft Determination that would appear to have applicability to Powercor Australia's proposed adjustments includes the following:

- The AER is required by the ESCV's 2006-10 EDPR, the EBSS Final Decision and the AER's powers under the NEVA to enforce the ESCV's 2006-10 EDPR to apply the ESCV's ECM without revisiting the design of the ESCV's ECM and/or making any ex post adjustments to the carryover amounts calculated in accordance with that ECM.¹⁰¹⁵
- In any event, it is not appropriate to revisit the design of the ESCV's ECM and/or make ex post adjustments to the carryover amounts calculated in accordance with that ECM given that incentives are determined on an ex ante basis and the AER cannot influence Powercor Australia's past behaviour.¹⁰¹⁶ In this context, the AER noted that:
 - neither Powercor Australia nor the other DNSPs raised any issues at the time of the ESCV's 2006-10 EDPR regarding the ORG's and ESCV's approach to:
 - establishing the base year forecast for the 2001-05 opex benchmarks;
 - the adjustment to Powercor Australia's base year for establishing the 2006-10 opex benchmarks; and
 - the inclusion of uncontrollable costs in the measurement of efficiency gains and losses;¹⁰¹⁷ and
 - in establishing the ECM, the ORG and the ESCV did not design the ECM such that uncontrollable costs should be identified and excluded from the carryover amounts.¹⁰¹⁸
- It is not appropriate to apply the requirements of the NEL and Rules retrospectively to the ESCV's ECM.¹⁰¹⁹
- The requirements of the Tariff Order under which the ESCV's ECM was made are similar to the Rules requirements and included in particular a requirement to have regard to ensuring a fair sharing of gains and losses between DNSPs and customers. The AER's inference from this statement is that it follows that the ESCV's ECM and associated approach to setting the benchmark allowance for

¹⁰¹⁴ AER, Draft Determination, pp592-3.

¹⁰¹⁵ AER, Draft Determination, pp570-2.

¹⁰¹⁶ AER, Draft Determination, p575.

¹⁰¹⁷ AER, Draft Determination, p575.

¹⁰¹⁸ AER, Draft Determination, p577.

¹⁰¹⁹ AER, Draft Determination, p576.

2006-10 was consistent with the Rules, the NEO and the revenue and pricing principles. 1020

Accordingly, while the AER's stated reasons for rejecting all of Powercor Australia's proposed adjustments were limited to the 3 reasons set out at the beginning of this section, Powercor Australia understands that the AER's reasons for rejecting those proposed adjustments were as follows:

- The ESCV's ECM as detailed in the 2 ESCV's 006-10 EDPR did not specify any ex ante adjustments to the ESCV benchmark allowance of the kind now proposed by Powercor Australia.
- The AER is required by the ESCV's 2006-10 EDPR, the EBSS Final Decision and the AER's powers under the NEVA to enforce the ESCV's 2006-10 EDPR to apply the ESCV's ECM without revisiting the design of the ESCV's ECM and/or making any ex post adjustments to the carryover amounts calculated in accordance with that ECM.
- In any event, it is not appropriate to revisit the design of the ESCV's ECM and/or make ex post adjustments to the carryover amounts calculated in accordance with that ECM because:
 - incentives are determined on an ex ante basis and the AER cannot influence Powercor Australia's past behaviour;
 - Powercor Australia did not have any expectation that its proposed adjustments would be made in calculating the carryover amounts for 2011-15 arising from the 2006-10 period because:
 - the ESCV's ECM as detailed in the ESCV's 2006-10 EDPR did not specify any ex ante adjustments to the benchmark allowance of the kind now proposed by Powercor Australia; and
 - the ORG Appeal Panel Decision rejecting the ORG's decision not to make adjustments to Powercor Australia's 1995-99 costs in calculating the carryover amounts arising from the 1995-99 period was limited to growth adjustments;
 - the Victorian DNSPs did not raise the issue of uncontrollable costs in the ECM in the ESCV's 2006-10 EDPR and have previously criticised any attempts to distinguish between management induced efficiencies and windfall gains; and
 - any adjustment for windfall losses would require a consideration of windfall gains (however, given the information asymmetry, the DNSPs may not identify windfall gains).
- The requirements of the NEL and the Rules cannot justify the making of any expost adjustments to the carryover amounts calculated in accordance with the ECM because the NEL and the Rules cannot be applied retrospectively to the ESCV's ECM.
- In any event, the ESCV's ECM and associated approach to setting the benchmark allowance for 2006-10 was consistent with the Rules, the NEO and the revenue

¹⁰²⁰ AER, Draft Determination, pp576 & 578.

and pricing principles because the requirements of the Tariff Order under which the ESCV's ECM was made are similar to the Rules requirements.

14.4.3 Powercor Australia's response to the AER's Draft Determination

The AER's decision in the Draft Determination to reject Powercor Australia's proposed adjustments is incorrect, based in part on errors of law, inconsistent with the NEL and Rules and inconsistent with the AER's decisions and reasons in other parts of the Draft Determination.

Powercor Australia maintains that these adjustments are required for consistency with:

- the approach taken by the ESCV in the ESCV's 2006-10 EDPR for calculation of carryover amounts arising from 2001-05, which adopted a principle of requiring adjustments so that there can be a 'like-for-like comparison' between the ex post opex benchmarks and actual opex;
- the ORG Appeal Panel Decision in relation to the ORG's 2001-05 EDPR, which required ex post adjustments in calculating the carryover amounts arising from the previous period so that the benchmarks and actual opex figures were comparable and an accurate measure of efficiency;
- the AER's EBSS Guideline, which provides for adjustments for uncontrollable costs and pass through events; and
- the NEO and the revenue and pricing principles.

The remainder of this section addresses each of the AER's apparent reasons for rejecting Powercor Australia's proposed adjustments.

14.4.3.1 AER reason 1: The ESCV's ECM did not specify any ex ante adjustments of the kind proposed

The AER's first stated reason for rejecting these adjustments is that the ESCV did not explicitly allow for these adjustments in its ECM to apply to the Victorian DNSPs for the 2011–15 regulatory control period.¹⁰²¹

The ECM in the ESCV's 2006-10 EDPR did not explicitly allow for adjustments in relation to the specific costs that Powercor Australia is seeking. However, as discussed in more detail below, the ESCV did adopt a general principle that adjustments must be made so that actual opex can be compared with the original opex benchmarks on a 'like for like' basis. In this regard, Powercor Australia's proposed adjustments are allowed for in, and are consistent with, the ESCV's ECM.

There are several reasons why 'the ESCV did not explicitly allow for these adjustments in its ECM to apply to the Victorian DNSPs for the 2011–15 regulatory control period':

- The ESCV did not explicitly allow for any adjustments in its ECM for the amounts to be carried over to 2011-15, as it was not within the ESCV's powers to determine the amounts that will be carried over into 2011-15.
- The ESCV's ECM was not designed in a way that contemplated that adjustments would be determined at the commencement of the regulatory period. This is a

¹⁰²¹ AER, Draft Determination, p594.

significant difference between the ESCV's ECM and the AER's EBSS Guideline. Under the ECM in the ESCV's 2006-10 EDPR, carryover amounts were only determined at the end of a regulatory period by application of the 'like for like' principle. As part of determining those amounts, various adjustments could be made at the end of the period. Those adjustments were not specified in the determination prior to the commencement of the period.¹⁰²²

- The same approach applied in the ORG's ECM for 2001-05 regulatory periods. • Under the ORG's 2001-05 EDPR and the ORG Appeal Panel Decision,¹⁰²³ adjustments to carryover amounts for the preceding period were determined by the ORG at the end of that regulatory period.¹⁰²⁴ Adjustments to the carryover amounts for the forthcoming regulatory period were not explicitly set out in the ORG's 2001-05 EDPR or the ORG Appeal Panel Decision.
- Under both the ESCV's ECM and the ORG's ECM, adjustments were made at the • end of a regulatory period in relation to matters that were not explicitly allowed for, or even contemplated, in the relevant determination at the commencement of the regulatory period. For example, the ESCV in the ESCV's 2006-10 EDPR made adjustments to Powercor Australia's carryover amounts for the 2001-05 regulatory period to account for changes in capitalisation policies, movements in provisions and removal of related party margins.¹⁰²⁵ None of those adjustments were explicitly allowed for in, or contemplated by, the ORG in the ORG's 2001-05 EDPR.

In any event, whether the ESCV explicitly allowed for these adjustments in its ECM in the ESCV's 2006-10 EDPR is not determinative of whether the AER should make these adjustments in its Final Determination. The AER's decision must be made in accordance with the requirements of clause 6.4.3(a)(6), the NEO and the revenue and pricing principles. As discussed further below, the AER erred in concluding that the application of the NEO and these requirements and principles to the calculation of carry over amounts to be applied in 2011-15 would involve an impermissible retrospective application of those matters. The AER's Draft Determination on these adjustments does not refer to the NEO or revenue and pricing principles or consider whether its decision is consistent with those matters. The AER cannot ignore those matters and simply base its decision on whether the ESCV referred to a matter in the ESCV's 2006-10 EDPR.

14.4.3.2 AER reason 2: The AER is required by the ESCV's 2006-10 EDPR, the EBSS Guideline and the NEVA to apply the ESCV's ECM without change

The AER appears to consider that the ESCV's 2006-10 EDPR, the EBSS Final Decision and the AER's powers under the NEVA to enforce the ESCV's 2006-10 EDPR require the AER to apply the ECM as set out in the ESCV's 2006-10 EDPR.

¹⁰²² See for example, ESCV, 2006-10 EDPR, Volume 1 (Attachment 31 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), pp419-421. ¹⁰²³ ORG Appeal Panel Decision (Attachment 214 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal).

¹⁰²⁴ See for example ORG, ORG's 2001-05 EDPR, Volume 1, Chapter 5 (Attachment 213 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p100.

ESCV, 2006-10 EDPR, Volume 1 (Attachment 31 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), pp419-420.

This view is based on the same errors of law that the AER makes in section 13.5.2 of the Draft Determination in relation to the 2001-05 negative carryover. In that section, the AER took the view that it was required to apply the ECM as set out in the ESCV's 2006-10 EDPR and is not able to depart from the ESCV's ECM.

As explained in section 14.2.4 above, the AER's reasoning and conclusions on that issue are based on several errors of law. It appears likely that those errors have also influenced the AER's reasoning in relation to Powercor Australia's proposed adjustments, in that the AER appears to have been influenced by a view that it is required to apply the ECM as set out in the ESCV's 2006-10 EDPR. That view is not correct.

14.4.3.3 AER reason 3: It is not appropriate to revisit the design the ESCV's ECM and/or make ex post adjustments to the carryover amounts calculated in accordance with the ECM

The AER appears to consider that it is not appropriate to revisit the design of the ESCV's ECM and/or make ex post adjustments to the carryover amounts calculated in accordance with the ECM because:

- the AER cannot affect past behaviour;
- Powercor Australia did not have any expectation that its proposed adjustments would be made;
- the Victorian DNSPs did not raise the issue of uncontrollable costs during the ESCV's 2006-10 EDPR process; and
- any adjustment for windfall losses would also require a consideration of windfall gains.

Powercor Australia accepts that the AER's calculation of carry over amounts arising in 2006-10 and to be applied in 2011-15 cannot affect its behaviour in 2006-10.

However, Powercor Australia rejects the AER's conclusion that Powercor Australia did not have any expectation in 2006-10 that its proposed adjustments would be made. To the contrary, throughout the 2006-10 period, Powercor Australia operated on the basis of an expectation that those adjustments required by the application of the ESCV ECM's 'like for like' principle would be made in the calculation of the carryover amounts arising from that period. As Powercor Australia's proposed adjustments involve an application of the ESCV ECM's 'like for like' principle, it follows that the making of Powercor Australia's proposed adjustments is consistent with Powercor Australia's expectations during the 2006-10 period and is required if the AER is to preserve regulatory certainty and the incentives under incentive mechanisms to apply in future periods.

The AER's statement that making Powercor Australia's adjustments is inconsistent with the ex ante incentives under the ESCV's ECM fundamentally misunderstands the nature of the ESCV's ECM. Unlike the AER's EBSS, the ESCV's ECM (and the ORG's ECM prior to that) never sought to define the adjustments up front and always allowed adjustments at the end of the regulatory period on the basis of the application of the 'like for like' principle.

Powercor Australia's proposed adjustments do not involve revisiting the design of the ESCV's ECM. Instead, they continue the practice of the ESCV (and prior to that, the ORG Appeal Panel) of making adjustments on an ex post basis at the end of a regulatory period based on the 'like for like' principle.

As explained above, the ESCV made adjustments at the end of a regulatory period in relation to matters that were not allowed for or contemplated in the ORG's 2001-05 EDPR. In particular, in the ESCV's 2006-10 EDPR, the ESCV applied the 'like for like' principle to make adjustments in relation to changes in capitalisation policies, movements in provisions and removal of related party margins in calculating the ECM carryover amounts arising in the 2001-05 period to be carried over into the 2006-10 period. None of these matters were provided for by the ORG's 2001-05 EDPR, nor were they raised by Powercor Australia in submissions during the ORG's 2001-05 EDPR process.

This need to make ex post adjustments was confirmed by the ORG Appeal Panel Decision. In the Draft Determination, the AER stated that the ORG Appeal Panel Decision was only related to growth adjustments and has no application to Powercor Australia's proposed adjustments. That is not correct. The ORG Appeal Panel Decision establishes a general principle that adjustments are required so that the benchmarks and actual expenditure can be compared, and that if such adjustments are not made then the ECM is not an accurate measure of efficiency.

For example, the ORG Appeal Panel states: ¹⁰²⁶

'The Panel considers that to obtain a measure of efficiency for the purposes of incorporation in the efficiency carry over mechanism, it is necessary that accounts which are being compared are produced on a comparable basis, and that these accounts cover a comparable range of operations.

•••

The Panel notes that the Office measures efficiency by comparing actual total costs (including operating and maintenance costs, and capital costs) as achieved in 1999 with the benchmark forecasts, for the distribution business, for that year. The Panel recognised that this comparison does not make any allowance for changes in the size or scope of the business from those which were assumed in the benchmark forecast.

In the Panel's view this results in a measure, which does not reflect efficiency as normally understood, and which creates incentives for the distribution business to perform inefficiently.

... The Panel decided that the use of a rule of thumb to measure efficiency which did not make allowance for changes in scale and scope of the business constituted an error of fact in a material respect.'

In the ESCV's 2006-10 EDPR, the ESCV accepted that the Appeal Panel decision was authority for the broader 'like for like' comparison principle. For example, the ESCV stated: ¹⁰²⁷

¹⁰²⁶ ORG Appeal Panel Decision (Attachment 214 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), pp5-9.

¹⁰²⁷ ESCV, EDPR 2006-10, Volume 1 (Attachment 31 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), pp159 and 419.

'To calculate the efficiency carryover amounts that give effect to this sharing, the Commission must also be able to compare the out-turn costs during the 2001-05 regulatory period to the benchmark expenditure requirements established for the 2001-05 regulatory period. This requires the Commission to understand the basis on which the distributors' out-turn costs have been calculated so that it is possible to compare out-turn costs on a like-for-like basis with the appropriate benchmarks.

•••

For the rewards implicit in the efficiency carryover to reflect the cost of providing the distribution services, it is important that the reported expenditure information is calculated on the same basis as the expenditure forecasts against which it is compared. Therefore, for the purpose of calculating the efficiency carryover amounts from the 2001-05 regulatory period, the Commission has adjusted either the reported expenditure or the original benchmarks of all the distributors to ensure consistency between the basis on which the 2001-05 benchmarks were estimated and the costs incurred in providing distribution services.

•••

In the Commission's view, this approach is entirely consistent with the findings of the Appeal Panel which outlined the importance of measuring efficiency on a like-for-like basis and consistently across distributors.

It is therefore consistent with the ESCV's ECM and the ORG Appeal Panel Decision for the AER to make adjustments to the 2006-10 carryover amounts as proposed by Powercor Australia, and as made by the AER in relation to other matters in section 13.5.4 of the Draft Determination.

On the basis of these previous statements by the ESCV and ORG Appeal Panel, it is also entirely reasonable for Powercor Australia to have had an expectation at the commencement of the 2006-10 regulatory period, and during that period, that adjustments would be made in the Final Determination in calculating the carryover amounts arising from 2006-10 to apply the 'like for like' principle and remove any costs that were not included in the ESCV's benchmarks.

It appears that the AER may be seeking to impose the model of its EBSS, with its adjustments for uncontrollable costs that are defined in advance, on to the ESCV's ECM. The ESCV's ECM never operated in that manner and it is inappropriate to disregard the different characteristics of the ESCV's ECM in identifying the ex ante incentives created by that ECM.

The EBSS model can be applied going forward, but for the purposes of determining 2006-10 carryover amounts for the Final Determination, the AER must continue to apply the ESCV's 'like for like' principle and allow adjustments to the carryover amounts. Doing so will not undermine regulatory certainty in the ECM or the EBSS. Instead, it will promote regulatory certainty by continuing the approach adopted by the ESCV, and which Powercor Australia legitimately expected that the AER would apply in the Final Determination.

Making these adjustments will not undermine regulatory certainty in the EBSS, as this is solely a transitional matter for the Final Determination. The EBSS's model of

defining the adjustments up front for 2011 onwards has been accepted by the DNSPs and will avoid this issue arising in future determinations.

The AER's states that 'the Victorian DNSPs did not raise the issue of uncontrollable costs in the ECM in the 2006 EDPR and have previously criticised any attempts to distinguish between management induced efficiencies and windfall gains'.¹⁰²⁸ It is irrelevant whether the Victorian DNSPs raised this issue during the process leading up to the ESCV's 2006-10 EDPR.

This issue was not raised during the ESCV's 2006-10 EDPR process because Powercor Australia understood that adjustments would be made at the end of the 2006-10 period based on the application of the 'like for like' principle. As noted above, during the ESCV's 2006-10 EDPR process, adjustments were made by the ESCV in calculating the carryover amounts arising in 2001-05 to be applied in 2006-10 based on the same underlying principle that actual opex must be able to be compared with the original opex benchmarks on a 'like for like' basis. Powercor Australia's proposed adjustments are simply an application of this principle that was accepted by the ESCV in the ESCV's 2006-10 EDPR.

As noted by the ESCV in the ESCV's 2006-10 EDPR, that 'like for like' principle has its genesis in the ORG Appeal Panel Decision. The ORG Appeal Panel decision related to a successful challenge to the ORG's refusal to allow adjustments as part of the efficiency carryover calculation to ensure that actual opex was measured on a consistent basis to the original opex benchmarks.

There is accordingly a clear history of the Victorian DNSPs proposing adjustments based on the 'like for like' principle in previous price reviews, and the relevant regulator accepting those adjustments. The fact that those adjustments related to different matters to the proposed adjustments, even though they were based on the same underlying principle, is not a valid reason for rejecting the proposed adjustments.

The AER also states that 'any adjustment for windfall losses would require a consideration of windfall gains (however, given the information asymmetry, the DNSPs may not identify windfall gains)'.¹⁰²⁹

This statement by the AER is not supported by any evidence. The AER has no evidence that any windfall gains would arise if it did not make other adjustments. In addition, the AER's assertion that there is an information asymmetry that prevents it obtaining this information is inconsistent with the AER's extensive information gathering powers conferred by the NEL and its exercise of those powers (as well as its voluntary information gathering powers) in this review process. Powercor Australia does not consider that adjustments for windfall gains would be required if Powercor Australia's proposed adjustments are made.

14.4.3.4 AER reason 4: The NEL and Rules cannot be applied retrospectively

The AER states that it is not appropriate to apply the requirements of the NEL and Rules retrospectively to the ESCV's ECM.¹⁰³⁰

This comment by the AER misunderstands the concept of retrospectivity.

¹⁰²⁸ AER, Draft Determination, p594.

¹⁰²⁹ AER, Draft Determination, p594.

¹⁰³⁰ AER, Draft Determination, p576.

The presumption against retrospectivity prevents the law applying to facts or events that have already occurred in such a way as to affect rights or liabilities that the law had defined by reference to those past events. However, a distinction must be made between legislation having a prior effect on past events and legislation basing future action on past events. The latter does not constitute retrospectivity.¹⁰³¹

This distinction was explained by the Supreme Court of Victoria as follows: ¹⁰³²

'[The] principle is not concerned with the case where the enactment under consideration merely takes account of antecedent facts and circumstances as a basis for what it prescribes for the future, and it does no more than that.'

As explained in section 14.2.4 above, Powercor Australia's proposed adjustments, and the reasoning to support those adjustments, does not involve retrospective application of the Rules. The AER is required to make a determination regarding revenue increments or decrements for 2011-15, which is a decision about Powercor Australia's future rights and is not a retrospective decision. In making that decision, the AER is required by the NEL to have regard to the NEO and revenue and pricing principles.

14.4.3.5 AER reason 5: The ESCV's ECM was consistent with the NEO and revenue and pricing principles, because the requirements of the Tariff Order are similar to the Rules requirements

The AER states that the requirements of the Tariff Order under which the ESCV's ECM was made are similar to the Rules requirements.¹⁰³³ The implication appears to be that the ESCV's ECM is therefore consistent with the NEO and the revenue and pricing principles.

Even if this statement is correct, the fact that the Tariff Order may impose similar requirements to the NEL and Rules does not mean that the ESCV's ECM is compliant with the NEO and revenue and pricing principles. The AER is required to consider the NEO and revenue and pricing principles and apply them to the decision that it is required to make under the Rules regarding revenue increments and decrements for 2011-15 arising from a control mechanism in 2006-10. The AER cannot reject the proposed adjustments without expressly considering the NEO and revenue and pricing principles simply because the ESCV took a particular view based on different albeit perhaps 'similar' requirements.

In any event, the AER's reasoning does not justify the rejection of Powercor Australia's proposed adjustments. If the requirements of the Tariff Order are similar to the Rules requirements, then that reinforces the need to consistently apply the ESCV's 'like for like' principle and allow Powercor Australia's proposed adjustments as an application of that principle. The ESCV's 2006-10 EDPR shows that the ESCV considered that the Tariff Order required the application of that principle,¹⁰³⁴ and that is also the case under the Rules. Accordingly, any similarity between the Tariff Order and the Rules supports Powercor Australia's adjustments and is not a reason for rejecting them.

¹⁰³¹ D.C. Pearce, Statutory Interpretation in Australia, 6th edition, 2006, Chapter 10 (Attachment 219 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p309.

¹⁰³² Robertson v City of Nunawading [1973] VR 819, at 824.

¹⁰³³ AER, Draft Determination, p576.

¹⁰³⁴ ESCV, 2006-10 EDPR, Volume 1 (Attachment 31 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p415-438.

14.4.3.6 Inconsistency between the AER's rejection of these adjustments and the AER's decision to make its own adjustments

Powercor Australia's adjustments were proposed on the basis that they were necessary to give effect to the principle established by the ESCV and ORG Appeal Panel that adjustments are required so that actual expenditure can be compared with the original benchmarks on a 'like for like' basis. In the Draft Determination, the AER rejected these adjustments because they were not explicitly provided for in the ESCV's 2006-10 EDPR. In doing so, the AER failed to consider whether these adjustments were consistent with the established 'like for like' comparison principle and the resultant DNSP expectations.

The AER's rejection of these adjustments cannot be reconciled with the AER's reasoning and conclusions in relation to the AER's own adjustments where the AER clearly accepts and applies the 'like for like' comparison principle.

In section 9.5.4, the AER makes adjustments to the carryover amounts under the heading 'Consistency in the measurement of actual expenditure with the ESCV benchmark allowances'. In this section, and other parts of the Draft Determination, the AER very clearly accepts the 'like for like' comparison principle and applies it to justify adjustments.

For example, the AER states: ¹⁰³⁵

'The ESCV stated that for the rewards implicit in the ECM to reflect the cost of providing the distribution services, it is important that the reported expenditure information is calculated on the same basis as the expenditure forecasts against which it is compared. The AER also notes that in its 2006 EDPR the ESCV identified a number of adjustments that it considered to be necessary to ensure a 'like for like' comparison between the benchmark allowance and actual expenditure in calculating the efficiency carryover amounts for 2006–10.'

The AER applies this 'like for like' principle to make adjustments related to provisions, AMI readjustment, related party margins, non-recurrent expenditure, growth and changes in capitalisation policies.

The AER makes these adjustments despite explicitly acknowledging that several of these adjustments were not provided for by the ESCV in the ESCV's 2006-10 EDPR. The AER acknowledges that the adjustments made by the ESCV as a result of the 'like for like' principle were restricted to growth, capitalisation of overheads and movements in provisions. However, the AER makes its own additional adjustments based on the application of the 'like for like' principle.

In applying this principle to additional adjustments, the AER states: ¹⁰³⁶

'Accordingly, the AER has reviewed the Victorian DNSPs' proposed carryover amounts and where necessary has adjusted the original ESCV benchmark allowance and the DNSPs' actual expenditure to ensure a 'like for like' comparison for the factors identified above.'

¹⁰³⁵ AER, Draft Determination, p583 (footnotes omitted).

¹⁰³⁶ AER, Draft Determination, p583.

The application of this general principle by the AER is also clear in the following statements made by the AER to justify its adjustments for provisions and related party margins: ¹⁰³⁷

'Given the ESCV benchmark allowance excludes the movement in provisions the AER has also excluded the movement in provisions to ensure a 'like for like' comparison of actual expenditure and the benchmark allowance for 2006–10. The AER has also excluded any movement in provisions for the purpose of determining the base year level of operating and maintenance expenditure in chapter 7 of this decision.

...

Accordingly, in assessing the carryover amounts, the Victorian DNSPs actual expenditure should be exclusive of these margins. The AER notes that from 2007 the DNSPs were required to report actual expenditure exclusive of related party margins. Accordingly, the AER has not adjusted actual expenditure for related party margins in 2007 and 2008. The AER notes that none of the Victorian DNSPs proposed removing the impact of the related party margins from actual expenditure in calculating the efficiency carryover amounts. Accordingly, to ensure that actual expenditure and the ESCV benchmark allowance is compared 'like for like', the AER has excluded the related party margins in 2006 in the carryover amounts for the Victorian DNSPs.

The AER also applies the 'like for like' principle in its reasoning in relation to UED's carryover amounts in section 13.5.1 of the Draft Determination where the AER states:¹⁰³⁸

'In determining the carryover amounts, the AER has, where necessary, adjusted the ESCV's benchmark allowance and actual expenditure to ensure that they are compared on a like for like basis (refer to section 13.5.4). The ESCV determined United Energy's benchmark allowance exclusive of related party margins by establishing United Energy's benchmark allowance based on its actual costs prior to any related party contractual arrangements that were in place. Accordingly, the AER considers that United Energy's carryover amounts should be determined in a similar way by comparing the benchmark allowance exclusive of margins (that is, based on the actual incurred costs of the related party and not the contract charges).'

It is therefore clear that the AER accepts that the 'like for like' principle must be applied when determining carryover amounts and that adjustments must be made to give effect to that principle.

However, the AER does not refer to that principle when assessing Powercor Australia's proposed adjustments in section 13.5.5 of the Draft Determination.

The 'like for like' principle must be applied to all proposed adjustments. The application of that principle clearly justifies Powercor Australia's proposed adjustments. It is unreasonable and incorrect for the AER to fail to apply that principle to Powercor Australia's proposed adjustments and to reject those adjustments because they were not explicitly provided for by the ESCV. That is particularly so when the

¹⁰³⁷ AER, Draft Determination, p587, p588 (footnotes omitted).

¹⁰³⁸ AER, Draft Determination, p561.

AER has accepted the principle and applied it to justify its own adjustments, including adjustments that it acknowledges were not provided for by the ESCV.

14.4.3.7 Vegetation management costs

The reasons justifying Powercor Australia's proposed adjustments can be demonstrated by applying them to the adjustment for increased vegetation management costs, which is the largest proposed adjustment. The explanation below is based on the latest available facts and cost information, and updates the information provided in the Initial Regulatory Proposal.

Powercor Australia proposes adjustments to actual opex of \$1,496,000 in 2008 and \$4,498,000 in 2009 for the purposes of calculating the 2006-10 carryover amounts. This adjustment relates to increased vegetation management costs incurred by Powercor Australia in LBRAs to comply with the 2005 Line Clearance Regulations and prepare for the expiry on 30 June 2010 of Powercor Australia's current partial exemptions from the 2005 Line Clearance Regulations.¹⁰³⁹

Powercor Australia incurred this additional expenditure in 2008 and 2009 in compliance with its regulatory obligations, but this expenditure was not provided for in the ESCV's opex benchmarks in the ESCV's 2006-10 EDPR. As a result, it is necessary to remove this additional expenditure from Powercor Australia's opex figures for 2008 and 2009 in order to allow a 'like for like' comparison between Powercor Australia's actual expenditure and the ESCV's benchmarks when determining the 2006-10 carryover amounts.

This adjustment is consistent with:

- the ORG Appeal Panel Decision, which required adjustments to be made to address any changes in the scale or scope of a DNSP's operations that were not reflected in the original benchmarks;
- the ESCV's 'like for like' principle that actual expenditure must be adjusted so that it can be compared with the original benchmarks on a 'like for like' basis;
- Powercor Australia's resultant legitimate expectation, at the time of incurring the additional vegetation management expenditure in 2008 and 2009, that any adjustments required by the 'like for like' principle, including in particular an adjustment in respect of this additional vegetation management expenditure, would be made at the end of the 2006-10 regulatory period;
- the AER's acceptance and application of the 'like for like' principle in section 13.5.4 of the Draft Determination;
- the NEO and revenue and pricing principles, including providing DNSPs with effective incentives in order to promote economic efficiency and the efficient provision of electricity network services; and

¹⁰³⁹ On 21 December 2005, ESV granted Powercor Australia a partial exemption from its obligations under the 2005 Line Clearance Regulations (Attachment 249 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal). In relation to LBRAs, the exemption provided that Powercor Australia is exempted from the requirement to maintain a clearance space under clause 2.1 of the 2005 Line Clearance Code provided that Powercor Australia has a management plan that outlines an inspection/clearing/pruning cycle that is designed to achieve, under normal growth conditions, the minimum clearance space on a two yearly cycle for high voltage lines and no more than a three yearly cycle for low voltage lines. This exemption expired on the expiry of the 2005 Line Clearance Regulations on 30 June 2010. ESV has confirmed that it will not issue Powercor Australia with a replacement exemption.

• the EBSS principles set out in clause 6.5.8 of the Rules, including providing for a fair sharing of efficiency gains/losses and providing DNSPs with a continuous incentive, so far as is consistent with economic efficiency, to reduce opex.

These principles and Powercor Australia's legitimate expectations require that any actual expenditure that was incurred by Powercor Australia in 2006-10 as a result of unforeseen and uncontrollable changes in the scale and scope of the activities that Powercor Australia was required to undertake in that period must be removed from the actual expenditure figures for 2006-10 when calculating the 2006-10 carryover amount.

Actual expenditure of \$1,496,000 and \$4,498,000 was incurred by Powercor Australia in 2008 and 2009 respectively on compliance with the 2005 Line Clearance Regulations and in preparation for the expiry of Powercor Australia's exemptions on 30 June 2010.

This expenditure relates to an uncontrollable change in the scale and scope of Powercor Australia's activities compared with the activities reflected in the operating expenditure forecasts that were set by the ESCV and ESCV Appeal Panel for 2006-10. The fact that this expenditure was not included in 2006-10 opex benchmarks is demonstrated by the following:

• The ESCV's 2006-10 EDPR clearly stated that the only activities for compliance with the 2005 Line Clearance Regulations in LBRAs that were included in the opex forecasts were those activities that are required to achieve 'practical compliance' with the 2005 Line Clearance Regulations. For example, the ESCV's 2006-10 EDPR stated: ¹⁰⁴⁰

'Given that ESV has indicated that it only intends to enforce literal compliance with the requirements imposed by the Regulations as to the clearance between electric lines and vegetation during Proclaimed Fire Declaration Periods, the Commission considers that a reasonable allowance for the costs of complying with these Regulations is one that is based on literal compliance with the Regulations during Proclaimed Fire Declaration Periods (as opposed to during periods outside Proclaimed Fire Declaration Periods).'

- The ESCV Appeal Panel Decision on Powercor Australia's 2006 appeal in relation to vegetation management affirmed the ESCV's approach and confirmed that the opex benchmarks only include expenditure to achieve 'practical compliance' with the 2005 Line Clearance Regulations.¹⁰⁴¹ The ESCV Appeal Panel process and decision is explained in the chronology set out in Appendix 6.1 of this Revised Regulatory Proposal in relation to the proposed step change for compliance with the 2005 Line Clearance Regulations and the 2010 Line Clearance Regulations.
- The activities engaged in by Powercor Australia during 2008 and 2009 in LBRAs to comply with the 2005 Line Clearance Regulations and prepare for the expiry of the exemptions were in addition to those activities required to achieve 'practical compliance' with the 2005 Line Clearance Regulations.

¹⁰⁴⁰ ESCV, 2006-10 EDPR, Volume 1 (Attachment 31 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p224.

¹⁰⁴¹ ESCV Appeal Panel Decision (Attachment 243 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal).

• The following table shows the difference between Powercor Australia's compliance policy in 2005 and the compliance policy which it has sought to implement since 2006:

Pre 2006		Post 2006			
A risk based undertaken. inspected and accordance w	d inspection and clearing program was Current year clearance codes were d any non-compliant spans were actioned in vith compliance targets.	Inspection is undertaken for vegetation surrounding high voltage powerlines every 2 years and for vegetation surrounding low voltage powerlines every 3 years.			
As part of requisitions a other spans conforming s accordance w	the inspection, in addition to service and general audits a high percentage of were audited and any obvious non- spans were assessed and actioned in vith compliance targets.	It is intended that by 2012 the LBRA network will be compliant. Beyond 2012 the inspection cycles will continue and will include additional inspections of spans coded as current year. Any non-compliant spans will be actioned in			
Those complia	ance targets were:	line with the revised rectification targets of 18 weeks for code 56 and 48 hours for code 55.			
Spans	assigned code 55:				
0 SL W	urrounding 66kV powerlines lines actioned vithin 24 hours;				
o su 2	urrounding 22kV powerlines actioned within 8 days:				
 surrounding low voltage powerlines actioned within 6 months 					
Spans	assigned code 56:				
o SL W	urrounding 66kV powerlines lines actioned vithin 4 months;				
o si a	urrounding 22kV and low voltage powerlines ctioned within 12 months.				

Table 14.1: Changes to compliance with clearance spaces in LBRA

This change in the scale and scope of Powercor Australia's activities and the resulting expenditure incurred in 2008 and 2009 was unforeseen by the ESCV/ESCV Appeal Panel when setting the opex benchmarks for 2006-10. Indeed, the additional activities by Powercor Australia that were required for compliance with the 2005 Line Clearance Regulations and in preparation for the expiry of the exemptions were expressly excluded from the ESCV's 2006-10 EDPR's opex forecasts. This fact is demonstrated by the following:

- The ESCV's 2006-10 EDPR shows that the ESCV did not include any expenditure associated with these activities in its expenditure forecasts for 2006-10. In so doing, the ESCV did not make a finding on whether the activities were required to ensure compliance with Powercor Australia's obligations under the 2005 Line Clearance Regulations. Instead, the ESCV found that the forecasts should not include any additional expenditure for activities to achieve compliance because ESV was unlikely to enforce Powercor's obligations.¹⁰⁴²
- The ESCV Appeal Panel Decision shows that the ESCV Appeal Panel also did not allow any expenditure associated with these activities. As with the ESCV, the ESCV Appeal Panel did not make a finding on whether the activities were

¹⁰⁴² ESCV, 2006-10 EDPR, Volume 1 (Attachment 31 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p224.

required to ensure compliance with Powercor's obligations, and instead its decision was based on a view that ESV was unlikely to enforce Powercor Australia's obligations.¹⁰⁴³

That change in scale and scope and the resulting additional expenditure was uncontrollable. If Powercor Australia did not undertake these additional activities and incur this additional expenditure, and instead only undertook the scope and scale of activities that were allowed for in the ESCV's opex forecasts (i.e. 'practical compliance'), Powercor Australia would be in breach of the 2005 Line Clearance Regulations and it would also be in breach of the 2010 Line Clearance Regulations. The consequences of failing to undertake these additional activities is explained in Appendix 6.1 of this Revised Regulatory Proposal in relation to the proposed step change for compliance with the 2005 Line Clearance Regulations and the 2010 Line Clearance Regulations.

The ESCV and ESCV Appeal Panel stated that additional activities and expenditure were not required because ESV had stated that it would not enforce those obligations. Powercor Australia does not accept that proposition, because Powercor Australia will still be in breach of the 2005 Line Clearance Regulations and subject to potential criminal and civil action regardless of ESV's stated enforcement intentions.

Even if the AER applies a similar approach to the ESCV and ESCV Appeal Panel in relation to the effects of ESV's enforcement intentions, the change in the scale and scope of Powercor Australia's activities was nonetheless uncontrollable. ESV's conduct since the date of the ESCV's EDPR 2006-10 and ESCV Appeal Panel Decision shows that, contrary to the findings of the ESCV and ESCV Appeal Panel, ESV's practice in 2006-10 has been to enforce compliance with the 2005 Line Clearance Regulations at a higher level than 'practical compliance' and to require Powercor Australia to undertake additional activities and incur additional expenditure from 2008 onwards to prepare for full compliance following expiry of Powercor Australia's exemptions.

This change in ESV's enforcement approach is demonstrated by correspondence from ESV in respect of Powercor Australia's Vegetation Management Plans, where ESV refused to approve Powercor Australia's plans and required that Powercor Australia commence a process during the 2006-10 period to achieve a higher level of compliance and to achieve full compliance following the expiry of Powercor Australia's exemptions. The change in ESV's approach is explained in more detail in Appendix 6.1 of this Revised Regulatory Proposal and demonstrated by the chronology set out at the end of that Appendix. Powercor Australia could not meet ESV's requirements without incurring this additional expenditure in 2008 and 2009.

It therefore follows that Powercor Australia has incurred additional expenditure in 2008 and 2009 in relation to vegetation management that was caused by an uncontrollable change in the scale and scope of its activities and that was not included in the ESCV's 2006-10 expenditure benchmarks. Accordingly, the AER is required to adjust Powercor Australia's opex figures to exclude this additional expenditure when calculating the 2006-10 carryover amounts.

¹⁰⁴³ ESCV Appeal Panel Decision (Attachment 243 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p8.

A failure to do so would be incorrect and unreasonable. It would be inconsistent with the NEO and the revenue and principle principles. It would also be inconsistent with Powercor Australia's legitimate expectations held during 2006-10, including in particular at the time of incurring additional expenditure in 2008 and 2009 in relation to vegetation management, and irreconcilable with the AER's approach to its own adjustments to the carryover amounts in section 13.5.4 of the Draft Determination where the AER clearly accepts and applies the 'like for like' principle, including to adjustments that were not provided for or contemplated by the ESCV. No reasonable regulator would accept the 'like for like' principle and apply it to its own proposed adjustments but then fail to apply it to Powercor Australia's vegetation management and other adjustments.

14.5 The AER's adjustments to the 2006-10 carryover amounts

14.5.1 AER's Draft Determination

In the Draft Determination, the AER made adjustments to Powercor Australia's proposed 2006-10 carryover amounts in relation to the following matters:

- network growth;
- provisions;
- licence fees;
- related party margins;
- AMI reclassification; and
- non-recurrent expenditure.¹⁰⁴⁴

The AER stated that these adjustments were required so that there can be a 'like-for-like' comparison between the original ESCV benchmarks in the ESCV's 2006-10 EDPR and the DNSPs' actual opex.¹⁰⁴⁵

These adjustments were not set out in Powercor Australia's Initial Regulatory Proposal.

14.5.2 Powercor Australia's response to the AER's Draft Determination

Powercor Australia accepts the AER's adjustments in the Draft Determination in relation to the following matters:

- AMI reclassification; and
- related party margins.

Powercor Australia accepts the AER's proposal that an adjustment should be made in relation to network growth. However, Powercor Australia does not accept the AER's estimated 2010 volume inputs for this adjustment. As explained in Chapter 7 of this Revised Regulatory Proposal, Powercor Australia does not accept the AER's approach to scale escalation, and Powercor Australia proposes that this adjustment should be calculated in accordance with Powercor Australia's approach to scale escalation set out in Chapter 7.

¹⁰⁴⁴ AER, Draft Determination, pp596-597.

¹⁰⁴⁵ AER, Draft Determination, p583.

Powercor Australia accepts the AER's proposal that an adjustment should be made in relation to licence fees, but Powercor Australia does not accept the amount of the AER's proposed adjustment.

Powercor Australia accepts the reasoning for the AER's non-recurrent expenditure adjustment. This adjustment is based on the principles established by the ESCV in the ESCV's 2006-10 EDPR that adjustments must be made to allow a 'like for like' comparison and that any adjustments that are made to the base year opex figures must also be made to the efficiency carryover figures.

However, the AER's adjustment should not be limited to 2009 expenditure. It should apply to all uncontrollable non-recurrent expenditure that was incurred in 2006-09. The AER's adjustment only addresses expenditure in 2009 and does not address non-recurrent and uncontrollable expenditure in relation to ATO costs, superannuation and GSL payments in the 2006-08 period. Powercor Australia's proposed adjustments set out in section 14.4 of this Revised Regulatory Proposal are a more appropriate and complete mechanism to address these costs.

The AER's adjustment for non-recurrent expenditure is not necessary if the proposed adjustments in section 14.4 of this Revised Regulatory Proposal are accepted.

Powercor Australia does not accept the amount of the AER's adjustments in the Draft Determination in relation to provisions. The Draft Determination makes provision adjustments for Powercor Australia for the purposes of establishing base opex for 2009, the calculation of the efficiency carryover amounts arising from 2006-10 and establishing 2005-09 capex for the roll forward of the RAB. In some instances these provision adjustments are incorrect.

The provisions relating to Customer Refunds, Employee Entitlements, Stock Writedown and Vegetation Management are incorrect. The reasons these provisions have been calculated incorrectly are as follows:

- Customer Refunds (2008): The provision statement for Customer Refunds in the 2008 Regulatory Accounts is incorrect. While the overall decrease in the provision is correct, Powercor Australia increased its provision for Customer Refunds in relation to co-generation customers. The entry should have been shown in the provision template in the Regulatory Accounts as an 'Other Adjustment'. However, it was included as 'Increase/Decrease in provision charged to profit'. Accordingly, the AER included this as an adjustment to Powercor Australia's opex, however, there is no offsetting entry in opex.
- Employee Entitlements (2006-09):
 - Firstly, the Draft Determination uses the unaudited 2009 Regulatory Accounts to calculate the provision movement. However the final 2009 Regulatory Accounts Employee Entitlement provision statement differs from the unaudited value.
 - Secondly, the Draft Determination allocates the Employee Entitlement provision based on the labour costs in the regulatory accounts (which only includes labour costs for the licensee) whereas as it should be based on the labour costs of the organisation. The following table provides the appropriate labour cost split.

	2006	2007	2008	2009
	Labour Costs	Labour Costs	Labour Costs	Labour Costs
Operating Expenditure				
Maintenance Expenditure				
Capital Expenditure				
Total				



- Thirdly, the Draft Determination allocates the entire Employee Entitlement provision movement between capex and opex. The Employee Entitlement provision for 2008 and 2009 contains a present value adjustment for long service leave which is made in accordance with accounting standards. This adjustment is driven by assumptions in the present value calculation and therefore remains allocated to opex as per the income statement.
- The second and third issues were highlighted in Powercor Australia's letter to the AER of 3 February 2010 regarding 'Regulatory Accounts, Provisions and AMI Adjustment to Regulatory Accounts'.¹⁰⁴⁶
- Stock Writedown (2008): The provision statement contained in the 2008 Regulatory Accounts is incorrect. In 2008, the Powercor Australia provision statement includes a write-down of obsolete telecommunications stock. The value was incorrectly included as Regulated by Price Cap. However, it should have been included as an Adjustment because it relates to non-regulated activity. The AER adjusted Powercor Australia's operating costs. However, the Profit and Loss Statement in the Regulatory Accounts has been adjusted by allocating the offsetting cost to non-regulated activity.
- Vegetation Management (2006-07): In 2006 and 2007 the non-current portion of the Powercor Australia provision for vegetation management was restated to reflect its present value in accordance with accounting standards. The amount of the re-statement was shown as an 'Other Adjustment' with an explanatory note under the provision statement in the Regulatory Accounts. The AER excluded the 'Other Adjustments' item, however, in this case the offsetting expense was included in the Profit and Loss Statement so operating costs should be adjusted.

Powercor Australia recognises the AER will require a statement from its external auditor, Deloitte, particularly in relation to amendments to historical provision statements. Accordingly, Powercor Australia engaged Deloitte to review all the proposed movements in provisions proposed by Powercor Australia. Deloitte has confirmed the adjustments proposed by Powercor Australia to be correct.¹⁰⁴⁷

 ¹⁰⁴⁶ Letter from B Cleeve, Manager Price Review, CitiPower and Powercor Australia to B Burkitt, Director Network Regulation, AER entitled 'Regulatory accounts, provisions and AMI adjustment to regulatory accounts' 3 February 2010 (Attachment 217 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal).
 ¹⁰⁴⁷ Letter from T Imbesi, Partner, Deloitte, to J Williams, Chief Financial Officer, CHEDA, titled 'Powercor'

¹⁰⁴⁷ Letter from T Imbesi, Partner, Deloitte, to J Williams, Chief Financial Officer, CHEDA, titled 'Powercor Regulatory Accounts: Accounting treatment of provisions', 20 July 2010 (Attachment 218 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal).

14.6 Powercor Australia's Revised Regulatory Proposal

Powercor Australia does not make any amendments to its Initial Regulatory Proposal in relation to the 2001-05 negative carryover. Powercor Australia maintains that the AER cannot and should not deduct the 2001-05 negative carryover from Powercor's positive 2006-10 carryover amount.

Powercor Australia amends its Initial Regulatory Proposal to incorporate the AER's adjustments to the 2006-10 carryover amounts in relation to related party margins and AMI reclassification.

Other than these amendments, Powercor Australia does not accept the AER's position in the Draft Determination.

Powercor Australia amends its Initial Regulatory Proposal to incorporate adjustments to the opex benchmarks and outturn opex as set out in Table 14.3 below.

Powercor Australia updates the amount of its proposed adjustment for increased vegetation management costs based on the most recent available information. The updated adjustment is -\$1,496,000 in 2008 and -\$4,498,000 in 2009.

	\$'000 (real 2010)									
	2006	2007	2008	2009	2010	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015
Opex benchmarks	135,279	138,386	141,050	144,112	147,834					
Opex benchmarks after adjustments	138,163	141,771	146,578	156,159	160,475					
Outturn opex (refer Chapter 6)	134,771	117,817	116,441	137,256						
Outturn opex after adjustments	134,771	117,817	114,041	130,267						
Incremental saving	3,392	20,562	8,583	(6,645)	-					
	Carryover gains									
2006		3,392	3,392	3,392	3,392	3,392				
2007			20,562	20,562	20,562	20,562	20,562			
2008				8,583	8,583	8,583	8,583	8,583		
2009					(6,645)	(6,645)	(6,645)	(6,645)	(6,645)	
2010						0	0	0	0	0
Carryover amount						25,892	22,500	1,938	(6,645)	0

Powercor Australia's proposed 2006-10 carryover amounts are set out in Table 14.3.

 Table 14.3 2006-10 efficiency carryover amounts

15. EFFICIENCY BENEFIT SHARING SCHEME

In this Chapter of the Revised Regulatory Proposal, Powercor Australia responds to Chapter 14 of the Draft Determination regarding the EBSS.

15.1 Summary of key points

Powercor Australia does not accept the AER's decision to reject Powercor Australia's proposal that any events that are proposed by Powercor Australia as nominated pass through events but are not accepted by the AER should be excluded cost categories for the purposes of the EBSS. That decision is unreasonable, incorrect and based on errors of fact.

15.2 Rules requirements

Clause 6.4.3(a)(5) of the Rules provides that one of the building blocks is 'the revenue increments or decrements (if any) for that year arising from the application of the efficiency benefit sharing scheme, the service target performance incentive scheme and the demand management incentive scheme'.

Clause 6.4.3(b)(6) of the Rules provides that 'the revenue increments or decrements referred to in paragraph (a)(5) are those that arise as a result of the operation of an applicable efficiency benefit sharing scheme, service target performance incentive scheme or demand management incentive scheme as referred to in clauses 6.5.8, 6.6.2 and 6.6.3'.

The AER's development and implementation of the EBSS is governed by clauses 6.5.8(a) and (c) of the Rules, which provide:

- '(a) The AER must, in accordance with the distribution consultation procedures, develop and publish a scheme or schemes (efficiency benefit sharing scheme) that provide for a fair sharing between Distribution Network Service Providers and Distribution Network Users of:
 - (1) the efficiency gains derived from the operating expenditure of Distribution Network Service Providers for a regulatory control period being less than; and
 - (2) the efficiency losses derived from the operating expenditure of Distribution Network Service Providers for a regulatory control period being more than, the forecast operating expenditure accepted or substituted by the AER for that regulatory control period.'
- *'(c)* In developing and implementing an efficiency benefit sharing scheme, the AER must have regard to:
 - (1) the need to ensure that benefits to consumers likely to result from the scheme are sufficient to warrant any reward or penalty under the scheme for Distribution Network Service Providers; and
 - (2) the need to provide Distribution Network Service Providers with a continuous incentive, so far as is consistent with economic efficiency, to reduce operating expenditure and, if the scheme extends to capital expenditure, capital expenditure; and

- (3) the desirability of both rewarding Distribution Network Service Providers for efficiency gains and penalising Distribution Network Service Providers for efficiency losses; and
- (4) *any incentives that* Distribution Network Service Providers *may have to capitalise expenditure; and*
- (5) the possible effects of the scheme on incentives for the implementation of non-network alternatives.'

The AER issued its EBSS Guideline on 26 June 2008.¹⁰⁴⁸ The EBSS Guideline provides that adjustments will be made to forecast opex allowances for the purposes of calculating carryover amounts in the following circumstances:

- changes in capitalisation policies;
- differences between forecast and demand growth;
- recognised pass through events;
- a service ceasing to be a standard control service during the regulatory control period;
- adjustments for changes in responsibilities that result from compliance with a new or amended law or licence, or other statutory or regulatory requirement; and
- additional excluded cost categories that are proposed by a DNSP and accepted by the AER, which must:
 - be uncontrollable;
 - not adversely impact the operation of the EBSS;
 - be specific to the business;
 - have an identifiable reason for their exclusion; and
 - not relate to an on-going business activity.¹⁰⁴⁹

15.3 Powercor Australia's Initial Regulatory Proposal

In the Initial Regulatory Proposal, Powercor Australia proposed that the following matters should be treated as uncontrollable costs for the purposes of the EBSS:

- debt raising costs;
- superannuation costs;
- GSL payments;
- any costs related to the following events if those events are not accepted by the AER as nominated pass through events:
 - costs arising from a transfer of non-pricing distribution regulatory arrangements to a national regulatory framework;
 - costs arising from recommendations arising from the Bushfires Royal Commission;

¹⁰⁴⁸ AER, EBSS Guideline (Attachment 215 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal).

¹⁰⁴⁹ AER, EBSS Guideline (Attachment 215 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), pp6-7.

- $\circ\,$ costs arising from changes in safety regulations introduced by the ESCV;
- costs arising from changes in exposure limits introduced in the final version of the current Draft Radiation Protection Standard for Exposure Limits to Electric and Magnetic Fields 0Hz-3kHz, by the ARPANSA;
- windfarm connection costs;
- costs arising from a general nominated pass through event;
- o costs arising from a financial failure of a retailer event;
- costs arising from a declared RoLR event;
- costs arising from a network extension for remote generation event;
- fees or charges payable to the AEMO; and
- \circ costs arising from an emissions trading scheme event.¹⁰⁵⁰

15.4 AER's Draft Determination

In the Draft Determination, the AER determined that the following costs should be treated as uncontrollable costs for the EBSS:

- debt raising costs;
- self-insurance costs
- superannuation costs for defined benefit and retirement schemes;
- the DMIA; and
- GSL payments.¹⁰⁵¹

The AER rejected Powercor Australia's proposal that any costs related to events that are not accepted by the AER as nominated pass through events should be treated as uncontrollable for the purposes of the EBSS. The AER considered that it was unnecessary to treat these matters as uncontrollable costs for the purposes of the EBSS because these matters would either:

- be covered by other pass though events; or
- affect revenue and not costs and therefore would not affect the EBSS calculation.¹⁰⁵²

15.5 Powercor Australia's response to the AER's Draft Determination

15.5.1 Nominated pass through events

The AER's rejection of Powercor Australia's proposal that any costs related to events that are not accepted by the AER as nominated pass through events should be treated as uncontrollable for the purposes of the EBSS is unreasonable, incorrect and based on errors of fact.

¹⁰⁵⁰ Initial Regulatory Proposal, p252.

¹⁰⁵¹ AER, Draft Determination, p607.

¹⁰⁵² AER, Draft Determination, p609.

In the Draft Determination, the AER stated that many of these nominated pass through events were rejected on the basis that they are already within the scope of the 'regulatory change event' or the 'service standard event' specified in Chapter 10 of the Rules.¹⁰⁵³ On that basis, the AER considered that these events did not need to be excluded cost categories for the EBSS, because if they are covered as a 'regulatory change event' or the 'service standard event' then they will be automatically excluded from the EBSS calculations.

However, the Draft Determination does not provide any certainty that the AER will treat the rejected events as regulatory change events or service standard events if and when they arise.

The AER's comments on this issue in the EBSS Chapter of the Draft Determination are inconsistent with its comments on the same issue in the pass through Chapter of the Draft Determination. In the EBSS Chapter, the AER stated that these events had been rejected as pass through events because 'they are events that are already within the scope of either the 'regulatory change event' or 'service standard event' (emphasis added).¹⁰⁵⁴ However, in the pass through Chapter, the AER did not find that these events 'are' regulatory change events or service standard events, but merely indicated that they **could** be within the definitions of those events.

Accordingly, there is no certainty that if these events arise, they will be excluded from the EBSS and that specific uncontrollable cost categories are not necessary.

If the AER rejects these events as uncontrollable cost categories in the Final Determination, it must confirm that the AER has determined that each of the rejected events is either a regulatory change event or a service standard event and that if and when it arises the AER will accept it as a pass through event (subject to any assessment as to whether the quantum of cost is material/immaterial). If the AER is not willing or able to provide that confirmation in the Final Determination, it cannot be assured that these events will not impact on the EBSS and the AER should include them as uncontrollable cost categories.

In the Draft Determination, the AER stated that: ¹⁰⁵⁵

The AER also notes that, some of the nominated pass through events proposed, such as a forced load shedding event, will impact revenues rather than costs. As such these events will not impact carryover amounts under the EBSS.'

However, all of the events proposed by Powercor Australia relate to costs and not revenue and will impact the EBSS if they occur. The AER's reasoning therefore does not provide a valid reason for rejecting the uncontrollable cost categories proposed by Powercor Australia.

By stating that these events are likely to be pass through events, the AER appears to accept that these events are uncontrollable. Accordingly, these events will meet all of the requirements under the AER's EBSS Guideline to be an excluded cost category, i.e.:

they are uncontrollable; •

¹⁰⁵³ AER, Draft Determination, p609.

 ¹⁰⁵⁴ AER, Draft Determination, p609.
 ¹⁰⁵⁵ AER, Draft Determination, p609.

- they will not adversely impact the operation of the EBSS;
- they are specific to the business;
- Powercor Australia has provided an identifiable reason for their exclusion; and
- they do not relate to an on-going business activity.¹⁰⁵⁶

It would therefore be inconsistent with the AER's EBSS Guideline for the AER to refuse to accept these events as uncontrollable cost categories.

Accordingly, Powercor Australia maintains that any nominated pass through events proposed by Powercor Australia that are not accepted by the AER as pass through events should be treated as uncontrollable costs and excluded from the EBSS.

15.5.2 Superannuation costs

In the Draft Determination, the AER allowed an excluded cost category for 'superannuation costs for defined benefit and retirement schemes'.¹⁰⁵⁷

Powercor Australia considers that the reference to 'retirement schemes' is uncertain. Powercor Australia considers that the AER should clarify that this category covers both defined benefit schemes and accumulation schemes. Superannuation costs associated with accumulation schemes are uncontrollable and meet the requirements for exclusion under the EBSS Guideline.

Accordingly, Powercor Australia proposes that the superannuation costs exclusion should cover 'superannuation costs for defined benefit and accumulation schemes'.

15.6 Powercor Australia's Revised Regulatory Proposal

Powercor Australia proposes that the following matters should be treated as uncontrollable costs for the purposes of the EBSS:

- debt raising costs;
- self-insurance costs;
- superannuation costs for defined benefit and accumulation schemes;
- the DMIA;
- GSL payments; and
- any costs related to the following events if those events are not accepted by the AER as nominated pass through events:
 - costs arising from a transfer of non-pricing distribution regulatory arrangements to a national regulatory framework;
 - costs arising from recommendations arising from the Bushfires Royal Commission;
 - costs arising from changes in safety regulations introduced by the ESV;
 - costs arising from changes in exposure limits introduced in the final version of the current Draft Radiation Protection Standard for Exposure Limits to Electric and Magnetic Fields 0Hz-3kHz, by the ARPANSA;

¹⁰⁵⁶ AER, EBSS Guideline (Attachment 215 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p6.

¹⁰⁵⁷ AER, Draft Determination, p607.

- costs arising from a general nominated pass through event;
- costs arising from a financial failure of a retailer event;
- costs arising from a declared RoLR event;
- fees or charges payable to the AEMO; and
- costs arising from an emissions trading scheme event;
- a natural disaster event;
- o an insurance event/legal liability above insurance cap event; and
- an insurer credit risk event.

Powercor Australia's forecast opex for debt raising costs, self-insurance costs, superannuation costs for defined benefit and accumulation schemes, the DMIA and GSL payments is set out in Table 15.1. It is not currently possible to forecast expenditure for the events that are not accepted by the AER as nominated pass through events.

	\$'000 (real 2010)							
	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015	Total		
Superannuation costs	10,283	10,511	10,946	11,595	12,542	55,878		
DMIA	600	600	600	600	600	3,000		
GSL payments	1,173	1,195	1,217	1,238	1,259	6,082		
Self insurance	0	0	0	0	0	0		
Debt raising costs	3,187	3,475	3,764	4,043	4,321	18,791		
Total	15,243	15,781	16,527	17,476	18,722	83,750		

 Table 15.1: Forecast opex for uncontrollable cost categories

In response to the AER's request in the note to Table 14.2 of the Draft Determination for additional information:

- the amount of opex expended on superannuation in 2009 was \$10,078,268; and
- Powercor did not incur any expenditure on non-network alternatives in the base year.

15.7 Regulatory Information Notice response

Paragraphs 2.1 of the Further RIN requires Powercor Australia to identify and explain each proposed variation or departure from the Draft Determination in respect of the EBSS.

Powercor Australia's proposed departures from the Draft Determination in respect of the EBSS are identified and explained in section 15.5 above.

16. SERVICE TARGET PERFORMANCE INCENTIVE SCHEME

In this Chapter of the Revised Regulatory Proposal, Powercor Australia responds to Chapter 15 of the Draft Determination regarding the STPIS.

16.1 Summary of key points

Powercor Australia accepts the position set out by the AER in its Draft Determination in relation to the STPIS, except in respect of the S factor true up.

Powercor Australia does not accept the AER's decision not to include an S factor trueup term in the control mechanism and to instead address that matter in the 2016-20 Distribution Determination. Powercor Australia maintains that an S factor true up term should be added to the control mechanism, as set out in Chapter 4 of this Revised Regulatory Proposal.

Powercor Australia also does not accept the AER's proposed method for calculating the S factor true up amount.

16.2 Rules requirements

Clause 6.6.2(a) of the Rules requires that the AER publish a STPIS to provide incentives for DNSPs to maintain and improve performance.

Clause 6.6.2(b)(3) of the Rules provides that, in developing and implementing the STPIS, the AER must take into account:

- the need to ensure that benefits to consumers likely to result from the scheme are sufficient to warrant any reward or penalty under the scheme for DNSPs;
- any regulatory obligation or requirement to which the DNSP is subject;
- the past performance of the distribution network;
- any other incentives available to the DNSP under the Rules or a relevant distribution determination;
- the need to ensure that the incentives are sufficient to offset any financial incentives the service provider may have to reduce costs at the expense of service levels;
- the willingness of the customer or end user to pay for improved performance in the delivery of services; and
- the possible effects of the scheme on incentives for the implementation of nonnetwork alternatives.

16.3 Powercor Australia's Initial Regulatory Proposal

In its Initial Regulatory Proposal, Powercor Australia proposed several modifications to the application of the STPIS that was proposed by the AER in the Framework and Approach Paper.
Powercor Australia's proposed modifications to the application of the STPIS included proposing a MED threshold of 3.1 beta instead of the default 2.5 beta.¹⁰⁵⁸

In its Initial Regulatory Proposal, Powercor Australia proposed that the control mechanism should include an S factor true up mechanism.¹⁰⁵⁹

The revenue increments or decrements arising from service performance in 2009-10 are based on an estimate for 2010. Since the revenue increments or decrements arising from actual service performance in 2009-10 will not be known for at the time of the AER's Final Determination, an S factor true up correction factor is proposed to apply to the right hand side of the price control formula in 2012 (and remain embedded in prices to the end of 2015) to recover:

- the revenue increments or decrements arising from actual service performance in 2009-10; and
- the revenue increments or decrements arising from actual service performance in 2010 and the STPIS targets for 2011, but applying the current regulatory control period exclusion criteria.

Since the 2011 STPIS targets are proposed to be based on average actual service performance over 2005-09, the 2011 STPIS targets for the purpose of the S factor true up calculation are proposed to be based on actual average service performance over 2005-09 applying the current regulatory control period exclusion criteria.

16.4 AER's Draft Determination

In the Draft Determination, the AER rejected several aspects of Powercor Australia's Initial Regulatory Proposal, including:

- Powercor Australia's proposed MED threshold of 3.1 beta: the AER determined that the MED threshold for Powercor Australia (and SP AusNet) should be increased from the default of 2.5 beta to 2.8 beta;¹⁰⁶⁰
- Powercor Australia's proposal to combine the short rural and long rural feeder categories;¹⁰⁶¹
- Powercor Australia's proposal to use 2009 expenditure as the basis for forecast GSL payments: the AER determined that the 2005-09 average should be used instead;¹⁰⁶²
- Powercor Australia's application of a customer growth factor to its forecast GSL payments;¹⁰⁶³
- Powercor Australia's proposal that the Final Determination should include an S factor true up mechanism.¹⁰⁶⁴

In relation to the S factor true up, the AER noted that an S factor true up term was not included in the Framework and Approach Paper and that the Rules constrain the AER's

¹⁰⁵⁸ Initial Regulatory Proposal, p268.

¹⁰⁵⁹ Initial Regulatory Proposal, pp 326-328.

¹⁰⁶⁰ AER, Draft Determination, p653.

¹⁰⁶¹ AER, Draft Determination, p635.

¹⁰⁶² AER, Draft Determination, p686.

¹⁰⁶³ AER, Draft Determination, p687.

ability to amend the form of control set out in the Framework and Approach Paper. The AER stated that the DNSPs will instead be able to recover the S factor true up amount in the 2016-20 Distribution Determination.

16.5 Powercor Australia's response to the AER's Draft Determination

Powercor Australia accepts the position set out in the Draft Determination in relation to the STPIS, except in relation to the S factor true up.

16.5.1 S factor true up

As discussed in Chapter 4 of this Revised Regulatory Proposal, Powercor Australia does not accept the AER's decision not to include an S factor true up term in the control mechanism.

Powercor Australia maintains that an S factor true up term (T_t) should be added to the control mechanism. As explained in Chapter 4, Powercor Australia does not consider that clause 6.12.3(c) of the Rules prevents the AER from amending the control mechanism formula from that set out in the Framework and Approach Paper.

The S factor true up correction amount needs to be converted into a factor for the WAPC and side constraint formulae in accordance with the approach set out in Appendix 3.1 of this Revised Regulatory Proposal.

Powercor Australia also does not agree with the AER's proposed method for calculating the S factor true up correction amount. Powercor Australia's reasons are set out in Appendix 16.1. Powercor Australia also attaches its proposed S factor true up Model (Attachment 6 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), which calculates the S factor true up amount in accordance with Appendix 16.1. This model produces the same S factor true up amount as the Draft Determination model with the same inputs, only because Powercor Australia's estimated performance in 2010 is set equal to its 2005-09 average performance - the equivalent of the 2011 target. Inserting any other value for 2010 performance results in the two models producing divergent results.

Powercor Australia agrees with the Draft Determination that the S factor correction amount to account for the difference between estimated and actual performance in 2010 should be based on the difference between the annual S factor true up amounts based on actual performance in 2010 and the annual S factor true up amounts included in the building blocks. Powercor Australia agrees with the Draft Determination that the annual differences in true up amounts should be present valued applying the pre-tax WACC from the PTRM.

16.5.2 Customer service parameter targets

As a result of the change in the definition of the telephone answering parameter, Powercor Australia's customer service parameter targets in the Draft Determination are lower than its previous targets and lower than the targets that apply to DNSPs in other States.

Powercor Australia notes that this change in the definition means that it is not possible to compare Powercor Australia's targets with previous ESCV targets or targets for DNSPs in other States. Powercor Australia also notes that, while the AER's new definition applied at the time of its recent determinations in other States, the customer service parameter targets in other States appear to reflect the old definition and not the new AER definition.

The additional information requested by the AER in relation to customer service targets on pages 664 and 666 of its Draft Determination is set out in Template 6.6 of the Regulatory templates provided with this Revised Regulatory Proposal in response to the Further RIN.

16.6 Powercor Australia's Revised Regulatory Proposal

Powercor Australia amends its Initial Regulatory Proposal to adopt the positions set out by the AER in the Draft Determination in relation to the STPIS, except that:

- Powercor Australia does not accept the AER's decision not to include an S factor true-up term in the control mechanism, and Powercor Australia maintains that an S factor true up term should be added to the control mechanism as set out in Chapter 4 of this Revised Regulatory Proposal; and
- Powercor Australia does not accept the AER's method for calculating the S factor true up amount and will provide a separate submission on that issue.
- Powercor Australia's proposed building blocks revenue requirements for 2011-15 in relation to the S factor true up (based on estimates for 2010) are set out in Table 16.1.

	\$'000 (real 2010)							
	2011 2012 2013 2014 2015							
S Factor true up	8,100	(6,457)	(3,370)	1,524	(16,964)			

Table 16.1 S Factor true up building blocks

16.7 Regulatory Information Notice response

Paragraph 2.1 of the Further RIN requires Powercor Australia to identify and explain each proposed variation or departure from the Draft Determination in respect of the service target performance incentive scheme.

Powercor Australia does not propose any departure from the Draft Determination in respect of the STPIS.

As identified and explained in section 16.5 above, Powercor Australia disagrees with the AER's approach to the S factor true-up, but Powercor Australia does not consider that this matter relates to the '*service target performance incentive scheme*' as defined in the Rules and referred to in the Further RIN.

17. PASS THROUGH EVENTS

In this Chapter of the Revised Regulatory Proposal, Powercor Australia responds to Chapter 16 of the AER's Draft Determination regarding the nominated pass through events for the 2010-15 regulatory control period.

17.1 Summary of key points

In respect of the AER's decision on nominated pass through events, Powercor Australia submits as follows:

- The AER has fallen into error in accepting a submission by UED that the 'regulatory change event' pass through event in the Rules is confined to changes in existing regulatory obligations. Rather, a 'regulatory change event' encompasses any change in regulatory obligations during the regulatory control period, including the removal of an existing regulatory obligation, a change in an existing regulatory obligation and the imposition of a new regulatory obligation.
- In respect of pass through events which the AER rejected on the basis that they could fall within the scope of the 'regulatory change event' or 'service standard event' pass through in the Rules, the AER should either confirm that those events do fall within that scope (subject to any assessment of whether the quantum of costs is material/immaterial) or treat those events as nominated pass through events.
- The AER should include recommendations arising from the Bushfires Royal Commission as a nominated pass through event.
- Consistent with its recent distribution determinations in NSW, ACT, Queensland and South Australia, the AER should include a general pass through event as a nominated pass through event.
- The AER should include the financial failure of a retailer as a nominated pass through event, or else the AER should amend the credit support arrangements under the default UoSA to give Victorian DNSPs full credit support or provide an allowance for managing retailer failures as an opex item.
- If the AER rejects its proposed WAPC or side constraint terms (or both of them) regarding Transmission-related Costs, the AER must include a nominated pass through event in its Final Determination in respect of these costs.

In respect of the materiality threshold for nominated pass through events, Powercor Australia submits as follows:

- The AER has acted unreasonably in setting a materiality threshold for nominated pass through events of one per cent of smoothed forecast revenue in the years of the regulatory control period that the costs are incurred. No reasonable decision maker would make a determination in respect of Victorian distribution which seeks to ensure consistency with the AER's approach to transmission regulation, but which is not consistent with its Previous Distribution Determinations.
- Any increase to the current materiality threshold in Victoria will result in a fundamental reassignment of risk between DNSP and customers, with DNSPs bearing a greater burden of the risk. If this is the AER's desired outcome then it

should provide compensation to DNSPs for carrying this additional risk – for example by allowing additional expenditure through self insurance or opex, or amending the calculation of WACC to allow a premium for managing the additional risk.

- The materiality threshold for nominated pass through events (except for the financial failure of a retailer event and the transmission related costs event) should be that the event has a 'material financial impact on the distribution business', with 'material' being interpreted according to its ordinary meaning. This is consistent with the defined pass through events under the ESCV's 2006-10 EDPR. Powercor Australia considers that having regard to its annual revenue profile this would result in a materiality threshold for it of \$500,000 over the regulatory control period for each nominated pass through event.
- There should be no materiality threshold for the financial failure of a retailer pass through event and the transmission related costs pass through event.

17.2 Rule requirements

Clause 6.6.1 of the Rules makes provision for a DNSP to pass through costs associated with certain events. Chapter 10 of the Rules defines four pass through events:

- a regulatory change event;
- a service standard event;
- a tax change event; and
- a terrorism event.

In addition to the four defined pass through events, an event nominated in a distribution determination as a pass through event is a pass through event for the purposes of the Rules.

The objective of the pass through provisions is to provide a degree of protection for DNSPs from the impact of uncontrollable changes in costs that arise during a regulatory control period.¹⁰⁶⁵ As the AER recognised in its recent Queensland and South Australian Final Determinations,¹⁰⁶⁶ the pass though mechanism recognises that an efficient revenue allowance cannot be established with complete certainty at the time of its Final Determination and that it may not be efficient to require DNSPs to manage all situations or circumstances without this revenue allowance. Accordingly, the objective of the pass through provisions is to ensure that DNSPs are compensated for uncontrollable costs during the regulatory control period. The pass through provisions allow uncontrollable changes in the costs of providing direct control services to be passed through to distribution network users during a regulatory control period.

This is consistent with the NEO and the revenue and pricing principles. The AER's determination as to whether additional pass through events should be allowed in a

¹⁰⁶⁵ The objective of the pass through provisions in distribution is the same as the objective of the pass through provisions in transmission, AEMC's Rule Determination National Electricity Amendment (Economic Regulation of Transmission Services) Rule 2006 No 18, 16 November 2006 (Attachment 109 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), pp104-5

¹⁰⁶⁶ AER, Queensland Final Determination (Attachment 24 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p295; AER, South Australian Final Determination (Attachment 22 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p223.

determination is governed by the NEO and the revenue and pricing principles. Specifically, the AER must have regard to:

- the principle in section 7A(2) that network service providers should be provided with a reasonable opportunity to recover at least the efficient costs incurred in providing direct control network services; and
- the principle in section 7A(3) that network services providers should be provided with effective incentives in order to promote economic efficiency with respect to direct control network services.

In making a decision as to what events should be included as nominated pass through events and the materiality threshold to apply to those pass through events, the AER is required to act reasonably.

The Tribunal commented on the unreasonableness ground of review in section 71C(1)(d) of the NEL in Application by Energy Australia and Ors¹⁰⁶⁷. The Tribunal concluded that the ground of review was not limited to Wednesbury unreasonableness. The Tribunal gave an indication of what may constitute unreasonableness in commenting on the overlap between incorrect exercise of discretion and unreasonableness. The Tribunal said at [67] that:

'if the reasons for decision contain an element [of] arbitrariness, in the sense of an unexplained discretionary choice made in reaching a conclusion, then it may readily be concluded that the decision itself is unreasonable, and that the exercise of discretion miscarried or was in error'.

Further, the Tribunal said at [68] that:

`[i]f a decision is not determined by reference to the applicable criteria in the NEL and the Rules, then it will readily lead to a conclusion that the exercise of any discretion in reaching the decision was incorrect, and the decision was unreasonable in all the circumstances'.

It would be unreasonable for the AER to make a decision which is not consistent with the objective of the pass through provisions or with the NEO and revenue and pricing principles. It would also be unreasonable for the AER to make a decision which seeks to ensure consistency with transmission regulation, but which is inconsistent with its recent decisions in distribution.

17.3 **Powercor Australia's Initial Regulatory Proposal**

In Chapter 12 of its Initial Regulatory Proposal, Powercor Australia:

- nominated pass through events for the regulatory control period 2011-15;¹⁰⁶⁸ and
- made a submission in relation to the appropriate materiality threshold for • assessing pass through events.¹⁰⁶⁹

Powercor Australia proposed that the materiality threshold for each nominated pass through event should be \$5 million over the regulatory control period. Powercor Australia proposed that:

 ¹⁰⁶⁷ [2009] ACompT 8 (Attachment 97 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal) at [63]-[68].
 ¹⁰⁶⁸ Initial Regulatory Proposal p282-93.

¹⁰⁶⁹ Initial Regulatory Proposal p294-5.

- the costs of the pass through event should be assessed over the five year regulatory control period, rather than in any single year of the regulatory control period; and
- the same materiality threshold should apply to all pass through events.

The pass through events nominated by Powercor Australia in its Initial Regulatory Proposal were:

- transfer of non-pricing distribution regulatory arrangements to a national regulatory framework;
- recommendations arising from the Bushfires Royal Commission;
- changes to safety regulations introduced by the ESV;
- changes to exposure limits;
- wind farm connection costs;
- a general nominated pass through event;
- a financial failure of a retailer event;
- a declared RoLR event;
- a network extension for remote generation event;
- an AEMO fees or charges event; and
- an emissions trading scheme event.

17.4 AER's Draft Determination

17.4.1 AER's Criteria for nominating pass through events

In its Draft Determination, the AER decided to move away from its approach to nominating pass through events which it had very recently applied in the Previous Distribution Determinations.¹⁰⁷⁰

In those determinations, the AER set out eight factors to which the AER had regard in determining whether an event should be nominated as a pass through event. Of the eight factors, the AER considered that the likelihood of occurrence of an event and the DNSP's degree of control over the event were the most significant factors. The AER considered that nominated pass through events should be divided into the following two categories based primarily on the probability of the event occurring during the regulatory control period:

- specific nominated pass through events (highly likely to occur); and
- general nominated pass through events (unexpected events).

The key practical difference between the specific nominated pass through event and the general nominated pass through event was that the AER considered that a different materiality threshold should apply to specific nominated pass through events. The AER considered that specific nominated pass through events should have a materiality

¹⁰⁷⁰ AER, Queensland Final Determination (Attachment 24 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), Chapter 15; AER, South Australian Final Determination 2010-15 (Attachment 22 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), Chapter 15; AER, NSW, Final Determination (Attachment 141 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), Chapter 15; AER, ACT, Final Determination (Attachment 220 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), Chapter 16.

threshold of the administrative costs of assessing the application. The AER considered that general nominated pass through events should have a materiality threshold of one per cent of the DNSPs annual forecast revenue.

However, in its Draft Determination, the AER considered that a probability based criterion was no longer relevant to the assessment of pass through events.¹⁰⁷¹ The AER changed its understanding of the meaning of forseeability from the NSW and ACT Final Determinations in which the AER had considered an event was foreseeable if it was more likely to occur than not in the regulatory control period. Rather, the AER considered that a pass through event should be foreseeable in that the nature of the event is foreseeable so that it can be tightly defined in advance.¹⁰⁷²

The AER considered it would be more likely to treat an event as a pass through event where:¹⁰⁷³

- the event is foreseen, but the cost and timing are not known;
- the event is of high magnitude; and
- the event is beyond the control of the DNSP.

The AER set out the following criteria for nominating pass through events:¹⁰⁷⁴

- the event is not already provided for by the defined events in the Rules, through opex, through WACC or any other mechanism;
- the event is foreseeable;
- the event is uncontrollable;
- the event cannot be self-insured;
- the party who is in the best position to manage the risk is bearing the risk; and
- passing through the costs of the event would not undermine the incentive arrangements within the regulatory regime.

17.4.2 AER's rejection of certain nominated pass through events

The AER determined that it would not be appropriate to nominate as specific pass through events, events that already fall within one of the specified pass through events in Chapter 10 of the Rules. Accordingly, the AER determined that it would not nominate as specific pass through events any pass through events which could be classified as regulatory change events or service standard events.

The AER accepted the submission by UED that a 'regulatory change event' was confined to changes in existing regulatory obligations and did not encompass the removal or imposition of a new regulatory obligation or requirement.¹⁰⁷⁵ The AER considered that the service standard event could capture the pass through of material cost increases or decreases relating to the imposition of new regulatory obligations.

¹⁰⁷¹ AER, Draft Determination, p711.

¹⁰⁷² AER, Draft Determination, p712 and p719.

¹⁰⁷³ AER, Draft Determination, p713.

¹⁰⁷⁴ AER, Draft Determination, pp716-7.

¹⁰⁷⁵ AER, Draft Determination, p709.

However, the AER noted that there may be new regulatory obligations that arise during the regulatory control period that do not meet the criteria for a service standard event.¹⁰⁷⁶ For example, a new regulatory obligation may not substantially affect the manner in which the DNSP provides direct control services. The AER said that if Victorian DNSPs consider that the defined pass though events in the Rules are problematic they should raise this issue with the AEMC.

The AER rejected the following pass through events nominated by Powercor Australia on the basis they **could** relate to new, changed or removed regulatory obligations that are already within the scope of the 'regulatory change event' or 'service standard event' specified in Chapter 10 of the Rules:¹⁰⁷⁷

- transfer of non-pricing distribution regulatory arrangements to a national regulatory framework;
- changes to safety regulations introduced by the ESV;
- changes to exposure limits;
- recommendations arising from the Bushfires Royal Commission;
- an emissions trading scheme event; and
- an AEMO fees and charges event.

In so doing, the AER did not provide any certainty that it considered those events would fall within the scope of either the 'regulatory change event' or 'service standard event' specified in Chapter 10 of the Rules (subject to any assessment of whether the quantum of costs is material/immaterial).

The AER rejected the general pass through event on the basis that it did not meet the following assessment criteria:

- the passing through of the costs associated with the event would not undermine the incentive arrangements within the regulatory regime; and
- the event is foreseeable in that the nature or type of the event can be clearly identified.

The AER considered that events that would otherwise fall within a general pass through event could be captured by having a natural disaster pass through event.

The AER rejected the following events proposed by Powercor Australia on the basis that the costs of those events are recovered elsewhere in the regulatory regime:

- wind farm connection cost event as it considered these costs are recovered through connection charges;
- network extension for remote generation event as it considered these costs are recovered through connection charges;
- financial failure of a retailer event. It considered the appropriate method to mitigate against the risk of this event is through the prudential requirements contained in clause 6.21.1 of the Rules.

¹⁰⁷⁶ AER, Draft Determination, p709

¹⁰⁷⁷ AER, Draft Determination, p710.

17.4.3 Pass through events nominated by the AER

The AER accepted a pass through for a RoLR event.

The AER also:

- nominated a natural disaster event as a pass through event; and
- accepted the following nominated pass through events proposed by other DNSPs:
 - an insurance event/legal liability above insurance cap event;
 - an insurer credit risk event.

17.4.4 Materiality threshold

The AER determined that the materiality threshold for nominated pass through events should be one per cent of the smoothed forecast revenue in the years of the regulatory control period that the costs are incurred. The AER said that:¹⁰⁷⁸

- its recent approach in its Previous Distribution Determinations of applying a materiality threshold to specific nominated pass through events of the administrative costs of assessing the application was erroneous;
- this threshold was consistent with the purpose of a materiality threshold to reduce the administrative burden of excessive application for pass through events, while still including events which may materially affect the business;
- this threshold had been applied to the general nominated pass through event in previous distribution determinations; and
- the materiality threshold for transmission cost pass throughs prescribed under the Rules is one per cent of the TNSP's maximum allowed revenue. Without good reason for differences, consistency between transmission and distribution regulation is desirable.

The AER incorrectly said that this threshold was not substantially different from the \$5 million materiality threshold proposed by CitiPower and Powercor Australia.

17.5 Powercor Australia's response to AER's Draft Determination

Powercor Australia has reviewed all of the matters raised by the AER in its Draft Determination.

Powercor Australia has amended its Initial Regulatory Proposal and prepared this Revised Regulatory Proposal to be consistent with the AER's Draft Determination in respect of the AER's decision not to nominate pass through events for the wind farm connection costs event and the network extension for remote generation event proposed in Powercor Australia's Initial Regulatory Proposal.

Powercor Australia disputes the AER's Draft Determination on pass throughs in respect of the following matters:

• the AER's decision not to nominate the following pass through events proposed by Powercor Australia:

¹⁰⁷⁸ AER, Draft Determination, p175.

- recommendations arising from the Bushfires Royal Commission;
- a general pass through event;
- a financial failure of a retailer event;
- the AER's failure to confirm that pass through events which it rejected on the basis that they could fall within the scope of the 'regulatory change event' or 'service standard event' pass through in the Rules do fall within the scope of those events; and
- the AER's decision to set the materiality threshold for nominated pass through events at one per cent of smoothed forecast revenue in the years of the regulatory control period that the costs are incurred.

Powercor Australia has revised its Initial Regulatory Proposal to:

- remove specific nominated pass through events for the wind farm connection cost event and network extension for remote generation event proposed in its Initial Regulatory Proposal;
- include specific nominated pass through events for:
 - conditions or limitations imposed by ESV on provisional acceptance of an ESMS under the Electricity Safety Act;
 - a transmission related costs event (with no materiality threshold);
 - a natural disaster event
 - an insurance event/legal liability above insurance cap event;
 - an insurer credit risk event.
- have a materiality threshold for nominated pass through events (except for the financial failure of a retailer event and transmission related costs event) that the event has a material financial impact on Powercor Australia, with material being interpreted according to its ordinary meaning; and
- have no materiality threshold for the financial of a retailer pass through event.

Powercor Australia's Regulatory Proposal in respect of pass through is otherwise that set out in its Initial Regulatory Proposal. Since Powercor Australia proposed a RoLR pass through event in its Initial Regulatory Proposal and the AER accepted that proposal, Powercor Australia's Current Regulatory Proposal includes that event.

17.5.1 Nominated Pass Through Events

17.5.1.1 AER's definition of regulatory change event

The AER erroneously accepted a submission by UED that a 'regulatory change event' pass through was confined to changes in existing regulatory obligations and did not encompass the removal or imposition of a new regulatory obligation or requirement.¹⁰⁷⁹ Powercor Australia submits that a 'regulatory change event' should encompass any change in regulatory obligation during the regulatory control period,

¹⁰⁷⁹ AER, Draft Determination, p709.

including the removal of an existing regulatory obligation, a change in an existing regulatory obligation and the imposition of new regulatory obligation.

By confining a 'regulatory change event' to a change in an existing regulatory obligation, the AER has taken a very literal approach to the interpretation of 'regulatory change event'. Such an approach is contrary to the NEL which provides that in interpreting a provision of the Rules, the interpretation that will best achieve the purpose or object of the Rules is to be preferred to any other interpretation, including in particular a literal interpretation such as that adopted by the AER.¹⁰⁸⁰

Powercor Australia submits that consistent with a purposive approach to interpreting the Rules, the definition of 'regulatory change event' should be interpreted in the context of the purpose of distribution pass through events.

The purpose of distribution pass through events in the Rules is consistent with the purpose of transmission pass through events – being to provide a degree of protection for DNSP's from the impact of uncontrollable costs arising during the regulatory control period.¹⁰⁸¹ In the AEMC's Rule Determination National Electricity Amendment (Economic Regulation of Transmission Services) Rule 2006 No 18¹⁰⁸² the AEMC noted in respect of the transmission pass through provisions in the Rules that:

'The objective of the cost pass-through is to provide a degree of protection for the TNSP from the impact of unexpected changes in costs outside of its control. The Commission considers that such a mechanism provides a reasonable reflection of the operation of a competitive market where efficient costs are eventually passed through to customers, whether they are expected or not. Such a mechanism lowers the risk faced by the TNSP, which would otherwise have to be compensated for in the calculation of regulated revenues.

••••

Considering the intent of the pass through mechanism is to provide for unexpected changes outside the control of the TNSP, the Commission agrees with submissions that a regulation change event should be included in the scheme.'

In light of the purpose of the pass through events, the definition of 'regulatory change event' should be interpreted broadly to enable a DNSP to recover costs outside of its control that arise from any positive regulatory change event and to enable customers to benefit from any negative regulatory change event. Specifically, it should be interpreted to include the removal of an existing regulatory obligation, a change in an existing regulatory obligation and the imposition of a new regulatory obligation during

¹⁰⁸⁰ Section 7 of Schedule 2 to the NEL provides that 'In the interpretation of a provision of this Law, the interpretation that will best achieve the purpose or object of this Law is to be preferred to any other interpretation' and that this 'applies whether or not the purpose is expressly stated in this Law'. Section 3 of the NEL provides that Schedule 2 of the NEL applies to the Rules (see also section 41(1) of Schedule 2 to the NEL). ¹⁰⁸¹ Standing Committee of Officials of the Ministerial Committee Terms of Committee of Officials of the NEL).

¹⁰⁸¹ Standing Committee of Officials of the Ministerial Council on Energy, Changes to the National Electricity Rules to establish a national framework for the economic regulation of electricity distribution, Explanatory Material, April 2007 (Attachment 110 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p5 notes that '[*t*]o achieve the MCE's objective of consistency where appropriate, the Exposure Draft of distribution revenue Rules largely builds on the AEMC's approach to economic regulation of electricity transmission. The Exposure Draft takes into account differences in the nature of transmission and distribution networks, based on analysis of these differences undertaken during the development of the draft Rules.'

¹⁰⁸² 16 November 2006 (Attachment 109 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), pp104-5.

the regulatory control period. The AER has no basis to confine it to a change in an existing regulatory obligation.

Powercor Australia requests the AER to confirm in its Final Determination that it accepts that a 'regulatory change event' encompasses any change in regulatory obligation during the regulatory control period, including the removal of an existing regulatory obligation, a change in an existing regulatory obligation and the imposition of new regulatory obligation.

17.5.1.2 AER's rejection of events which could be regulatory change or service standard events

The AER rejected a number of pass through events nominated by Powercor Australia on the basis that they **could** relate to possible new, changed or removed regulatory obligations that are either within the scope of the 'regulatory change event' or 'service standard event'.¹⁰⁸³ However, the AER did not confirm that if any of these events arose during the regulatory control period, the AER would treat those events as falling within regulatory change events or service standard events (subject to any assessment as to whether the quantum of cost is material/immaterial).

As such, Powercor Australia seeks the AER's confirmation in the Final Determination that if the following events arise during the regulatory control period, the AER will treat these events as falling within either a regulatory change event or a service standard event (subject to any assessment as to whether the quantum of cost is material/immaterial):

- transfer of non-pricing distribution regulatory arrangements to a national regulatory framework;
- changes to safety regulations introduced by the ESV;
- changes to exposure limits;
- an emissions trading scheme event; and
- an AEMO fees and charges event.

If the AER is uncertain about whether or not each of these events would fall within the category of regulatory change event or a service standard event, the AER should treat these events as nominated pass through events. Consistent with the requirements of the NEL and the Rules, the inclusion of these events as nominated pass throughs will help to ensure that Powercor Australia is provided with a reasonable opportunity to recover its efficient costs, and has effective incentives in order to promote economic efficiency. The inclusion of these events as nominated pass throughs is also consistent with the AEMC's intent of introducing a pass through mechanism into the Rules¹⁰⁸⁴ and the intent of the Standing Committee of Officials of the MCE in conferring on the AER a power to nominate pass through events in distribution determinations.

Further, these events satisfy the AER's criteria for nominated pass through events. In particular, Powercor Australia submits that:

• each of these events are foreseeable in that they can be identified in advance;

¹⁰⁸³ AER, Draft Determination, p710.

¹⁰⁸⁴ AEMC's Rule Determination National Electricity Amendment (Economic Regulation of Transmission Services) Rule 2006 No 18, 16 November 2006 (Attachment 109 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), pp104-5.

- each of these events are potentially of high magnitude;
- each of these events are beyond the control of DNSPs;
- the events cannot be self-insured;
- the party who is in the best position to manage the risk is bearing the risk; and
- the pass through of the costs associated with the events would not undermine the incentive arrangements within the regulatory regime.

Against this background, Powercor Australia submits that no reasonable decisionmaker would refuse to nominate these events as pass through events, unless it was certain that the events would fall within the scope of either the 'regulatory change event' or 'service standard event' defined in Chapter 10 of the Rules (subject to any assessment as to whether the quantum of cost is material/immaterial).

17.5.1.3 AER's rejection of pass through for recommendations arising from the Bushfires Royal Commission

Significantly for all Victorian rural DNSPs, the AER also rejected Powercor Australia's proposed nominated pass through for recommendations arising from the Bushfires Royal Commission on the basis that it **could** relate to possible new, changed or removed regulatory obligations that are either within the scope of the 'regulatory change event' or 'service standard event'.

As the AER is aware, the Royal Commission has not yet made its recommendations following its inquiry in the Victorian Bushfires. It is not clear what form those recommendations will take and what steps Victorian DNSPs will be required to take as a result of those recommendations. It is therefore far from definite that the recommendations arising from the Bushfires Royal Commission will fall within the category of regulatory change event or service standard event. Those recommendations are, however, likely to have a material cost impact on Victorian DNSPs.

The fact that the Royal Commission's recommendations will impact upon Victorian DSNPs and require them to undertake increased activities in reducing future bushfire risks has been recognised by the AER throughout its Draft Determination¹⁰⁸⁵ and by the AER's consultant, Nuttall Consulting¹⁰⁸⁶, yet the AER has failed to give DNSPs any certainty that they will be able to recover the costs of activities undertaken in response to those recommendations through the pass through mechanism.

Consistent with the purpose of the pass through provisions, Victorian DNSPs should not be required to bear the burden of the costs of those events. It is clear that a pass through for recommendations arising from the Bushfires Royal Commission is consistent with the requirements of the NEL and the Rules and should be accepted by the AER. The inclusion of this event will help to ensure that Powercor Australia is provided with a reasonable opportunity to recover its efficient costs, and has effective

¹⁰⁸⁵ AER Draft Determination, pVIII, p273, p292 and p913.

¹⁰⁸⁶ Nuttall Consulting noted that 'the results from the Victorian Royal commission into the bushfires of 2009 is likely to have a significant impact upon the management of vegetation in Victoria and the roles of DNSPs. It is considered likely that any recommendations from the Royal Commission will have cost impacts upon the Victorian DNSPs', Nuttall Consulting, Capital Expenditure – Victorian Electricity distribution Revenue Review, 26 May 2010 p335.

incentives in order to promote economic efficiency. The inclusion of these events as nominated pass throughs is also consistent with the AEMC's intent of introducing a pass through mechanism into the Rules¹⁰⁸⁷ and the intent of the Standing Committee of Officials of the MCE in conferring on the AER a power to nominate pass through events in distribution determinations.

It also satisfies the AER's criteria for a nominated pass through event. Specifically, Powercor Australia observes that:

- there is no certainty that the event is already provided for in the defined event definitions in the Rules;
- the event is foreseeable in that the nature of the event can clearly identified;
- the event is uncontrollable;
- the event cannot be self-insured;
- the party who is in the best position to manage the risk is bearing the risk; and
- the pass through of the costs associated with the event would not undermine the incentive arrangements within the regulatory regime.

Powercor Australia submits that no reasonable decision-maker would refuse to nominate a pass through for recommendations arising from the Bushfires Royal Commission.

17.5.1.4 The AER should not reject the general nominated pass through event

The AER rejected the general pass through event as a nominated pass through event.

The AER observed that it had revised its view of 'forseeability' since the Previous Distribution Determinations. It **now** considered that 'forseeability' should be viewed in terms of whether the event is capable of being tightly defined in advance rather than the probability of the event occurring.

The AER referred to its pass through guideline for the treatment of pass throughs in transmission.¹⁰⁸⁸ It noted that the guideline provided that all pass through events should be tightly defined in advance to minimise regulatory discretion during the regulatory control period.¹⁰⁸⁹ It noted that this aim is achieved through the removal of the general pass through event and its replacement with a natural disaster event.

Powercor Australia submits that the AER's guideline for the treatment of pass throughs in transmission is irrelevant to a consideration of what events should be nominated pass through events in the context of distribution. While distribution and transmission pass through events have the same objective, it is clear that the Rules recognise that there is a distinction in how they are defined. Transmission pass through events are all defined in the Rules, whereas the AER has an ability to define additional distribution pass through events.

¹⁰⁸⁷ AEMC's Rule Determination National Electricity Amendment (Economic Regulation of Transmission Services) Rule 2006 No 18, 16 November 2006 (Attachment 109 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), pp104-5.

¹⁰⁸⁸ AER, Statement of principles for the regulation of electricity transmission revenues, Position paper, Passthroughs and revenue-cap re-openers, December 2005.

¹⁰⁸⁹AER, Draft Determination, p719.

The Explanatory Material in respect of the Rules as they apply to distribution,¹⁰⁹⁰ recognises the difficulties with specifying pass through events for distribution. It notes that while there has been a consistent approach by jurisdictional regulators to defining pass through events for transmission, which allows for codification in the Rules, there has not been such an approach for distribution. The fact that there has not been a consistent approach by jurisdictional regulators to defining pass through events for distribution in the Rules, there has not been such an approach for distribution. The fact that there has not been a consistent approach by jurisdictional regulators to defining pass through events for distribution shows that it is difficult to anticipate with any certainty the kinds of pass through events which may arise in distribution over the regulatory control period. Given this uncertainty it is important to have a general pass through event category.

A general pass through event is also consistent with the objective of the pass through provisions in the Rules that DNSPs should not be left out of pocket for uncontrollable events which arise during the regulatory control period. Unlike TNSPs, there is no provision in the Rules which enables DNSPs to reopen revenue caps and pass through to consumers the costs of an event which arises during the regulatory control period which is beyond the reasonable control of the provider.

The AER rejected the general pass through event on the basis that it did not meet the following assessment criteria:

- the passing through of the costs associated with the event would not undermine the incentive arrangements within the regulatory regime; and
- the event is foreseeable in that the nature or type of the event can be clearly identified.

It is unclear to Powercor Australia how having a general pass through event would undermine the incentive arrangements within the regulatory regime. Rather, it is consistent with those incentive arrangements that DNSPs should have some protection against uncontrollable events which arise during the regulatory control period.

In addition it is consistent with the objective of the pass through provisions that DNSPs should be permitted to pass through uncontrollable costs, even where events arise during the regulatory control period that cannot be clearly identified at the time of the AER's Determination. The AER's establishment of a criterion for a nominated event that it be foreseeable in that the nature or type of the event can be clearly identified hinders the achievement of the NEO and the revenue and pricing principles, and is inconsistent with the purpose of conferring on the AER a power to nominate pass through events in distribution determinations.

The AER's rejection of the general pass through event is inconsistent with its inclusion of this event in each of its Previous Distribution Determinations. There is no basis for the AER to permit a general pass through event for distributors in other jurisdictions, but to reject it for Victorian distributors.

The AER considered that events that would otherwise fall within a general pass through event could be captured by having a natural disaster event. However, having a natural disaster event does not provide protection to DNSPs for all kinds of events which would fall within a general pass through event.

¹⁰⁹⁰ Standing Committee of Officials of the Ministerial Council on Energy, Changes to the National Electricity Rules to establish a national framework for the economic regulation of electricity distribution, Explanatory Material, April 2007 (Attachment 110 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p53.

Powercor Australia submits that no reasonable decision-maker would refuse to nominate a pass through for a general pass through event.

17.5.1.5 The AER should not reject the financial failure of a retailer event

The AER rejected the financial failure of a retailer event on the basis that the appropriate method to mitigate against the risk of a retailer failure event is through the prudential requirements contained in clause 6.21.1 of the Rules.

However, it not possible for Victorian DNSPs to do this because they are constrained by their distribution licences to implement in the default UoSA¹⁰⁹¹ provisions which reflect the credit support arrangements in the EESCV Credit Decision. These credit support arrangements do not fully compensate DNSPs for retailer failure.

As set out below in the discussion on materiality threshold, these credit support arrangements were put in place on the basis that Victorian DNSPs had a pass through event for a financial failure of a retailer event.

If the AER wants to reject the financial failure of a retailer as a pass through event, the AER will have to amend the credit support arrangements under the default UoSA to give distributors full credit support.¹⁰⁹² If not, it should grant the pass through event.

The specification of a retailer failure event as a nominated pass through event is consistent with the requirements of the NEL and Rules and should be accepted by the AER. The inclusion of this event will help to ensure that Powercor Australia is provided with a reasonable opportunity to recover its efficient costs, and has effective incentives in order to promote economic efficiency.

The AER has indicated that it wishes to maintain incentives put in place by the ESCV to ensure a smooth transition to the new regulatory framework.¹⁰⁹³ Powercor Australia observes that a financial failure of a retailer event was a defined event in the ESCV's 2006-10 EDPR.¹⁰⁹⁴ It is therefore consistent with the AER's approach to maintaining incentives put in place by the ESCV that there be a pass through for a financial failure of a retailer event.

If the AER determines to reject the retailer failure event as a nominated pass through event, this will result in a fundamental reassignment of risk from customers to DNSPs. As a result, DNSPs will carry a greater portion of risk in managing cost variations. The AER has not provided any compensation for DNSPs for carrying this additional risk. It has not allowed any additional expenditure through self insurance or opex because both of these are based on revealed 2009 costs. Nor has the AER amended its calculation of WACC to allow a premium for managing the additional risk. As set out above, in referring to the objective of a pass through mechanism in the Rules for transmission the AEMC observed that if the risk faced by the TNSPs of unexpected changes in costs outside of their control was not addressed by a cost pass through provision, that risk would have to be compensated for in the calculation of regulated revenues.¹⁰⁹⁵ The AEMC's observation is equally applicable to the increased risks

¹⁰⁹¹ Attachment 226 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal.

¹⁰⁹² Under clause 4.1 of the distribution licence agreement, the AER has the power to direct a distributor to submit a proposed default UoSA to it.

¹⁰⁹³ AER, Draft Determination, p722.

¹⁰⁹⁴ ESCV, 2006-10 EDPR, Volume 2 (Attachment 32 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p 61.

¹⁰⁹⁵ AEMC's Rule Determination National Electricity Amendment (Economic Regulation of Transmission Services) Rule 2006 No 18, 16 November 2006 (Attachment 109 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p104.

Victorian DNSPs will face if the AER does not nominate the financial failure of a retailer event as a pass through.

The financial failure of a retailer event satisfies all of the AER's criteria for nominating pass though events. Specifically, Powercor Australia observes that:

- the event is not already defined in the Rules or compensated for elsewhere;
- the event is foreseeable in that the nature of the event can be clearly identified;
- the event is uncontrollable;
- the event cannot be self-insured;
- the party who is in the best position to manage the risk is bearing the risk; and
- the passing through of the costs associated with the event would not undermine the incentive arrangements within the regulatory regime.

As set out in Chapter 12 of its Initial Regulatory Proposal, a financial failure of a retailer pass through event should cover the difference between the amount Powercor Australia would have been entitled to receive had the retailer not failed, less any amount that is recovered pursuant to those protections within its use of system agreement.¹⁰⁹⁶

Powercor Australia's proposed definition is:

A financial failure of a retailer event means the occurrence of an event whereby the retailer is placed in administration or liquidation, and as a consequence a DNSP does not receive revenue which it was otherwise entitled to for the provision of direct control services.

17.5.1.6 Electricity Safety Management Scheme

In its Initial Regulatory Proposal, Powercor Australia proposed a step change in respect of the amendment to the Electricity Safety Act which requires all Victorian DNSPs to operate under an ESMS which has been approved by ESV as complying with the Electricity Safety Act and the Electricity Safety (Management) Regulations.¹⁰⁹⁷ The AER rejected Powercor Australia's proposed step change.¹⁰⁹⁸

The amendment to the Electricity Safety Act came into effect on 1 January 2010 and the amendment to the Electricity Safety (Management) Regulations came into effect on 13 December 2009.

Under the Electricity Safety Act, Powercor Australia is required to submit an ESMS to ESV for its supply networks (section 99). Section 102 of the Electricity Safety Act provides that ESV must accept an ESMS if it is satisfied that the ESMS is appropriate for the supply network to which it applies and complies with the Electricity Safety Act and the Electricity Safety (Management) Regulations. Section 103 of the Electricity Safety that it will provide for the safe operation of the supply network. In respect of a provisional acceptance of an ESMS, section 103(3) gives ESV the power to impose any limitations or conditions that will apply in respect of the design, construction, operation,

¹⁰⁹⁶ Initial Regulatory Proposal p289-90.

¹⁰⁹⁷ Initial Regulatory Proposal, p177-78.

¹⁰⁹⁸ AER, Draft Determination, Appendix L, p159.

maintenance or decommissioning of the supply network while the provisional acceptance is in force.

Conditions or limitations which ESV imposes on a provisional acceptance of an ESMS have the potential to materially increase Powercor Australia's costs of providing direct control services. Accordingly, Powercor Australia proposes that there be a nominated pass through event for conditions or limitations imposed by ESV on its provisional acceptance of an ESMS under the Electricity Safety Act.

The inclusion of this pass through event will help to ensure that Powercor Australia is provided with a reasonable opportunity to recover its efficient costs, and has effective incentives in order to promote economic efficiency. The inclusion of this event as a nominated pass through is consistent with the NEL and the Rules. It is also consistent with AEMC's intent of introducing a pass through mechanism into the Rules¹⁰⁹⁹ and the intent of the Standing Committee of Officials of the MCE in conferring on the AER a power to nominate pass through events in distribution determinations.

Further, this event satisfies the AER's criteria for nominated pass through events. In particular, Powercor Australia submits that:

- it is foreseeable in that it can be identified in advance;
- it is potentially of high magnitude;
- it is beyond the control of DNSPs;
- the event cannot be self-insured;
- the party who is in the best position to manage the risk is bearing the risk; and
- the pass through of the costs associated with the event would not undermine the incentive arrangements within the regulatory regime.

Powercor Australia submits that no reasonable decision-maker would refuse to nominate a pass through for conditions or limitations imposed by ESV on its provisional acceptance of an ESMS under the Electricity Safety Act.

Powercor Australia proposes that this pass through event would be defined as follows:

An electricity safety management scheme event means an event which relates to the imposition by ESV of conditions or limitations in respect of the design, construction, operation, maintenance or decommissioning of the supply network on its provisional acceptance of an electricity safety management scheme under section 103 of the Electricity Safety Act.

17.5.1.7 Transmission related costs event

In Chapter 3 of this Revised Regulatory Proposal, Powercor Australia proposed that the AER should include a new term in each of the WAPC and side constraint formulas to address Transmission-related Costs.

In preparing this Revised Regulatory Proposal, Powercor Australia has proceeded on the basis that the AER will accept its proposal to include new terms in the WAPC and side constraint formula to address Transmission-related Costs.

¹⁰⁹⁹ AEMC's Rule Determination National Electricity Amendment (Economic Regulation of Transmission Services) Rule 2006 No 18, 16 November 2006 (Attachment 109 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), pp104-5.

However, as set out in Chapter 3, Powercor Australia submits that if the AER rejects its proposed WAPC or side constraint terms (or both of them) regarding transmission related costs, the AER must include a nominated pass through event in its Final Determination in respect of these costs. The 'transmission related costs event' should cover the difference between forecast and actual expenditure in respect of PFIT payments, transmission connection charges, inter-DNSP charges and Avoided TuOS and Avoided DuOS payments.

17.5.2 Materiality threshold

In the following section, Powercor Australia explains why:

- the AER's imposition of a materiality threshold of one per cent of the smoothed forecast revenue is erroneous;
- the materiality threshold for nominated pass through events (except for the financial failure of a retailer event and transmission related costs event) should be that the event has a 'material financial impact on the distribution business', with 'material' being interpreted according to its ordinary meaning; and
- the financial failure of a retailer event and the transmission related costs event should have no materiality threshold.

17.5.2.1 AER's imposition of its materiality threshold erroneous

The AER determined that the materiality threshold for nominated pass through events should be one per cent of the smoothed forecast revenue in the years of the regulatory control period that the costs are incurred.

Powercor Australia asserts that the AER has acted unreasonably in setting the materiality threshold at one per cent of smoothed forecast revenue. This is because:

- the imposition of this threshold is inconsistent with the AER's reasoning in rejecting the materiality threshold applied to specific nominated pass through events in recent distribution decisions of seeking to align the threshold with the ordinary meaning of 'materially';
- in setting the threshold, the AER had regard to ensuring consistency with transmission. No reasonable decision maker would make a determination in respect of Victorian distribution which seeks to ensure consistency with the AER's approach to transmission regulation, but which is not consistent with its Previous Distribution Determinations;
- the AER justified the threshold as the threshold applied to general nominated pass through events in Previous Distribution Determinations, however, here the AER is seeking to apply the threshold to specific nominated pass through events. It did not apply this threshold to specific nominated pass through events in Previous Distribution Determinations, nor did jurisdictional electricity regulators in other States in their previous price determinations;
- the threshold which the AER sought to apply in its Draft Determination is onerous and leads to perverse outcomes. The imposition of the threshold results in a fundamental reassignment of risk between DNSPs and the customers, which increased the risk the DNSPs would have to be compensated for through regulated revenues.

The AER also incorrectly observed that this threshold was not substantially different from the \$5 million threshold proposed by CitiPower and Powercor Australia.

Inconsistent reasoning

The AER rejected the materiality threshold it had applied to specific nominated events in its Previous Distribution Determinations on the basis that an event which only meets the administrative costs materiality threshold may not ultimately qualify as a 'positive change event' under the Rules (which is defined as a pass through event that materially increases the costs of providing direct control services).¹¹⁰⁰ Accordingly, it considered it appropriate to align the materiality threshold for additional pass through events with events which meet the ordinary meaning of the word 'materially'. The AER recognised that 'materially' is not defined in the Rules and therefore must be interpreted in accordance with its plain and ordinary meaning. Powercor Australia observes that 'materially' is in fact defined in the Rules to have its ordinary meaning outside of the application of clause 6A.7.3 in respect of transmission pass throughs.

The AER then proceeded to impose a materiality threshold of one per cent of revenue. Imposing this threshold fails to align the threshold with the definition of 'positive change event' and is inconsistent with the AER's statement that it 'will align the materiality threshold contained for additional pass through events that meets the ordinary meaning of the word 'materially'.¹¹⁰¹ Powercor Australia observes that 'material' is defined in the Shorter Oxford Dictionary¹¹⁰², relevantly, as 'serious, important; of consequence'.

Accordingly, if the materiality threshold were to be aligned with the definition of 'positive change event', the materiality threshold would be that the event is material within the ordinary meaning of 'material' and each event when it arose would be assessed against that threshold. This is consistent with the ESCV's 2006-10 EDPR. Further, such a threshold would achieve the AER's stated objective of a materiality threshold to '*reduce the administrative burden of excessive applications for pass through events, while still including events which may materially affect the business*'.¹¹⁰³ This objective would not be achieved if the materiality threshold were set at one per cent of forecast revenue because most events which materially affect the business would fail to satisfy this high threshold.

Desire to maintain consistency with transmission erroneous

The main reason for the AER deciding on a threshold of one per cent of smoothed forecast revenue appears to be the AER's desire to maintain consistency between its determination in respect of Victorian distribution and its approach to transmission regulation.¹¹⁰⁴ Under the Rules, the materiality threshold for transmission cost pass throughs is prescribed as one per cent of the TNSP's maximum allowed revenue. The AER stated that 'without a good reason for the differences, consistency between transmission and distribution regulation is desirable'.

Powercor Australia asserts that there is a good reason for a difference between the materiality threshold for transmission and that for distribution. Further, no reasonable

¹¹⁰⁰ AER, Draft Determination, p714.

¹¹⁰¹ AER, Draft Determination, p714.

 $^{^{1102}}_{1102}$ (5th ed 2002)

¹¹⁰³ AER, Draft Determination, p715.

¹¹⁰⁴ AER, Draft Determination, p715.

decision maker would make a decision which seeks to ensure consistency with transmission, but which is not consistent with its Previous Distribution Determinations.

It is clear that the Rules make a distinction between the materiality threshold for transmission and distribution pass throughs in the definition of 'materially'. Chapter 10 of the Rules defines "materially" as:

- in the context of transmission pass throughs in clause 6A.7.3, one per cent of the maximum allowed revenue for the transmission network service provider for the regulatory year; and
- in other contexts, the word has its ordinary meaning.

Accordingly, the Rules prescribe a different meaning of 'materially' to transmission pass throughs, than to distribution pass throughs. If it was intended that distribution pass throughs were to have the same materiality threshold as distribution pass throughs the definition of 'materially' in Chapter 10 of the Rules would reflect this.

Statements made by the Standing Committee of Officials of the MCE in deciding not to establish a revenue cap reopener for pass through events occurring in distribution also recognise that what is a material cost impact for distribution will differ from what is material for transmission. Clause 6A.7.1 enables TNSPs to reopen revenue caps and pass through costs to customers where the capital costs of an event is beyond the reasonable control of the provider. This is subject to a materiality threshold that the total capex required during the regulatory control period to rectify the consequences of the event exceeds 5 per cent of the RAB for the TNSP for the first year of the regulatory control period. The Rules for distribution do not include such a revenue cap reopener provision. The explanatory material for Chapter 6 of the Rules noted that this provision was not necessary for DNSPs because high magnitude events that would likely trigger the reopener provision for TNSPs would be unlikely to occur in a distribution network.¹¹⁰⁵ This shows that what is material in distribution is likely to be lower than in transmission.

One per cent of revenue threshold not previously applied to specific nominated pass throughs

Another reason the AER gives for applying the one per cent materiality threshold was that this threshold had been applied to the general nominated pass through event in previous distribution determinations. However, in the Draft Determination, the AER was seeking to apply the one per cent of revenue threshold to specific nominated pass through events and, far from being consistent with previous distribution determinations, the AER's application of the one per cent of revenue threshold to specific nominated pass through events is inconsistent with the Previous Distribution Determinations.

The one per cent threshold was not the threshold the AER very recently applied to specific nominated pass through events in its Previous Distribution Determinations. In those determinations, the AER imposed a materiality threshold of the administrative

¹¹⁰⁵ Standing Committee of Officials of the Ministerial Council on Energy, Changes to the National Electricity Rules to establish a national framework for the economic regulation of electricity distribution, Explanatory Material, April 2007 (Attachment 110 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p53.

costs of assessing the pass through application for specific nominated pass through events.

Nor is it the materiality threshold the ESCV applied in its 2006-10 EDPR. Rather, the threshold in the ESCV's 2006-10 EDPR was that the event 'has a material financial impact on the distribution business'.¹¹⁰⁶ Further, while a one per cent of revenue threshold has been applied by the Queensland Competition Authority in Queensland and the Independent Pricing and Regulatory Tribunal in NSW, that was to a general pass through event and not to specific nominated pass through events.¹¹⁰⁷

AER's threshold onerous and leads to perverse outcomes

A materiality threshold of one per cent of smoothed forecast revenue is onerous and leads to perverse outcomes for the reasons explained below.

The AER's materiality threshold results in a fundamental reassignment of risk from customers to the DNSPs. Under the current situation in Victoria under the ESCV's 2006-10 EDPR, the 'materiality threshold' for the pass through events specified in the ESCV's 2006-10 EDPR is contained in the definition of those pass through events which provides that the event must have a 'material financial impact on the distribution business'. ¹¹⁰⁸ 'Material' is not defined in the ESCV's 2006-10 EDPR and, accordingly, it takes its ordinary meaning. Again, Powercor Australia observes that 'material' is defined in the Shorter Oxford Dictionary¹¹⁰⁹, relevantly, as 'serious, important; of consequence'. This is a lower threshold than the AER's proposed threshold of one per cent of smoothed forecast revenue.

The Victorian DNSPs must be compensated for any increase in the risks allocated to them under the AER's determination as compared to the ESCV's 2006-10 EDPR through regulated revenues. The AEMC recognised this, at the time of making Chapter 6A of the Rules, in commenting on the inclusion of a pass through mechanism in that Chapter. More specifically, the AEMC recognised that, in the absence of such a pass through mechanism, the risks faced by a TNSP would be higher and the TNSP would have to be compensated for this through regulated revenues, as follows:¹¹¹⁰

'Such a mechanism lowers the risk faced by the TNSP, which would otherwise have to be compensated for in the calculation of regulated revenues' [emphasis added].

The AEMC's observation above is equally applicable to the increased risks a Victorian DNSP will face if the AER's Final Determination imposes a higher materiality threshold for pass through events than is currently imposed by the ESCV's 2006-10 EDPR.

¹¹⁰⁶ ESCV's 2006-10 EDPR, Volume 2 (Attachment 32 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal),p61

¹¹⁰⁷ In its NSW Electricity Distribution Pricing 2004/05 to 2008/09 Final Determination (Attachment 221 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p28, p44, the Independent Pricing and Regulatory Tribunal applied a materiality threshold to general pass through events of the average annual change in costs in respect of the event exceeds one per cent of the average annual smoothed revenue requirement for the DNSP. In its Final Determination on the Regulation of Electricity Distribution 2005-10 (Attachment 222 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), the Queensland Competition Authority, p50 applied a materiality threshold to general pass through events of one per cent of actual annual regulated revenue per event, based on the regulated revenue in the year of the event.

¹¹⁰⁸ ESCV's 2006-10 EDPR, Volume 2 (Attachment 32 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal),p61

¹¹⁰⁹ (5th ed 2002).

¹¹¹⁰ AEMC's Rule Determination National Electricity Amendment (Economic Regulation of Transmission Services) Rule 2006 No 18, 16 November 2006 (Attachment 109 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p104.

The AER has not provided any compensation to the DNSPs for carrying this additional risk. It has not allowed any additional expenditure through self insurance or opex because both of these are based on revealed 2009 costs. Nor has the AER amended its calculation of WACC to allow a premium for managing the additional risk. Further, the AER has made no adjustments to the EBSS scheme and as a result the impact of the materiality threshold is compounded by five times.

If the AER determines to apply the one per cent of smoothed forecast revenue threshold, there will also be an implicit change in the way efficiencies will be shared between customers and DNSPs. DNSPs will carry the risk of incurring up to an additional one per cent of their revenues in costs each year which will result in penalties under the EBSS. Previously these costs would have been treated as pass throughs and therefore would not have been included in the EBSS calculation. This represents a fundamental shift in the sharing ratio that underpins the EBSS because the ability for DNSPs to make efficiency gains has become proportionally harder.

There is an asymmetry in the relative frequency of positive versus negative pass through events, with most events that may be categorised as pass through events being positive (ie resulting in DNSPs incurring increased costs). This is because, over time, the regulation of distribution becomes, on balance, increasingly onerous. This asymmetry results in systemic under-recovery by the DNSPs of uncontrollable costs. The application of the AER's one per cent of revenue threshold will compound this under-recovery of uncontrollable costs over time. The AER does not explain how the DNSP is to recover the resultant shortfall. Unless the AER systematically overforecasts capex and opex, then the DNSP cannot be expected to over-recover as a result of those forecasts and it is unclear how the DNSP is to recover those otherwise unrecovered uncontrollable costs. In the longer term this may undermine the viability of the DNSP and its capacity to invest.

If the AER adopts a materiality threshold of one per cent of annual forecast revenue for specific nominated events, this would have the result that it is likely that Powercor Australia would rarely be able to recover its costs of pass through events, even where those costs are significant. Unless some other form of compensation in the building blocks is provided to cover this expected shortfall, the AER's approach is contrary to the NEO, in particular the objective of promoting efficient investment in electricity services, and the revenue and pricing principles in section 7A of the NEL, in particular that network service providers should be provided with a reasonable opportunity to recover at least the efficient costs incurred in providing direct control network services and be provided with effectives incentives for efficient investment in their distribution systems.

If this materiality threshold were to apply, CitiPower would be able to recover for certain pass through events, however, Powercor Australia would not be entitled to recover for those same events. This particularly the case for pass through items that may be invariant to the size of the DNSP.

The application of the materiality threshold to Powercor Australia and CitiPower based on the revenue forecast in the AER's Draft Determination is shown in the following table:

Year	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015
Materiality threshold Powercor	\$4.1M	\$4.3M	\$4.6M	\$4.8M	\$5.0M
Materiality threshold CitiPower	\$2.1M	\$2.2M	\$2.2M	\$2.3M	\$2.5M

Table 17.1 Application of Materiality Threshold

In its South Australian Final Determination, the AER stated that its rationale for applying a threshold by reference to costs and revenues in the relevant regulatory year was because of the capacity of DNSPs to better manage costs that occur over a number of years.¹¹¹¹ This approach is not justified on the basis of the AER's stated rationale, in that the timing of costs does not impact on a DNSP's ability to manage those costs, and may result in perverse outcomes. For example, costs may or may not meet the threshold based on their timing relative to the beginning/end of the regulatory year. If the costs are incurred over December/January, for example, there is less likelihood they will meet the threshold than if incurred over June/July. There is no rationale for such an outcome. The fact that the costs are incurred over December/January rather than June/July does not mean the DNSP is more capable of managing those costs.

AER's threshold inconsistent with \$5 million materiality threshold previously proposed by CitiPower and Powercor Australia

The AER said that the one per cent of revenue threshold was not substantially different from the \$5 million materiality threshold proposed by Powercor Australia.¹¹¹² However, in making this assessment the AER has misunderstood that Powercor Australia proposed the materiality threshold should be \$5 million over the regulatory control period and the costs of the pass through event should be assessed over the five year regulatory control period, rather than in a single year of the regulatory control period. Accordingly, the materiality threshold suggested by Powercor Australia is significantly lower than the threshold of one per cent of smoothed revenue which the AER seeks to impose.

17.5.2.2 ESCV's materiality threshold should apply

Powercor Australia has revised its view of the materiality threshold given the AER's Draft Determination. In revising its view of the materiality threshold, Powercor Australia has had regard to the AER's observations that the meaning of 'materially' in the definition of 'positive change event' and 'negative change event' takes its ordinary meaning and that it is desirable to align the materiality threshold for additional pass through events with the ordinary meaning of the word 'materially'. In addition, Powercor Australia has had regard to the AER's stated purpose of a materiality threshold being to reduce the administrative burden of excessive applications for pass through events, while still including events which may materially affect the business.

 ¹¹¹¹ AER, South Australian Final Determination, (Attachment 22 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p232.
 ¹¹¹² AER, Draft Determination, p715.

Powercor Australia has also had regard to the AER's exclusion of any specific compensation to DNSPs for carrying additional risk and the AER's refusal to address the perverse implications for the EBSS.

Powercor Australia submits that the materiality threshold for nominated pass through events (except for the retailer failure and transmission related costs events) should be that the event is 'material' within its ordinary meaning. This is consistent with the definition of a 'positive change event' and 'negative change event'. It is also consistent with the definition of 'materially' in Chapter 10 of the Rules which provides that outside of clause 6A.7.3, 'materially' has its ordinary meaning.

Significantly, it is consistent with the defined pass through events under the ESCV's 2006-10 EDPR which must have a 'material financial impact on the distribution business' in order to qualify as pass through events.¹¹¹³ As set out above, Powercor Australia submits that any change to the current materiality threshold will result in a fundamental reassignment of risk between DNSPs and customers.

Unless the AER will compensate DNSPs for the additional risks they would bear as a result of an increase in the materiality threshold for pass through events, the AER should maintain the materiality threshold used by the ESCV in its 2006-10 EDPR.

Powercor Australia considers that having regard to its annual revenue profile this would result in a materiality threshold for it of \$500,000 over the regulatory control period for each nominated pass through event.

17.5.2.3 No materiality threshold to apply to retailer failure events

In response to the AER's decision in its Draft Determination not to allow a retailer failure event as a specific nominated pass through event, Powercor Australia has given further consideration to the rationale for allowing a retailer failure event.

This further consideration has been undertaken against the background of an event that arose since its Initial Regulatory Proposal, namely the failure of another retailer Jackgreen in December 2009.

Due to Powercor Australia's further consideration of the rationale for a retailer failure event, Powercor Australia has revised its view of the materiality threshold for retailer failure events. Powercor Australia considers that there should be no materiality threshold for retailer failure pass through events.

It is not appropriate for a materiality threshold to apply to a distributor for a retailer default because:

- the existing credit support arrangements for Victorian DNSPs for failure of a retailer do not recover the full amount of the outstanding debt to the DNSP and this shortfall in cost recovery can be significant;
- the residual costs to DNSP's of a retailer failure should be borne by consumers and not DNSPs because:
 - the costs of retail contestability should be borne by the beneficiaries of that contestability, that is, by consumers; and

¹¹¹³ ESCV's 2006-10 EDPR, Volume 2 (Attachment 32 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal),p61

- consumers are best placed to bear the costs of the financial failure of a retailer because these costs can be spread across a diversified consumer base; and
- accordingly, the ESCV consultant that designed the current credit support arrangements, ACG, recommended those arrangements on the basis of its understanding that the DNSPs would be able to recover any shortfall in the recovery of its costs on the failure of a retailer through a pass through mechanism that was not subject to any materiality threshold.

If the AER decides to apply a materiality threshold to retailer failure events, Powercor Australia seeks a greater allowance for bad debts to enable it to recover the costs of retailer failures. Such costs would have to be allowed by the AER as they would meet the opex criteria, that is, they are efficient costs that would be incurred by a prudent operator in achieving the opex objectives and thus, must be allowed by the AER. Powercor Australia has not proposed additional costs associated with bad debts on the assumption that it would be able to pass through any retailer failure costs to customers. In removing this possibility, the AER has altered the allocation of the risk of a retailer failure such that it is now Powercor Australia that carries the risk of retailer failure. Powercor Australia is not funded to do this through its WACC or its expenditure allowances. If the AER wants to shift the risk of retailer failure from customers to Powercor Australia, it must provide compensation to Powercor Australia for carrying this risk.

The credit support arrangements for retailer failure in Victoria are insufficient to compensate Victorian DNSPs for retailer failures. The current credit support arrangements between retailers and DNSPs that are to be reflected in the default UoSA were determined by the ESCV in the ESCV Credit Decision. In the ESCV Credit Decision, the ESCV determined that a retailer will be required to provide credit support to a distributor when the amount of the retailer's average billed and unbilled distribution service charges liability exceeds its credit allowance.

The amount of credit support provided by the retailer equals the amount by which the retailer's average billed and unbilled distribution service charges over a three month period exceeds the retailer's credit allowance. The retailer's credit allowance is calculated as the percentage of the relevant distributor's maximum credit allowance corresponding to its credit rating. The distributor's maximum credit allowance is equal to 33.33 per cent of the distributor's annual distribution service charges revenue for the most recent year reported to the ESCV.

In the ESCV Credit Decision, the ESCV adopted the model developed by ACG who conducted a review of credit support arrangements on the ESCV's behalf. In determining what model to recommend, ACG placed emphasis on the fact that the ESCV's 2006-10 EDPR had established a mechanism for distributors to pass through to customers 'the net financial consequences associated with retailer default'.¹¹¹⁴ The pass through mechanism which ACG understood applied was one that enabled distributors to recover losses as a result of the financial failure of a retailer from the end customer, without any materiality threshold. ACG noted that the pass through arrangements

¹¹¹⁴ The Allen Consulting Group, Retailer DuOS Credit Support Arrangements Implementation Issues in Victoria, Report to Essential Services Commission, June 2006 (Attachment 224 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p10. See also p2, 11, 37.

isolate the distributor from the long run financial consequences of a retailer failing and transfer the residual credit risk from the distributor to the end customer.¹¹¹⁵

ACG considered that the existence of this pass through mechanism provided more flexibility in deciding on the credit risk framework for Victoria because end customers were able to bear more risk than individual distributors.¹¹¹⁶ ACG noted that end customers do not necessarily require the same degree of protection that an individual distributor accepting full credit risk would require. This is because:

- the customer base is diversified. ACG noted that, shared across all electricity customers in Victoria, the unrecoverable financial losses of an individual retailer liquidating will be diluted compared to the impact on a single distributor being forced to absorb the loss; and
- end customers, as the direct beneficiaries of competition between retailers have an interest in forgoing the protection of absolute credit cover, instead of accepting the risk that they might be asked to pay the cost of a retailer defaulting in the future. AGC noted that the more security a retailer is required to post, the higher its cost base will be which will ultimately be passed onto consumers by way of higher electricity prices.

Accordingly, ACG recommended a regime which sought to promote greater retail competitiveness through reducing barriers to entry to retailers in the knowledge that the distributor could recover the difference between credit support and actual loss directly through a pass through mechanism.

As a result of the ESCV Credit Decision, in practice Powercor Australia holds almost no credit support. Further, it is likely that Powercor Australia would not receive credit support from a retailer that demonstrates financial stress, such as through late payment of network charges.

The ESCV Credit Decision extends a credit allowance to retailers with very low credit ratings. Retailers with credit ratings below BBB- are given a credit allowance. This means that retailers can develop such a sizeable debt before a distributor can ask for credit support, that it is probable those retailers would be under financial distress by the time the distributor asks for support and, as a consequence, would be unable to provide that requested support. Further, retailers with a low credit rating are effectively not required to seek insurance cover or even provide a bank guarantee.

For example, a retailer where a bankruptcy petition has been filed could have a credit rating of C and still have access to a credit allowance of 0.033 per cent of the annual distribution service charges revenue.¹¹¹⁷ If the distributor's annual distribution service charges revenue is \$400m, this equates to an unsecured credit allowance of \$133,000 to a business that is an extreme credit risk.¹¹¹⁸

¹¹¹⁵ The Allen Consulting Group, Retailer DuOS Credit Support Arrangements Implementation Issues in Victoria, Report to Essential Services Commission, June 2006 (Attachment 224 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p10.

¹¹¹⁶ The Allen Consulting Group, Retailer DuOS Credit Support Arrangements Implementation Issues in Victoria, Report to Essential Services Commission, June 2006 (Attachment 224 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p11.

¹¹¹⁷ The percentage of distributor's maximum credit allowance for a retailer with a credit rating of C is 0.1. Accordingly, the retailer's credit allowance would be calculated as 0.1×33.33 per cent = 0.033 per cent of annual distribution service charges revenue.

¹¹¹⁸ Letter from R Hermann to ESC dated 18 August 2006 in respect of ESC Credit decision (Attachment 225 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal).

In addition, in the event of a retailer default a distributor is not able to simply cease supply. The distribution use of service debt will continue to accumulate until the retailer rectifies the default or customers are transferred to another retailer under commercial arrangements or by use of the RoLR mechanism. The default UoSA stipulates the procedures required to terminate the agreement in the event of default. This takes a minimum of 42 days after the bill is issued. Further time, at least 28 days, is required for the ESCV to revoke the retail licence and trigger a RoLR event, unless the retailer is also in default of their wholesale obligations and loses its right to acquire electricity from the wholesale market. In addition to the 70 days described above, there is also a substantial unbilled distribution service charges at the time of billing, typically 14 days for monthly billed customers and 46 days for quarterly billed customers. Therefore, depending on the ratio of monthly and quarterly customers, the value at risk would be in the range of 84 to 116 days of distribution use of service charges.

The application of a materiality threshold by the ESCV in the ESCV's EDPR 2006-10 and by the AER in the Queensland and South Australian Distribution Determinations provides no precedent for the application of a materiality threshold to a failure of a retailer event in the AER's Final Determination. This is because the credit support arrangements in place in Victoria at the time the ESCV made the ESCV's 2006-10 EDPR and in South Australia and Queensland at the time of the AER's Final Determinations for those jurisdictions are more generous than the credit support arrangements currently applicable to Victorian DNSPs.

The credit support arrangement which was in place at the time of the ESCV's EDPR 2006-10, in particular, provided greater protection to Victorian DNSPs than that currently in place in Victoria. Under that arrangement DNSPs could request from a retailer the provision of credit support in the form of an undertaking for an amount not exceeding three months estimated distribution service charges where their credit rating was below BBB- and based on payment history.

This is the same arrangement which was in place in South Australia and Queensland at the time of the AER's Final Determinations for those jurisdictions (and continues to be in place in South Australia and Queensland) under the relevant standard Co-ordination Agreements. Under this arrangement retailers who are most likely to fail (i.e. retailers with a credit rating below BBB-) are required to provide full credit support.

17.5.2.4 No materiality threshold to apply to transmission related costs events

As set out in Chapter 3 of this Revised Regulatory Proposal, Powercor Australia proposes that the materiality threshold for the 'transmission related costs' event should be set at zero. The purpose of this pass through event is to ensure that Powercor Australia remains in the same position (and bears the same exposure to risk) that applied under the ESCV's 2006-10 EDPR and that would apply if Transmission-related Costs were recovered by adding a new term to the WAPC formula as proposed by Powercor Australia.

The ESCV's 2006-10 EDPR contains a K_i term to true up the difference between estimated and actual revenues and charges for embedded generation fees and inter-DNSP charges. Powercor Australia's proposed KAY_i term for the WAPC contains a similar true-up mechanism to ensure that there is no under or over recovery by DNSPs of Transmission-related Costs. Both of those mechanisms allow recovery of the full difference between actual and estimated costs and revenues, and do not contain any form of materiality threshold.

If the 'transmission related costs event' does not have a materiality threshold of zero, then the materiality threshold will result in a fundamental reassignment of risk from customers to DNSPs. The AER has not proposed any mechanism to compensate DNSPs for that increase in risk. It is not appropriate for the materiality threshold to result in such a reassignment of risk compared with the position under the ESCV's 2006-10 EDPR.

17.5.2.5 Pass through events in the Rules

In the AER's Queensland Final Determination, in response to an enquiry by Ergon Energy in its Revised Regulatory Proposal, the AER indicated that, as a guide, the AER is likely to give strong consideration to the adoption of a materiality threshold of one per cent of annual revenue for pass through events specified in chapter 10 of the Rules.¹¹¹⁹ Powercor Australia observes that the AER's assessment of whether a pass through event specified in the Rules is material must involve the objective application of the ordinary meaning of 'material'.

Chapter 10 of the Rules provides that outside of the application of transmission pass throughs in clause 6A.7.3 'materially' has its ordinary meaning. Clause 6.2.8(a)(4) of the Rules enables the AER to publish guidelines as to the AER's likely approach to determining materiality in the context of possible pass through events. However, the AER has not published any such guidelines and, more significantly, any such guidelines cannot alter the definition of materially in Chapter 10 of the Rules being that it has its ordinary meaning. Regardless of any guidance the AER provides on its general approach to assessing materiality whether in a distribution determination or guidelines under clause 6.2.8(a)(4), the AER has a duty to apply the ordinary meaning of 'material' on a case by case basis in assessing applications in respect of specific pass through events of the kind specified in Chapter 10 of the Rules. Neither the guidelines nor a distribution determination can change the meaning of 'material' in the Rules.

17.6 Powercor Australia's Revised Regulatory Proposal

Powercor Australia has revised its Regulatory Proposal to:

- remove specific nominated pass through events for the wind farm connection cost event and network extension for remote generation event proposed in its Initial Regulatory Proposal;
- include specific nominated pass through events for:
 - conditions or limitations imposed by ESV on provisional acceptance of an ESMS under the Electricity Safety Act;
 - transmission related costs event;
 - a natural disaster event;
 - \circ an insurance event/legal liability above insurance cap event; and
 - an insurer credit risk event;

¹¹¹⁹ AER's Queensland Final Determination (Attachment 24 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p310.

- have a materiality threshold for nominated pass through events (except for the financial failure of a retailer event and transmission related costs event) that the event has a material financial impact on the DNSP, with 'material' being interpreted according to its ordinary meaning. Having regard to Powercor Australia's annual revenue profile this would result in a materiality threshold for it of \$500,000 over the regulatory control period for each nominated pass through event; and
- have no materiality threshold for the financial of a retailer and transmission related costs pass through events.

Powercor Australia's current Regulatory Proposal in respect of pass through is otherwise that set out in its Initial Regulatory Proposal. Since Powercor Australia proposed a RoLR pass through event in its Initial Regulatory Proposal and the AER accepted that proposal, Powercor Australia's Current Regulatory Proposal includes that event.

18. BUILDING BLOCK REVENUE REQUIREMENTS

In this Chapter of the Revised Regulatory Proposal, Powercor Australia responds to Chapter 18 of the Draft Determination regarding Powercor Australia's building block revenue requirements.

18.1 Summary of key points

This Chapter sets out Powercor Australia's proposed ARRs and X factors for 2011-15.

18.2 Rules requirements

Clause 6.4.3 of the Rules requires the application of a building block approach to determine the ARRs for standard control services.

The building blocks are set out in clause 6.4.3(a) of the Rules and are:

- the indexation of the RAB;
- a return on capital;
- depreciation;
- the estimated cost of corporate income tax;
- revenue adjustments (if any) arising from the application of the EBSS, the STPIS, and the DMIS; and
- other revenue adjustments (if any) arising from the application of the control mechanism in the previous regulatory control period; and
- forecast opex.

The development of each of these building blocks has been described in earlier chapters of this Revised Regulatory Proposal.

Clause 6.5.9(b) of the Rules provides that a building block determination is to include the X factor for each control mechanism for each regulatory year of the regulatory control period.

Clause 6.5.9(b) of the Rules requires the X factors to be set:

- with regard to the proposed total revenue requirement;
- to minimise, as far as reasonably possible, the variance between expected revenue for the last regulatory year of the regulatory control period and the ARR for that last regulatory year; and
- to equalise (in terms of NPV) the revenue to be earned from the provision of standard control services over the regulatory control period with the total revenue requirement for the regulatory control period.

Clause 6.4.3 of the Rules defines 'annual revenue requirement' as comprising the following building blocks:

- indexation of the RAB;
- a return on capital for that year;
- the depreciation for that year;

- the estimated cost of corporate income tax of the provider for that year; .
- the revenue increments or decrements (if any) for that year arising from the application of the EBSS, the STPIS and the DMIS;
- the other revenue increments or decrements (if any) for that year arising from the application of a control mechanism in the previous regulatory control period; and
- the forecast opex for that year.

18.3 **Powercor Australia's Initial Regulatory Proposal**

In the Initial Regulatory Proposal, Powercor Australia proposed the ARRs set out in Table 18.1 below.¹¹²⁰

	\$m (nominal)					
Building block	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015	
Indexation of the RAB	(54.2)	(60.5)	(66.9)	(73.6)	(80.8)	
Return on capital	240.6	268.8	296.9	326.7	358.9	
Depreciation	118.5	133.2	148.1	163.9	182.3	
Opex	169.0	179.8	192.2	206.3	225.6	
Corporate income tax	10.6	12.2	14.1	16.1	18.8	
Efficiency carryover mechanism	29.0	25.8	6.3	(6.6)	-	
Service incentive mechanism	16.2	(7.7)	(4.6)	0.5	(28.0)	
Total	529.7	551.5	586.0	633.3	676.8	

Table 18.1 Initial Regulatory Proposal - Annual revenue requirements

Powercor Australia's proposed X factors for standard control services as set out in the Initial Regulatory Proposal are summarised in Table 18.2 below.¹¹²¹

	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015
X factors (per cent)	(22.30)	(5.00)	(5.00)	(5.00)	(5.00)

Table 18.2 Initial Regulatory Proposal - Proposed X factors

AER's Draft Determination 18.4

In the Draft Determination, the AER determined that Powercor Australia's ARRs and X factors should be as set out in Table 18.3.¹¹²²

¹¹²⁰ Initial Regulatory Proposal, p328.
¹¹²¹ Initial Regulatory Proposal, p329.
¹¹²² AER, Draft Determination, p768.

	2010	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015
Return on capital		213.4	227.2	241.4	255.9	271.0
Regulatory depreciation		62.0	68.1	74.6	81.5	88.9
Operating expenditure		123.0	127.5	133.1	141.9	147.2
Efficiency canyover amounts		0.0	16.4	0.3	-6.8	0.0
S factor amounts		16.7	-8.0	-4.8	0.9	-32.6
Tax allowance		7.7	8.6	9.2	9.8	10.6
Annual revenue requirements		422.7	439.8	453.8	483.3	485.0
Expected revenues	426.7	413.1	434.8	458.3	481.3	502.4
Forecast CPI (per cent)		2.57	2.57	2.57	2.57	2.57
X factors (per cent)		8.14	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00

Table 18.26 AER conclusion on Powercor's revenue requirements and X factors (\$'m, nominal)

Note: Positive values for X indicate real price decreases under the CPI-X formula. Source: PTRM.

 Table 18.3 Draft Determination - Annual revenue requirements and X factors

18.5 Powercor Australia's response to the AER's Draft Determination

Powercor Australia has set the X factors such that:

- they are the same value for each regulatory year from 2012-15; and
- the variance between the expected revenue for the last regulatory year of the regulatory control period and the ARR for that last regulatory year is less than 6%.

On the basis of the previous chapters of this Revised Regulatory Proposal, Powercor Australia's proposed ARRs and X factors are as set out in Tables 18.4 and 18.5.

	\$m (nominal)				
Building block	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015
Indexation of the RAB	(56.9)	(63.7)	(70.7)	(77.9)	(85.4)
Return on capital	228.0	255.0	283.3	312.1	342.2
Depreciation	119.1	134.3	150.0	166.1	185.2
Opex	180.1	190.2	197.0	210.7	224.0
Corporate income tax	3.9	4.8	6.0	7.2	9.0
Efficiency carryover mechanism	26.6	23.7	2.1	(7.4)	0.0
Service incentive mechanism	8.3	(6.8)	(3.6)	1.7	(19.3)
Total revenue requirement	509.1	537.5	564.1	612.5	655.7

Table 18.4: Proposed ARRs

	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015
X factors (per cent)	-20.63%	-1.00%	-1.00%	-1.00%	-1.00%

Table 18.5 Proposed X factors

18.6 Powercor Australia's Revised Regulatory Proposal

Powercor Australia amends its Initial Regulatory Proposal to propose the ARRs and X factors set out in Tables 18.4 and 18.5.

19. ALTERNATIVE CONTROL SERVICES (INCLUDING PUBLIC LIGHTING)

In this Chapter of the Revised Regulatory Proposal, Powercor Australia responds to Chapters 19 and 20 of the AER's Draft Determination in respect of public lighting and alternative control services. Specifically, this Chapter deals with the AER's Draft Determination in respect of:

- alternative control fee based services;
- alternative control quoted services; and
- public lighting services.

19.1 Summary of key points

Powercor Australia submits that the AER should determine its prices for fee based and quote based alternative control services on the basis that Powercor Australia should be permitted to recover its efficient costs of providing alternative control services. Powercor Australia is not able to recover those costs on the basis of its existing charges or the charges proposed in the AER's Draft Determination.

Accordingly, Powercor Australia has made revisions to the alternative control services model used by the AER for the purposes of its Draft Determination¹¹²³ in order to facilitate recovery of its efficient costs of providing alternative control services. In Powercor Australia's view, the AER should accept Powercor Australia's proposed labour rate, times to perform activities, profit margin and contract rates described in this Revised Regulatory Proposal.

In addition, the AER should revise its Draft Determination in respect of public lighting to:

- apply the general materials escalator that Powercor Australia has used for its standard control services to materials other than poles and brackets;
- accept the costs for poles and brackets, patrol vehicles, traffic management and luminaires set out in this Revised Regulatory Proposal; and
- apply the failure rate for T5 (2x14W) lights set out in this Revised Regulatory Proposal.

19.2 Rule requirements

Clause 6.12.1 of the Rules sets out the constituent decisions of the AER on which a distribution determination is predicated. In respect of the control mechanism for alternative control services, those decisions include:

- a decision under clause 6.12.1.(12) on the control mechanism for alternative control services (to be in accordance with the relevant framework and approach paper); and
- a decision under clause 6.12.1(13) on how compliance with a relevant control mechanism is to be demonstrated.

¹¹²³ Provided to Powercor Australia on 7 June 2010.
19.3 Fee Based Services

19.3.1 Initial Regulatory Proposal

In Chapter 23 of its Initial Regulatory Proposal, Powercor Australia described its charging methodology for fee based services in the next regulatory control period and the application of the control mechanism for fee based services.¹¹²⁴

It observed that section 3.7.8 of the AER's Framework and Approach Paper provides that a price cap form of control will apply to fee based services in the next regulatory control period. This involves:

- setting price caps for each fee based service for the first year of the next regulatory control period based on either a 'bottom up' or 'top down' approach; and
- determining a price path for the price caps on a CPI-X basis for years two to five of the next regulatory control period.

Powercor Australia applied the AER's control mechanism for fee based services by:

- using a 'top down' approach to determine the price caps for various fee based services for the first year of the next regulatory control period. This applied to the following services: wasted attendance not DNSP fault, service truck activities, supply abolishment, fault response not DNSP fault and various meter testing; and
- using a 'bottom up' approach to determine the price caps for various fee based services for the first year of the next regulatory control period. This applied to the following services: disconnection, reconnection, special reading, various meter testing, meter investigation and PV installation.

At a meeting with the AER on 18 February 2010, the AER requested Powercor Australia to provide it with bottom up cost build ups for all alternative control services. Accordingly, in response to the AER's request Powercor Australia was required to provide a bottom up approach to determine price caps for all alternative control services and on 3 March 2010, Powercor Australia provided the AER with a bottom up cost model, containing cost build ups for all fee based alternative control services.

The cost build-up model for alternative control services included labour and materials costs. The labour costs were determined by the labour rate and the time taken to perform the tasks associated with performing the service. Powercor Australia's labour rate inputs were generated using contractor costs.

The cost build up model summed the total internal and external costs of providing the service. A profit margin was then added to derive the final price. A profit margin was included to reflect that without a return, the DNSPs would not have an incentive to provide alternative control services.

19.3.2 AER's Draft Determination

The AER engaged Impaq to assist its review of the proposed charges for alternative control services, in particular the inputs of hourly labour rates, materials and times

¹¹²⁴ Initial Regulatory Proposal, pp375-86.

taken to perform the services. Impag prepared a report entitled Impag Consulting, Review of Distributors Proposed Rates in ACS Charges.¹¹²⁵

The AER rejected Powercor Australia's proposed fee based alternative control service prices. For the purposes of its Draft Determination, the AER made revisions to the model provided to it by Powercor Australia on 3 March 2010. The AER provided its model to Powercor Australia on 7 June 2010.

19.3.2.1 Labour inputs

The AER stated that Impag's analysis of labour rate inputs found that, compared to DNSPs in other jurisdictions and the 2009 NECA survey of industry charge out rates, Powercor Australia's business hours line worker rates were high.¹¹²⁶

Impag considered a reasonable labour charge out rate range for line workers (business hours) was between \$74 and \$84 per hour (\$2010). Impaq considered a reasonable charge out rate for line workers (after hours) was between \$84 and \$105 per hour (\$2010).

The AER considered that Powercor Australia's proposed hourly labour rates for line workers in business and after hours times were significantly higher than industry standards.¹¹²⁷ The AER determined that the highest point of Impaq's range of labour charge out rates, adjusted to allow a 3 per cent profit margin should be applied to Powercor Australia's hourly rates for business and after hours line workers. Accordingly, the AER applied a labour rate of \$79.80 per hour (business hours) and \$99.75 per hour (after hours).

19.3.2.2 Contract rates

The AER considered that the service provider's 2011 contract rates for Powercor Australia's reconnection, disconnection and special meter read services were reasonable.¹¹²⁸ However, the AER did not consider that the escalation of the service provider's rates over 2012-15 was sufficiently justified.¹¹²⁹

19.3.2.3 Times required per activity

Having regard to Impag's Report, the AER determined that in building up the costs for the top seven services Powercor Australia had significantly overstated the times needed for many labour components.¹¹³⁰ The AER considered that Impag had provided a reasonable range of times in which the various components of each service could be expected to perform. It decided that where Impag had found Powercor Australia's times to be outside a reasonable range, it was appropriate to apply the highest point of Impag's recommended times for the services.

In order to derive draft determination prices for services for which Impaq did not provide recommended times, the AER determined the times based on the description of

¹¹²⁵ References to Impaq, Review of Distributors Proposed Rates in ACS Charges, 2 June 2010 in this Revised Regulatory Proposal are references to its report reference - 'impaq final report - cp and pc confidential version (D2010-03621655).DOC' (Attachment 227 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal). ¹¹²⁶ AER, Draft Determination, p854.

¹¹²⁷ AER, Draft Determination, p855.

¹¹²⁸ AER, Draft Determination, p855.

¹¹²⁹ AER, Draft Determination, p855 and 863.

¹¹³⁰ AER, Draft Determination, p858.

the task and the times recommended by Impaq for similar tasks. The AER also applied Impaq's recommended labour rates, adjusted to include a 3 per cent profit margin.¹

19.3.2.4 Profit Margins

The AER referred to Impag's discussion on the profit margin for alternative control services. The AER noted that the profit margin within Impaq's recommended high case charge out rates was 8 per cent. It noted that Impaq had stated that:¹¹³²

'Alternative control services are not capital intensive and hence the application of the standard building blocks of Return of Capital and Return on Capital do not yield meaningful profit margins. However in similar service industries profit margins of 3% to 8% are common. Given the low risk nature of the revenue earned by the DNSPs for ACS services it is arguable that margins should be at the lower end of the range.'

The AER considered that the maximum allowable profit margin that should be applied to alternative control services is 3 per cent. Accordingly, the AER amended the Impag high case labour charge out rates by removing 5 per cent. The AER applied the adjusted ranges of labour charge out rates and Impag's recommended range of time inputs in a cost build up to determine a reasonable range of prices for each service.

The AER considered that it was inefficient for Powercor Australia to earn an additional margin on alternative control services when the DNSPs do not actually provide, nor add any identifiable value to, the services. Accordingly, the AER removed the additional margin applied by Powercor Australia to its alternative control service charges for 2011.¹¹³³

19.3.2.5 Labour and materials escalators

In determining prices for fee based alternative control services, the AER applied the labour and materials escalators it approved for standard control services set out in Appendix K of its Draft Determination.¹¹³⁴

19.3.2.6 Price path – fee based services

The AER found that Powercor Australia's proposed prices for reconnection and disconnection services and special meter reads increased significantly by between 77 per cent and 94 per cent over the forthcoming regulatory control period.¹¹³⁵

Powercor Australia had informed the AER that this was the result of a doubling of their service provider's contract rate for field site crew for these services. The AER considered that this price increase had not been adequately justified and requested Powercor Australia to provide a more detailed breakdown of their service provider's contract rates for 2010-15, including hourly labour rates, and a detailed breakdown of the activities being performed in the provision of each service.

¹¹³¹ AER, Draft Determination, p858.

¹¹³² Impaq, Review of Distributors Proposed Rates in ACS Charges, 2 June 2010, (Attachment 227 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal) p39.

¹¹³³ AER, Draft Determination, p861. ¹¹³⁴ AER, Draft Determination, p862.

¹¹³⁵ AER, Draft Determination, p862.

The AER said that in the absence of supporting information, it did not approve Powercor Australia's proposed prices for 2012-15 in the Draft Determination. It also considered that Powercor Australia's proposal for individual prices for each year of the forthcoming regulatory period was inconsistent with a price path based on a CPI-X control mechanism required by the Framework and Approach Paper. The AER asked Powercor Australia to submit price paths consistent with the Framework and Approach Paper for their fee based alternative control services. The AER considered that the price paths should incorporate the labour and materials escalators the AER approved for standard control services in Appendix K of its Draft Determination.

19.3.2.7 Changes to service classification

The AER asked Powercor Australia to provide the following information in respect of prices which Powercor Australia did not classify as alternative control services in its Initial Regulatory Proposal, but which the AER classified as fee based alternative control services in its Draft Determination:¹¹³⁶

- Reserve feeder service. Powercor Australia proposed this service as a negotiated service. The AER classified this service as an alternative control fee based service. The AER required Powercor Australia to propose a fee for this service.
- Re-test of type 5 and 6 meters service. Powercor Australia proposed this service as a standard control service. The AER classified this service as an alternative control fee based service. The AER required Powercor Australia to propose a fee for this service.

19.3.3 Powercor Australia's response to AER's Draft Determination

19.3.3.1 Powercor Australia's revised model

Powercor Australia submits that the AER should determine its prices for fee based and quote based alternative control services on the basis that Powercor Australia should be permitted to recover its efficient costs of providing alternative control services. Powercor Australia is not able to recover those costs on the basis of its existing charges or the charges proposed in the AER's Draft Determination.

Accordingly, Powercor Australia has made revisions to the alternative control services model used by the AER for the purposes of its Draft Determination¹¹³⁷ in order to facilitate recovery of its efficient costs of providing alternative control services. Powercor Australia provides its revised model as an attachment to this Revised Regulatory Proposal.¹¹³⁸

Powercor Australia's proposed charges for fee based alternative control services are set out in Appendix 9.1 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal.

The revisions made to the AER's alternative control service model are based on Powercor Australia's view that the AER's, and Impaq's, criticisms of the model which Powercor Australia provided to the AER on 3 March 2010 are incorrect in relation to following matters:

• profit margins;

¹¹³⁶ AER, Draft Determination, p864.

¹¹³⁷ Provided to Powercor Australia on 7 June 2010.

¹¹³⁸ Attachment 19 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal.

- contract rates; •
- labour rates for line workers; and •
- times required per activity.

The following sections describe where Powercor Australia considers the AER and Impag have made incorrect assumptions, why they have made an error, and what the correct assumptions should be.

Profit margins

In determining a profit margin of 3 per cent the AER relied on Impaq's Report and its statement that given the low risk nature of the revenue earned by the DNSPs for alternative control services, it is arguable that margins should be at the lower end of the range of 3 per cent to 8 per cent.¹¹³⁹

It is unreasonable for the AER to rely on Impaq's Report.

In determining the range of profit margins, Impaq stated that 'in similar service industries profit margins of from 3% to 8% are common'.¹¹⁴⁰ In support, Impag said:1141

'Some instances are: United Group Limited, which provides services across several industries including electricity, have historically achieved net profit margins of about 5%. Refer UGL annual reports. Norfolk (which includes O'Donnel Griffin electrical contracting) has an EBIT margin of 3% in recent years. Downer EDI 5%, Leightons 7.5%.

Impaq quoted Norfolk to have an EBIT margin of 3 per cent. However, a Norfolk presentation of its financial results for the year ended 31 March 2010 dated 26 May 2010 shows that the Electrical & Communications Division of Norfolk had an EBIT profit margin of 5.7 per cent in 2009 and 5.8 per cent in 2010.¹¹⁴² Powercor Australia observes that this profit margin is more closely aligned with the profit margins for Downer EDI and Leightons referred to by Impaq.

Powercor Australia proposes that the AER should use Norfolk's Electrical & Communications Division's EBIT profit margin of 5.7 per cent as an appropriate margin for the purposes of its Final Determination. Powercor Australia has revised the AER's alternative control model to include a profit margin of 5.7 per cent.

In addition to the amount of the AER's profit margin, Powercor Australia asserts that the AER's methodology for calculating the adjustment to the labour rate to account for the profit margin is erroneous and causes the labour rate to be lower than it should otherwise be. The AER calculated this adjustment as:

 $84.00 - (84.00 \times 0.05) = 79.80$

The AER adjusted the labour rate by subtracting 5 per cent of the final rate therefore overstating the profit margin and reducing the labour rate by more than it should have.

¹¹³⁹ AER Draft Determination, p852.

¹¹⁴⁰ Impaq, Review of Distributors Proposed Rates in ACS Charges, 2 June 2010, (Attachment 227 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p38. ¹¹⁴¹ Impaq, Review of Distributors Proposed Rates in ACS Charges, 2 June 2010, (Attachment 227 to this Revised

Regulatory Proposal), p38, footnote 17.

¹¹⁴² Norfolk, Financial Results for the Year Ended 31 March 2010, presentation dated 26 May 2010, (Attachment 229 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p15.

Instead, on the basis of the AER's profit margin of 3 per cent, the AER should have calculated the adjustment to the labour rate as follows:

• $\$84.00 \div 1.08 \times 1.03 = \80.11

However, Powercor Australia asserts that the correct profit should be 5.7 per cent and therefore the correct adjustment to the labour rate the AER used should be:

• $\$84.00 \div 1.08 \times 1.057 = \82.21

Contract rates

The AER did not consider the escalation of the service provider's contract rates over 2012-15 for reconnection, disconnection and special meter read services was sufficiently justified.¹¹⁴³ It requested Powercor Australia to provide a more detailed breakdown of their service provider's contract rates for 2010-15, including hourly labour rates, and a detailed breakdown of the activities being performed in the provision of each service.

In response, Powercor Australia provides the AER with the CHED Services Conditions of Contract for the Supply of Cyclic Field and Special Meter Reading Services as an attachment to this Revised Regulatory Proposal.¹¹⁴⁴ Schedule 3 of the contract with the service provider, AMRS, states that both *'parties agree to negotiate pricing, in good faith and review the Advanced Metering Infrastructure rollout impact as volumes decrease significantly'*.¹¹⁴⁵

A presentation prepared by AMRS in October 2009 discusses the uncertainty associated with the impact of the AMI rollout and proposes the following rate increases based on expected volume reduction.¹¹⁴⁶

Year	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015
Rate increase	20%	50%	100%	100%	100%

Table 19.1 AMRS rate increases

This shows that Powercor Australia's escalation of the service providers rates over 2012-15 is justified. Powercor Australia has revised the AER's alternative control services model to escalate service providers rates in the manner proposed in the model it provided to the AER on 3 March 2010.¹¹⁴⁷

Labour rates for line workers

In determining the labour rate for line workers to apply to Powercor Australia's fee based alternative control services and quote based alternative control services, the AER relied on Impaq's Report.

¹¹⁴³ AER, Draft Determination, p855.

 ¹¹⁴⁴ CHED Services Contract with AMRS for the Supply of Cyclic Field and Special Meter Reading Services (Attachment 231 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal).
 ¹¹⁴⁵ CHED Services Contract with AMRS for the Supply of Cyclic Field and Special Meter Reading Services,

 ¹¹⁴⁵ CHED Services Contract with AMRS for the Supply of Cyclic Field and Special Meter Reading Services, (Attachment 231 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p59.
 ¹¹⁴⁶ Servicestream, Presentation - Working Together CitiPower/Powercor Contract Variations October 2009,

 ¹¹⁴⁶ Servicestream, Presentation - Working Together CitiPower/Powercor Contract Variations October 2009, (Attachment 239 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p8.
 ¹¹⁴⁷ See CitiPower's revised model for alternative control services (Attachment 19 to this Revised Regulatory

¹¹⁴⁷ See CitiPower's revised model for alternative control services (Attachment 19 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal.

Powercor Australia submits that Impaq's Report cannot be relied upon to determine the labour rates for line workers because Impaq's methodology for determining the labour rates in its report is erroneous.

In the model it provided to the AER on 3 March 2010, Powercor Australia provided fully cost absorbed labour rates (\$2010) of \$112.76 per hour (business hours) and \$123.99 (after hours) exclusive of margin. Powercor Australia's labour rate inputs were generated using contractor costs.

Impaq's view of the labour rate for line workers was determined by:¹¹⁴⁸

- applying a bottom up build for labour rates which involved calculating a chargeout rate based on wage rates, available hours, on-costs, overheads and a profit margin;
- comparing the labour rates provided by Powercor Australia, CitiPower and Jemena in their regulatory proposals to rates published by ETSA, Country Energy and Energy Australia, rates included in DNSP's submissions for other distribution price determinations and the AER's Energy Australia Draft Distribution Determination 2009-10 to 2013-14 Alternative Control (public lighting) services; and
- considering benchmarked rates from the National Electrical and Communications Association.

In determining the wage rates for line workers to input into its bottom up build, Impaq had regard to salaries advertised in job advertisements across several states on Seek, MyCareer, Jobseeker and Career One.¹¹⁴⁹ The advertised salaries cannot give a reliable indication of the actual salary because the advertised salary is merely an offered rate. It does not represent the rate accepted by the job applicant which is likely to be higher following negotiations with the employer. Additionally Impaq's references to advertised salaries cannot be substantiated by evidence and therefore does not give Powercor Australia an opportunity to verify Impaq's conclusions.

Impaq also had regard to Hays' salary survey for 2009.¹¹⁵⁰ Again, this is not an appropriate comparator. Impaq's review of Hays' salary survey made assumptions about the category of employee and the business sector in which they worked. Consequently Impaq considered salaries ranging from \$60,000 to \$70,000 in the manufacturing and operations sector as appropriate. The businesses categorised as 'manufacturing and operations' cover a broad range of business types and are therefore not directly comparable to Powercor Australia. Further, Hays' salary survey specifically states that '*[s]ome niche markets however continue to see positive growth, in particular ...utilities*'¹¹⁵¹ indicating salaries in this sector are higher than the average.

¹¹⁴⁸ AER, Draft Determination, p3.

 ¹¹⁴⁹ Impaq, Review of Distributors Proposed Rates in ACS Charges, 2 June 2010, (Attachment 227 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p34.
 ¹¹⁵⁰ Impaq, Review of Distributors Proposed Rates in ACS Charges, 2 June 2010, (Attachment 227 to this Revised

¹¹⁵⁰ Impaq, Review of Distributors Proposed Rates in ACS Charges, 2 June 2010, (Attachment 227 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p35.

¹¹⁵¹ Extract from Hays' salary survey 2009, *Sector Commentary, Manufactoring & Ops*, (Attachment 235 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p118.

Hays has released a salary guide specific towards distribution businesses that reports salaries in the range of \$70,000 to \$85,000 for electricians in Victoria, which is well above that which Impaq have reported.¹¹⁵²

In determining the available hours component of its bottom up build, Impaq made the following incorrect assumptions:¹¹⁵³

- it incorrectly assumed a 7.5 hour work day. The number of hours mandated by the CEPU Workplace Agreement is 7.2 hours per day (36 hours per week) and a 36 hour week is common to Victorian DNSPs;¹¹⁵⁴
- it incorrectly assumed 10 public holidays in 2010. There were actually 11 public holidays in Victoria in 2010. There were 12 public holidays for Powercor Australia under its CEPU work agreement; and
- it does not include non-chargeable time, for example:
 - Training;
 - Work group meetings;
 - OHS meetings for representatives;
 - Union meetings;
 - Jury service.

In making the comparison between Powercor Australia's proposed rates and the rates for interstate distribution businesses¹¹⁵⁵, Impaq failed to account for different cost allocation methods used by the distribution businesses. Different distribution businesses have different methods for allocating costs between their different services. For example, some distribution businesses apportion costs and overheads to standard control which may be properly classified as relating to alternative control services. It is probable that the difference between the labour rate proposed by Powercor Australia and the labour rate proposed by other distribution businesses can be explained by different cost allocation methods.

Further, in making this comparison Impaq used an incorrect labour rate for ETSA and inappropriate labour rates for Country Energy and Energy Australia. Impaq used a labour rate for ETSA of \$84 which was purportedly taken from its Standard Fees publication.¹¹⁵⁶ This figure is incorrect. Rather, ETSA's 'Network Tariff and Negotiated Services, June 2010' publication reveals a labour rate of \$100 for comparable services.¹¹⁵⁷ Impaq used Country Energy's and Energy Australia's labour rates for their miscellaneous services effective 1 July 2009.¹¹⁵⁸ These labour rates are not comparable with Powercor Australia's labour rate because Powercor Australia's

¹¹⁵² Hays, *Hays Salary Guide* 2010, (Attachment 237 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p121.

¹¹⁵³ Impaq, Review of Distributors Proposed Rates in ACS Charges, 2 June 2010, (Attachment 227 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p37.

¹¹⁵⁴ Powercor Australia (CEPU) Workplace Agreement 2007 (Attachment P0037 to the Initial Regulatory Proposal). ¹¹⁵⁵ Impaq, Review of Distributors Proposed Rates in ACS Charges, 2 June 2010, (Attachment 227 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p45 and 49.

Regulatory Proposal), p45 and 49. ¹¹⁵⁶ Impaq, Review of Distributors Proposed Rates in ACS Charges, 2 June 2010, (Attachment 227 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p40.

Regulatory Proposal), p40. ¹¹⁵⁷ ETSA, *Network Tariff & Negotiated Services*, June 2010, (Attachment 236 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal) p63.

p63. ¹¹⁵⁸ Impaq, Review of Distributors Proposed Rates in ACS Charges, 2 June 2010, (Attachment 227 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), pp40-1.

labour rates are effective in mid 2010 and therefore there is a one and a half year lag in Country Energy's and Energy Australia's real labour rates. In addition, the labour rates for Country Energy and Energy Australia relied on by Impaq are not for line worker labour, but rather are for a different class of labour (Inspector R2b) and therefore are not comparable. Further, in response to an enquiry from Powercor Australia, Energy Australia has advised that the rate in question was not necessarily reflective of costs to undertake the prescribed activities.

Accordingly, the AER cannot rely on Impaq's Report in determining the labour rate for line service workers. Powercor Australia submits that the AER should accept the labour rates (\$2010) of \$112.76 per hour (business hours) and \$123.99 (after hours) which were included in the model Powercor Australia provided to the AER on 3 March 2010. Accordingly, Powercor Australia has included these labour rates in its revised alternative control services model.

Time required per activity

The AER relied on Impaq's Report in determining the times in which the various components of each service could be expected to perform. As noted above, it decided that where Impaq had found Powercor Australia's times to be outside a reasonable range, it was appropriate to apply the highest point of Impaq's recommended times for services.

Powercor Australia submits that the AER cannot reasonably rely on Impaq's time estimates or comments in respect of Powercor Australia's time estimates. Impaq's time estimates and comments are not supported by any evidence.

Accordingly the AER should use the times taken to perform services provided in Powercor Australia's revised alternative control services model as described below. Unlike Impaq's time estimates which are completely unsubstantiated those times are supported by Powercor Australia's actual operations.

Powercor Australia responds below to Impaq's comments in respect of the following times to perform services in section 8 of its Report:¹¹⁵⁹

- field officer visits special reads BH (service number 1 in Impaq's table);
- service vehicle visit BH and AH (service numbers 7 and 8 in Impaq's table); and
- field staff times for meter equipment tests (service numbers 11-18 in Impaq's table).

Field Officer Visits Special Reads BH

In respect of field officer visits special reads, Impaq considered in section 8 of its Report (service 1 in its table) that the back office times '*should be an automated B2B* service not requiring manual intervention expect in rare circumstances'. Impaq then proposed a maximum time of 0.03 hours. Powercor Australia has reviewed its time in line with actual reported information and considers that Jemena's allocation of 0.042^{1160} is more in line with Powercor Australia's actual time allocation than the

¹¹⁵⁹ Impaq, Review of Distributors Proposed Rates in ACS Charges, 2 June 2010, (Attachment 227 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), pp51-4.

¹¹⁶⁰ Impaq, Review of Distributors Proposed Rates in ACS Charges, 2 June 2010, (Attachment 227 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p51, service 1.

unsupported estimate provided by Impaq. Accordingly, Powercor Australia has used this time in its revised alternative control services model.

Service vehicle visits BH and AH

In respect of service vehicle visits, Impaq considered in section 8 of its Report (services 7 and 8 in its table) that:¹¹⁶¹

- back office times appear excessive;
- field staff times appear excessive; and
- scheduling team time looks too high.

In respect of back office time for 'service visit BH & AH, Impaq stated that:¹¹⁶² 'These back office times appear excessive as this is just about booking a truck to come to the customers site, then doing a wrap up on the job when completed. It would have been expected that 0.3 hours would be adequate.' Powercor Australia's back office times have been obtained from its actual reported information. The tasks identified for each service were timed using a stopwatch. Accordingly, these times should be preferred to any unsubstantiated times provided by Impaq in its Report.

In respect of field staff time for 'service vehicle visit BH & AH', Impaq said that¹¹⁶³ '*CitiPower have assumed a travel time of 45 min which seems excessive as a travel time between jobs. It would be expected that this would be more like 20 mins. Total travel time here would be expected to be about 2.7 hours - 1 hour on site for crew of 2 plus 20 min travelling time for crew of 2'.*

In the model which Powercor Australia provided to the AER on 3 March 2010 and its revised alternative control services model, Powercor Australia has used a travel time of 40 mins for service visits. This is supported by confirmed travel times in its project management orders compared to the number of jobs completed over the years. Data from the years 2005-07 was used for the model Powercor Australia provided the AER on 3 March 2010. This data shows that the average travel times per job for each of the years 2005-07 were those as set out in the following table:

Year	Total Number of Jobs	Total Manhours for Travel	Average Travel time per job
2007	19,310	14,188	44mins (14,188/19,310x60)
2006	23,711	17,666	45mins (17,666/23,711x60)
2005	22,903	16,528	43mins (16,528/22,903x60)

Table 19.2 Powercor Australia's Travel Time Data 2006-07

¹¹⁶¹ Impaq, Review of Distributors Proposed Rates in ACS Charges, 2 June 2010, (Attachment 227 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p51.

¹¹⁶² Impaq, Review of Distributors Proposed Rates in ACS Charges, 2 June 2010, (Attachment 227 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p51.

¹¹⁶³ Impaq, Review of Distributors Proposed Rates in ACS Charges, 2 June 2010, (Attachment 227 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p51.

The source spreadsheets for these travel times are provided as an attachment to this Revised Regulatory Proposal.¹¹⁶⁴

In respect of scheduling team time for 'service visits BH and AH', Impaq stated that¹¹⁶⁵ 'these times together with the back office times look too high. To allow 15 min to 20 min to schedule a truck visit seems high. 5 min would be more reasonable'.

Powercor Australia's proposed times are supported through time confirmations within its job tracking software (SAP).¹¹⁶⁶

Field staff times for meter testing

In respect of field staff time for 'meter equipment test – single phase BH&AH' and 'meter equipment test – multi phase BH&AH' (items 11, 12, 14 & 15 in Impaq's Report), Impaq said that¹¹⁶⁷ '*Back office times for PC/PC seem excessive. This is just to receive the request from B2B service order and schedule the testing then report results. It is expected that this should be less than 25min'. Powercor Australia's back office times have been obtained from its internal records. The tasks listed for each service were timed using a stopwatch. Accordingly, these times should be preferred to any unsubstantiated times provided by Impaq in its Report. Accordingly, Powercor Australia has used the times proposed in the model it provided to the AER on 3 March 2010 in its revised alternative control services model.*

In respect of field staff time for 'meter equipment test – single phase BH&AH' (items 9 and 10 in Impaq's Report), Impaq said that¹¹⁶⁸ '*Testing times seem excessive. Eg: Isolating supply at 10 min is excessive for just having to pull the service fuse. Eg. Allowance of 45 min to test meter is excessive. Overall times could be reduced by about 50%.*'.

Powercor Australia observes that part of the process of isolating supply is job preparation and safety assessment. The safety assessment is undertaken using Powercor Australia's Specialist Metering Check List.¹¹⁶⁹ Once all site safety issues have been considered, there are three areas of isolation: (i) fuse on the meter board (one stick required); (ii) fuse at overhead service connection; and (iii) fuse at overhead service connection (multiple sticks required). Sticks are secured on the vehicle and need to be obtained and taken to the isolation point. Powercor Australia confirms that the time taken to perform the task of isolating supply is 10 minutes.

The times to test a meter which Powercor Australia provided were built up around an average of dial tests for mechanical meters, electronic meters and interval meters.

• The time allocation for a dial test for a mechanical meter is 20 minutes. At least 1Kwh needs to be recorded on the meter register;

 ¹¹⁶⁴ Source spreadsheets for Powercor Australia's travel times (three worksheets for 2005, 2006 and 2007) (Attachment 228 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal).
 ¹¹⁶⁵ Impaq, Review of Distributors Proposed Rates in ACS Charges, 2 June 2010, (Attachment 227 to this Revised

 ¹¹⁶⁵ Impaq, Review of Distributors Proposed Rates in ACS Charges, 2 June 2010, (Attachment 227 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p51.
 ¹¹⁶⁶ SAP stands for Systems Analysis and Program and is business management software used by Powercor

 ¹¹⁶⁶ SAP stands for Systems Analysis and Program and is business management software used by Powercor Australia.
 ¹¹⁶⁷ Impaq, Review of Distributors Proposed Rates in ACS Charges, 2 June 2010, (Attachment 227 to this Revised

 ¹¹⁶⁷ Impaq, Review of Distributors Proposed Rates in ACS Charges, 2 June 2010, (Attachment 227 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p52.
 ¹¹⁶⁸ Impaq, Review of Distributors Proposed Rates in ACS Charges, 2 June 2010, (Attachment 227 to this Revised

¹¹⁶⁸ Impaq, Review of Distributors Proposed Rates in ACS Charges, 2 June 2010, (Attachment 227 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p52.

¹¹⁶⁹ Powercor Australia's Specialist Metering Checklist (Attachment 240 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal)

- The time allocation for electronic meters is 20 minutes. There are multiple registers (ie Peak and Off Peak) to consider.
- The time allocation for an interval meter is 35 minutes. One full 30 minute interval needs to be compared with the meter registers. Further software is required to download meter interval data after the dial test period and compare it to actual readings on meter registers.

The time calculation in the following table is based on averaging out the number of mechanical meters, electronic meters and interval meters.

Test	Time taken to perform test	
Registration Test AV	12 minutes	
Remove Customer Load/s	2 minutes	
Creep Test	5 minutes	
Light Load Test	5 minutes	
Light Load Test 0.5pf	7 minutes	
Full Load Test	2 minutes	
Full load test 0.5pf	4 minutes	
Temperature & Voltage tests	2 minutes	
Reconnect Customer Load/s	2 minutes	
Total time	41 minutes	

Table 19.3 Time taken to perform meter equipment test – single phase BH & AH

Powercor Australia has used these times in its revised alternative control services model.

In respect of field staff time for 'meter equipment test – single phase – each additional meter' and 'meter equipment test – multiphase – each additional meter' (service number 13 & 16 in the table in Impaq's Report), Impaq states that:¹¹⁷⁰ '*This time includes all activities as if it were the only meter being tested. This should be reduced to no more than 25 min.*'

The meters are tested in series, not in parallel. Additionally the time allocated is specific to the type of meter being tested. The activities involved and the times taken for this test are set out in the following tables:

¹¹⁷⁰ Impaq, Review of Distributors Proposed Rates in ACS Charges, 2 June 2010, (Attachment 227 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p52.

Test	Time taken to perform test	
Connect Test Set	10 minutes	
Perform Test	41 minutes	
Disconnect Supply/Test Set	10 minutes	
Reconnect Supply	5 minutes	
Total time	66 minutes	

Table 19.4 Time taken to perform meter equipment test - single phase each additional meter

Test	Time taken to perform test	
Connect Test Set	10 minutes	
Perform Test	90 minutes	
Disconnect Supply/Test Set	10 minutes	
Reconnect Supply	5 minutes	
Total time	115 minutes	

Table 19.5 Time taken to perform meter equipment test -multi phase each additional meter

Powercor Australia has used these times in its revised alternative control services model.

In respect of field staff time for meter equipment test – current transformer multi phase BH & AH (services number 15 and 16 in Impaq's Report), Impaq states that:¹¹⁷¹ '*Testing a CT connected meter is more complicated however the times proposed by CP/PC seem excessive*'.

Powercor Australia observes that a current transformer (current transformer) meter is connected to instrument transformers via a 'wiring loom'. As well as performing the meter test the following tests/checks also need to be undertaken to confirm that all metering components are operating correctly.

Test/check	Description of test/check		
Metering/current transformer circuit burden test	The current transformer terminal voltage and current is measured to enable a connected burden in Ohms calculation to be undertaken in order to ensure the current transformer is operating within its connected burden specification.		

¹¹⁷¹ Impaq, Review of Distributors Proposed Rates in ACS Charges, 2 June 2010, (Attachment 227 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p52.

Admittance testing (condition monitoring) of current transformers	An admittance tester is used to check the current transformer's admittance value. This value is compared to the previous admittance test results to determine if the current transformer has 'changed state', which may affect its accuracy.
Current transformer ratio comparison checks	All current transformers are based on a ratio of a primary to secondary value. For example, if a current transformer is rated at 200/5, a ratio of 40 is applied to the secondary readings to determine the primary readings for KWh usage.
Primary to secondary and maximum demand tests	The primary currents and secondary currents are checked to ensure correct ratio and output of current transformers. The maximum demand of the installation is calculated over a 30 minute period to compare with a 30 minute interval maximum demand reading recorded by the current transformer meter.
Individual phase voltage and current tests	Each phase voltage and current is checked to ensure current transformers are not overloaded.
confirming individual phase voltage and phase current relationship	Phase voltages and currents are checked to ensure phase currents and voltages are correctly associated in order to ensure the correct operation of the meter.

Table 19.6 Meter tests/checks

Given the tests/checks that are required to be undertaken, the time proposed by Powercor Australia is not excessive. Accordingly, Powercor Australia has used the times proposed in the model it provided to the AER on 3 March 2010 in its revised alternative control services model.

19.3.3.2 Price path fee based services

The AER has asked Powercor Australia to submit price paths consistent with the Framework and Approach Paper for its fee based alternative control services. The AER considered that the price paths should incorporate the labour and materials escalators the AER approved for standard control services in Appendix K of its Draft Determination¹¹⁷². However, for the reasons set out in Chapter 8 of this Revised Regulatory Proposal, Powercor Australia asserts that the appropriate labour and materials escalators are those set out in Chapter 8.

Powercor Australia has determined an X factor for fee based services by applying the weighted average real labour and material escalators in Chapter 8 of this Revised Regulatory Proposal and expected real contract rate increase over the 2012-15 period for all fee based alternative control services. These X factors are set out in the following table.

¹¹⁷² AER, Draft Determination, p863.

Year	2012	2013	2014	2015
X factor	(41.6)%	(29.4)%	(0.2)%	(0.1)%

 Table 19.7 X factor for fee based connection services (real)

Year	2012	2013	2014	2015
X factor	(1.6)%	(1.9)%	(2.0)%	(0.8)%

Table 19.8 X factor for other fee based services (real)

19.3.3.3 Changes to service classification

The AER asked Powercor Australia to provide information in respect of prices for services which Powercor Australia did not classify as alternative control services in its Initial Regulatory Proposal, but which the AER classified as alternative control services.¹¹⁷³

Using the approach to determining alternative control charges proposed by Powercor Australia in this Revised Regulatory Proposal, Powercor Australia has proposed fees for the re-test of type 5 and 6 meters service and reserve feeder services in the forthcoming regulatory control period in Appendix 19.1 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal.

19.4 Quote Based Services

19.4.1 Powercor Australia's Initial Regulatory Proposal

In Chapter 23 of its Initial Regulatory Proposal, Powercor Australia described its charging methodology for quoted alternative control services in the next regulatory control period and the application of the control mechanism for quoted services.¹¹⁷⁴

It stated that it intended to continue to apply its current methodology for developing its charges for quoted alternative control services in the next regulatory control period. This method involves recovering the costs of both labour and materials. Unlike the charges for fee based services, the charges for quoted alternative services are developed on a case by case basis in order to meet the specific needs of the customer.

Powercor Australia quantified its labour costs for each quoted service by specifying the relevant labour rate for the skill set involved. To the extent materials are involved, Powercor Australia considered that they would be charged at cost.

Section 3.7.8 of the AER's Framework and Approach paper provides that a price cap form of control will apply to quoted services in the next regulatory control period. This involves:

¹¹⁷³ AER, Draft Determination, p864.

¹¹⁷⁴ Initial Regulatory Proposal, pp386-93.

- setting price caps for each quoted based service for the first year of the next • regulatory control period based on either a 'bottom up' or 'top down' approach; and
- determining a price path for the price caps on a CPI-X basis for years two to five of the next regulatory control period.

Powercor Australia applied the AER's control mechanism for quoted services by:

- determining the price caps that are to apply to the labour rates that it would use to determine its charges for quoted services; and
- applying a CPI-X adjustment to the labour rates for years two to five of the next regulatory control period.

19.4.2 AER's Draft Determination

19.4.2.1 Materials

The AER considered that customer prices for materials for quoted services should be set at the cost of the materials to DNSPs.¹¹⁷⁵

19.4.2.2 Labour rates

The AER observed that in comparing Powercor Australia's proposed quoted services labour rates to the charge out rates for line workers, Impaq found Powercor Australia's labour rates to be above the reasonable range.¹¹⁷⁶ Consistent with its approach to fee based services, the AER considered a reasonable hourly rate for Powercor Australia's quoted services was the highest point of Impaq's recommended range of labour rates, adjusted to include a 3 per cent profit margin.

Since the AER classified the covering of low voltage mains as a quoted service, it required Powercor Australia to provide labour costs for this service in its Revised Regulatory Proposal.

19.4.2.3 Changes to service classification

The AER asked Powercor Australia to provide an hourly labour rate for the audit design service being a service which Powercor Australia proposed as standard control in its Initial Regulatory Proposal, however the AER classified as a quoted alternative control service in its Draft Determination.¹¹⁷⁷

19.4.2.4 Labour escalation

The AER approved the escalation of quoted services labour rates by the outsourced labour escalation rates it approved for Powercor Australia's standard control services set out in Appendix K of its Draft Determination.¹¹⁷⁸

19.4.2.5 Price path – quoted services

The AER observed that Powercor Australia proposed its 2011 labour rate be escalated by the BIS Shrapnel labour escalator, plus CPI over the forthcoming regulatory

¹¹⁷⁵ AER, Draft Determination, p891.

¹¹⁷⁶ AER, Draft Determination, p891. ¹¹⁷⁷ AER, Draft Determination, p864.

¹¹⁷⁸ AER, Draft Determination, p892.

period.¹¹⁷⁹ The AER agreed that it was appropriate to escalate the approved 2011 labour rates for quoted services for years 2012-15, however, it did not consider it appropriate to escalate the labour rate by CPI in addition to the labour escalator. The AER approved escalation of the quoted services labour rates by the outsourced labour rates it approved for Powercor Australia's standard control services.

19.4.3 Powercor Australia's Response to AER's Draft Determination

19.4.3.1 Powercor Australia's proposed labour rates

Powercor Australia submits that the AER should determine a labour rate for its quoted alternative control services such that Powercor Australia is permitted to recover its efficient costs of providing those services. Powercor Australia is not able to recover those costs on the basis of its existing charges or the charges proposed in the AER's Draft Determination.

Powercor Australia's critique of the labour rate recommended by Impaq in the fee based alternative control services section of this Chapter applies equally to the labour rate for quoted services as for fee based services.

The AER has acknowledged that the actual costs of Victorian DNSPs relative to non-Victorian DNSPs are efficient.¹¹⁸⁰ Accordingly, the AER should accept the labour rates for quoted alternative control services proposed in this Revised Regulatory Proposal which will assist Powercor Australia to recover the efficient costs of providing quoted alternative control services.

Powercor Australia provides the quoted services set out in the following table.

Quoted Services provided by Powercor Australia				
Covering LV Mains - service cable				
Covering LV Mains - all wire cable				
Covering LV Mains - scope only				
Audit design and construction				
Specification and design enquiry				
Elective Underground (where overhead service exists)				
Recoverable works BH				
Damage to overhead service cables caused by high load vehicles – single phase				
Damage to overhead service cables caused by high load vehicles – multi phase				
High Load escort				

Table 19.9 Quoted services provided by Powercor Australia

In this Revised Regulatory Proposal, Powercor Australia proposes the following labour rates for its quoted services.

¹¹⁷⁹ AER, Draft Determination, p892.

¹¹⁸⁰ AER, Draft Determination, p902.

Quoted Alternative Control Services	2011 \$'s per hour per person (real \$2010 ex GST)	
General line worker - business hours	\$112.11	
General line worker - after hours	\$123.28	
Design/survey - business hours	\$120.31	
Design/survey - after hours	\$135.50	
Administration	\$45.34	

Table 19.10 Labour rates for quoted services provided by Powercor Australia

As noted above, in its Draft Determination the AER asked Powercor Australia to provide an hourly labour rate for the audit design service being a service which Powercor Australia proposed as standard control in its Initial Regulatory Proposal, however the AER classified as a quoted alternative control service in its Draft Determination. Powercor Australia proposes that the above hourly labour rates for design/survey will apply to this service.

These proposed labour rates for quoted services are also set out in Appendix 9.1 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal.

19.4.3.2 Price path – quoted services

Powercor Australia observes that the services provided as quoted services consist wholly of labour and materials. Powercor Australia agrees with the AER's decision that customer prices for materials for quoted services should be set at the cost of the materials to Powercor Australia.¹¹⁸¹ Powercor Australia considers that it is appropriate to apply to the labour component of quoted services X factors consistent with the real labour escalator proposed by it in Chapter 8 of this Revised Regulatory Proposal.

The appropriate X factors are set out in the following table.

Description	2012	2013	2014	2015
Quoted Services	(5.0)%	(4.6)%	(4.0)%	(3.6)%

 Table 19.11 X factors for quoted services (real)

19.5 Public lighting services

19.5.1 Powercor Australia's Initial Regulatory Proposal

In Chapter 23 of its Initial Regulatory Proposal, Powercor Australia described its charging methodology for public lighting services in the next regulatory control period and the application of the control mechanism to public lighting services.¹¹⁸²

Section 3.7.8 of the AER's Framework and Approach Paper provides that a price cap form of control will apply to the public lighting services in the next regulatory control

¹¹⁸¹ AER, Draft Determination, p891.

¹¹⁸² Initial Regulatory Proposal, pp368-75.

period. It states that 'the price cap for the operation, repair, replacement and maintenance of public lighting assets will be established based on a limited building block approach, where DNSPs will be required to forecast their opex and capex for public lighting services over the regulatory control period'.

Powercor Australia's methodology for developing its charges for public lighting services in the next regulatory control period involves applying the limited building block approach reflected in the AER's public lighting model.

Powercor Australia applied the limited building block approach as reflected in the AER's public lighting model making the following adjustments to the mode inputs:

- escalation factors Powercor Australia adopted input escalation at rates consistent with the standard control services, as set out in its Initial Regulatory Proposal. Additionally a nominal CPI price escalation was applied using the same assumptions as used for standard control services;
- initial labour rates Powercor Australia used labour rates consistent with those applied to standard control services;
- real pre-tax WACC Powercor Australia used a WACC consistent with that applied to standard control services;
- hours per day consistent with current award conditions, Powercor Australia amended the number of hours per day from $8^{1}/_{3}$ hours to 8 hours. Consequently, the amount of work completed per day was scaled back by four per cent. This includes:
 - number of bulk lamp changes in 1 day;
 - number of repairs in 1 day;
 - pole inspection rate (per day);
 - number of poles & brackets replaced per day; and
 - number of brackets replaced per day.
- proportion of luminaires that fail between bulk changes consistent with earlier submissions, the T5-14 light type had the proportion of luminaires that fail between bulk change amended to 18.5 per cent;
- T5 unit cost luminaire the default price per luminaire is \$193 (\$2010). This price was obtained from the MAV based on a mass roll out across the whole state.¹¹⁸³ Operation, repair, replacement and maintenance services however are more sporadic and, therefore Powercor Australia will not be able to negotiate such a bulk supply discount. As a substitute Powercor Australia used a previous quote of \$215 (\$2010) as a cost input;
- traffic control costs Powercor Australia determined that the traffic control costs were \$9.61 (\$2010) per light for bulk replacement activities and likely to be higher for fault activities;
- dedicated street lighting poles cost of pole and bracket Powercor Australia determined that the unit costs of these activities were \$3,125 (\$2010);

¹¹⁸³ Quotation from the MAV for T5 public lighting (Attachment 234 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal).

- patrol costs Powercor Australia observed that costs have been amended to \$25 per hour (\$2010) to reflect the current contract prices; and
- *existing light prices* Powercor Australia provided with its Initial Regulatory Proposal, the public lighting OM&R rates submitted for approval to the AER on 17 November 2009. At the time of submitting its Initial Regulatory Proposal, those rates had not been approved by the AER.

Powercor Australia proposed a labour rate (normal hours) of \$78.12 for 2010 which was derived by taking the AER's approved labour rate of \$71.41 in the Public Lighting Decision and applying the wage rate escalators of 4.55 per cent and 5.64 per cent in 2009 and 2010 respectively. These wage rate increases were based on the weighted average of the approved growth rates for the Electrical Trades Union and the Association of Professional Engineers, Scientists and Managers Australia.¹¹⁸⁴

Powercor Australia proposed a labour rate for night patrols (after hours) which had a 15 per cent loading on the labour rate for normal hours.

Powercor Australia proposed to continue its current practice of differentiating charges to customers for its public lighting services based on:

- the type of public lighting; and
- the wattage of the lighting.

On 4 March 2010 Powercor Australia provided the AER with updated information concerning public lighting.

19.5.2 AER's Draft Determination

19.5.2.1 Labour rates

The AER decided that the labour rates which it published in its Public Lighting Decision were fair and reasonable.¹¹⁸⁵ Those labour rates were \$71.41 per hour for normal hours and \$82.12 per hour for after hours work.

The AER engaged Impaq to review the labour costs for all alternative control services and to report on the reasonableness of the Victorian DNSPs proposed hourly labour rates for public lighting services. Impaq recommended the hourly charge out rate for public lighting should be limited to the range of \$57 to \$74 per hour.¹¹⁸⁶

The AER decided that it was persuaded by Impaq's recommendations. It also gave weight to the rates established in the Public Lighting Decision and calculated a low case and high case labour rate to account for variations in charge out rates between the Victorian DNSPs. It decided to accept labour rates for 2010 of:

- \$71.41 per hour for normal hours; and
- \$82.12 per hour for after hours (night patrol).

The AER applied the labour cost escalators in its assessment and Draft Determination on labour escalators for standard control services for outsourced labour to the 2010

¹¹⁸⁴ Powercor Australia's public lighting model (March 2010).

¹¹⁸⁵ AER, Draft Determination, p802.

¹¹⁸⁶ Impaq, Review of Distributors Proposed Rates in ACS Charges, 2 June 2010, (Attachment 227 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal) p46.

labour rates in its draft decision on public lighting OMR charges for each year of the regulatory control period.

19.5.2.2 Materials escalators

The AER applied the materials cost escalation for steel to the 2010 unit cost of poles and brackets on non-dedicated poles to derive unit costs for each year of the forthcoming regulatory control period.¹¹⁸⁷ However, it did not apply a materials cost escalator for other materials used for public lighting such as the various components with the luminaire (e.g. ballast, photo-electric cells and lamps). This was because it decided that those materials had no comparable material escalator that the AER considered appropriate to apply.

19.5.2.3 Traffic management costs

The AER said that it was of the view that Victorian DNSPs would incur expenditure associated with complying with the *Road Management Act 2004 (Vic)*.¹¹⁸⁸ However, the wide disparity in proposed costs suggested that the forecasts may not be reflective of the efficient costs for providing public lighting services.

The AER evaluated the Victorian DNSP's forecast expenditure by comparing the relative size of each DNSP to provide benchmarks for assessment of the expenditure. Since Powercor Australia and SPAustNet are both predominately rural DNSPs the AER took SP AusNet's forecast traffic management costs for each major light type and applied these costs to Powercor Australia, adjusted by a factor of 2.26 to reflect the larger forecast number of lights in Powercor Australia's area.

19.5.2.4 Geographical information system costs

The AER accepted the Victorian DNSPs proposal of \$100,000 in annual Geographical Information System costs.

19.5.2.5 Transitional price smoothing adjustment

The AER accepted Powercor Australia's proposed transitional adjustment price smoothing factor of 20 per cent in each year of the forthcoming regulatory control period.

19.5.2.6 Failure rates of T5 lights between bulk changes

The AER determined that the failure rate for the percentage of T5 energy efficient lights forecast to fail between bulk changes in the forthcoming regulatory period should be the rate of 11.2 established in its Public Lighting Decision.

19.5.2.7 Proposed costs of poles and brackets

The AER rejected Powercor Australia's proposed pole and bracket costs of \$3,125 on the basis that it was substantially above the cost of \$500 taken from the ESCV, *Review of Public Lighting Excluded Service Charges*, Final Decision, August 2004 and

¹¹⁸⁷ AER, Draft Determination, p803.

¹¹⁸⁸ AER, Draft Determination, p805.

adopted by other DNSPs and Powercor Australia had not provided substantive evince to justify the large cost variance.¹¹⁸⁹

19.5.3 Powercor Australia's Response to AER's Draft Determination

Powercor Australia has reviewed all of the matters raised by the AER in its Draft Determination, including where the AER has made adjustments to Powercor Australia's Initial Regulatory Proposal.

Powercor Australia has amended its Initial Regulatory Proposal and prepared this Revised Regulatory Proposal to be consistent with the AER's Draft Determination on public lighting, except in respect of the following:

- Powercor Australia has applied the general materials escalator proposed by it in Chapter 8 of this Revised Regulatory Proposal to materials other than poles and brackets;
- Powercor Australia has included pole and brackets cost of \$1,351.30;
- Consistent with its Initial Regulatory Proposal, Powercor Australia has proposed that 18.5 per cent of T5 (2x14W) lights would fail between bulk changes during the 2011-15 regulatory control period;
- Powercor Australia has included a cost of \$25.43 for patrol vehicles;
- Powercor Australia has included a cost of \$241 for the price of luminaires; and
- Powercor Australia has included traffic management costs of \$8.56 per light.

Powercor Australia's proposed charges for public lighting services are set out in Appendix 9.1 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal.

19.5.3.1 Materials escalation

As noted above, the AER did not apply a materials cost escalator for materials, other than poles and brackets, used for public lighting such as the various components with the luminaire (eg ballast, photo-electric cells and lamps). This was because it decided that those materials had no comparable material escalator that the AER considered appropriate to apply. This is not a proper basis for the AER to decide not to apply a materials cost escalator to those materials.

Powercor Australia considers that the AER should apply the general materials escalator proposed by it in Chapter 8 of this Revised Regulatory Proposal to the other materials used for public lighting.

19.5.3.2 Cost of poles and brackets

The AER rejected Powercor Australia's proposed pole and bracket costs of \$3,125 on the basis that it was substantially above the cost of \$500 taken from the ESCV, *Review of Public Lighting Excluded Service Charges*, Final Decision, August 2004 and adopted by other DNSPs and Powercor Australia had not provided substantive evidence to justify the large cost variance.¹¹⁹⁰

¹¹⁸⁹ AER, Draft Determination, p817.

¹¹⁹⁰ AER, Draft Determination, p817.

Powercor Australia has further reviewed its proposed pole and bracket costs of \$3,125. Upon further review Powercor Australia observes that the figure appeared to contain labour and other costs not related to pole and bracket costs.

Powercor Australia notes that there are a range of poles and brackets used across its distribution network. The poles and brackets vary depending on where they are being installed. For example, the kinds of poles used on major and minor roads vary significantly compared to the poles used in residential estates.

Accordingly, in this Revised Regulatory Proposal Powercor Australia proposes a cost of \$1,351.30 for poles and brackets. This cost represents a weighted average of standard poles and brackets used.

In support of its pole and brackets cost, Powercor Australia provides as an attachment to this Revised Regulatory Proposal quotes from vendors for costs of various poles and brackets from which Powercor Australia derived a weighted average.¹¹⁹¹

Accordingly, Powercor Australia submits that the AER should approve its revised cost of \$1,351.30 for poles and brackets in its Final Determination.

19.5.3.3 Failure rates of T5 lights between bulk changes

In its public lighting model, Powercor Australia proposed that 18.5 per cent of T5 (2x14W) lights would fail between bulk changes during the 2011-15 regulatory control period. As noted above the AER determined that the failure rate should be 11.2 per cent as established in its Public Lighting Decision.

The AER approved the rate of 18.5 per cent for Powercor Australia in Powercor Australia's 2010 proposed tariffs for distribution, transmission and unmetered supplies for the period 1 January to 31 December 2010. These rates were apparent from Powercor Australia's model provided to the AER and in the AER's updated version of the model provided to Powercor Australia by email on 26 November 2009 in respect of the tariff approval. The AER approved Powercor Australia's tariffs on 14 December 2009. Attached to this Revised Regulatory Proposal is a copy of the AER's letter approving Powercor Australia's 2010 prices for alternative control services.¹¹⁹²

Accordingly, Powercor Australia submits that the AER should approve its failure rate of 18.5 per cent for T5 (2x14W) lights in its Final Determination.

19.5.3.4 Patrol vehicle costs

In the AER's model to determine the prices for public lighting for the purposes of the Draft Determination, the AER has used a rate of \$10 for patrol vehicle costs (per hour).¹¹⁹³ In its Public Lighting Decision, the AER had observed that:¹¹⁹⁴ '*CitiPower and Powercor also provided quotes for patrol vehicle costs, and proposed that these be amended from the \$10 used in 2004 cost model to \$25. No other distributors submitted increased patrol vehicle costs in their submissions'.*

¹¹⁹¹ Attachment 230 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal.

¹¹⁹² Attachment 232 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal.

¹¹⁹³ This is apparent from the input area of the Public Lighting Cost Build up Model under the sub heading 'Inputs – all lamps'.

¹¹⁹⁴ AER, Public Lighting Decision, p38.

Powercor Australia submits that the rate for patrol vehicles should be \$25.43 per hour. This is the average of the rates quoted in Powercor Australia's internal patrol rates document, which sets out the rates for external contractors in the regional areas. As a reasonableness check based on the ATO 'rate per business kilometre' for an ordinary engine 1.601-2.6 litre (1,601-2,600cc) of 74 cents per kilometre¹¹⁹⁵ multiplied by an approximated 40 kilometre per hour travelled by the patrol vehicle, the rate is \$29.60 per hour.

The AER should accept Powercor Australia's proposed rate in its Draft Determination because it is based on a current external rate. The fact that other distributors did not submit increased patrol vehicle costs in their submissions to the AER in respect of its Public Lighting Decision gives no basis for the AER to reject Powercor Australia's proposed cost.

19.5.3.5 Cost of luminaires

In the AER's model to determine the prices for public lighting for the purposes of the Draft Determination, the AER has used a unit cost of \$193 for luminaires.¹¹⁹⁶ The value of \$193 came from a quote provided by the MAV. The MAV requested a quote for the bulk replacement of lamps across Victoria. This quote was for 10,000 luminaire and therefore included a volume discount.

Powercor Australia completes ad hoc maintenance on luminaires on an as required basis. Accordingly, it does not receive a volume discount from its vendors. In its Initial Regulatory Proposal, Powercor Australia proposed a cost of \$215 per luminaire based on an ordering quantity of 100. This cost was based on a quote obtained in 2008. Powercor Australia has recently obtained a new quote for 100 luminaires from Pierlite Australia Pty Ltd. The quote shows a cost of \$241 per luminaire.¹¹⁹⁷

Powercor Australia has used this cost in determining its public lighting costs in this Revised Regulatory Proposal. As this is a recent quote and is not based on a bulk discount, this quote gives a better indication of the cost of luminaires than the quote provided by MAV used by the AER in its Draft Determination. Accordingly, Powercor Australia considers that the AER should use this cost of \$241 for the price of luminaires in its Final Determination.

19.5.3.6 Traffic Management Costs

The AER determined benchmarks for traffic management costs based on the AER's evaluation of Powercor Australia's 'equivalent' DNSP.

Powercor Australia has reviewed its traffic management costs and has revised its proposed traffic management costs to \$8.56 per light.

Powercor Australia submits that its proposed traffic management costs should be accepted by the AER. The works are tendered through an public tender process, which results in efficient costs.

¹¹⁹⁵ ATO, Tax Return Information on Work-related Car Expenses (Attachment 238 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal).

¹¹⁹⁶ This is apparent from the 'Unit cost – luminaire' section of the AER's model under the 'Energy Efficient Lighting' subheading.

¹¹⁹⁷ Quotation from Pierlite Australia Pty Ltd for cost of luminaires dated 24 June 2010 (Attachment 233 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal).

19.5.3.7 Price path – public lighting

In its Draft Determination and the Framework and Approach Paper, the AER said that a CPI-X approach would be used to establish a price path for alternative control services.¹¹⁹⁸ Powercor Australia considers that it is appropriate to apply to the unit rates of public lighting services X factors consistent with the escalators proposed by it in Chapter 8 of this Revised Regulatory Proposal.

The appropriate X factors are set out in the following Table 19.12.

Description	2012	2013	2014	2015
Public Lighting	(2.4)%	(3.7)%	4.6%	3.1%

Table 19.12 X factors for public lighting (real)

19.6 Powercor Australia's Revised Regulatory Proposal

Powercor Australia has revised its Initial Regulatory Proposal and prepared this Revised Regulatory Proposal to propose charges for fee based alternative control services that are designed to assist its recovery of its efficient costs of providing those services. In addition, Powercor Australia proposes a labour rate for quote based alternative control services that is designed to assist its recovery of its efficient costs of providing those services.

Powercor Australia's proposed charges for fee based alternative control services and its labour rate for quoted alternative control services are provided in Appendix 9.1 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal.

Powercor Australia has revised its Initial Regulatory Proposal and prepared this Revised Regulatory Proposal to be consistent with the AER's Draft Determination on public lighting, except in respect of the following:

- Powercor Australia has applied the general materials escalator proposed by it in Chapter 8 of this Revised Regulatory Proposal to materials other than poles and brackets;
- Powercor Australia has included pole and brackets cost of \$1,351.30;
- Consistent with its Initial Regulatory Proposal, Powercor Australia has proposed that 18.5 per cent of T5 (2x14W) lights would fail between bulk changes during the 2011-15 regulatory control period;
- Powercor Australia has included a cost of \$25.43 for patrol vehicles;
- Powercor Australia has included a cost of \$241 for the price of luminaires; and
- Powercor Australia has included traffic management costs of \$8.56 per light.

Powercor Australia's proposed charges for public lighting services are provided in Appendix 9.1 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal.

¹¹⁹⁸ AER, Framework and Approach Paper, p79.

Appendix 1.1 -Key Assumptions Underlying Capex and Opex Forecasts in Powercor Australia's Revised Regulatory Proposal

This Appendix sets out the key assumptions which underlie:

- the proposed capex forecast as set out and included in Powercor Australia's building block proposal; and
- the proposed opex forecast as set out and included in Powercor Australia's building block proposal.

Assumptions common to capex and opex forecasts

The following are the key assumptions common to the capex and opex forecasts in the Revised Regulatory Proposal:

- 1. **Forecasts of spatial peak demand:** spatial peak demand in the 2011-15 regulatory control period will be as set out in Revised Regulatory Template 6.3.
- 2. **Regulatory change:** The regulatory obligations and arrangements currently applicable to Powercor Australia will continue to apply in their current form throughout the 2011-15 regulatory control period. Any changes that do occur during the next regulatory control period may be the subject of a cost pass through.
- 3. **Forecasts of customer numbers:** Customer growth over the 2011-15 regulatory control period will be as set out in Revised Regulatory Template 6.3.
- 4. **Labour cost escalator:** Real wage growth for Powercor Australia in the 2011-15 regulatory control period will be as reflected in the labour cost escalators set out in Chapter 8 of the Revised Regulatory Proposal.
- 5. **Contracts/other cost escalator:** Real contracts/other cost growth for Powercor Australia in the 2011-15 regulatory control period will be as reflected in the contract and other cost escalator set out in Chapter 8 of the Revised Regulatory Proposal.
- 6. **Materials cost escalators:** The real growth in the cost of materials over the 2011-15 regulatory control period will be as reflected in the material cost escalators set out in Chapter 8 of the Revised Regulatory Proposal.
- 7. **Forecast inflation:** Forecast annual inflation over 2011 to 2015 will be equal to the geometric average of annual inflation forecasts over the 10 year period starting from 2011 using RBA annual inflation forecasts where available, and otherwise using the mid point of the RBA inflation target range.
- 8. Unit rates applied to key items of plant and equipment for both labour and material unit rates: The 2009 unit rates incurred by Powercor Australia and reflected in 2009 average costs of works will be the

unescalated unit rates incurred by Powercor Australia in the 2011-15 regulatory control period. The unescalated unit rates comprise a labour, materials and contract component. Each component is separately adjusted by relevant escalator (labour, materials and contract) as discussed above.

9. **2010 indexation:** 2009 dollars are related to 2010 dollars by CPI consistent with the CPI value in the Revised Regulatory Templates.

Assumptions specific to capex forecasts

The following are the key assumptions specific to the capex forecasts in the Revised Regulatory Proposal:

- 1. **Powercor Australia's internal documents:** Powercor Australia's 'Network Augmentation Planning Policy and Guidelines' and asset management documents will apply in their current form throughout the 2011-15 regulatory control period. This assumption relates to reinforcement and reliability and quality maintained capex.
- 2. **Powercor Australia's internal documents are efficient and prudent**: In order to satisfy the capex objectives, an efficient and prudent operator would plan and maintain overall 'energy at risk' on Powercor Australia's distribution network consistent with Powercor Australia's 'Network Augmentation Planning Policy and Guidelines'. It would also manage Powercor Australia's assets in accordance with Powercor Australia's asset management documents. This assumption relates to reinforcement and reliability and quality maintained capex.
- 3. **Expenditure on new customer connections**: Powercor Australia's base year gross capex on new customer connections, determined as outlined in Chapter 9 of the Revised Regulatory Proposal, reflects the capex that would have been incurred by an efficient and prudent operator to satisfy the capex objectives. This assumption relates to new customer connections capex.
- 4. New customer capital contributions: In each year of the 2011-15 regulatory control period, the ratio of customer contributions received to new customer connections expenditure will be that ratio realised in 2009 after adjusting the customer contributions received in 2009 for the forecast impact of 'The AER's Conclusion on the Benchmark Upstream Augmentation Charge Rates for CitiPower's Network', 25 June 2010 and the P_0 , X factor and WACC values included in this Revised Regulatory Proposal (as outlined in Chapter 9). This assumption relates to new customer connections capex.

Assumptions specific to opex forecasts

The following are the key assumptions specific to the opex forecasts in the Revised Regulatory Proposal:

1. **Recurrent 2009 expenditure:** Powercor Australia's 2009 recurrent opex reflects the opex that would have been incurred by an efficient and prudent operator in order to satisfy the opex objectives.

- 2. **Step change:** Powercor Australia's proposed step changes will occur and the effect on Powercor Australia's opex in the 2011-15 regulatory control period relative to its 2009 opex will be as forecast by Powercor Australia.
- 3. **Powercor Australia's policies, strategies and procedures:** Powercor Australia's policies, strategies and procedures set out in Revised Regulatory Template 6.4 will continue to apply in their current form throughout the 2011-15 regulatory control period.
- 4. **Scale escalation:** The effect of network growth and customer growth on Powercor Australia's 2011-15 opex will be as forecast by the application of the scale escalators, set out in Chapter 7 of the Revised Regulatory Proposal, to 2009 opex.

Appendix 1.2 - Certification

NATIONAL ELECTRICITY RULES CLAUSE S6.1.1(5) AND S6.1.2(6) CERTIFICATION OF REASONABLENESS OF KEY ASSUMPTIONS THAT UNDERLIE CAPITAL EXPENDITURE AND OPERATING AND MAINTENANCE EXPENDITURE FORECASTS

The Directors of Powercor Australia Ltd ACN 064 651 109 hereby certify that the key assumptions which:

- 1. underlie:
 - a) the proposed capital expenditure forecast as set out and included in Powercor Australia's building block proposal; and
 - b) the proposed operating and maintenance expenditure forecast as set out and included in Powercor Australia's building block proposal; and
- 2. are also set out and included in Powercor Australia's building block proposal, are reasonable.

Signed:

dated this 16th day of July 2010

Peter Tulloch CHAIRPERSON

Appendix 1.3 - Statutory Declaration

NATIONAL ELECTRICITY (VICTORIA) LAW SECTION 28M(d) STATUTORY DECLARATION

I, Share Augustus Breheny (full name) of 40 Market St Melbonne, (address)

being an officer, for the purposes of the *Corporations Act 2001* (Cth), of Powercor Australia Ltd ('**Powercor**'), do solemnly and sincerely declare that the response of Powercor to the Australian Energy Regulator's regulatory information notice ('**Notice**') dated 4 June 2010:

- 1. is true and accurate;
- 2. in accordance with the requirements of the Notice; and
- 3. in all material respects can be relied upon by the AER to assess the regulatory proposal or the revised regulatory proposal as the case may be provided by and to make distribution determinations for Powercor.

I acknowledge that this declaration is true and correct and I make it in the belief that a person making a false declaration is liable to the penalties of perjury.

Declared at 40 Market	est in	the State of Victoria
this lath day of July	_ 2010	
- GABelen	(Signature of person mo	uking declaration)
Before me:	(Signature	of authorised witness)

(The witness must print their name, address and their authority under section 107A of the *Evidence Act 1958* (Vic) to witness a statutory declaration).

Kaye-Frances Rands 40 Market Street, Melbourne 3000 An Australian Legal Practitioner within the meaning of the Legal Profession Act 2004

Appendix 1.4 - Index to attachments to Revised Regulatory Proposal

The following is an index to the attachments to the Revised Regulatory Proposal. Powercor Australia has not included in this index nor attached to this Revised Regulatory Proposal the AER's Draft Determination or the expert reports, models and other materials prepared or commissioned by the AER and provided to Powercor Australia in connection with the Draft Determination (**AER Draft Determination Documents**) because these documents are already in the AER's possession. However, Powercor Australia should be taken to have submitted to the AER with this Revised Regulatory Proposal all AER Draft Determination Documents.

ID	Document name	Revised Regulatory Proposal reference	Confidential
1	Powercor AER Regulatory Information Notice Under Division 4 of Part 3 (Revised Regulatory Templates)		Yes
2	Powercor Post Tax Revenue Model		Yes
3	Powercor Roll Forward Model		Yes
4	Powercor Public Lighting Model		Yes
5	Powercor EBSS Model		Yes
6	Powercor S Factor True Up Model		Yes
7	Powercor Customer Capex Model	9	Yes
8	Powercor Customer Contribution Rate Model	9	Yes
9	Powercor Cost Escalation Model	7	Yes
10	Powercor Cost Forecast Model	6	Yes
11	Powercor Linked 2009-15 RIN Cost Templates		Yes
12	Powercor GSL Model	6	Yes
13	Powercor Superannuation Step Change Model	6	Yes
14	Powercor Changes to RIN Templates		Yes
15	Powercor RIN Allocators		Yes
16	Powercor Justification for no RIN Template Information		Yes
17	Powercor Regulatory Account Adjustments		Yes

ID	Document name	Revised Regulatory Proposal reference	Confidential
18	Powercor Worked Example of Pass-through Factor Model	3	Ν
19	Powercor Cost build up model for Alternative Control Services	19	Yes
20	Australian Government Solicitor, Letter of advice to Mr Tom Motherwell, Department of Industry Tourism and Resources titled 'Assessment of expenditure forecasts', 10 October 2006.	1	No
21	AER, South Australian Draft Determination	1, 3, 5, 6, 7	No
22	AER, South Australian Final Determination	1, 3, 7, 8, 17	No
23	AER, South Australian Framework and Approach Paper	1, 3	No
24	AER, Queensland Final Determination	1, 3, 17	No
25	AER, Queensland Framework and Approach Paper	1, 3	No
26	AEMC staff observations – cost recovery by DNSPs for connection services and definition of prescribed connection services, 21 June 2010.	3	No
27	UED, Rule change proposal: Amendment to the distribution pricing proposal provisions of the National Electricity Rules to provide for the explicit inclusion of transmission-related and other relevant charges in a distribution network service provider's pricing proposal, 22 June 2010.	3	No
28	AEMC, National Electricity Amendment (Payments under Feed-in Schemes and Climate Change Funds) Rule 2010 No. 7.	3	No
29	AEMC, Rule Determination, National Electricity Amendment (Payments under Feed-in Schemes and Climate Change Funds) Rule 2010, 1 July 2010.	3	No
30	ESCV, Guideline 15	3	No
31	ESCV, 2006-10 EDPR, Volume 1, Final Decision	1, 4, A6.1, 14	No
32	ESCV, 2006-10 EDPR, Volume 2, Price Determination	3, 17	No
33	Email from the AER (Craig Madden) to the Victorian DNSPs entitled 'AER advice - Recovery of avoided TUOS payments', 29 June 2010	3	No
34	NIEIR, Electricity sales and customer numbers for the Powercor Australia region to 2019, June 2010	4	No
35	Frontier, letter re NIEIR's methodology overview, 10 May 2010	4	No
36	Frontier, Review of policy adjustments, July 2010	4	No
37	Frontier, Review of ACIL Tasman recommendations, June 2010	4	No
38	MCE, Money Isn't All You're Saving, Australia's standby power strategy 2002-2012, 2002	4	No

ID	Document name	Revised Regulatory Proposal reference	Confidential
39	Equipment Energy Efficiency Program, Achievements 2008/09, December 2009	4	No
40	Department of the Environment, Water, Heritage and the Arts, Consultation Regulation Impact Statement: National Legislation for Appliance and Equipment Minimum Energy Performance Standards (MEPS) and Energy Labelling, January 2010	4	No
41	Faruqui, A and Sergici, S (Brattle Group), Household Response to Dynamic Pricing of Electricity – A Survey of the Experimental Evidence, 10 January 2009	4	No
42	Charles River Associates, Impact Evaluation of the California Statewide Pricing Pilot, 16 March 2005	4	No
43	NIEIR, Maximum summer demand forecasts for Powercor Australia to 2020, June 2010	4	No
44	Minister for Energy and Resources, Letter re Deferral of Network Time of Use Tariffs, 24 February 2010	4	No
45	CitiPower and Powercor Australia, presentation to AMI retailers forum, Network Tariffs, Considered tariffs for 2011-15 price review period, 13 July 2010	4	No
46	AGL Sales – Standing Offer – Tariffs applicable 1 January 2010	4	No
47	Origin Energy – Standing Offer – Tariffs applicable 1 January 2010	4	No
48	Powercor Australia, templates 10(a) to 10(g) submitted to the ESCV in the 2006-10 EDPR process, 12 November 2004	4	No
49	ESCV, Electricity Price Review 2006-10, October 2005 Price Determination as amended in accordance with a decision of the Appeal Panel dated 17 February 2006, Final decision Volume 1, Statement of Purpose and Reasons, October 2006	4	No
50	SKM, CitiPower/Powercor Demand Forecasts, 8 July 2010	4	No
51	Curriculum vitae of Cheng Lee, SKM	4	No
52	Curriculum vitae of Keith Frearson, SKM	4	No
53	Oakley Greenwood, Review of AMI Benefits and Consolidation of AMI Costs and Benefits (Draft Report), May 2010	4	Yes
54	Minister Assisting the Minister for Climate Change and Energy Efficiency, Media release re Home Insulation Safety Plan, 1 April 2010	4	No
55	DPI, Presentation to the AMI Policy Committee, 29 June 2010	4	Yes
56	Additional evidentiary material regarding policies underpinning policy adjustments to energy consumption and maximum demand forecasts	4	No

ID	Document name	Revised Regulatory Proposal reference	Confidential
57	Hawke, A, Hawke Report, Review of the Administration of the Home Insulation Program, 6 April 2010	4	No
58	'What is Google PowerMeter' (webpage), available at http://www.google.com/powermeter/about/about.html	4	No
59	'Become a Google PowerMeter partner' (webpage), available at http://www.google.com/powermeter/about/partnerships.html	4	No
60	CurrentCost, CC128 ENVI Manual available at www.currentcost.com	4	No
61	Australian Bureau of Agriculture and Resource Economics Australian Energy Statistics, Table f: Australian energy consumption by industry and fuel type - energy unit and Table i: Australian consumption of electricity by state, 2009 (available at http://www.abareconomics.com/publications_html/data/data/data.html#engHIS T) retrieved 16 July 2010	4	No
62	Energy Efficient Strategies, Energy use in the Australian residential sector 1986-2020, prepared for Department of the Environment, Water, Heritage and the Arts, May 2008 (available at http://www.energyrating.gov.au/library/pubs/2008-energy-use-aust-res-sector- full.pdf), retrieved 16 July 2010	4	No
63	Equipment Energy Efficiency Committee Department, Lighting RIS	4	No
64	Insulation Council of Australia and New Zealand, Submission to Senate Standing Committee on Environment, Communications and the Arts, Inquiry into the Energy Efficient Homes Package, 18 December 2009	4	No
65	Sustainability First and Engage Consulting Limited, International Smart Meter Trials: Selected Case Studies Smart Tariffs and Customer Stimuli, May 2008	4	No
66	Alan Pears, Residential sector energy efficiency scenario, Background, Framework and Rationales, February 2007	4	No
67	Mark Ellis & Associates, RIS: MEPS alternative strategies for Linear Fluorescent Lamps, prepared for Australian Greenhouse Office, December 2003	4	No
68	Country Energy, The Country Energy Home Energy Efficiency Trial, June 2006	4	No
69	George Wilkenfeld and Associates with Energy Efficient Strategies, Options to reduce greenhouse emissions from new homes in Victoria through the building approval process, prepared for Department of Sustainability and Environment, April 2007	4	No
70	ACIL Tasman, Victorian Electricity Price Review, Review of electricity sales and customer numbers forecasts, Final report, prepared for the AER, 21 April 2010	4	No

ID	Document name	Revised Regulatory Proposal reference	Confidential
71	ACIL Tasman, The impact of an ETS on the Energy Supply Industry, prepared for Energy Supply Association of Australia, 23 July 2008	4	No
72	Energy Efficient Strategies, Regulatory Impact Statement Consultation Draft, Revision to the labelling of algorithms and revised MEPS levels and other requirements for air conditioners, prepared for Department of the Environment, Water, Heritage and the Arts, September 2008	4	No
73	AER, State of the Energy Market 2009, December 2008	4	No
74	Brattle Group, Lessons from Demand Response: Trials and Potential Savings for the EU, 3-4 March 2010	4	No
75	Charles River Associates International and Impaq Consulting, Advanced Interval Meter Communications Study – Draft Report prepared for the Department of Infrastructure, December 2005	4	No
76	DECC, Impact assessment of a GB-wide smart meter roll out for the domestic sector, May 2009	4	No
77	Electric Power Research Institute, The role of dynamic pricing in fostering the efficient use electric sector resources, 25 March 2008	4	No
78	ESCV, Installing interval meters for electricity customers - costs and benefits, position paper, November 2002	4	No
79	ESCV, Mandatory rollout of interval meters for electricity companies, Draft decision, March 2004	4	No
80	Energy Efficient Strategies, Standby Power - Current Status, prepared for the Equipment Energy Efficiency Committee, October 2006	4	No
81	Frontier, Impacts of climate change policies on electricity retails, prepared for the AEMC, June 2009	4	No
82	Maunsell AECOM Australia Pty Ltd, Climate change impact assessment on Powercor Australia for 2011-2015 EDPR (draft), 13 May 2009	4	No
83	McLennan Magasanic Associates, Impacts of the Carbon Pollution Reduction Scheme on Australia's electricity markets prepared for the Federal Treasury, 11 December 2008	4	No
84	NERA, Cost Benefit Analysis of Smart Metering and Direct Load Control - Work stream 4: Consumer Impacts, Phase 2 consultation report, prepared for the MCE, 29 February 2008	4	No
85	Owen, G and Ward, J (Sustainability First), Smart Meters: Commercial, policy and regulatory drivers, March 2006	4	No
86	Owen, G and Ward, J (Sustainability First), Smart Meters: Commercial, policy and regulatory drivers, March 2006 (Appendices)	4	No

ID	Document name	Revised Regulatory Proposal reference	Confidential
87	Owen, G and Ward, J (Sustainability First), Smart Tariffs and household demand response for Great Britain, March 2010	4	No
88	DPI, Advanced Metering Infrastructure, Home Area Network functionality Guideline, Version 0.5, 20 November 2008	4	No
89	ESCV, ESC information session, Victorian Energy Efficiency Target, 26 March 2010	4	No
90	Carbon Trust, Advanced metering for SMEs, Carbon and cost savings, full report, 2007	4	No
91	Hydro One Brampton Networks Inc., Conservation and demand management plan, Annual Report to December 31 2005, 31 March 2006	4	No
92	Total Environment Centre Inc., Submission - Cost benefit analysis of options for a national smart meter roll-out (phase two) Regulatory Impact Statement, May 2008	4	No
93	EMET Consultants Pty Ltd, Energy Efficiency improvement in the Residential Sector, prepared for Sustainable Energy Authority of Victoria, April 2004	4	No
94	Frontier, Smart Metering, prepared for Centrica, October 2007	4	No
95	Commonwealth Government, Australia's Low Pollution Future, the Economics of Climate Change Mitigation, 2008	4	No
96	Application by Optus Mobile Pty Limited and Optus Networks Pty Limited [2006] ACompT 8	5	No
97	Application by Energy Australia and Others [2009] ACompT 8	1, 5, A6.1, 12, 17	No
98	NERA, Allen Consulting Group's Review of NERA's Benchmarking of Contractors' Margins Critique, October 2007	5	No
99	ESCV, GAAR, Chapter 5	5	No
100	ESCV, Electricity Distribution Price Review 2006-10 Final Decision: Notice of Errata, 23 November 2005	5	No
101	ESCV, Draft GAAR, Chapter 5	5	No
102	NERA, Review of Operating Expenditure Efficiency, July 2010	1, 5	No
103	SKM, Market Price Survey #4 Results of Survey for Powercor Distribution Equipment / Materials, Capex and Opex Activities of Work, 6 July 2010	1, 5	No
104	AER, Jemena Gas Access Final Decision	1, 5, 8	No
ID	Document name	Revised Regulatory Proposal reference	Confidential
-----	---	--	--------------
105	KPMG, Supplement to Report on Powercor Australia's service model, July 2010	5	Yes
106	Documents relied on and/or referred to in KPMG, Supplement to Report on Powercor Australia's service model, July 2010 and KPMG, The efficiencies of the Powercor service model, October 2009 (Attachment P0053 to the Initial Regulatory Proposal)	5	Yes
107	SMS Consulting, Review of CHED Services' forecast for FRC systems support, 25 February 2009 (Attachment F.11 to ETSA Utilities Revised Regulatory Proposal 2010-2015 dated 14 January 2010)	5, 9	Yes
108	Powercor Network Services Pty Ltd ABN 94 123 230 240, Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2009 (Previously provided to AER under cover of email from B Cleeve, Manager Price Review, CitiPower and Powercor Australia, to S Sandles, AER, dated 29 March 2010)	5	Yes
109	AEMC, Rule Determination National Electricity Amendment (Economic Regulation of Transmission Services) Rule 2006 No 18, 16 November 2008	5, 6, 9, 17	No
110	SCO, Changes to the National Electricity Rules to establish a national regulatory framework for the economic regulation of electricity distribution Explanatory Material, April 2007	5, 17	No
111	Extract of CitiPower Board Minutes, 24 August 2004	5	Yes
112	Extract of Powercor Australia Board Minutes, 24 August 2004	5	Yes
113	Extract of CitiPower Executive Committee Minutes, 10 December 2004	5	Yes
114	Extract of Powercor Australia Executive Committee Minutes, 10 December 2004	5	Yes
115	Presentation given by Shane Breheny, Chief Executive Officer CitiPower and Powercor Australia, and Julie Williams, Chief Financial Officer CitiPower and Powercor Australia, to Executive Committees of CitiPower and Powercor Australia at meeting of 10 December 2004	5	Yes
116	Extract of CitiPower Executive Committee Minutes, 27 January 2005	5	Yes
117	Extract of Powercor Australia Executive Committee Minutes, 27 January 2005	5	Yes
118	CitiPower Board Paper, Related Party Contract Recommendations, 17 November 2006	5	Yes

ID	Document name	Revised Regulatory Proposal reference	Confidential
119	Powercor Australia Board Paper, Related Party Contract Recommendations, 17 November 2006	5	Yes
120	Letter from M Sturgess, General Manager, PNS to R Gross, General Manager Regulation, CitiPower and Powercor, 'Request for Information on Allocation of PNS 2009 Expenditure', 26 March 2010 (Previously provided to AER under cover of email from B Cleeve, Manager Price Review, CitiPower and Powercor Australia, to S Sandles, AER, dated 29 March 2010)	5	Yes
121	Powercor Australia, Regulatory Accounts, 31 December 2009 (Previously provided to the AER in soft copy under cover of an email from R Gross, General Manager Regulation, CitiPower and Powercor to C Pattas, General Manager Network Regulation South Branch, AER dated 30 April 2010 and in hard copy under cover of a letter of the same date from R Gross to C Pattas)	5	Yes
122	CitiPower, Regulatory Accounts for the Year Ended 31 December 2009 (Previously provided to the AER in soft copy under cover of an email from R Gross, General Manager Regulation, CitiPower and Powercor to C Pattas, General Manager Network Regulation South Branch, AER dated 30 April 2010 and in hard copy under cover of a letter of the same date from R Gross to C Pattas)	5	Yes
123	Letter from D Scott, Mercer, to T Mutton, CitiPower and Powercor, dated 28 June 2010 regarding projected superannuation expense under AASB 119	6	No
124	Letter from D Scott, Mercer, to T Mutton, CitiPower and Powercor, dated 28 June 2010 regarding interim AASB 119 results – six months ending 30 June 2010	6	No
125	ESCV, Final Decision, Electricity Distributors' Communications in Extreme Supply Events, December 2009	6	No
126	ESCV, Final Amendments to the Electricity Distribution Code and the Energy Retail Code, 24 February 2010	6	No
127	ESCV, Distribution Code	6, 9	No
128	Cost build up model for communications in extreme supply events	6	No
129	Powercor Australia's 2009 Distribution Licence Fee Invoice	6	No
130	Cost build up model for Outcomes Monitoring and Compliance step change	6	No
131	Australian Government, Fact Sheet Superannuation – Increasing the Superannuation Guarantee Rate to 12 per cent	6, 13	No

ID	Document name	Revised Regulatory Proposal reference	Confidential
132	Australian Government, webpage entitled 'Banking the benefits of the boom with fairer concessions for Super' accessed on 12 July 2010	6	No
133	SKM Review of AER Draft Decision – Opex Scale Escalation for CitiPower and Powercor Australia, 8 July 2010	7	No
134	PB, Letter re Application of network growth escalators for opex forecasts, 2 July 2010	7	No
135	PB, Review of ETSA Utilities regulatory proposal for the period July 2010 to June 2015, November 2009	7, 9	No
136	PB, Review of ETSA Utilities' revised regulatory proposal for the period July 2010 to June 2015, May 2010	7	No
137	ETSA, Revised Regulatory Proposal 2010-2015, 14 January 2010	4, 7	No
138	SKM, Impact of ageing assets on Powercor operating costs, 8 July 2010	7, 9	No
139	Curriculum vitae of Ben Kearney, SKM	7	No
140	Curriculum vitae of Cliff Jones, SKM	7	No
141	AER, NSW Final Determination	8, 17	No
142	AER, NSW Draft Determination	8	No
143	KPMG, Labour Cost Forecasts for Powercor and CitiPower, 13 July 2010	8	No
144	ABS, 6345.0 Labour Price Index, March Quarter 2010, available at www.abs.gov.au, accessed 17 July 2010	8	No
145	Energy Futures Australia, Advanced Metering for energy supply in Australia, prepared for Total Environment Centre, final revised version, 17 July 2007	4	No
146	Econtech, Labour cost growth forecasts 2007/08 to 2016/17, 19 September 2008	8	No
147	AER, Draft Decision, SP AusNet transmission determination 2008-09 to 2013- 14, 31 August 2007	8	No
148	AER, Final decision, SP AusNet transmission determination 2008-09 to 2013- 14, January 2008	8	No
149	Email from ABS to DLA Phillips Fox re LPI dated 8 July 2010	8	No
150	Email from ABS to DLA Phillips Fox re AWE dated 8 July 2010	8	No
151	ABS 6302.0 Average Weekly Earnings, Australia, February 2010 available at	8	No

ID	Document name	Revised Regulatory Proposal reference	Confidential
	www.abs.gov.au, accessed 8 July 2010.		
152	ABS, Australian and New Zealand Standard Industrial Classification 2006, ANZSIC	8	No
153	ABS, 1292.0, Australian and New Zealand Standard Industrial Classification (ANZSIC), 1993	8	No
154	ABS, Labour Statistics: Concepts, Sources and Methods, April 2007	8	No
155	SKM, Victorian Distribution Network Service Providers cost escalator updates, Final Report – CitiPower and Powercor Asset Categories, 8 July 2010	8	No
156	KPMG, Assessment of the AER's Draft Decision on Labour Cost Escalation: Victoria 13 July 2010	8	No
157	Powercor Australia, SCADA and network control capex material projects templates	9	No
158	AER, Queensland Draft Determination, Appendices	9	No
159	PB, Review of ENERGEX regulatory proposal for the period July 2010 to June 2015, 2009	9	No
160	SKM, SKM Comments on Nuttall Consulting Report RE: Impact of Load Duration Curve, 9 July 2010	9	No
161	Powercor Australia, Reinforcement capex material projects templates	9	No
162	PwC, Methodology for the calculation of debt risk premium, 19 July 2010	1, 12	No
163	EA Technology Consulting, Commentary on Victorian Electricity Distribution Network Service Providers Distribution Determination 2011-15 (Draft Decision) June 2010, July 2010	9	No
164	Powercor Australia, Reliability and quality maintained capex material programs templates	9	No
165	SP AusNet, Communication re forecast 66kV and 22kV primary plan replacement works, 14 September 2009	9	No
166	High Voltage Protection Sub-Code, July 2008	9	No
167	ORG, Electricity System Code, October 2000	9	No
168	Powercor Australia, Minutes to the Capital Investment Committee meeting ('State of the Network' presentation), 1 June 2010	9	Yes
169	AER, Draft Decision, Benchmark Upstream Augmentation Charge Rates for CitiPower's Network, 19 February 2010	9	No
170	AER, Guidance Paper, The AER's Conclusion on the Benchmark Upstream Augmentation Charge Rates for CitiPower's Network, 25 June 2010	9	No

ID	Document name	Revised Regulatory Proposal reference	Confidential
171	PB, Repex Model Review, July 2010	9	No
172	CHED Services, Proposal for the Provision of FRC Systems Upgrade and On- going Support Services To ETSA, 19 May 2009	9	Yes
173	IT service provider information	9	No
174	AER, SoRI	12, 13	No
175	AER, SoRI Final Decision	12, 13	No
176	CEG, Testing the accuracy of Bloomberg vs CBASpectrum Fair Value Estimates, A report for Victorian Electricity DBs, July 2010	1, 12	No
177	Value Adviser Associates, Market Risk Premium: Comments on AER Draft Distribution Determination for Victorian Electricity Distribution Network Service Providers, July 2010	12	No
178	International Monetary Fund, IMF Working Paper, Potential Growth of Australia and New Zealand in the Aftermath of the Global Crisis, May 2010	12	No
179	Application by Telstra Corporation Limited [2010] ACompT 1	12	No
180	ACCC, ULLS Final Decision, Chapter B.7 of Appendix B (Cost of capital)	13	No
181	Monkhouse P (1993), 'The cost of equity under the Australian dividend imputation tax system', Accounting and Finance, volume 33	13	No
182	Peter Feros, Review of WACC parameters: Gamma, ETSA Price Reset, 22 June 2009	13	No
183	N. Hathaway and B. Officer, The Value of Imputation Tax Credits – Update 2004, Capital Research Pty Ltd, November 2004	13	No
184	NERA, Payout ratio of regulated firms, report for Gilbert and Tobin, 5 January 2010	13	No
185	Robert R. Officer, Estimating the Distribution Rate of Imputation Tax Credits: Questions Raised by ETSA's Advisers, 23 June 2009	13	No
186	John C Handley and Krishnan Maheswaran, 'A measure of the efficacy of the Australian imputation tax system', The Economic Record, volume 84, number 264, March 2008	13	No
187	SFG, Response to the AER draft determination in relation to gamma, 13 January 2010	13	No
188	Christopher L Skeels, A Review of the SFG Dividend Drop-Off Study – A Report prepared for Gilbert and Tobin, 28 August 2009	13	No

ID	Document name	Revised Regulatory Proposal reference	Confidential
189	Neville Hathaway, Imputation Credit Redemption: ATO data 1988-2008, July 2010	13	No
190	Neville Hathaway, Comment on: "A Measure of the Efficacy of the Australian Imputation Tax System" by John Handley and Krishan Maheswaran, July 2010	13	No
191	Christopher L Skeels, Response to AER Questions, 21 September 2009	13	No
192	SFG, Issues relating to the estimation of gamma, 15 July 2010	13	No
193	Application by GasNet Australia (Operations) Pty Ltd [2003] ACompT 6	13	No
194	Australian Government Fact Sheet, Cutting the Company Tax Rate (accessed 8 July 2010)	13	No
195	Media release by Prime Minister entitled 'Breakthrough agreement with industry on improvements to resources taxation', 2 July 2010, http://www.pm.gov.au/node/6868,	13	No
196	Neville Hathaway, Accessing the ATO statistics on the ATO website, July 2010	13	No
197	Neville Hathaway, Practical Issues in the AER Draft Determination, July 2010	13	No
198	R Officer, 'The cost of capital of a company under an imputation tax system' (1994) Accounting and Finance 1	13	No
199	D Beggs and C Skeels, 'Market Arbitrage of Cash Dividends and Franking Credits' The (2006) 82 (258) Economic Record 239	13	No
200	J Handley, Further Comments on the Valuation of Imputation Credits, 15 April 2009	13	No
201	SFG Consulting, The impact of franking credits on the cost of capital of Australian firms, 16 September 2008	13	No
202	Christopher L Skeels, Estimation of γ, 25 June 2009	13	No
203	SFG Consulting, The value of imputation credits as implied by the methodology of Beggs and Skeels (2006), 1 February 2009	13	No
204	NERA, AER's Proposed WACC Statement—Gamma: A report for the Joint Industry Associations, 30 January 2009	13	No

ID	Document name	Revised Regulatory Proposal reference	Confidential
205	J Handley, Memorandum to AER: Advice on Gamma in Relation to the 2010- 2015 Qld/SA Electricity Distribution Determinations, 20 October 2009	13	No
206	Christopher L Skeels, Response to Australian Energy Regulator Draft Determination, 13 January 2010	13	No
207	J Field, Reliability of data used in dividend drop-off study, 5 January 2010	13	No
208	J Handley, A Note on the Valuation of Imputation Credits, 12 November 2008	13	No
209	M Dempsey and G Partington 'Cost of Capital equations under the Australian imputation credit system' (2008) 48(3) Accounting and Finance 445	13	No
210	D Bellamy and S Gray, Using stock Price Changes to Estimate the Value of Dividend Franking Credits (2004) Working Paper, University of Queensland Business School	13	No
211	D Cannavan, F Finn and S Gray, 'The Value of Dividend Imputation Tax Credits in Australia' (2004) 74 Journal of Financial Economics 167	13	No
212	SFG Consulting, Further analysis in response to AER Draft Determination in relation to gamma, 4 February 2010	13	No
213	ORG, 2001-05 EDPR, Volume 1, chapter 5 (Efficiency carryover)	14	No
214	ORG Appeal Panel Decision	14	No
215	AER, EBSS Guideline	14, 15	No
216	AER, EBSS Final Decision	14, 15	No
217	Letter from B Cleeve, Manager Price Review, CitiPower and Powercor Australia to B Burkitt, Director Network Regulation, AER entitled 'Regulatory accounts, provisions and AMI adjustment to regulatory accounts' 3 February 2010	6, 14	No
218	Letter from T Imbesi, Partner, Deloitte, to J Williams, Chief Financial Officer, CHEDHA, titled 'Powercor Regulatory Accounts: Accounting treatment of provisions', 20 July 2010	6, 14	Yes
219	D.C. Pearce, Statutory Interpretation in Australia, 6th edition, 2006, Chapter 10	14	No
220	AER, ACT Final Determination	17	No
221	Independent Pricing and Regulatory Tribunal, NSW Electricity Distribution Pricing 2004/05 to 2008/09 Final Determination	17	No

ID	Document name	Revised Regulatory Proposal reference	Confidential
222	Queensland Competition Authority, Final Determination on the Regulation of Electricity Distribution 2005-10	17	No
223	ESCV, Credit Support Arrangements, Final Decision, October 2006	17	No
224	Allen Consulting Group, 'Retailer DuOS Credit Support Arrangements Implementation Issues in Victoria, Report to Essential Services Commission, June 2006	17	No
225	Letter from R Hermann (CitiPower/Powercor Australia) to ESCV in respect of ESC Credit decision, 18 August 2006	17	No
226	Default Use of Systems Agreement	17	No
227	Impaq, Review of Distributors Proposed Rates in ACS Charges dated 2 June 2010, reference – 'impaq final report – cp and pc confidential version (D2010-03621655).DOC'	5, 19	Yes
228	Source spreadsheets for Powercor Australia's travel times (three worksheets for 2005, 2006 and 2007)	19	No
229	Norfolk, Financial Results for the Year Ended 31 March 2010, presentation dated 26 May 2010, p15	19	No
230	Quotations from vendors for the costs of poles and brackets	19	Yes
231	CHED Services Contract with AMRS for the Supply of Cyclic Field and Special Meter Reading Services	19	Yes
232	Letter from AER approving Powercor Australia's 2010 prices for alternative control services, 14 December 2009	19	No
233	Quotation from Pierlite Australia Pty Ltd for cost of luminaires dated 24 June 2010	19	Yes
234	Quotation from the Municipal Association of Victoria for T5 public lighting	19	Yes
235	Hays' salary survey 2009, Sector Commentary, Manufactoring & Ops, p118	19	No
236	ETSA, Network Tariff & Negotiated Services, June 2010	19	No
237	Hays, Hays Salary Guide 2010	19	No
238	ATO, Tax Return Information on Work-related Car Expenses (website accessed on 12 July 2010)	19	No

ID	Document name	Revised Regulatory Proposal reference	Confidential
239	Servicestream, Presentation - Working Together CitiPower/Powercor Contract Variations October 2009	19	Yes
240	Powercor Australia's Specialist Metering Checklist	19	No
241	Line Clearance RIS	A6.1	No
242	Powercor Australia's and CitiPower's Response to the Line Clearance RIS, 20 May 2010.	A6.1	No
243	ESCV Appeal Panel Decision	A6.1, 14	No
244	Letter from DLA Phillips Fox to CitiPower and Powercor Australia, 21 June 2010	A6.1	No
245	Letter from VEMCO to CitiPower and Powercor Australia, 13 July 2010	A6.1	No
246	Letter from Paul Fearon ESV to Garry Audley Powercor Australia, 7 December 2009	A6.1	No
247	SP Austnet to ESV dated 10 May 2010 regarding Proposed Electricity Safety (Electric Line Clearance) Regulations 2010 – Regulatory Impact Statement	A6.1	No
248	Documents referred to in Chronology of Vegetation Management Compliance	A6.1	No
249	Energy Safe Victoria, Exemptions granted to Powercor Australia under reg. 10 of the Electricity Safety (Electric Line Clearance Regulations) 2005	14	No
250	Powercor Australia, Business Case for Enhanced Asset Management of At Risk Townships protection plans, 15 July 2010	6	Yes
251	Cost build up model for At Risk Townships program step change	6	Yes
252	PB, Overhead conductor replacement investment strategy, May 2010	9	No
253	Powercor Australia, Review of Overhead Conductor Strategy for CitiPower and Powercor, 29 January 2010	9	No
254	Powercor Australia, Minutes to the Capital Investment Committee meeting, 11 August 2009	9	Yes
255	Powercor Australia, Protection Equipment (Relays) Asset Management Plan, 14 May 2010	9	No
256	Consulting and Power, Draft Report No: 200927, Commentary on the potential lives of bare high voltage electricity conductors for Powercor Australia, 23 April 2010	9	Yes

ID	Document name	Revised Regulatory Proposal reference	Confidential
257	CEG, Detailed application of AER cost of debt methodology to alternative bond samples, A report for Victorian DBs, July 2010	12	No

Appendix 3.1 – Implementation Formulae for P_t , TRC_t , T_t , and KAY_t Terms

In this Appendix, Powercor Australia details its proposed formulae to calculate the P_t , TRC_t , T_t and KAY_t , terms in the WAPC formula.

A worked example of the application of these implementation formulae is set out in the Worked Example of Pass-through Factor Model (Attachment 18 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal).

Pass Through Implementation Formulae

The WAPC terms must be calculated in the correct sequence as each factor feeds into the calculation of the subsequent factors. This is necessary to ensure the correct treatment of each term. In the case of P factor the term must be calculated after *CPI*, X, S and L factors.

1. Passthrough factor

The passthrough adjustment (P_t) to the WAPC and in the *regulatory year t*, for a given DNSP is expressed by the formula set out below.

The formula may be amended by the AER but only for the purpose of correcting manifest errors and/or omissions and only after consulting with relevant stakeholders.

The passthrough adjustment (P_t) that will apply in *regulatory year t* after the regulatory year ending 31 December 2010, for each DNSP, is:

$$P_{t} = \left(\frac{1 + P'_{t}}{1 + P'_{t-1}}\right) - 1$$

Where

regulatory year "t"	is the regulatory year in respect of which the calculation is being made
regulatory year "t-1"	is the regulatory year immediately preceding <i>regulatory year</i> " t "
P_t	is the passthrough factor which is calculated by determining the raw passthrough factor for <i>regulatory</i> year <i>t</i> and backing out the raw passthrough factor for <i>regulatory year t-1</i>
P'_t	is calculated in accordance with section 2 for <i>regulatory year t</i>

(a) if *regulatory* year t is prior to calendar year ending 31 December 2012, is zero

(b) if *regulatory* year t is after calendar year ending 31 December 2011, is the value of P'_t determined in the *regulatory* year t-1

2. Calculation of P'_t

 P'_t is expressed by the formula as set out below. The formula may be amended by the AER but only for the purpose of correcting manifest errors and/or omissions and only after consulting with relevant stakeholders.

$$P'_{t} = \frac{MPR_{t}}{Rf_{t}}$$

Where

 P'_{t-1}

regulatory year "t"is the regulatory year in respect of which the calculation is being
made P'_t is the raw calculated passthrough factor for regulatory year t
only. MPR_t (in \notin) is calculated in accordance with section 3 for regulatory
year t Rf_t (in \notin) is calculated in accordance with section 4 for regulatory
year t

3. Calculation of MPR_t

 MPR_t is expressed by the formula as set out below. The formula may be amended by the AER but only for the purpose of correcting manifest errors and/or omissions and only after consulting with relevant stakeholders.

$$MPR_t = PCf_t - KP_t$$

Where:

regulatory year "t"	is the regulatory year in respect of which the calculation is being made
MPR _t	(in ϕ) is the maximum revenue the DNSP is allowed to receive from passthrough revenue from all distribution customers for the <i>regulatory year t</i>

PCf _t	(in ϕ) is the aggregate of all forecast passthrough factor charges and forecast passthrough factor revenues which the distribution business is expected to pay and entitled to receive in <i>regulatory</i>
	year t

 KP_t (in ¢) is determined in accordance with section 3.1 for *regulatory year t*

3.1. Correction Factor KP_t

 KP_t is determined by reference to the formula set out below. The formula may be amended by the AER but only for the purpose of correcting manifest errors and/or omissions and only after consulting with relevant stakeholders.

 $KP_{t} = (KPy_{t} + KPz_{t} + KP_{t-1}) \times (1 + CPI_{t}) \times (1 + pretaxWACC_{D})$

Where:

regulatory year "t"	is the regulatory year in respect of which the calculation is being made
regulatory year "t-1"	is the regulatory year immediately preceding <i>regulatory year</i> " t "
KP _t	(in \notin) is a correction factor to account for any under or over recovery of actual passthrough revenue for <i>regulatory year</i> $t-1$
<i>KPy</i> _t	(in ϕ) is calculated in accordance with section 3.1.1 for <i>regulatory year t</i>
<i>KPz</i> _t	(in ϕ) is calculated in accordance with section 3.1.2 for <i>regulatory year t</i>
KP _{t-1}	(in ϕ) is the figure calculated for <i>KP</i> ^{<i>t</i>} for <i>regulatory year t</i> -1
pretax WACC _D	is as set out in the Post Tax Revenue Model (<i>PTRM</i>) as determined in the Final Determination for the relevant distribution business.
CPI_t	is CPI for <i>regulatory year t</i> , calculated as set out in the WAPC formula.

3.1.1. Calculation of KPy_t

 KPy_t is determined with reference to the formula in this section. The formula may be amended by the AER but only for the purpose of correcting manifest errors and/or omissions and only after consulting with relevant stakeholders.

 $KPy_t = PRe_{t-1} - PCe_{t-1}$

Where:

regulatory year "t"	is the regulatory year in respect of which the calculation is being made
regulatory year "t-1"	is the regulatory year immediately preceding regulatory year " t "
<i>KPy</i> _t	(in ϕ) is a correction factor for <i>regulatory year t-1</i>
PRe _{t-1}	(in ϕ) is calculated in accordance with section 3.1.1.1 for <i>regulatory year t-1</i>
PCe _{t-1}	(in ϕ) is the aggregate of all estimated passthrough factor charges and estimated passthrough factor revenues which the distribution business is expected to pay and entitled to receive in <i>regulatory year t-1</i>

3.1.1.1.Estimated Passthrough Revenue (PRet)

 PRe_t is determined with reference to the formula in this section. The formula may be amended by the AER but only for the purpose of correcting manifest errors and/or omissions and only after consulting with relevant stakeholders.

$$PRe_{t} = \left(\sum_{i=1}^{n} \sum_{j=1}^{m} p_{t}^{'ij} \times q_{t}^{'ij}\right) \times P'_{t}$$

Where:

regulatory year "t"	is the regulatory year in respect of which the calculation is being made
PRe _t	(in ϕ) the total revenue which it is estimated the distribution business will earn from its passthrough factor in respect of all distribution customers in <i>regulatory year t</i>
$p^{ij}{}_t$	is calculated in accordance with section 4.1 for <i>regulatory year t</i>
$q^{ij}{}_t$	is the estimated quantity of distribution tariff component j of distribution tariff i in <i>regulatory year t</i>
P'_t	is calculated in accordance with section 2 in <i>regulatory year t</i>

3.1.2. Calculation of KPz_t

 KPz_t is expressed by the formula in this section. The formula may be amended by the AER but only for the purpose of correcting manifest errors and/or omissions and only after consulting with relevant stakeholders.

$$KPz_{t} = \{(PRa_{t-2} - PRe_{t-2}) - (PCa_{t-2} - PCe_{t-2})\} \times (1 + pretaxWACC_{D}) \times (1 + CPI_{t-1})$$

Where:

regulatory year "t"	is the regulatory year in respect of which the calculation is being made
regulatory year "t-1"	is the regulatory year immediately preceding <i>regulatory year</i> " t "
regulatory year "t-2"	is the regulatory year immediately preceding <i>regulatory year "t-1"</i>
KPz _t	(in ϕ) is a correction amount for the difference between amounts calculated in section 3.1.1 in <i>regulatory year</i> $t-1$ and actual values
PRa_{t-2}	(in ϕ) is calculated in accordance with section 3.1.2.1 in <i>regulatory year</i> $t-2$
PRe _{t-2}	(in ϕ) is the figure used for PRe_{t-1} when calculating KPy_t under section 3.1.1 for <i>regulatory year</i> $t-1$
PCa_{t-2}	(in ϕ) is the audited aggregate of all passthrough factor charges and passthrough factor revenues which were paid or received by the distribution business, where passthrough amounts approved by the AER for <i>regulatory year</i> $t-2$
PCe _{t-2}	(in ϕ) is the amount calculated for PCe_{t-1} when calculating KPy_t under section 3.1.1 for <i>regulatory year</i> $t-1$
CPI _{t-1}	is as set out in section 3.1
pretax WACC _D	is as set out in section 3.1

3.1.2.1. Calculation of PRa_t

 PRa_t is expressed by the formula in this section. The formula may be amended by the AER but only for the purpose of correcting manifest errors and/or omissions and only after consulting with relevant stakeholders.

 $PRa_t = Ra_t - Ra''_t$

Where

regulatory year "t"	is the regulatory year in respect of which the calculation is being made
<i>PRa</i> ^t	(in ϕ) is the calculated revenue earned by the distribution business from the P factor in <i>regulatory year t</i>
Ra_t	(in ϕ) is calculated in accordance with section 3.1.2.1.1 for <i>regulatory year t</i>
Ra''_t	(in ϕ) is calculated in accordance with section 3.1.2.1.2 for <i>regulatory year t</i>

3.1.2.1.1. Calculation of Ra_t

 Ra_t is expressed by the formula in this section. The formula may be amended by the AER but only for the purpose of correcting manifest errors and/or omissions and only after consulting with relevant stakeholders.

$$Ra_t = \sum_{i=1}^n \sum_{j=1}^m p_t^{ij} \times q_t^{ij}$$

Where

regulatory year "t"	is the regulatory year in respect of which the calculation is being made
Ra_t	(in ϕ) is the calculated Weighted Average Price Cap (WAPC) revenue earned in <i>regulatory year t</i>
p^{ij} t	is the distribution tariff rate for component j of distribution tariff i in regulatory year t
$q^{ij}{}_t$	is the actual audited quantity of distribution tariff component j of distribution tariff i in regulatory year t

3.1.2.1.2. Calculation of Ra''_t

 Ra''_t is expressed by the formula in this section. The formula may be amended by the AER but only for the purpose of correcting manifest errors and/or omissions and only after consulting with relevant stakeholders.

$$Ra_t = \sum_{i=1}^n \sum_{j=1}^m p_t^{ij} \times q_t^{ij}$$

Where

regulatory year "t"	is the regulatory year in respect of which the calculation is being made
Ra''_t	(in ϕ) is the calculated revenue earned without <i>P</i> ' factor in <i>regulatory year t</i>
Ra_t	(in ϕ) is calculated in accordance with section 3.1.2.1.1 for <i>regulatory year t</i>
P'_t	is calculated in accordance with section 2 for regulatory year t

4. Calculation of Rf_t

 Rf_t is expressed by the formula in this section. The formula may be amended by the AER but only for the purpose of correcting manifest errors and/or omissions and only after consulting with relevant stakeholders.

$$Rf_t = \sum_{i=1}^n \sum_{j=1}^m p_t^{ij} \times q_t^{ij}$$

Where

regulatory year "t"is the regulatory year in respect of which the calculation is being
made Rf_t (in \notin) is the forecast revenue expected to be earned without the
 P_t in the regulatory year t p^{ij}_t is the distribution tariff rate for component j of distribution tariff
i in regulatory year t q^{ij}_t is the forecast quantity of distribution tariff component j of
distribution tariff j in regulatory year t

4.1. Price without current year *P* factor

 p^{ij}_{t} is expressed by the formula in this section. The formula may be amended by the AER but only for the purpose of correcting manifest errors and/or omissions and only after consulting with relevant stakeholders.

$$p_{t}^{ij} = p_{t-1}^{ij} \times (1 + CPI_t) \times (1 - X_t) \times (1 + S_t) \times (1 + L_t)$$

Where:

regulatory year "t"	is the regulatory year in respect of which the calculation is being made
regulatory year "t-1"	is the regulatory year immediately preceding <i>regulatory year</i> " t "
$p^{ij}{}_t$	is the theoretical price of the distribution tariff rate in <i>regulatory</i> year t without the P_t for each tariff component j of tariff i
<i>p^{ij}</i> _{<i>t</i>-1}	is the distribution tariff rate for component j of distribution tariff i in regulatory year t -1
CPI_t	is as set out in section 3.1 for <i>regulatory year t</i>
X_t	is the value of X for year t of the regulatory control period as determined by the AER
S_t	is the Service Target Performance Incentive Scheme factor to be applied in regulatory year <i>t</i>
L_t	is the licence fee adjustment to be applied in regulatory year t

Transmission-Related Costs Implementation Formulae

The WAPC terms must be calculated in the correct sequence as each factor feeds into the calculation of the subsequent factors. This is necessary to ensure the correct treatment of each term. In the case of *TRC* factor the term must be calculated after *CPI*, *X*, *S*, *L* and *P* factors.

1. Transmission-related costs factor

The transmission-related costs adjustment (TRC_t) to the WAPC and in the *regulatory year t*, for a given DNSP is expressed by the formula set out below.

The formula may be amended by the AER but only for the purpose of correcting manifest errors and/or omissions and only after consulting with relevant stakeholders.

The transmission-related costs adjustment (TRC_t) that will apply in *regulatory year t* after the regulatory year ending 31 December 2010, for each DNSP, is:

$$TRC_{t} = \left(\frac{1 + TRC'_{t}}{1 + TRC'_{t-1}}\right) - 1$$

Where

- *regulatory year "t"* is the regulatory year in respect of which the calculation is being made
- *regulatory year "t-1"* is the regulatory year immediately preceding *regulatory year "t"*
- TRC_t is the transmission-related costs factor which is calculated by
determining the transmission-related costs factor for *regulatory*
year t and backing out the transmission-related costs factor for
regulatory year t-1
- TRC'_t is calculated in accordance with section 2 for *regulatory year t*
- *TRC'*_{*t-1*} (a) if *regulatory* year *t* is prior to calendar year ending 31 December 2012, is zero

(b) if *regulatory* year t is after calendar year ending 31 December 2011, is the value of TRC'_t determined in the *regulatory year t*-1

2. Calculation of TRC'_t

 TRC'_t is expressed by the formula as set out below. The formula may be amended by the AER but only for the purpose of correcting manifest errors and/or omissions and only after consulting with relevant stakeholders.

$$TRC'_{t} = \frac{MTRCR_{t}}{Rf_{t}}$$

Where

regulatory year "t"	is the regulatory year in respect of which the calculation is being made
TRC'_t	is the calculated transmission-related costs factor for <i>regulatory year t</i> only.
MTRCR _t	(in ϕ) is calculated in accordance with section 3 for <i>regulatory</i> year t
Rf_t	(in ϕ) is calculated in accordance with section 4 for <i>regulatory year t</i>

3. Calculation of MTRCR_t

 $MTRCR_t$ is expressed by the formula as set out below. The formula may be amended by the AER but only for the purpose of correcting manifest errors and/or omissions and only after consulting with relevant stakeholders.

 $MTRCR_t = TRCCf_t - KTRC_t$

Where:

regulatory year "t"	is the regulatory year in respect of which the calculation is being made
MTRCR _t	(in ϕ) is the maximum revenue the DNSP is allowed to receive from transmission-related costs revenue from all distribution customers for the <i>regulatory year t</i>
TRCCf _t	(in ϕ) is the aggregate of all forecast transmission-related costs factor charges which the distribution business is expected to pay in <i>regulatory year t</i>
KTRC _t	(in ϕ) is determined in accordance with section 3.1 for <i>regulatory year t</i>

3.1. Correction Factor *KTRC*_t

 $KTRC_t$ is determined by reference to the formula set out below. The formula may be amended by the AER but only for the purpose of correcting manifest errors and/or omissions and only after consulting with relevant stakeholders.

 $KTRC_{t} = (KTRCy_{t} + KTRCz_{t} + KTRC_{t-1}) \times (1 + CPI_{t}) \times (1 + pretaxWACC_{D})$

Where:

regulatory year "t"	is the regulatory year in respect of which the calculation is being made
regulatory year "t-1"	is the regulatory year immediately preceding <i>regulatory year</i> " t "
KTRC _t	(in ¢) is a correction factor to account for any under or over recovery of actual transmission-related costs revenue for <i>regulatory year</i> $t-1$
<i>KTRCy</i> _t	(in ϕ) is calculated in accordance with section 3.1.1 for <i>regulatory year t</i>
$KTRCz_t$	(in ϕ) is calculated in accordance with section 3.1.2 for <i>regulatory year t</i>
KTRC _{t-1}	(in ϕ) is the figure calculated for <i>KTRC</i> ^{<i>t</i>} for <i>regulatory year t</i> -1
pretax WACC _D	is as set out in the Post Tax Revenue Model (<i>PTRM</i>) as determined in the Final Determination for the relevant distribution business.
CPI_t	is CPI for <i>regulatory year t</i> , calculated as set out in the WAPC formula.

3.1.1. Calculation of *KTRCy*_t

 $KTRCy_t$ is determined with reference to the formula in this section. The formula may be amended by the AER but only for the purpose of correcting manifest errors and/or omissions and only after consulting with relevant stakeholders.

 $KTRCy_{t} = TRCRe_{t-1} - TRCCe_{t-1}$

Where:

regulatory year "t" is the regulatory year in respect of which the calculation is being made

regulatory year "t-1"	is the regulatory year immediately preceding <i>regulatory year</i> "t"
KTRCy _t	(in ϕ) is a correction factor for <i>regulatory year t-1</i>
TRCRe _{t-1}	(in ¢) is calculated in accordance with section 3.1.1.1 for <i>regulatory year t-1</i>
TRCCe _{t-1}	(in ϕ) is the aggregate of all estimated transmission-related costs factor charges which the distribution business is expected to pay in <i>regulatory year t-1</i>

3.1.1.1.Estimated Transmission-related costs Revenue (TRCRet)

 $TRCRe_t$ is determined with reference to the formula in this section. The formula may be amended by the AER but only for the purpose of correcting manifest errors and/or omissions and only after consulting with relevant stakeholders.

$$TRCRe_{t} = \left(\sum_{i=1}^{n}\sum_{j=1}^{m} p'_{t}^{ij} \times q_{t}^{ij}\right) \times TRC'_{t}$$

Where:

regulatory year "t"	is the regulatory year in respect of which the calculation is being made
<i>TRCRe</i> _t	(in ϕ) the total revenue which it is estimated the distribution business will earn from its transmission-related costs factor in respect of all distribution customers in <i>regulatory year t</i>
$p^{ij}{}_{t}$	is calculated in accordance with section 4.1 for <i>regulatory year t</i>
$q^{ij}{}_t$	is the estimated quantity of distribution tariff component j of distribution tariff i in <i>regulatory year t</i>
TRC'_t	is calculated in accordance with section 2 in <i>regulatory year t</i>

3.1.2. Calculation of *KTRCz*_t

 $KTRCz_t$ is expressed by the formula in this section. The formula may be amended by the AER but only for the purpose of correcting manifest errors and/or omissions and only after consulting with relevant stakeholders.

 $KTRCz_{t} = \left\{ (TRCRa_{t-2} - TRCRe_{t-2}) - (TRCCa_{t-2} - TRCCe_{t-2}) \right\} \times (1 + pretaxWACC_{D}) \times (1 + CPI_{t-1})$

Where:

regulatory year "t"	is the regulatory year in respect of which the calculation is being made
regulatory year "t-1"	is the regulatory year immediately preceding regulatory year " t "
regulatory year "t-2"	is the regulatory year immediately preceding <i>regulatory year "t-1"</i>
KTRCz _t	(in ϕ) is a correction amount for the difference between amounts calculated in section 3.1.1 in <i>regulatory year</i> $t-1$ and actual values
$TRCRa_{t-2}$	(in ¢) is calculated in accordance with section 3.1.2.1 in <i>regulatory year</i> $t-2$
TRCRe _{t-2}	(in ϕ) is the figure used for <i>TRCRe</i> _{<i>t</i>-1} when calculating <i>KTRCy</i> _{<i>t</i>} under section 3.1.1 for <i>regulatory year t</i> -1
TRCCa _{t-2}	(in ϕ) is the audited aggregate of all transmission-related costs factor charges and transmission-related costs factor revenues which were paid or received by the distribution business, where transmission-related costs amounts are approved by the AER for <i>regulatory year t</i> -2
$TRCCe_{t-2}$	(in ϕ) is the amount calculated for <i>TRCCe</i> _{<i>t</i>-1} when calculating <i>KTRCy</i> _{<i>t</i>} under section 3.1.1 for <i>regulatory year t</i> -1
CPI _{t-1}	is as set out in section 3.1
pretax WACC _D	is as set out in section 3.1

3.1.2.1.Calculation of TRCRa_t

 $TRCRa_t$ is expressed by the formula in this section. The formula may be amended by the AER but only for the purpose of correcting manifest errors and/or omissions and only after consulting with relevant stakeholders.

 $TRCRa_t = Ra_t - Ra''_t$ Whereregulatory year "t" is the regulatory year in respect of which the calculation is being
made $TRCRa_t$ (in ϕ) is the calculated revenue earned by the distribution
business from the TRC factor in regulatory year t

Ra_t	(in ¢) is cal <i>regulatory ye</i>	lculated in ear t	n accordance	with	section	3.1.2.1.1	for
Ra''_t	(in ¢) is cal <i>regulatory ye</i>	lculated in ear t	n accordance	with	section	3.1.2.1.2	for

3.1.2.1.1. Calculation of Ra_t

 Ra_t is expressed by the formula in this section. The formula may be amended by the AER but only for the purpose of correcting manifest errors and/or omissions and only after consulting with relevant stakeholders.

$$Ra_t = \sum_{i=1}^n \sum_{j=1}^m p_t^{ij} \times q_t^{ij}$$

Where

regulatory year "t"is the regulatory year in respect of which the calculation is being
made Ra_t (in \notin) is the calculated Weighted Average Price Cap (WAPC)
revenue earned in regulatory year t p^{ij}_t is the distribution tariff rate for component j of distribution tariff
i in regulatory year t q^{ij}_t is the actual audited quantity of distribution tariff component j
of distribution tariff i in regulatory year t

3.1.2.1.2. Calculation of Ra''_t

 Ra''_t is expressed by the formula in this section. The formula may be amended by the AER but only for the purpose of correcting manifest errors and/or omissions and only after consulting with relevant stakeholders.

$$Ra''_{t} = \frac{Ra_{t}}{(1 + TRC'_{t})}$$

Where

regulatory year "t" is the regulatory year in respect of which the calculation is being made

Ra''_t	(in ϕ) is the calculated revenue earned without <i>TRC'</i> factor in <i>regulatory year t</i>
Ra_t	(in ϕ) is calculated in accordance with section 3.1.2.1.1 for <i>regulatory year t</i>
TRC'_t	is calculated in accordance with section 2 for <i>regulatory year t</i>

4. Calculation of Rf_t

 Rf_t is expressed by the formula in this section. The formula may be amended by the AER but only for the purpose of correcting manifest errors and/or omissions and only after consulting with relevant stakeholders.

$$Rf_t = \sum_{i=1}^n \sum_{j=1}^m p_t^{ij} \times q_t^{ij}$$

Where

regulatory year "t"	is the regulatory year in respect of which the calculation is being made
Rf_t	(in ϕ) is the forecast revenue expected to be earned without the <i>TRC</i> _t in the <i>regulatory year t</i>
$p^{ij}{}_t$	is the distribution tariff rate for component j of distribution tariff i in regulatory year t calculated in accordance with section 4.1 for <i>regulatory year t</i>
$q^{ij}{}_t$	is the forecast quantity of distribution tariff component <i>j</i> of distribution tariff <i>i</i> in <i>regulatory year t</i>

4.1. Price without current year TRC factor

 p^{ij} is expressed by the formula in this section. The formula may be amended by the AER but only for the purpose of correcting manifest errors and/or omissions and only after consulting with relevant stakeholders.

$$p_{t}^{ij} = p_{t-1}^{ij} \times (1 + CPI_t) \times (1 - X_t) \times (1 + S_t) \times (1 + L_t) \times (1 + P_t)$$

Where:

regulatory year "t" is the regulatory year in respect of which the calculation is being made

regulatory year "t-1"	is the regulatory year immediately preceding <i>regulatory year</i> " t "
$p^{ij}{}_{t}$	is the theoretical price of the distribution tariff rate in <i>regulatory year t</i> without the TRC_t for each tariff component <i>j</i> of tariff <i>i</i>
$p^{ij}{}_{t-1}$	is the distribution tariff rate for component j of distribution tariff i in regulatory year t -1
CPI_t	is as set out in section 3.1 for <i>regulatory year t</i>
X_t	is the value of X for year t of the regulatory control period as determined by the AER
S_t	is the Service Target Performance Incentive Scheme factor to be applied in regulatory year <i>t</i>
L_t	is the licence fee adjustment to be applied in regulatory year t
P_t	is passthrough adjustment for regulatory year t

S-Factor true-up Implementation Formulae

The WAPC terms must be calculated in the correct sequence as each factor feeds into the calculation of the subsequent factors. This is necessary to ensure the correct treatment of each term. In the case of T factor the term must be calculated after *CPI*, X, S, L, P and *TRC* factors.

1. S-Factor true-up factor

The S-Factor true-up factor (T_t) to the WAPC and in the *regulatory year t*, for a given DNSP is expressed by the formula set out below.

The formula may be amended by the AER but only for the purpose of correcting manifest errors and/or omissions and only after consulting with relevant stakeholders.

The S-Factor true-up factor (T_t) that will apply in *regulatory year t* after the regulatory year ending 31 December 2010, for each DNSP, is:

$$T_t = \left(\frac{1+T'_t}{1+T'_{t-1}}\right) - 1$$

Where

regulatory year "t"	is the regulatory year in respect of which the calculation is being made
regulatory year "t-1"	is the regulatory year immediately preceding regulatory year " t "
T_t	is the S-Factor true-up factor which is calculated by determining the S-Factor true-up factor for <i>regulatory</i> year <i>t</i> and backing out the S-factor true-up factor for <i>regulatory</i> year $t-1$
T'_t	is calculated in accordance with section 2 for <i>regulatory year t</i>
<i>T</i> ′′ _{<i>t-1</i>}	(a) if <i>regulatory</i> year t is prior to calendar year ending 31 December 2012, is zero
	(b) if <i>regulatory</i> year <i>t</i> is after calendar year ending 31 December 2011, is the value of T'_t determined in the <i>regulatory</i> year $t-1$

2. Calculation of T'_t

 T'_t is expressed by the formula as set out below. The formula may be amended by the AER but only for the purpose of correcting manifest errors and/or omissions and only after consulting with relevant stakeholders.

$$T'_{t} = \frac{MSR_{t}}{Rf_{t}}$$
Where

$$regulatory \ year \ "t" \qquad \text{is the regulatory year in respect of which the calculation is being made}$$

$$T'_{t} \qquad \qquad \text{is the calculated S-Factor true-up factor for regulatory year t}$$

$$MSR_{t} \qquad \qquad (\text{in } \phi) \text{ is calculated in accordance with section 3 for regulatory}$$

$$Rf_{t} \qquad \qquad (\text{in } \phi) \text{ is calculated in accordance with section 4 for regulatory}$$

$$Rf_{t} \qquad \qquad (\text{in } \phi) \text{ is calculated in accordance with section 4 for regulatory}$$

3. Calculation of MSR_t

 MSR_t is expressed by the formula as set out below. The formula may be amended by the AER but only for the purpose of correcting manifest errors and/or omissions and only after consulting with relevant stakeholders.

 $MSR_t = TCf_t - KT_t$

Where:

regulatory year "t"	is the regulatory year in respect of which the calculation is being made
MSR _t	(in ϕ) is the maximum revenue the DNSP is allowed to receive from S-Factor true-up revenue from all distribution customers for the <i>regulatory year t</i>
TCf_t	(in ϕ) is the aggregate of all forecast S-Factor true-up factor charges and forecast S-Factor true-up factor revenues which the distribution business is expected to pay and entitled to receive in <i>regulatory year t</i>
KT _t	(in ϕ) is determined in accordance with section 3.1 for <i>regulatory year t</i>

3.1. Correction Factor *KT*_t

 KT_t is determined by reference to the formula set out below. The formula may be amended by the AER but only for the purpose of correcting manifest errors and/or omissions and only after consulting with relevant stakeholders.

 $KT_{t} = (KTy_{t} + KTz_{t} + KT_{t-1}) \times (1 + CPI_{t}) \times (1 + pretaxWACC_{D})$

Where:

regulatory year "t"	is the regulatory year in respect of which the calculation is being made
regulatory year "t-1"	is the regulatory year immediately preceding <i>regulatory year</i> " t "
KT _t	(in ¢) is a correction factor to account for any under or over recovery of actual S-Factor true-up revenue for <i>regulatory year</i> $t-1$
<i>KTy</i> _t	(in ϕ) is calculated in accordance with section 3.1.1 for <i>regulatory year t</i>
KTz_t	(in ϕ) is calculated in accordance with section 3.1.2 for <i>regulatory year t</i>
<i>KT</i> _{<i>t</i>-1}	(in ϕ) is the figure calculated for KT_t for regulatory year $t-1$
pretax WACC _D	is as set out in the Post Tax Revenue Model (<i>PTRM</i>) as determined in the Final Determination for the relevant distribution business.
CPI_t	is CPI for <i>regulatory year t</i> , calculated as set out in the WAPC formula.

3.1.1. Calculation of KTy_t

 KTy_t is determined with reference to the formula in this section. The formula may be amended by the AER but only for the purpose of correcting manifest errors and/or omissions and only after consulting with relevant stakeholders.

 $KTy_t = TRe_{t-1} - TCe_{t-1}$

Where:

regulatory year "t"

is the regulatory year in respect of which the calculation is being made

regulatory year "t-1" is the regulatory year immediately preceding *regulatory year "t"*

- KTy_t (in ¢) is a correction factor for *regulatory year t-1*
- *TRe*_{*t*-1} (in ϕ) is calculated in accordance with section 3.1.1.1 for *regulatory year t*-1
- TCe_{t-1} (in ¢) is the aggregate of all estimated S-Factor true-up factor charges and estimated S-Factor true-up factor revenues which the distribution business is expected to pay and entitled to receive in *regulatory year t-1*

3.1.1.1.Estimated S-Factor true-up Revenue (TRe_t)

 TRe_t is determined with reference to the formula in this section. The formula may be amended by the AER but only for the purpose of correcting manifest errors and/or omissions and only after consulting with relevant stakeholders.

$$TRe_{t} = \left(\sum_{i=1}^{n} \sum_{j=1}^{m} p_{t}^{ij} \times q_{t}^{ij}\right) \times T'_{t}$$

Where:

regulatory year "t"	is the regulatory year in respect of which the calculation is being made
TRe_t	(in ϕ) the total revenue which it is estimated the distribution business will earn from its S-Factor true-up factor in respect of all distribution customers in <i>regulatory year t</i>
$p^{ij}{}_t$	is calculated in accordance with section 4.1 for <i>regulatory year t</i>
$q^{ij}{}_t$	is the estimated quantity of distribution tariff component <i>j</i> of distribution tariff <i>i</i> in <i>regulatory year t</i>
T'_t	is calculated in accordance with section 2 in regulatory year t

3.1.2. Calculation of KTz_t

 KTz_t is expressed by the formula in this section. The formula may be amended by the AER but only for the purpose of correcting manifest errors and/or omissions and only after consulting with relevant stakeholders.

$$KTz_{t} = \{ (TRa_{t-2} - TRe_{t-2}) - (TCa_{t-2} - TCe_{t-2}) \} \times (1 + pretaxWACC_{D}) \times (1 + CPI_{t-1})$$

regulatory year "t"	is the regulatory year in respect of which the calculation is being made
regulatory year "t-1"	is the regulatory year immediately preceding <i>regulatory year</i> " t "
regulatory year "t-2"	is the regulatory year immediately preceding <i>regulatory year "t-1"</i>
KTz _t	(in ¢) is a correction amount for the difference between amounts calculated in section 3.1.1 in <i>regulatory year</i> $t-1$ and actual values
TRa _{t-2}	(in ϕ) is calculated in accordance with section 3.1.2.1 in <i>regulatory year</i> $t-2$
TRe _{t-2}	(in ϕ) is the figure used for TRe_{t-1} when calculating KTy_t under section 3.1.1 for <i>regulatory year</i> $t-1$
TCa _{t-2}	(in ϕ) is the audited aggregate of all S-Factor true-up factor charges and S-Factor true-up factor revenues which were paid or received by the distribution business, where S-factor true-up amounts approved by the AER for <i>regulatory year t</i> -2
TCe _{t-2}	(in ϕ) is the amount calculated for TCe_{t-1} when calculating KTy_t under section 3.1.1 for <i>regulatory year</i> $t-1$
CPI _{t-1}	is as set out in section 3.1
pretax WACC _D	is as set out in section 3.1

3.1.2.1. Calculation of TRa_t

 $TRa_t = Ra_t - Ra''_t$

Where:

 TRa_t is expressed by the formula in this section. The formula may be amended by the AER but only for the purpose of correcting manifest errors and/or omissions and only after consulting with relevant stakeholders.

Whereregulatory year "t"is the regulatory year in respect of which the calculation is being
made TRa_t (in ϕ) is the calculated revenue earned by the distribution
business from the T factor in regulatory year t

Ra_t	(in ¢) is regulator	calculated <i>ry year t</i>	in	accordance	with	section	3.1.2.1.1	for
Ra''_t	(in ¢) is	calculated	in	accordance	with	section	3.1.2.1.2	for

3.1.2.1.1. Calculation of Ra_t

regulatory year t

 Ra_t is expressed by the formula in this section. The formula may be amended by the AER but only for the purpose of correcting manifest errors and/or omissions and only after consulting with relevant stakeholders.

$$Ra_t = \sum_{i=1}^n \sum_{j=1}^m p_t^{ij} \times q_t^{ij}$$

Where

regulatory year "t"is the regulatory year in respect of which the calculation is being
made Ra_t (in ϕ) is the calculated Weighted Average Price Cap (WAPC)
revenue earned in regulatory year t p^{ij}_t is the distribution tariff rate for component j of distribution tariff
i in regulatory year t q^{ij}_t is the actual audited quantity of distribution tariff component j
of distribution tariff i in regulatory year t

3.1.2.1.2. Calculation of Ra''_t

 Ra''_t is expressed by the formula in this section. The formula may be amended by the AER but only for the purpose of correcting manifest errors and/or omissions and only after consulting with relevant stakeholders.

$$Ra''_{t} = \frac{Ra_{t}}{(1+T'_{t})}$$

Where

regulatory year "t" is the regulatory year in respect of which the calculation is being made

Ra'' _t	(in ϕ) is the calculated revenue earned without <i>T</i> factor in <i>regulatory year t</i>
Ra_t	(in ϕ) is calculated in accordance with section 3.1.2.1.1 for <i>regulatory year t</i>
T'_t	is calculated in accordance with section 2 for <i>regulatory year t</i>

4. Calculation of Rf_t

 Rf_t is expressed by the formula in this section. The formula may be amended by the AER but only for the purpose of correcting manifest errors and/or omissions and only after consulting with relevant stakeholders.

$$Rf_t = \sum_{i=1}^n \sum_{j=1}^m p_t^{ij} \times q_t^{ij}$$

Where

regulatory year "t"	is the regulatory year in respect of which the calculation is being made
Rf_t	(in ϕ) is the forecast revenue expected to be earned without the T_t in the <i>regulatory year t</i>
$p^{ij}{}_t$	is the distribution tariff rate for component j of distribution tariff i in regulatory year t calculated in accordance with section 4.1 for <i>regulatory year t</i>
$q^{ij}{}_t$	is the forecast quantity of distribution tariff component <i>j</i> of distribution tariff <i>i</i> in <i>regulatory year t</i>

4.1. Price without current year *T* factor

 p^{ij} is expressed by the formula in this section. The formula may be amended by the AER but only for the purpose of correcting manifest errors and/or omissions and only after consulting with relevant stakeholders.

$$p_{t}^{ij} = p_{t-1}^{ij} \times (1 + CPI_t) \times (1 - X_t) \times (1 + S_t) \times (1 + L_t) \times (1 + P_t) \times (1 + TRC_t)$$

Where:

regulatory year "t" is the regulatory year in respect of which the calculation is being made

regulatory year "t-1"	is the regulatory year immediately preceding regulatory year " t "
$p^{ij}{}_t$	is the theoretical price of the distribution tariff rate in <i>regulatory</i> year t without the P_t for each tariff component j of tariff i
$p^{ij}{}_{t-1}$	is the distribution tariff rate for component j of distribution tariff i in regulatory year t -1
CPI_t	is as set out in section 3.1 for <i>regulatory year t</i>
X_t	is the value of X for year t of the regulatory control period as determined by the AER
S_t	is the Service Target Performance Incentive Scheme factor to be applied in regulatory year <i>t</i>
L_t	is the licence fee adjustment to be applied in regulatory year t
P_t	is passthrough adjustment for regulatory year t
TRC_t	is transmission-related costs for regulatory year t

K-Factor True-up Implementation Formulae

The WAPC terms must be calculated in the correct sequence as each factor feeds into the calculation of the subsequent factors. This is necessary to ensure the correct treatment of each term. In the case of KAY factor the term must be calculated after CPI, X, S, L, P, TRC, and T factors.

1. K-Factor True-up factor

The K-Factor True-up factor (KAY_t) to the WAPC and in the *regulatory year t*, for a given DNSP is expressed by the formula set out below.

The formula may be amended by the AER but only for the purpose of correcting manifest errors and/or omissions and only after consulting with relevant stakeholders.

The K-Factor True-up factor (KAY_t) that will apply in *regulatory year t* after the regulatory year ending 31 December 2010, for each DNSP, is:

$$KAY_{t} = \left(\frac{1 + KAY'_{t}}{1 + KAY'_{t-1}}\right) - 1$$

Where

regulatory year "t"	is the regulatory year in respect of which the calculation is being made
regulatory year "t-1"	is the regulatory year immediately preceding regulatory year " t "
KAY _t	is the K-Factor True-up factor which is calculated by determining the raw K-Factor True-up factor for <i>regulatory</i> year t and backing out the raw K-Factor True-up factor for <i>regulatory year t-1</i>
KAY' _t	is calculated in accordance with section 2 for <i>regulatory year t</i>
KAY' _{t-1}	(a) if <i>regulatory</i> year t is prior to calendar year ending 31 December 2012, is zero
	(b) if <i>regulatory</i> year <i>t</i> is after calendar year ending 31 December 2011, is the value of KAY'_t determined in the <i>regulatory year t</i> -1

2. Calculation of KAY'_t

 KAY'_t is expressed by the formula as set out below. The formula may be amended by the AER but only for the purpose of correcting manifest errors and/or omissions and only after consulting with relevant stakeholders.

$$KAY'_{t} = \frac{MKAYR_{t}}{Rf_{t}}$$

Where

regulatory year "t"	is the regulatory year in respect of which the calculation is being made
KAY' _t	is the calculated raw K-factor true-up factor for <i>regulatory year t</i> only.
MKAYR _t	(in ϕ) is calculated in accordance with section 3 for <i>regulatory</i> year t
Rf_t	(in ϕ) is calculated in accordance with section 4 for <i>regulatory</i> year t

3. Calculation of $MKAYR_t$

 $MKAYR_t$ is expressed by the formula as set out below. The formula may be amended by the AER but only for the purpose of correcting manifest errors and/or omissions and only after consulting with relevant stakeholders.

 $MKAYR_{t} = KAYCf_{t} - KKAY_{t}$

Where:

regulatory year "t"is the regulatory year in respect of which the calculation is being
made $MKAYR_t$ (in ϕ) is the maximum revenue the DNSP is allowed to receive
from K-Factor True-up revenue from all distribution customers
for the regulatory year t $KAYCf_t$ (in ϕ) is the aggregate of all forecast K-Factor True-up factor
charges and forecast K-Factor True-up factor revenues which
the distribution business is expected to pay and entitled to
receive in regulatory year t $KKAY_t$ (in ϕ) is determined in accordance with section 3.1 for
regulatory year t

3.1. Correction Factor *KKAY*_t

 $KKAY_t$ is determined by reference to the formula set out below. The formula may be amended by the AER but only for the purpose of correcting manifest errors and/or omissions and only after consulting with relevant stakeholders.
$KKAY_{t} = (KKAYy_{t} + KKAYz_{t} + KKAY_{t-1}) \times (1 + CPI_{t}) \times (1 + pretaxWACC_{D})$

Where:

regulatory year "t"	is the regulatory year in respect of which the calculation is being made				
regulatory year "t-1"	is the regulatory year immediately preceding <i>regulatory year</i> " t "				
KKAY _t	(in ϕ) is a correction factor to account for any under or over recovery of actual K-Factor True-up revenue for <i>regulatory year</i> t-1				
KKAYy _t	(in ϕ) is calculated in accordance with section 3.1.1 for <i>regulatory year t</i>				
KKAYz _t	(in ϕ) is calculated in accordance with section 3.1.2 for <i>regulatory year t</i>				
KKAY _{t-1}	(in ¢) is the figure calculated for <i>KKAY</i> ^t for <i>regulatory year</i> $t-1$				
pretax WACC _D	is as set out in the Post Tax Revenue Model (<i>PTRM</i>) as determined in the Final Determination for the relevant distribution business.				
CPI_t	is CPI for <i>regulatory year t</i> , calculated as set out in the WAPC formula.				

3.1.1. Calculation of *KKAYy*_t

 $KKAYy_t$ is determined with reference to the formula in this section. The formula may be amended by the AER but only for the purpose of correcting manifest errors and/or omissions and only after consulting with relevant stakeholders.

 $KKAYy_t = KAYRe_{t-1} - KAYCe_{t-1}$ Where:regulatory year "t" is the regulatory year in respect of which the calculation is being
maderegulatory year "t-1" is the regulatory year immediately preceding regulatory year
"t" $KKAYy_t$ $(in \ e)$ is a correction factor for regulatory year t-1

KAYRe_{t-1} (in ¢) is calculated in accordance with section 3.1.1.1 for *regulatory year t-1 KAYCe_{t-1}* (in ¢) is the aggregate of all estimated K-Factor True-up factor charges and estimated K-Factor True-up factor revenues which the distribution business is expected to pay and entitled to

3.1.1.1.Estimated K-Factor True-up Revenue (*KAYRe*_t)

receive in *regulatory year t-1*

 $KAYRe_t$ is determined with reference to the formula in this section. The formula may be amended by the AER but only for the purpose of correcting manifest errors and/or omissions and only after consulting with relevant stakeholders.

$$KAYRe_{t} = \left(\sum_{i=1}^{n}\sum_{j=1}^{m} p_{t}^{'ij} \times q_{t}^{'ij}\right) \times KAY'_{t}$$

Where:

regulatory year "t" is the regulatory year in respect of which the calculation is being made

<i>KAYRe</i> _t	(in ϕ) the total revenue which it is estimated the distribution business will earn from its K-Factor True-up factor in respect of all distribution customers in <i>regulatory year t</i>
$p^{\prime ij}{}_t$	is calculated in accordance with section 4.1 for regulatory year t
$q^{ij}{}_t$	is the estimated quantity of distribution tariff component <i>j</i> of distribution tariff <i>i</i> in <i>regulatory year t</i>
KAY'_t	is calculated in accordance with section 2 in regulatory year t

3.1.2. Calculation of $KKAYz_t$

 $KKAYz_t$ is expressed by the formula in this section. The formula may be amended by the AER but only for the purpose of correcting manifest errors and/or omissions and only after consulting with relevant stakeholders.

$$KKAYz_{t} = \{(KAYRa_{t-2} - KAYRe_{t-2}) - (KAYCa_{t-2} - KAYCe_{t-2})\} \times (1 + pretaxWACC_{D}) \times (1 + CPI_{t-1})$$

Where:

regulatory year "t" is the regulatory year in respect of which the calculation is being made

regulatory year "t-1"	is the regulatory year immediately preceding <i>regulatory year</i> " t "
regulatory year "t-2"	is the regulatory year immediately preceding <i>regulatory year "t-1"</i>
KKAYz _t	(in ϕ) is a correction amount for the difference between amounts calculated in section 3.1.1 in <i>regulatory year</i> $t-1$ and actual values
KAYRa _{t-2}	(in ¢) is calculated in accordance with section 3.1.2.1 in <i>regulatory year</i> $t-2$
KAYRe _{t-2}	(in ϕ) is the figure used for <i>KAYRe</i> _{<i>t</i>-1} when calculating <i>KKAYy</i> _{<i>t</i>} under section 3.1.1 for <i>regulatory year t</i> -1
KAYCa _{t-2}	(in ¢) is the audited aggregate of all K-Factor True-up factor charges and K-Factor True-up factor revenues which were paid or received by the distribution business, where K-Factor True-up amounts approved by the AER for <i>regulatory year</i> $t-2$
KAYCe _{t-2}	(in ¢) is the amount calculated for $KAYCe_{t-1}$ when calculating $KKAYy_t$ under section 3.1.1 for <i>regulatory year</i> $t-1$
CPI _{t-1}	is as set out in section 3.1
pretax WACC _D	is as set out in section 3.1

3.1.2.1.Calculation of KAYRa_t

 $KAYRa_t$ is expressed by the formula in this section. The formula may be amended by the AER but only for the purpose of correcting manifest errors and/or omissions and only after consulting with relevant stakeholders.

 $KAYRa_t = Ra_t - Ra''_t$

Where

regulatory year "t"	is the regulatory year in respect of which the calculation is being made
KAYRa _t	(in ϕ) is the calculated revenue earned by the distribution business from the <i>KAY</i> factor in <i>regulatory year t</i>
Ra_t	(in ϕ) is calculated in accordance with section 3.1.2.1.1 for <i>regulatory year t</i>

 Ra'_t

(in ϕ) is calculated in accordance with section 3.1.2.1.2 for *regulatory year t*

3.1.2.1.1. Calculation of Ra_t

 Ra_t is expressed by the formula in this section. The formula may be amended by the AER but only for the purpose of correcting manifest errors and/or omissions and only after consulting with relevant stakeholders.

$$Ra_t = \sum_{i=1}^n \sum_{j=1}^m p_t^{ij} \times q_t^{ij}$$

Where

regulatory year "t"	is the regulatory year in respect of which the calculation is being made
Ra_t	(in ϕ) is the calculated Weighted Average Price Cap (WAPC) revenue earned in <i>regulatory year t</i>
$p^{ij}{}_t$	is the distribution tariff rate for component j of distribution tariff i in regulatory year t
$q^{ij}{}_t$	is the actual audited quantity of distribution tariff component j of distribution tariff i in regulatory year t

3.1.2.1.2. Calculation of Ra''_t

 Ra''_t is expressed by the formula in this section. The formula may be amended by the AER but only for the purpose of correcting manifest errors and/or omissions and only after consulting with relevant stakeholders.

$$Ra''_{t} = \frac{Ra_{t}}{(1 + KAY'_{t})}$$

Where

regulatory year "t"	is the regulatory year in respect of which the calculation is being made
Ra''_t	(in ϕ) is the calculated revenue earned without <i>KAY</i> factor in <i>regulatory year t</i>
Ra_t	(in ϕ) is calculated in accordance with section 3.1.2.1.1 for <i>regulatory year t</i>

 KAY'_t is calculated in accordance with section 2 for *regulatory year t*

4. Calculation of Rf_t

 Rf_t is expressed by the formula in this section. The formula may be amended by the AER but only for the purpose of correcting manifest errors and/or omissions and only after consulting with relevant stakeholders.

$$Rf_t = \sum_{i=1}^n \sum_{j=1}^m p'_t^{ij} \times q_t^{ij}$$

Where

regulatory year "t"	is the regulatory year in respect of which the calculation is being made
Rf_t	(in ϕ) is the forecast revenue expected to be earned without the <i>KAY_t</i> in the <i>regulatory year t</i>
$p^{ij}{}_t$	is the distribution tariff rate for component j of distribution tariff i in regulatory year t calculated in accordance with section 4.1 for <i>regulatory year t</i>
$q^{ij}{}_t$	is the forecast quantity of distribution tariff component <i>j</i> of distribution tariff <i>i</i> in <i>regulatory year t</i>

4.1. Price without current year KAY factor

 p^{ij} is expressed by the formula in this section. The formula may be amended by the AER but only for the purpose of correcting manifest errors and/or omissions and only after consulting with relevant stakeholders.

$$p_{t}^{ij} = p_{t-1}^{ij} \times (1 + CPI_t) \times (1 - X_t) \times (1 + S_t) \times (1 + L_t) \times (1 + P_t) \times (1 + TRC_t) \times (1 + T_t)$$

Where:

regulatory year "t"	is the regulatory year in respect of which the calculation is being made
regulatory year "t-1"	is the regulatory year immediately preceding <i>regulatory year</i> " t "
$p^{nij}t$	is the theoretical price of the distribution tariff rate in <i>regulatory year t</i> without the KAY_t for each tariff component <i>j</i> of tariff <i>i</i>

$p^{ij}{}_{t-1}$	is the distribution tariff rate for component j of distribution tariff i in regulatory year t -1
CPI_t	is as set out in section 3.1 for <i>regulatory year t</i>
X_t	is the value of X for year t of the regulatory control period as determined by the AER
S_t	is the Service Target Performance Incentive Scheme factor to be applied in regulatory year <i>t</i>
L_t	is the licence fee adjustment to be applied in regulatory year t
P_t	is passthrough adjustment for regulatory year t
TRC_t	is transmission-related costs for regulatory year t
T_t	is S-Factor true up for regulatory year t

Appendix 4.1 – Powercor Australia's revised spatial maximum demand forecasts (following reconciliation with NIEIR's system level maximum demand forecasts)

		2011	2012	2013	2014	2015
Total						
Sum of	ZSS forecast	2457.2	2531.8	2627.4	2722.0	2823.0
Differer Propos	nce from Initial Regulatory al (MW)	0.0	7.3	50.7	96.7	140.6
Differe	nce (%)	0.0%	0.3%	1.9%	3.6%	5.0%
Target	ed zone substations					
RAN	Initial Regulatory Proposal	92.3	88.3	89.5	90.8	92.1
DAN	Revised Regulatory Proposal	92.3	88.7	92.5	96.6	100.7
PAS	Initial Regulatory Proposal	92.3	88.3	89.5	90.8	92.1
DAG	Revised Regulatory Proposal	74.6	84.9	89.8	94.7	99.4
PCO	Initial Regulatory Proposal	54.2	55.1	47.4	48.1	49.0
BGU	Revised Regulatory Proposal	54.2	55.4	49.2	51.3	53.7
	Initial Regulatory Proposal	45.9	47.4	48.3	49.3	50.2
GLC	Revised Regulatory Proposal	45.9	47.7	48.9	50.2	51.6
CME	Initial Regulatory Proposal	39.3	40.1	41.0	41.9	42.8
CIVIE	Revised Regulatory Proposal	39.3	40.3	41.5	42.7	44.0
CRO	Initial Regulatory Proposal	31.1	31.4	31.8	32.1	32.4
	Revised Regulatory Proposal	31.1	31.6	32.1	32.7	33.3
וחח	Initial Regulatory Proposal	54.7	58.3	60.4	64.2	66.0
DDL	Revised Regulatory Proposal	54.7	58.5	62.3	66.0	69.7
гци	Initial Regulatory Proposal	53.5	54.4	55.2	56.1	57.0
EUK	Revised Regulatory Proposal	53.5	54.7	57.5	60.6	63.5
	Initial Regulatory Proposal	44.7	46.8	48.7	49.3	50.2
FINO	Revised Regulatory Proposal	44.7	47.1	50.8	53.3	55.9
GCV	Initial Regulatory Proposal	42.3	42.7	43.1	43.5	45.7
GCT	Revised Regulatory Proposal	42.3	42.9	44.5	46.2	47.9
GL	Initial Regulatory Proposal	57.0	57.4	58.3	59.2	59.7
GL	Revised Regulatory Proposal	57.0	57.7	60.8	64.0	66.5
	Initial Regulatory Proposal	49.5	50.3	53.1	51.8	52.3
GLE	Revised Regulatory Proposal	49.5	50.6	53.7	52.8	53.8
HSM	Initial Regulatory Proposal	49.2	49.9	50.6	51.3	52.0

		_				
	Revised Regulatory Proposal	49.2	50.2	52.3	54.5	56.7
1.17	Initial Regulatory Proposal	79.3	83.8	87.0	90.4	93.9
LV	Revised Regulatory Proposal	79.3	84.2	90.6	96.9	103.7
	Initial Regulatory Proposal	73.7	75.8	78.0	80.3	82.6
LVIN	Revised Regulatory Proposal	73.7	76.2	81.3	86.7	91.9
	Initial Regulatory Proposal	52.8	54.2	55.4	56.6	57.8
MDA	Revised Regulatory Proposal	52.8	54.5	57.2	60.0	62.7
	Initial Regulatory Proposal	51.4	52.9	54.5	56.2	57.9
IVILIN	Revised Regulatory Proposal	51.4	53.2	56.8	60.7	64.4
C.A.	Initial Regulatory Proposal	89.1	91.3	93.6	96.0	98.4
SA	Revised Regulatory Proposal	89.1	91.7	97.5	103.6	109.4
	Initial Regulatory Proposal	38.3	38.8	39.3	39.9	40.4
SHIN	Revised Regulatory Proposal	38.3	39.0	40.6	42.3	44.1
005	Initial Regulatory Proposal	45.1	49.0	57.2	58.5	72.8
SOE	Revised Regulatory Proposal	45.1	49.2	59.3	62.8	80.2
OTN	Initial Regulatory Proposal	48.9	52.8	53.8	54.9	56.0
5111	Revised Regulatory Proposal	48.9	53.0	55.6	58.2	61.0
<u>eu</u>	Initial Regulatory Proposal	84.2	84.5	80.8	83.9	76.8
50	Revised Regulatory Proposal	84.2	84.9	84.5	90.8	85.9
	Initial Regulatory Proposal	85.6	87.9	90.3	92.8	95.4
VVDE	Revised Regulatory Proposal	85.6	88.3	93.4	98.8	104.3
	Initial Regulatory Proposal	52.6	54.4	56.4	58.4	60.6
VVIND	Revised Regulatory Proposal	52.6	54.7	57.1	59.6	62.2
	Initial Regulatory Proposal	76.5	81.9	86.9	89.0	91.8
WPD	Revised Regulatory Proposal	76.5	82.2	87.9	92.9	97.4

Appendix 5.1 - Proper Construction and Application to Outsourcing Arrangements of Opex and Capex Criteria

This Appendix 5.1 is intended to be read in conjunction with Chapter 5 of this Revised Regulatory Proposal.

It sets out the detailed legal reasoning and analysis that supports Powercor Australia's views detailed in Chapter 5, section 5.5.1.1 of the Revised Regulatory Proposal on the proper construction and application to outsourcing arrangements of the opex and capex criteria, including in particular on:

- the proper construction and application of the prudency criterion;
- the proper construction and application of the efficiency criterion; and
- the AER's discretion to balance the competing efficiency and prudency criteria.

Powercor Australia's legal analysis, set out in this Appendix, demonstrates that the AER erred in the Draft Determination in concluding that:

- the Rules permit it to assess a DNSP's expenditure forecasts having regard to the costs that would be incurred by the group to which the DNSP belongs rather than the costs that would be incurred in the services were provided on a 'fully in-sourced, standalone' basis or the costs that would be incurred by the DNSP itself having regard to its group structure; and
- the efficient costs of the DNSP would not include any margin above its contractor's directly incurred costs in respect of historical scale and scope, and other, efficiencies because such a margin could not be charged by that contractor in a workably competitive market.

Briefly stated, Powercor Australia's views on the proper construction and application of the prudency and efficiency criteria and the AER's discretion to balance these competing criteria are as follows:

- The phrase *'in the circumstances of the relevant* Distribution Network Service Provider', where it appears in the prudency criterion, does not permit the AER to have regard to the group structure of a DNSP in assessing its expenditure forecasts because:
 - \circ in properly construing this phrase, a purposive rather than a literal interpretation must be adopted; and
 - the circumstances of the DNSP to which the prudency criterion refers were intended to require a consideration of the network operating conditions of the DNSP and not its group structure.
- In any event, even if the circumstances of the DNSP referred to in the prudency criterion include the group structure of the DNSP, it does not follow that the prudency criterion permits the AER to assess the DNSP's expenditure forecasts against the costs that would be incurred by the group to which the DNSP belongs because:

- the prudency criterion refers to 'the circumstances of the relevant Distribution Network Service Provider' and not to the circumstances of the group to which that DNSP belongs and, accordingly, requires an inquiry into the costs that the DNSP itself (as distinct from the group to which it belongs), acting prudently, would require to achieve the opex and/or capex objectives;
- it cannot be assumed that scale and scope efficiencies achievable by the group are necessarily available at no cost to the DNSP, acting prudently; and
- it follows that the AER cannot exclude any scale and scope efficiencies achievable by the group to which a DNSP belongs from the benchmark costs against which a DNSP's expenditure forecasts are assessed in applying the prudency criterion, except where the AER satisfies itself that those efficiencies could be accessed without cost (i.e. margin) by the DNSP, acting prudently.
- While Powercor Australia accepts that the efficiency criterion, properly construed and applied, necessitates an inquiry into pricing outcomes in a workably competitive market, it disagrees with the AER that it follows that historical efficiencies realised by another entity in the group to which the DNSP belongs do not warrant payment of an amount in excess of the contractor's directly incurred costs. To the contrary, the decision of the Tribunal, in *Application by Optus Mobile Pty Limited and Optus Networks Pty Limited*, ¹ establishes that:
 - in a workably competitive market, a service provider may gain a competitive advantage by having access to economies of scale and scope by reason of its ownership and operation of other networks in addition to the regulated network; and
 - accordingly, the stand-alone, in-house costs of service provision is the cost benchmark that best reflects the pricing outcomes that would prevail in a workably competitive market.
- In striking a reasonable balance between the efficiency and prudency criteria, the AER has no discretion to reduce a DNSP's expenditure forecasts below the efficient costs of achieving the opex and capex objectives, on the basis of its assessment of that expenditure forecast against the prudency criterion, because:
 - in exercising its discretion to balance the efficiency and prudency criteria, the AER must do so in a manner that is likely to contribute to the achievement of the NEO and takes into account the revenue and pricing principles;² and
 - the Tribunal concluded in *Application of Energy Australia and Others* that the NEO and the revenue and pricing principles require

¹ [2006] ACompT 8 (Attachment 96 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal) at [119]-[124].

² NEL, section 16; [2009] ACompT 8 (Attachment 97 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal) at [14] & [74].

that the regulatory setting of prices 'err on the side of allowing at least the recovery of efficient costs'.³

Construction and application of the prudency criterion

As discussed in section 5.4.2 above, the AER concluded in the Draft Determination that a margin is not necessary to compensate contractors for economies of scale and scope if the DNSP could access those economies through the group structure of the DNSP. That is, the related party expenditure is assessed against the costs that would be incurred by the group to which the DNSP belongs and not against those of a hypothetical 'fully in-sourced, standalone' network.

Critical to the AER's conclusion that expenditure forecasts should be assessed against the costs that would be incurred by the group to which the DNSP belongs and not against those of a hypothetical 'fully in-sourced, standalone' network is its construction of the prudency criterion. The AER's conclusion turns on its construction of the phrase *'in the circumstances of the relevant* Distribution Network Service Provider' where it appears in the prudency criterion. The AER reasoned as follows regarding the construction of this phrase:⁴

'It appears reasonable to conclude that the 'circumstances' of the DNSP includes its ownership structure, and in particular whether or not it is part of a large group of networks giving it access to economies of scale, scope and other efficiencies that wouldn't be available to a hypothetical 'standalone' network.

•••

Accordingly, a 'standalone' cost standard would only appear appropriate it [sic] that reflects the circumstances under which the service provider is found in. However, where a service provider is part of a larger corporate group that owns and operates multiple networks, then these are the circumstances that service provider is found in, and accordingly this fact is important in assessment the costs that would be incurred by a prudent operator in the circumstances of that DNSP.'

In construing the prudency criterion, the AER does not appear to have given any consideration to the statutory purpose or drafting intent of the inclusion of the phrase *'in the circumstances of the relevant* Distribution Network Service Provider', including in particular whether the inclusion of this phrase was intended to permit regard to be had to the group structure of a DNSP in assessing its expenditure forecasts. Powercor Australia submits that consideration of this statutory purpose or drafting intent is essential to the proper construction of the prudency criterion. Powercor Australia reminds the AER that the Rules are to be given a purposive rather than a literal interpretation.⁵

³ [2009] ACompT 8 (Attachment 97 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal) at [78].

⁴ AER, Draft Determination, p179.

⁵ Section 7 of Schedule 2 to the NEL provides that '[*i*]*n* the interpretation of a provision of this Law, the interpretation that will best achieve the purpose or object of this Law is to be preferred to any other interpretation' and that this 'applies whether or not the purpose is expressly stated in this Law'. Section 3 of the NEL provides that Schedule 2 to the NEL applies to the Rules; see also section 41 of Schedule 2 to the NEL.

Powercor Australia considers that the statutory intent, in including the phrase 'in the circumstances of the relevant Distribution Network Service Provider' in the prudency criterion, was not to allow for regard to be had to the group structure of a DNSP in assessing its expenditure forecasts. Rather, the circumstances of the DNSP to which the prudency criterion refers were intended to require a consideration of the network operating conditions of the DNSP. This is consistent with the AEMC's observation, at the time of introducing analogous opex and capex criteria to Chapter 6A of the Rules, that those criteria were 'more ... operationally focussed' than the statutory test previously under consideration.⁶ It is also consistent with the operation of the prudency criterion as a counter-balance to the efficiency criterion contemplated by the AER's own expert in the review culminating in the NSW Final Determination (discussed further below).

In any event, even if the AER were correct in concluding that *'the circumstances of the relevant* Distribution Network Service Provider' referred to in the prudency criterion include its ownership structure, it does not follow that the prudency criterion permits the AER to assess the DNSP's expenditure forecasts against the costs that would be incurred by the group to which the DNSP belongs. In concluding that the prudency criterion permits it to assess the DNSP's expenditure forecasts against the costs that would be incurred by the group to which the DNSP's expenditure forecasts against the costs that would be incurred by the group to which the DNSP's expenditure forecasts against the costs that would be incurred by the group to which the DNSP belongs, the AER has misconstrued the prudency criterion.

The prudency criterion refers to the circumstances of the relevant DNSP and not to the circumstances of the group to which that DNSP belongs. It follows that the prudency criterion, read as a whole, requires a consideration of the costs the prudent operator in the circumstances of the DNSP (and not the costs the prudent operator in the circumstances of the group to which the DNSP belongs) would require to achieve the opex and/or opex objectives. The relevant inquiry is one of the costs that the DNSP itself (as distinct from the group to which the DNSP belongs), acting prudently, would require to achieve the opex and/or capex objectives.

Even if the AER is permitted to have regard to the DNSP's ownership structure in making this inquiry, the prudency criterion nonetheless mandates that the AER consider the costs that the DNSP, itself, would incur, acting prudently, and not those costs that the group to which it belongs would incur. It follows that, correctly applied, the prudency criterion does not allow the AER to assess a DNSP's expenditure forecasts against the costs that would be incurred by the group to which the DNSP belong, unless those costs are available to the DNSP acting prudently. That is, the AER cannot exclude any scale and scope efficiencies achievable by the group to which a DNSP's expenditure forecasts against which a DNSP's expenditure forecasts are assessed in applying the prudency criterion, without first satisfying itself that those

⁶ AEMC, Rule Determination National Electricity Amendment (Economic Regulation of Transmission Services) Rule 2006 No 18, 16 November 2008 (Attachment 109 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p53. In the SCO's Changes to the National Electricity Rules to establish a national regulatory framework for the economic regulation of electricity distribution Explanatory Material of April 2007 (Attachment 110 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), the SCO stated (at p5) that 'To achieve the MCE's objective of consistency where appropriate, the Exposure Draft of distribution revenue Rules largely builds on the AEMC's approach to economic regulation of electricity transmission'.

efficiencies could be accessed without cost (i.e. margin) by the DNSP, acting prudently.

It cannot be assumed that scale and scope efficiencies achievable by the group are necessarily available to a DNSP, acting prudently. Despite the fact that the entities form part of a commonly owned group, they remain separate legal persons for all legal, regulatory and other purposes. By operation of the *Corporations Act 2001* (Cth) and various other laws, each company within the group to which the DNSP belongs owes independent fiduciary, contractual and other obligations to its financiers, creditors, employees and other stakeholders. These obligations of a group entity to third parties cannot be disregarded in dealings with another group entity simply because the two entities fall within the same ultimate ownership structure and it is not correct that superior cost arrangements are necessarily or automatically available simply because that common ownership structure exists. Accordingly, a member of the group may not provide to the DNSP the benefits of the scale and scope efficiencies available to it at no cost because of its legal obligations to third parties.

Where the scale and scope efficiencies achievable by the group are not available at no cost to a DNSP, acting prudently, the AER cannot exclude those efficiencies from the cost benchmark against which it assesses the DNSP's expenditure forecasts in applying the prudency criterion. There may be scope to exclude these efficiencies under the efficiency criterion by reference to the costs that would prevail in a workably competitive market (and the extent to which there is such scope is discussed further below), but it is impermissible for the AER to do so by application of the prudency criterion.

Construction and application of the efficiency criterion

In its Draft Determination, the AER concluded that pricing under outsourcing arrangements is efficient if that pricing is set in a workably competitive market through an open, competitive tender process or mimics pricing outcomes that would prevail in a workably competitive market.⁷ It further observed that:⁸

'One of the objectives of the regulatory regime is to reflect the outcomes of a competitive market. This is generally regarded as the outcomes of a 'workably' competitive market rather than a 'perfectly' competitive market.'

It was on this basis that the AER concluded that historical efficiencies do not warrant the payment of an amount in excess of the contractor's directly incurred costs because 'in a workably competitive market a contractor could not [charge a premium (i.e. a margin) above its full economic costs and] earn abnormal profits in the long run for efficiencies it has realised in the past'.⁹

Powercor Australia accepts that the efficiency criterion, properly construed and applied, necessitates an inquiry into pricing outcomes in a workably competitive market. However, Powercor Australia disagrees with the AER that it follows that historical efficiencies realised by another entity in the group to which the DNSP

⁷ AER, Draft Determination, p182.

⁸ AER, Draft Determination, p182, in footnote 25.

⁹ AER, Draft Determination, p182.

belongs do not warrant payment of an amount in excess of the contractor's directly incurred costs.

Powercor Australia observes that, contrary to the conclusions reached by the AER in the Draft Determination, the Tribunal accepted, in *Application by Optus Mobile Pty Limited and Optus Networks Pty Limited*, ¹⁰ that:

- in a workably competitive market, a service provider may gain a competitive advantage by having access to economies of scale and scope by reason of its ownership and operation of other networks in addition to the regulated network; and
- accordingly, the stand-alone, in-house costs of service provision is the cost benchmark that best reflects the pricing outcomes that would prevail in a workably competitive market.

In the case before the Tribunal, the ACCC submitted that it was not reasonable for Optus to apply the stand-alone counterfactual when determining costs. The Tribunal disagreed with the ACCC as follows:¹¹

'We consider that determining the costs of a stand-alone mobile operator, for the purpose of determining whether the price terms of the undertaking in relation to Optus' DGTAS are reasonable, is more consistent with the matters set out in s 152AH and the objectives in s 152AB than requiring Optus to take into account the cost consequences of it being an operator of a fixed-line network and a mobile network. If the objective of regulating a particular industry is to replicate, as far as possible, the environment of a competitive market, then it is desirable to use as a benchmark criteria or principles which would exist in a competitive market, such as determining the costs of an operator operating in that market.

Determining Optus' DGTAS costs as a stand-alone mobile operator would, all things being equal, be likely to result in the achievement of the objective of promoting competition in markets for listed services: s 152AB(2)(c). That is, in competing with mobile operators who do not operate a fixed line network, Optus may gain a competitive advantage by having access to economies of scale and scope. And Optus will not be at a disadvantage when it is competing against an integrated operator such as Telstra.

Further, s 152AB(2)(e) requires us to have regard to the extent to which Optus' price is likely to result in the achievement of the objective of encouraging the economically efficient use of, and the economically efficient investment in, the infrastructure by which the listed services are supplied. In turn, in determining the achievement of this objective, s 152AB(6)(b) requires us to have regard to the legitimate commercial interests of Optus, including its ability to exploit economies of scale and scope. Determining Optus' DGTAS costs on a stand-alone mobile operator basis promotes these objectives.' [Emphasis added]

¹⁰ [2006] ACompT 8 (Attachment 96 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal) at [119]-[124].

¹¹ [2006] ACompT 8 (Attachment 96 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal) at [122]-[124].

The Tribunal's decision establishes that the benchmark against which the efficiency of Powercor Australia's expenditure under outsourcing arrangements should be assessed is that of stand-alone, in-house service provision.

Balancing the efficiency criterion and the prudency criterion

There is a tension between the efficiency and the prudency criteria that has been recognised by expert consultants for both the AER and DNSPs and was observed by the Tribunal in *Application of Energy Australia and Others*.¹² As a result, in applying the opex and capex criteria to a DNSP's expenditure forecasts and determining whether it is satisfied that those forecasts reasonably reflect the criteria, the AER must strike a reasonable balance between the efficiency and prudency criteria. However, the AER's discretion to balance the efficiency and prudency criteria is not unlimited.

Powercor Australia considers that, in striking a reasonable balance between the efficiency criterion and the prudency criterion, the AER has no discretion to reduce a DNSP's expenditure forecasts below *'the efficient costs of achieving the* operating expenditure objectives'. That is, the AER has no discretion to reduce a DNSP's expenditure forecasts below the expenditure that reasonably reflects the efficiency criterion.

The opex and capex criteria do not, of themselves, necessitate that the reasonable balance the AER strikes between the efficiency and prudency criteria must be at least the efficient costs of achieving the opex and capex objectives. However, in exercising its discretion to balance the efficiency and prudency criteria, the AER must exercise its discretion in a manner that is likely to contribute to the achievement of the NEO and take into account the revenue and pricing principles.¹³ It is this obligation that necessitates that the balance the AER strikes between the efficiency and prudency criteria must be at least the efficient costs of achieving the relevant objectives.

In its decision in *Application of Energy Australia and Others* of 12 November 2009, the Tribunal concluded that the NEO 'provides the overarching economic objective for regulation under the NEL'.¹⁴ The Tribunal further observed that the revenue and pricing principles in section 7A of the NEL 'can be taken to be consistent with and to promote the objectives in s 7' and that the principles 'are themselves stated normatively in the form of what is intended to be achieved'.¹⁵

As discussed above, the revenue and pricing principles include, in particular, section 7A(2) which provides:

A regulated network service provider should be provided with a reasonable opportunity to recover at least the efficient costs the operator incurs in—

(a) providing direct control network services; and

¹² [2009] ACompT 8 (Attachment 97 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal) at [140]-[142].

¹³ NEL, section 16.

¹⁴ [2009] ACompT 8 (Attachment 97 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal) at [14].

¹⁵ [2009] ACompT 8 (Attachment 97 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal) at [74].

(b) complying with a regulatory obligation or requirement or making a regulatory payment.'

In *Application of Energy Australia and Others*, the Tribunal observed that '[*i*]*t is* well accepted in the literature of regulatory economics and in regulatory practice that all these efficiency objectives [reflected in the NEO and the revenue and pricing principles] are in principle met by setting prices for services that allow the recovery of efficient costs'.¹⁶ It then gave specific consideration to construing section 7A(2) of the NEL as follows:¹⁷

'It might be asked why the NEL principles require that the regulated NSP be provided with the opportunity to recover at least its efficient costs. Why 'at least'? The issue of opportunity is critical to the answer. The regulatory framework does not guarantee recovery of costs, efficient or otherwise. Many events and circumstances, all characterised by various uncertainties, intervene between an ex ante regulatory setting of prices and the ex post assessment of whether costs were recovered. But if, as it were, the dice are loaded against the NSP at the outset by the regulator not providing the opportunity for it to recover its efficient costs (eg, by making insufficient provision for its operating costs or its cost of capital), then the NSP will not have the incentives to achieve the efficiency objectives, the achievement of which is the purpose of the regulatory regime.

Thus, given that the regulatory setting of prices is determined prior to ascertaining the actual operating environment that will prevail during the regulatory control period, the regulatory framework may be said to err on the side of allowing at least the recovery of efficient costs. This is in the context of no adjustment generally being made after the event for changed circumstances.' [Emphasis added]

It follows that the AER has no discretion to reduce a DNSP's expenditure forecast below the efficient costs of achieving the relevant expenditure objectives, on the basis of its assessment of that expenditure forecast against the prudency criterion.

Powercor Australia's views on the AER's discretion to balance the efficiency and prudency criteria are also consistent with the opinions expressed by the AER's own expert, Wilson Cook, in the review culminating in the NSW Final Determination on the operation of the efficiency and prudency criteria and the resultant necessity for a balance to be struck. Wilson Cook, in its expert report for the AER of October 2008, contemplated that *'a prudent operator might undertake more work than otherwise considered necessary but to ensure efficiency it might undertake less and thus a balance between the two is required'.*¹⁸ The Tribunal recognised these expert opinions as *'non-controversial'* in *Application of Energy Australia and Others.*¹⁹

¹⁶ [2009] ACompT 8 (Attachment 97 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal) at [76].

¹⁷ [2009] ACompT 8 (Attachment 97 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal) at [77] & [78].

¹⁸ [2009] ACompT 8 (Attachment 97 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal) at [141].

¹⁹ [2009] ACompT 8 (Attachment 97 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal) at [142].

Confidential Appendix 5.2 - Analysis of Powercor Australia's Corporate Services Agreement with **CHED Services and Network Services Agreement with PNS**

Powercor Australia claims confidentiality over this Appendix 5.2 in its entirety.









- 523 -











- 528 -



















- 535 -










- 540 -





Appendix 6.1 – Step change - Electricity Safety (Electric Line Clearance) Regulations 2010

In this Appendix, Powercor Australia details its Revised Regulatory Proposal in respect of its proposed step changes for compliance with the 2010 Line Clearance Regulations and achieving compliance in LBRA.

Summary of key points

The 2010 Line Clearance Regulations will significantly increase Powercor Australia's costs of maintaining required vegetation clearances. This is because there are significant changes between the 2010 Line Clearance Regulations and the 2005 Line Clearance Regulations.

In its Draft Determination, the AER has fallen into error in seeking to estimate the step change cost for DNSPs of complying with the 2010 Line Clearance Regulations by reference to the cost benefit analysis in the Line Clearance RIS (by deducting the costs to DNSPs of complying with the 2005 Line Clearance Regulations estimated in the Line Clearance RIS from the estimated costs of complying with the 2010 Line Clearance Regulations). The AER cannot rely on the cost impact analysis in the Line Clearance RIS in determining the step change costs of complying with the 2010 Line Clearance Regulations. This is because the Line Clearance RIS failed both to correctly identify the key changes between the 2005 Line Clearance Regulations and the 2010 Line Clearance Regulations, and to correctly cost compliance with the 2010 Line Clearance Regulations as compared with the 2005 Line Clearance Regulations.

Powercor Australia's vegetation clearance contractor, VEMCO has considered the cost impact of each of the changes between the 2010 Line Clearance Regulations and the 2005 Line Clearance Regulations based on legal advice on those changes provided by DLA Phillips Fox dated 21 June 2010. Since VEMCO is engaged by Powercor Australia to undertake vegetation clearance in accordance with the Regulations, these costs reflect the increased costs Powercor Australia will be required to pay if the 2010 Line Clearance Regulations come into effect. Powercor Australia submits that the AER should accept those step change costs as reasonably reflecting the opex criteria.

In this Revised Regulatory Proposal Powercor Australia has corrected an error in only setting out the step change costs of complying with the requirements of the 2005 Line Clearance Regulations and Code in respect of LBRA. Powercor Australia omitted in its Initial Regulatory Proposal to identify the step change costs associated with complying with the 2005 Line Clearance Regulations and Code without the exemption in respect of HBRA. Now that the 2010 Line Clearance Regulations are in force, it is clear that this exemption is not reflected in those Regulations. Accordingly, this will result in increased compliance costs for Powercor Australia.

Powercor Australia's response to AER's Draft Determination

In its response to the AER's Draft Determination, below Powercor Australia:

- explains that the AER cannot rely on the cost impact analysis in the Line Clearance RIS in determining the step change costs of complying with the 2010 Line Clearance Regulations. This is because the Line Clearance RIS failed both to correctly identify the key changes between the 2005 Line Clearance Regulations and the 2010 Line Clearance Regulations, and to correctly cost compliance with the 2010 Line Clearance Regulations as compared with the 2005 Line Clearance Regulations. As the AER is aware, ESV has expressly told the AER that it cannot rely on the cost impact analysis in the Line Clearance RIS for the purpose of determining the step changes in the price review process¹;
- describes the changed regulatory obligations resulting from the changes between the 2005 Line Clearance Regulations and the 2010 Line Clearance Regulations and the step change costs resulting from those changes; and
- sets out the step change cost of achieving compliance in respect of LBRA.

Powercor Australia observes that the ESV has indicated to it that it may consider changes to the 2010 Line Clearance Regulations later in 2010. Since it is unclear when or if any changes will be made, the AER should accept Powercor Australia's proposed step changes in respect of the 2010 Line Clearance Regulations. If any changes are made to the 2010 Line Clearance Regulations any cost implications of those changes could be assessed by the AER through the pass through provisions.

Costs resulting from change in Regulations

The 2010 Line Clearance Regulations and Code came into operation on 29 June 2010 and will likely apply for five years.² Compliance with the 2010 Line Clearance Regulations will result in increased costs to Powercor Australia which are not reflected in Powercor Australia's 2009 base year opex.

The AER based its analysis of the step change cost of complying with the 2010 Line Clearance Regulations solely on the changes between the 2005 Line Clearance Regulations and 2010 Line Clearance Regulations identified in the Line Clearance RIS and sought to estimate the step change cost for DNSPs of complying with the 2010 Line Clearance Regulations by reference to the cost benefit analysis in the Line Clearance RIS.

The AER cannot obviate its duty to identify the regulatory changes between the 2005 Line Clearance Regulations and the 2010 Line Clearance Regulations for the purpose of assessing the claimed step change by relying on the Line Clearance RIS or any view of the ESV. It must discharge its duty to identify those regulatory

¹ Meeting with the AER, ESV and Victorian DNSPs on 13 July 2010.

 $^{^{2}}$ Section 89 of the *Electricity Safety Act* 1998 (Vic) provides that there must always be regulations in force that prescribe a code of practice, but no such regulations shall continue in force for more than five years.

changes by performing its own assessment of the changes.³ In *Application by Energy Australia* [2009]⁴ the Tribunal observed that the AER could not reject a DNSP's proposed opex forecast merely because it has an expert opinion. Rather, the Tribunal said the '*AER*, *based upon any expert advice, needs to make its own evaluation, an evaluation that is reviewable by the Tribunal.*' While this was said in the context of the AER's reliance on expert advice, the same principle that the AER must make its own evaluation applies.

Powercor Australia has obtained legal advice on the regulatory changes between the 2005 Line Clearance Regulations and the 2010 Line Clearance Regulations.⁵ That legal advice identifies additional key changes to those identified and considered in the Line Clearance RIS.

In this Appendix to its Revised Regulatory Proposal, Powercor Australia

- shows that the Line Clearance RIS failed to correctly identify and assess all of the key changes between the 2005 Line Clearance Regulations and the 2010 Line Clearance Regulations;
- shows that the Line Clearance RIS failed to properly cost the costs of complying with the 2010 Line Clearance Regulations; and
- sets out the step change costs that will be incurred by Powercor Australia in complying with the 2010 Line Clearance Regulations and explains why those cost estimates differ to those previously provided by Powercor Australia to the AER.

Line Clearance RIS failed to correctly identify key changes

As noted above, Powercor Australia's legal advice on the regulatory changes between the 2005 Line Clearance Regulations and the 2010 Line Clearance Regulations identifies additional key changes to those identified and considered in the Line Clearance RIS.

When compared to the Line Clearance RIS, the legal advice shows that the Line Clearance RIS failed to correctly identify and assess all of the key changes between the 2005 Line Clearance Regulations and the 2010 Line Clearance Regulations.

Significantly the Line Clearance RIS:

- fails to recognise or assess the implications of the removal of clauses 10(b) and (c) and Tables 10.2 and 10.3 of the 2005 Line Clearance Code from the 2010 Line Clearance Code;
- fails to recognise the requirement in Table 2 of the 2010 Line Clearance Code for larger clearance spaces for spans exceeding 100 metres than was required by Table 10.1 of the 2005 Line Clearance Code;

³ In *Application by Energy Australia* [2009] ACompT 8 (Attachment 97 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), at [190] the Tribunal observed that the AER could not reject a DNSP's proposed opex forecast merely because it has an expert opinion. Rather, the Tribunal said the '*AER, based upon any expert advice, needs to make its own evaluation, an evaluation that is reviewable by the Tribunal.*'

⁴ ACompT 8 (Attachment 97 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), at [190]

⁵ Letter of advice from DLA Phillips Fox to Powercor Australia and CitiPower dated 21 June 2010 (Attachment 244 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal).

- does not properly interpret or assess the notification and consultation obligation under the 2010 Line Clearance Regulations;
- does not properly interpret or assess the new obligation in respect of native trees and environmentally significant trees; and
- fails to recognise or assess the implications of the removal of the exemption.

The key changes identified in the Line Clearance RIS were:⁶

- under the 2010 Line Clearance Regulations, only major electricity distributors will need to submit their management plans to ESV for approval; whereas under the 2005 Line Clearance Regulations, all responsible persons need to submit their management plans to ESV for approval;
- the definition of environmentally or culturally significant trees is more specific and the 2010 Line Clearance Code restricts the cutting of these trees to the minimum extent necessary. Greater protection is given to areas of native trees, trees of ecological, historical or aesthetic significance or trees of cultural or environmental significance and vulnerable, endangered or critically endangered faunal species under the *Flora and Fauna Guarantee Act* 1988;
- responsible persons must notify by newspaper and consult rather than seek permission or notify in writing occupiers/owners of private land/affected persons before cutting or removing trees;
- under the 2010 Line Clearance Regulations, minimum clearance spaces surrounding aerial bundled cable or insulated cable will also apply to small tree branches; whereas under the 2005 Line Clearance Regulations these minimum clearance spaces do not apply under specified conditions;
- under the 2010 Line Clearance Regulations, minimum clearance spaces surrounding powerlines in HBRAs will also apply to tree branches above a powerline of 22,000 volts; whereas under the 2005 Line Clearance Regulations these minimum clearance spaces do not apply under specified conditions; and
- the penalty for a breach of proposed subregulation 9(4) is also increased under the 2010 Line Clearance Regulations from 10 penalty units to 20 penalty units.

Key changes between the 2005 Line Clearance Regulations and the 2010 Line Clearance Regulations which have significant cost implications for DNSPs which the Line Clearance RIS failed to take into account were:

- the 2010 Line Clearance Regulations do not replicate the exemption granted to Powercor Australia and other Victorian distributors from compliance with requirements of the 2005 Line Clearance Code in LBRA and HBRA;
- the exception in clause 9.3 of the 2005 Line Clearance Code, which provided, in certain circumstances, for reduced clearing in relation to tree branches that exceed 130 millimetres in diameter, if the branch is more than

⁶ ESV, Line Clearance RIS (Attachment 241 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p xviii, p60.

300 millimetres from an aerial bundled cable or insulated cable, has been omitted from the 2010 Line Clearance Code;

- the exceptions in clauses 10(b) and (c) of the 2005 Line Clearance Code which provided for smaller clearances than would otherwise apply to powerlines of 22,000 volts or less and powerlines of 66,000 volts in LBRA where the responsible person complied with clause 12 of the 2005 Line Clearance Code have been omitted from the 2010 Line Clearance Code; and
- the requirement in Table 2 of the 2010 Line Clearance Code for larger clearance spaces for spans exceeding 100 metres than was required by Table 10.1 of the 2005 Line Clearance Code.

As a consequence, in some cases the Line Clearance RIS failed to correctly estimate the cost impact of the above changes. In other cases the Line Clearance RIS failed to estimate at all the cost impact of the change.

Line Clearance RIS failed to correctly cost key changes

The AER cannot rely on the estimates of the costs of complying with the 2010 Line Clearance Regulations in the Line Clearance RIS. Apart from the fact that the Line Clearance RIS failed to cost all significant changes between the 2010 Line Clearance Regulations and the 2005 Line Clearance Regulations, the RIS made errors in estimating the cost of those changes it did cost.

Subsequent to the Line Clearance RIS, Powercor Australia made a submission to the ESV which pointed out errors in the RIS, set out in detail the cost implications of the 2010 Line Clearance Regulations and recommended changes to the 2010 Line Clearance Regulations to reduce the amount of those costs.⁷ The ESV did not make any of the changes to the 2010 Line Clearance Regulations recommended by Powercor Australia,⁸ nor did the ESV correct any of the obvious errors in the Line Clearance RIS. Examples of how the estimates in the Line Clearance RIS are self-evidently flawed are:

- in estimating the cost of the notification and consultation obligation under the 2010 Line Clearance Regulations, the Line Clearance RIS focused solely on the notification requirement and omitted to consider the consultation requirement. Further, in estimating the cost of notification under the 2005 Line Clearance Regulations, the Line Clearance RIS used cost estimates for Powercor Australia which did not solely relate to notification;
- in estimating the cost of the omission in the 2010 Line Clearance Regulations of clauses 9.2.1 and 9.2.2 of the 2005 Line Clearance Regulations, the Line Clearance RIS only considers the cost impact in relation to overhead service cables; and
- the Line Clearance RIS fails to properly interpret or assess the new obligation in respect of native trees and environmentally significant trees.

These examples are expanded on below.

⁷ Powercor Australia's Response to the ESV's Line Clearance RIS, 20 May 2010 (Attachment 242 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal).

⁸ Powercor Australia, Response to the ESV's Line Clearance RIS, 20 May 2010 (Attachment 242 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal).

Notification and consultation

The notification requirements in the 2010 Line Clearance Regulations are concerned with giving notice to 'affected persons' (being owners or occupiers of adjacent land where the cutting or removal of the tree will affect the use of that land). The consultation requirements are concerned with consulting with owners and occupiers.

Clause 5(2) of the 2010 Line Clearance Regulations requires a responsible person to give notice to affected persons of cutting or removal of trees:

- where the tree is on public land;
- where the tree is within the boundary of a private property; and/or
- where the tree is of cultural or environmental significance.

Notice to affected persons must be in writing or by publication in a newspaper at least 14 days but not more than 60 days before the intended cutting or removal. Under the notice requirement in the 2005 Line Clearance Code there is no outer limit (60 day or otherwise) on when the cutting or removal must occur after notice is given.

In addition to these notification requirements, if the tree is within the boundary of a private property clause 5(5) of the 2010 Line Clearance Code requires a responsible person to **consult**.⁹

- in the case of a tree being cut, the occupier of the property on which the tree is to be cut; or
- in the case of a tree being removed, the owner of the property from which the tree is to be removed.

Accordingly, the 2010 Line Clearance Code provides for a different procedure for dealing with owners and occupiers in the event of removing or cutting a tree from the procedure for dealing with affected persons.

There is an error in assessing the cost impact of clause 5 of the 2010 Line Clearance Code in the Line Clearance RIS. The Line Clearance RIS only took into account the cost of giving **notice** to affected persons under clause 5(2) and failed to consider the cost of consulting with owners or occupiers required by clause 5(5). As explained below, having regard to the requirement to consult with owners or occupiers, in practice, the 2010 Line Clearance Regulations will result in a slight decrease in consultation and notification costs for Powercor Australia.

The Line Clearance RIS noted that clause 5 of the 2010 Line Clearance Code allows responsible persons to notify affected persons via a newspaper advertisement and not as a last resort as in the 2005 Line Clearance Code. The Line Clearance RIS stated that '[t]his will provide a much more cost effective alternative for electricity distribution businesses'.¹⁰ It then provided estimates of the cost of complying with the notification requirement by multiplying the cost of an advertisement by an assumed number of notices per annum for each

⁹ Letter of advice from DLA Phillips Fox to Powercor Australia and CitiPower dated 21 June 2010 (Attachment 244 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal).

¹⁰ ESV, Line Clearance RIS (Attachment 241 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p9.

distribution business.¹¹ By focusing solely on the requirement to notify affected persons, the Line Clearance RIS estimated that the change in the notification and consultation requirements from the 2005 Line Clearance Regulations would result in cost savings. According to the Line Clearance RIS the cost savings to Powercor Australia from the change between the 2005 Line Clearance Regulations and the 2010 Line Clearance Regulations are \$22,453,360 ((\$9,328-\$4.5m) x5 years)¹²

In making this statement and in calculating the costs of consultation under clause 5 of the 2010 Line Clearance Code, the Line Clearance RIS focused solely on the notification requirement in respect of affected persons. The Line Clearance RIS ignored the requirement in clause 5(5) of the 2010 Line Clearance Code to consult owners and occupiers of properties where trees are cut or removed.

Powercor Australia considers that compliance with the requirement to consult with owners and occupiers requires more than merely publishing a notice of the removal or cutting of trees in a newspaper.

Based on the legal advice it has received,¹³ Powercor Australia's understanding of the meaning of consult in clause 5(5) is that it requires:

- 1. Powercor Australia to give notice in writing to the occupier (where a tree is to be cut) or owner (where a tree is to be removed) of the intended cutting or removal of the tree. The notice must identify the tree to be cut or removed and the timing of that cutting/removal in order that the notice can facilitate consultation.
- 2. In the notice, Powercor Australia should invite any objections from the occupier of the property (where the tree is to be cut) or owner of the property (where the tree is to be removed). Notice should be in writing and delivered to the letterbox of the occupier or owner rather than merely by publication in a newspaper, in order that the notice can contain information of sufficient specificity to facilitate consultation with the owner or occupier.
- 3. If the owner or occupier does raise an objection, Powercor Australia is required to genuinely consider the objection. However, Powercor Australia is not required to attempt to reach agreement with the owner or occupier on the removal/cutting. Further, provided Powercor Australia considers the objection, it is not necessary for Powercor Australia to resolve the objection in favour of the owner/occupier raising the objection.

Further, in estimating the cost of notification under the 2005 Line Clearance Regulations, the Line Clearance RIS used cost estimates for Powercor which did not solely relate to notification. The Line Clearance RIS purported to use a cost estimate provided to it by Powercor Australia of \$4.5 million.¹⁴ However, the cost estimate that Powercor Australia provided to ESV was \$5.5 million.

¹¹ ESV, Line Clearance RIS (Attachment 241 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p9, 140.

¹² The Line Clearance RIS estimates the cost of notification under the 2010 Line Clearance Regulations to be \$9,328 for Powercor and under the 2005 Line Clearance Regulations to be \$4.5m (p137 and p140 of the Line Clearance RIS (Attachment 241 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal). Therefore, according to the RIS, the cost impact of the change from the 2005 Line Clearance Regulations to the 2010 Line Clearance Regulations is a saving of \$122,453,360 for Powercor Australia over 5 years Line Clearance RIS, p137, p140.

¹³ Letter of advice from DLA Phillips Fox to Powercor Australia and CitiPower dated 21 June 2010 (Attachment 244 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal).

¹⁴ ESV, Line Clearance RIS (Attachment 241 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p137.

Significantly, this cost estimate did not just comprise negotiation and consultation costs. It also included costs for management, IT and data management, inspection (including field officers, contractor management and data capture) and auditing. This is because Powercor Australia's vegetation management systems and processes link the inspection process with the notification and consultation process. ESV was informed of the different components of Powercor Australia's cost estimate in December 2009. A breakdown of those costs is provided in the following table:

Activity	Cost
Notification, consultation and negotiation	\$300,000
Management, IT & data management	\$1.2 million
Inspection, workload identification, contractor management and data capture	\$3.6 million
Auditing	\$400,000
Total	\$5.5 million

Table A6.1.1 Breakdown of costs provided by Powercor Australia to ESV

In its Draft Determination, the AER calculated Powercor Australia's step change cost of complying with the notification requirements of the 2010 Line Clearance Code as \$4,491,000.¹⁵ This is because the AER calculated the step change as the difference between the cost of complying with the notification requirements under the 2005 Line Clearance Code set out the Line Clearance RIS (ie. \$4.5 million) and the cost of complying with the notification requirements in the 2010 Line Clearance Code set out in the Line Clearance RIS (ie. \$9,000).

As set out above, the component of the cost estimate of complying with the 2005 Line Clearance Code relevant to notification and consultation for Powercor Australia is in fact \$300,000. Further, the cost estimate in the Line Clearance RIS for complying with the 2010 Line Clearance Code fails to take into account the cost of consultation and accordingly must be higher than \$9,000.

As such the AER will be in error if it relies on the cost estimates in the Line Clearance RIS in calculating this step change.

Omission of exceptions in clauses 9.2.1 and 9.2.2 of the 2005 Line Clearance Code

Clause 10 of the 2010 Line Clearance Code establishes the clearance space requirements for aerial bundled cables and insulated cables in all areas. The equivalent clause of the 2005 Line Clearance Code is clause 9.

Clauses 9.2.1 and 9.2.2 of the 2005 Line Clearance Code have been omitted in the

¹⁵ AER, Draft Determination, Appendix L, p163.

2010 Line Clearance Code. These clauses exempt small branches and leaves from the minimum clearance space requirement under certain circumstances. Clause 9.3 of the 2005 Line Clearance Code has also been omitted. This provides that if a responsible person complies with clause 12 of the 2005 Line Clearance Code, the requirements of clause 9.1 would not apply to existing tree branches that exceed 130 millimetres in diameter, if the branch is more than 300 millimetres from an aerial bundled cable or insulated cable.

In the case of Powercor Australia, the Line Clearance RIS sets out a cost increase from the omission of clauses 9.2.1 and 9.2.2 of \$4,833,779 over 5 years.¹⁶ However, it only captures the cost impact in relation to overhead service cables – that is, the service lines from the pole to the building. The ESV failed to take into account the cost impact of this change on circuit cables – that is, the lines from pole to pole running down the street. Since the relevant clauses relate to all aerial and insulated cables, the ESV should have costed the compliance requirements taking into account all aerial and insulated cables, not just the cost impact for overhead service cables.

Further, the Line Clearance RIS incorrectly only considered the initial establishment cost (being the initial cost of meeting the requirements of the 2010 Line Clearance Code). It stated that the omission of these clauses would not force a change in annual maintenance costs – that is, it does not change the normal cutting cycle. Contrary to the Line Clearance RIS the omission of clauses 9.2.1 and 9.2.2 will result in increased annual costs in maintaining the clearance space once it has been established. In order to comply with the 2010 Line Clearance Code Powercor Australia will need to re-inspect, notify customers and clear each span annually.

The cost estimate in the Line Clearance RIS was based upon figures provided by SP AustNet. However, in SP AusNet's response to the Line Clearance RIS dated 10 May 2010, consistent with Powercor Australia's position, SP AusNet informed ESV that it had misapplied its cost estimate because ESV had chosen to include only the initial cost for establishing the clearance space and incorrectly determined that there would be no on-going cost to maintain the clearance space. SP AusNet stated in respect of the costs of omitting clauses 9.2.1 and 9.2.2:¹⁷

'ESV's assumption of an initial establishment cost only, is incorrect. Maintenance of the proposed clearance space is a new obligation and will logically require continual pruning to maintain compliance, similar to the requirements for bare powerlines. This is additional work to that already undertaken within current pruning cycles. The estimates and methodology SP AusNet provided to ESV were for incremental costs. These were derived by calculating the cost of maintaining a clearance space, in accordance with the removal of clauses 9.2.1 and 9.2.2, less the current cost for compliance which only requires prevention of abrasive damage.

¹⁶ ESV, Line Clearance RIS (Attachment 241 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p146.

¹⁷ Letter from SP Austnet to ESV dated 10 May 2010 regarding Proposed Electricity Safety (Electric Line Clearance) Regulations 2010 – Regulatory Impact Statement, pp19-20 (Attachment 247 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal).

Note: Typically, a clearance space created within the structure of vegetation encourages re-growth to void with increased vigour.

SP AusNet's assessed incremental cost, as previously provided, is \$34M or **PV \$27.1M** over five years. The RIS included only a PV of \$5.4 over five years establishment cost. By applying the same factor that ESV has reduced SP AusNet's advised costs to the costs in table A3.16 [of the RIS] and the five year cost of \$14.99M in Section 3.5.3 indicates a total five year PV cost of approximately **\$172.9M**.'

As set out below Powercor Australia will experience a far greater cost impact than determined by the Line Clearance RIS as a result of the omission of current clauses 9.2.1 and 9.2.2.

Native trees

Clause 2(3) of the 2010 Line Clearance Code contains a new requirement that a responsible person must, as far as practicable, restrict cutting or removal of native trees or trees of cultural or environmental significance to the minimum extent necessary to ensure compliance with that Code.

There is no protection given to native trees under the 2005 Line Clearance Code. Further, the 2005 Line Clearance Code does not require a responsible person to minimise cutting or removal of trees of cultural or environmental significance, but rather requires that a responsible person cannot cut or remove vegetation of that kind without first obtaining advice from a qualified arborist or horticulturalist.

Approximately 90 per cent of vegetation cleared by Powercor Australia in Victoria would be classified as 'native'. Should Powercor Australia only be allowed to cut to minimum clearance spaces, this would in turn significantly increase annual maintenance costs by reducing the period between pruning cycles thus increasing the frequency of cutting across the network.

The Line Clearance RIS states that proposed clause 2(3) requires a person to, as far as practicable, minimise cutting of particular vegetation.¹⁸ It states that 'practicable' is defined under the Electricity Safety Act and includes consideration of both the magnitude of hazards and costs of dealing with those hazards. Accordingly, the Line Clearance RIS states that proposed clause 2(3) allows a responsible person to come to a reasonable balance between the extent of cutting and the length of time between cutting cycles and does not force a responsible person to change long established, reasonable cutting cycles.

It was on this basis that the Line Clearance RIS considered that clause 2(3) did not impose additional costs.¹⁹ However, the wording of clause 2(3) does not reflect the comments made in the Line Clearance RIS. That is, clause 2(3) does not state that there is no need for DNSPs to change long established cutting cycles. The meaning of 'practicable' in the 2010 Line Clearance Code is unclear. In its Response to the Line Clearance RIS Powercor Australia submitted that a definition of 'practicable' should be inserted into the 2010 Line Clearance Code to clarify that the cost of removing the vegetation is relevant to what is practicable under clause 2(3), and that clause 2(3) should be amended to make clear that 'practicable' is

¹⁸ ESV, Line Clearance RIS (Attachment 241 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p 126.

¹⁹ ESV, Line Clearance RIS (Attachment 241 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p125.

what is practicable in the opinion of the responsible person. However, none of these recommendations were implemented by the ESV in finalising the 2010 Line Clearance Code.

Accordingly, in order to comply with clause 2(3) Powercor Australia will be required to increase the frequency of pruning across its entire vegetation management program. This is due to Powercor Australia's inability to clear lower growing native vegetation from under powerlines in early stages of growth because these trees are outside the minimum clearance space. Powercor Australia will only be able to action these trees once they enter the minimum clearance space.

Contrary to what is stated in the Line Clearance RIS, this will significantly increase Powercor Australia's costs of complying with the 2010 Line Clearance Regulations.

Conclusion

It is clear from the above examples that the AER cannot rely on the cost assessments in the Line Clearance RIS in determining the step change costs as a result of the 2010 Line Clearance Regulations. Rather, the AER should identify the differences between the 2005 Line Clearance Regulations and the 2010 Line Clearance Regulations and the 2010 Line Clearance Regulations and assess whether it can be satisfied that Powercor Australia's step change costs for those differences reasonably reflect the opex criteria on the basis of the evidentiary material before it. For the reasons explained below Powercor Australia asserts that the AER can be satisfied that Powercor Australia's step change costs reasonably reflect the opex criteria.

Powercor Australia's step change costs

The following section of this Appendix describes Powercor Australia's proposed step change costs for complying with the 2010 Line Clearance Regulations.

The costs were obtained from Powercor Australia's vegetation clearance contractor, VEMCO.²⁰ Powercor Australia received legal advice on the changes between the 2005 Line Clearance Regulations and the 2010 Line Clearance Regulations from DLA Phillips Fox dated 21 June 2010.²¹ Powercor Australia provided the legal advice to VEMCO and asked VEMCO to advise it of the cost impact of those changes.²² VEMCO provided a letter dated 13 July 2010 to Powercor Australia in respect of the cost increases above 2009 actual costs that will apply over the years from January 2011 to December 2015.²³ Since VEMCO is engaged by Powercor Australia to undertake vegetation clearance in accordance with the 2010 Line Clearance Regulations, these costs reflect the increased costs

²⁰ Letter from VEMCO to CitiPower and Powercor Australia dated 13 July 2010 (Attachment 245 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal). Note that Powercor Australia has not proposed a step change for items 5 and 9 of VEMCO's letter.
²¹ Letter of advice from DLA Philling For to Powercor Australia has not proposed a step change for items 5 and 9

 ²¹ Letter of advice from DLA Phillips Fox to Powercor Australia and CitiPower dated 21 June 2010 (Attachment 244 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal).
 ²² Note that VEMCO's estimates of the cost of complying with the 2010 Line Clearance Regulations have

²² Note that VEMCO's estimates of the cost of complying with the 2010 Line Clearance Regulations have changed slightly from those provided by Powercor Australia in its Response to the Line Clearance RIS (Attachment 242 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal) following further detailed consideration of the impact of the 2010 Line Clearance Regulations.

²³ Letter from VEMCO to CitiPower and Powercor Australia, 13 July 2010 (Attachment 245 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal).

Powercor Australia will be required to pay now that the 2010 Line Clearance Regulations have come into effect.

Powercor Australia notes that these costs differ from the cost estimates provided by Powercor Australia to the AER on 4 March 2010. Since that time, as noted above Powercor Australia has received the legal advice on the changes between the 2005 Line Clearance Regulations and the 2010 Line Clearance Regulations from DLA Phillips Fox dated 21 June 2010. In addition, Powercor Australia asked its service provider VEMCO to calculate the cost impact of those changes, having regard to that legal advice.²⁴ As a result, Powercor Australia's understanding of the cost implications of the 2010 Line Clearance Regulations has markedly increased since it provided cost estimates to the AER on 4 March 2010.

The following section of this Appendix describes the step change costs of each of the key changes.

The changes identified by VEMCO as having the major cost impacts for Powercor Australia are:

- the removal of the exemption;
- the omission of clauses 9.2.1, 9.2.2 and 9.3 of the 2005 Line Clearance Code which excepted small branches and leaves from the clearance space requirement for aerial bundled and insulated cables in certain circumstances;
- the omission of clauses 10(b) and 10(c) of the 2005 Line Clearance Code which allowed for smaller clearance space requirements than would otherwise apply for powerlines of 22,000 volts or less and 66,000 volt powerlines in LBRA in certain circumstances;
- the requirement in Table 2 of the 2010 Line Clearance Code for larger clearance spaces for spans exceeding 100 metres than Table 10.1 of the 2005 Line Clearance Code;
- changes to the notification and consultation requirements;
- the new restrictions on the cutting and removal of native trees and trees of cultural or environmental significance; and
- the new requirement for habitat trees to be cut or removed outside breeding season wherever practicable.

Removal of exemption

The 2010 Line Clearance Regulations do not replicate the exemption granted to Powercor Australia and other Victorian distributors from compliance with requirements of the 2005 Line Clearance Code in LBRA and HBRA. The exemption requirements in respect of LBRA were referred to in Powercor Australia's Initial Regulatory Proposal.²⁵

In its Initial Regulatory Proposal, Powercor Australia incorrectly classified its proposed step change for LBRA costs in respect of the 2005 Line Clearance

²⁴ Letter of advice from DLA Phillips Fox to Powercor Australia and CitiPower dated 21 June 2010 (Attachment 244 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal).

²⁵ Initial Regulatory Proposal, p172.

Regulations as costs of achieving compliance with the Regulations without the exemption. As explained later in this Appendix, those costs were costs for achieving compliance with the 2005 Line Clearance Regulations with the exemption.

However, in its Initial Regulatory Proposal Powercor Australia omitted to provide information on the step change costs associated with complying with the requirements of the 2010 Line Clearance Regulations without the exemption in respect of HBRA.

The exemption granted by the ESV on 21 December 2005 also exempted Powercor Australia from the 2005 Line Clearance Code's clearance requirements in HBRA.²⁶ The exemption in respect of HBRA provides:

'Powercor is exempted from the requirement to maintain a clearance space in accordance with clause 2.1 of the Code of Practice for Electric Line Clearance (the **Code**) provided that Powercor achieves the minimum clearance space requirements specified in Tables 9.3 and 11.1 of the Code during:

- (a) the fire danger period, in an area declared under section 4 of the Country Fire Authority act 1958 (CFA Act) for an area; or
- (b) for the period 15 December to 31 March for an area in which there is no fire danger period declared under section 4 of the CFA Act.'

The ESV confirmed in December 2009 that it will not issue a new exemption when the current exemption expires and that the exemption would not form part of the 2010 Line Clearance Regulations.²⁷

In HBRA Powercor Australia is currently compliant with the clearance space requirements required by the 2005 Line Clearance Code with the exemption. Since this exemption does not apply after 29 June 2010, however, Powercor Australia will incur increased costs in complying with the 2010 Line Clearance Code as a result of the removal of the exemption that are not reflected in Powercor Australia's 2009 base year opex. VEMCO has advised Powercor Australia that the following cost increases above 2009 actual costs will apply over the years from January 2011 to December 2015 as a result of the removal of the exemption in HBRA.²⁸

²⁶ Initial Regulatory Proposal, document RP-P0068.

²⁷ Letter from Paul Fearon ESV to Garry Audley Powercor, 7 December 2009 (Attachment 246 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal).

²⁸ Letter from VEMCO to CitiPower and Powercor Australia, 13 July 2010 (Attachment 245 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal).

	\$'000 (\$2010)					
	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015	Total
Vegetation Clearance (HBRA)	8,200	7,300	5,600	4,400	3,300	28,800

Table A6.1.2 HBRA step change costs

These costs reflect the additional work which Powercor Australia will be required to undertake to comply with the 2010 Line Clearance Code given the removal of the exemption.

The AER states in its Draft Determination that it sought advice from ESV as to whether its understanding that the expiration of the exemptions will not require the DNSPs to increase the frequency of their pruning cycles, or undertake mid cycle inspections and pruning was correct and the ESV confirmed it was correct.²⁹ As explained below, the ESV is incorrect in its assessment.

The removal of the exemption requires a significant shift in the cyclic inspection and clearing cycles in HBRA. The current HBRA exemption only requires compliance with the minimum clearance space requirements during a fire danger period or during 15 December to 31 March for an area in which there is no fire danger period declared. Accordingly, the current Powercor Australia strategy is not designed to maintain clearances outside of those periods.

To comply with the 2010 Line Clearance Code without this exemption Powercor Australia will have to:

- respond more quickly to rectification codes 55 and 56 during the nondeclared fire season; and
- bring forward annual clearing programs to establish a minimum 12 month regrowth buffer to the minimum clearance space.

Response to rectification codes

Each pole in Powercor Australia's distribution network is assigned a vegetation clearance code for when it is anticipated that the vegetation surrounding the pole and adjacent span will enter the required clearance space under the 2010 Line Clearance Regulations. The codes are assigned by VEMCO during inspections or clearance of vegetation. The codes are checked by Powercor Australia.

A span is the section of the powerline between two poles. The following diagram from the 2010 Line Clearance Code shows a span and how the clearance space operates.

²⁹ AER, Draft Determination, p170.



Figure A6.1.1 Clearance space

The majority of spans are coded with year codes e.g. 12 would indicate the span had vegetation that is expected to require attention in 2012. The vegetation clearance codes also include two codes for instances where vegetation is within the minimum clearance space, these codes are required for those instance where the growth conditions have resulted in greater than anticipated growth: code 55 - vegetation touching conductor, and code 56 - vegetation inside clearance space.

Generally, Powercor Australia maintains the clearance spaces with a pruning cycle of 3 years in rural areas and 2 years in urban areas. When pruning is undertaken the vegetation is cut to seek to ensure that the clearance space is maintained for 3 years in rural areas and 2 years in urban areas, allowing for regrowth of vegetation during that time and sag and sway of the powerlines. While VEMCO seeks to undertake all pruning and clearing to achieve the appropriate clearance space until the next pruning cycle, sometimes as a result of unexpected regrowth conditions vegetation enters the clearance space in between pruning cycles. The rectification periods for code 55 and 56 vegetation are in response to vegetation that has entered the minimum clearance space as a result of unexpected regrowth conditions.

In practice, in HBRA during the during the declared fire season, Powercor Australia responds to code 55 (touching the line) within 24 hours and code 56 (vegetation in the clearance space) within 48 hours. Outside of the declared fire season, Powercor Australia responds to code 55 and code 56 within six months and prior to the next fire danger period or earlier if risk assessments require it due to public safety, immediate powerline safety (hazard trees) or potential reliability impacts.

The removal of the exemption will necessitate a faster response time to codes 55 and 56 during the non-declared fire season. Similar response times will be required to instances of code 55 and 56 outside of the declared fire season. Powercor Australia proposes to respond to code 55 (touching the line) within 24

hours and code 56 (vegetation in the clearance space) within 18 weeks outside of the declared fire season.

Accordingly, the cost estimates set out in Table A6.1.2 above are based on achieving the following rectification times from 2013.

	Code 55 rectification time	Code 56 rectification time
During declared fire danger period	24 hours	48 hours
Outside declared fire danger period	24 hours	18 weeks

Table A6.1.3 Rectification times

Should the ESV require more stringent rectification times, Powercor Australia's operating costs will increase.

Bringing forward of annual clearing program

The removal of the exemption means that the volume of spans for which vegetation is required to be cut will increase and there will be a need to cut the vegetation surrounding those spans further to ensure that it does not grow into the clearance space at any time between cutting cycles. As a result, the annual clearing program will have to be brought forward.

The following diagram shows the impact of the removal of the exemption. Trees that are cut assuming a three year cycle will be in a non-compliant state after 3 years of growth and will now have to be cut for another year's growth or cut earlier and so more frequently (i.e. after their second year of growth).



Figure A6.1.2 Impact of removal of exemption

This will require VEMCO to employ more people and obtain more equipment to undertake the work. Powercor Australia is anticipating a 3 year compliance transition period to achieve compliance with the Code in HBRA (without any exemption). However, once compliance is achieved, there will still be increased costs as a result of the need to create a wider buffer around the spans than would apply with the exemption to ensure the vegetation does not grow into the clearance space at any time between cutting cycles. Accordingly, after 2012 there will still be costs associated with the step change, however, those costs reduce each year from 2013-15.

The consequences of the removal of the exemption for Powercor Australia's cutting program are set out in the table below:

Year	Activities 'with exemption'	Activities 'without exemption'
2011	Prior to the 2011/12 summer the spans relating to all poles classified codes 55, 56 and 11 would be inspected and the vegetation surrounding those spans will be either cut or reclassified	Poles classified code 12 will need to be brought into the cutting cycle. Prior to the 2010/11 summer the spans relating to all poles classified codes 55, 56, 11 and 12 will need to be inspected and the vegetation surrounding those spans will be either cut to ensure that it does not grow into the clearance space at any time between cutting cycles or reclassified
2012	Prior to the 2012/13 summer the spans relating to all poles classified codes 55, 56 and 12 would be inspected and the vegetation surrounding those spans will be either cut or reclassified	Poles classified code 13 will need to be brought into the cutting cycle. Prior to the 2011/12 summer the spans relating to all poles classified codes 55, 56, 12 and 13 will need to be inspected and the vegetation surrounding those spans will be either cut to ensure that it does not grow into the clearance space at any time between cutting cycles or reclassified.
2013	Prior to the 2013/14 summer the spans relating to all poles classified codes 55, 56 and 13 would be inspected and the vegetation surrounding those spans will be either cut or reclassified	Poles classified code 14 will need to be brought into the cutting cycle. Prior to the 2011/12 summer the spans relating to all poles classified codes 55, 56, 13 and 14 will need to be inspected and the vegetation surrounding those spans will be either cut to ensure that it does not grow into the clearance space at any time between cutting cycles or reclassified.
2014	Prior to the 2014/15 summer the spans relating to all poles classified codes 55, 56 and 14 would be inspected and the vegetation surrounding those spans will be either cut or reclassified	Poles classified code 15 will need to be brought into the cutting cycle. Prior to the 2011/12 summer the spans relating to all poles classified codes 55, 56, 14 and 15 will need to be inspected and the vegetation surrounding those spans will be either cut to ensure that it does not grow into the clearance space at any time between cutting cycles or

		reclassified.
2015	Prior to the 2015/16 summer the spans relating to all poles classified codes 55, 56 and 15 would be inspected and the vegetation surrounding those spans will be either cut or reclassified	Poles classified code 16 will need to be brought into the cutting cycle. Prior to the 2011/12 summer the spans relating to all poles classified codes 55, 56, 15 and 16 will need to be inspected and the vegetation surrounding those spans will be either cut to ensure that it does not grow into the clearance space at any time between cutting cycles or reclassified.

 Table A6.1.4 Cutting program consequences of removal of exemption

Omission of exceptions in Clauses 9.2.1, 9.2.2 and 9.3 of 2005 Line Clearance Code

As noted above, clause 10 of the 2010 Line Clearance Code establishes the clearance space requirements for aerial bundled cables and insulated cables in all areas. The equivalent clause of the 2005 Line Clearance Code is clause 9.

Clauses 9.2.1 and 9.2.2 of the 2005 Line Clearance Code have been omitted in the 2010 Line Clearance Code. These clauses exempt small branches and leaves from the minimum clearance space requirement under certain circumstances. Specifically, the clauses provided that:

- 'clause 9.2.1 the requirement for clearance space surrounding an aerial bundled cable or insulated cable under clause 9.1 does not apply to small tree branches with a diameter of less than 10 millimetres and leaves if, at least once a year, the branches and leaves are removed from the clearance space as required in clause 9.1; and
- clause 9.2.2 branches and leaves are not required to be annually removed in accordance with clause 9.2.1 if the branches and leaves are not likely to abrade the cable before they are next removed in accordance with this Code.'

The cost impact of this change is high because VEMCO will have to first establish the required clearances around all service lines and aerial bundled cable conductors (not just overhead service cables as incorrectly scoped in the Line Clearance RIS) and then maintain these clearances at all times. It is likely that most aerial bundled and insulated cables will have vegetation adjacent to them. Accordingly, this change will require all of those spans to have a new clearance space created to allow for re-growth. Once this space has been established, VEMCO will need to reinspect, notify customers and clear each span annually.

Further, most of the aerial bundled and insulated cables have been erected in areas where customers are sensitive to the clearing of trees. Powercor Australia faces serious customer complaints in those areas and is therefore limited in terms of how much it can cut during each cutting cycle. As a result, compliance with this provision will be costly.

As noted above, the Line Clearance RIS incorrectly costed the impact of the omission of clauses 9.2.1 and 9.2.2. It only captured the cost impact in relation to

overhead service cables and failed to take into account the cost implications with respect to all aerial and insulated cables.³⁰

Clause 9.3 of the 2005 Line Clearance Code provided an exception from the clearance space requirements for powerlines constructed with aerial bundled cable or insulated cable in clause 9.1 for existing tree branches that exceeded 130 millimetres in diameter, if the branch is more than 300 millimetres from an aerial bundled cable or insulated cable, where the responsible person complied with clause 12 of the 2005 Line Clearance Code. Clause 12 of the 2005 Line Clearance Code provided that the clause 9.3 exemption to clause 9.1 applied where the distribution company ensured that an arborist carried out an annual risk assessment on the tree and kept records of that assessment for a period of no less than 5 years.

Powercor Australia took advantage of the exception; as a consequence the removal of clause 9.3 will have a cost impact. In complying with the omission of clauses 9.2.1 and 9.2.2, Powercor Australia can achieve compliance with the omission of the exception in clause 9.3.

VEMCO advised Powercor Australia that the following cost increases above 2009 actual costs will apply over the years from January 2011 to December 2015 to comply with clause 10 of the 2010 Line Clearance Code as a result of the removal of the exceptions in clauses 9.1, 9.2 and 9.3 of the 2005 Line Clearance Code.³¹

	\$'000 (\$2010)					
	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015	Total
Vegetation Clearance (omission of exceptions in clauses 9.2.1, 9.2.2 and clause 9.3) – lines from pole to pole	2,896	2,896	2,896	2,896	2,896	14,481
Vegetation Clearance (omission of exceptions in clauses 9.2.1, 9.2.2 and clause 9.3) – service lines from pole to building	4,199	4,199	4,199	4,199	4,199	20,996

Table A6.1.5 Omission of exceptions in clauses 9.2.1, 9.2.2 and 9.3 step change costs

Omission of exceptions in Clauses 10(b) and (c) of the 2005 Line Clearance Code

Clause 11 of the 2010 Line Clearance Code establishes the clearance space requirements for powerlines other than aerial bundled cable or insulated cables in LBRA. The equivalent clause of the 2005 Line Clearance Code is clause 10.

Clauses 10(b) and (c) as well as Tables 10.2 and 10.3 of the 2005 Line Clearance

³⁰ ESV, Line Clearance RIS (Attachment 241 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p146.

³¹ Letter from VEMCO to CitiPower and Powercor Australia, 13 July 2010 (Attachment 245 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal).

Code have been omitted from the 2010 Line Clearance Regulations. These clauses provided for smaller clearance spaces than would otherwise apply to powerlines of 22,000 volts or less and powerlines of 66,000 volts where the responsible person complied with clause 12 of the 2005 Line Clearance Code.

Powercor Australia had been complying with clause 12 of the 2005 Line Clearance Code. The removal of the option of reduced clearances in LBRA for bare powerlines will result in a significant increase in expenditure. There will be a number of spans which will widen clearances in accordance with the 2010 Line Clearance Regulations. These spans will all need to be cleared to the new increased clearance space requirements.

The Line Clearance RIS failed to estimate the cost of omitting clauses 10(b) and (c) and Tables 10.2 and 10.3 of the 2005 Line Clearance Code.

VEMCO advised Powercor Australia that the following cost increases above 2009 actual costs will apply over the years from January 2011 to December 2015 to comply with clause 11 of the 2010 Line Clearance Code as a result of the removal of the exceptions in clauses 10(b) and (c) and Tables 10.2 and 10.3 of the 2005 Line Clearance Code.³²

	\$'000 (\$2010)					
	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015	Total
Vegetation Clearance (omission of clauses 10(b) and (c) and Tables 10.2 and 10.3)	2,475	2,475	1,485	1,485	1,485	9,405

 Table A6.1.6 Omission of clauses 10(b) and (c) and Tables 10.2 and 10.3 step change costs

Larger clearance space for LBRA

There is a larger clearance space requirement for spans exceeding 100 metres in Table 2 of the 2010 Line Clearance Code, than that required by Table 10.1 of the 2005 Line Clearance Code.

Table 2 of the 2010 Line Clearance Code provides that the minimum clearance space for spans exceeding 100 metres is:

- 2.5 metres for powerlines up to 1kV;
- 2.5 metres for powerlines over 1kV and less than 66kV; and
- metres for 66kV powerlines.

In contrast, according to Table 10.1 of the 2005 Line Clearance Code, the minimum clearance space for spans exceeding 100 metres is:

- 1.5 metres for bare and covered low voltage powerlines;
- 2 metres for 6.6kV, 11kV and 22kV powerlines; and

³² Letter from VEMCO to CitiPower and Powercor Australia, 13 July 2010 (Attachment 245 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal).

• 3 metres for 66kV powerlines.

In addition, under the 2005 Line Clearance Code and under the 2010 Line Clearance Code (for spans exceeding 100 metres) to achieve the required clearance space an additional distance must be added to the minimum clearance space to allow for the sag and sway of the cables and for vegetation regrowth during the period between cutting times (clause 11(3) and notes 2 and 3 of the Notes under Table 2 of the 2010 Line Clearance Code and the note under Table 10.1 of the 2005 Line Clearance Code).

Accordingly, Table 2 of the 2010 Line Clearance Code requires a larger clearance space for spans exceeding 100 metres than Table 10.1 of the 2005 Line Clearance Code. That is, the required clearance space for spans exceeding 100 metres has been increased by 1 metre for powerlines under 1kV and 0.5 metres for powerlines over 1kV. The clearance space requirements for spans exceeding 100 metres in Table 2 of the 2010 Line Clearance Code for LBRA are larger than the clearance space requirements for spans exceeding 3 of the 2010 Line Clearance Code for LBRA are larger than the clearance space requirements for spans exceeding 100 metres in Table 3 of the 2010 Line Clearance Code for HBRA.

The larger clearance space requirements will result in a significant increase in expenditure. Powercor Australia has a large number of LBRA spans that exceed 100 meters. These spans will all need to be cleared to the new increased clearance space requirements.

The Line Clearance RIS failed to estimate the cost of this change to the LBRA clearance space requirements.

VEMCO has advised Powercor Australia that it will face increased costs as a result of this change to clearance space requirements.³³ It has informed Powercor Australia that the following cost increases above 2009 actual costs will apply over the years from January 2011 to December 2015 as a result of this change to clearance space requirements in LBRA.³⁴

	\$'000 (\$2010)					
	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015	Total
Vegetation Clearance (larger clearance spaces in LBRA)	1,460	1,460	1,460	1,460	1,460	7,300

 Table A6.1.7 Requirement for larger clearance spaces in LBRA step change costs

Changes to Notification and Consultation Requirements

The changes to the notification and consultation requirements between the 2005 Line Clearance Code and 2010 Line Clearance Code are described above.

³³ Note that this change was clarified following further review of the 2010 Line Clearance Code after Powercor Australia submitted its Response to the Line Clearance RIS. Accordingly, it was not included in Powercor Australia's response to the RIS.

³⁴ Letter from VEMCO to CitiPower and Powercor Australia, 13 July 2010 (Attachment 245 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal).

VEMCO has reviewed DLA Phillips Fox's legal advice dated 21 June 2010^{35} and based upon its notification and consultation processes, it has calculated the step change cost of complying with the notification and consultation requirements under the 2010 Line Clearance Code.³⁶

Based on VEMCO's notification and consultation processes, there is not a major difference between the requirements of the 2005 Line Clearance Code and the 2010 Line Clearance Code. This is because the main difference for VEMCO's processes is that it no longer has to consult or negotiate agreements with 'affected persons', but rather is only required to notify affected persons and this can be achieved via newspaper advertisements. Under the 2010 Line Clearance Code VEMCO is still required to consult with private land owners and occupiers.

Currently notification and consultation with affected persons comprises only 1 per cent of VEMCOs notifications and consultations, with the remaining 99 per cent of notifications and consultations being with owners/occupiers. While under the 2010 Line Clearance Code there is an ability to notify affected persons via newspaper advertisements, this would actually be more expensive than notifying those persons by dropping written notices in their letterboxes.

VEMCO expects that any cost savings from the change to the Code will likely result in increased dispute resolution costs. This is because under the 2005 Line Clearance Code VEMCO was required to take reasonable steps to negotiate agreements with occupiers and affected persons where the cutting would change the established practice for that location. As such, VEMCO would generally follow up its notices of cutting with telephone calls to the occupiers and affected persons to ensure there were no objections. However, under the 2010 Line Clearance Code there is no requirement to reach agreement, accordingly, there is a risk that if in satisfaction of the requirement to consult, VEMCO sends a letter informing the occupier of the intended cutting and asking for any objections but does not follow up to ensure that there are no objections, this may result in a dispute with the occupier if VEMCO proceeds with the cutting and the occupier is in fact not happy about the cutting.

VEMCO has advised Powercor Australia that the changes between the notification and consultation requirements under the 2005 Line Clearance Code and 2010 Line Clearance Code will result in the following step change.³⁷

	\$'000 (\$2010)					
	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015	Total
Vegetation Clearance (notification and consultation)	(2)	(2)	(2)	(2)	(2)	(8)

Table A6.1.8 Notification and consultation step change costs

³⁵ Attachment 244 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal.

³⁶ Letter from VEMCO to CitiPower and Powercor Australia, 13 July 2010 (Attachment 245 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal).

³⁷ Letter from VEMCO to CitiPower and Powercor Australia, 13 July 2010 (Attachment 245 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal).

Native trees

As set out above, clause 2(3) of the 2010 Line Clearance Code contains a new requirement that a responsible person must, as far as practicable, restrict cutting or removal of native trees or trees of cultural or environmental significance to the minimum extent necessary to ensure compliance with the 2010 Line Clearance Code.

There is no protection given to native trees under the 2005 Line Clearance Code. Further, the 2005 Line Clearance Code does not require a responsible person to minimise cutting or removal of trees of cultural or environmental significance, but rather requires that a responsible person cannot cut or remove vegetation of that kind without first obtaining advice from a qualified arborist or horticulturalist.

Approximately 90 per cent of vegetation cleared by Powercor Australia in Victoria would be classified as 'native'. Should Powercor Australia only be allowed to cut to minimum clearance spaces, as the 2010 Line Clearance Code seems to require, this would in turn significantly increase annual maintenance costs by reducing the period between pruning cycles thus increasing the frequency of cutting across the network.

As described above, the Line Clearance RIS incorrectly concluded that clause 2(3) of the 2010 Line Clearance Code would not impose additional costs.³⁸

VEMCO advised Powercor Australia that the following cost increases above 2009 actual costs will apply over the years from January 2011 to December 2015 to comply with clause 2(3) of the 2010 Line Clearance Code.³⁹

	\$'000 (\$2010)					
	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015	Total
Vegetation Clearance (clause 2(3))	0	764	1,019	2,038	2,547	6,368

 Table A6.1.9 Protection of native trees step change costs

Habitat trees

Clause 4 provides that cutting or removal of trees that are the habitat of vulnerable, endangered or critically endangered species under the *Flora and Fauna Guarantee Act 1988* is to be undertaken outside of breeding season wherever practicable and if not practicable translocation of fauna must be undertaken.

The Line Clearance RIS failed to assess the costs of complying with clause 4.

Compliance with clause 4 will require the employment of an additional qualified full time employee to adequately identify habitat trees prior to cutting or removing trees.

³⁸ ESV, Line Clearance RIS (Attachment 241 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), p125.

³⁹ Letter from VEMCO to CitiPower and Powercor Australia, 13 July 2010 (Attachment 245 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal).

VEMCO advised Powercor Australia that the following cost increases above 2009 actual costs will apply over the years from January 2011 to December 2015 to comply with clause 4 of the 2010 Line Clearance Code.⁴⁰

	\$'000 (\$2010)					
	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015	Total
Vegetation Clearance (habitat trees)	100	100	100	100	100	500

 Table A6.1.10 Protection of habitat trees step change costs

LBRA Compliance

In its Initial Regulatory Proposal in determining the costs associated with complying with the requirements of the Regulations and the Code in LBRA, Powercor Australia assumed that the Regulations and the Code that would apply from 1 July 2010 would be the same as or similar to the 2005 Line Clearance Regulations and Code.⁴¹ As noted in its Initial Regulatory Proposal, Powercor Australia has an exemption from ESV for compliance with certain clearance space requirements in the Code in LBRA.⁴² The ESV has indicated that it will not issue a new exemption when that exemption expires on 30 June 2010.

In its Initial Regulatory Proposal, the step change cost for LBRA was mischaracterised as a cost of complying with the 2005 Line Clearance Code in LBRA without the exemption from the Code requirements granted by the ESV in December 2005. However, the step change cost proposed was actually for the costs of achieving compliance with the 2005 Line Clearance Regulations in LBRA with the exemption.

Nuttall Consulting commented on the step change costs proposed by Powercor Australia by noting that Powercor Australia '*has not identified any benefits associated with the proposed opex step change*'.⁴³ Since this step change is proposed in order to achieve compliance with the 2010 Line Clearance Regulations and the 2010 Line Clearance Code it is not necessary to demonstrate the benefits of the expenditure in order to establish that the expenditure is prudent and efficient. Rather, the appropriate assessment is whether the expenditure is necessary to achieve compliance with the 2010 Line Clearance Regulations and the 2010 Line Clearance Regulations and the 2010 Line Clearance with the 2010 Line Clearance Regulations and the 2010 Line Regulations and the 2010 Line Regulations and the 2010 Line Regulations and Regulations and Regulations and Regulations and Regulations and

Background to LBRA costs

⁴⁰ Letter from VEMCO to CitiPower and Powercor Australia, 13 July 2010 (Attachment 245 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal).

⁴¹ Initial Regulatory Proposal, p173.

 ⁴² Initial Regulatory Proposal, p173. Energy Safe Victoria, Exemptions granted to Powercor Australia under reg. 10 of the Electricity Safety (Electric Line Clearance Regulations) 2005 (Attachment 249 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal).

⁴³ Nuttall Consulting, Report – Capital Expenditure, 4 June 2010, p329.

A chronology setting out Powercor Australia's compliance with the Regulations and Code in LBRA is provided at the end of this Appendix.

The chronology notes that ESV's attitude of compliance with the Regulations and Code prior to and during the review process that culminated in the ESCV's 2006-10 EDPR was that it only intended to enforce literal compliance with the Regulations as to the clearance between electric lines and vegetation during the Proclaimed Fire Declaration Period. Accordingly, in the ESCV's 2006-10 EDPR, ESCV determined that a reasonable allowance for the costs of complying with those Regulations was based on literal compliance with the 2005 Line Clearance Regulations during Proclaimed Fire Declaration Periods.

In November 2005, Powercor Australia brought an appeal from the ESCV's 2006-10 EDPR. The appeals were adjourned in December 2005 when the ESV informed the ESCV Appeal Panel that it proposed to grant exemptions to Powercor Australia from compliance with the 2005 Line Clearance Code. The appeals resumed in January 2006 at which time Powercor Australia indicated that the exemptions granted by ESV largely aligned what was required for high voltage wires in LBRA with its practical compliance regime. However, it was not satisfied that the exemption granted aligned with its practical compliance regime for low voltage wires in LBRA.

The ESCV Appeal Panel determined that Powercor Australia's desire to move from practical compliance to literal compliance with the 2005 Line Clearance Regulations for LBRA did not constitute a step change.⁴⁴ The ESCV Appeal Panel based its consideration of what constitutes a step change on the ESCV's description of a step change in its 2006-10 EDPR. The ESCV described a step change as an adjustment to the base opex for costs arising from new or changed functions and legislative obligations (whether imposed by legislation or another regulatory instrument, for example, a licence, code or price determination). The ESCV Appeal Panel said:⁴⁵

'Having regard to the manner in which the Determination describes the concept of a step change, the Panel is of the view that the 2005 Vegetation Regulations, which very closely match both the 1999 Vegetation Regulations and the 2004 Interim Vegetation Regulations, do not meet the criteria for a step change as they do not effectively impose new or changed regulatory obligations on electricity distributors. The definition of a step change also covers new or changed functions, but a desire on the part of the Appellant to move from practical compliance with Vegetation Regulations to literal compliance does not, in the view of the Panel, constitute a new or changed function.'

In coming to this conclusion, the ESCV Appeal Panel incorrectly found that ESV would not change its enforcement activities with respect to vegetation clearance in the 2006-10 regulatory control period.⁴⁶ It is clear from the chronology that ESV did in fact change its enforcement activities during the 2006-10 regulatory control

⁴⁴ ESCV, ESCV Appeal Panel Decision (Attachment 243 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), paragraphs 27 and 28.

⁴⁵ ESCV, ESCV Appeal Panel Decision (Attachment 243 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), paragraphs 27.

⁴⁶ ESCV, ESCV Appeal Panel Decision (Attachment 243 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), paragraph 30.

period to require literal compliance with the 2005 Line Clearance Regulations and exemption.

The chronology shows that from 2006 to 2008 Powercor Australia undertook a detailed inspection of LBRA areas to quantify the workload required to comply with the 2005 Line Clearance Regulations. This assessment was agreed between ESV and Powercor Australia as necessary to quantify the extent of non-compliance. In September 2008 Powercor Australia presented to ESV a staged process to achieve compliance by 2014. This was reflected in the 2009-10 Vegetation Management Plan submitted to the ESV in February 2009.⁴⁷ By letter dated 7 May 2009 ESV informed Powercor Australia that it was not in a position to approve the Vegetation Management Plan as it did not satisfy the requirements of the Electricity Safety Act and the 2005 Line Clearance Regulations. The approval criterion not met was the Vegetation Management Plan's staged approach to achieving compliance with the 2005 Line Clearance Code requirements for LBRA by the end of 2014.

As set out in the Initial Regulatory Proposal⁴⁸, on 12 June 2009 Powercor Australia informed ESV that it would be possible to achieve compliance by the end of 2012 but this would result in additional customer complaints due to the extensive cutting required. This would involve commencing the 3 year cutting cycle in July 2009 cutting for both clearance and regrowth. This cycle would allow six months at the end of the cycle to revisit vegetation cut prior to 1 July 2009 to the two year cycle of clearance only.

LBRA step change

As explained above, the 2006-10 opex forecast in ESCV's 2006-10 EDPR did not include the cost of achieving compliance in LBRA with the exemption.⁴⁹ Accordingly, Powercor Australia was not given an allowance in respect of those costs in the ESCV's 2006-10 EDPR.

As noted in Powercor Australia's Initial Regulatory Proposal⁵⁰, the largest step up in costs as a result of increased inspection and cutting cycle costs will be incurred in 2009. Accordingly, these costs are reflected in Powercor Australia's base year opex. However, there will still be additional costs in 2011, 2012 and 2013 associated with achieving full compliance above those reflected in Powercor Australia's base year opex.

Achieving compliance with the 2005 Line Clearance Regulations and 2005 Line Clearance Code in LBRA requires an increase in inspection frequency and an increase in the number of spans to be cleared (to increased clearances) to achieve compliance by the end of 2012. Once compliance has been achieved, the maintenance cycles will still require more frequent inspections and more spans to be cleared (to increased clearances), however, the work will be less than during 2011 and 2012.

⁴⁷ Initial Regulatory Proposal p173.

⁴⁸ Initial Regulatory Proposal, p173.

⁴⁹ ESCV 2006-10 EDPR (Attachment 31 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), pp223-24.

⁵⁰ Initial Regulatory Proposal, p174.

The following table shows the difference between Powercor Australia's compliance policy in 2005 and the compliance policy which it has sought to implement since 2005:

Inspection is undertaken for vegetation surrounding high
It is intended that by 2012 the LBRA network will be compliant. Beyond 2012 the inspection cycles will continue and will include additional inspections of spans coded as current year. Any non-compliant spans will be actioned in line with the revised rectification targets of 18 weeks for code 56 and 48 hours for code 55.

Table A6.1.11 Changes to compliance with clearance spaces in LBRA

It is highly likely that ESV will continue its enforcement approach of requiring literal compliance with the Line Clearance Regulations and Line Clearance Code during the 2011 -15 regulatory control period. Accordingly, the AER should accept Powercor Australia's costs of achieving full compliance with the Line Clearance Regulations and Line Clearance Code during that period.

In the Initial Regulatory Proposal, Powercor Australia identified the following step change costs of complying with the 2005 Line Clearance Regulations and 2005 Line Clearance Code in respect of LBRA:⁵¹

	\$'000 (\$2010)					
	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015	Total
Vegetation Clearance (LBRA)	2,134	1,972	881	(33)	3,352	8,307

⁵¹ Initial Regulatory Proposal, p174.

In calculating these costs Powercor Australia made an error. VEMCO has advised Powercor Australia that the following costs above 2009 actual costs will apply during the period January 2011 to the end of December 2015 in respect of Powercor Australia's program of achieving compliance with the clearance space requirements in LBRA.⁵²

	\$'000 (\$2010)					
	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015	Total
Vegetation Clearance (LBRA)	2,187	2,038	(83)	(892)	0	3,250

Table A6.1.13 LBRA step change costs in Revised Regulatory Proposal

The total costs of complying with the 2005 Line Clearance Regulations and 2005 Line Clearance Code were forecast by determining the spans that will require additional inspection/pruning in LBRA as a result of compliance and the cost per span provided by Powercor Australia's vegetation management services contractor, VEMCO. The total costs were then compared to the costs associated with the program commenced in 2009 to achieve literal compliance by 2012 that are reflected in Powercor Australia's base year opex to determine the step change set out above.

In addition to the costs of achieving compliance with the clearance space requirements in the 2005 Line Clearance Regulations and Code in LBRA, in order to be compliant with the 2010 Line Clearance Code in LBRA Powercor Australia will incur increased vegetation clearance costs in LBRA as set out above as a result of the omission of the exceptions in clauses 9.2.1, 9.2.2, 9.3, 10(b) and 10(c) of the 2005 Line Clearance Code and the requirement in Table 2 of the 2010 Line Clearance Code for larger clearance space for spans exceeding 100 meters. The step change costs described in this section of the Appendix do not include those costs which are set out under the relevant headings above.

Powercor Australia's Revised Regulatory Proposal

Powercor Australia has revised its Initial Regulatory Proposal to include the following step change costs in respect of the 2010 Line Clearance Regulations and 2010 Line Clearance Code and in respect of achieving compliance in LBRA.

⁵² Letter from VEMCO to CitiPower and Powercor Australia, 13 July 2010 (Attachment 245 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal).

	\$'000 (\$2010)					
	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015	Total
Vegetation Clearance (HBRA)	8,200	7,300	5,600	4,400	3,300	28,800
Vegetation Clearance (omission of exceptions in clauses 9.2.1, 9.2.2 and clause 9.3) – lines from pole to pole	2,896	2,896	2,896	2,896	2,896	14,481
Vegetation Clearance (omission of exceptions in clauses 9.2.1, 9.2.2 and clause 9.3) – service lines from pole to building	4,199	4,199	4,199	4,199	4,199	20,996
Vegetation Clearance (omission of clauses 10(b) and (c) and Tables 10.2 and 10.3)	2,475	2,475	1,485	1,485	1,485	9,405
Vegetation Clearance (larger LBRA clearance spaces)	1,460	1,460	1,460	1,460	1,460	7,300
Vegetation Clearance (notification and consultation)	(2)	(2)	(2)	(2)	(2)	(8)
Vegetation Clearance (clause 2(3) native trees)	0	764	1,019	2,038	2,547	6,368
Vegetation Clearance (habitat trees)	100	100	100	100	100	500
Vegetation Clearance (LBRA)	2,187	2,038	(83)	(892)	0	3,250
Total Vegetation Clearance Step Change	21,516	21,231	16,675	15,685	15,986	91,093

Table 6.14 Step changes – Electricity Safety (Electric Line Clearance) Regulations

CHRONOLOGY OF VEGETETATION MANGEMENT COMPLIANCE

The following is a joint chronology for Powercor Australia and CitiPower.

Date	Event	Description		
15/07/05 Letter from Ken Gardner, Chief Electrical Inspector Office of Chief Electrical inspector to Garry Audley		Informs CitiPower that the 2005 Line Clearance Regulations are unchanged with regard to the industry practice of practical compliance rather than literal compliance at all times on the clearance space between electric lines and vegetation.		
	CitiPower Pty ⁵³	The Office of Chief Electrical Inspector will not change its present interpretation or enforcement actions, but will continue to ensure that literal compliance occurs during the proclaimed Fire Declaration Period for the area.		
12/10/05	ESCV's 2006-10 EDPR	ESCV decided that given ESV had indicated that it only intends to enforce literal compliance with the requirements imposed by 2005 Line Clearance Regulations as to the clearance between electric lines and vegetation during the Proclaimed Fire Declaration Period, a reasonable allowance for the costs of complying with those Regulations is one that is based on literal compliance with the 2005 Line Clearance Regulations during the Proclaimed Fire Declaration Periods.		
9/11/05	CitiPower/Powercor Australia lodged notices of appeal from ESCV's 2006- 10 EDPR	Ground 1 of the Appeal was that the ESCV incorrectly calculated the revenue requirement for CitiPower/Powercor Australia by concluding that it was reasonable to exclude the cost required to maintain compliance with and/or not necessary to make allowance for, or to include, the full costs of compliance with the 2005 Line Clearance Regulations.		
14/12/05 Letter from Ken Gardner Director of ESV to Paul Fearon Chief Executive		Informs ESCV that ESV will grant an exemption from clause 2.1 of the 2005 Line Clearance Code in the Schedule to the 2005 Line Clearance Regulations. The exemption will be along the lines that:		
Officer ESCV ⁵⁴	'A responsible person which has a Management Plan under Regulation 9 of the Electricity Safety (Electric Line Clearance) Regulations 2005 that has been approved by the Office and which outlines the program ensuring compliance with section 2.1 of the Code of Practice for Electric Line Clearance during the period 1 December to 30 March each year is exempt from the requirement to maintain the clearance space for the rest of the year.'			
14/12/05	Appeals to ESCV Appeal Panel from the ESCV's 2006-10 EDPR adjourned	The appeals to the ESCV Appeal Panel from the ESCV's 2006-10 EDPR were adjourned when the ESCV produced a letter of 14/12/05 from the ESV to the ESCV regarding the exemptions.		
21/12/05	Exemptions come into effect	Exemptions granted to CitiPower/Powercor Australia from clause 2.1 of the 2005 Line Clearance Code in respect of HBRA and LBRA come into effect. Exemptions provide that:		
		• For HBRA CitiPower/Powercor Australia is exempted from the requirement to maintain the clearance space in accordance with clause 2.1 of the 2005 Line Clearance Code provided that it achieves the minimum clearance space requirements during the declared fire danger		

 ⁵³Attachment 248 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal.
 ⁵⁴ Attachment 248 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal.

Date	Event	Description		
		period or the period 15 December to 31 March where there is no declared fire danger period.		
		• For high voltage lines in LBRA, CitiPower/Powercor Australia is exempted from the requirement to maintain the clearance space in accordance with clause 2.1 of the 2005 Line Clearance Code provided that it has a management plan that outlines no more than a biennial inspection and clearing/pruning cycle which is designed to achieve under normal growth conditions the minimum clearance space requirements specified in Tables 9.3, 10.1, 10.2 and 10.3 of the 2005 Line Clearance Code.		
		• For low voltage lines in LBRA, CitiPower/Powercor Australia is exempted from the requirement to maintain the clearance space in accordance with clause 2.1 of the 2005 Line Clearance Code provided it has a management plan that outlines an inspection and/or clearing/pruning cycle of no more than three years which is designed to achieve under normal growth conditions, the minimum clearance space requirements specified in Tables 9.3, 10.1 and 10.2 of the 2005 Line Clearance Code.		
23/01/06	Appeals to ESCV Appeal Panel from ESCV's 2006- 10 EDPR resumed	When the appeals resumed CitiPower/Powercor Australia indicated that the exemptions granted by ESV largely aligned what was required for high voltage wires in LBRA with its practical compliance regime. However, it was not satisfied that the exemption granted aligned with its practical compliance regime for low voltage wires in LBRA. Accordingly, the appeals proceeded with CitiPower/Powercor Australia seeking a lower quantum of cost allowance.		
17/02/06 ESCV Appeal Panel		ESCV Appeal Panel:		
	Decision ⁵⁵	• Determined that CitiPower/Powercor Australia's desire to move from practical compliance to literal compliance with the 2005 Line Clearance Regulations (with exemption) for low voltage wires in LBRA does not constitute a step change.		
		• Dismissed CitiPower/Powercor Australia's claims that an additional revenue allowance for the costs of literal compliance with the 2005 Line Clearance Regulations (with exemption) should be provided by making an appropriate opex adjustment as an alternative to its treatment as a step change. This was inappropriate as CitiPower/Powercor Australia had consistently presented this as a step change. Further, CitiPower/Powercor Australia could readily have expended available revenue in the past regulatory period on an expanded vegetation clearance program had it opted to do so. That expenditure would have formed part of its base opex.		
		 Noted that at the time the ESCV made its decision CitiPower/Powercor Australia's ESMS had been approved by ESV and ESV had stated that it did not intend to alter its enforcement activities regarding vegetation clearance. There was ample evidence before the ESCV of an intention on the part of ESV 		

⁵⁵ Attachment 243 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal.

Date	Event	Description
		 to treat CitiPower/Powercor Australia's present compliance regime as adequate. Determined that faced with the material before it from CitiPower/Powercor Australia and ESV, CitiPower/Powercor Australia's prior compliance history and the lack of any substantive change in the 2005 Line Clearance Regulations or step change, it was open to the ESCV to form the view it did. It was reasonable for the ESCV to exclude the costs of maintaining literal compliance with the 2005 Line Clearance Regulations at all times and in all places when forecasting CitiPower/Powercor Australia's prescribed services revenue requirement.
12/10/06	ESCV's 2006-10 EDPR (amended in accordance with ESCV Appeal Panel's decision) (published on 19/10/06) ⁵⁶	Confirmed that given ESV had indicated that it only intends to enforce literal compliance with the requirements imposed by 2005 Line Clearance Regulations as to the clearance between electric lines and vegetation during Proclaimed Fire Declaration Period, a reasonable allowance for the costs of complying with those Regulations is one that is based on literal compliance with the 2005 Line Clearance Regulations during Proclaimed Fire Declaration Periods.
2006-08	CitiPower and Powercor Australia undertook a detailed inspection of LBRA areas ⁵⁷	An enhanced inspection of LBRA was undertaken to quantify the workload required to comply with the 2005 Line Clearance Regulations by 2014. It was proposed that compliance be achieved by a two cut strategy - first cutting for clearances and secondly cutting for regrowth. This strategy was due to aesthetic reasons to maintain customer satisfaction. The inspection program was established in 2006 and was completed in 2008.
3/09/08	Kieran Skelton, Richard Scholten and Garry Audley of Power/CitiPower met with Robert Skene and Ken Gardner of ESV ⁵⁸	CitiPower/Powercor Australia presented LBRA compliance strategy to ESV. CitiPower/Powercor Australia understood at the meeting ESV supported a staged process to achieve compliance by 2014. First stage to cut for clearance and the second stage to cut for regrowth.
23/02/09	Letters from Garry Audley General Manager, Electricity Networks, CitiPower and Powercor Australia to Ken Gardner, Director of Energy Safety	Enclosing Powercor Australia's 2009-10 Vegetation Management Plan and CitiPower's 2009-10 Vegetation Management Plan
2/03/09	Letters from Robert Skene Manager, Risk Management & Audit ESV to Garry Audley General Manager Electricity	ESV acknowledged receipt of Vegetation Management Plans for CitiPower and Powercor Australia.

 ⁵⁶ Attachment 31 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal.
 ⁵⁷ Letter from CitiPower/Powercor Australia to ESV dated 4 August 2009 (Attachment 248 to this Revised

Regulatory Proposal), at 1.1.4. ⁵⁸ Email from Garry Audley to Ken Gardner dated 13 May 2009 (Attachment 248 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal). CitiPower Pty and Powercor Australia Ltd Ched Services risk Management and Compliance Committee (Attachment 248 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal), at 1.1.4.
Date	Event	Description
	Networks CitiPower/Powercor Australia ⁵⁹	
7/05/09	Letters from Ken Gardner Director of Energy Safety, ESV to Garry Audley General Manager Electricity Networks CitiPower/Powercor Australia ⁶⁰	ESV confirmed that it was not in a position to approve the Powercor Australia and CitiPower Vegetation Management Plans as they did not comply with the requirements of the Electricity Safety Act and the 2005 Line Clearance Regulations, including the 2005 Line Clearance Code. ESV noted that the staged approach in the plans to achieve compliance with the 2005 Line Clearance Code clearance requirements by the end of 2014 did not meet the approval criteria.
		ESV requested Powercor Australia and CitiPower to provide a management plan designed to achieve compliance to the 2005 Line Clearance Code clearances, including allowances for regrowth, consistent with the current exemption that came into effect on 21 December 2005.
13/05/09	Email from Garry Audley to Ken Gardner, ESV ⁶¹	Refers to letters from ESV of 7/05/09. Notes that at the meeting of 3/09/08 CitiPower/Powercor Australia understood that ESV supported the strategy aimed at achieving LBRA compliance by 2014 by a staged process. On the basis of this understanding CitiPower/Powercor Australia signed a new 5 year Vegetation Contract to achieve this enhanced program. Notes that CitiPower/Powercor Australia remain fully compliant for HBRA [with the exemptions] and the staged component only relates to LBRA. Requests meeting with Ken Gardner.
19/05/09	Meeting between Garry Audley and Ken Gardner	Meeting between Garry Audley and Ken Gardner to discuss the non-approval of the Vegetation Management Plans.
12/06/09	Letter from Garry Audley General Manager Electricity Networks CitiPower/Powercor Australia to Ken Gardner Director of Energy Safety ESV ⁶²	Informs ESV that Powercor Australia entered into a 5 year contract with VEMCO for vegetation management works after discussing with ESV its proposed approach for compliance. Powercor Australia was surprised by ESV's recent letters indicating non-approval of its Vegetation Management Plan. Notes that CitiPower/Powercor Australia has made every endeavour to accommodate ESV's completely different approach. Informs ESV that it is possible for CitiPower/Powercor Australia to achieve compliance by the end of 2012 by commencing the 3 year cycle in July 2009 cutting for both clearance and regrowth. States that if ESV supports this approach CitiPower/Powercor Australia will resubmit both Vegetation Management Plans on this basis
30/07/09	Letter from Ken Gardner, Director of Energy Safety	Refers to letter of 12/06/09 from CitiPower/Powercor Australia.

⁵⁹ Attachment 248 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal.
⁶⁰ Attachment 248 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal.
⁶¹ Attachment 248 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal.
⁶² Attachment 248 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal.

Date	Event	Description
	ESV to John Misfund Acting General Manager Electricity Networks CitiPower/Powercor Australia ⁶³	Requests a detailed explanation as to why CitiPower/Powercor Australia are not able to achieve and maintain the required 2005 Line Clearance Code clearance in a time frame less than the end of 2012. Notes that ESV requires this information to decide whether that approach could be supported.
4/08/09	Letter from Garry Audley, General Manager Electricity Networks	Provides additional explanation as to why CitiPower/Powercor Australia are not able to achieve and maintain the required 2005 Line Clearance Code clearance until the end of 2012.
	Citipower/Powercor Australia to Ken Gardner Director of Energy Safety ESV ⁶⁴	Notes that from 2006-2008 a detailed assessment of LBRA areas was undertaken to quantify the workload required to comply with the 2005 Line Clearance Regulations. This assessment was agreed between ESV and Powercor Australia as necessary to quantify the extent of non-compliance.
		The assessment identified 20,000 LBRA non-compliant spans that Powercor Australia is responsible for clearing. Clearing the spans would require a minimum of 1 visit per site. Based on a 2 year High Voltage cycle and a 3 year Low Voltage cycle Powercor Australia estimated that the earliest compliance achievement would be 3 years from the date of commencement being the end of 2012.
		The assessment also identified 3,000 spans that Powercor Australia and other responsible persons must clear and 17000 spans which must be cleared by other responsible persons. Powercor Australia requested confirmation from ESV that all other responsible persons within its geographic area would also be directed to comply within the same timeframe.
5/10/09	Meeting between Garry Audley and Chris Mulherron (Powercor Australia) and Paul Fearon and Robert Skene (ESV)	ESV informed Powercor Australia that they would give conditional approval to the Vegetation Management Plan on the basis that compliance with the 2005 Line Clearance Regulations is achieved by 2012.
13/10/09	General Managers forum ⁶⁵ ESV confirmed that it	Paul Fearon Director ESV confirmed the intention of ESV to remake the 2005 Line Clearance Regulations prior to the sunsetting of those Regulations.
	would not re-create the exemptions following the	Also confirmed the exemptions would cease to have any effect when those Regulations sunset.
	remaking of the 2005 Line Clearance Regulations.	Confirmed that ESV did not intend to re-create the exemptions following the remaking of the 2005 Line Clearance Regulations.
10/09	CitiPower/Powercor Australia provided its revised 2009/10 management plan to ESV	CitiPower/Powercor Australia provided its revised 2009/10 Vegetation Management Plans to ESV. The plan noted that it was designed to provide a staged and measured approach for CitiPower/Powercor Australia to achieve compliance with the 2005 Line Clearance Regulations [with the exemption] by the end of 2012.
28/10/09	Letter from Paul Fearon,	Responds to Powercor Australia's letter of 4/08/09. ESV is supportive of the efforts

 ⁶³ Attachment 248 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal.
 ⁶⁴ Attachment 248 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal.
 ⁶⁵ Letter from Paul Fearon, Director ESV to Garry Audley General Manager Electricity Networks Powercor Australia dated 7 December 2009 (Attachment 246 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal).

Date	Event	Description
	Acting Director of Energy Safety ESV to Garry	Powercor Australia has taken to address the long standing 2005 Line Clearance Code non-compliance issues in its LBRA.
	Audley, General Manager Electricity Networks Powercor Australia ⁶⁶	ESV would consider conditionally approving Powercor Australia and CitiPower Vegetation Management Plans were they to contain the commitment that all future pruning and clearing works were designed to both achieve and maintain the minimum clearance space contained in the 2005 Line Clearance Code in accordance with the December 2005 exemption.
		Conditions that might be applied to the approval of these plans would be the establishment of a 6 monthly reporting to ESV of the progress made in the reduction of the2005 Line Clearance Code noncompliance in the LBRA where Powercor Australia is the responsible person.
7/12/09	Letter from Paul Fearon, Director General Energy Safety to Garry Audley, Powercor Australia ⁶⁷	ESV confirmed that it did not intend to re-create the exemptions created in December 2005 and early 2006 after the sunsetting of the 2005 Line Clearance Regulations.
25/02/09	ESV published Line Clearance RIS ⁶⁸	Proposed 2010 Line Clearance Regulations do not contain in any form the exemptions granted in respect of the 2005 Line Clearance Regulations. Public comments due on the proposed Regulations by 25/05/09.
20/05/10	Letter from Garry Audley, General Manager Electricity Networks CitiPower/Powercor Australia to Paul Fearon, Acting Director General of Energy Safety ESV ⁶⁹	Letter containing submission in response to the Line Clearance RIS. CitiPower/Powercor Australia recommended changes to the Proposed 2010 Line Clearance Regulations. CitiPower/Powercor Australia informed the ESV that the changes between the 2005 Line Clearance Regulations and the proposed 2010 Line Clearance Regulations would result in increased costs of compliance.
29/06/10	2010 Line Clearance Regulations	2010 Line Clearance Regulations commence. None of the changes recommended by CitiPower/Powercor Australia are included in the those Regulations. There is a change to the notification requirement between the draft which was the subject of public consultation and the final version 2010 Line Clearance Regulations being that notice of cutting/clearing of trees must also be given to affected person where the cutting/clearing is on public land.

 ⁶⁶ Attachment 248 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal.
 ⁶⁷ Attachment 246 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal.
 ⁶⁸ Attachment 241 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal.
 ⁶⁹ Attachment 242 to this Revised Regulatory Proposal.

Appendix 16.1 - Close out of the S Factor Scheme

In this Appendix, Powercor Australia sets out its proposed method for calculating the S factor true up amount and the reasons why it does not accept the AER's proposed method set out in the Draft Determination.

ESCV S Factor Scheme

The ESCV's S Factor scheme under the ESCV's 2006-10 EDPR was designed to be continuous and operate across regulatory periods. Under the ESCV scheme, any incremental change in service performance in one year compared to the previous year is financially rewarded / penalised for six years through a change to capped prices (with a two-year lag).

If there is a good / poor service performance year, preceded and followed by average service performance years, there will result a revenue increment / decrement in the first year and the opposite revenue increment / decrement in the seventh year. This is illustrated in the following example which assumes:

- average performance in every year except 2010, which experiences worse than average performance; and
- a unit of good / poor performance translates into a unit of revenue increment / decrement.

	2008	2009	2010	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015	2016	2017	2018
Actual performance	100	100	110	100	100	100	100	100			
ESCV Scheme incremental performance		0	10	-10	0	0	0	0			
Reward due to 2010 incremental performance					-10	-10	-10	-10	-10	-10	
Reward due to 2011 incremental performance						10	10	10	10	10	10
Total reward				0	-10	0	0	0	0	0	10

 Table A16.1.1 Example of operation of ESCV scheme

Thus, if the ESCV scheme had continued, it would have provided revenue increments and/or decrements in respect of performance in 2010 for:

- 2010 performance relative to 2009 performance; and
- 2011 performance relative to 2010 performance.

AER's Draft Determination

The AER issued a model with its Draft Determination titled 'Powercor - S-factor true up - draft decision.xls' to calculate the ESCV scheme true up amount, and has proposed its new STPIS which will operate from 2011. Under the STPIS, performance in any year is compared to a target for that year (with a two-year lag), and any difference is rewarded or penalised by a change to capped prices in a single year.

Below is an illustration of how the AER's S Factor true up model and its STPIS scheme would operate together on the equivalent actual performance assumed above.

	2008	2009	2010	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015	2016	2017	2018
AER STPIS target				100	100	100	100	100			
Actual performance	100	100	110	100	100	100	100	100			
ESCV Scheme incremental performance		0	10								
Reward due to 2010 incremental performance					-10	-10	-10	-10	-10	-10	
Reward from AER STPIS Scheme						0	0	0	0	0	
Total reward				0	-10	-10	-10	-10	-10	-10	0

 Table A16.1.2 Example of operation of STPIS and AER's S Factor true up model

The AER's S Factor true up model in combination with its STPIS provides revenue increments and/or decrements for:

- 2010 performance relative to 2009 performance; and
- 2011 performance relative to 2011 STPIS target.

The revenue increments/decrements under the AER's approach should be the same as if the ESCV scheme had continued (see Table A16.1 above) because the performance from 2011-15 is assumed to remain at average levels. However, that is not the case under the AER's approach. In order for the AER's approach to result in the same revenue increments and/or decrements that would have arisen from the ESCV scheme, the following term should also be included in the AER's S Factor true up model:

• 2011 STPIS target relative to 2010 performance.

This illustrates that the AER's approach in the Draft Determination does not replicate the revenue increments and/or decrements which would arise under the ESCV scheme had it continued.

Powercor Australia's Initial Regulatory Proposal and Revised Regulatory Proposal

Powercor Australia's Revised Regulatory Proposal proposes the same solution to the close out of the ESCV S Factor Scheme as in its Initial Regulatory Proposal. There is no evidence in the Draft Determination that the AER considered Powercor Australia's Initial Regulatory Proposal on this matter.

Powercor Australia proposes that to properly close out the ESCV scheme, the calculation must include the calculation of the revenue increments or decrements arising from the incremental change in service performance between the STPIS targets for 2011 and performance in 2010. Since the 2011 STPIS targets are proposed to be based on average actual service performance over 2005-09, the 2011 STPIS targets for the purpose of the S Factor true up calculation are proposed to be based on actual average service performance over 2005-09, applying the current regulatory control period exclusion criteria.

Below is an illustration of how Powercor Australia's proposed ESCV scheme true up calculation and the AER's STPIS would operate together on the equivalent assumed performance in the prior examples.

	2008	2009	2010	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015	2016	2017	2018
AER target				100	100	100	100	100			
Actual performance	100	100	110	100	100	100	100	100			
ESCV Scheme incremental performance		0	10	-10							
Reward due to 2010 incremental performance					-10	-10	-10	-10	-10	-10	
Reward due to 2011 incremental performance						10	10	10	10	10	10
Reward from AER STPIS Scheme				0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Total reward				0	-10	0	0	0	0	0	10

Table A16.1.3 Example of operation of Powercor Australia's proposed approach

Powercor Australia's proposed calculation in combination with the AER's STPIS provides revenue increments and/or decrements arising from service performance in 2010 for:

- 2010 performance relative to 2009 performance;
- 2011 performance relative to 2011 STPIS target; and
- 2011 STPIS target relative to 2010 performance.

This mirrors the revenue increments and/or decrements which would have arisen had the ESCV scheme continued.

Appendix 19.1 - Powercor Australia's Proposed Charges for Alternative Control Services

In this Appendix Powercor Australia sets out its proposed charges for fee based alternative control services, labour rates for quoted alternative control services and prices for public lighting.

Charges for fee based alternative control services

In this Revised Regulatory Proposal, Powercor Australia proposes the following charges for fee based alternative control services.

Powercor Alternative Control Services - Fee Based Services	2011 Charges (\$2010)
Meter Accuracy Test - single phase (BH)	342.45
Meter Accuracy Test - single phase (AH)	373.22
Meter Accuracy Test - Single phase additional meter (BH)	139.94
Meter Accuracy Test - multi phase (BH)	438.83
Meter Accuracy Test - multi phase (AH)	479.20
Meter Accuracy Test - Multi phase additional meter (BH)	236.72
Meter Accuracy Test - CT (BH)	430.14
Meter Accuracy Test - CT (AH)	469.64
Meter Investigation Test (BH)	271.34
Meter Investigation Test (AH)	295.03
Reconnections (incl Customer Transfer) BH	18.71
Reconnections (same day) BH	29.58
Reconnections (incl Customer Transfer) AH	77.67
Disconnection (BH only)	19.80
Disconnection (no AH service)	-
Disconnection for non payment (BH only)	19.80
Special reading BH	15.70
Special reading AH - no service	-
Service Truck Visit BH	454.52
Service Truck Visit AH	447.90
Wasted Truck Visit BH	238.12
Wasted Truck Visit AH	259.93
Reserve Feeder - Subtransmission - \$ per KVA	0.78

Powercor Alternative Control Services - Fee Based Services	2011 Charges (\$2010)
Reserve Feeder - High Voltage - \$ per KVA	3.99
Reserve Feeder - Low Voltage - \$ per KVA	14.46
Re-test of type 5 & 6 metering installations for first tier customers with annual consumption greater than 160MWh BH	337.65
Re-test of type 5 & 6 metering installations for first tier customers with annual consumption greater than 160MWh AH	370.08
New Connections Responsible for metering	
Single phase BH	364.08
Single phase AH	388.87
Multi phase DC BH	469.46
Multi phase DC AH	494.25
Multi phase CT BH	1,950.30
Multi phase CT AH	2,104.35
New Connections Not Responsible for metering	
Single phase BH	306.43
Single phase AH	331.22
Multi phase DC BH	411.81
Multi phase DC AH	436.59
Multi phase CT BH	1,892.65
Multi phase CT AH	2,046.70
Solar PV Conn - Single phase BH (unit cost)	204.76
Solar PV Conn - Single phase AH (unit cost)	217.79

Table A19.1.1 Powercor Australia's proposed charges for fee based alternative control services

Labour rates for quoted alternative control services

In this Revised Regulatory Proposal, Powercor Australia proposes the following labour rates for quoted alternative control services.

Powercor Alternate Control Service - Proposed Quoted Services	2011 \$'s Per hour per Person (Real \$2010 ex GST)
Coneral Line Worker - Business Hours	110 11
General Line Worker - After Hours	123.28
Design/Survey - Business Hours	120.21
Design/Survey - After Hours	135.50
Administration	45.34

Table A19.1.2 Powercor Australia's proposed labour rates for quoted alternative control services

Prices for public lighting

In this Revised Regulatory Proposal, Powercor Australia proposes the following prices for public lighting.

Public Lighting Prices	2011 Charges Real \$2010 (ex GST)
Mercury vapour 80 watt	42.74
Sodium high pressure 150 watt	75.26
Sodium high pressure 250 watt	77.17
Flourescent 20 watt	118.81
Flourescent 40 watt	118.81
Mercury vapour 50 watt	59.40
Mercury vapour 125 watt	57.69
Mercury vapour 250 watt	58.65
Mercury vapour 400 watt	67.91
Mercury vapour 700 watt	102.63
Sodium low pressure 90 watt	101.60
Sodium low pressure 180 watt	101.60
Sodium high pressure 400 watt	102.63
Incandescent 100 watt	118.81
Incandescent 150 watt	118.81
Metal halide 250 watt	102.63
Metal halide 400 watt	102.63
T5 2X14W	33.49

Table A19.1.3 Powercor Australia's proposed prices for public lighting